

Composer Pro 3.2.3 User Guide

Contents

| Contents | 2 |
|---|----|
| Introduction | |
| Scope | 15 |
| Related documents and resources | 16 |
| Composer Pro overview | 16 |
| Setting up the Control4 system—overview | 16 |
| Composer Pro system requirements | |
| Computer software and hardware | 18 |
| Home computer network | 18 |
| Control4 home automation network | 18 |
| Installing the hardware and software | |
| Installing and connecting the hardware | |
| Installing Composer HE software | 21 |
| Exploring Composer Pro features | |
| First page | 23 |
| Composer Pro startup options | |
| Start Composer Pro | 23 |
| Exit Composer Pro | 25 |
| Composer Pro views | |
| Available views | 26 |
| System Design view | 27 |
| System Design pane | |
| Project tree search, sync, and filter | |
| Device Control window | |
| Properties pane | |
| Room Properties | |
| Room Summary | |
| Device Properties | |
| List View pane | 41 |
| Items pane | 42 |
| My Drivers tab | 45 |
| My Drivers options | 46 |
| Search tab | 47 |
| Locations tab | |
| Info pane | 51 |
| Connections view | |

| Control/AV tab | |
|---|----|
| Network tab | |
| Media view | 56 |
| Possible buttons | |
| Right-click options | |
| Agents view | |
| Programming view | 61 |
| Composer Pro menu options | 63 |
| File menu | 64 |
| Media menu | 65 |
| Driver menu | |
| Manage Drivers dialog | 68 |
| Create, copy, and edit drivers with Driver Wizard | |
| Go menu | 69 |
| Tools menu | 70 |
| Network Tools | |
| IP Network tab | 72 |
| Zigbee Network tab | 72 |
| Detective Suite | 73 |
| System Diagnostics | 74 |
| Account Services | |
| Update Manager | 78 |
| Feedback menu | 79 |
| Help menu | |
| Composer Pro Properties | |
| Accessing properties from the project tree | |
| Properties pane | 82 |
| Basic Composer Pro tasks | |
| Accessing the List view from the project tree | |
| Removing items from the project tree | 84 |
| Clearing a project | 84 |
| Exiting Composer Pro | |
| Getting project configuration information from a controller | |
| Loading a project's configuration from a computer to a controller | |
| Backing up a Composer Pro project | |
| Backing up and loading from a virtual to a local or remote Director | |
| Backing up a project's configuration and media | |
| Validating the project | 87 |
| mposer Pro Version Independence | |

| Connecting Composer Pro to a Virtual, Local, or Remote System | |
|---|-----|
| Virtual System | |
| Local System | |
| Remote System | |
| Composer Pro makes new decisions when connecting | |
| Connecting to a Virtual System with versioned APIs | |
| Connecting to a Local or Remote System with versioned APIs | |
| Connecting to a Director | |
| Connecting Composer Pro to a Virtual, Local, or Remote System | |
| Virtual System | |
| Local System | |
| Remote System | 96 |
| Connecting to a virtual system | 97 |
| Saving changes when working virtually | |
| Using Virtual mode | |
| Connecting to a Director on a local network | |
| Setting up Remote Access | |
| Connecting to a Director using Remote Access | |
| Requirements | |
| Connecting using Remote Access | |
| Ensuring that Director and Composer are compatible | |
| System Compatibility Check | 102 |
| Designing the Control4 system | |
| Introduction | 104 |
| Purpose of device drivers | |
| Adding items to the project tree | |
| Building a project in System Design | 107 |
| Composer Pro design methods | |
| Planning a Composer Pro project: Create a plan | |
| Home automation design methods | |
| Prerequisites to creating a design | 114 |
| Guidelines of system design | |
| Using Composer views to build a project | |
| Making and testing the connections | |
| Connecting the hardware | 117 |
| Testing the device connections | 117 |
| Testing network connections | 117 |
| Testing control and AV connections | 117 |
| Testing room connections | 117 |

| Registering the Control4 system | |
|--|-----|
| Register the system at customer.control4.com | |
| Register the controller from Composer Pro | 118 |
| Setting up a 4Sight subscription | |
| Managing and assigning Composer Pro licenses | |
| Where to go from here | |
| Contacting Control4 technical support | |
| Other resources | |
| Project build example using system design | |
| Adding a controller | 125 |
| Adding keypad and electrical interfaces | 126 |
| Adding AV components | |
| Adding a touch screen | |
| Finishing the project | |
| Basics | |
| Installing devices | |
| Configuring device properties | |
| Help for device properties | |
| Configuring devices | |
| How to add devices to a project | |
| Auto Discovery (SDDP) | |
| Composer views | |
| Using the My Drivers tab | |
| Using the Search tab | |
| Adding drivers manually | 140 |
| Adding Z-Wave devices | |
| Z-Wave device drivers | |
| Motorization, sensor, and light drivers | 141 |
| Configuring third-party devices | 142 |
| Configuring controllers | |
| Configuring a home controller | 143 |
| Configuring a CA-10 Automation Controller | |
| Configuring high-resolution audio with an EA Controller | 145 |
| Replacing an existing controller using the Controller Migration Wizard | |
| Ensure that Zigbee Server is running | 151 |
| Configuring a Z-Wave controller | |
| Advanced configuration | |
| Advanced Z-wave concepts | |
| Troubleshooting Z-Wave | |

| Ensure that Video Mode is set correctly | 156 |
|---|-----|
| Configure multiple controllers | 156 |
| Configure an IO Extender | 157 |
| Configuring lighting | |
| Wireless Lighting | 159 |
| Device settings for Configurable Keypads | |
| Device settings for dimmers | 162 |
| Configuring the Keypad Dimmer's buttons | 166 |
| Device settings for switches | 168 |
| Changing LED colors on a switch or dimmer | |
| Outlet Lighting | |
| Configure a Wireless Outlet Switch V2 | 172 |
| Perform power learning | 175 |
| Configure a Wireless Outlet Switch for power-sensing AV devices | 176 |
| Configure a Wireless Outlet Dimmer V2 | 178 |
| Centralized Lighting | |
| Adding Centralized Lighting to your project | 182 |
| Configure light properties for Centralized Lighting | 183 |
| Set Dimmable Light properties | |
| Non-Dimmable properties | 186 |
| 0-10V properties | 188 |
| Configure an 8-Channel Dimmer | 190 |
| Configure an 8-Channel Relay | 192 |
| Configure an 8-Port Ethernet Switch | 194 |
| Configure an 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer | 194 |
| Configure a Bus Ethernet Gateway | 195 |
| Configuring user interfaces | 198 |
| Change the order and visibility of devices | |
| Enable Equalizer Settings | 199 |
| Configuring remote controls | 200 |
| Configure System Remote Control SR-150B | 200 |
| Program the System Remote Control SR-150B programmable buttons $_{\cdot \cdot}$ | 201 |
| Configure System Remote Control SR-250 | 202 |
| Program the SR-250 programmable buttons | 204 |
| Program the SR-250 Paging feature | 205 |
| Configure System Remote Control SR-260 | 206 |
| Program the SR-260 programmable buttons | 207 |
| Program the SR-260 Paging feature | 208 |
| Configuring touch screens | 209 |

| Configure the Intercom Proxy Properties for touch screen drivers compatik with the Communication agent | ole 209 |
|--|------------|
| Configure a 7" or 10" T3 Series In-Wall Touch Screen | |
| Configure a 7" T3 Series Tabletop Touch Screen | 211 |
| Configure a 7" In-Wall Touch Screen with Camera (C4-TW7CO) | |
| Scenarios | |
| Configure a 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera (C4-TSMC7-EN) | 213 |
| Wireless Network Limitations | 214 |
| Configure a 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen (C4-TSWMC5 or C4-TSWMC7) | 214 |
| Scenarios | |
| Keypads | 215 |
| Configure a Configurable Keypad | 215 |
| Device settings for Configurable Keypads | |
| Ordering keycap engraving | 218 |
| Configuring lights for 3-way | 220 |
| Configuring a 2-Button Keypad as a 3-way light | 220 |
| Configuring a 3-Button Keypad to control a 3-way light | 221 |
| Configure a Dry Contact Input Module | 222 |
| Device settings for Dry Contact Input Module | 223 |
| Configure mobile devices or PCs/tablets as Navigators | 224 |
| Configure a Door Station | 224 |
| Configuring AV devices | |
| Configure a Triad Audio Matrix Switch | 226 |
| Configure a Triad Power Amplifier | 229 |
| Configure a Triad One Streaming Amplifier | 229 |
| Input Mode | 232 |
| Direct | 232 |
| Stream | 232 |
| Direct + Stream | 232 |
| Configure Triad One for Wi-Fi | 232 |
| Configure an Audio Matrix Switch | 235 |
| Configure a Control4 4k Ultra HD 10x10 HDMI Matrix Switch | 237 |
| Configure an audio or AV switch | 237 |
| Configure a 4-Zone Amplifier | 238 |
| Configure a Multi-Channel Amplifier | 240 |
| Configure a media player | 242 |
| Configure a Wireless Music Bridge | 243 |
| Configure TuneIn | 244 |
| Adding a media service | |

| Configuring Motorization | |
|---|-----|
| Configuring a Zigbee IO and Zigbee Contact | 247 |
| Configure a contact | 247 |
| Configure a Fan Speed Controller | 248 |
| Keypad properties | 250 |
| Configuring HVAC systems | |
| Setting up a Wireless Thermostat | 252 |
| Programming the Control4 Thermostat schedule | 252 |
| Using the Wireless Thermostat advanced properties | 254 |
| Advanced Device Configuration | |
| Configuring a camera | 260 |
| Prerequisites | 260 |
| Configuring Black & Decker locks | |
| Connecting devices | |
| Why you need connections | |
| Connection design tips for CentralizedLighting | 264 |
| Connect and verify devices | |
| Connection Filters | 273 |
| Connecting rooms | |
| Get room connections | 274 |
| Room connection types | |
| Examples of system configurations | 276 |
| Verify default room connections | |
| Connecting devices to the network | |
| Connecting a device to the network | |
| Configuring a Wi-Fi connection | 280 |
| Verifying the network connections | |
| Connecting Zigbee devices | |
| Connecting Zigbee device drivers to the Zigbee network | 284 |
| Zigbee Mesh Routing Tree | |
| Connecting Z-Wave devices | |
| Connecting Z-Wave device drivers to the Z-Wave network | |
| Connecting Z-Wave device drivers to motorization, sensor or light drivers | 289 |
| Available Devices | 290 |
| Removing Z-Wave devices | 291 |
| Removing Z-Wave devices from the network | 291 |
| Removing failed Z-Wave devices | |
| Replacing failed Z-Wave devices | 292 |
| Connecting and managing control and AV devices | 294 |
| | |

| Verifying control and AV connections | |
|--|--|
| Disconnecting or removing control/AV connections | |
| Re-assigning control/AV connections | |
| Updating connections when a location changes | |
| Testing device connections | |
| Testing device controls | |
| Device Control examples | |
| Examples | |
| Example home project: Composer views method | |
| Example: Design and create the project | |
| Composer views | |
| Example: Make and verify the connections | |
| Example: Verify the network connections | |
| Using the Network tab | |
| Using Network Tools | |
| Example: Define the control and audio/video connections | |
| Verify that all control and AV connections use room properties | |
| Disconnect/Remove control/AV connections | |
| Re-assign control/AV connections | |
| Update connections in the project if you change locations | |
| Example: Use the Access agent | |
| Example: Use the Advanced Lighting agent | |
| Setting up media | |
| Media types | |
| Overview of media management | |
| Media Manager | |
| New scans | |
| Scans where content is in the media database | |
| Other Media Manager considerations | |
| Media storage | |
| Media lookup service | |
| Configure video scanning of network storage | |
| Setting up media auto-scan | |
| Disc changer | |
| Setting up media stored on a disc changer | |
| Scanning media in a disc changer | |
| Automatically scan media | |
| Searching media in a disc changer | |
| Edit CD or DVD information | |

| Adding a DVD or CD | |
|--|--|
| Setting up videos for a media player | |
| Setting up media for radio stations | |
| Setting up media for television stations | |
| Setting up Internet radio stations | |
| Importing a DVD list from a file | |
| Using external storage devices | |
| Attach and scan external storage devices | |
| Access and scan network storage devices | |
| Creating a playlist | |
| Testing the media connection | |
| Editing media information | |
| Editing CD information | |
| Editing DVD information | |
| Using and Programming with Agents | |
| Agent types | |
| Using the Announcements agent | |
| Using the Communication agent | |
| Add new Intercom group | |
| Local Devices tab | |
| External Devices tab | |
| Using the Custom Buttons agent | |
| Guidelines | |
| Using the Email Notification agent | |
| Using the Light Properties agent | |
| Using the Macros agent | |
| Using the Media Scenes agent | |
| Guidelines | |
| Using the Media Sessions agent | |
| Configuring the Master Volume Slider | |
| Using the Scheduler agent | |
| Using the Screen Saver agent | |
| Using the Timer agent | |
| Using the UI Configuration agent | |
| Using the Variables agent | |
| Using the Wake/Sleep agent | |
| Programming | |
| Programming basics | |
| Event-driven programming | |

| Programming elements | |
|---|-----|
| Programming with commands | |
| Programming with conditionals | |
| Programming with Delay, Stop, Break, Or, And, and Else commands | |
| Delay command | |
| Stop command | |
| Break command | 414 |
| Else command | |
| And command | |
| Or command | 418 |
| Programming with a While statement | 419 |
| Programming using digital audio and rooms | |
| Program a button to play media or a playlist | 422 |
| Program a button to turn up the volume | |
| Program a button to add a room to another room's music session | |
| Set the default for a room's music volume | |
| Examples: programming with variables | |
| Example: Using room variables | |
| Variable handling | |
| Example: Using custom Boolean variables in an agent | |
| Example: Using a custom number variable in an agent | |
| Example: Using a custom string variable in an agent | 439 |
| Other programming tasks | |
| Using Programming Comments | 448 |
| Using Find and Replace | 448 |
| Using Copy and Paste | 450 |
| Customizing Navigators | |
| Overview | |
| Setting up screen savers | |
| Setting up the photo screen saver | |
| Setting up a custom screen saver | |
| Programming the screen saver sleep mode | |
| Changing the time on a Navigator screen saver | |
| Hiding device availability | |
| Viewing device availability in navigators | |
| Creating drivers | |
| Creating and managing drivers | |
| Using the Manage Drivers window | |
| Creating device drivers | |

| Overview | |
|---|-----|
| Why create a device driver? | |
| Guidelines for creating device drivers | |
| Using DriverEditor | |
| Using the Driver Wizard | |
| Limitations of the Driver Wizard | |
| Editing a driver using the Driver Wizard | |
| Verifying the IR codes using the Driver Wizard | |
| Power management | |
| Guidelines for defining power management | |
| Editing power management options | |
| Configuring assignable inputs and outputs | 471 |
| Changing power management options | |
| IR-controlled drivers | |
| Creating IR-controlled drivers | |
| Guidelines for capturing IR codes | |
| Creating an IR television driver | |
| Conditions | |
| Add the IR driver to the project tree | |
| Connect the devices for IR control | |
| Editing an IR-controlled receiver driver | |
| Conditions | |
| Serial-controlled device drivers | |
| Creating a serial-controlled device driver | |
| Guidelines for entering serial codes | |
| Example: Creating a serial driver InFocus LP850 projector | |
| DriverWorks Two-way serial or TCP/IP driver | |
| Creating a 2-way serial or TCP/IP-controlled driver | |
| Related tasks | |
| Using a new device driver in an existing project | |
| Exporting a driver in the project | |
| Maintaining your system | |
| Maintaining your system | |
| Updating Composer Pro | |
| Update Composer Pro using Composer Pro | |
| Update Composer Pro from the website | 504 |
| Updating the Control4 System | |
| Control4 website | |
| Prerequisites | |

| Update Manager | |
|--|--|
| Zigbee Health | |
| Zigbee Health Dashboard | |
| Zigbee Health Devices | |
| Network Tools | |
| System Manager | |
| Updating firmware | |
| Zigbee devices | |
| IP devices | |
| Black & Decker locks | |
| Guidelines for updating a Control4 system | |
| Guidelines for updating specific devices | |
| Estimating Control4 system update times | |
| Estimating update times per device type | |
| Best practices for updating a Control4 system | |
| General procedure | |
| Back up the current project and media | |
| Check the currently installed Composer version | |
| Update Composer software and drivers | |
| Updating with a USB device (USB Stick Creator) | |
| Create an Install on a USB device | |
| Reports | |
| Upgrade Report | |
| Upgrade Advisor | |
| Viewing the Upgrade Report | |
| System Report | |
| Centralized Lighting reports | |
| Report types | |
| Create a Panel Report | |
| Create a Module Report | |
| Create a Load Schedule Report | |
| Engraving reports | |
| Report types | |
| Creating a Keypad Engraving Report | |
| Exporting your Engraving Order | |
| Troubleshooting | |
| Guidelines for troubleshooting | |
| Troubleshooting controllers | |
| Rebooting the Control4 system | |
| | |

| Resetting the Control4 system | |
|--|-----|
| Troubleshooting a Director connection | |
| Troubleshooting media | |
| Troubleshooting device control | |
| Troubleshooting Navigators | |
| Troubleshooting driver creation | |
| Troubleshooting dimmers, switches, and keypads | |
| Cannot identify the device to the network | 537 |
| Troubleshooting the upgrade process | 538 |
| Basic troubleshooting guidelines | |
| Diagnosing trouble spots | |
| System Diagnostics tool | |
| System Diagnostics uses | |
| System Diagnostics interface | |
| Viewing controller performance information | |
| Using the controller networking information | |
| Using system information | |
| Logging diagnostics information | |
| Glossary | |
| Index | |

Introduction

Control4[®] Composer Professional Edition (Composer Pro) is software you can use to set up and configure a Control4 home automation system. This document explains how to use Composer Pro. To learn about what's new in this release, and basic startup and configuration information, see the Composer Pro Getting Started guide in the Composer Pro *Help* menu or on the Control4 website.

Scope

This Control4 Composer Pro User Guide, which was formerly separated into two parts, is now compiled into a single manual. The User Guide covers these topics:

- Installing devices
- What's new in this release
- Configuring properties
- Configuring devices
- Customizing the Navigators
- Updating Composer and Director
- Example projects
- Troubleshooting the system
- Setting up the network configuration
- Creating device drivers
- Connecting and verifying devices
- Setting up the media
- Programming the system

If you've never used Composer Pro before, we suggest that you start by reading Composer Pro Getting Started, available in the Composer Pro application's Help menu or on the Control4 website in PDF. If you're already familiar with Composer Pro, you can skip through the Composer Pro Getting Started, and then continue with this document.

For information about what's new in this release, see What's new in this release.

Related documents and resources

| Document Title | Location |
|---|--|
| Composer Pro Getting Started (200-00168) | Composer Pro Getting Started |
| Composer Pro User Guide (200-00005) | Composer Pro User Guide |
| Control4 System User Guide (200-00001) | System User Guide |
| Control4 Operating System Latest Release Notes | Latest release notes: ctrl4.co/releasenotes |

Composer Pro overview

This document is for new Control4 dealers or installers who want to learn how to use Composer Pro in the Control4 Smart Home OS 3.2.3 (OS 3.2.3) or later, or for those who want to keep up with the latest changes. If you are already familiar with Composer Pro, you may only want to know what has changed from the last release. If this is the case, see "What's new in this release" or "Where to go from here" for more advanced information about Composer Pro, and then search for your subjects in the Composer Pro User Guide.

The Control4 system is a combination of Control4 and third-party controllable devices, for example, HDTVs, DVDs, CD players, speakers, home theaters, lights (and so on) that communicate with one another via TCP/IP, infrared (IR), serial, contact, or relay connections.

Composer Professional Edition (Composer Pro) is the software application that Control4 dealers and/or installers use to design and set up a Control4 system project for home automation in a consumer's home or business. The software runs on either a Windows 7, 8, 10, or Windows Vista computer, and provides a powerful graphical interface for object-based programming. When connected to a Control4 controller, the project's information is then communicated to Director on the controller. Director, in turn, uses the configuration information and device drivers to communicate to the devices in the home automation system.

Note: Composer Pro 3.0 is not compatible with Windows XP

The sections in this *Getting Started* document provide basic information and steps for Control4 dealers and installers to become familiar with and start using the Composer Pro interface for initial design and setup of a Control4 system.

Information beyond the basics described in this guide (for intermediate and advanced users of Composer Pro) is provided in the Composer Pro User Guide.

Setting up the Control4 system—overview

Setting up a fully functional Control4 system includes the following major procedures.

For best results, Control4 recommends that you follow the procedures in this order:

- 1. **Install and connect the hardware**—When deploying a Control4 system, install and connect the essential devices:
 - A Control4 controller (for example, an EA-3)
 - A Windows-based computer to set up and configure the home automation system using Composer Pro
 - The device to be controlled (for example, touch screen, DVD player, speakers, lights, Dock for iPod, etc.)
 - A controller and PC connection to the home network
- 2. **Purchase the required licenses**—To use Composer Pro for your company or your employees, you'll need to purchase and assign licenses. See the document Managing Dealer Accounts on My.Control4.Com for details.
- 3. Install the Composer Pro software–Use the Composer Pro installation software to install Composer on a PC and activate it using your my.control4.com dealer user account.
- 4. Connect to a Director Each time you start Composer on your PC, you either connect to Director running on a local or remote controller (live connection) or a virtual Director running on your PC (virtual connection). Director is the software on a controller that stores the Control4 system configuration and manages the control of each subsystem and device in the Control4 system.
 - Live connection: To make changes to a Control4 system in real time, connect to the Director through either *Local System* (over the home network) or *Remote System* (over the Internet).

Note: Remote Access must be configured locally before using a remote connection to the controller. See "Setting up Remote Access."

- Virtual connection: Alternatively, to create or edit the system configuration offline and save the project file, connect to Director through *Virtual System*. The saved .c4p project file can be loaded later into a controller through a local connection to ensure that Director has the updated system configuration.
- 5. **Plan and design the system**. To design a system in Composer Pro, you first create a project in the form of a project tree that represents the hierarchy of locations for the devices to be automated in the home-automation system (site > building > floors > rooms > devices) and the devices that reside in each room.
 - Create a plan. Creating a plan before you start your project in Composer Pro will help make your system design go much more smoothly.
 - **Design the system using System Design view**: Use the System Design view where you can view the project tree as you build the design.
- 6. Make and test the connections. In the Composer Pro project, you must define all of the physical connections of the devices to the system: control (IR and serial)and AV (audio, video). You must also define other connections: room control and network connections. You can use Composer Connections view to complete the connections.
- 7. **Register the system**. Control4 recommends that you register each system you install at customer.control4.com to maintain the system software through software updates and critical system patches.

Important: Only registered systems can use all of the media services available. System registration is one of the essential steps that lets you access the system remotely (remote access) for repairs, updates, and additions.

Composer Pro system requirements

Computer software and hardware

- Microsoft.NET 4 (the Composer install is launched automatically from the Control4 website).
- Microsoft operating systems supported (Windows 10, 8, 7, or Vista). Mac support when used with a Windows virtual machine such as Parallels or VMWare Fusion for Mac.
- 500 MHz or higher processor
- 256 MB RAM
- 90 MB available hard disk space
- Video card and monitor supporting a resolution of 1024x768 or higher
- Keyboard
- Mouse
- 1 to 2 Ethernet (CAT5 or CAT6) cables

Home computer network

- Wireless access point (WAP) or wireless router that supports 802.11 b/g/n (optional)
- TCP/IP-based (Ethernet) home network. This usually includes a network gateway, router or switch.
- 1–2 Ethernet (CAT5 or CAT6) cables
- A broadband Internet connection. During initial setup, a broadband Internet connection is required to update the Control4 system and retrieve the media's cover art. Also, a broadband Internet connection is required to support remote access to the system.

Control4 home automation network

- A Control4 controller (for example, an EA-3).
- Control4 Composer Professional Edition (Composer Pro) software, version 3.0.0.
- Note: A Control4 controller is set by default as a DHCP client. If the home network has a DHCP server in place (for example, a router that provides

DHCP services), then the controller automatically receives a valid IP address.

Note: Control4 recommends that you update to the latest software release.

- A wireless access point (WAP) that supports 802.11b/g/n (required to use a Control4 wireless touch screen).
- A valid electronic license to run Composer Pro. Control4 now requires activation using a my.control4.com account with a license to run Composer Pro. Re-activation is required every 30 days. See Managing Dealer Accounts on My.Control4.com on the Control4 dealer website or Knowledgebase to learn how to add and manage licenses from my.control4.com.

Installing the hardware and software

This section provides guidelines to install the devices and Composer Pro.

Installing and connecting the hardware

Before you can set up a Control4 home automation system in Composer Pro, all of the devices to be used in the system need to be installed and connected to the home network. Additional devices can be added and identified to the Composer Pro project if you install or replace devices in the future.

Follow these guidelines to get started:

- 1. Create a system specification, and refer to it so you can answer these questions.
- 1. What does the home have?
 - Any there any outer buildings, for example a detached garage, that will be automated? All buildings to be automated must be included in the project.
 - How many floors are there in each building? For example, the house has three floors and a basement; the garage has one floor.
 - What rooms are on each floor? For example, the third floor of the house has one Master Bedroom and two other bedrooms. The third floor also has one Master Bath and one Main Bath.
- 2. Which Control4 devices are or will be installed in each room (include manufacturers and model numbers)?
- 3. Which third-party devices are or will be installed in each room (include manufacturers and model numbers)?
- 4. If any of these devices has a choice of power sources, indicate how the device will be powered: AC, DC, or batteries.
- 5. If any of these devices has communication options, indicate how each device will communicate with the controller (how the device will be controlled): Ethernet, Power Over Ethernet (POE), Wi-Fi, Zigbee[®] Pro, IR, serial, contact, or relay.
- 2. Install and connect the Control4 devices as described in the installation or setup guide that ships with each device.

Tip: See also "Related documents and resources" in this guide for document locations.

- 3. Install and connect all third-party devices, for example, audio-video devices, door contacts, and security panels, as described in the installation guide that ships with each device.
- 4. Connect the Control4 controller and your PC to the home network. Initial setup of the controller requires a hard-wired (Ethernet) connection to the network, and an Ethernet connection is always recommended. A simple Control4 system and home network are shown below.



- Use the RJ-45 jack labeled 'Ethernet' on the back of the controller to connect it to the home network. If successful, the amber LED turns on and the green LED blinks. Read the controller's installation guide to learn how the LEDs work.
- Use either a wireless access point (WAP) or Ethernet cable to connect the PC to the home network.
- 5. Confirm that the Control4 devices are getting network addresses from the gateway, router, or switch. See the Composer Pro User Guide for details.

Installing Composer HE software

Follow these steps to install your Control4 Composer HE software for the first time. If you are upgrading from a version earlier than OS 2.9.1, you must first upgrade to OS 2.9.1 to continue. Please refer to the specific version of this document for further information.

Note: An Internet connection is required to perform this installation.

Follow these general steps for existing systems:

- Your dealer should purchase, install and activate the Home Edition license. The computer running Composer HE must be connected to the Internet, andyou must have a customer.control4.com account with a license to run Composer HE.
- Install Composer HE 3.2.3.

To install the Composer Pro software:

1. Obtain the Composer HE Installation software (available as web download from customer.control4.com).

Note: Windows 7 or la11:40:29 PMter and an Internet connection are required to perform this installation.

- 2. Start the Composer HE installation, and follow the on-screen instructions.
- 3. Select to update to the latest version of Composer.

Tip: As new features and drivers become available, the Composer HE software and associated drivers can be updated.

- 4. During the installation process, click Continue Anyway to allow the installation to proceed.
- 5. The next screen asks for your account login and password. This assumes that you already have an account on customer.control4.com with a Composer HE license. If you don't have an account, contact your Control4 dealer.

Exploring Composer Pro features

The Control4 Composer Pro interface (views) and wizards are designed to help you simplify the process of designing the system, identifying and configuring the devices, making the connections, and then customizing the system through programming. How you set up the devices in Composer Pro determines how they function in the system.

First page

When you start Composer Pro and connect to a Director, a similar screen like the following System Design view appears:

| iystem Design | Properties | | Properties | Summary | List View | Items | | | |
|---|--|---|---|----------------------------------|-----------|---|------------|------------|--------|
| ratem | Properties | | | | | Locations | Discovered | My Drivers | Search |
| Constant and a set of the se | Paed Setting Heimaton Lights (Papet Itanie Dater 3 Location Deperturne Lathice 12000 Logital 11110 County (ISA Time 2255 Timeze (ISA Date Pach 1 Date Locate | falls Newel behoods rf. USA | 2gliee Contguration Set Lookup Set Display time using Eds Set | Z-Wave Config a 24-hour clock | ution | Bang Angel An | | | |
| Media | ● Fah ○ Cele | enheit ius | | | | | | | |
| Programming | | | | | | | | | |

The Composer Pro interface contains menus, panes, a project tree, tabs, and objects. These components are explained in this document.

Composer Pro startup options

Start Composer Pro

You can start the Control4 Composer Pro application two ways:

• Double-click the **Composer** icon on your desktop (easiest way).



• Click Start > All Programs > Control4 > Composer 3.0.0 > Composer 3.0.0.

Tip: For your convenience, in Composer 2.5 and later the Start menu also displays your projects, logs, and drivers.

When you start Composer Pro, the Composer startup screen displays:

| | | Control (4 300562245-res |
|----------------|--------------------|-----------------------------|
| | | |
| | | <u> </u> |
| Virtual System | Local System | Remote System |
| ද්දා System I | Manager O Check fo | r Updates |
| | Exit Composer | |

This screen presents the following Director-connection options. Click one of the options to access the Composer Pro project and project tree (System Design view).

• Virtual System—Click this option to work on the project when you are disconnected from the network. If you do not have access to the controller, you can still set up a system using a "virtual" Director on your PC, and later upload your changes to the controller. Using a virtual connection, you can complete most design tasks, including making software connections and performing some programming tasks. You cannot identify network connections, test device control, or set up media virtually in this mode, however.

Note: Use this option, for example, if you are installing Centralized Lighting products. Also, check **Install the Report Viewer** to add the Centralized Lighting reports. Your electrician will need these reports to install the panels and modules when they become available. See the documentation, plans, and videos on the Control4 website.

- Local System—Click this option if you have a direct connection to the home network (inside the firewall). This option gives you all the capabilities of the application: set up and design a project, connect the devices to the network, configure the media, and program the system.
- **Remote System**—Click this option to work from a remote location by establishing an Internet connection to the home network (outside the firewall). You can perform the same tasks as if you were connected using the *Local System* option.

• **System Manager**—Click this option to launch System Manager. System Manager can also be launched from Tools > System Manager, or from the Composer folder in the Windows Start menu.

This Directors dialog appears when you click **Local System**. In this case, you select the network address associated with the controller, and then click **Connect**.

| Directors | | | × |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|
| Host Name ea1-000FFF19859E | Address 10.21.1.20 | Version 3.0.0.562645-res | Connect Cancel |
| | | | Add Remove |

- **Connect**—Lets you connect to the Director that resides on the controller attached to the local network.
- **Cancel**—Cancels and closes the *Directors* dialog box.
- **Add...**—Lets you add the Director's address of the controller to which you are trying to connect.
- **Remove**—Lets you remove the selected Director from the list.
- **Refresh**—Lets you update the Directors list to display recently-added Directors.

Exit Composer Pro

You can exit Composer two ways:

- Startup window (where you start Director):click Exit Composer.
- File menu (in the Composer project): select **Exit**.

As you exit, Composer Pro prompts you to back up your project and media information to your local computer. This is not required except when using a *Virtual System* connection, but Control4 highly recommends that you back up your project every time you close Composer Pro.

Composer Pro views

Available views

The Control4 Composer Pro application has five main views (buttons are located in the bottom left pane). When you select a view (see the figures below) the appearance, functionality, and configuration change for that view.

Also note the status bar at the bottom of the screen, which indicates the Director's network IP address and Director status.

Tip: Collapse the views by clicking the dotted bar just above the views so you have more room to view the project tree.

Main menu:

| Pite De Hub Proprieties Propriet Distance | Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Draper System (Local) | | | | | - | a x |
|---|---|--|--|------------|------------|---|-------|
| System Properties Properties Properties Entroit System Control Introl Introl Introl Introl Introl System Control Introl | File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | |
| Species Properties Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""> <thd< td=""><td>System Design</td><td>Properties Properties Summary List View</td><td>Items</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></thd<></thdescription<></thdescription<> | System Design | Properties Properties Summary List View | Items | | | | |
| Image: Construction Parted Statives Testings Station Image: Construction Parted Statives Testings Statives Testings | System | Properties | Locations | Discovered | My Drivers | S | earch |
| Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above Image: Second above | State Control Control Contro | Preparters Peged Sattrage Metanetars Legiting Defaults Allowed Networks 2gBee Configuration 2 Wave Configuration Project Name Degare System Set Location Degare UT, USA Location Location Degare UT, USA Location Location (Ed. 2000064 Control, USA | Locasora Construction Constr | Liscovered | Pry Levers | | earcn |
| Loade U Santa Casardo | Fore Dor Fore Tor | Dete: \$171203 | Thester Foyer Foyer Foyer Foyer Foyer Foyer Foyer Fother Foyer | | | | |
| Temperature Indea 0 Fadrande O Celular 0 Celular | Control & Da HDM Maris With Station Turner Turner System Design | Locale v Set | Room | | | | |
| Trogramming | Connections Connections Profa Agents Programming | Terpendur @ Fakrolet O Celsian | | | | | |

Composer view buttons:

| a | System Design |
|------------------------------|---------------|
| $\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle$ | Connections |
| \odot | Media |
| 282 | Agents |
| 8 | Programming |
| | |

Click one of these buttons for the desired view.

- **System Design**—Build the project tree by adding locations and devices and define device properties.
- **Connections**—Make connections in the project between devices (Room, Control, AV, Network) and identify devices.

- Media—Add and scan stored or broadcast media.
- **Agents**—Set up an agent for use in the system and in programming. Agent types: Lighting Scenes, Wakeup, Scheduler, Variables, etc.
- **Programming**—Program events and actions to automate the system. Using predefined events and user-defined agents.

System Design view

Use the Control4 Composer Pro System Design view (the default view when you start Composer Pro) to define the Control4 system project for a customer.

This view lets you set up the project tree by defining

- The location of the devices to set up in the project (building).
- The device you want to include in the project (device objects).
- The location of each device by room (room).

To access the System Design view:

1. Start Composer.

Take note of the three large panes in the screen below (System Design, Properties, and Items):



- System Design (left pane)—Contains the project tree where you build or update the project configuration with locations and device drivers. Select the room where you want the device driver to go, and then double-click a device driver in the Items pane (right side) to add it to the project tree.
- **Properties (center pane)**—Contains the Properties of the object you select from the project tree when you want to check or modify a device, project, and room. Refer to the sections below to view more information about the *Properties* pane.
- "Project Properties"

- "Room Properties"
- "Device Properties"
- Items (right pane)—Contains the items (or objects, device drivers) you use to build your project, such as locations (sites, buildings, floors, rooms) and devices (controller hardware, DVDs, TVs, receivers, lights, contacts, relays, etc.). If a device is not available in the My Drivers tab in this pane, use the Search tab to search for that device (see the Composer Pro User Guide for information about how to search for drivers). If you've created a new driver using the Driver Wizard or DriverWorks, you will find your new driver in the Search tab.

System Design pane

The System Design pane in the System Design view displays the project tree. You build the project by adding floors, rooms, and devices from the Items pane to the tree.

To access the System Design pane:

1. Start Composer.

Note: The example project tree below shows the project name (Main), site (Home), building (House), floors (Main), rooms (Family, etc.), and the devices already added to the project. If your project is new, the pane will show only the New Project icon and item. Rename your project by right-clicking the name and selecting **Rename**.



Use the project tree to:

• Add Locations—Lets you add locations (sites, buildings, and floors) to the project tree. Double-click to select an item from the Items pane > Locations tab to move

location items to the project tree. If you do not manually add the locations, Composer automatically adds generic locations.

- Add Devices—Lets you add devices (lights, VCRs, TVs, controllers, etc.) and their device driver to the project tree below the selected room. To add devices, click the location (where the device is installed) in the project tree, and then double-click a device in the Items pane > My Drivers or Search tabs (right pane) to move device to the project tree.
- For more information about how to create a project, see "Introduction."

Right-click on a device, room, or other item in the project tree to bring up additional options for that item.



Project tree search, sync, and filter

To make it easier to find and manage devices in large projects, the project tree has search, sync, and filter controls.



- **Search**—Type the device name to search for here. Click the **Find Next** button to jump to the next device of that name. Click the down arrow on the right side of the search box to select from previously used search terms.
- **Sync**—Use Sync to keep the same project device selected while switching between System Design, Connections, and Programming views. Click the **Sync** button and select the checkbox for the views you want to keep synchronized with the System Design view, then click **Done**. To clear them, click the checkboxes or click **Clear All**.

| | Sync off 💽 🚱 Sync on | | | | | | |
|---|--------------------------|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| • | | | | | | | |
| | * | Clear All | | | | | |
| | Sync System Design with: | | | | | | |
| | | Connections View | | | | | |
| | | Programming View | | | | | |
| | | Done | | | | | |

• **Filters**—Use filters to hide or show only certain types of items in the project tree. Click the **Filters** button, then set filters by **Device Type** or **Category**. The *Device Type* list contains only device types already included in your project. Setting a filter under *Device Type* will clear any filters already set in *Category*, and vice versa. To clear all filters, click **Clear All Filters**.

| | Filter off 🛛 🖓 Filter on | | | | | | | | |
|---|---------------------------|-----------------------------|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| * | Clear All Filters | | * | Clear All Filters | 7 | | | | |
| | Filter By Device Type ү 🕨 | light_v2 | | Filter By Device Type 🔹 | | | | | |
| | Filter By Category | media_service tv Done | | Filter By Category <table-cell> 😽</table-cell> | Audio/Video Broadcast Networks Controllers hidden Lighting Motorization Storage User Interface | | | | |
| | | | | | Done | | | | |

Device Control window

The Device Control window in System Design lets you test and control a physical device (after identifying the device and making its connection) in Composer Pro to make sure it works in the system.

Note: You must define the connections before you test or control the devices. See "<u>Testing the device connections</u>" for information about how to make the connections.

Example: To use the Device Control for a dimmer, you click a button in the Device Control window to turn the dimmer on or off and change the light level. If the physical light changes also, you know the dimmer driver is added and the basic connections are made correctly.

To access the Device Control window:

1. Start **Composer**. The System Design view appears.

Double-click the device in the project tree to access the Device Control window (see below) for that device.

Composer Pro User Guide



This window lets you change the configuration parameters (temporarily) and control a device. Later, you can set the parameters permanently in the Properties pane or Programming view.

Example: You can adjust and test the ramp rate of a dimmer to determine the desired ramp rate to set during programming.

Properties pane

In the System Design view, click the project name in the project tree to view the *Properties* pane (center pane).

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
|---|--|-----------|
| System Design | Properties Properties Summary | List View |
| System | Properties | |
| | Project Settings Information Lighting Defaults Allowed Networks ZgBee Configuration Z-Wave Configura | ation |
| Control Control Control Control | Project Name: Draper System Set | |
| First Floor Family Room Family Room Family Left Sony BRAVIA | Location: Draper, UT, USA Lookup | |
| | Latitude: 40.52000046 Set | |
| Amazon Instant Video | Longitude: -111.86000061 | |
| - Indu - | Country: USA | |

The project Properties appear when you first start Composer Pro, or any time you select the project name (or root node) in the project tree. Different properties appear depending on the item you select.

| roperties | | | | | Properties | List View |
|------------------|---------------|-------------------|---------------------|----------------------|------------------|-----------|
| roperties | | | | | | |
| Project Settings | Information | Lighting Defaults | Allowed Networks | ZigBee Configuration | Z-Wave Configura | tion |
| | | On Color | Off Color | | | _ |
| | Top/Scer | ne | | | | |
| | Botto | m | | | | |
| | Togg | le | | | | |
| | Backlig | ht | | | | |
| | Finis | h: White | \sim | | | |
| Engra | ving Alignmer | nt: Center | \sim | | | |
| E | Engraving Siz | e: Standard | \sim | | | |
| | | Panelized N | Nodules in Control4 | Panel | | |
| | | Panelized N | Nodules Use Arc Fa | ult Breaker | | |
| Ne | ominal Voltag | e: 120 | \sim | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | 120 | ~ | | | |

This option lets you enter project-specific information; for example, the project name, location, and ZIP Code. Composer Pro automatically enters the latitude/longitude and date/time information after you provide the location and ZIP Code.

| Properties Pane | |
|---|--|
| Project Settings tab | |
| Category | Boxes or Buttons |
| Project Name—Lets you enter/edit | N/A |
| the name of the project. | |
| Location —Lets you look up a location's latitude and longitude based on city, state, country, etc. | Latitude/Longitude—Lets the system calculate from the entered ZIP Code, the local latitude and longitude coordinate information. Knowing location information lets the system calculate local sunrise and sunset times. This is useful for programming lights to turn on at dusk and off at dawn. Using a ZIP Code to find the coordinates only provides a close estimate of latitude and longitude. If you want to enter exact coordinates, |
| | the fields can be edited. Also used for outside |
| | Country —Lets you select the country in which the project is located. |
| | Lookup Button —Lets you enter/edit the ZIP Code which identifies to the system the local cable, satellite, and broadcast channel programming. It also automatically provides latitude and longitude coordinate location. |
| Date and Time —Lets you set a date, time, and time zone for the Control4 system. By changing the time here | Timezone —Lets you set the appropriate time zone by clicking Edit . Changing the time zone causes the controller to reboot. |
| and refreshing Navigators (File > Refresh Navigators), you reset the time on the entire system. However, Control4 systems with access to the Internet automatically synchronize the system clock using Network Time Protocol (NTP). | Display time using a 24-hour clock —If checked, lets you use the 24-hour clock (0 to 2400 hours) rather than 12 am to 12 pm. |
| Project Settings Control—Lets you | Push Settings From Project—Check the box for |
| set a device in Composer that does | devices to receive settings from the Composer |
| not allow the setting to be overridden | project only. New settings in the Composer |
| at the device. | project override any settings at the device. |
| System Security—If set, all | Properties Pane: Information tab |
| Navigators (Release 2.0 or later) must connect through a secure | |

| Properties Pane | |
|---|---|
| connection. | |
| Localization—Lets you set the locale | Locale—Use the down arrow to change the |
| and character set for countries outside | locale. |
| the United States. | |
| Scale—Lets you select the | Fahrenheit or Celsius. |
| temperature type. | |
| Information tab | |
| Category | Boxes or Buttons |
| System Owner | Name, Address, Phone, and Email—Enter |
| | homeowner information into these fields. |
| Dealer Information | Name, Address, Phone, Email, Primary |
| | Contact, Lead Installer, Original Install Date, |
| | and Date of Last Update—Enter dealer |
| | information and project update dates into these |
| | fields. |
| Project Notes | Any notes the dealer wants to add can be stored |
| | here. |

| Lighting Defaults tab | |
|--|---|
| Category | Boxes or Buttons |
| Lighting Defaults—Lets you set default LED colors for | On Color/Off Color —Set the default On and Off color for each LED in the project. |
| switches, dimmers, and keypads as well as certain default parameters for Centralized Lighting. You can still modify these settings for individual devices in the device properties. Also lets you set basic parameters for Centralized Lighting. | Centralized Modules in Control4 Panel —Select this box to indicate that the Centralized Lighting modules will be installed in Control4 2-Slot or 5-Slot Panels. If the modules will be installed in off-the-shelf DIN Rail panels, leave this box unchecked. Centralized Modules Use Arc Fault Breaker — |
| | modules will be connected to an arc-fault breaker (AFCI). |
| | Nominal Voltage —Select the default voltage that will be used by the Centralized lighting modules. |
| Lighting Defaults tab | |
| Category | Boxes or Buttons |
| Subnets | By default, it is not possible to identify a device that resides on a different network (e.g., subnet) because Director actively excludes identification broadcasts received from devices on a different network. |
| | You can expand the list of allowed networks by adding one, or more, CIDR network specifications to the following list. |
| | For example: |
| | 192.168.2.0/24 |
| | For more examples see: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Classless_Inter-Domain_ Routing |
| Zigbee Configuration tab | |
| Category | Boxes or Buttons |
| Edit Zigbee Configuration | Click on this link to define, edit, and move Zigbee mesh configurations. |
| Refresh | Click on this link to refresh the Zigbee status view below. |
| Lighting Defaults tab | |
|--------------------------|---|
| Zigbee Network Status | Use this view to see the status of the Zigbee mesh(es) in your project. |
| | Name —Name of the device configured in the Zigbee mesh. |
| | Controller Status —The colored icon shows an at-a- glance status of the Zigbee network. Green for online, Yellow for offline, Red for error. |
| | Zigbee Server —The controller defined as the Zigbee Server will say "Enabled". |
| | Zigbee Status —Shows the status of the Zigbee Server. "Running" means the Zigbee Server is configured and running. |
| | Channel—The current channel of the Zigbee mesh. |
| | ZAP Status —A controller configured as a ZAP will show as "Coordinator" or "Enabled". |
| Z-Wave Configuration tab | |
| Category | Boxes or Buttons |
| Advanced | Use the Learn, Network Update, Reset Defaults, and |
| | Send Node Info buttons to manage your Z-Wave |
| | network. See the Z-Wave Setup Guide for more |
| | information (ctrl4.co/z-wave-sg) |

Room Properties

The room *Properties* (System Design > Room > Properties) appear when you select a room in the System Design project tree.

| onitoring | Properties | | | List View | Proper |
|--|---|--------------------------------------|------------|-----------|--------|
| stem | Properties | | | | |
| | Topolada | | | | |
| ~ ^ ` T | Audio Video Devices Navigator | Miscellaneous | | | |
| Residence ^ | | | | | |
| 🖻 😻 Home | Available Audio Sources | | | | |
| House | Device | Location | | | ^ |
| E Samiy Boom | Device | Earniky Room | | | |
| Digital Media | Tunelo | Family Room | | | |
| - Internet Radio | Front Boom HC800 | Family Room | | | |
| Front Room HC800 | Vizio TV | Family Room | | | |
| Denon Receiver | xbox one | Family Room | | | |
| HD Radio | The Napster | Family Room | | | |
| - iPod_USB | Google Chromecast | Family Room | | | |
| - W Favorites | Denon Receiver | Family Room | | | |
| - 🎆 Internet Radio 2 | HD Radio | Family Room | | | ~ |
| - Media Server | Audio Volume: Famil | Room->Vizio TV | | | |
| - Flickr | | | | | |
| Pandora | Audio Endpoint Famil | y Room->Vizio TV | | | |
| SiriusXM | | | | | |
| a SATA Ela Sorana | Available Video Sources | | | | |
| - dannee | | | | | |
| Control4 Thermostat | Device | Location | Audio Path | | ^ |
| Tuneln | Vizio TV | Family Room | yes | | |
| Chromecast | sbox one | Family Room | yes | | |
| - Wireless Outlet Swit | Google Chromecast | Family Room | yes | | |
| - 💹 Vizio TV | Denon Receiver | Family Room | yes | | |
| that where any the second seco | iPod_USB | Family Room | yes | | |
| ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | Favorites | Family Room | yes | | |
| Monitoring | Internet Radio 2 | Family Room | yes | | ~ |
| | Video Endpoint Family | y Room->Vizio TV | | | |
| Media | | | | | |
| Media | Audio Volume: Family | y Room->Vizio TV | | | |
| Media Agents Programming | Audio Volume: Family Audio Endpoint: Family | y Room->Vizio TV y Room->Vizio TV | | | |

The room *Properties* pane lets you view room-specific device and media information (for example, the iPod located in the Office is an available audio source in the Family room), and helps you troubleshoot any incorrect room connections.

The **Audio/Video Devices** tablets you view the devices configured for each end point device and the devices that are available in the room.

Example: If you can't play movies from a Disc Changer in a particular room, you can view the room's Properties to see if the disc changer shows up in the List view. If it does not, you are probably missing AV bindings in the path to the device. Detailed information about connections is available in the Composer Pro User Guide, or see "<u>Connections view</u>."

| Properties Pane—Room Properties | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Category | Box or Button | | | | |
| Audio Video Devices tab —Provides information that lets you view all audio | Audio Endpoint —The device that is configured to play audio in the room. | | | | |
| and video devices and control connections in a selected room. | Tip : Which device needs to turn on and off to listen to any source of audio in the room? | | | | |
| | Audio Volume—The device that is configured to control the audio volume in the room. | | | | |
| | Tip: Which device do you need to send volume commands to in order to control the audio volume in the room? | | | | |
| | Video Endpoint —The device in the room that is configured to display the video in the room. | | | | |
| | Tip: Which video display device is in the room, or where does the video end up? | | | | |
| Navigator tab —Lets you hide and re- order device visibility for all Navigators (in Watch, Listen, etc.). | Modify —Lets you move the order of devices up or down, and hide or show them. Select the device in the <i>Menu</i> list. | | | | |
| Miscellaneous view —Lets you set the default audio and video volume for the room, for example, what the room will | Enable Default Volume—Select and use the up or down arrows to change the audio and video volume. | | | | |
| revert to after a power cycle. This is also where you set the IR Mask for the room. | Mute When Paused—Select this option to send a mute command when media is the room is paused. | | | | |
| | Multi-Room Shared IR Settings—Use the down arrow to select the IR. | | | | |

Room Summary

The room *Summary* (System Design > Room > Properties) appear when you select a room in the System Design project tree and click on the **Summary** tab..



This screen gives useful summary information for the room including room location in the project, Room ID (which can be helpful when reviewing project logs), and Device Programming that pertains to the room.

Device Properties

The device *Properties* (System Design > device > Properties) are visible when you select a device in the project tree. This option lets you modify the available (if any) user options for the selected device.

| Composer Home Edition 3.1.1 / OS Mana | gement 3.1.1 - Residence (Remote) | - | - | | × |
|---------------------------------------|---|-----------------|-------|----------|----|
| File Tools Help | | | | | |
| Monitoring | Properties | List View | N | Properti | es |
| System | Properties | | | Apply to | |
| ~~~ ? | LED Information | | | | |
| Internet Radio 2 🔨 | | | | | |
| Media Server | | | | | |
| Pandora | | | | | |
| - Sirius XM | | | | | |
| eSATA File Storage | | | | | |
| dan pore | | | | | |
| -In Tuneh | | | | | |
| Chromecast | Advanced Properties | | | | |
| - Wieless Obliet Switt | Energy Information | | | | |
| sbox one | Minutes Off: 5134 Current Power: N/A watts | | | | |
| Google Chromecast | Minutes On: 53507 Energy Used: N/A watt hours | | | | |
| -W Christmas Tree Outle | Minutes On Today: 678 Energy Used Today: N/A watt hours | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| - My Music | | | | | |
| Stations | | | | | |
| - In Channels | | | | | |
| Pandora | | | | | |
| Sustem Remote Conr V | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Monitoring | | | | | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | |
| Agents | | | | | |
| 💥 Programming | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Director Status: Idle | Connected | to 10.158.1.187 | (SSL) | | |

Properties Pane: Device Properties

Category

Properties—Lets you modify options (if available) that are common to all devices of that type.

Advanced Properties—Lets you modify advanced options (if available) on some devices.

List View pane

Use the Control4 Composer Pro List View pane in System Design to view all of the devices in a room.

When you select a room or any device in a room in the project tree, and then click **List View**, all of the devices installed in that room display; for example, notice all of the devices installed in the Family room (shown below).

Note: The List View shows all the devices in a given area and the current state of contact inputs or other devices. When selecting the site, building, floor, or room, all of the devices associated in that area are visible. If a single device is selected in the project tree, List View shows all devices that are in the same room.

| loois Heip | | | |
|---|--|-----------------------------------|------------------------------|
| onitoring | List View | | List View Propertie |
| tem | Family Room | | |
| <u> </u> | Digital Media | Internet Radio | Front Room HC800 |
| Residence A | Name: Denon Receiver | Name: HD Radio | Name: iPod_USB |
| Main Family Room | Name: Favorites | Name: Internet Radio 2 | Name: Media Server |
| Digital Media | Name: Flickr | Name: Pandora | Name: SiriusXM |
| Front Hoom HC800 | Name: Spotify | eSATA File Storage | dan-pc-e |
| - William IPod_USB - William Favorites | Name: Control4 Thermostat Temp: 66 F Mode: Heat | Tuneln | Name: Chromecast |
| Media Server | Wireless Outlet Switch V2 | Name: Vizio TV | Name: xbox one |
| Pickr Pandora SirlusXM | Napster | Name: Google Chromecast | Christmas Tree Outlet Switch |
| Spotify | Name: Christmas Tree | Name: Holiday Lights Level: | My Music |
| Control4 Thermostat | My Movies | Stations | Channels |
| Wireless Outlet Switz | DLNA Music | Pandora | System Remote Control SR260 |
| Vizio TV | Name: Amazon Fire TV | Amazon Fire App Switcher | T3 7" Tabletop Touch Screen |
| Monitoring | Intercom 2 | Name: Family Room Light Level: | Family Room KP |
| Media | Name: Family Reading Light Level: | Family Reading KP | Name: Family Room |
| Agents | 5 EA-5 | UIDevice | Remote with batteries |
| Programming | USB Disk 2.0 partition1 | Family Room control | Remote Finder Pro |

To access the List View pane:

- 1. Start Composer.
- 2. In the project tree, click any object.
- 3. In the Properties pane, click the List View tab.
- 4. You can double-click a device in the List View pane to display its Device Control window.

Items pane

The Control4 Composer Pro Items pane lets you build the project tree either by:

- Dragging and dropping items from the Items pane to the project tree, or by
- Double-clicking the item in the Items pane (which adds it to the project tree).

Note: In OS 2.3.0 or later, specific devices can be added and identified in the project tree automatically using the Discovered tab (via SDDP). See the figure below and the Composer Pro User Guide for details.

To access the Items pane:

- 1. Start Composer Pro. The System Design view appears by default.
- 2. View the Items pane on the right side.
- 3. Click the Locations tab.



The *Locations* tab displays the list of available objects by their physical location in the home (site, building, floor, or room) that you can add to a project. Use the items in the *Locations* tab to organize the project tree by area.

Example: The Sites object shows which sites (Home, Work, Corporate, etc.) you can add to your project tree as you begin to build your design.

4. Click the **Discovered** tab.

| Locations | Discover_ | My Drivers | Search |
|-------------|-----------|-----------------|----------|
| Туре | Manu | facturer | Model |
| control4_h | c Contro | :44 | C4-HC25 |
| control4_h | c Contro | :44 | C4-HC80 |
| control4_h | c Contro | 44 | C4-HC30 |
| control4_h | c Contro | :44 | C4-HC30 |
| control4_h | c Contro | | C4-HC30 |
| control4_h | c Contro | 44 | C4-HC80 |
| control4_to | ou Contro | :44 | C4-TSWN |
| control4_h | c Contro | 44 | C4-HC25 |
| control4_to | ou Contro | ₃ 14 | C4-TSMC |
| din_rail_8_ | c Contro | :44 | C4-DIN-8 |
| din_rail_8_ | c Contro | 44 | C4-DIN-8 |
| control4_h | c Contro | :44 | AVM-HC5 |
| control4_to | ou Contro | | C4-TSWN |
| control4_to | ou Contro | 44 | C4-TSMC |
| control4_to | ou Contro | :44 | C4-TSWN |
| control4_h | c Contro | 44 | C4-HC10 |
| din_rail_8_ | c Contro | 94 | C4-DIN-8 |
| control4_to | ou Contro | | C4-TSWN |
| control4_to | ou Contro | 44 | C4-TSWN |
| control4_h | c Contro | 94 | C4-HC30 |
| control4_to | ou Contro | 54 | C4-TSWN |
| control4_h | c Contro | 44 | C4-HC30 |
| control4_ic | x Contro | ₂ 14 | IOX-B |
| control4_ic | xx Contro | 44 | 10X-B |
| control4_h | c Contro | 94 | C4-HC20 |
| control4_to | ou Contro | 54 | C4-TSMC |
| din_rail_8_ | c Contro | 44 | C4-DIN-8 |
| control4_h | c Contro | ₂ 14 | C4-HC20 |

The *Discovered* tab (supported for devices added in OS 2.3 and later) lists the devices that can be automatically discovered by the system. You simply click where in the project (room) you want the device to go (left pane), and then double-click the device in the list; it will be added and identified automatically. See "Configuring devices" in the Composer Pro User Guide for details. This feature is ideal for smaller systems.

5. Click the My Drivers tab.



The *My Drivers* tab displays a list of device drivers you can add to the project tree. This is a list of common Control4 and third-party device drivers. If you can't find the driver you want, go to Step 6.

6. To locate a driver that is not in the common list, click the **Search** tab. If you can't find the driver you want here, you may need to create your own driver. See "Search tab" for details about how to use the *Search* function.

| Locations | Discovered | My Drivers | Search |
|------------------|--------------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| blinds | | | - |
| V Local V Oni | line 🔲 Certified O | nly | |
| All Device Types | ▼ All Manufac | turers | • |
| Results | | Sort by | Relevance - |
| Somfy Syste | ems, Inc ILT G | roup Default 23 | 32 |
| Somfy Systems, | Inc | | ILT Group Default |
| Blinds | | | Serial Online |
| Lutron Radi | oRA 2 Shade | | |
| Lutron | | | RadioRA 2 Shade |
| Blinds | | | Online 🗸 |
| Two-wire SI | hade | | |
| Generic | | | Two-wire Shade |
| Blinds | | | Online |
| Lutron Hom | eWorks QS SI | nade | |
| Lutron | | Hom | eWorks QS Shade |
| Blinds | | | Online |
| Somfy RTS | [Channel 11] | | |
| Somfy | | | RTS |
| Blinds | | | Serial Online |
| Somfy RTS | [Channel 4] | | |
| Somfy | | | RTS |
| Blinds | | | Serial Online |
| 13-18 of 32 | | < Previou | IS Next > |
| 10-10-01-02 | | (1164100 | |

The Search tab lets you search for drivers that don't appear in the My Drivers tab.

My Drivers tab

Use the *My Drivers* tab to add Control4 and popular third-party device drivers to the project tree.



To access the My Drivers tab:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. In the project tree, click the room to add the driver to.

In the Items pane (right side), click the My Drivers tab. A list of devices appears.

- 3. Click to expand a category, and type in the search box to search for a device name.
- 4. Double-click a device driver in the list to add it to the project tree. For information about configuring devices after adding them to the project tree, see "Configuring devices" in the Composer Pro User Guide.
- 5. The *My Drivers* list is only a set of common devices. If you do not see the device driver you need, you can find and add device drivers to the *My Drivers* list using the *Search* tab.

If you select a generic device, a dialog box with a list of devices appears. Select a specific model to add it to the project tree. If you can't find the device driver you need, you can either modify an existing one or create a new one. See the Composer Pro User Guide for details.

My Drivers options

If you right-click any device driver in the *My Drivers* list, the following options display:

| New Folder |
|----------------------|
| Rename Folder |
| Collapse Folders |
| Expand Folders |
| Add Driver |
| Delete |
| Move Up |
| Move Down |
| Save List |
| Load List |
| Add From Defaults |
| Restore Default List |

- New Folder—Create a new folder in the My Drivers list.
- Rename Folder—Rename an existing folder.
- Collapse Folders—Close all folders.
- Expand Folders—Open all folders to expose the items.
- Add Driver—Add a driver to the My Drivers list..
- Delete—Remove an existing driver from the My Drivers list.
- Move Up—Move the item up the list.
- Move Down—Move the item down the list.
- Save List—Save the My Drivers list.
- Load List—Load a saved list.
- Add from Defaults—Add a driver from the default list.
- Restore Default List—Restore the device list to the default contents.

Search tab

Use the Search tab to search for and add device drivers to the project tree that do not appear in the My Drivers list.

To find a device driver using Search:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. In the project tree, click the room to add the driver to.

3. In the *Items* pane, click the **Search** tab.



To find a device driver:

- 1. From the project tree, select the room where the device resides.
- 2. In the Search tab, type the text to search for in the search box. As you type, matching options are displayed.
- 3. To narrow down the search, select the device type and the manufacturer from the respective filters.
- 4. Drag the driver to the project tree, or double-click the device driver to add it the project tree.
 - [search text field]—Type the text to search for here. You can use the dropdown menu to select terms that were previously typed.
 - Local (default)—The Local checkbox lets you view device drivers stored on your local computer.
 - **Online**—The Online checkbox lets you view and download drivers from the online database.
 - **Certified Only**—This checkbox specifies that only Control4-Certified drivers will appear in the search results.
 - **Device Types**—Lets you select the device type (proxy), for example, AV Switch (includes audio switches), Blinds, CD, Disc Changer (includes DVD and

CD Changers), DVD, Light, Receiver, Satellite (includes DVRs), Cable TV, Television, Thermostat, Tuner, VCR and more.

- Manufacturers—Lets you select the manufacturer.
- **Sort by**—Lets you select the order that search results are displayed.
- **Results**—Detailed search results appear, including the manufacturer, model, and driver location.

Locations tab

Use the Locations tab to add the list of available locations (site, building, floor, room, etc.) to a project.

To access the Locations tab:

- 1. In the project tree, click the site, building, or floor where you want to add the location.
- 2. In the *Items* pane (right side), click the **Locations** tab.
- 3. Double-click a location in the *Locations* tab to add it to the project tree.

Click Sites, Buildings, Floors or Rooms to expand the category.



- **Sites**—Define the project site type. Defines the main location, and identifies the type of system you are designing, for example, a residence, commercial, or corporate site.
- **Buildings**—Place the buildings on the site (House, Building, Office, etc.). Defines the buildings located on the site. For example, a residence might have a separate Garage, Workshop, Shed, or Pool house. A Campus might have a building for each college.
- **Floors**—Add the floors in each building (Main, Second, etc.). Lets you describe the various floors in each building, for example, Main and Basement or First, Second, and Third floors.
- **Rooms**—Add the rooms on each floor (Bedroom, Bathroom, etc.). Lets you describe the various rooms on a floor, for example, Kitchen, Living Room, Great Room, Master Bedroom, Laundry Room, etc.

Info pane

Use the Info pane in System Design to view information about the system owner and Control4 dealer.

Tip: Some of the information you enter here is added to the touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen navigators (More > Settings > About) in Release 2.0 or later. For example, the longitude and latitude display the outside temperature on a touch screen, Control4 app, or on-screen Navigator.

| onitoring | Properties | List View | Properti | im |
|--|--|----------------------|----------|----|
| reterm | Presenting | chail ment | Tropera | |
| | Project Settings Information Lighting Defaults Allowed Networks ZigBas Configuration Z-Wave Configurat | tion | | |
| ~ ^ v | Suttem Owner Desta Information Desta Mater | | | |
| Residence ^ | Name: | | | |
| House | rvar n. | | | |
| 🕀 🚾 Main | Address: | | | |
| Frank Pison Frank Pison Frank Pison Frank Basis Frank Ba | Phone | | | |
| ector Status: Idle | Connected | to 10.158.1.187 (SSI | | |

To access the Info pane:

- 1. In System Design, click the Info tab.
- 2. View, add or change existing information about the system owner or dealer in each box.
- 3. Check and change the data periodically as needed.

The Info pane lists:

System Owner information

- Name
- Address
- Phone
- Email address
- Dealer information
- Name
- Address
- Phone
- Email address

- Primary Contact
- Lead Installer
- Original Install Date
- Date of Last Update
- **Installation Notes**—Use the *Notes* box to add any relevant details about a particular installation.

Connections view

Use the *Connections* view to define to the Control4 system the physical connections and addresses of each device added to the Control4 system. The connections are added automatically when you add the device, but you need to connect each device to other devices in the system. See the Composer Pro User Guide for details.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vie | deo Connec | tions | | | |
| Control/AV Network | Family Room | | | | | |
| ~^~ | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | |
| Control | Control Inputs IR Input Control Room Control | Control | IR_IN | Input | | |
| Text Floor Text Floor Text Floor Text Floor Text Floor Text Floor Vadu Googe Rey Googe Rey Googe Rey Text Door Text Toor Text Toor | Wides End-Point Made End-Point 1 Wides's Audo End-Point 1 Wides's Audo End-Point 1 Wides's Audo End-Point 2 Wides's Audo End-Point 2 Wides's Audo End-Point 2 Wides's Audo End-Point 2 | RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl | VIDEO_SELECTION AUDIO_SELECTION AUDIO_SELECTION AUDIO_VOLUME AUDIO_VOLUME AUDIO_VOLUME AUDIO_VOLUME TEMPERATURE TEMPERATURE SECURITY_SYSTEM AUDIO_SELECTION AUDIO_SELECTION | Input Input Input Input Input Input Input Input Input Input Input Input | Left Sony BRAVIA-Picen Selec Left Sony BRAVIA-Picen Selec Left Sony BRAVIA-Picen Selec Left Sony BRAVIA-Picen Selec Left Sony BRAVIA-Picen Selec EA-5-Onacreen Navgator Thermotal-Picen Selection Security System->Room Selection | tion - Output tion - Output tion - Output tion - Output tion - Output n Partition 1 |
| Right Gange → Threater → SE EA5 → Controld 8:8 HDMI Matrix → AVR-3300W | Device | N | lame | | Location | Connections |
| System Design | | | | | | |
| Connections | | | | | | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | | |
| 🗱 Agents | | | | | | |
| 😻 Programming | | | | | | |

To access the Connections view:

1. Click Connections at the bottom of the left pane (see orange highlight).

The Connections pane (left side) has two tabs:

- Control/AV—Lets you define control and audio or video connections.
- Network—Lets you identify devices with their IP address or network name.

The Control & Audio Video Connections pane has three categories and several columns:

- Categories:
- Audio/Video Inputs
- Control Inputs
- Room Control

- Columns:
- Name—The name of the connection
- Type—The connection category, for example, Audio or RoomControl
- Connection—The connection type, for example, HDMI or Component.
- Input/Output—Shows whether the connection is for input or output.
- Connected To—Shows which device this connection is connected to.

The bottom pane has several columns:

- Device—The name of the device.
- Name—The name of the connection on the device.
- Location—The room where the device is located in the project tree.
- Connections—Lists the devices connected to this connection.

Control/AV tab

Use the *Control/AV* tab in the *Connections* view to define the physical connections between the Control4 controller and other devices you add to the Control4 system, including AV signals, IRs, relays, contacts, and/or serial connections.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | |
|--|--|--|---|--|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vid | eo Conne | ctions | |
| Control/AV Network | Left Sony BRAVIA | | | |
| Control Contro | Name Audio/Video Inputs ANTENNA ANTENNA ANTENNA HDMI 1 HDMI 2 HDMI 2 HDMI 3 Video 1 (Composite) Video 2 (Component Hybrid) CABLE Video 1 (Composite) Video 2 (Component Hybrid) Audio/Video 0 Urtputs Audio/Video 0 Urtputs AUDIO 0UT Control Inputs Serial RS-232 IR Room Control III Room Selection - Output | Type Video Control Control RoomControl | Connection RF_UHF_VHF HDMI HDMI HDMI COMPOSITE COMPOSITE RF_CABLE STEREO DIGITAL_OPTICAL STEREO INERO | Input/Output Input Output Output Output Output Input I |
| Consider due in Den malik | | | - Control | |
| Connections | | | | |

To access the Control/AV tab:

- 1. Click **Connections** at the bottom of the left pane.
- 2. In the Connections pane, click the Control/AV tab.

The *Control/AV* tab contains two panes:

- The left pane displays the project tree.
- The right pane lists the actual device connections.
- 3. If you click an object in the project tree of the *Control/AV* tab, you are selecting either a room or a device to display the following types of connections in the *Control & Audio Video Connections* pane:
 - **Room Connections**—Lets you define the connections specific to the room which can include, for example, a thermostat that you can control from a touch screen, Control4 app, or on-screen Navigator. Room connections help you customize and design the devices to perform specific functions in the room.

If you select a room (for example, **Family**) on the *Control/AV* tab, the available room connections appear in the pane under *Family* (the bar just below *Control & Audio Video Connections*). The Video, Audio, or Video's Audio End-Points and the Audio or Video Volume are all defined for the room.

- Control & Audio Video Connections—If you select a device in the *Connections* > *Control/AV* tab, the available *Control & Audio Video Connections* pane displays the following panes:
- Available inputs and outputs—The top pane identifies the available inputs and outputs of a device to make its connections.
- **Connected items**—When you select an item in the top pane, the bottom pane displays the available connections for that input or output.
- 4. To make the actual connection, select the item in the top pane, and drag it to the associated item in the bottom pane.

Note: If you select a device on the project tree and nothing appears, the device doesn't have any control or AV connections; maybe it uses the network connection to communicate to the controller. In these cases, use the Network tab to identify this device's network address to the system. See "Network Tab" below.

The available input and output categories for the selected device display in this order:

- Audio/Video Inputs—Shows the available audio and video inputs. In this category, the video connections are listed first, and then the audio connections.
- Audio/Video Outputs—Shows the available audio and video outputs. In this category, the video connections are listed first, and then the audio connections.
- Control Inputs—Shows the available input control connection.
- Control Outputs—Shows the available output control connection.
- **Room Control**—Lists the available room control connections.

If the connections you need do not appear, you can edit the driver to create the needed connections. From the *Driver* menu (in the Composer menu bar), select **Edit Existing Driver** to open the Driver Wizard.

Note: Editing drivers is an advanced task and is out of the scope of this document. Details about the Driver Wizard are discussed in the Composer Pro User Guide or you can use the Driver Editor. Talk to your Control4 Sales Representative to find out how to order this tool.

Network tab

Use the *Network* tab in the *Connections* view to display a list of all devices in the system that have a network connection and use a network address. Click the **Identify** button (for releases older than OS 2.2 or to re-identify a device) to establish the network connection for any device that communicates to the controller using TCP/IP, Wi-Fi, Zigbee, or any other device that uses a network address.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Draper | r System (Local) | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|----------------------------|-------------|------------|--------------|--------------------|------------------|---------------------------------------|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | 2 | | | | | | |
| Connections | IP Network Connect | tions | | | | | Available Devices |
| Control/AV Network | Identify Disconnect | | | | D | isconnect All IP | ⊖-c4:control4_ca1 |
| IP Network | | | | | View as: | ○ Tree ● List | SDD ca1-000FFF5133C1 |
| ZigBee Network | Device | Room | Туре | Address Type | Address | IP Address ^ | C4Control4_doorstation_ds2 |
| Z-Wave Network | 5 EA-5 | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4 ea5 | 102.5 | E-c4:control4 ea5 |
| | Pront Door | Theater | liin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN ZR6122 | 102.122 | TrainingRoom2-RedCliffs-000FFF1B4AC1 |
| | Back Yard | Theater | liin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN IPS210 | 102.116 | -c4:control4 hc800 homecontroller |
| | Carage | Theater | liin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN MR832 | 102.115 | SDDP HC800-BoardRoom-000FFF57F633 |
| | Side Door T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_glas | | -c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2 |
| | Front Door T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_glas | 102.110 | SDDP dinrail-000fff92a241 |
| | AVR-X3300W | Theater | Denon:A | UUID | Denon:AVR-X33 | 102.134 | -c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8REL-E-V2 |
| | Control4 8x8 HDMI M | Theater | c4:lu862 | UUID | c4tu862d_avmat | 102.145 | SODE dinrail-000fff92ba67 |
| | Control4 DS2 Door St | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_door | 102.112 | - c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8TV-E |
| | T3 10" Tabletop Tou | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_glas | 102.114 | SDDP dinrail-000fff1b272e |
| System Design | Epson Projector | Theater | epson:E | IP | 192.168.102.11 | 102.11 | C4:gateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2 |
| | Bus Ethernet Gateway | Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:gateway:C4-D | 102.107 | SDDP dinrail-000fff924a69 |
| Connections | 8-Channel 0-10V Mod | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light: | 102.144 | C4:LILIN IPS210-PTZ-Camera_259ef3 |
| <u></u> | 8-Channel Dimmer | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light: | 102.121 | SDDP None |
| 😁 Media | Ulin NVR (IP) | Theater | llin:cable | IP | 192.168.102.173 | 102.173 | □-c4:LILIN MR832-PTZ-Camera_506d68 |
| | Left Sony BRAVIA | Family Hoom | sony tv:X | UUID | sony tv:XBH-65X | | LILIN-MR832-000ffc506d68 |
| Agents | Hight Sony BRAVIA | Bedroom | sony tv:X | UUD | sony IV:ABH-65X | 102.146 | E-c4:LILIN NVR1400 |
| 1987 December 1 | Tred AMS | Utility | C4xrlad | UUID | c4tnad_ams8-am | 102.140 | SOUR NVR1400_11027F |
| Programming | a mau AMS | medier | C4.0180 | 000 | c+.mau_amso-am | 102.130 V | C4:LILIN ZK6122-IVS-PTZ-Camera_5051a5 |
| | | | | | | , | LILIN-2R6122-IVS-000ffc5051a5 |
| | Total: 24 / Identified: 23 | | | | | | Total Available Devices: 35 |

To access the Network tab:

- 1. Click **Connections** at the bottom of the System Design pane.
- 2. In the Connections pane, click the **Network** tab. The *Network* tab displays the network type, for example, IP Network, along with the
 - IP Network Connections pane, and the
 - Available Devices pane.

The *IP Network Connections* pane lists all devices for the selected network type. After identifying the network connection, the device's address appears in the *IP Network Connections* pane under *Address*.

- Buttons
- **Identify**—Select a device from the IP Network Connections pane and click **Identify** to have Composer identify the device. This causes Director to listen on the network for the device to broadcast its network address, Zigbee address, or network name. Once Director is waiting for the device to identify

itself, you must cause the device to broadcast its address on the network. The *Identify* window gives a description on how to make a device identify itself.

- **Disconnect**—Select the device, and then click **Disconnect** to remove the connection.
- Disconnect All—Click Disconnect All to remove all of the connections.
- Columns
- **Device**—The name of the device.
- **Room**—The room in which the device resides.
- **Type**—The device type recognized by the system.
- Address Type—The type of address used, for example, Zigbee.
- Address—The deviceaddress.

After identifying the network connection, the device address appears. If a device does not have an address next to it, it needs to be identified to the system.

The Available Devices pane shows the list of devices that the network has discovered. Each device shows up under the service type. It also displays the total number of devices found and the number of connected or unconnected devices of each type.

Tip: Throughout the Control4 system, devices are identified using various types of addresses, for example, Zigbee, Zigbee Pro, IP, UDP, etc. These types of addresses are known as "network addresses."

Media view

Use the *Media* view to select the stored or broadcast media on touch screens, Control4 apps, and on-screen Navigators. The Media view lets you add media selections to the Control4 system: stored music and media collections from a network-attached storage device (NAS) or other devices, for example, a Dock for iPod, DVD player or disc changer, broadcasts, channels, and stations.

To view and select the media from the Navigators, you first need to add and scan the media to the Control4 controller (for example, an EA-3 controller). With MP3, WMA, FLAC, or AAC files that you add and scan, you can create playlists saved to the controller (if it has a hard drive) in the media database. See the Composer Pro User Guide for details.

Other Media Managers: You can use other media managers, for example, iTunes, Windows Media Player, and Media Monkey to stream MP3s, WMAs, or MP4s. And your customers can use Composer Media Edition (Composer ME) or Composer Home Edition (Composer HE) to add media files to Control4.

| Composer Home Edition 3.1.1 / C | OS Management 3.1.1 - Residence (Remote) | - | × |
|---------------------------------|--|---|---|
| Media | Media Scanning | | |
| Media | Storage Space Status | | |
| Media Scanning Options | Used Space for Media Graphics - 4 / 1000 MB | | |
| Stored | 1000 MB | | |
| eSATA File Storage | Total Used Space (All Data) - 2611 / 5920 MB | | |
| Audio Media | 5920 MB | | |
| USB Disk 2.0 partition 1 | NOTE: Exceeding the maximum storage values listed above could lead to problems with system updates and project modifications. | | |
| - Marine Media | Options | | |
| Chromecast | Scanning Schedule | | |
| Broadcast | Never | | |
| Playlists | O Every 1 ♀ Days ∨ | | |
| | On the following days: | | |
| | Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday | | |
| | Thursday Friday Saturday | | |
| | | | |
| | At 03:00 AM | | |
| | Files To Scan | | |
| | Devices: Extensions: | | |
| | | | |
| Monitoring | WWV (Vdeo) MPG (Vdeo) MP4 (Vdeo) V | | |
| 💽 Media | Use Online Media Lookup to improve scan results | | |
| Agents | Replace Saved Image with Lookup Image | | |
| | Hemove media from the database if file tase have shapeed | | |
| w | | | |
| | | | |

To access the Media view:

- 1. Click Media at the bottom of the System Design pane.
- 2. In the *Media* pane, view the media devices. In the *Media* view, the left-side selections change the right-side views.

The system can access and use several types of media and supports various Media Scanning options:

- Stored media (e.g., DVDs) includes the possible media types that store media:
- **Controller**—Lets you store MP3s, WMAs, or MP4s in the digital audio database of the controller (if you have a controller with a hard drive).
- **CD**—Lets you store CD cover art, albums, artist ratings, and genre (Rock, Jazz, Country, etc.).
- **DVD Player** or **Disc Changer**—Lets you store DVD and CD (when DVD supports CD) selections by viewing cover art, title, info, results, media, and disc list.
- MP3s on Digital Audio Player—Lets you store MP3 HDD music cover art, album, artist rating, and genre (Rock, Jazz, Country, etc.).
- External or Network File Storage Devices—Lets you store MP3, WMA, MP4, FLAC, or AAC formats on an external hard drive, USB drive, or server.
- Screen Saver—Lets you store the custom images to be used as screen savers on the Navigators.
- Internet radio—Lets you assign a particular Internet radio station with cover art.

- Broadcast media (for example, Cable/Satellite) includes the possible media types:
- **Direct TV**—Lets you view DIRECTV channel options, including station ID, genre, rating and music channel.
- **Dish Network**—Lets you view Dish Network channel options, including station ID, genre, rating, and music channel.
- Cable TV—Lets you view Cable channel options, including station ID, genre, rating, and music channel.
- UHF/VHF—Lets you view the UHF channel options, including station ID, genre, rating, and HDTV.
- AM/FM/XM—Lets you scan AM, FM, and XM radio stations.
- Playlists includes the possible media types:
- MP3 on Digital Audio Player—Lets you play and view MP3 or MP4 HDD music cover art, album, artist rating, and genre (Rock, Jazz, Country, etc.).
- **CD**—Lets you play and view CD cover art, albums, the artist ratings, and genre (Rock, Jazz, Country, etc.).
- **Controller**—Lets you play MP3, WMA, MP4, FLAC, or AAC formats from the controller (if supported).
- External or Network File Storage Devices—Lets you play MP3, WMA, MP4, FLAC, or AAC formats from an external hard drive, USB drive, or server.
- **DVD Player or Disc Changer**—Lets you play DVD and CD (when DVD supports CD) selections and view cover art, title, info, results, media, and disc list.

Possible buttons

One or more of these buttons may appear in the center pane depending on which category you select:

- Edit—Lets you edit the information for an existing album or movie.
- **New**—A dialog box opens. You can add information for a new album or movie, etc.
- **Delete**—Lets you remove an existing item from the list.
- **Add**—Lets you add media to your system, for example, MP3, WMA, MP4, FLAC, or AAC files.
- **Scan**—Lets you scan the selected media type or storage location for music or media information
- **Configure**—Lets you select the storage device on which the media you're configuring resides.

Right-click options

Right-click on a device in *Stored* media or *Broadcast* media to bring up various options:

- **Clear Media List**—Use *Clear Media List* with caution because it clears all media from the device—and for a controller, you will have to start over by adding each album again.
- **Export Media List and Export Playlists**—Lets you save an XML file of your lists; if you ever clear your project you won't have to rebuild the lists.
- Import Media List and Import Playlists—Lets you recover your media lists after you've cleared your project.
- Import DVD List from File—Lets you import an Excel list of DVD titles for a Disc Changer.
- New Playlist—Lets you create a playlist which appears in the Playlists type.
- Delete Playlist—Lets you delete an existing playlist.
- **Rename Playlist**—Lets you rename an existing playlist.

Right-click on **Playlists** to display New Playlist.

Right-click on **a playlist name** to display these options:

- Export Playlists
- Import Playlists
- New Playlist
- Delete Playlist
- Rename Playlist

Right-click on the individual **songs** in the window below the albums to edit song information or delete individual songs.

Agents view

Use the Agents view to perform more complex programming by module.

Note: See Programming with agents for help configuring and using these agents.

| Composer Home Edition 3.1.1 / OS Management 3.1.1 - Residence (Remote) | - | | \times |
|--|-----------|---|----------|
| File Tools Help | | | |
| Agents | | | |
| Agents Add Remove | | | |
| Access | | | |
| Advanced Lighting Announcements | | | |
| Backup | | | |
| Communication Custom Buttons | | | |
| Email Notification | | | |
| lentty v | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 😥 Monitoring | | | |
| 🚱 Media | | | |
| Agents | | | |
| 💥 Programming | | | |
| | | | |
| | 107/000 | | |
| Unrector status, the | 10/ (35L) | 1 | |

To access the Agents view:

- 1. Click **Agents** at the bottom of the System Design pane.
- 2. In the Agents pane, view the list of agents and their variables.

Available agents include:

- Access
- Advanced Lighting Scenes
- Announcements
- Backup
- Communication
- Custom Buttons
- Email Notification
- Guest Services
- History
- Identity
- Light Properties
- Lighting Scenes
- Macros

- Media Scenes
- Media Sessions
- Navigator
- Push Notification
- Scheduler
- Screen Saver
- Timer
- Variables
- UI Configuration
- Wakeup/Goodnight

Example: The Scheduler agent lets you program using dates and times. See Using the Scheduler agent for examples.

Common buttons available on some agents in the Agents view:

- Add—Lets you add agents to your system.
- **Remove**—Lets you remove agents from your system.
- **New**—Lets you create a new instance for customizing the selected agent in the *Agents* pane. For each specific instance of the agent, you provide a unique name and customize it according to your needs.
- **Delete**—Lets you remove an existing instance of the selected agent in the *Agents* pane.
- **Save**—Lets you save the agent-specific information. Not all agents require a manual save option. In most cases, the agent information saves automatically.

Programming view

Use the *Programming* view to have the Control4 system control devices by identifying to the system any device behavior or configuration options that you want to occur automatically. The Programming view lets you create a program script using the drag-and-drop method.

Note: Programming is an advanced feature in Composer Pro. Detailed information about programming is explained in the Composer Pro User Guide. This section discusses some basics.

All programming is based on events in the Control4 system. For example, a door that opens is an event. When an event occurs in the system, it can trigger other programmed actions to run.

Example: When the Bathroom door opens (event occurs), program the Bathroom light to turn on (action taken).

Another example is shown in the figure below. Note the text in the *Script* pane (center pane). The event is "When the Family > Left Dimmer top button is pushed," and the action is "Open the Garage > Garage Door (Sensor)." The event came from the *Events* pane, and the action came from the *Actions* pane.

| Comparer Home Edition 211 / OS Man | agement 2 1 1 - Paridance (Pernote) | - D X |
|--|---|--|
| File Tools Help | genere sint nesdence (nemore) | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| Levice Events | Script Elecute When the room turns off Programming Controls Eles & And # Comment Script Actions | |
| Power Off | | |
| Audio Selection Changed | | Commands Conditionals |
| Video Selection Changed | | There are no commands for the selected item. |
| Commands Pulse Start Stop | | |
| Monitoring | | |
| 🛞 Media | | |
| Agents | | |
| line in the second seco | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected to 10.158.1.187 (SSL) |

To access the Programming view:

- 1. Click **Programming** at the bottom of the System Design pane.
- 2. In the Programming pane, view the list of Device Events (see below) and events for the object selected.

The *Programming* view consists of several panes:

- Programming:
- Device Events (left pane)—Displays all devices that have associated events in the project tree.
- **<Device> or <Room> Events (left pane)**—Displays the available events for the currently selected device or room in the *Device Events* project tree. If there are no events for that device or room, none are displayed.
- Script (center pane)—Displays the script associated with the currently-selected event from the *Device Events* pane. You drag-and-drop an action from the *<Project Title> Actions* pane to arrange the order of actions and nest them in the *Script* pane.
- Actions:

- Device Actions (right pane)—Displays all available device options with associated actions you can use to write your script.
- **<Project Title>** Actions (right pane)—Displays the *Command*, *Conditionals*, and *Loops* tabs. You move commands, conditionals, and loops into the *Script* pane from this pane.

To add an action to the script:

- 1. Select the device in the Device Action project tree (right pane).
- 2. Select the type of action you want in the Actions pane.
- 3. Click the green arrow.
- 4. Drag and drop the action to the *Script* pane.
 - **Commands tab**—Use this tab to select commands (delete, add, etc.) to use for your script.
 - **Conditionals tab**—Use this tab to select conditionals ('if' statements) to use for your script.
 - Loops tab—Use this tab to select loops ('while' statements, etc.) to use for your script.

Composer Pro menu options

When you start Composer Pro and connect to Director, the menu bar appears at the top of the Composer screen.



The menu bar provides the following menu items:

- **File**—Lets you perform typical file management tasks, clear or load projects, connect or disconnect to the local Director, update both the Composer and Navigator software, and exit Composer.
- **Media**—(only appears when the Media view is selected)—Lets you perform tasks regarding music and media lists.
- **Driver**—Lets you create, copy, edit, add, or manage drivers to enable devices to work on the system.
- **Go**—Lets you access the various Composer Pro views, including System Design (Ctrl+1), Connections (Ctrl+2), Media (Ctrl+3), Agents (Ctrl+4), and Programming (Ctrl+5).
- **Tools**—Lets you view Network Tools, System Manager, Zigbee Health, Device Logs, Detective Suite, Reports (if installed), System Diagnostics, Account Services, and Update Manager.
- **Feedback**—Leave feedback for Composer or Driver Suggestions.

• Help—Lets you view this document in help form plus version information.

File menu

Access the File menu from the menu bar on any Composer screen.

| Load Project | Ctrl+0 |
|--------------------------|----------|
| Cloud Management | |
| Backup to Cloud | |
| Connect to Director | |
| Disconnect from Director | |
| Backup | Ctrl+S |
| Backup As | |
| Refresh | F5 |
| Refresh Navigators | Shift+F5 |
| Exit | |

From the File menu, you can perform project file management tasks:

- Manage the project (clear, load, back up, etc.).
- Manage cloud backups.
- Connect to Director.
- Refresh Composer Pro.
- Refresh the Navigators: touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigator.
- Validate Project

The file management options apply to the files you back up on your computer called *project files* (project name plus a .c4p extension). Project files are saved by default to the My Documents directory under Control4/Projects.

When you set up a Control4 system, you create project configuration information. This information is created live on the controller hardware, or backed up to a project file on a computer that lets you save specific information about each system, including devices, connections, configuration, programming information, and media. The project configuration is automatically stored on the controller hardware to which you are connected from your computer.

Backing up the project lets you save a copy of the project on your computer which is always recommended whenever you make changes in Composer Pro or update the system.

The following options are available:

• **Clear Project**—Removes any project configuration from the hard drive on the controller. Composer Pro prompts you for a backup before erasing the project configuration information to present a blank project. Use this option with caution.

- Load Project—Loads a selected project into the currently-connected controller. Composer Pro prompts you for a backup before it clears the project configuration information, and replaces it with a selected project you can browse to and load.
- **Cloud Management**—Manage online backups saved from the registered system. You can load a cloud project to the controller, delete a cloud project, add a project to the cloud, show a history of cloud backups for this project, and save a cloud project to your local computer.
- **Backup to Cloud**—Creates a backup of the project and saves it to Control4 online services. Requires a valid 4Sight subscription.
- **Connect to Director**—Connects you to a Director residing on the controller. When you connect, project configuration information from the controller is presented to the screen in Composer Pro.
- **Disconnect from Director**—Disconnects you from a Director. Composer prompts you to back up your project before disconnecting you from the currently-connected Director. This option is available when connected to a Director.
- **Back up**—Backs up the current project to your computer. The first time you back up your project, Composer prompts you for a filename. It also prompts you to back up any media information. If you select this option, the current project becomes an option in the File > Load Project list.
- **Back up As**—Backs up the current project, and prompts you to enter the name of the file. It also prompts you to back up any media information. If you select this option, the current project becomes an option in the File > Load Project list.
- **Refresh**—Refreshes the current Composer Pro project.
- **Refresh Navigators**—Refreshes the Navigators connected to the system. Note: Control4 for PCs and tablets must be updated in that app. Control4 for iPhone, iPod touch, iPads, and Androids will update if online.
- Validate Project—Performs a check for project file integrity.

Media menu

Access the Media menu from the menu bar in the Media view.

Note: The Media menu becomes available when the Media tab is selected (on the left menu).

| Clear Media List |
|---------------------------|
| Export Media List |
| Import Media List |
| Export Playlists |
| Import Playlists |
| Import DVD List from File |
| New Playlist |
| Delete Playlist |
| Rename Playlist |

From the *Media* menu, you can create, delete, and rename playlists. You can also clear, export, and import media lists. A Media List is the list of media information associated with the selected device, for example, all DVDs with associated cover art, title, notes, etc., for each DVD in a disc changer.

The media has been scanned or manually added to the media database. After you add an item to the media database, the cover art and information about the media can be viewed and selected from any of the Navigators (touch screens, Control4 apps, and on-screen navigators, etc.).

The following options are available:

- **Clear Media List**—Clears the media list of the selected device from the media database.
- **Export Media List**—Exports a media list for the selected device from the controller to a PC.
- Import Media List—Imports a media list from the PC to the controller.
- Export Playlists—Exports a playlist from a controller to a PC.
- Import Playlists—Imports a playlist from the PC to a controller.
- Import DVD List from File—Imports an Excel list of DVD titles for a Disc Changer.
- **New Playlist**—Creates a new playlist from a controller to a PC.
- Delete Playlist—Removes a playlist.
- Rename Playlist—Renames a playlist.
- **Tag media files**—Used for OS 2.0 or later conversion of media files so all media players can see the same tags.

Driver menu

Access the Driver menu from the menu bar on any Composer Pro screen.

Note: You may prefer to use the new Driver Editor tool released in 2012. Check with your Control4 Sales Representative for details.

| Drive | er | Go | Tools | Help | | | |
|-------|-----------------------|----|-------|------|--|--|--|
| | Create New Driver | | | | | | |
| | Copy Existing Driver | | | | | | |
| | Edit Existing Driver | | | | | | |
| | Add or Update Driver | | | | | | |
| | Manage Drivers Ctrl+M | | | | | | |

From the *Driver* menu, you can create, copy, or edit drivers. You can also manage the local database of drivers and add other drivers from the online database as needed.

Note: Creating a new device driver is an advanced procedure. See "Creating device drivers" in the Composer Pro User Guide for details.

The following options are available:

- Create New Driver—Launches the *Driver Wizard* and lets you create a new driver based on the typical features of a particular device type, such as DVD players, and TVs. See "Create, copy, and edit drivers with Driver Wizard."
- **Copy Existing Driver**—Launches the *Driver Wizard* and lets you copy an existing driver model. For example, if a driver exists for a device from a particular manufacturer, but it isn't the same model, you can modify the driver for the model you need. See "<u>Create, copy, and edit drivers with Driver</u> <u>Wizard</u>."
- Edit Existing Driver—Launches the *Driver Wizard* and lets you modify an existing driver. This is mostly for testing purposes. After you create a driver, you can test the driver by adding it to the Control4 system to see if it functions correctly. The Edit feature allows you to make modifications when necessary. See "Create, copy, and edit drivers with Driver Wizard."
- Add Driver—Lets you search the local database to add a .c4i driver if it doesn't exist in the project. Director will load the new driver, but you will have to add the driver to the project. You can use *Update Driver* to replace an existing one. This option is used mostly with DriverWorks. See Composer Pro User Guide for details.
- Manage Drivers—Lets you manage drivers in your local database and the drivers on the My Drivers tab. See "<u>Manage Drivers dialog</u>."

Tip: You can also right-click the driver in the project tree to: Rename, Edit Driver, Export Driver, Update Driver, or Delete a driver. For OS 2.0 or later, use the same procedure for Update Driver as with Add Driver (see above). However, Update Driver updates your driver if it IS in your project. Note: If the driver connection IDs change, the driver will need to be connected again. Double-check your connections after you update your driver.

Manage Drivers dialog

Access the *Manage Drivers* dialog from the *Driver* > *Manage Drivers* menu item on any Composer Pro screen.

| anage Driver | Auto Update | | | | | |
|------------------|----------------|---------------|--------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|
| Status 🛛 | Online Version | Local Version | Controller Version | Name | Filename | Status Detail |
| 2 | 111 | 111 | 111 | Apple TV (Gen 1 - 3) [IP] | Apple_TV_IP.c4z | Driver is up to date (controller version |
| 1 🗙 🍰 🚖 E | 107 | 83 | 98 | Napster | Napster.c4z | Driver on controller can be updated, n |
| i 🛨 🍰 🚖 | 78 | 50 | 72 | Spotify Connect | SpotifyConnect.c4z | Driver on controller can be updated, n |
| 18 | n/a | 105 | 105 | My Movies | MyMovies.c4z | Driver is up to date (controller version |
| - | 6 | n/a | 6 | Amazon Echo Dot | amazon_echo_dot.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| 1 | 9 | n/a | 9 | Qmotion Qadvanced Roller Sh | blind_qmotion_qadvanced_roller_s | No local version was found. Controller |
| 2 | n/a | n/a | 4 | C4 Security System Simulator | Gc4_security_simulator.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| i. . | 236 | 236 | 232 | Control4 DS2 Door Station | Control4_doorstation_ds2.c4z | Driver on controller can be updated, n |
| . 👻 🗶 🔶 | 144 | 125 | 140 | Deezer | deezer.c4z | Driver on controller can be updated, n |
| | n/a | 12 | 12 | Residential Thermostat V2 | mail: control4_thermostat_c4therm.c4z | Driver is up to date (controller version |
| | 12 | n/a | 12 | Hopper Master Driver (MSP) | echostar_hopper_msp.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| | 24 | n/a | 23 | UI Key - Status button | experience-button-key-status.c4z | Driver on controller can be updated, n |
| 56 | n/a | 127 | 127 | Tuneln | Tuneln.c4z | Driver is up to date (controller version |
| 5 | 12 | n/a | 12 | Scenario - Experience Button | experience-button-scenario.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| | 8 | n/a | 8 | Relay Garage Door Controller (| garagedoor relay control.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| . | 70 | 52 | 65 | iHeartRadio | 🐢 iHeartRadio.c4z | Driver on controller can be updated, n |
| 56 | n/a | 25 | 25 | Stations | Stations.c4z | Driver is up to date (controller version |
| 5 | 24 | n/a | 24 | Kwikset Smartcode | lock kwikset zigbee v2.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| 2 | 132 | 132 | 132 | Fire TV | mediaplay ip amazon fire.c4z | Driver is up to date (controller version |
| | n/a | n/a | 1 | Projection Screen | projection-screen.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| | 4 | n/a | 4 | Qmotion QIS Serial Connection | G qmotion_serial_connection.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| 2 | 125 | n/a | 125 | Room Control | G room_control_keypad.c4z | No local version was found. Controller |
| a 📩 🔶 | 149 | 123 | 149 | TIDAL | tidal.c4z | Local driver can be updated, new onli |
| | 205 | 017 | 111 | Cashald C41110000 | Read L.002d sumstrivewitch adv | Decore and allowing be readed a |
| In Project | Obsolete | 🔒 Built In | 📩 Driver on o | ontroller can be updated 🛛 🎎 🛛 | Local driver can be updated 👘 📤 Loca | al driver can be updated from controlle |

From the *Manage Drivers* dialog, you can organize the device drivers (or drivers) in your local database. You can sort by *Device Type*, *Name*, *Manufacturer*, *Model*, *Driver Status*, *Creator*, *Created Date*, and *Modified Date*.

Buttons

- Add—Lets you add drivers from the Control4 online database to the local driver database (Local Database). When the dialog appears, from the pull-down menus, select the **Device Type** and **Manufacturer** of the device you want to download, and then click **Search**. Check the driver you want to add to the local driver database, and click **OK**. This adds the device driver to your local database.
- **Delete**—Lets you delete a driver from the local driver database.
- **My Drivers**—Lets you add the selected driver to the *My Drivers* list. In the *Manage Drivers* dialog, you select a device or use the **Shift** (to add multiple drivers) or **Ctrl** keys (to add multiple drivers all in a row).
- Notes—Lets you add notes about your drivers.
- Exit—Lets you exit the Manage Drivers dialog.

Other options

• **Sort**—Lets you sort and find drivers by column and by *Device Type, Name, Manufacturer, Model, Creator, Created Date,* and *Modified Date.* Click the

top of each column to sort accordingly. Click on the column **head** to sort the column.

Create, copy, and edit drivers with Driver Wizard

To enhance device support in Composer Pro and in the Control4 system, a device needs a corresponding driver, known as a device driver.

If you want to add a device to the Control4 system, and it does not have a supporting driver (or one that you can find in the online database), you can use the built-in *Driver Wizard* in Composer Pro to create a driver prior to setting up the device.

You can access the wizard from the *Driver* menu > *Create New Driver*.

| Control | Driver Wizard | |
|---------------------------|---|-----------|
| What type of driver would | you like to create? | |
| | Select Device Type ASwitch AVSwitch Cable Box CD Player Disc Changer DVD Player DVD-VCR Plasma Projector Receiver Receiver-Tuner | ok cancel |

The Driver Wizard lets you add device support to the system for infrared (IR) or serial drivers.

For more information and example implementations, see "Overview of creating device drivers" and "Using the Driver Wizard" in the Composer Pro User Guide.

Go menu

Access the Go menu from the menu bar on any Composer Pro screen.

| Go | Tools Help | |
|----|---------------|--------|
| | System Design | Ctrl+1 |
| | Connections | Ctrl+2 |
| | Media | Ctrl+3 |
| | Agents | Ctrl+4 |
| | Programming | Ctrl+5 |

From the *Go* menu, you can access the various Composer Pro views: *System Design* (Ctrl+1), *Connections* (Ctrl+2), *Media* (Ctrl+3), *Agents* (Ctrl+4), and *Programming* (Ctrl+5). This is an alternative to using the buttons (left side at the bottom).

The following options are available:

- **System Design**—Lets you build the project tree and identify the devices in the Control4 system. Access this view with the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl+1**.
- **Connections**—Lets you identify all connections (Room, Control, AV, Network). Access this view with the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl+2**.
- **Media**—Lets you add and scan stored or broadcast media. Access this view with the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl+3**.
- **Agents**—Lets you set up agents for use on the system and programming. Agents include: Lighting Scenes, Wakeup, Scheduler, Variables, etc. Access this view with the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl+4**.
- **Programming**—Lets you program devices and agents on the system. Access this view with the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl+5**.

Tools menu

Access the *Tools* menu from the menu bar on any Composer Pro screen.

| ools | Help | |
|------|-----------------------------|--------------|
| S | ystem Manager | Ctrl+Shift+S |
| Z | ligbee Health | Ctrl+Shift+Z |
| 0 | etective Suite | Ctrl+Shift+D |
| N | letwork Tools | |
| F | Reports | Ctrl+Shift+R |
| C | OS Management Packages | Ctrl+Shift+O |
| 0 | Controller Migration Wizard | |
| 0 |)evice Logs | Ctrl+Shift+L |
| C | Composer Logs | |
| A | Account Services | |
| S | ystem Diagnostics | |
| U | Jpdate Manager | |

From the Tools menu, you can access tools for checking the device connection status.

The following options are available:

- **System Manager**—Launches a tool to connect to and configure Control4 Controller hardware and devices. See "System Manager."
- Zigbee Health—Open the Zigbee Health diagnostic view. See"Zigbee Health."

- **Detective Suite**—Launches a suite of diagnostic tools: Bindings, Discovery, Performance, Programming, and Zigbee.
- Network Tools—Launches the *Connections > Network* view. Composer shows the status of all network devices on the *IP Network* and *Zigbee Network*. The *Network* view shows you which devices in your project are identified and communicating to the network.
- **Reports**—Lets you select one of the Centralized Lighting reports to run: Panel Report, Module Report, or Load Schedule Report. See "Reports" in the Composer Pro User Guide for details.
- **Device Logs**—Download a snapshot of device logs from controllers, touchscreens, or Triad One streaming amplifiers.
- **System Diagnostics**—Assists you in gathering system information to help you determine if any issues encountered are configuration problems, performance issues, or potential defects. The System Diagnostics tool is valuable also for logging information and sending email to Control4 Technical Support. See "System Diagnostics."
- Account Services—Facilitates system registration which is required for software updates and to use the media services throughout the Control4 system. It is also required in conjunction with a customer account to enable Remote Access, which allows secure access to your system via the Internet. See "Account Services."

Network Tools

The Network Tools menu option shows the Connections > Network view which offers network information on IP and Zigbee devices.

From the Tools menu, select Network Tools.



The Network tabs describe the following:

- IP Network—Lists the devices on the IP network.
- **Zigbee Network**—Lists information about the Zigbee devices.
- Z-Wave Network—Lists information about the Z-Wave devices

The icons denote the following:

- **Green**—Indicates that an address is identified and the device is *online*. For example, a dimmer is identified and communicating to the Control4 system.
- **Yellow**—Indicates that an address is identified and the device is *offline*. For example, if the System Remote Control goes to sleep, the status turns yellow. This indicates that the System Remote Control has been identified, but it is offline.
- Red—Indicates that a device is not identified or has been offline for a long period of time. In this case, go to the Connections view > Network tab and identify the device to the system.

The Network Tools tabs are shown below.

IP Network tab

| Connections | | IP Network Connect | ions | | | | |
|----------------|---------|---|---------------|------|----------|----------------|--------|
| Control/AV | Network | Identify Disconnect | | | | Disconnect | ALIP |
| IP Network | | | | | | View as: Tree | ◯ List |
| Zigbee Network | | Device | IP Address | Port | Status | | |
| Z-Wave Network | | E- Family Room | | | | | |
| | | Front Room HC800 | 192.168.1.130 | 5301 | Online 📀 | | |
| | | Denon Receiver | 192.168.1.210 | 23 | Online | | |
| | | Amazon Fire TV | 192.168.1.201 | 5555 | Online | | |
| | | 🖲 🔤 T3 7" Tabletop T | | | Offline | | |
| | | | 192.168.1.104 | 5810 | Online | | |
| | | 🗄 📳 Kitchen | | | | | |
| | | 🗈 🗈 Triad One | 192.168.1.110 | 6100 | Online | | |
| | | Image: Base of the second s | 192.168.1.169 | 6700 | Online | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

This shows the IP devices on the network, network addresses, and status.

Zigbee Network tab

| Connections | Zigbee Network Connections | | | | | | Zigbee Mesh Routing Tree |
|--------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------|---------|--------|----------------|-------------------------------|
| Control/4V Network | Identify Disconnect | | | | | | Search text |
| IP Network | | | | | | View as: Tree | ⊡ EAS |
| Zipbee Network | [| - | | · · · · | | | |
| Z-Wave Network | Device | Type Address | Version | Status | Signal | | Control4 Thermostat |
| | Bables' Room | | | | ~ | | - 🕄 Front Door Light 📀 💎 |
| | Bables' Hoom | c41ght_p_control41.02 (00#0000 | 20a4db 03.22.41 | Conne | | | 🛛 🖓 Hall Light 😳 💎 |
| | C+280 | 642gbeel0104220-2P 00057ffe | 106624 1.0.76 | Unine | ~ | | 🖶 🖓 Beckyard 😜 👳 |
| | Basement | | r. 007 | | | | \$C4220 Q 👰 🐑 |
| | System Herrote Control. | | 40.337 | | | | 🕀 🖓 Kitchen Hall Ught 😡 🏆 |
| | Departs with batteries | -t | 508-set | | | | Babies' Room |
| | Surface Research Control | of pertol a 250 C4 SR 0000000 | 555004 | | | | Dining 👷 🝸 |
| | Window O diet Suitch | of whit witch in 51 a 0000000 | 24706 | | | | e V Family Heading Light |
| | Chiefman Tran O diet S | of white switch installant (00000000 | 2d6ac 03.19.49 | Onine | | | |
| | Control4 Thermostat | c4 thermost at pozel 1-w 00000000 | 281100 03.25.27 | Online | ÷ | | Carefu Daras Linkt |
| | Family Reading Light | c4.control4 light:C4-KD120_000ff0000 | 72007d 4.2.84 | Online | | | Share Links |
| | Family Room Light | c4.control4 light:C4-KD120_000ff0000 | 720015 4.2.84 | Onine | ÷ | | W Overland Tana Oxford Surech |
| | Garage | | | | | | Babiari Borro |
| | Garage Entry Light | c4:control4_light:C4-APD | | | | | Stephen Hall John |
| | Garage Light | c4:control4_light:C4-KD120 | | | | | |
| | Garage Spots | c4:control4_light:C4-APD | | | | | |
| | 🕀 😱 Kitchen | | | | | | |
| | | c4:control4_light:C4-KD120_000#0000 | 71fed4 | - | | | |
| | | c4:control4_light:C4-KD120_000ff0000 | Bfc7ea 4.2.84 | Online | | | |
| | Hall Light | c4:control4_light:C4-KD120_000ff0000 | Bic804 4.2.84 | Online | | | |
| | Ktohen Hall Light | c4:control4_light:C4-KD120_000#0000 | 71feb9 4.2.84 | Online | ¥ | | |
| | ⊡ ∰H Master | | | | | | |
| | JEathroom | c4:control4_light1.4-APU | | | | | |
| | E benos | C4:control4_kp:C4-NC120 | | Onter | | | |
| | | ceager_p_controle.cozcounocou | 208870 03.22.41 | Oune | | | |
| | | educated in C4 KC120 | | | | | |
| | Pashuard | of sector 4 last C4 KD120 | 7164-2 4.2.94 | | | | |
| | - Foot Door Light | c4control4_light C4KD120_000#0000 | 720001 42.84 | Onine | ÷ | | |
| | Outdoor Kitchen Light | c4 control4 Joht C4-KD120 000#0000 | 718:6 42.84 | Online | ÷ | | |
| | String Lights | c4light in control4.LSZ-1. 000910000 | 17796c 03.20.14 | Online | ÷ | | |
| | | | | - | | | |

This tab displays Zigbee devices, addresses, online states, and signal strengths You can view the Zigbee network items two ways using these radio buttons:
View as:
Tree
List

- **Tree**—Takes the devices that are in the project and lists them in a room tree view.
- List—Takes the devices that are in the project and lists them in one list.

Detective Suite

Use the *Detective Suite* in Composer Pro to perform diagnostic tests on the system.

From the *Tools* menu, select **Detective Suite**. The following window appears with tabs for *Connections* and *Programming*.

| C Detective Suite | - | | \times |
|--|---|--------------|----------|
| Connections Programming | | | |
| Search for Filter for | | | |
| | ^ | \mathbf{v} | |
| | | Sho | w All |
| Advanced Lighting Agent | | | ^ |
| 🕂 🐨 Theater | | | |
| - Room Bindings | | | |
| — Video End-Point <==> Epson Projector->Room Selection | | | |
| — Audio End-Point 1 <==> AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - Output | | | |
| — Video's Audio End-Point 1 <==> AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - Output | | | |
| — Video Volume 1 <==> AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - Output | | | |
| — Audio Volume 1 <==> AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - Output | | | |
| -On-Screen Device <==> EA-5->Onscreen Navigator | | | |
| — Temperature <==> Thermostat->Room Selection | | | |
| — Temperature Control <==> Thermostat->Room Selection | | | |
| Security System <==> Security System->Room Selection Partition 1 | | | |
| ₽- 5 EA-5 | | | |
| — SERIAL 1 (DB-9) <==> Qmotion QIS Serial Connection->Serial RS-232, | | | \sim |

Tab descriptions:

• **Connections**—Lists all the connections in the project. Lets you search by keywords, and expand by room or the whole house. In the *Connections* tab, if you right-click on an item, more menu options are available.

| Go To Device | |
|--------------|-----|
| Expand All | |
| Collapse All | |
| Refresh | |
| Disconnect | Del |

- **Go To Device**—Goes to the selected connection in the *Connections* view of Composer.
- **Expand All**—Expands all the items and rooms in the list.

- **Collapse All**—Collapses all the items and rooms in the list.
- **Refresh**—Refreshes the connections and rooms in the list.
- **Disconnect**—Disconnects the selected connection.
- **Programming**—Shows programming that has been created. Lets you search by keywords, and expand by room or the whole house. Can expand the events to include actions. In the *Programming* tab, if you right-click on an item, more menu options are available.

| Go To Device | |
|-----------------|-----|
| Expand All | |
| Collapse All | |
| Collapse to Eve | nts |
| Refresh | |
| Remove | Del |

- **Go To Device**—Goes to the selected event in the *Programming* view of Composer.
- Expand All—Expands all the items and rooms in the list.
- Collapse All—Collapses all the items and rooms in the list.
- **Collapse to Events**—Collapses all the items and rooms in the list to only show events with programming defined.
- **Refresh**—Refreshes the connections and rooms in the list.
- **Remove**—Removes the programming script items from the selected event.

System Diagnostics

From the *Tools* menu, click **System Diagnostics**. Use these screens to help you diagnose system problems and activity.

• **Controller Performance tab**—Lets you view controller performance information, including CPU and memory usage. Process data is listed in the

bottom pane.



• History button—Lets you view the history of CPU and memory performance.

| 🚰 Dir | ector Message History | _ | \times |
|--|--|---|----------|
| 6:13:54 F 6:13:58 F 6:14:03 F 6:14:08 F 6:14:13 F 6:14:13 F 6:14:23 F 6:14:23 F 6:14:23 F 6:14:33 F 6:14:33 F 6:14:33 F 6:14:53 F 6:15:03 F 6:15:03 F 6:15:13 F 6:15:13 F 6:15:13 F | PM - Idle PM - I | | |
| | | | |

• **Controller Networking tab**—Lets you view controller networking information, including network type, connection status, MAC address, IP

address, Subnet mask, Gateway, DHCP status, and DNS server information.

| \mathbf{Z}° | System Diagnostics | ; | | | | | - | - | | × |
|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-------------|---------|--------------|-------|-------------|--------|---------|---|
| File | View | | | | | | | | | |
| C | ontroller Performance | Controller Networking | System Info | Logging | | | | | | |
| | Active Interface | | | | | | | | | |
| | Interface: | Ethernet | | | Status: Conn | ected | | | | |
| | MAC: | 00:0F:FF:1B:4 | 4A:C1 | | | | | | | |
| | IP Address | | _ | | | | | | | |
| | IP address: | | | | Using DHCP: | No | | | | |
| | Subnet mask: | | | | | | | | | |
| | Gateway: | | | | | | | | | |
| | DNS Servers | | | | | | | | | |
| | DNS server 1: | 8.8.8.8 | | | Using DHCP: | No | | | | |
| | DNS server 2 | | | | | | | | | |
| | DNS server 3 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Test Intern | et Con | nection | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

• **Test Internet Connection button**—Lets you test the current Internet connection. After viewing, click **Close** to exit the dialog box.

| Test Internet Connection | | × |
|--|------------------------------|-------|
| Test Complete | | |
| Host Media Web Service Updates Web Service | Status SUCCESS SUCCESS | |
| | | Close |

• **System Info tab**—Lets you view system information in a tree view. Click **Save To File** to save this information.

| System Diagnostics | | | | - | - 🗆 | × |
|---|--|--|--|---|---|-----|
| File View | | | | | | |
| Controller Performance Controller Netwo | rking System Info Logging | | | | | |
| Kitchen->Pedestal Triad One My Home->Soundbar Triad One Theater->FA-5 Theater->Front Door T3 10" diskfree hosts foorfig kernel memory mounts netstat packages procnetdev procs uname usb wireless E- Theater->T3 10" Tabletop Touch S | <pre>Filesystem /dev /sys/fs/cgroup /mnt/secure /mnt/asec /mnt/obb /system /cache /metadata /data /mnt/internal_sd</pre> | Size 427.3M 427.3M 427.3M 427.3M 1007.9M 1007.9M 2.9M 2.7G | Used 140.0K 0.0K 0.0K 544.34 810.0M 32.0K 283.9M 84.0K | Free 427.1M 427.3M 427.3M 427.3M 427.3M 427.3M 427.3M 427.9M 13.0M 2.20 2.7G | Blksize 4096 4096 4096 4096 4096 4096 4096 4096 | < > |
| < > | < | | | | | > |
| - | | | | | Save To F | ile |

• Logging tab—Lets you log system problems.

| System Diagnostics | _ | | \times |
|---|-----------|--------------|----------|
| File View | | | |
| Controller Performance Controller Networking System Info Logging | | | |
| Logger Time Device Message adau_dsp Log Level debug Start Tail Stop Tail Open Log View Destination | | | |
| Auto Scroll Output < | | | > |
| Advanced logging and configuration can be done in System Manager. Clear Output | Save Out; | out To File. | |

This logging feature lets you:

• Change the logging level of any of the program loggers on the operating system. Select from **fatal**, **error**, **warning**, **info**, **debug**, **trace**, and **default**.

Composer Pro User Guide

| Log Level | |
|-----------|---|
| debug | - |
| fatal | |
| error | |
| warning | |
| info | |
| debug | |
| trace | |
| default | |

- View the selected log in real time ("Tail"). To start the tail, select the log, then click **Start Tail**. To stop the tail, click **Stop Tail**.
- Open the current log file of the selected program logger. To open the log, select the logger, then click **Open Log**.
- View all the logs available on the device at that location.
- Click Auto Scroll Output to scroll through the log entries, or click Clear Output to clear all entries.

Account Services

From the *Tools* menu, select **Account Services** to set up a customer.control4.com account and register a controller, remove a controller from registration, or check in for a service connection. To register the controller, see <u>Registering the Control4</u> <u>system</u>.

You can also check the current account status and service level. Select the **Status** tab. You can view:

- Account Status
- Customer Account
- Customer Email
- Service Level
- VPN Status

Update Manager

To continue to improve our products, periodically the Control4 team needs to develop updated versions of Composer Pro and Director and provide those updates to you. Use *Update Manager* to update your Composer software and the system.

To update Director:

1. From the *Tools* menu, select Update Manager.

| Update Mana <u>o</u> | ger | | | | - | | × |
|------------------------------------|--|--------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------|-----------|-------------|----|
| | o updates av | railable. Cheo | ck URL and Deta | il messages | below. | | |
| Pedestal Tri | ad One | Kitchen | 2.0.0.561999.mm | New Version | Undate No | t Available | Í |
| ✓ Front Door 1 | 3 10" | Theater | 3.0.0.561999-res | | Update No | t Available | 3 |
| ✓ EA-5 | | Theater | 3.0.0.561999-гез | | Update N | ot Availab | le |
| → Side Door T | 3 10" | Theater | Unknown | | Update No | t Available | |
| verall Progress | Send an e-mail wh E-mail Notification | nen finished to | nust be enabled | | ~ | | |
| | Update URL | | | | ~ V X | | |
| | Version | ~ | ~ | | | | |
| Details | | | | | | | |
| lo update version: | s available - Please verif | y this controller is registere | ed on customer.control4.com. | | | | |
| Do not show "E | legin Update" message | when starting an update | . (| Jpdate Cancel | Update | Clos | e |

2. Click Update.



3. Click Begin Update.

To update the system software:

- Click Update to update the system. After you begin the updates, you cannot modify your project. Do not remove any power cords or Ethernet cables until the updates are completed. You can have an email message sent to you when the update completes to notify you when you can modify the project again. See "Programming with agents" in the Composer Pro User Guide to set up notifications.
- 2. To view the project, you can close the **Update Manager** dialog without interrupting the update, but you cannot make any changes.
- 3. Click View Logs in the Update Manager dialog to view the update messages.
- 4. Click Cancel Pending to cancel the device downloads. This action cancels a download from the device.

Note: You cannot cancel an update after the device download has finished and the firmware update on the device has begun.

Feedback menu

From the *Feedback* menu, you can leave feedback, vote on feedback from others, or view Top, Trending, or New feedback. Feedback is organized by Composer

(suggestions related to features in Composer) and Drivers (suggestions related to drivers and their documentation).

To use the Feedback menu:

- 1. Click on the Feedback menu and click on Composer or Driver Suggestions.
- In the feedback window, you can create a post by adding a TITLE, DETAILS, and clicking on CREATE POST. When a post is created, the feedback menu automatically searches for feedback that is already posted, and rather than create a new post, recommends you add a vote to an existing post and add comments.
- 3. You can show existing Feedback by Trending posts, posts with the most votes, or newest posts.
- 4. You can search for feedback by using the search window. Votes can be added to existing feedback by click on the up arrow.

| Con | nposer Feedback | - | | × |
|---------|-----------------------------------|--|------|---|
| | Composer Pro Feedback | Showing Trending v posts Q Search | | |
| | TITLE Short, descriptive title | 6 Editing large lighting scenes Editing large lighting scenes is a pain, every time you | ÇD 2 | |
| DETAILS | | modify a line, the whole page view refreshes and goe | | |
| | Any additional details | Room EQ Settings | 0 💭 | |
| | | 4 Allow us to change the rooms EQ right from the navigator tab under Equalizer settings. | | |
| | CREATE POST | Driver Groups Under Rooms | 0 | |
| | Powered by Canny | A lot of people add extra rooms to a project to | | |
| | | organise unvers, would be nice in we could organise | | |
| | | Show RS232 and IR bindings When making bindings, particularly on an EA3 and EA5 | 0 💭 | |
| | | with shared IR and RS232 ports, it would be great to | | |
| | | | | |

5. You can view the feedback detail by clicking on the feedback post. You can upvote the feedback on this page and leave a comment..



Help menu

From the *Help* menu, you can:

- Access the online *Help* topics, *Index*, and *Search* function for this *Composer Pro Getting Started*.
- Access a PDF of the *Composer Pro User Guide*. Note: Use the links in the *Composer Pro Getting Started* help topics to access the PDF for the *Composer Pro User Guide*.
- Check the Composer Pro and Director versions.
- Contact Control4 Technical Support.



The following options are available:

- What's New—Opens a link to the What's New section in this document.
- Chat with Support—Opens a link to contact Chat Support.
- Getting Started Guide—Displays this Getting Started Guide.
- User Guide—Opens a link to the Composer Pro User Guide.
- **Documentation Library**—Opens a link to the documentation library on the Dealer Portal.
- **Knowledgebase**—Displays the Control4 Knowledgebase login. The Knowledgebase contains documents, articles, and other sources for reference.
- **Change Logging**—Displays the Composer Logging windows to change Composer logging options.
- **Reset Composer Layout**—Resets saved Composer layout options. This can be useful if a window or section of Composer is not displaying correctly.
- **Check for Updates**—Checks for available updates to Composer Pro. Select the **Check for version of Composer at startup** option to have Composer automatically check for updates.
- About Composer—Displays the Composer and Director versions.

Composer Pro Properties

Access the Properties panes from the System Design view.

There are three categories of properties in a Control4 system: Project, Room, and Device properties.

- Project Properties
- Room Properties
- Device Properties

Accessing properties from the project tree

You can use the Control4 Composer Pro Properties pane to view:

- Devices
- Connections
- Status information
- Project or customer information
- Configuration information for devices and rooms

To access the Properties pane:

- 1. After adding the device and making the connections, select the **device** from the project tree in the *System Design* view.
- 2. Click the **Properties** tab. The properties for the device appear in the *Properties* pane.



Properties pane

In the *System Design* view, click the project name (top level name) in the project tree to view the project *Properties*.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|------------------|---------------|-------------------|------------------|----------------------|---------------|---------|---|
| System Design | Properties | | | Properties | Summary | List Vie | w | |
| System | Properties | | | | | | | |
| Craper System | Project Settings | Information | Lighting Defaults | Allowed Networks | ZigBee Configuration | Z-Wave Config | uration | ^ |
| Control4 | F | Project Name: | Draper System | | Set | | | |
| Family Room | | Location | Draper, UT, USA | | Lookup | | | |
| - Netflix | | Latitude | 40.52000046 | | Set | | | |
| Amazon Instant Video | | Longitude | -111.86000061 | | | | | |
| Google Play | | Country | USA | | | | | |
| - 🖓 Wall Lights | | | | | | | | _ |

The project Properties appear when you first start Composer Pro, or any time the project name (or root node) is selected in the project tree and the System Design view.

| operties | | | | Properties | Summary | List View |
|------------------|----------------|-------------------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------------|--------------|
| perties | | | | | | |
| Project Settings | Information | Lighting Defaults | Allowed Networks | ZigBee Configur | ation Z-Wave C | onfiguration |
| F | roject Name: | Draper System | | Set | | |
| | Location: | Draper, UT, USA | N | Lookup | | |
| | Latitude: | 40.52000046 | | Set | | |
| | Longitude: | -111.86000061 | | | | |
| | Country: | USA | | | | |
| | Date: Time: | 5/17/2019 6:39:07 PM | | Display time | using a 24-hour c | lock |
| | Timezone: | US/Mountain | | Edit |] | |
| | | Push Settings | from Project | | | |
| | | Change Passw | ord | | | |
| | Locale: | | ~ | Set | | |
| | | Temperature: | | | | |
| | | Fahrenheit Celsius | | | | |
| | | | | | | > |

This option lets you enter project-specific information; for example, the project name, location, and ZIP Code. Composer Pro automatically enters the latitude/longitude and date/time information when you provide the location and ZIP Code.

Basic Composer Pro tasks

You can perform simple but important tasks in Control4 Composer Pro (see below), or you can take a deeper dive into intermediate or more advanced tasks (the Composer Pro User Guide will show you how).

Accessing the List view from the project tree

Use the *List View* tab to view the devices in your project (by room). Ensure that the devices are added and identified to the project.

To view the list:

- 1. Click System Design.
- 2. Select a **room** in the project tree.

| <i>l</i> onitoring | List View | | List View Propertie |
|---|--|-----------------------------------|------------------------------|
| ystem | Family Room | | |
| ~ ^ ~ 7 | Digital Media | Internet Radio | Front Room HC800 |
| Residence / | Name: Denon Receiver | Name: HD Radio | Name: iPod_USB |
| House | Name: Favorites | Name: Internet Radio 2 | Name: Media Server |
| - 😥 Digital Media - 🐌 Internet Radio | Name: Flickr | Name: Pandora | Name: SiriusXM |
| Front Room HC800 | Name: Spotify | eSATA File Storage | dan-pc-e |
| - Favorites | Name: Control4 Thermostat Temp: 66 F Mode: Heat | | Name: Chromecast |
| Media Server | Wireless Outlet Switch V2 | Name: Vizio TV | Name: xbox one |
| Hickr Pandora SiriusXM | Napster | Name: Google Chromecast | Christmas Tree Outlet Switch |
| Spotify SATA File Storage | Name: Christmas Tree Level: | Name: Holiday Lights Level: | My Music |
| dan-pc-e | My Movies | Stations | Channels |
| Chromecast | DLNA Music | Pandora | System Remote Control SR260 |
| Vizio TV | Name: Amazon Fire TV | Amazon Fire App Switcher | T3 7" Tabletop Touch Screen |
| Monitoring | Intercom 2 | Name: Family Room Light Level: | Family Room KP |
| Media | Name: Family Reading Light Level: | Family Reading KP | Name: Family Room Level: |
| Agents | 5 EA-5 | UIDevice | Remote with batteries |
| Programming | USB Disk 2.0 partition1 | Family Boom control | Remote Finder Pro |

3. Click the **List View** tab; the status of each device associated with that room displays in the *List View* pane.

Removing items from the project tree

Use the project tree in System Design to remove devices, rooms, buildings, etc.

To remove items from the project tree or other lists in a Composer project:

- 1. **Right-click** the item to remove in the project tree, and then select **Delete**.
- 2. Click Yes to confirm.

Clearing a project

To erase all project configuration information, use the Clear Project menu option.

Note: Control4 recommends that you create a backup file of your project first before you use this function. To back up the project, go to the File menu, and then select **Back Up**. Give the project a filename; the file saves to the My Documents folder by default.

To clear out a project:

1. From the File menu, select **Clear Project** to erase the project configuration information.

Exiting Composer Pro

Use the **Exit** command to close Composer Pro.

To exit Composer:

1. From the File menu, select Exit.

2. Composer asks you if you want to back up your configuration information.

Note: Control4 recommends that you always save a backup copy of your configuration.

Getting project configuration information from a controller Use the *Connect to Director* link to view configuration information.

To get existing project configuration data from a controller:

- 1. Verify that your PC and the controller are connected to the same network.
- From the Composer Startup screen, click Local System or from menu bar, click File > Connect to Director (see below). The project configuration appears unless it is a new project.



Loading a project's configuration from a computer to a controller Use Connect to Director to load configuration information.

To load the project configuration from a computer to the controller hardware:

1. Verify that your PC and the controller are connected to the same network.

2. From the startup screen, click Local System, or from menu bar, click File > Connect to Director (see below).



- 3. From the *File* menu, select Load Project.
- 4. Click Yes when prompted to back up the project. Browse and select the project file.

Example: SmithProject.c4p

5. When you see the new project displayed in the *System Design* view, the project is loaded to the controller, and you are connected.



Backing up a Composer Pro project

Use the *File* menu to back up your project. Control4 recommends that you do this whenever you change anything in a project or if you update the software.

The File menu in the Composer screens provides the following options for backups:

- **Back Up**—Backs up the current project to your PC. The first time you back up, it prompts you for a filename. It also prompts you to back up any media information. If you select this option, the current project becomes an option in the File > Load Project list.
- **Back Up As**—Backs up the current project, and prompts you to enter the name of the file. It also prompts you to back up any media information. If you select this option, the current project becomes an option in the File > Load Project list.

Any time you exit Composer by clicking **File > Exit**, Composer Pro asks you if you want to back up your project. If you've made changes, it's a good idea to do so.

Backing up and loading from a virtual to a local or remote Director

Use the Connect to Director option to back up a Director.

To back up and load configuration information from a virtual Director to a local Director:

- 1. From the Composer *File* menu, select **Connect to Director**.
- 2. When prompted, click **Yes** or **No** if you want to back up the media information.
- 3. A *Directors* dialog box appears listing the available Director IP addresses. Select the address of the controller to which you are connecting.

| 2 Directors | | | × |
|---|---------|--|--------------------------|
| Host Name HC800-BoardRoom-000FFF TrainingRoom2-RedCliffs-00 | Address | Version 2.10.6.558226+es 3.0.0.561999+es | Connect |
| | | | Add Remove Refresh |

4. Click **Connect**. You are now connected to a local Director.

Backing up a project's configuration and media

Use Composer Pro to back up project information. When connected to the controller, changes are immediate.

To save a project configuration to your computer, and then use the Back Up and Back Up As options:

- 1. From the File menu, select **Back Up**.
- 2. Type a filename to back up the project, or use the same name, if you prefer.
- 3. When prompted, click to select the options to back up media information and personal information, then click **Save**.

Validating the project

Use Composer Pro to validate the integrity of the project file. You can validate a project while connected to a Director or Virtual Director.

To check project integrity after connecting to Director (or Virtual Director):

1. From the *File* menu, click **Validate Project**. Composer displays any errors. If no errors are found, nothing else will be displayed.

Composer Pro Version Independence

With the release of Composer Pro 3.1, Composer Pro now connects to Director running on the primary controller through a set of versioned APIs. The change allows Composer Pro to connect to any controller running OS 3 or newer. But most importantly, Composer Pro can now be released independently from Control4 OS releases which clears the path to accelerated enhancements, features, and fixes to Composer software.

Prior to this release, Composer Pro, Control4 OS updates, and Drivers and Agents were all released at the same time. When a revision to one of these components was published, they were all updated together. This was necessary because these components communicated with each another through conventional Application Programming Interfaces, or APIs. When any API was added, changed, removed, or in some cases just used differently, all other components had to be revised to match. Here's a simplified view of the prior relationships among these components:



With the release of Composer Pro 3.1, communication between Composer Pro and Drivers and Agents were made part of a versioned API. Now, new features can be added to Composer software while still allowing Composer to communicate to Drivers and Agents through a versioned API.

Here's what things look like now:



For systems running Control4 OS 3 or higher, versioned APIs between Composer Pro and Drivers and Agents allow the two components to be versionmismatched. In other words, Composer Pro is now version-independent of Drivers and Agents, which in turn makes it version-independent of Director.

Note: While Composer Pro and Drivers and Agents communicate through a versioned API, the OS's built-in Drivers and Agents communicate with Director through conventional APIs. This means that for the time being, Drivers and Agents must continue to be version-matched with Director. APIs for Control4 and 3rd-party drivers that are based on the Driver Wizard or the DriverWorks SDK are

independent of the OS version. Developers of drivers which use the DriverWorks SDK APIs may designate a minimum-OS version.

Connecting Composer Pro to a Virtual, Local, or Remote System

Composer Pro gives users three connection options at startup. The same three options are presented after disconnecting:



Virtual System

Virtual System, also known as Virtual Director, is a software emulation of the software that runs on the primary Control4 controller (Director). Selecting Virtual System will connect Composer to a Virtual Director running on the same PC. There's no need to be connected to the local network (LAN) or to the internet to establish this connection.

Local System

Selecting Local System allows Composer to connect to a Control4 controller running Director on the same LAN as the host PC. Neither the PC running Composer or the controller have to be connected to the internet to establish this connection.

Remote System

Selecting Remote System allows Composer to connect to a Control4 controller running Director—that is also registered to Control4 account—located on a different LAN than the host PC. The PC running Composer and the controller both need to be connected to the internet.

Composer Pro makes new decisions when connecting

When connecting Composer Pro to a Virtual, Local, or Remote System, Composer Pro now connects through a set of versioned APIs, if applicable, and allows you to manage those APIs when you connect.

Connecting to a Virtual System with versioned APIs

Each release of Composer Pro comes with the latest set of Drivers and Agents and Virtual Director. Connecting to Virtual System is straightforward for any version of Composer Pro, and as long as the user has not uninstalled its Drivers and Agents, the matched set of components will always be available.

Connecting to a Local or Remote System with versioned APIs

When connecting to a Local System or Remote System, the user must select the controller on the LAN or WAN to connect to. The Connect to Project (formerly, the Directors) screen presents a list of controllers to choose from, along with their IP addresses and OS version numbers.

In prior releases, if the user selected a controller with an incompatible version, Composer would alert the user and then open the project in a read-only "compatibility mode."

With Composer Pro 3.1, the following changes have been made to the way the Connect To Project selection screen works:

- 1. If the major component of the OS version number (for example, the '3' in version number '3.1.0') of the controller matches that of Composer Pro:
 - If the minor and revision components of the version number also match that of the Drivers and Agents installed on the PC, Composer Pro will display "Ready to connect" in the Status column for the controller, and a single action button labeled "Connect":

| Connect to Project | | | | X |
|--------------------|-------------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Host Name | Address | Version | Status | Connect |
| ea5-000FFF91A1AE | 10.161.1.24 | 3.1.0.563630-res | Ready to connect | |
| ea5-000FFF91A1AE | 10.141.1.12 | 3.0.0.563630-res | Requires OS management package 3.0.0 | |
| ea3-000GGG91A1AE | 10.161.1.20 | 2.10.0.563630-res | Ready to connect to view or update | |
| ea3-000GGG91A1AE | 10.161.1.20 | 2.10.6.563630-res | Ready to connect to view or update | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Add Remove | Refresh |] | More info on manag | ing multliple project versions |

 If the minor and revision components of the version number DO NOT match that of the Drivers and Agents installed on the PC, Composer Pro displays "Requires OS management package [version#]" in the Status column, and a single action button labeled "Install and Connect". If the PC is connected to the internet, Composer Pro will download and install the correct drivers before connecting to this instance of Director. If the PC is not connected to the internet, Composer Pro will use the OS management package that matches itself and connect to the project in compatibility mode.

| Connect to Project | | | | × |
|--------------------|-------------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Host Name | Address | Version | Status | Install and Connect |
| ea5-000FFF91A1AE | 10.161.1.24 | 3.1.0.563630-res | Ready to connect | |
| ea5-000FFF91A1AE | 10.141.1.12 | 3.0.0.563630-res | Requires OS management package 3.0.0 | |
| ea3-000GGG91A1AE | 10.161.1.20 | 2.10.0.563630-res | Ready to connect to view or update | |
| ea3-000GGG91A1AE | 10.161.1.20 | 2.10.6.563630-res | Ready to connect to view or update | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Add Remove | Refresh | | More info on manag | ing multliple project versions |

If the major component of the version number (for example, the '2' in the OS version number '2.10.0') of the controller DOES NOT MATCH that of Composer Pro (for example, '3.1.0'), Composer Pro displays "Ready to connect to view or update" in the Status column. Composer Pro displays an action button labeled "Connect", which when clicked, connects to the project in compatibility mode. In addition,

• If version 2.10.0 of Composer Pro is already installed on the PC, Composer Pro displays an additional action button, "Launch and Connect Composer 2.10.0", which launches Composer 2.10.0 and connects to the project in full access mode.

| Connect to Project | | | | \times |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|--|---------------------------------------|
| Host Name ea5-000FFF91A1AE | Address 10.161.1.24 | Version 3.1.0.563630-res | Status Ready to connect | Connect |
| ea5-000FFF91A1AE ea3-000GGG91A1AE | 10.141.1.12 10.161.1.20 | 3.0.0.563630-res | Requires OS management package 3.0.0 Ready to connect to view or update | Launch and Connect Composer 2.10.0 |
| ea3-000GGG91A1AE | 10.161.1.20 | 2.10.6.563630-res | Ready to connect to view or update | |
| Add Remove | Refresh |] | More info on <u>mana</u> | ging multliple project versions |

 If version 2.10.0 of Composer Pro is NOT installed on the PC, Composer Pro displays an additional action button, "Install and Connect Composer 2.10.0", which downloads and installs Composer 2.10.0 before launching it and connecting to the project in full access mode.

| Connect to Project | | | | \times |
|---|---|---|--|--|
| Host Name ea5-000FFF91A1AE ea5-000FFF91A1AE ea3-000GGG91A1AE ea3-000GGG91A1AE | Address 10.161.1.24 10.141.1.12 10.161.1.20 10.161.1.20 | Version 3.1.0.563630-res 3.0.0.563630-res 2.10.0.563630-res 2.10.6.563630-res | Status Ready to connect Requires OS management package 3.0.0 Ready to connect to view or update Ready to connect to view or update | Connect Install and Launch Composer 2.10.6 |
| Add Remove | Refresh |] | More info on <u>mana</u> | ging multliple project versions |

Connecting to a Director

Each Control4 controller (for example, an EA-3) ships with pre-installed Director software. The Director communicates with Control4 and third-party products to enable home automation so devices can communicate with each other and Director.

Connecting Composer Pro to a Virtual, Local, or Remote System

Composer Pro gives users three connection options at startup. The same three options are presented after disconnecting:



Virtual System

Virtual System, also known as Virtual Director, is a software emulation of the software that runs on the primary Control4 controller (Director). Selecting Virtual System will connect Composer to a Virtual Director running on the same PC. There's no need to be connected to the local network (LAN) or to the internet to establish this connection.

Local System

Selecting Local System allows Composer to connect to a Control4 controller running Director on the same LAN as the host PC. Neither the PC running Composer or the controller have to be connected to the internet to establish this connection.

Remote System

Selecting Remote System allows Composer to connect to a Control4 controller running Director—that is also registered to Control4 account—located on a different LAN than the host PC. The PC running Composer and the controller both need to be connected to the internet.

Connecting to a virtual system

If you connect to a virtual Director, you are working in Virtual Director mode. This means you are not connected to the Control4 controller and the home network, and changes are **not** automatically saved in real time to the Control4 controller.

Saving changes when working virtually

The only way your changes are saved is to manually use the **Back Up As** or **Back Up** option from the *File* menu to save the project file. The project file saves by default with a **.c4p** extension to your My Documents directory on your computer.

Using Virtual mode

After you have designed and set up a system in Virtual Director mode, you can load the project to the controller.

The **Load Project** option is available from the *File* menu. This mode is useful, for example, if you are using a laptop PC, and you can't connect to the network.

- If you change the project, you can connect to the network and synchronize your changes to the controller when you're ready.
- If you design and set up a system in Virtual Director mode, you can later load the project to the controller. In the *File* menu, the Load Project option is available for synchronization.

To connect to a virtual Director:

- 1. Start Composer and connect to a Director.
- 2. At the Composer Startup screen, click **Virtual System**. Virtual Director lets you work in Composer while disconnected from a Director. Composer opens to the main Composer view in Virtual Mode.



The System Design view appears by default.

| System Design | Properties Summary Lis | View Items |
|---|--|--|
| System Design System C Drace System C Drace System | Properties Properties Summary Lie Properties Properties Summary Lie Prodet Stittings Information Lighting Defaults Alexed Networks 2gglee Configuration 2 XWave Configure Project Name Draper System Location Draper UT, USA Lockup Location Draper UT, USA Lockup Location 11 56000061 Country, USA | Vere lifema Second My Drivers Second In Construction Discovered My Drivers Second In Construction Provide Second International I |
| WeiLuffs | Date: 5/16/2019 () v () Display time using a 24-hour clock Time () 152/35 AM () C Timecore: US Mountain Edu. () Push Settings from Project Change Reserved. | Comparing a second |
| System Design System Design System Design System Connections Predia Agents Programming | Locale: V Set | - Room |

Connecting to a Director on a local network

When you connect to a Local Director, you are making 'live' changes on the controller. Every time you connect to the Director on that controller, your project opens.

Tip: You also have the option to make a backup of the project on your computer by using the **Back Up As** or **Back Up** option from the File menu to save the project file. When you back up a project file, it is backed up by default to the My Documents directory on your computer.

To connect to a Director locally:

- 1. From the desktop, double-click the **Composer 3.0** icon.
- 2. At the Composer startup screen, click **Local System**. Local Director connects you to the home network while working in Composer Pro.



3. From the Director dialog box, select the Director's network address for the controller you are setting up, and then click **Connect**.

4. Make a note of the network's IP address. Composer Pro opens to the Composer System Design view.

| System Design | Properties | | Properties | Summary | List View | Items | | | |
|---|--|--|---|------------------|----------------|---------------------------------|---|------------|-------|
| iystem | Properties | | | | | Locations | Discovered | My Drivers | Searc |
| Concest System | Project Settings Vromation Ug Project Name D Location: D Latitude: 41 Longitude: 7 Country: U | ting Defaults Allowed Networks aper System | ZgBee Configurati Set Lookup Set | on Z-Wave C | onfiguration ^ | | s Home Work Corporate dings House Building Office rs Main Frist Second Basement | | |
| Accent Lights Fore Door Fore Door | Date: 5. Time: 11. Timezone: US | (18/2019) [] * [52:35 AM] © 3/Mountain [] Push Sattions from Project |] Display time us Edit | ing a 24-hour cl | lock | ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ | ms Theater Foyer Living Dining Kitchen Laundry Bathroom | | |
| System Design | Locale: | Change Password | Set | | | | Master Bedroom Front Garage Room | | |
| Connections Contections Addis Agents | Ter | nperature:) Fahrenheit | | | - | | | | |
| 👹 Programming | C |) Celsius | | | | | | | |

Setting up Remote Access

Use a Control4 Navigator to enable or disable Remote Access. This feature lets you access your Control4 system for updates using the Internet from a remote location. Note: You can also set up Remote Access when you create an account at customer.control4.com.

Prerequisites

• Register the system at customer.control4.com. This process can be completed by the installer or homeowner as long as the system a Navigator, touch screen or on-screen configured in the system.

To set up Remote Access for OS 2.6 or later:

- 1. At one of the touch screens or on-screen Navigators, select Settings > Service Connection.
- 2. Select Yes under Remote Service.

Notes:

After you enable remote access, if the user has a 4Sight subscription for this system, then the user can enter their email address and password and securely log in to their Control4 home network from any Internet connection in the world.

When the user logs in, the homeowner can use the Web Navigator to monitor and control their lights, change their temperature (warm or cool the home remotely), or check whether any doors or windows were left open. You or the user can refer to this Internet information in the Control4 System User Guide.

If this system and controller are registered on customer.control4.com, the system is accessible for remote access (without a 4Sight subscription) after a

request by the Control4 Installer or Control4 Technical Support representative has been made to access the system. After OS 2.4.0, this check-in is no longer required to initiate a remote service connection.

Connecting to a Director using Remote Access

If you connect to a Remote System, you are making "live" changes to a remote system controller, where changes are communicated over an Internet connection rather than a local network connection. This type of connection is not available, however, until the initial configuration and registration are completed.

Note: The customer may revoke access rights through my.control.com at any time, but this is not recommended as it interferes with routine Control4 updates.

Requirements

- The customer must be registered at customer.control4.com and remote access must be enabled. (See "<u>Registering the Control4 system</u>" or "<u>Register</u> the controller from a Navigator.")
- A PC with Composer initially installed must be in the same local network as the controller when remote access is set up.

Before you can use the Remote System option, you must configure the system to support remote access (see "Registering the Control4 system").

Connecting using Remote Access

To connect to a Remote Director:

- 1. Using a PC with Composer Pro installed, verify that the PC has an Internet connection.
- 2. From the desktop, start Composer.
- 3. At the Composer startup screen, click **Remote System**. Remote Director connects you to the home network while working in Composer from a remote location.



- 4. Enter your Email Address and Password in the *Account Name* dialog box. This should be the login information from your account on your dealer my.control4.com account.
- 5. When the *Select Remote Account* dialog box appears, select the account you want to access, and click **Connect**.

| sing Account Login: | training-slctr2primary@ | control4.com | | Edit | Connec |
|---------------------|-------------------------|---------------|------------|----------------|--------|
| Name | | Service Level | OS Version | Allows Support | Cancel |
| Education Salt Lake | e | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | Add |
| | | | | | Ear |

If the account name doesn't appear under *Name*, click **Add** to add the account name, and Username (Email address) and Password if they are different from your dealer account login credentials, and click **OK** in the dialog box that appears. This is the Account Name you created during registration at customer.control4.com. After you do this, select the account from the *Select remote account* dialog box, and click **Connect**.

| Add Account | × |
|------------------------------------|------------|
| Account Name: 2456 Clapham Lane | ~ |
| Email: owner1@control4.com | (Optional) |
| Password: | (Optional) |
| | OK Cancel |

The next screen shows that your account, the User Email Address, and the Password are being verified. This may take several minutes to complete as it is accesses a remote connection.

When authenticated and connected through the Remote Access service, a list of Directors available for connection appears.

6. Select the Director you want to connect to, and then click Connect.

When connected, Composer opens and the main Composer view connects to the controller remotely. Composer functions normally as if you were connected to Local Director, allowing you to configure, program, and troubleshoot the Control4 system.

Ensuring that Director and Composer are compatible

Verify that the Control4 controller software (Director) and the Composer software are on the same version before beginning to design a project, or any time you use Composer to ensure the best communication between the two.

To check compatibility:

- 1. In the Composer menu bar, click Help > About Composer.
- From the dialog that appears, compare the Composer and Director version numbers. For the Control4 system to run properly, these numbers must match. If they don't match, update Composer and/or Director to get to the same version. See the Composer Pro User Guide for information about updating your system, or see "Update Manager."

Example:

Composer version: 3.0.0.562742

Director version: 3.0.0.562742

Note that the two versions in the screen below are the same.



System Compatibility Check

When connecting to a system, Composer Pro performs a capability check to ensure that the Composer version and OS version are compatible. Use the System Compatibility Check to review which version of Composer must be used to modify your system.

System Compatibility Check



Designing the Control4 system

Become familiar with the Control4 Composer Pro design options before you start to build your first project and project tree. The project tree represents the hierarchy of locations (sites, buildings, floors, and rooms) AND devices in each room. You will add all types of controllable devices to the Control4 system, including audio/video, multi-room audio, lighting, motorization, sensors, relays, and more.

Here are some sections that might interest you as you prepare to design a system:

- "Introduction to Designing a Control4 System"
- "Ways to Create a Project in Composer"
- "Purpose of Device Drivers"
- "Adding Items to the Project Tree"
- "Using Composer Views to Build a Project"

In most cases, it's good to make a list of the actual devices to be used in the project, the manufacturer and the model number. You will need this information as you build the project. Also, before you start, create a plan for your project.

Tip: It might be worth your while to check out some cool project management programs called "Smart Office" and "Control Integration" by Simply Reliable. These products help you manage your projects, from creating home automation proposals to integration of devices, into a Composer project. There's also a service called Blackwire Designs (blackwiredesigns.com) that can help with design and networking infrastructure.

Introduction

Designing a Control4 system in Composer Pro is similar to designing a house. You start with the plan; then you build the foundation; you build the framework; and then you add the electrical, plumbing, walls, carpets, paint, etc. to finish the home.

To give you a 'bird's eye view' about how to design and implement a Control4 system:

- Create a plan. This includes the devices to be used, where they will reside in the home, and how the network will be set up. For example, to plan a Centralized Lighting project, you'll need to obtain the blueprint plan and where all of the lighting devices and panels will be located in the home, ensure that all of the lighting legs are clearly identified, determine what types of loads will be controlled by the centralized system, and where the panels will be located (see Control4 University on control4.com for more information).
- Physically install and connect the Control4 and third-party devices that need to communicate to the network. Note: Many Control4 or third-party devices

may be installed already.

- Physically connect these devices to each other and to the controller(s) used in the project so they all communicate with the controller and the home network.
- In the Composer Pro software, build the project tree using the System Design view. This includes adding objects to the project tree that represent the physical buildings, rooms, and devices. Note: You can connect a physical device, and then add it to Composer one at a time if you prefer.
- In Composer Pro, identify and *virtually* connect all of the devices. In addition to the hardware connections, you have to connect your devices the same way in the Composer software also.
- Customize the behavior of the devices in Composer and on the Navigators. To customize the devices for specific functions, you program events and actions, Lighting Scenes, agents, and so on for your customers' needs. Many custom functions can be performed on the touch screens and on-screen Navigators. See the Control4 System User Guide and Control4 Quick Start Guide for more information.

Designing a fully functioning Control4 system includes these major steps:

• Use Existing or Custom Device Drivers. Every device in the Control4 system needs a corresponding device driver so that controlling the device is possible. When designing and implementing a Control4 system, each time you add a device to a room, a corresponding device driver must be added to the Composer project in the project tree. Device drivers for Control4 products come pre-installed in Composer. In addition, device drivers for hundreds of third-party devices are available through an online database, and easily can be added to the project when the driver is available. If a driver for the model you need does not exist, you can use the Driver Creation Wizard (available through a menu option) or DriverWorks (a free add-on utility) to create a custom driver. See the *Composer Pro User Guide* for details.

Tip: If you can't find the device driver you need, you can start with an existing device driver, and modify it for your device using the Driver Creation Wizard or Driver Editor.

• Make the connections. In the Composer project, you identify all physical device connections to the Control4 system, including control, AV (audio, video), network, and other connections (there are several types of connections). Identifying a device to the system means the controller acknowledges that the device exists on the home network and can communicate with it and the other devices in the network. Use the Connections view in Composer for this.

- Register the system at customer.control4.com. Control4 strongly recommends that you register each system you install at my.control4.com to maintain the system software easily through online downloads. Only registered systems can use all of the media services available. In addition, system registration is one of the essential steps in enabling remote access to the system.
- Set up the media. You identify existing media on the system using the Media view in Composer. The Media view helps you search or scan for movies, videos or music in stored media and auto-generate a list of local broadcast channels, stations, playlists, etc. After you have searched for or scanned in the existing media, you can test Media access through the navigation devices (also known as Navigators).
- Configure the properties. You will want to set individual device properties according to your customers' wishes, because most devices have some settings that can be configured (for example, dimmers that ramp up and down).
- Program events and actions. You define interactions between system events and the actions of other devices. For example, when a projector turns on, it can trigger other devices (lights, etc.) in the Home Theater to dim down or turn off.
- Create the variables and agents for use in programming. Advanced programming setup options are available to you, including string, Boolean, device properties, variables, delays, and agents. Using these options, you can configure, for example, a 3-way switch, turn equipment on and off with proper delay times, create Lighting Scenes, and perform other desired programming between devices. Advanced programming is discussed in the Composer Pro User Guide.
- Customize the Navigators. You complete the registration process and enable Remote Access. You can work with your customers also to set up screen savers and other custom functions on their Navigators.
- **Centralized Lighting design**. Designing for a Centralized Lighting system is a bit more complicated than designing a typical control system. For details about Centralized Lighting, see the Centralized Lighting Products section on the Control4 website, and take available training classes.

Purpose of device drivers

Every device in the Control4 system needs a corresponding device driver so the device can be controlled by the Control4 system. When you design a system in Composer, the corresponding device driver is added to the project each time you add a new device to a room.

Device drivers for Control4 products come pre-installed in Composer. Device drivers for hundreds of thirdparty devices are available through an online database and can be added easily to the project. If a driver for the model you need does not exist, you can use the Driver Wizard to create a custom driver.

Note: Creating a device driver is an advanced skill in Composer. For detailed information about how to create a driver, see "Creating device drivers" in the Composer Pro User Guide.

Adding items to the project tree

To add items to the project tree or other lists in a Composer project, use one of these methods:

- **Double-click**—After selecting a location in the project tree, double-click an item in the Items pane to add it to a selected location in the project tree.
- **Drag and drop**—Drag and drop items (such as building, floors, rooms, devices, etc.) from the Items pane to the desired location in the project tree. When dragging-and-dropping items, drag the item directly on top of the room or location (such as site, building, floor) in the project tree (left pane) where you want the item to reside.
- **Hover**—After you've added an item to the project tree, you can hover over it for a pop-up of important identifying information.

| Wireless Music Bridge | Ξ |
|-----------------------|--|
| W | ireless Music Bridge - Wireless Music Bridge |
| Co | ntrol4 C4-WMB-B |
| De | vice ID: 87 |
| Pro | xy ID: 88 |
| De | vice File: wirelessmusic_bridge_ip.c4i |
| Pro | xy File: media_service.c4i |

Example: Drag a device (for example, a television) directly on top of the Theater room to ensure it resides in that room.

Building a project in System Design

Using the *System Design* view, you create the foundation of the Control4 system by building a project tree in *System Design*.

Tip: Before you begin to build the system, you may want to assign all of the devices that will be used in the Control4 system unique and meaningful titles if you used a planning worksheet. That way, they will be easy to identify when you connect them to the home network.

To build a new project tree in System Design:

1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director. A new project opens in the System Design view by default.

- 2. In *System Design*, click the **Properties** tab, and enter the following information:
 - Name—Enter homeowner's name or other project name.
 - **ZIP Code/Postal Code**—In Lookup, enter the homeowner's ZIP Code.
 - Latitude and Longitude—Populated automatically when you enter a ZIP Code or postal code.
 - Date—Update as needed.
 - Time—Update as needed.
 - Click to select the project tree.
- 3. Add the locations to the project tree, including sites, buildings, floors, and rooms.

Composer Pro requires this location hierarchy: Site > Building > Floor > Room. The devices will be added to the rooms later.

Tip: You do not have to add every level in the hierarchy manually. If you begin building your project tree by adding a room, Composer Pro automatically adds a Building and Floor object for you. You can easily rename these objects in the tree later.

1. In the project tree, select a location (site, building, or floor) where a room exists.

Example: The Master Bedroom is on the Second floor, so you would click **Second** to select it. Go to the Items pane and double-click or drag-and-drop **Master Bedroom** to copy it to the project tree.

- 2. In the Items pane > Locations tab, double-click the **room** you want to add. The room displays in the selected location in the project tree. The room is given a default name, but you can rename it any time by right-clicking on the object in the project tree, and choosing **Rename**.
- 3. Repeat these steps until you have included all of the floors and rooms on each floor in the home to complete your project.

Example: Add three rooms to the Main floor which already has a few rooms and the Garage.

- 4. Click Theater in the Items pane > Locations tab to add a Home > House > Main > Theater to the project tree.
- 5. Select **Main** in the project tree, and then click **Bedroom** to add it to the Main floor.
6. With **Main** still highlighted in the project tree, click the **Front** room to add it to the Main floor.

| 🎆 Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Draper System (Local) | | | | | | - | o × |
|--|--|--------------------|---------|-----------|-------|--|--------|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | |
| System Design | Properties | Properties | Summary | List View | Items | | |
| System | Properties There are no properties for | the selected film. | | | | Discovered My Drivers Hy Drivers Hone Kokos Kokos Social Man Frit Social Man Frit Social Man Frit Social Social | Search |

4. Click the room and add the devices. For example, add the controller in a room of the project tree.

Important: Ensure that the devices you select have exact and meaningful titles; for example, "Wireless Dimmer" could be renamed to **East Wall Wireless Dimmer** for easy recognition later. If you have several devices, such as wireless dimmers, in the same room give them a unique name.

Tip: You can right-click the driver in the project tree to: Rename, Edit Driver, Export Driver, Update Driver, or Delete a driver. Use the same procedure to Update Driver as for Add Driver (see "<u>Driver menu</u>").

Note: If you installed this version of Composer on a computer that has an older version of Composer, right-click in the white space below the My Driver tab and select **Restore Default List**. This action updates the My Drivers list.

- 1. Click the room in the project tree.
- 2. From Items pane > My Drivers tab, double-click a controller to move it to the selected room (all devices to be added must be selected from the My Drivers tab).

Example: Select the **Theater** room, and then double-click the **controller**. The controller and associated Digital Audio objects appear in the project tree. Digital Audio is a component that resides on the controller, but shows up as a separate object in the project



tree. Digital Audio provides the functionality to play media.

5. Add the Control4 lighting devices and Navigators to the selected room if they reside there.

Example: Add the following devices to the Theater room.

- 1. Double-click Wireless Dimmer, and then rename it to Dimmer.
- 2. Double-click Wireless Switch, and then rename it to Light Switch.
- 3. Double-click **Wireless Outlet Switch**, and then rename it to **TV Outlet Switch**. (This will be used to control the power on a TV that uses an On/Off toggle switch.)
- 4. Double-click System Remote Control SR-250.
- 5. Double-click 6 Button Keypad.

Note: If you have a wireless touch screen, add it now to your project.

6. Add all applicable audio and video devices to the selected room.

Here are three examples to follow.

Example 1: Add a receiver to the Theater room

- 1. Select the **Theater** room in the project tree.
- 2. Double-click **Receiver** in the Audio/Video section of the My Drivers tab. A dialog box displays with Local Database selected and the receiver drivers that are currently available in the local database.
- 3. Select the receiver's **manufacturer** and **model**. In the dialog box, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Harmon Kardon**, and then double-click **AVR230[IR]**.

| ኛ Select the I | Driver | | | \times |
|------------------|------------------|------------------|----------------|----------|
| | | O Local Database | e 💿 Online Dat | abase |
| Device Type: | Receiver | | | ~ |
| Manufacturer: | Harman Kardon | | | ~ |
| Name | | Manufacturer | Model | ^ |
| 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR220 | Harman Kardon | AVR220 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR225 | Harman Kardon | AVR225 [IR] | |
| 🔚 Harman Kar | rdon AVR230 | Harman Kardon | AVR230 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR235 | Harman Kardon | AVR235 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR240 | Harman Kardon | AVR240 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR245 | Harman Kardon | AVR245 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔚 Harman Kar | rdon AVR247 | Harman Kardon | AVR247 [IR] | ~ |
| < | | | | > |
| Harman Kardo | on AVR230 | | | |
| Driver Status: | | | | |
| Creator: Contro | 14 | | | |
| Created: 5/17/2 | 005 1:00:13 AM | | | |
| Modified: 5/22/2 | 2012 11:33:07 AM | | | |
| | | | Note | s |

Note: The Receiver object is added to the tree, along with a Tuner. The next time you add a receiver to this project, the AVR230[IR] will appear in local database driver list.

Example 2: Add a TV to the Theater room

- 1. Select the **Theater** room in the project tree.
- 2. Double-click **Television** in the Audio/Video section of the My Drivers tab. A dialog box displays with local database selected, and the TV drivers currently available in the local database.
- 3. In the dialog box, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Samsung**, and then double-click **TX- P1430[IR]**.

| Select the Driv | /er | | | | × |
|---------------------|--------------|--------------|----------------|--------------|--------|
| | | O Local | Database 💿 O | nline Databa | se |
| Device Type: Te | elevision | | | | \sim |
| Manufacturer: Sa | amsung | | | | \sim |
| Name | | Manufacturer | Model | | ^ |
| Samsung TX-P | 1634 | Samsung | TX-P1634 [IR] | | |
| Samsung TX-P | 1430 | Samsung | TX-P1430 [IR] | | |
| Samsung TX-N | 13298HF | Samsung | TX-N3298HF [IF | ۲] | |
| Samsung TX-N | 13275HF | Samsung | TX-N3275HF [IF | R] | |
| Samsung TX-N | 13271HF | Samsung | TX-N3271HF [IF | R] | |
| Samsung TX-N | 13098WHF | Samsung | TX-N3098WHF | [IR] | |
| Samsung TX-N | 13075WHF | Samsung | TX-N3075WHF | [IR] | × |
| < | | | | > | |
| Samsung TX-P14 | 430 | | | | |
| Driver Status: | | | | | |
| Creator: Control4 | | | | | |
| Created: 6/28/2005 | 5 9:38:40 AM | | | | |
| Modified: 5/17/2012 | 2 3:09:55 PM | | | | |
| | | | | Notes | |

Notes:

The UHF/VHF object is added automatically to enable you to scan for UHF/VHF broadcast channels.

The next time you add a TV to this project, the TX-P1430[IR] appears in the local database driver list.

Example 3: Add the DVD player to the Theater room

- 1. Select the **Theater** room in the project tree.
- 2. Double-click **DVD** in the Audio/Video section of My Drivers tab.
- 3. In the dialog box that appears, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Apple**, and then doubleclick DVD **Apple TV [IR]**.

| | | Local Database | Online Database |
|------------------------|---------------|----------------|-----------------|
| Device Type: DVD | | | ~ |
| Manufacturer: All | lanufacturers | | ~ |
| Name | Manufacturer | Model | ^ |
| BVD-Generic IO | Generic | DVD-Generic | |
| 🔬 LG DN898 | LG | DN898 | |
| Apple TV | Apple | Apple TV [IR] | |
| | | | × |
| < | | | > |
| Apple TV | | | |
| Driver Status: | | | |
| Creator: Control4 | | | |
| Created: 6/1/2010 12: | 0:00 PM | | |
| Modified: 8/5/2010 4:0 | 5:00 PM | | |
| | | | Natao |

7. Add Motorized devices or Sensors, if applicable, to the selected room.

Example: From the My Drivers tab, add a **Motorized Screen** and a **Door Contact Sensor** to the Theater room from the online database.

- 1. Select Theater in the project tree.
- 2. In the My Drivers tab under Motorization (scroll down), double-click Motorized Screen.
- 3. In the *My Drivers* tab under *Sensors* (scroll down), double-click **Door Contact Sensor**.



- 8. Add an HVAC, if available, to the selected room.
 - Add a Security Panel, if available, to the selected room.
 - Add an IP Camera, if available, to the selected room.
 - Add a pool and spa controller, if available, to the selected room.
 - Add Network File Storage, if available, to the selected room.
 - Repeat Steps 6–8 as needed for each room.
- 9. Identify and the test the connections. See the Composer Pro User Guide for configuration and connection information.

Composer Pro design methods

Planning a Composer Pro project: Create a plan

Before you start to work on a new Control Composer project (especially if you're new at it) it's best to create a plan.

Tip: Some of our dealers use a variety of design tools, for example, AVSnap, Microsoft Visio, AutoCAD, and conceptdraw. AVSnap seems to be the cheapest and the most popular tool.

Here are some suggestions:

- If you haven't done so yet, we strongly recommend that everyone who installs and configures Control4 products take the 'Tech 1 Training' class provided by Control4. Send an email message to training@control4.com or go to http://dealer.control4.com/dealer/training (dealer login required) to find out how to enroll.
- Sign up for the Control4 Online Training sessions.
- Check out the Control4 Troubleshooting Guides, Best Practices, and other materials on the Training site in the dealer portal.
- Check the Control4 Knowledgebase and dealer forums.
- Review the documentation on the Control4 dealer website.
- Check out the Training web page on the dealer website.

Home automation design methods

Prerequisites to creating a design

Before you begin to create a design for a Control4 system, it's a good idea to create a plan so you know all of the devices in each room, how many rooms there are, how many floors, buildings, the home network structure, and so on.

Guidelines of system design

Consider the following items before you start to design a project for a Control4 automated home.

- Use existing or custom device drivers—Every device in the system needs a corresponding device driver so the Control4 system can control the device. When designing the system, each time you add a physical device to a room, for example, a DVD player, the corresponding device driver must be added to the project in the project tree. Device drivers for Control4 products are installed in Composer Pro. Device drivers for hundreds of third-party devices are available through an online database, and can be added easily to the project when the driver is available. If a driver for the model of a device does not exist, you can use the Driver Creation Wizard (available through a menu option) or DriverWorks (a free add-on utility) to create a custom driver.
- **Connect and identify the devices to the network**—In the Composer project, you identify all physical connections to the system, including control, AV (audio, video), network, and other connections. Use to the Connections view in Composer to complete this task.
- **Register the system at my.control4.com**—Control4 recommends that you register each system you install at customer.control4.com so you can maintain the system software using the online downloads.

Important: Only registered systems can use all of the media services that are available to Control4 customers. System registration is one of the essential steps in enabling remote access to the system.

- Set up the media—Identify any existing media on the system using the Media view in Composer. The Media view helps you search or scan stored media and auto-generate a list of local broadcast channels and stations. After you've searched or scanned in the existing media, you can test the Media access through the navigation devices (also known as Navigators), and you can create playlists also.
- **Configure properties**—Manage a device's settings in the Properties pane.
- **Program events and actions**—Define interactions between system events and the actions of other devices in the *Programming* view. For example, when a projector turns on, it can trigger other devices in the Home Theater to turn on or off causing an event to occur.
- Create variables and agents for use in programming—Advanced setup options are available in Composer: string, Boolean, device properties, variables, delays, and agents. Using these options, you can configure, for example, a 3-way switch, turn equipment on and off with proper delay times, create lighting scenes, and other customized programming between devices.

• **Customize the Navigators**—Complete the registration process and enable remote access. Work with your customers to set up screen savers and other custom functions.

Using Composer views to build a project

Composer Pro lets you set up a Control4 system using different Composer views for different tasks. In Composer views, you can add devices, make connections, set up media, and program the system using devices and agents.

In Composer views, you have the flexibility to follow any setup path you choose as long as a controller is the first device you add to the project.

Note: Before you start to create a project, you will need to understand how to use the views.

To use Composer views:

1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.



2. The *System Design* view appears by default. Notice that the *System Design*, *Properties* and *Items* panes appear in the screen. Each view has its own set of panes.

Making and testing the connections

Connecting the hardware

Before you can design and build a project in Composer Pro, first start by installing the devices and connecting the cables on every device that will be a part of the Control4 system. Otherwise, the devices will not be acknowledged by Composer and Director.

If you purchased equipment from Control4, ensure that you've carefully read the installation or setup instructions and/or user guides included in the box. These instructions will show you how to attach the cables, and in some cases, how to set up and use the device in Composer Pro.

Testing the device connections

When you test a Control4 device connection, you are ensuring that the connection is successful so you don't encounter any problems with devices not functioning later on. You must perform this action for customer satisfaction. For information about identifying devices and device connections, see the Composer Pro User Guide.

The following types of connections may need to be tested on the Control4 system:

- **Network connections**—Defines the devices that use a network address. Network connections include IP and Zigbee or Zigbee Pro devices.
- **Control connections**—Defines the control connection between a device and the controller. Control connections include contacts, relays, serial, and IR-controlled (infrared) devices.
- Audio and video connections—Defines the devices that have audio and/or video signals.
- **Room connections**—Defines the video, audio, or video/audio end points and the video/audio or audio volume for the selected room.

Testing network connections

In the Connections view, click the Network tab > IP Network. The list of devices appears.

Make sure there is a network address for every item in the list. If there is not, see "Cannot identify the device to the network" in the Composer Pro User Guide.

Testing control and AV connections

In the Connections view, click the Control/AV tab. This list of devices appears.

Testing room connections

In the Connections view, click the Control/AV tab. This list of devices appears in the Room Connections pane.

Registering the Control4 system

Every system must be registered at customer.control4.com to maintain the system software through online downloads, and to use all of the media features in the system (for example, the Control4 online media database for scanning music). System registration is also one of the essential first steps in enabling remote access to the system.

After you complete the initial Control4 system setup (adding devices to a project, identifying them automatically for devices released with OS 2.3.0 or later, and making software connections for each device), you are ready to register the system and set up the media. "Setting Up the Media" is discussed in the Composer Pro User Guide.

You can register the system either from Composer or by using a Navigator. See the sections below.

Register the system at customer.control4.com

Control4 recommends that you register each Control4 system you install at customer.control4.com to maintain the system software easily through online downloads. Only registered systems can use all of the media services available.

System registration, which includes setting up a customer.control4.com account, is required to use most of the media services that are available in the Control4 system, for example, scanning media into the system (so that you don't need to manually add individual music files).

You can register the system now through Composer, or later through a Navigator if you customize the Navigator. You may have already registered the system in Composer to set up media. If not, you can register the system using any Internet connection and one of the Navigators that is connected and identified.

Register the controller from Composer Pro

Composer Pro lets you register the controller to a customer account without having to log in to the customer's account. You can now create a new account and register the controller in one step, register to an existing account found under your dealer of record, or manually register the controller using the 10-digit code from the customer's account page under *Controller registration*.

To set up a new customer.control4.com account and register this Control4 system:

- 1. In Composer Pro, go to **Tools** > Account Services.
- 2. Click the **Add New Account** tab to create a customer.control4.com account and start the registration process for the user.

| ing dealer login: | | | | Edit Login Check In |
|--------------------------|-------------|---------------------|----|---------------------|
| tatus Select Account Add | New Account | Manual Registration | on | |
| Account Information: | | | | |
| Account Name: | | | | |
| First Name: | | | | |
| Last Name: | | | | |
| Email Address: | | | | |
| Confirm Email: | | | | |
| | | | | Add Account |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | Close |
| | | | | Close |

- 3. Complete the *Account Information* form for the user, and then record the Account Name and Email Address for the user's future reference.
- 4. Click Add Account to create an account for this Control4 system and register the controller to the new account.

To register the system to an existing customer account:

1. In Composer Pro, go to **Tools > Account Services.**

2. Click Select Account and select the existing account you wish to register to in the list of Customer Accounts.

| tus Select Account | Add New Account | Manual Registra | ation | | |
|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------|----------|--|---|
| Customer Accounts: | | | | | |
| | | | | | • |
| Account Name: | | | Enabled: | | |
| Allows Support: | | | | | |
| Created: | | | | | |
| Last Checked In: | | | | | |
| Modified: | | | | | |
| Controller Informa | tion | | | | |
| Registere | d: | | | | |
| Name | e: | | | | |
| Control4 Versio | n: | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Note: If the existing customer account does not show up in the Customer Accounts list, have the customer log in to their account and verify their dealer of record is pointing to your dealer account.

To manually register the system to an existing customer account:

1. In Composer Pro, go to Tools > Account Services.

2. Click Manual Registration.

| ount Services | | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------------|------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------------|---|
| sing dealer login: | | | | Edit Login Check I | n |
| Status Select Acc | ount Add New Ad | count Manual Registr | ation | | |
| Many features of | your Control4 syst | em are enabled through | services provided by my.co | ontrol4.com. Follow these | |
| simple steps to re | gister and enable | these features. | | | |
| Register your co | troller on my.cont | ol4.com | | | |
| Enter the 10-digit | registration code: | |] | | |
| Press: Regis | ter | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | Close | • |
| | | | | | |

- From the customer.control4.com account page, copy the 10-digit registration code found under My Devices > Controller Registration > Register New Controller. This code is time sensitive and must be used within 10 minutes. It provides a temporary code used to exchange the security parameters and create a secure connection between customer.control4.com and the controller.
- 4. On the Account Services page, click the text box and paste the 10-digit registration code in the box.
- 5. Click the **Register** button on the Account Services page in Composer (now enabled) to complete the registration. The Current Status changes to 'Registered.'

Setting up a 4Sight subscription

Use the Internet to set up a 4Sight subscription. This feature enables a Control4 system user to log in to the Internet and manage their Control4 system on the web. Consumers will need 4Sight to use Anywhere Access also.



Prerequisites

- 1. Design and set up the project.
- 2. Register the Control4 controller and the system owner.

When a 4Sight subscription has been obtained for the Control4 system, this setup can be done by the homeowner or installer. The installer or a Control4 representative should be able to provide information about how the homeowner can set up a customer account. The Control4 System User Guide or Account Setup provides that information for the homeowner.

To set up a 4Sight subscription at customer.control4.com:

- 1. Obtain a 4Sight subscription code for the system (sold separately).
- 2. Log in to customer.control4.com using the homeowner/user email address and password.
- 3. From the My Account tab, select the Subscriptions view.
- 4. Enter the **4Sight subscription code** provided by your Control4 representative, and then click **Activate**.

Tip: Scroll down and view Account Subscriptions to see which subscriptions you already have.

Managing and assigning Composer Pro licenses

Use my.control4.com to set up additional Composer Pro Licenses for dealers and their employees who use Composer Pro. You must do this before you run Composer Pro.

Notes

- Controller registration is separate from a Composer Pro License.
- You cannot assign Composer Pro Licenses to consumer accounts; these are for dealers and their employees only.
- Thirty days after the license is activated, you will be notified to renew the license. You can choose not to, or you can extend the period another 30 days.

Prerequisites

- Composer Pro must be installed or updated to the current release.
- A valid dealer account must be set up.
- A valid dealer sub-account that the dealer account manages can also be used.
- Access to my.control4.com.

You can find comprehensive information about this subject in Managing Dealer Accounts in my.control4.com.

Where to go from here

This Control4 Composer Pro Getting Started guide gave you:

- An overview of Composer: how to install and start it, how to access a Director, and includes a preview of the Composer interface (views, menus, properties, panes, etc.).
- An overview of how to start designing your project with suggested tools.
- An overview about connections and how to test devices.
- How to register the Control4 system.
- How to set up a 4Sight subscription.
- How to set up Remote Access.
- Examples about how to build a system in System Design.

More detailed and advanced sections (Composer Pro User Guide) are outside the scope of this document but you can find them on the Dealer Portal.

The advanced sections give you specific details about:

- Setting Up Media
- Creating Device Drivers
- Making Connections
- Verifying Connections
- Configuring Devices
- Configuring Properties
- Basic Programming
- Advanced Programming
- Customizing Navigators
- Installing Devices
- Troubleshooting the System

Contacting Control4 technical support

Should you encounter any problems while using Composer Pro, please contact Control4 Technical Support for assistance.

- Phone: 1-888-400-4072
- E-mail: support@control4.com

Other resources

Also check out the Control4 Forums or Knowledgebase.

Project build example using system design

The following sample project steps you through the creation of a Control4 project using Composer Pro. This example assumes that you've already saved the project as a backup, and covers basic device additions to the project, but not connecting or identifying the components. This example project:

- Includes a theater room
- Adds keypad and electrical interfaces
- Adds AV components
- Adds a touch screen

Adding a controller

When setting up a system, first add the controller to the list. You must attach a controller to each television you add to the Control4 system.

To add a controller:

- 1. Start Composer and connect to a director.
- 2. In the System Design pane's project tree, select the Theater room.
- 3. In the *Items* pane, click the My Drivers tab.
- 4. In the *Controller* category, double-click **EA-5**. The controller is added to the project's Theater room.

Note: If you installed this version of Composer Pro on a computer that already had an older version of Composer Pro, right-click anywhere in the **My Driver** tab, then click **Restore Default List**. The My Driver list updates.



Adding keypad and electrical interfaces

After adding a controller, you can add dimmers, switches, keypads, outlets, and a remote control.

To add keypad interfaces:

- 1. In the System Design pane's project tree, select the Theater room.
- 2. In the My Drivers tab, do the following:
- 1. Under Lighting > Light (v2), double-click **Adaptive Phase Dimmer** to add it to the project, and then rename it to **Dimmer** in the project.
- 2. Under Lighting > Light (v2), double-click **Switch**, and then rename it to **Light Switch**.
- 3. Under Lighting > Light (v2), double-click Wireless Outlet Switch, and then rename it to Television Outlet Switch.
- 4. Under User Interface, double-click System Remote Control.
- 5. Under User Interface, double-click Configurable Keypad.

Tip: Use a descriptive name for items added to a project. You can right-click and select **Rename**, or you can begin typing right after the item is added. For example, if you have two dimmers in a room, you could name one "Wall Dimmer" and the other "Ceiling Dimmer." This helps you clearly identify items later when making connections.

Adding AV components

After adding interfaces, you can add the main components of the home theater.

To add AV components:

- 1. In the System Design pane's project tree, select the Theater room.
- 2. Add a receiver to the room:
- 1. In the My Drivers tab, under Audio/Video, double-click Receiver.
- 2. In the dialog box that opens, select **Online**, select the manufacturer **Harmon Kardon**, then double-click **AVR230[IR]**. The receiver is added to the project.

| ኛ Select the I | Driver | | | \times |
|------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------|----------|
| | | O Local Database | e 💿 Online Da | tabase |
| Device Type: | Receiver | | | ~ |
| Manufacturer: | Harman Kardon | | | \sim |
| Name | | Manufacturer | Model | ^ |
| 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR220 | Harman Kardon | AVR220 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | don AVR225 | Harman Kardon | AVR225 [IR] | |
| 🔚 Harman Kar | don AVR230 | Harman Kardon | AVR230 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Ka | don AVR235 | Harman Kardon | AVR235 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR240 | Harman Kardon | AVR240 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | don AVR245 | Harman Kardon | AVR245 [IR] | |
| 🛛 🔙 Harman Kar | rdon AVR247 | Harman Kardon | AVR247 [IR] | ~ |
| < | | | | > |
| Harman Kard | on AVR230 | | | |
| Driver Status: | | | | |
| Creator: Contro | 14 | | | |
| Created: 5/17/2 | 005 1:00:13 AM | | | |
| Modified: 5/22/2 | 2012 11:33:07 AM | | | |
| | | | Not | es |

- 3. Add a retracting movie screen to the room:
- 1. In the *My Drivers* tab, under *Motorization*, double-click **Motorized Screen**.



- 2. Under *Sensors*, double-click **Door Contact Sensor**.
- 4. Add a TV to the room:
- 1. Under Audio/Video, double-click Television.
- 2. In the dialog box that opens, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Samsung**, then double-click **TX-P1430[IR]**. The TV is added to the project.

| Select the Driver | | | × |
|--------------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|--------|
| | OLoca | l Database 💿 Online Dat | tabase |
| Device Type: Television | | | \sim |
| Manufacturer: Samsung | | | ~ |
| Name | Manufacturer | Model | ^ |
| Bamsung TX-P1634 | Samsung | TX-P1634 [IR] | |
| Samsung TX-P1430 | Samsung | TX-P1430 [IR] | |
| Samsung TX-N3298HF | Samsung | TX-N3298HF [IR] | |
| Bamsung TX-N3275HF | Samsung | TX-N3275HF [IR] | |
| Bamsung TX-N3271HF | Samsung | TX-N3271HF [IR] | |
| Bamsung TX-N3098WHF | Samsung | TX-N3098WHF [IR] | |
| Bamsung TX-N3075WHF | Samsung | TX-N3075WHF [IR] | ~ |
| < | | | > |
| Samsung TX-P1430 | | | |
| Driver Status: | | | |
| Creator: Control4 | | | |
| Created: 6/28/2005 9:38:40 AM | | | |
| Modified: 5/17/2012 3:09:55 PM | | | |
| | | | |
| | | Note | s |

The Cable TV and UHF/VHF objects are also added to the project, to enable you to scan for cable and broadcast channels.



- 5. Add a DVD player to the room:
- 1. Under *Audio/Video*, double-click **DVD**.
- 2. In the dialog box that opens, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Samsung**, and then doubleclick **DVD HD841[IR]**. The DVD is added to the project.

| 🚰 Select the I | Driver | | | | \times |
|------------------|------------------|--------------|-------------|------------|--------------|
| | | O Local Data | abase 💿 Onl | ine Databa | se |
| Device Type: | DVD | | | | \sim |
| Manufacturer: | Samsung | | | | \sim |
| Name | | Manufacturer | Model | | ^ |
| Samsung D | VD-HD931 | Samsung | DVD-HD931 | [IR] | |
| Samsung D | VD-HD850 | Samsung | DVD-HD850 | [IR] | |
| 🔬 Samsung D | VD-HD841 | Samsung | DVD-HD841 | [IR] | |
| 🔬 Samsung D | VD-E360 | Samsung | DVD-E360[I | R] | |
| 🏻 🍰 Samsung D | VD-C500 | Samsung | DVD-C500[I | R] | |
| 🌐 🍰 Samsung D | VD-1080P7 | Samsung | DVD-1080P | 7 [IR] | \mathbf{v} |
| < | | | | > | |
| Samsung DVI | D-HD841 | | | | |
| Driver Status: | | | | | |
| Creator: Contro | 14 | | | | |
| Created: 5/17/2 | 005 1:18:14 AM | | | | |
| Modified: 5/22/2 | 2012 11:30:01 AM | | | | |
| | | | | Notes | |

- 6. Add online TV to the room:
- 1. Under *Audio/Video*, double-click **DVD**.
- 2. In the dialog box that opens, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Apple**, and then double-click **AppleTV [IR]**. Apple TV is added to the project.

| 🚰 Select the [| Driver | | | × |
|------------------|-------------------|--------------|----------------|-----------------|
| | | | Local Database | Online Database |
| Device Type: | DVD | | | ~ |
| Manufacturer: | All Manufacturers | ı | | ~ |
| Name | | Manufacturer | Model | ^ |
| BVD-Gener | ic IO | Generic | DVD-Generic | |
| LG DN898 | | LG | DN898 | |
| Apple TV | | Apple | Apple TV [IR] | |
| | | | | |
| < | | | | > |
| Apple TV | | | | |
| Driver Status: | | | | |
| Creator: Contro | 14 | | | |
| Created: 6/1/20 | 10 12:00:00 PM | | | |
| Modified: 8/5/20 | 10 4:05:00 PM | | | |
| | | | | Notes |

Adding a touch screen

After adding AV components, add a touch screen.

To add a touch screen:

1. Under *User Interface*, double-click a **Touch Screen**. The touch screen is added to the project.



Finishing the project

After adding devices to your project, you will still need to identify, connect, and test the devices. For more information, see *Connecting and verifying devices* in the Composer Pro User Guide.

Basics

Composer Pro basics

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Install and configure devices
- Configure Composer Pro properties

Installing devices

Use the Dealer Portal at dealer.control4.com, Products > Additional Resources or Support > Documentation pages to access PDFs or web help for all current and past product installation and setup guides, and then install and set up your Control4 system devices according to these guides. OS 2.3.0 or later supports the auto discovery of many current devices. See <u>"How to add devices to a project</u>" and <u>"Configuring third-party</u> devices" in this document for details.

If you're installing devices that are not owned by Control4, you may need to edit an existing driver or create a new one. See "Creating device drivers."

To access the installation, setup, and user documents in PDF format:

- 1. Go to the dealer Documentation page.
- 2. Log in using your dealer username and password.
- 3. If the list of documents doesn't appear, click the Products link, and then select Support > Documentation.
- 4. View the list and then click the link for the document you want to view or print.

Configuring device properties

Use the Composer Pro Properties pane in System Design to change device properties. The Properties pane lets you make configuration changes to a project, room, or device.

In the Control4 system, you have a choice of configuration options using these property types:

- Project Properties—Lets you set project-specific configuration options.
- Room Properties–Lets you set room-specific configuration options.
- List View Properties-Lets you set device properties listed by location, for example, room, floor, house, etc.
- Device Properties-Lets you set device-specific configuration options.

To configure properties:

- 1. Start Composer and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. Select one of the following property types:
 - **Project**—Select the root node in the project tree, for example the project name (such as Franklin Smith Home) to access the project properties and modify the:
 - Project name
 - ZIP Code
 - Latitude/longitude
 - Date
 - Time (12-hour and 24-hour clocks)

- Time zone
- Lighting Defaults
- Project Settings Control
- System Security
- Localization
- Scale (Temperature)

For more information, see "Composer Pro properties".

• **Room**—Select the room in the project tree, for example, **Theater**; the Properties tab is visible (default).

Room properties let you:

- View room-specific devices
- View media information
- Help you troubleshoot any incorrect room connections

For more information, see "Room Properties".

- List View—Select a room, and then select the List View tab. View and/or modify the devices in the room. For more information, see "<u>Device</u> <u>Properties</u>".
- **Device**—Select the device to modify the available user options. For more information, see "<u>Device Properties</u>".

Help for device properties

Device properties vary by type of device. Changes made to the properties of most devices are immediately applied to the system. Changes made to Navigators may not be noticeable until you refresh the Navigators using Composer Pro's File > Refresh Navigators command (Shift+F5).

For the most up-to-date device properties information, click the Documentation tab in the Properties window (available only on select devices) or the Help button on the proxy.

| | | - | |
|------------|---------------|---------|-----|
| Properties | Documentation | Actions | Lua |
| | | | |

Configuring devices

Use this chapter to learn how to configure Control4[®] devices. "Configuration" can mean anything from identifying the device to the network to configuring the device's properties within Composer Pro.

Note: The device listings in this chapter have been reorganized to better match the order in Composer Pro's My Drivers tab.

How to add devices to a project

There are two options to add a device to a project and identify it in the Control4 system:

- Auto Discovery—In OS 2.3.0 or later, current Control4 devices support auto discovery via the Simple Device Discovery Protocol (SDDP) using the Discovered tab in the Items pane. This is the easiest way to add and identify new devices attached to a Control4 system because it works automatically. If the device you want to add to a project and identify in the system appears in the Discovered tab, all you do is double-click to add the device to the selected room and Director does the rest. See "Auto Discovery (SDDP)" below for more details.
- **Composer Views**—You can add a Control4-supported device driver or a third-party driver to an existing project any time using the System Design and Connections views. See "Composer Views" or "Example Projects" in this guide or "Using Composer Views to Build a Project" in Composer Pro Getting Started.

Auto Discovery (SDDP)

Auto discovery uses SDDP to automatically discover IP devices and ensure that the correct device drivers are added to a project and installed into the Control4 system. When a device uses SDDP, it can advertise on the network what it is, what driver it uses, and what its network address is.

Note: As a best practice, Control4 recommends that you add and identify the Panelized Lighting products manually rather than using Auto Discovery.

The Auto Discovery function through SDDP does these things:

- Enables devices to use DHCP (Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol) while still being able to identify them uniquely
- Enables Director to discover and identify Control4 and some third-party devices in the Control4 system
- Enables automatic installation of drivers for discovered devices

Note: Auto Discovery does not make the room connections. You must do that manually. See "Connecting and verifying devices" in this guide.

Benefits:

- It discovers devices that are not yet in the project
- It adds the manufacturer's driver without having to search for it
- It identifies the device using a unique identifier when adding it to the project

 You don't need to type in TCP/IP addresses or restrict devices to static IP addresses

To use Auto Discovery:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design (default view).
- 3. In the Items pane, click the **Discovered** tab. View the devices in the list.
- 4. In the project, click the **room** to add the device to.
- 5. In the Discovered list (Items pane), double-click the **device** to add it to the project. If the device you want to add does not appear in the list, it may be already added to the project or it does not support Auto Discovery. If you need to add a device that doesn't support Auto Discovery, you can use the Composer views to add and identify your device.

| System Design | Properties Properties | Summary | List View | Items | | | | |
|--|---|---|--------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| ystem | Properties | | Locations | Discov | ered | My Drivers | Search | |
| Concections System Design Programming Prog | Audo Weko Devices Navygator III Available Audo Sources Device Device Model Audo Sources Model Audo Sources Model Audo Sources Using -Vinit Audio Volume: Audio Volume: Pamily F Audio Volume: Pamily F Audio Volume: Pamily F Audio Volume: Pamily F Audio Sources Device | Iscellaneous Location Theater Equipmert Roo Theater Equipmert Roo Theater Theater Theater Room-Left Sony I Location | n n n n n n BRAVIA | Type Controllers pakedge.pd.u Controllers Cable | Manufacturer Control4 Pakedge Control4 LILIN | Model C4+HC800 PEI-Scree P C4CA1 NVR1400 | Addre 000FF DU PE_51 000FF R1400 | 99 F57F633 ESESPECON-90 F5133C1 _1027F |
| | 5 EA-5 | Theater | ves v | | and a second second | | | |

Add/Identify Options. Both options will add and identify a device in one step.

- Devices listed in the Discovered tab
- 'Auto add identified devices' box in the Discovered tab

To add discovered devices to the project:

1. Double-click the device to add it to the current room in the project which will add and identify it in one step.

To use the 'auto add identified' box:

- Check the auto add identified devices box at the bottom of the Discovered Items pane. This allows you to go
 directly to the device and use the Identify button to add and identify it. This box is useful if you want to be very
 specific about the device you're adding. Without the box checked, the add/identify process will not be
 executed with a button press.
- 2. Press the **Identify** button or button-press sequence on the device.
- 3. The device will automatically be added to the current room in the project.

Note: If the Identify button is pressed when 'auto add identified devices' is not selected, that device will be highlighted in yellow in the Discovered tab. It will not be automatically added to the project.

Example: If you have third-party devices, for example, three different TVs in three different rooms in the home, you can check 'auto add identified devices,' select the room where the TV is located, and then have someone identify at the TV. The device will be added automatically to the project.

To view all devices on the network (including those already in the project) that use SDDP:

- 1. In Composer, click the Connections view.
- 2. Click the Network tab.
- 3. Notice in the right pane the list of devices. SDDP-recognized devices will have an SDDP text highlight.

To use the Info button:

- 1. Click the Info button in the Discovered tab, or right-click the device.
- 2. Select the device. An Info box opens which will give you identification and other information about that device (based on what the driver developer has provided).

Composer views

Using the My Drivers tab

In the System Design view, click the **My Drivers** tab to find device drivers and add them to the project tree (if you are not using Auto Discovery).

Read "Purpose of device drivers" and "Adding items to the Project Tree" in Composer Pro Getting Started first to understand how to create and populate the project tree for a project.

To use the My Drivers tab:

- 1. Install and connect the physical devices that need to be added to the Composer Pro project.
- 2. In the project tree, click the room to add the driver to.
- 3. In the System Design view, click the My Drivers tab in the Items pane.
- 4. Locate the device and double-click or drag the device to the System Design pane's project tree.

| System Design | Properties | Properties Summary | List View | Items |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| System | Advanced Properties | | | Locations Discovered My Drivers Search |
| × • • • | View External Documentation | | ^ | |
| Theater | Product Info: C4-EA5 | | | |
| UIDevice | Controller Status: Online | Information: To edit the ZigBee configuration, se | elect the Projec | My Drivers Controllers |
| AVR-X3300W | Zigbee Server Configuration: Enabled | Project Properties -> ZigBee Config | guration tab. | Control4 CA-1 |
| Tuner WiPod_USB | Zigbee Server Status: Running | | _ | -E Control4 EA-3 |
| - Denon AVR | Zap Configuration Type: Coordinator | | | IO Extender |
| Media Server | Zap Status: Running | | | E Constant C |
| Pandora Denon | Enable Null-Modern Serial Port 3 (make binding to enable setting) Enable Null-Modern Serial Port 4 (make binding to enable setting) | | | 0-10v Dimmer |
| Bluetooth Stations | | | | Configurable Keypad |
| System Remote Control SR260 Signature Tabletop Touch Screen Tabletop Inductor Intercom | VO Firmware Version: 1.0.36 Adv | anced Audio: Custom Delay no Audio Out 1 🗸 0 🔹 ms | NOTE: Cont be used in si Control4 can | Forward Phase Dimmer |
| General Side Door T3 10" | Disable HDMI Audio Prioritize Coax Over HDMI | | synchronizat zones due to third-party HI | Switch |
| < | Source Landara Arada Cata Andra Machanita and | Ale and a | | Dimmable Light (Outlet) Non-Dimmable Light (Outlet) |
| System Design | Dense byle la 1 | acie tecting) | | Wineless Outlet Dimmer V2 |
| Connections | 0000 A00 111 | 0 | | Centralized Lighting |
| | - | | | Non-Dimmable Light (Centralized) |
| | Output Controls | | | 0-10V Light (Centralized) |
| Agents | Stereo Audio Out 1 🗸 🖲 Bypass (DSF | Off) O Tone Control O Equalizer O | Test Tone | 8-Channel Adaptive Dimmer |
| Service Programming | Volume | Balance | | Rechannel 0-10V Module |
| | < | | > | Rig 8-Port Ethemet Switch |

Tip: To ensure that you've got the correct device driver (SKU) in your project tree, after you've added it to the tree, hover over it. The SKU and other device information appears.

- 5. Click the Connections view, and then click the Network tab.
- 6. Locate the added driver in the IP Network Connections pane.
- 7. Select the device and then click **Identify**.
- 8. Follow the on-screen prompts in the popup. In most cases, you'll need to go to the physical device and press a button several times to identify it to the system.
- Make the necessary control, network or AV connections. See "Connecting a Device to the Network," "Connecting and Verifying Devices," or "Connecting Devices" and "Testing the Device Connections" in Composer Pro Getting Started for information.
- 10. Set any necessary device properties by selecting the device (see "Properties Pane" in Composer Pro Getting Started). If any properties are available for a device, they will display in the Properties pane. The following "Configuring..." sections describe the various properties for devices.
- 11. If you are adding Wi-Fi devices, refer to the Control4 training courses on the Dealer Portal to learn how to install and configure Wi-Fi.

Using the Search tab

Thousands of third-party device drivers are supported in the device driver database. Drivers that are not in the local database can be found in the online database, if they are available. Use the **Search** tab to search for and add device drivers to the project tree that do not appear in the My Drivers list.

Certified and non-certified drivers are available. Look for the certification icon to the right of the driver in the list. Certified drivers appear at the top of the list if you search under **manufacturer > all certified**.

Note: Due to the large quantity of drivers in the database, Control4 has not validated every device driver provided. If you experience limited functionality using any device driver provided by Control4, please report the limitations to Control4 Technical Support. To report defects or enhancements, please contact Control4 (phone: 1-888-400-4072 or email: support@control4.com).

Read "Purpose of device drivers" and "Adding items to the Project Tree" in Composer Pro Getting Started first to understand how to create and populate the project tree for a project.

To find a device driver using Search:

- 1. Install and connect the physical devices that need to be added to the Composer Pro project.
- 2. In the project tree, click the room to add the driver to.

3. In the System Design view, click the **Search** tab in the *Items* pane.

| Locations Discovered | My Drivers Search | | | |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------|--|--|--|
| blinds | • | | | |
| ✓ Local ✓ Online 	Certified On | ly | | | |
| All Device Types All Manufacturers | | | | |
| Results | Sort by: Relevance | | | |
| Somfy Systems, Inc ILT Gr | oup Default 232 | | | |
| Somfy Systems, Inc | ILT Group Default | | | |
| Blinds | Serial Online | | | |
| Lutron RadioRA 2 Shade | | | | |
| Lutron | RadioRA 2 Shade | | | |
| Blinds | Online 🗸 | | | |
| Two-wire Shade | | | | |
| Generic | Two-wire Shade | | | |
| Blinds | Online | | | |
| Lutron HomeWorks QS Sh | ade | | | |
| Lutron | HomeWorks QS Shade | | | |
| Blinds | Online | | | |
| Somfy RTS[Channel 11] | | | | |
| Somfy | RTS | | | |
| Blinds | Serial Online | | | |
| Somfy RTS[Channel 4] | | | | |
| Somfy | RTS | | | |
| Blinds | Serial Online | | | |
| | | | | |
| 13-18 of 32 | < Previous Next > | | | |

- 4. From the project tree, select the room where the device resides.
- 5. In the Search tab, select the device type from the Device Types filter.
- 6. Select the manufacturer from the Manufacturers filter.
- 7. Drag the driver to the project tree, or double-click the device driver to add it the project tree.
 - [search text field]—Type the text to search for here. You can use the dropdown menu to select terms that were previously typed.
 - Local (default)—The Local checkbox lets you view device drivers stored on your local database.
 - **Online**—The Online checkbox lets you view and download drivers from the online database.
 - **Certified Only**—This checkbox specifies that only Control4-Certified drivers will appear in the search results.
 - **Device Types**—Lets you select the device type (proxy), for example, AV Switch (includes audio switches), Blinds, CD, Disc Changer (includes DVD and CD Changers), DVD, Light, Receiver, Satellite (includes DVRs), Cable TV, Television, Thermostat, Tuner, VCR and more.
 - **Manufacturers**—Lets you select the manufacturer.

- Sort by—Lets you select the order that search results are displayed.
- **Results**—Detailed search results appear, including the manufacturer, model, and driver location.
- 8. Configure the device by setting up the connections (Network and/or Control/AV tabs). See "Connecting and verifying devices" for details.

Adding drivers manually

If you need to use a driver that is not included in a Composer Pro version, you can download it (from Control4 or a third-party source) and add it to your local database manually.

To add a driver manually:

- 1. In Composer Pro's menu bar, click **Driver**, then click **Add or Update Driver**.
- 2. In the *Select c4i file to add* dialog box, navigate to the folder containing the driver, then select it and click **Open**. The driver is added to your driver database.
- 3. To add a device using the new driver, follow the instructions in "Using the Search tab" above.

Adding Z-Wave devices

After configuring your Z-Wave controller, add drivers corresponding to the Z-Wave devices to your project. Many Z-Wave device drivers will also need a motorization, sensor, or light driver, like a door or window driver, added into your Control4 project to represent the Z-Wave device in a Control4 Navigator.

Z-Wave device drivers

To add a Z-Wave device driver into your project:

1. In System Design, enter the name of driver in the Search tab.



2. Double-click on the driver to add it into the project. You can also right-click on the driver and select Add to Project to add the driver.

Composer Pro User Guide



3. If you have more than a couple Z-Wave devices, it is recommended that you rename this driver to help with troubleshooting multiple devices. **Right-click** on the driver and select **Rename**. Enter a descriptive name and press **Enter**.

Most Z-Wave device drivers will also need a motorization, sensor, or light driver. For example, a window contact sensor device driver also needs the Window Contact Sensor driver and an outlet module device driver needs the Z-Wave Dimmable Light (Outlet) driver.

Motorization, sensor, and light drivers

To add a motorization, sensor or light driver into your project:

1. In System Design, enter the name of the driver in the search field in the Search tab.

| ltems | | | | | |
|------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------|------------------|--|--|
| Locations | Discovered | My Drivers | Search | | |
| Z-Wave ligh | nt | | ~ | | |
| 🛛 Local 🖓 🗘 | Local Online Certified Only | | | | |
| All Device Typ | es 🗸 All Mar | nufacturers | ~ | | |
| Results | | Sort by: | Relevance \vee | | |
| Z-Wave Dimmable Light (Outlet) | | | | | |
| Cofferol4 | 2 | . , | Outlet-Dimmable | | |
| Light (v2) | 5/13/2016 12:0 | MA 00 | Local | | |
| Z-Wave Non-Dimmable Light (Outlet) | | | | | |
| Control4 | | Outle | et-Non-Dimmable | | |
| Light (v2) | 5/13/2016 12:0 | MA 00 | Local | | |

- 2. **Double-click** on the driver to add it into the project. You can also right-click on the driver and select **Add to Project** to add the driver.
- This is the driver that will show up in the UI, rename the driver to represent the device it is controlling. Rightclick on the driver and select Rename. Enter the name to be shown in the UI and press Enter.



Configuring third-party devices

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure third-party devices using third-party device drivers. The same basic steps apply to third-party drivers as with Control4 devices. Many of these drivers are 'certified' and are available in the drivers online database. Some of them will use Auto Discovery in the future.

Notes: (1) If the device you want to add and identify doesn't support Auto Discovery, you can follow the steps in "Composer views" or "Example projects" later in this guide. (2) New drivers for Sony STR-DA2800ES and DA5800ES receivers (ZSO-STR-DA2800ES or ZSO-STR-DA5800ES) are available in the Search > Online Database list ('Receiver' if the device is used as a receiver only in the Control4 system). The Sony receivers cannot be used as a controller in OS 2.6.0 or higher, see "Configuring a home controller" in this document.

Although third-party drivers are supported, they are not documented in this guide. For information about the devices and drivers, see the product's own website.

Configuring controllers

Use the System Design view to add and identify a controller to the network connection. Refer to the sections below for the controller type you want to configure. This section also covers other controller-related tasks.

Note: Home Theater Controller, Home Controller HC-500, HC-200, HC-300, HC-1000, and Media Controller are no longer sold by Control4.

Configuring a home controller

Use the System Design view to add and configure controllers (CA-10, EA-1, EA-3, EA-5, and CA-1). The steps below are basically the same for all of these controllers; however, some properties may vary.

Note: Emphasis is placed on the most recently released controllers.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the controller is installed as directed in the controller's installation guide, which is available on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure a controller:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the correct driver is added to the project tree. The Digital Media object is added automatically also.
- 2. Change the Properties for each controller as shown below.

Note: If a controller is not listed in My Drivers, right-click in My Drivers and select Restore Default List. This action updates the list. See "Using My Drivers or Search Tabs."

To establish a *Wi-Fi* network connection to older controllers, configure a *USB* Wi-Fi Adapter for home controllers (sold separately). See "Configuring a Wi-Fi connection" for details. Wi-Fi is built-in to EA, CA-1, and HC-800 controllers, but you still have to configure them for Wi-Fi.

Note: EA-3 V2 and EA-5 V2 controllers require an external Wi-Fi adapter. The EA-1 V2 PoE controller does not support Wi-Fi.

- 4. (Optional) For additional controller setup, configure the properties.
- 1. In the System Design view project tree, select the Home Controller object.
- 2. Modify the properties in the Properties pane:
 - **Controller Status**—Shows whether the controller is Online or Offline.
 - **Zigbee Server Configuration**—Lets you view, enable and disable the Zserver. Edit Zigbee Configuration opens the Zigbee Network Settings dialog.

Note: The Zigbee Network Settings box shows which ZAPs are configured, identified, or enabled. See also **Tools** > **Network Tools** and select the **Zigbee Network** tab.

- **IP Address**—Shows the IP address for the controller, if the controller is identified and communicating on the network.
- **Zigbee Server Status**—Shows whether the controller as Zigbee Server is Running or Not Running. Older controllers show 'Not Supported.'
- **ZAP Configuration Type**—Shows whether the controller is the Coordinator or ZAP. Older controllers show 'Not Supported.'
- **ZAP Status**—Shows whether the controller as ZAP is Running or Not Running. Older controllers show 'Not Supported.'
- For Video Connection (HC-250 and HC-800 only)—Select component or HDMI, change the Video Resolution, and then click Set Resolution. This will cause the controller to set the configuration and restart. Note: This does not reflect what is set in the Connections view for video output.
- Video Resolution (HC-250 and HC-800 only)—If your video doesn't display properly, use the drop-down to select your correct video resolution.
- **Current Resolution** (HC-250 and HC-800 only)—Displays what hardware resolution is currently configured.
- I/O Firmware Version (EA, HC-250, and HC-800 controllers)—Lists the current IO server firmware version of this controller.

Configuring a CA-10 Automation Controller

Use the System Design view to add and configure the CA-10 controllers.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the controller is installed as directed in the controller's installation guide (ctrl4.co/ca10-ig)

To add and configure a controller:

1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the correct driver is added to the project tree. The Digital Media object is added automatically also.

Note: If the CA-10 controller is not listed in My Drivers, right-click in My Drivers and select Restore Default List. This action updates the list. See "Using My Drivers or Search Tabs."

- 2. Use Composer Pro to monitor the controller status and view any needed service actions.
- 1. **Controller Status**—This field gives an overall controller status. The individual hardware components, their service state, and any action needed is listed below.
| Properti | es | | Properties | Summary | List View |
|------------|------------------------|------------------|------------|---------|-----------|
| Advanced P | roperties | | | | |
| CA- | 10 🔹 🖿 | stallation Guide | | | ~ |
| Controlle | r Status: Unidentified | | | | |
| State | Hardware | Action Needed | | | |
| | Drive 1 | | | | |
| | Drive 2 | | | | |
| | 嚞 Ethernet 1 | | | | |
| • | 🛔 Ethernet 2 | | | | |
| | O Fan 1 | | | | |
| | O Fan 2 | | | | |
| | Power 1 - Primary | | | | |
| | Ø Power 2 - Secondary | | | | |
| • | Temperature | | | | - 1 |

2. Logs—Use the Logs field to viewcontroller logs, clear logs, and copy log text to the clipboard to export the log data.

| .ogs: | | | Copy to Clipboard | Clear Logs |
|-------|----------|--------|-------------------|------------|
| State | Hardware | Status | Time | estamp |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

Configuring high-resolution audio with an EA Controller

Options for configuring high-resolution audio quality in a project running OS 2.9.0 or later can be found on the Properties page of the Digital Media driver. Click on **Digital Media** in the Project Tree.

Advanced Audio—Provides superior audio quality, lowered audio latencies, and support for future features. This field shows if Advanced Audio is enabled in the project.

Note: For Advanced Audio to be enabled, no audio inputs or outputs from HC-200, HC-300, HC-500 Controllers or Speaker Points can be bound in the project

Audio Latency–This parameter adjusts the delay when playing audio. For a project where all networked audio devices are wired and no EA HDMI connections are used, a latency below 1500 ms can be used. For projects where networked audio devices are wireless and include EA HDMI connections, a minimum latency setting of 1500 is recommended. Further adjustments may need to be made depending on the networking environment.

Max Quality—This setting specifies the best audio output in systems that support high-resolution audio beyond CD (44.1 kHz / 16 bit). Large values will consume more network bandwidth, but will ensure high-quality source media fidelity is preserved. The Max Quality feature requires the use of Advanced Audio and EA controllers. Older controllers added to a zone with high-quality audio will receive CD quality audio.

Active Quality–Indicates the current audio quality setting of the project. Active Quality can be different from the Max Quality setting depending on the number of bound audio outputs in a project.

Note: Active Quality is limited to 96 kHz/24 bit when MQA audio is enabled. See "Configuring MQA audio".

Maximum number of bound audio outputs/simultaneous audio streams per project

- 192 kHz / 24-bit audio is limited to two bound audio outputs
- 96 kHz/24-bit audio is limited to four bound audio outputs
- 48 kHz/24-bit audio is not limited, but it is recommended to have no more than 12 simultaneous digital media streams at this quality.

Replacing an existing controller using the Controller Migration Wizard

Using the Controller Migration Wizard in Composer Pro, an existing controller can be easily replaced in a project.

Supported uses:

- Primary Controller—Replace a functioning primary controller with a new (or different) controller; migrate project & controller registration to customer.control4.com web services.
- Secondary Controller—
- 1. Replace a functioning secondary controller with a new (or different) controller.
- 2. Replace a non-functioning secondary controller with a new (or RMA replacement) controller.

Limitations:

- Please note that third-party drivers authorized/activated/registered with the mac address of the primary controller will need to be re-authorized by the installer after the primary controller is changed. The wizard will report the new primary controller mac address. You will need to contact the third-party suppliers and request updated license or activation keys.
- Some Control4-produced and third-party drivers also use MAC-based pairing or activation solutions to enable communications with the target device or system. Examples of these include: Pandora, AppleTV, and Apple iTunes. These drivers will also need to be reactivated after the migration.
- It is not possible to migrate a non-functional primary controller. If the primary controller needs to be RMA'd, you will need to manually load the project onto the new controller.

Prerequisites:

- Add the replacement controller to the project.
- Identify the replacement controller.
- Update the OS on the project and these controllers to at least Control4 OS 2.9.0 or later.

To start the Controller Migration Wizard:

- 1. Click **Tools > Wizards** to open the *Wizards* windows.
- 2. Click Launch next to the Controller Migration Wizard. Ensure your project meets the prerequisites and click Next..

| Welcome to the Controller Migration Wizard | | |
|--|------|--------|
| Use this Controller Migration Wizard to replace a controller within a project. | | |
| Pre-Requisites: 1) Add the replacement controller to the project. 2) Identify the replacement controller. 3) Update the OS on the project and these controllers to at least Control4 OS 2.8.1 or later. NOTE: All controllers in the project MUST be at the same version of the OS. | | |
| Supported uses: Primary Controller - | | |
| Limitations: Please note that 3rd-party drivers authorized/activated/registered with the mac address of the primary controller will need to be re-authorized by the installer after the primary controller is changed. The wizard will report the new primary controller mac address. You will need to contact the 3rd-party suppliers and request updated license or activation keys. Some Control4-produced and 3rd-party drivers also use MAC-based pairing or activation solutions to enable communications with the target device or system. Examples of these include: Pandora, AppleTV, and Apple iTunes. These drivers will also need to be reactivated after the migration. lit is not possible to migrate a non-functional primary controller. If the primary controller needs to be RMA'd, you will need to manually load the project onto the new controller. | | |
|] | Next | Cancel |

3. In the *Controller Selection* window, click the **Source Controller** and the **Target Controller** from the list of controllers in the project.

← 🤇 Controller Migration Wizard

| Source Controller | | Target Contro | oller | |
|-------------------------------------|--------------|---------------|-------|--|
| Family Room->EA-5 | Family Roon | n->EA-5 | | |
| Family Room->Front Room HC800 | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Migration Options: | | | | |
| Project Migration ZigBee Server Mig | ration ZAP M | ligration | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

- 4. Select **Project Migration**, **Zigbee Server Migration**, and **ZAP Migration** to move those functions to the Target Controller and click **Next**..
- 5. Click the box next to Accept to migrate the connections listed to the Target Controller and click Next.

🗧 🍊 Controller Migration Wizard

| 🗹 Accept | Family Room->Front Room H | Connection | Family Room->EA-5 | |
|------------|---------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|--|
| Control Ou | itputs | | | |
| | IR OUT 1 | Family Room->Vizio | IR OUT 1 | |
| | IR OUT 2 | Family Room->xbox | IR OUT 2 | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| , | | | | |
| ` | | | | |

6. Verify the location on your computer to create a project backup and Migration Wizard Report.. Change the location or click the folder to browse to the desire location. Click **Next**.

| 🤇 Controller Migration Wizard | |
|--|-------------------------------|
| Filename and Locations | |
| The Controller Migration Wizard will create a full backup of your project befo listed below. | re and after in the locations |
| Pre Migration Backup Filename: | |
| C:\Users\xxxx\Documents\Control4\Projects\Residence Controller-PreMigration.c4p | |
| Migration Report Filename: C:\Users\xxxx\Documents\Control4-Residence_Controller Migration Report.ndf | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | To continue, click Next. |

The Migration Wizards moves project configuration and connections to the Target Controller and gives a status.

| ← (| Controller Migration Wizard | | |
|-----|--|------|--------|
| | executing Migration | | |
| | Migration Complete! | | |
| | Activity | | |
| | Beginning Migration Senerating Migration Activity report Backup Complete. Vigration Complete! | | |
| | | | |
| | | Next | Cancel |

7. Click **Next** and then **Ok** to exit the Migration Wizard.

Ensure that Zigbee Server is running

Use the System Design view to check the controller's properties and ensure that Zigbee Server is running on a controller.

To ensure the controller properties are set correctly:

- 1. In the project tree, select the project name object for the Zigbee Configuration tab to appear.
- 2. Ensure that the Zigbee Server is running. If not, see "Example: Verify the network connections" in this document.

Tip: Be patient. In cases where the Zigbee mesh is moved, it can take up to five

minutes for all connections to get re-established.

| System Design | Properties | | | | Prop | erties | Summary | List View |
|---|--------------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|---------------|---------|-------------|-----------|
| System | Properties | | | | | | | |
| ~ ~ ~ • • • | Project Settings Information Lightin | ng Defaults Allowed N | etworks ZigBee Cor | figuration Z-Wave | Configuration | | | ^ |
| - Kew Project ∧ | Edit Zigbee Configuration | | | | | | Refresh | |
| House | Name | IP Address | Controller Status | ZigBee Server | ZigBee Status | Channel | ZAP Status | |
| Sations v Constraints of the second | Broom->EA-1 L Room->EA-1 | 192,168,1.10 192,168,1.10 | 0 | Enabled | Running | 19 | Coordinator | |
| System Design | | | | | | | | . 1 |
| Connections | | | | | | | | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | | | | |
| III Agents | | | | | | | | |
| Service Programming | | | | | | | | |

Configuring a Z-Wave controller

You can use System Design to check the project properties, enable a Z-Wave controller, and view the status of the Z-Wave controller running in a Control4 project.

Note: Z-Wave requires a Z-Wave module connected to an EA or CA controller. See the Z-Wave Module Installation Guide for more help.

To configure a Z-Wave controller:

- 1. In the *Project Tree*, select the **Project Name** (top line of the project tree) object for the project properties to appear.
- 2. Click on the Z-Wave Configuration tab.

| les | | | | | | |
|---|--|---|---|-------------|-----------|----------------|
| ect Settings Inform | nation Lighting Defaults | ZigBee Configuration | Z-Wave Configuration | on | | |
| Controller | Z-Wave Enabled | Status | Home ID | Node ID | SUC/SIS | Role |
| Room->EA-5 | | Secure | ce21da68 | 01 | 01 | Node ID Server |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Advanced | | | | | | |
| Advanced Learn | Join the selected contro | oller to another open 2 | | | | |
| Advanced Learn Network Update | Join the selected contro Requests a network up | oller to another open 2 date to improve routin | Z-Wave mesh. g information for an in | nclusion co | ntroller. | |
| Advanced Learn Network Update Reset Defaults | Join the selected contr Requests a network up Reset the selected con | oller to another open Z date to improve routin troller to a default emp | Z-Wave mesh. g information for an in | nclusion co | ntroller. | |

3. Check the box under Z-Wave Enabled for the controller you want to be your Z-Wave controller.

Note: Only one Z-Wave controller can be configured in a Control4 project.

The configuration should show a status of "Secure" when it is configured properly. If the *Status* field is empty, make sure the Z-Wave module is connected and installed properly, and that the EA or CA controller is online and identified in the project.

Advanced configuration

Several options are available for advanced Z-Wave configurations in the Z-Wave Configuration tab in the project properties window. These are not required in most cases when operating Z-Wave devices with a Z-Wave module in a Control4 system. They can be used for extending operation with external devices and third-party Z-Wave controllers.

- Learn—This option joins the selected controller to another open Z-Wave mesh. This action will change the Home ID of the controller, and any devices on the previous Home ID will no longer be available. If the controller is joined to a mesh that contains a Node ID controller (SUC/SIS), the controller will be an Inclusion controller with the Home ID of the mesh it joined.
- Network Update—When acting as an Inclusion controller, Network Update requests network topology updates from the Node ID controller (SUC/SIS).
- Reset Defaults—Reset Defaults clears the Home ID on the Z-Wave controller and abandons any nodes on the existing network. Any Z-Wave devices previously joined to the network must be removed before they can join the new network. See "*Removing Z-Wave devices*." Use this procedure only in the event that the network primary controller is missing or otherwise inoperable.

Note: If this controller is the primary controller for your network, resetting it will result in the nodes in your network being orphaned and it will be necessary, after the reset to defaults, to reset and re-add all of the nodes in the network. If this controller is being used as a secondary controller in the network, use this procedure to reset this controller only if the network primary controller is missing or otherwise inoperable.

• Send Node Info–When connected to another mesh, Send Node Info sends information about the controller to all other devices on the mesh.

Advanced Z-wave concepts

Replication–Control4 controllers do not implement controller replication. The controller will respond appropriately to replicate requests.

Basic Command Class–Control4 controllers allow controlling unknown devices with the Basic Command Class (see Non-Preferred devices below). Control4 controllers "Do Nothing" when receiving Z-Wave Basic Command Class commands.

Non-Preferred Devices–Control4 controllers allow adding unknown Z-Wave devices through a "Generic Z-Wave" driver. When a device is connected to this driver, it can be controlled through the Basic Command Class using the properties page for the device. Information reported from the device is also be available on this properties page. Non-preferred devices can also be added to a Z-Wave mesh using the *Available Devices* Add button. This allows devices to be added and then associated using manufacturer specific methods for doing so. See manufacturer specific documentation on how to create associations on specific devices.

Association Command Class–Control4 controllers implement associations on the Lifeline association group (group 1). This association is used to provide device reset information to an associated device. A single associated device is supported.

Repeater Functionality–This product can be operated in any Z-Wave network with other Z-Wave certified devices from other manufacturers. All non-battery operated nodes within the network will act as repeaters regardless of vendor to increase reliability of the network.

Troubleshooting Z-Wave

When joined to a network, a Z-Wave device will not join a different network. Z-Wave devices can be removed from any network at any time by using the Remove button found in *Available Devices*. This is true even if they are not part of the network performing the remove operation. If there appears to be trouble joining a device to a network, it is a good idea to either perform a reset defaults on the device, or explicitly perform a removal procedure, prior to attempting to add the device to the existing network. This ensures the device is not currently configured for another network prior to adding the device to the desired network.

Ensure that Video Mode is set correctly

Use the System Design view to check the controller's properties and ensure that video mode is set correctly on a controller. Video Mode lets you set the video format that the controller outputs when configured to display video.

To ensure the controller properties are set correctly:

- 1. In the project tree, select the Controller object for the properties to appear.
- 2. Ensure that the video format is set correctly. NTSC mode is used in the U.S. and PAL mode is generally used in Europe.



Configure multiple controllers

Use the System Design view and Connections > Network tab to configure multiple controllers. If you have more than one controller in your Control4 system, you must designate one of them as the primary controller (Director). The others will be secondary controllers.

To add and configure multiple controllers:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director on Local Network.
- 2. From the Directors dialog that appears, select the Director's **network address** of the primary controller hardware you are setting up, and click **Connect**.

When you have multiple controllers in the system, connecting to a controller defines where the project configuration will be saved (Director). When you identify the controllers to the project, any other controllers will be configured as a slave or secondary controller and Director will be turned off automatically. The next time you launch Composer Pro, only the network address of the Director of the primary controller appears on this screen. If the correct address is not listed, click **Add** to add the address manually.

| Host Name | Address | Version | Connect |
|--|---|-------------------------------------|---------|
| Steph gpeterson-desktop virus-test-controller-1 DamS eskHC1 0004 home-controller-100 metsandHC-1000-0 home-controller-100 WSPQA-PRIDD-182 home-controller-300 WebDevHC300-000 | 143 25.341.51 153 25.342 279 153 25.342 200 153 25.342 200 153 25.342 200 153 25.342 200 153 25.343 150 153 25.342 201 153 25.342 201 153 25.342 201 | 2.10.6.558226res 3.0.0.562645res | Cancel |
| home-controller-500 | 10.11.102.206 10.11.103.130 | | Add |

- 3. In the project tree, select the room where the controller resides, and add it to the system. Do the same for all the controllers you plan to add to the system. See "How to add devices to a project" for details.
- 4. Click the Connections view.
- 5. In the Connections view, select the Network tab.
- 6. Select the first controller listed, and click Identify.
- 7. On the dialog that appears, follow the on-screen instructions, and click **Next** to continue to identify the other controllers you have added to the system.
- 8. When you finish identifying all of the controllers and any other devices in your project, click **Close** to return to the Network tab in the Connections view.
- 9. In the IP Network Connections pane under Address make sure that all the devices in your project have an address on the list.

| ile Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | |
|--|----------------------------|----------------------|--------------|--|---|-----|
| | IP Network Connect | | | | Available Devices | |
| ControLIAV Network | Identify Disconnect | | | Disconnect Al IP | B-c4:control4_ca1 | ^ |
| IP Network | | | | View as: O Tree () List | ca1-000FFF5133C1 | |
| ZgBee Network | Dester | 0 | Address View | tition of the second se | B-c4.control4_doorstation_ds2 | |
| Z-Wave Network | Device | Hoom Type | Aboress Type | 70010 | C4DS2-7C1EB3018E94 | |
| | E EAS | Theater c4.com | r | o4.comroi4_ea5-IranngHoom2-NedUits-00JFFF1_ | □ c4 control4_ea5 | |
| | C Red Verd | Theater Hintcan | e 0010 | of ULIN DEGIO BT7 Camera 360d3 Name | TransingHoom2 HedCatts-000FFF1B4AC1 | |
| | S DOCK TOTO | Theater Mitcan | e 0000 | CALIENT IS 2107 12 Callela_2006 Shore | e-c4 control4_incsuu_nomecontroller | |
| | City Days To 101 | Theater Incar | e UUID | C4:DDN MHD32912-Camera_Subata-CDIV-MHD | HC300-BoardHoom-000FFF5/F633 | |
| | Side Door 13 10 | Theater C+Lice | VI. UUID | c+udevice_gassedge10_sourscieen gassedge1_ | EI-c4.control4_light:C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2 | |
| | AVE X2200W | Dester Deste | A 1880 | Dense AVD X22000/ Efects 2409 1946 6520.00 | -totta dryar-000th52a241 | |
| | E.C. HILL & LUDIE M | Theater Let M | 2 1000 | All of the second | CALCONDON JORCCA-DIN-DREL-E-V2 | |
| | Control 4 DP2 Down D | Theater C+3000 | 2. 000 | c4100020_evinetxswtch_c-c4_00020_evinetxs | - CAUS dimai-000# 525a67 | |
| | T2 10° Tablates Tex | Theater Color | 1000 | of a identical provides 10th to other the standard | GF04.control4_lightC4-DIN-BTV-E | |
| | 13 TU Tabletop Tou | Theater C4.00e | VI 0010 | c4.udevice_gassedgeTup_touchscreen-gassedge | - CELLI dinval-000m 1b 272e | |
| | Epiton Projector | Theater epson: | 1000 | 132,150,102,11 | hit-c4:pateway:C4-OIN-BEG-V2 | |
| | 211 8 Channel 0 100 Mad | Theater c+gate | w 001D | A patential A site CA DIN 970 (E shared 000815-372); | - State anal-courts/4abs | |
| | had a charter of for house | Theater Coulding | 10000 | CALCADOR OF CALCAD | E-04 LILIN IPS210 P12 Canera_20983 | |
| | Calles have been | Theater C+ con | - 10 | teo teo teo teo | - EXCLA None | |
| | Con river (P) | Inealer Inn Cas | R. IF | 132.150.102.173 | EF-c4 LILIN MR632-P12-Camera_505d58 | |
| | En Let Sony BRAVIA | Family Hoom Bony tv | X 0010 | sony tv: ABH-65X/50D-sony tv: TURP ASS/BC.23 | EXCLA LILIN-MR832-000%506368 | |
| | Progre Sony Driveria | bedroom sony tv | A., 000 | sony tv ABH-65X/SUD-sony-tv-Tu-47A66/BCUB | B-c4:LILIN NVH1400 | |
| | a INVISION AND | Colley Costado | 0000 | C4 that_amis-amis-ocomeous is | - 2112 NVH1400_11027F | |
| | Ined AMS | Theater C431a0 | 000 | c4thad_amso-amso-ocom6c6ube | E-c41LIN ZR6122-IVS-PTZ-Camera_5051a5 | |
| | Pedesta Inad One | Ntchen C43140 | 000 | c4thad_one-thad-one-000FFF903611 | -62002 LILIN-2R6122-IVS-000#c5051a5 | |
| | E soundar into one | Ny rione Casido | | C411a0_Onethacione.courresolisiz | to-c4luzb2d_avmatrixswtch_c | |
| | BIJ LISH Media | Ineater Echost | ar SSL | 192.168.102.118 | - EXC2 c4_u862d_avmatricewitch-000ff1d138a | |
| | To see To | Equipment Hoom 0434a | pen IP | 132.168.102.129 | e-c4triad_ams8 | |
| | 13 TU Tabletop Tou | ramy hoom C+Lice | VL., IF | | 2222 am8-000#6090be | |
| | | | | | - 2442 ami8-000#60531b | |
| | | | | | B-c4triad_one | |
| < | > | | | | -62002 trad-one-000FFF901612 | |
| A | _ | | | | -62002 thad one-000+++905511 | |
| System Design | | | | | E-c4tadevice_gasseope10_touchscreen | - 0 |
| Characteristics | | | | | Gassedge 10-000#812833 | |
| Connections | | | | | Er-c4udevice_glassedge10p_jouchscreen | |
| A stadu | | | | | - ELLAS glassedge Tup-000m audeob | |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | - | | | | Contens | |
| agents Agents | | | | | DENON AVR-X3300W | |
| R Programming | | | | | PE-09N-90A7C153122A | |
| Sector and a sector and a sector a sect | | | | | um dal multisomen org device dal 1 | |

Configure an IO Extender

The IO Extender opens up a whole world of options in the Control4 system to control home theaters, distributed audio systems, video devices, motion sensors,

and other devices that use infrared (IR), serial, contact, and relay connections. This device is a great companion to the EA controllers to expand output capability.

Ensure that the IO Extender is installed and set up as directed in the *IO Extender Installation Guide* available on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure an IO Extender:

- 1. Follow the steps in "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>" to add and identify the device. Ensure that the **IO** Extender driver is added to the project tree.
- Add device drivers, for devices to be controlled by IR or serial, or Motorization drivers, for devices connected by relay or contact sensor (see "<u>Configuring Motorization</u>" in this document) and make the appropriate connections between those drivers and the IO extender on the Connections > Control/AV window (see "<u>Connect and verify devices</u>" in this document).

Configuring lighting

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure dimmers, switches and keypads.

Tip: Double- and triple-tap events apply to the Control4 dimmers, switches, and keypads. When you tap a button consecutively two or three times for about one-half of one second the events fire. You can use these events for programming without requiring the more complex programming logic tied to timers and button 'Press/Release' events.

Note: When programming using double and triple-tap events, be aware that Press and Release events also occur when double and triple-tap events occur. Plan your programming using these events so that they don't conflict with the intended outcome. In most cases, when using double and triple-tap programming events, don't program on the Press and Release events.

Tip: These sections are organized by how devices are listed in the My Drivers tab.

Wireless Lighting

Device settings for Configurable Keypads

Properties

- Button Settings
- **Name**—The name of the button (used for defining its connections to other devices or events within Composer HE).
- **Engraving**—Text that you want printed onto the buttons. For more information, see "Ignore device when it comes online—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.
- " below.
- **Icons**—Icons that you want printed onto the buttons. To add an icon to the Engraving text box, click **Icons**, then double-click the icon to add.
- LED Behavior
- Follow Bound Device—LED behavior reflects the state of the device the button is bound to.
- Push/Release—LED behavior reflects the button state (pressed or released).
- Push Color—Sets the LED color while the button is pressed.
- **Release Color** Sets the LED color while the button is released.

• Finish—Color of the buttons.

Advanced Properties

- Ambient Light Profiles
- Select a preset brightness profile for the keypad backlight and LEDs that changes their brightness according to the room's ambient light. You can also select Fully Customized and manually set each brightness level according to ambient lighting.
- **Backlight Color**—Sets the keypad's backlight color. If you don't want a keypad backlight, keep the default setting (black).
- **Sensing**—The ambient sensing mode and follow source are displayed in the **Sensing** window.
- **Mode**—The ambient light sensing modes are: **Independent** (using the light's own sensor), **Source** (another light is using this light's sensor) or **Follower** (using the sensor from another light). If Mode is Follower, the source device is listed.

Sensing Mode: Follower Source: Family Room - Family Room Light

• In **Connections**, select the lighting devices to be the Source device. Connect the **Ambient Light Level (Source)** connection in *Control Outputs* to each Follower light or keypad.

| Control & Audio Video | Connectio | ns . | | |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|---------------|--------------|--|
| Family Room Light | | | | |
| Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To |
| Control Inputs | | | | |
| 🖨 Ambient Light Level (Follower) | Control | AMBIENT_LEVEL | Input | |
| Control Outputs | | | | |
| Top Button Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Output | |
| Bottom Button Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Output | |
| Toggle Button Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Output | |
| Manual Ambient Light Level (Source) | Control | AMBIENT_LEVEL | Output | Family Reading Light->Ambient Light Level (Follower) |

- **Network**—(wireless keypads only) Displays the MAC address and firmware version of the selected device. These fields are not editable.
- Replace Legacy Control4 Device
- **Replace Keypad**—Replaces a legacy device in your project with this new device. After you configure this new device, click this button, select the older

device in the mini project tree that opens, then click **OK**.

| Check the device you would like to replace with the current device. |
|--|
| New Project Home House Main Office Main Office Panelized |
| OK Cancel |

• **Ignore device when it comes online**—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.

Device settings for dimmers

| oper | πies | | | | | |
|---|--|------------|---|---|--|---|
| perties | s | | | | | Apply to |
| immer | Information | | | | | |
| | tates | | | | | |
| reset | Level | – 0 | -100% | Set | | |
| Rar | mpUp 750 | ÷ Millis | econds \vee | Set | | |
| lamp | Down 2 | ÷ Seco | nds v | Set | | |
| lold R | lamp Rates | | | | | |
| | Up 5 | ÷ Se | econds | Set | | |
| | Down 5 | ÷ Se | econds | Set | | |
| lange | Levels | | | | | |
| м | 1 In On | ÷ 1 | -100% | Set | | |
| м | ax On 100 | ‡ 1 | -100% | Set | | |
| old S | tart Values | | | | | |
| | Time 0 | ÷ Mil | liseconds | Set | | |
| | | _ | 100% | Set | | |
| | Level 0 | - U | -100% | 0.01 | | |
| ED Inf | Level 0 | On Cok | or OffCol | or | | |
| Top | formation | On Cok | or OffCol | | | Apply t |
| Top | formation | On Cok | or OffCol | or Mode | | Apply t |
| ED Inf Top ranced suit D Status | formation Properties letection s:0 | On Cok | or OffCol | or Mag Mode Auto-Detect | ✓ Set | Apply to |
| Top Top ranced suit D Status | formation formation d Properties Netection s: 0 Re | On Cok | or OffCol | or Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re | ✓ Set everse Phase | Apply t |
| ED Ini Top ranced ault D Status | formation formation formation fProperties ketection s: Re t Lickt Profiles | On Cok | or OffCol | or Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re | Set everse Phase | Apply t |
| ED Ini Top ranced ault D Status mbien Backl | formation formation d Properties letection s: O Re at Light Profiles light Color | On Cok | or OffCol | ng Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re | Set verse Phase | Apply to |
| ED Ini Top ranced ault D Status Backl | Level U formation d Properties Detection s: C Re tt Light Profiles light Color M | On Cok | or OffCol | ng Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re | Set everse Phase Brigh | Apply to |
| ED Inf Top ranced ault D Status Backl | Level U formation d Properties Detection s: C Re t Light Profiles light Color Dark Status LEDs | On Cok | or OffCol | or Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re oom Backlight | Set verse Phase Brigh Status LEDs | Apply to t Room Backlight |
| ED Ini Top ranced ault D Status Backl | Level U formation d Properties Netection s:Q Re t Light Profiles light Color Dark Status LEDs Dim | Con Cok | or Off Col Dimmin Dimmin Status LEDs Bright | or Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re oom Backlight Bright | Set verse Phase Brigh Status LEDs Bright | Apply to Apply to t Room Backlight Off |
| Top ranced ault D Status Backl | Level U formation d Properties Detection s: O Re ti Light Profiles light Color M Dark Status LEDs Dim Off | On Cok | or OffCol Dimmin Dimmin Status LEDs Bright Bright | or Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re Oom Backlight Bright | Set everse Phase Brigh Status LEDs Bright Bright | Apply to Apply to t Room Backlight Off Off |
| Top anced ault D Status Backl | Level U formation d Properties letection s: C Re t Light Profiles light Color Dark Status LEDs Dim Off Dim | Con Cok | or OffCol Dimmin Status LEDs Bright Bright | or Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re oom Backlight Bright Bright | Verse Phase Brigh Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright | Apply to Apply to t Room Backlight Off Off Bright |
| Top ranced ault D Status Backi | Level U formation d Properties Detection s: | Con Cok | or Off Col Dimmin Dimmin Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright | or Mode Auto-Detect Detected: Re Oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright Bright | Set verse Phase Brigh Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright | Apply to Apply to t Room Backlight Off Off Bright Bright |

Properties (applies to: Keypad Dimmer, Forward Phase Dimmer, Adaptive Phase Dimmer, 0-10V Dimmer)

- Click rates
- **Preset Level**—The percentage of light output is used for On.
- **Ramp Up**—The time it takes to reach the preset On level.
- Ramp Down—The time it takes to reach 0% (Off).

- Hold Ramp Rates
- **Up**—The rate in seconds for reaching the Max On level from an Off state when the top button is held down.
- **Down**—The rate in seconds for reaching the Off state from an On state when the bottom button is held down.
- Range Levels
- **Min On**—The percentage of light for the minimum "On" power level. The default is 0. The functional minimum level can vary, depending on the light type (such as incandescent, fluorescent, compact fluorescent, and LED).

This is especially important in compact fluorescent (CLF) and LED lighting that sometimes have a minimum threshold for producing visible light that could be anywhere from the 10-40% range. Some loads will flicker or pulse right at their minimum threshold.

Example: A bulb doesn't produce visible light until it reaches 20%. The minimum On to 25% will ensure a clean On transition.

- Max On—This setting enables capping the light level for a given load below 100%, either to enhance bulb life or match the light level in a given living space better. This is an absolute maximum level rather than the Preset On level, which can be bypassed.
- **Cold Start Values**—These settings are mainly applicable to compact fluorescent (CFL) loads. Switching from an Off state to On sometimes exhibits a higher visible light threshold than after the CFLs have been on and have warmed up. If a Cold Start % is set (above the Minimum On %), the dimmer cleanly jumps to that level from Off to On. However, when the dimmer has been on for the time period designated by the Cold Start timer, the dimmer can ramp below the Cold Start On % to the minimum On%.

Example: Fluorescent lights go on, warm up, and then will dim down to the Minimum On Level % setting. Tapping the keypad on a 2-button dimmer sets the light to its preset level. If you press and hold the button, the light checks the Minimum On Level % setting.

- **Time** The time a light takes to warm up before it dims (ramps) down to the Cold Start Level setting.
- Level— The light level that the bulb returns to after bulb warmup. This value must be higher than the Min On level defined under Range Levels.
- LED Information
- **Top**—The On and Off LED colors for the top LED.
- Bottom—The On and Off LED colors for the bottom LED.

• **Toggle**—The LED colors of the LEDs while being held down(?).

Advanced Properties

- Fault Detection
- **Status**—Displays the device's current fault status. Green is normal, but red indicates a fault.
- **Reset**—Resets the fault status indicator. If the fault repeats, make sure that the load type is compatible, that the device is wired correctly, and that the device is not damaged.
- Dimming Mode (Adaptive Phase Dimmer only)
- Ambient Light Profiles
- Select a preset brightness profile for the keypad backlight and LEDs that changes their brightness according to the room's ambient light. You can also select Fully Customized and manually set each brightness level according to ambient lighting.
- **Backlight Color**—Sets the keypad's backlight color. If you don't want a keypad backlight, keep the default setting (black).
- **Sensing**—The ambient sensing mode and follow source are displayed in the **Sensing** window.
- **Mode**—The ambient light sensing modes are: **Independent** (using the light's own sensor), **Source** (another light is using this light's sensor) or **Follower** (using the sensor from another light). If Mode is Follower, the source device is listed.



• In **Connections**, select the lighting devices to be the Source device. Connect the **Ambient Light Level (Source)** connection in *Control Outputs* to each Follower light or keypad.

| Family Room Light | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|---------|---------------|--------------|--|
| Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To |
| Control Inputs | | | | |
| 🗳 Ambient Light Level (Follower) | Control | AMBIENT_LEVEL | Input | |
| Control Outputs | | | | |
| Top Button Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Output | |
| Bottom Button Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Output | |
| Toggle Button Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Output | |
| Manual Ambient Light Level (Source) | Control | AMBIENT_LEVEL | Output | Family Reading Light->Ambient Light Level (Follower) |

Button Settings

- **Engraving**—Text that you want printed onto the buttons. See "" in this document. Note: When the custom engraved keycaps are installed, make sure that the device properties in Composer HE match the device's actual configuration..
- Finish—Color of the buttons.
- **Icons**—Icons that you want printed onto the buttons. To add an icon to the Engraving text box, click **Icons**, then double-click the icon to add.
- **Buttons Control Load**—When selected, this checkbox tells the system that the device directly controls an electrical load, such as a light fixture.
- **LEDs Follow Load**—When selected, this checkbox tells the dimmer's LEDs to indicate the electrical load status.
- Use as 2 Button Keypad—When selected, this checkbox allows you to configure and program the device as a 2-button keypad, and a new section "2 Button Keypad Settings" appears.
- **Hide From Nav**—When selected, this hides the keypad from any Navigator. Navigators must be refreshed for this setting to take effect.

2 Button Keypad Settings (visible only when "Use as 2 Button Keypad" option is selected)

- **Button**—Select the button to configure.
- LED Behavior
- Follow Bound Device—LED behavior reflects the state of the device the button is bound to.
- Follow Load—LED behavior reflects the state of the lighting load (on or off).
- **On Color**—Sets the LED color when the controlled load is on.
- Off Color— Sets the LED color when the controlled load is off.
- **Push/Release**—LED behavior reflects the button state (pressed or released).
- **Push Color**—Sets the LED color while the button is pressed.
- **Release Color** Sets the LED color while the button is released.

Energy Information (view only)

- Minutes Off—Elapsed minutes since device was turned off.
- Minutes On—Elapsed minutes since device was turned on.
- Minutes On Today—Total minutes device has been on for the current day.
- **Current Power**—Power being consumed by the device at the present time.
- **Energy Used**—Total watt hours consumed by the device over its lifetime.

• **Energy Used Today**—Watt hours consumed by the device for the current day.

Network—The current MAC address and firmware version of the selected device. These fields are not editable.

Replace Legacy Control4 Device

• **Replace Light**—Replaces a legacy device in your project with this new device. After you configure this new device, click this button, select the older device in the mini project tree that opens, then click **OK**.

| Choose System Items | \times |
|--|----------|
| Check the device you would like to replace with the current device. | • |
| New Project Home Main Clice Office Main Office Main Y Office Panelized | |
| < | > |
| OK Cancel | |

• **Ignore device when it comes online**—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.

Configuring the Keypad Dimmer's buttons

When you add a new lighting Keypad Dimmer, a "Keypad" proxy is added underneath the Keypad Dimmer in the project tree.



To configure the Keypad Dimmer's buttons:

1. Add the keypad to your project tree, then identify it. For instructions, see "<u>How to add</u> <u>devices to a project</u>."

2. In the System Design view, select the device. The device's Properties tab opens.

| here the | | | | |
|-----------------|-------------|-------|--------------------------------|------------------------------|
| roperbes | | | | |
| Button Settings | | | Assembled Keypad | Keypad Parts* |
| Name | Button 3 | 1 | Button 1 | 1 Slot High |
| | [| i | Button 2 | 2 State High |
| Engraving | | Icons | | 2 Slots riigh |
| | | | Button 3 | |
| Button Behavior | Toggle | • | | 3 Slots High |
| LED Rehavior | Follow Load | | Down Up | |
| LED Denavior | | | | Down / Up |
| On Color | | | E 1 1 1 | |
| OffColor | _ | | Finish White | • |
| | | | *Drag the desire | buttons to the "Assembled |
| | | | Keypad [®] area to co | onfigure your keyped. Right- |

3. In the Button Settings area, click and drag the appropriate **Keypad Parts** items to the Assembled Keypad example until the example matches the desired keypad configuration.

| Assembled Keypad | Keypad Parts* |
|---------------------|----------------------------|
| | 1 Slot High |
| Button 1 | |
| | 2 Slots High |
| | |
| Button 3 | |
| | 3 Slots High |
| | , |
| Down Up | |
| | y Down / Up |
| | |
| Finish White | • |
| *Drag the desired | buttons to the "Assembled |
| Keypad" area to con | figure your keypad. Right- |
| click to a | delete a button. |

Tips:

- The Down/Up buttons can be placed only in the bottom slot and cannot have custom engraving.
- Drag the desired button to the top slot of the range where you want the button positioned.



4. Configure the settings described below.

- 5. Click **Apply to...** to apply the changes to other lighting devices.
 - If you entered text for custom engraving, go to "<u>Ignore device when it comes</u> <u>online</u>—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older <u>device when it comes back online</u>."—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.

Device settings for switches

| ope | rues | | | Pro | perties List | View Ir |
|--------|-------------------|------------|-------------|----------------|--------------|-----------|
| pertie | 5 | | | | | Apply 1 |
| ED In | formation | OnCol | | ~ | | |
| Tee | | | | | | |
| тор | | | | - | | |
| ance | d Properties | | | | | Apply |
| ult (| Detection | | | | | |
| Statu | is:O | K | | | | |
| | Re | set | | | | |
| nhior | at Light Profiles | | | | | |
| Back | tight Color | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | Dark | Room | Dim R | oom | Brigh | t Room |
| | Status LEDs | Backlight | Status LEDs | Backlight | Status LEDs | Backlight |
| ۲ | Dim | Dim | Bright | Bright | Bright | Off |
| 0 | Off | Off | Bright | Bright | Bright | Off |
| 0 | Dim | Dim | Bright | Bright | Bright | Bright |
| 0 | Off | Off | Bright | Bright | Bright | Bright |
| 0 | | | Fully Cus | tomized | | |
| tton | Settings | | | | | |
| | | | | Buttons Contro | ol Load | |
| ngra | ving | | Icons 🗸 | EDs Follow L | oad | |
| F | inish White | | - | Use as 2 Butto | on Keypad | |
| | | | | | | |
| nergy | Information | | _ | | | |
| | Minutes Off. | 0 | Curren | Power: | watts | |
| | Minutes On: | 0 | Energ | y Used: 0 | watt hour | rs |
| Minu | tes On Today: | 0 | Energy Used | Today: 0 | watt hou | rs |
| etwo | rk | | | | | |
| AC | | | Version: | | | |
| eplac | e Legacy Contr | ol4 Device | | | | |
| Re | place Light | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Properties (applies to new lighting Switch C4-SW120277)

- LED Information
- **Top**—The On and Off LED colors for the top LED.
- Bottom—The On and Off LED colors for the bottom LED.
- **Toggle**—The LED colors of the LEDs while being held down.

Advanced Properties

- Fault Detection
- **Status**—Displays the device's current fault status. Green is normal, but red indicates a fault.
- **Reset**—Resets the fault status indicator. If the fault repeats, make sure that the load type is compatible, that the device is wired correctly, and that the device is not damaged.
- Ambient Light Profiles
- Select a preset brightness profile for the switch backlight and LEDs that changes their brightness according to the room's ambient light. You can also select Fully Customized and manually set each brightness level according to ambient lighting.
- **Backlight Color**—Sets the switch's backlight color. If you don't want a switch backlight, keep the default setting (black).
- Button Settings
- **Engraving**—Text that you want printed onto the switch. See "Ordering keycap engraving" in this document. Note: When the custom engraved keycaps are installed, make sure that the device properties in Composer Promatch the device's actual configuration.
- **Finish**—Color of the switch.
- **Icons**—Icons that you want printed onto the buttons. To add an icon to the Engraving text box, click **Icons**, then double-click the icon to add.
- **Buttons Control Load**—When selected, this checkbox tells the system that the device directly controls an electrical load, such as a light fixture.
- **LEDs Follow Load**—When selected, this checkbox tells the dimmer's LEDs to indicate the electrical load status.
- Use as 2 Button Keypad—When selected, this checkbox allows you to configure and program the device as a 2-button keypad, and a new section "2 Button Keypad Settings" appears.
- **Hide From Nav**—When selected, this hides the switch from any Navigator. Navigators must be refreshed for this setting to take effect.
- **2 Button Keypad Settings** (visible only when "Use as 2 Button Keypad" option is selected)
- **Button**—Select the button to configure.
- LED Behavior
- Follow Bound Device—LED behavior reflects the state of the device the button is bound to.

- Follow Load—LED behavior reflects the state of the lighting load (on or off).
- On Color—Sets the LED color when the controlled load is on.
- **Off Color** Sets the LED color when the controlled load is off.
- **Push/Release**—LED behavior reflects the button state (pressed or released).
- **Push Color**—Sets the LED color while the button is pressed.
- **Release Color** Sets the LED color while the button is released.
- Energy Information (view only)
- Minutes Off—Elapsed minutes since device was turned off.
- Minutes On—Elapsed minutes since device was turned on.
- Minutes On Today—Total minutes device has been on for the current day.
- **Current Power**—Power being consumed by the device at the present time.
- **Energy Used**—Total watt hours consumed by the device over its lifetime.
- **Energy Used Today**—Watt hours consumed by the device for the current day.
- **Network**—The current MAC address and firmware version of the selected device. These fields are not editable.
- Replace Legacy Control4 Device
- **Replace Light**—Replaces a legacy device in your project with this new device. After you configure this new device, click this button, select the older device in the mini project tree that opens, then click **OK**.



• **Ignore device when it comes online**—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.

Changing LED colors on a switch or dimmer

After you verify that your connections are correct in Composer Pro, you can set the properties and configure the system to meet the home control needs.

To change the LED colors on a switch or dimmer:

1. In the project tree, select the Switch or Dimmer object for the properties to appear.

| ystem Design | Proper | rties | | | P | roperties | Summary | List Vie |
|---|----------------|-----------------------|------------|----------------|--------------|-----------|-------------|-----------|
| stem | Propertie | \$ | | | _ | | | Apply to |
| - Inst Roor | Dimme Click | r Informatio Rates | on 00 🛋 | 0-100% | Sat | | | |
| ⊖ ♥ Family Room ⊖ ₩ Left Sony BRAVIA → ── Netflix | Ra | mpUp 25 | 50 🔹 | Milliseconds ~ | Set | | | |
| Amazon Instant Video | Ramp | Down /s | 50 | Milliseconds V | Set | | | |
| | Hold F | Ramp Rates | 5 | | | | | |
| Google Play | | Up 5 | - | Seconds | Set | | | |
| | | Down 5 | - | Seconds | Set | | | |
| Front Door | Range | Levels | | | | | | |
| Family Left | N | Ain On 1 | ÷ | 1-100% | Set | | | |
| T3 10" Tableton Touch Screen 2 | M | lax On 10 | 00 ≑ | 1-100% | Set | | | |
| | Cold S | tart Values | | | | | | |
| Garage Door | | Time 0 | + | Milliseconds | Set | | | |
| Hight Garage | | | | 0.1001 | Cat | 1 | | |
| E Theater | | Level | | 0-100% | out | | | |
| Gontrold && HDMI Matrix Gontrold && HDMI Matrix Gontrold & Region | LED In | formation | ، ۱ | On Color O | ff Color | | | |
| iPod_USB | Adv Botto | m le | | | | | | Apply to |
| Denon AVR | ~ | [| Dark Room | 1 | Dim Room | | Bright | Room |
| System Design | | Status LE | Ds Back | light Status L | Ds Bac | klight S | Status LEDs | Backlight |
| Connections | 0 | Dim | Di | m Brigh | t Br | ight | Bright | Off |
| Connections | 0 | Off | 0 | ff Brigh | t Br | ight | Bright | Off |
| y Media | 0 | Dim | Di | m Brigh | Br | ight | Bright | Bright |
| Agents | 0 | Off | 0 | ff Brigh | t Br | ight | Bright | Bright |
| Programming | ۲ | | | Ful | y Customized | d | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

- 2. For each LED light, click the color box to set a different color for the On and Off states. To control the Bottom LED color, use the drop-down menu.
 - **Top Color On**—The LED color for the Top LED when the LED state is On.
 - Top Color Off—The LED color for the Top LED when the LED state is Off.
 - Bottom Color On—The LED color for the Bottom LED when the LED state is On.
 - Bottom Color Off—The LED color for the Bottom LED when the LED state is Off.

Tip: You can change the LED lights based on programming. See the Programming view > Switch or Dimmer objects for the events available. Also, see the actions available for both switch and dimmer.

Outlet Lighting

Outlet lighting lets you add home automation to light fixtures that plug into power outlets.

Configure a Wireless Outlet Switch V2

Use the Composer Pro System Design and Connections views to configure a Wireless Outlet Switch.

Configure and use the Wireless Outlet Switch and its plugged-in device to:

- Control a plugged-in audio/video component (such as a DVD player or VCR) or other electrical equipment controlled by IR.
- Control power to a plugged-in relay device (such as a pump) or other household appliances.
- Switch a plugged-in lamp to On or Off.

Each Wireless Outlet Switch has two outlets: Outlet 1 and Outlet 2. When the Wireless Outlet Switch is plugged into an outlet oriented as shown below, Outlet 1 is on the left and Outlet 2 is on the right.



Prerequisites

- Ensure that the Wireless Outlet Switch is installed as directed in the Control4 Wireless Outlet Switch Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.
- Ensure that your project has a controller added and identified in the Control4 system.

To add and configure a Wireless Outlet Switch:

IMPORTANT TIP: When configuring the Wireless Outlet Switch, add two drivers: one for the Wireless Outlet Switch and one for the plugged-in device. In addition, define the connection between these two devices In the Connections view > Control/AV tab.

1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **Wireless Outlet Switch V2** driver is added to the project tree.

Composer Pro User Guide



2. Select the Wireless Outlet Switch that has been added to your project, then configure these settings in the Properties tab:

| Properties | | Properties | List View Info |
|-----------------------|------------|------------|----------------|
| roperties | | | |
| LEDs | | | |
| Enabled | Disabled | | |
| Settling Time | | | |
| Settling Time Speed 1 | Fast - Set | | |
| Settling Time Speed 2 | Fast • Set | | |
| Network | | | |
| MAC | Version: | | |
| | | | |

LEDs-Allows you to enable/disable the outlet indicators on top of the Wireless Outlet Switch.

Settling Time–Sets the interval following on and off commands before the system performs a status check on the device.

Network–These are read-only fields for the switch's network settings.

 Add a driver for the device you want to plug into the Wireless Outlet Switch as appropriate for your use (power sensing, power controlling, or switching lamps on and off).

Power Sensing (Contact)–Using the Wireless Outlet Switch, the system can sense the power state of the plugged-in device, and the controller can send the appropriate control commands based on the power state.

For a plugged-in device:

- 1. Add the appropriate driver.
- (For an AV device only, such as a DVD Player) Edit the driver to change the power management option in the driver for the correct connection to appear in the Connections view. To do this, see the "Change Power Management Options." For other devices, it is not necessary to edit the driver.
- 3. Before you can use power sensing for the plugged-in device, perform Power Learning on the Wireless Outlet Switch for the plugged-in device on the appropriate outlet. For information about Power Learning when using the Wireless Outlet Switch power sensing, see "Perform Power Learning" later in this section.

Power Control (Relay)-For a plugged-in device, add the appropriate driver.

Example: Add a relay device by selecting a **Pump** to the project. Go to the **System Design** view in the Items pane, select the **My Drivers** tab > **Motorization**, and double-click the **Pump** object.

Lighting–For a lamp, add a Non-Dimmable Light (Outlet) to the project. Go to the System Design view in the Items pane. Select the My Drivers tab > Lighting > Outlet Lighting, and double-click the Non-Dimmable Light (Outlet) object.

Composer Pro User Guide



Note: This is the Non-Dimmable Light (Outlet) object, and not the regular Wireless Outlet Switch V2 object.

Configure the following fields:

| Toperaes | | | | | | Properties | List View | Info |
|---|----|---------------|----------------------|------------|---------------------|------------|-----------|---------|
| Properties | | | | | | | | oply to |
| LED Information | | | | | | | | |
| | Or | Color Off Col | or | | | | | |
| Top | - | | | | | | | |
| | _ | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| dvanced Propersies | | | | | | | | |
| dvanced Properties | | | | | | | | |
| dvanced Properties Energy Information Minutes Off: | 0 | Curren | t Power: | N/A | watts | | | |
| dvanced Properties Energy Information Minutes Off: History On: | 0 | Curren | t Power: | N/A N/A | watts watthours | | | |
| dvanced Propersies Energy Information Minutes Off: Ninutes Or: | 0 | Curren | t Power: ay Used: | N/A N/A | watts watt hours | | | |

LED Information—Sets the colors of the keypad buttons that are bound to the light. Select **Top**, **Bottom**, or **Toggle** LED colors, based on the type of keypad button binding used.

Energy Information

- Minutes Off—Minutes light has been off since going online.
- Minutes On—Minutes light has been on since going online.
- Minutes On Today—Minutes light has been on since midnight.
- Current Power—N/A.
- Energy Used—N/A.
- Energy Used Today—N/A.
- 4. Define the connection between the Wireless Outlet Switch and the plugged-in device.
- 1. Click the Control/AV tab.
- 2. Make a connection between the Wireless Outlet Switch V2 and the device that is plugged into the Wireless Outlet Switch. Make this connection for any of these three possible uses: power sensing (contact), power control (relay), and switching a lamp On or Off.
- 3. In the Connections view, select the device that is plugged into the Wireless Outlet Switch.
- 4. From the top screen, drag the appropriate connection to the Wireless Outlet Switch connection on the bottom screen.

Example: Connection between the Wireless Outlet Switch and the light outlet.

| Release Driver Brieflie AG | | | | |
|----------------------------|---------------|--------------------|-------------------|--|
| Varme | Tom | Carrowalters | Ingui Output | Commuted To |
| Central Datparts | | | | |
| Qr Light 2 | Central | OUTLET, NONDINUU. | . 6494 | |
| Paley 2 | Central | RD,AV | Gugai | |
| III Instant (asses) | Cantol | CONTROL OF ADAMA | A.m. | |
| 🖉 Light 1 | Castol | OUTLET, NONEIN, U. | . Ougu | Non-Demable Date: Light 1-rOutlet Nobule |
| PT Tables 1 | Lator | 10.47 | 0080 | |
| Carrier Service 1 | Cartos | CONTACT_SERIOR | 0080 | |
| | | | | |
| NUMBER NONCOLUMN | heut Denkette | | | |
| Desire | Name | landar 0 | and and | |
| И мериканские сънкци | O.M. Ride | S(2H4) 74 | MARKA SHEEK SHEEK | 112:4001 |

Perform power learning

To enable use of the power-sensing features, configure your Wireless Outlet Switch to read the power state of the devices that you plug into it.

To perform power learning:

- 1. Follow the steps in the previous section.
- 2. Turn Off the device plugged into the Wireless Outlet Switch.
- 3. Push and hold the button on the Top panel of the Wireless Outlet Switch until the two LEDs toggle orange On/Off, alternating back and forth.
- 4. Select an outlet to configure (Outlet 1 or 2) by releasing the button when the LED that corresponds to that outlet number lights up.

Example: If a device is plugged into Outlet 1, release the button when LED 1 lights up. Upon doing so, the LED you chose flashes orange, indicating that the Wireless Outlet Switch is learning a steady state of the device (such as On or Off). When the LED turns solid orange, the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the steady state, but has not yet determined whether the state is On or Off.

- 5. With the LED now solid orange, turn the device plugged into the Wireless Outlet Switch to an **On** state. The LED again flashes orange while the Wireless Outlet Switch is learning the On state of the device. When learning completes, the LED glows solid orange again to indicate the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the steady state.
- 6. With the LED now solid orange again, turn the device **Off**. The LED flashes orange to indicate the Wireless Outlet Switch is waiting for a steady state. When the device reaches a steady state, the LED glows red to indicate the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the Off state.
- 7. With the LED now solid red, turn the device **On** again. The LED flashes orange to indicate it is waiting for a steady state. When the device reaches a steady state, the LED glows green to indicate the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the On state.
- 8. With the LED now solid green, press the **button** on the Wireless Outlet Switch one time to save and exit the Power Learning mode.

IMPORTANT TIP: You can use a quick button press during any step of this process prior to the LEDs turning solid red or green to exit the Learning mode without saving.

9. Repeat the steps to configure the other outlet (Outlet 1or 2) as needed for any additional plugged-in device.

Note: To unlearn a device, press the button nine times, but use with care; this will reset both outlets.

Configure a Wireless Outlet Switch for power-sensing AV devices

Use the Wireless Outlet switch and its plugged-in device to:

- **Control** a plugged-in audio/video component (such as a DVD player or VCR) or other electrical equipment controlled by IR.
- **Control** power to a plugged-in relay device (such as a pump) or other household appliances.
- Switch a plugged-in lamp On or Off.

The instructions below describe how to configure an Outlet Switch in Composer Pro for a Samsung television. For instructions about how to configure the other actions, see "Configure a Wireless Outlet Switch V2."

Each Wireless Outlet Switch has two outlets: Outlet 1 and Outlet 2. When the Wireless Outlet Switch is plugged in to the wall, Outlet 1 is on the left and Outlet 2 is on the right.



IMPORTANT! When configuring the Wireless Outlet Switch, you need to add two drivers:

- One for the Wireless Outlet Switch
- One for the plugged-in device

In addition, define the connection between these two devices in the **Connections** view > **Control**/AV tab.

Prerequisites

- 1. Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added and identified on the Control4 system.
- 2. Ensure that the Wireless Outlet Switch object is added to the project tree, and is identified on the Control4 system.
- 3. Ensure that the AV device, for example, the Samsung Television object, is added and configured for the device.

To configure a Wireless Outlet Switch to use an AV device:

Select the Power Codes

- 1. In the project tree, right-click, for example, **Samsung Television** and select **Edit Driver**. The Driver Wizard opens.
- 2. In the Driver Wizard, check Has power feedback.
- 3. Change the Power Management option to Contact **sensor**; ensure that the **Send toggle code** is selected.
- 4. Click Codes.
- 1. In Codes under Default Commands, make sure **Power On** and **Power Off**, or **Power Toggle** items are *not* checked. If they are, any programming you do in conjunction with power using the Wireless Outlet Switch and the television is invalid.
- 2. Click Finish.
- 3. Click **next** to close the window.

IMPORTANT! Don't click back to check if the selection was saved because it refreshes the screen; in that case, you will need to redefine what you just defined.

| Control | Driver Wizard |
|----------------------|---|
| Device Info 👔 | How is power management handled for this device? |
| Codes 🥔 | O Assume device is always on Send toggle code |
| Input/Output 🚳 | O Use discrete on/off codes O Use on/off macros |
| Macros 📦 Finish 🔯 | Has power feedback Video sense loop Contact sensor Control power directly. Send a power on command after a delay of |
| | How long after the power on command is issued, should subsequent control commands be delayed? 12 $\frac{1}{20}$ seconds |

Define the connection

- 5. Define the connection between the Wireless Outlet Switch and the plugged-in device (Samsung Television).
- 6. To do this, in the **Connection > Control & Audio Video Connections** pane select the Samsung Television that is plugged into the Wireless Outlet Switch.
- 7. From the top screen drag the **Contact Sensor** connection to the correct sensor on the Wireless Outlet Switch in the bottom screen.
- 8. Before you can use power sensing for the plugged-in device, perform **Power Learning** on the Wireless Outlet Switch for that plugged-in device on the appropriate outlet.
- 1. Turn off the device plugged into the Wireless Outlet Switch.
- 2. Push and hold the **button** on the top panel of the Wireless Outlet Switch until the two LEDs toggle orange On/Off, alternating back and forth.

3. Select an outlet to configure (Outlet 1 or 2) by releasing the **button** when the LED that corresponds to that outlet number lights up.

Example: If a device is plugged into Outlet 1, release the button when LED 1 lights up. The LED you chose flashes orange, indicating that the Wireless Outlet Switch is learning a steady state of the device (such as On or Off). When the LED turns solid orange, the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the steady state, but has not yet determined whether the state is On or Off.

- 4. With the LED now solid orange, turn the device plugged into the Wireless Outlet Switch **On**. The LED again flashes orange while the Wireless Outlet Switch is learning the On state. When the learning completes, the LED glows solid orange again to indicate the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the steady state.
- 5. With the LED now solid orange again, turn the device **Off**. The LED flashes orange to indicate the Wireless Outlet Switch is waiting for a steady state. When the device reaches a steady state, the LED glows red to indicate that the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the Off state.
- 6. With the LED now solid red, turn the device **On** again. The LED flashes orange to indicate it is waiting for a steady state. When the device reaches a steady state, the LED glows green to indicate the Wireless Outlet Switch has learned the On state.
- 7. With the LED now solid green, **press** the button on the Wireless Outlet Switch **one time** to save and exit the Power Learning mode.

Tip: Use a quick-button press during any step prior to the LEDs turning solid red or green to exit the Power Learning mode without saving.

- 9. Repeat the steps to configure the other outlet (Outlet 1or 2) as needed for any additional plugged-in device.
- 10. To unlearn a device, press the **button** nine times, but use with care; as this will reset both outlets.

Configure a Wireless Outlet Dimmer V2

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure a Wireless Outlet Dimmer V2. Configure the Wireless Outlet Dimmer to control and dim lamps.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the Wireless Outlet Dimmer is installed and set up as directed in the Control4 Wireless Outlet Dimmer Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.
- Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added and identified on the Control4 system.

To add and configure a Wireless Outlet Dimmer:

Note: Each Wireless Outlet Dimmer has two outlets: Outlet 1 and Outlet 2. When the Wireless Outlet Dimmer is plugged into an outlet and oriented as shown below, Outlet 1 is on the left and Outlet 2 is on the right.



- 1. In the Items pane > My Drivers tab > Lighting > Outlet Lighting double-click the **Wireless Outlet Dimmer V2** object driver to add it to the project.
- 2. Double-click the **Dimmable Light (Outlet)** object to add a light to the outlet. Repeat if you want to add another.
- 3. Ensure that at least two objects are added to the project tree:
 - One for the Wireless Outlet Dimmer
 - One other object representing Outlet 1 (plus another, if you want to use Outlet 2).
- 4. To configure the properties, click **System Design**. In the project tree, select the **Wireless Outlet Dimmer V2** object to view the device properties.

| Oisabled | | | |
|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| | | | |
| Version: | | | |
| | Version: | Version: | Version: |

- **LEDs**—Allows you to enable/disable the outlet indicators on top of the Wireless Outlet Dimmer.
- **Network**—These are read-only fields for the switch's network settings.
- 5. Add a driver for the device you want to plug into the Wireless Outlet Dimmer as appropriate for your use.

To add a lamp, add a **Dimmable Light (Outlet)** to the project. Go to the **System Design** view in the Items pane. Select the **My Drivers** tab > **Lighting** > **Outlet Lighting**, and double-click the **Dimmable Light (Outlet)** object.

Composer Pro User Guide



Note: This is the Dimmable Light (Outlet) object, and not the regular Wireless Outlet Dimmer V2 object.

Configure the following fields:

| reperues | | | | Properties | List View Int |
|---|---------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------|---------------|
| roperties | | | | | Apply to |
| Dimmer Informat Click Rates | ion | | | | |
| PresetLevel | 100 🔤 | 0-100% Set |] | | |
| Ramp Up | 750 🔅 | Milliseconds |] | | |
| Ramp Down | 2 0 | Seconds • Set |] | | |
| Hold Ramp Rat | | | | | |
| Up | 5 🔄 | Seconda Set |] | | |
| Down | 5 0 | Seconds Set | 0 | | |
| LED Information | | On Color Off Color | | | |
| Тор | | | | | |
| Top dvanced Propertie | • | | | | |
| Top dvanced Propertie Energy Informati | s ion | | | | |
| Top dvanced Propertie Energy Informati Minute: | s ion i Oft 0 | Current Power | r. N/A watts | | |
| Top dvanced Propertie Energy Informati Minute: Minute | s ion s Off: 0 s Onc 0 | Current Power Energy Used | r. N/A watts t. N/A watt ho | n | |

Dimmer Information

- Click Rates
- **Preset Level**—The percentage of the load to which the dimmer ramps when turned on.
- Ramp Up—The rate the light ramps from off to on when the button is clicked.
- Ramp Down—The rate the light ramps from on to off when the button is clicked.
- Hold Ramp Rates
- Up—The time, in seconds, it takes the light to ramp to 100% when a button controlling the light is pressed and held.
- **Down**—The time, in seconds, it takes the light to fade to 0% when a button controlling the light is pressed and held.

LED Information—Sets the colors of the keypad buttons that are bound to the light. Select **Top**, **Bottom**, or **Toggle** LED colors, based on the type of keypad button binding used.
Energy Information

- Minutes Off—Minutes light has been off since going online.
- Minutes On—Minutes light has been on since going online.
- Minutes On Today—Minutes light has been on since midnight.
- Current Power—N/A.
- Energy Used—N/A.
- Energy Used Today—N/A.
- 6. Define the connection between the Wireless Outlet Dimmer and the plugged-in device.
- 1. Click the Control/AV tab.
- 2. Make a connection between the **Wireless Outlet Dimmer V2** and the device that is plugged into the Wireless Outlet Dimmer.
- 3. In the Connections view, select the device that is plugged into the Wireless Outlet Dimmer.
- 4. From the top screen, drag the appropriate connection to the Wireless Outlet Dimmer connection on the bottom screen.

Example: Connection between the Wireless Outlet Dimmer and the light outlet.

| indian Chillet Dromar VS | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------------------|-----------------|-------------------|--|
| Name | Tipe | correction | FIRE/CURNE | convected To |
| Control Dutputs | | | | |
| Dinnalife Light 2 | Centrol | OUTLET ON LONE | Polest. | |
| Colden Clementics Lots 7 | Cashed | OLD ST MONTH IN | Didn's | |
| 🗩 Drivialie Light 1 | CHEOK | OUTLET_DIR_LOHT | 2404C | DVINIBLECURE LIJE 1-KOURE NORME |
| | | | | |
| OUTLET_DM_UX141 House | Ovráces | | | |
| Factor | Manu | Lundar C | | |
| Man | Christ Martin | Ninten V | Industrial Direct | er (Californation Letter 1 |
| Crynatte Outlet Light 1 | COMPANY PROPAGATE | | | a renormality and a second |

Centralized Lighting

Centralized Lighting lets you install a lighting control central panel in a mechanical room for new construction. Along with terminal blocks, the 8-Channel Dimmers, 8-Port Ethernet switches, 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmers, and 8-Channel Relay modules can be installed in these panels and connected to dimmers and switches in all rooms of the house. With any Navigator, you can control lights in any room or in the entire house, while eliminating wall clutter.

The products in the Centralized Lighting family include:

- 5-Slot Panel (C4-DIN-5PAN)
- 2-Slot Panel (C4-DIN-2PAN)
- 8-Channel Dimmer (C4-DIN-8DIM-E)
- 8-Port Ethernet Switch (C4-DIN-8ESW-E)

- 8-Channel Relay (C4-DIN-8REL-E)
- 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer (C4-DIN-8TV-E)
- Bus Power Supply (C4-DIN-BPS)
- Bus Ethernet Gateway, DIN Rail (C4-DIN-BEG)
- 4-Channel Bus Dry Contact Input (C4-BDCI4)

Each device you install needs to be:

- 1. Added to the project.
- 2. Identified (except for the panels and 8-Port Ethernet Switch).
- 3. Configured.

See the following sections for details. Configure the light properties first (next section), and then configure each of the modules after that.

To learn how to design, plan, set up, and install the Centralized Lighting products, see the Centralized Lighting information under Lighting on the Dealer Portal.

Tip: Use the Advanced Lighting Scenes and Light Properties agents with Centralized Lighting.

Tip: Also refer to "Configuring user interfaces" for Centralized Lighting keypad configurations.

Adding Centralized Lighting to your project

Use the System Design view to add dimmable, non-dimmable, and 0-10V lights.

- **Dimmable light**—Use for any line-voltage dimmable light. Connect only to an 8-Channel Dimmer.
- **Non-dimmable light**—Use for non-dimmable lights including non-dimmable CFLs and fluorescents. Connect to an 8-Channel Relay or 8-Channel Dimmer if the wattage is low enough.
- **0-10V light**—Use for 0-10V lights (fluorescent lights and LEDs). Connect to an 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer and an 8-Channel Relay at the same time).

Ensure that a project has been created using Virtual Director and rooms have been added. Refer to the Control4 training or the Centralized Lighting Quick Start Guide on the dealer portal for details.

To add a Centralized Lighting device:

- 1. To add the drivers, see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>". Ensure that the **Light** drivers are added to the project tree (see the next step).
- 2. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 3. Click System Design.

- 4. In the Items pane, click the MyDrivers tab > Light V2 > Dimmable Light (Panelized), Non-Dimmable Light (Panelized), or 0-10V Light (Panelized) to add the lights to the project tree.
- 5. (Optional) Rename the lights to something meaningful in the room, for example, "Overhead Lights."

Next, you need to configure the light's properties.

Configure light properties for Centralized Lighting

Use the System Design view to configure dimmable, non-dimmable, and 0-10V lights.

To add and configure a CentralizedLighting device:

1. In the project tree, select the light, then make changes to the device in the Properties pane.

Tip: Before you do anything else, set the values for the Load # and Watts. For your convenience, we recommend that you add all of the lights to the project first, and then go to Agents and add the Light Properties agent. This will bring up a table with all of your lights. You can then add all of the Load #s and Watts to that page, eliminating the need to go into the properties for each light and configure these two values individually.

2. To save your changes, click Set.

Set Dimmable Light properties

| Properties | | | | | Properties | List View | Info |
|--------------------|----------|------------|----------------|-----------------|------------|------------|---------|
| Properties | | | | | | A | oply to |
| Dimmer Inform | ation | | | | | | |
| Preset Level | 100 | - | 0-100% | Set | | | |
| Ramp Up | 750 | - | Milliseconds 🔻 | Set | | | |
| Ramp Down | 2 | - | Seconds • | Set | | | |
| -Hold Ramp Ra | ates | | | | | | |
| Up | 5 | * * | Seconds | Set | | | |
| Down | 5 | - | Seconds | Set | | | |
| Range Levels | | | | | | | |
| Min On | 1 | - | 1-100% | Set | | | |
| Max On | 100 | * | 1-100% | Set | | | |
| Cold Start Val | ues | | | | | | |
| Time | 0 | * | Milliseconds | Set | | | |
| Level | 0 | * | 0-100% | Set | | | |
| LED Informatio | n | | | | | | |
| | | Or | Color (| Off Color | | | |
| Тор | | - | | | | | |
| Advanced Propert | ties | | | | | A | oply to |
| Options | | | | | | | |
| Load #: | | | Set Over | ride Level (%): | 100 | 🗧 Set | |
| Watts: 0 | | × | Set | Dimming Mode: | Auto-Dete | ct ▼ Set | |
| 📃 🕅 U | lse Powe | er Booster | | Detected: | Unknown | | |
| Energy Information | ation | | | | | | |
| Minut | es Off: | 0 | C | Current Power: | 0 | watts | |
| Minut | tes On: | 0 | | Energy Used: | 0 | watt hours | |
| Minutes On | Foday: | 0 | Energy | y Used Today: | 0 | watt hours | |

Properties: Dimmer Information

- Click Rates
- **Preset Level**—The percentage of the load to which the dimmer module ramps when turned on.
- **Ramp Up**—The rate the light ramps from off to on when the button is clicked.
- **Ramp Down**—The rate the light ramps from on to off when the button is clicked.
- Hold Ramp Rates
- **Up**—The time, in seconds, it takes the load to ramp to 100% when a button controlling the load is pressed and held.

- **Down**—The time, in seconds, it takes the load to fade to 0% when a button controlling the load is pressed and held.
- **Range Levels**. Setting the Range Levels smooths out the dimming curve between the minimum and maximum values. This provides a much better dimming experience, particularly with LED lights.
- Min On—The minimum dimmed level, for example, 10%.
- Max On—The maximum dimmed level where the light will not get any brighter, for example, at 80%, the light will never get brighter than that.
- **Cold Start Values**. Many dimmable fluorescents and some LEDs require an initial burst of energy to get them to turn on. In this case, you could set the Time to 500 milliseconds and the Level to 50%.
- **Time**—Use the arrows selection box to select the time in milliseconds. The default is 0. This is the length of time a light takes to warm up before it dims down to the Cold Start Level setting.
- Level—Use the arrows selection box to select the minimum cold start % light level in 1% increments.
- **LED Information**—The virtual LED colors used when a keypad button is bound to the load. Select Top, Bottom, or Toggle LED Colors.

Advanced Properties

- Options
- Load #—The Load number or circuit number may be specified in the lighting plan. Adding that information here will provide the link from the lighting plan to the project and then to the reports that must be generated later (see "<u>Reports</u>" in this document for details). If the lighting plan doesn't include load numbers it's a good idea to create a unique load number for each load leg. To do this, assign a number for each floor (e.g., Basement = 1, Main = 2). Assign a number for each room on the floor (e.g., Kitchen=01, Master Bedroom = 02), and add a number for each light in the room (e.g., 01, 02, 03, etc.), so the load number would look something like this: '02-01-03.' The load number must be unique for each Panelized Lighting light.
- Watts—The wattage value of the light (or collection of lights in the load leg). You must enter this value prior to connecting the light to a module to ensure that the wattage calculations are correct and that the module does not overload. Example: the light leg controls six can lights in the Kitchen; each can is 100 watts. In this case, enter 600 watts (6 x 100).
- **Override Level (%)**—Defines the level or on/off state that the dimmer load will be set to when the module override button is pressed or when the auxiliary override is engaged.

- **Dimming Mode** (8-Channel Dimmer only)—Defaults to Autodetect until the dimmer detects the load type and sets the forward or reverse-phase dimming mode appropriately. LEDs usually auto detect as reverse-phase. Some LEDs work better in forward-phase. Experiment with forward and reverse phase after installation to see which option works the best.
- **Detected**—(8-Channel Dimmer only). Indicates whether forward-phase or reverse-phasedimming is detected when the dimming mode is set to **Autodetect**.
- Use Power Booster—(8-Channel Dimmer only). Select this option as a power booster that will be used to control the light. Power boosters allow loads greater than the maximum wattage for individual channels on the 8-Channel Dimmer to be properly dimmed. Selecting the Power Booster option automatically changes the wattage to 25W for the load calculations, and indicates in the reports that a power booster should be used.
- Energy Information
- **Minutes Off**—The number of minutes that the load has been off since the dimmer module was last reset.
- **Minutes On**—The number of minutes that the load has been on since the dimmer module was last reset.
- Minutes On Today—The number of minutes that the load has been on today.
- **Current Power**—The current power being used by the load (in watts).
- **Energy Used**—The total number of watt hours used by the load since the device was last reset.
- **Energy Used Today**—The total number of watt hours used by the load from 12:00 AM until 11:59 PM today.

Non-Dimmable properties

| Fioperues | | | Properties | List View | Info |
|---|----------|--------------------------------|------------|---------------------|---------|
| Properties | | | | A | oply to |
| LED Information | | | | | |
| | On Color | Off Color | | | |
| Тор | - | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Advanced Properties | | | | A | oply to |
| Options | | | | | |
| Load #: | Set | Override Level (%) | : 100 | 🗧 Set | |
| h | A Set | | | | |
| Watte U | | | | | |
| Watts: P | | | | | |
| Watts: U | | | | | |
| Watts: U Energy Information Minutes Off: | 0 | Current Power: | 0 | watts | |
| Watts: U Energy Information Minutes Off: Minutes On: | 0 | Current Power: Energy Used: | 0 | watts watt hours | |

Properties: LED Information

• The virtual LED colors used when a keypad button is bound to the load. Select Top, Bottom, or Toggle LED Colors.

Advanced Properties

- Options
- Load #—The Load number and circuit number may be specified in the lighting plan. Adding that information here will provide the link from the lighting plan to the project and then to the reports that must be generated later (see "Creating Reports" in this document for details). If the lighting plan doesn't include load numbers, it's a good idea to create a unique load number for each load leg. To do this, assign a number for each floor (e.g., Basement = 1, Main = 2). Assign a number for each room on the floor (e.g., Kitchen=01, Master Bedroom = 02), and add a number for each light in the room (e.g., 01, 02, 03, etc.). So the load number would look something like this: '02-01-03.' The load number must be unique for each Panelized Lighting device.
- Watts—The wattage value of the light (or collection of lights in the load leg). You must enter this value prior to connecting the light to a module to ensure that the wattage calculations are correct and that the module does not overload.

Example: The light leg controls six can lights in the Kitchen; each can is 100 watts. In this case, enter 600 watts (6 x 100).

- **Override Level (%)**—Defines the level or on/off state that the dimmer load will be set to when the module override button is pressed or when the auxiliary override is engaged.
- Energy Information
- **Minutes Off**—The number of minutes that the load has been off since the dimmer module was last reset.
- **Minutes On**—The number of minutes that the load has been on since the dimmer module was last reset.
- Minutes On Today—The number of minutes that the load has been on today.
- **Current Power**—The current power being used by the load (in watts).
- **Energy Used**—The total number of watt hours used by the load since the device was last reset.
- **Energy Used Today**—The total number of watt hours used by the load from 12:00 AM until 11:59 PM today.

0-10V properties

| Properties | | | | | | Properties | List View | Info |
|------------------------------|----------|-----------|------------|-----------|--------------|------------|-------------|----------|
| Properties | | | | | | | | Apply to |
| Dimmer Inform Click Rates | ation | | | | | | | |
| Preset Level | 100 | - | 0-100 | % | Set | | | |
| Ramp Up | 750 | - | Millisecor | nds 🔻 | Set | | | |
| Ramp Down | 2 | × | Seconds | • | Set | | | |
| Hold Ramp R | ates | | | | | | | |
| Up | 5 | * * | Secon | ds | Set | | | |
| Down | 5 | - | Secon | ds | Set | | | |
| Range Levels | , | | | | | | | |
| Min On | 1 | - | 1-100 | % | Set | | | |
| Max On | 100 | - | 1-100 | % | Set | | | |
| Cold Start Va | lues | | | | | | | |
| Time | 0 | * * | Millisec | onds | Set | | | |
| Level | 0 | * | 0-100 | % | Set | | | |
| LED Information | on | | | | | | | |
| | | (| On Color | Off | Color | | | |
| Тор | | • | | | | | | |
| Advanced Proper | ties | | | | | | | Apply to |
| Options | | | | | | | | |
| Load #: | | | Set | Override | e Level (%): | 100 | Set | t |
| Watts: 0 | | * * | Set | I | Load Type: | 1-10V Reg | gular 🔻 Set | t |
| - L | lse Exte | rmal Rela | ay | | | | | |
| - Energy Inform | ation | | | | | | | |
| Minut | es Off. | 0 | | Curr | ent Power: | 0 | watts | |
| Minut | tes On: | 0 | | Ene | ergy Used: | 0 | watt hours | |
| Minutes On | Today: | 0 | E | Energy Us | ed Today: | 0 | watt hours | |

Properties

- Dimmer Information
- Click Rates
- **Preset Level**—The percentage of the load to which the dimmer module ramps when turned on.
- **Ramp Up**—The rate the light ramps from off to on when the button is clicked.
- **Ramp Down**—The rate the light ramps from on to off when the button is clicked.
- Hold Ramp Rates
- **Up**—The time, in seconds, it takes the load to ramp to 100% when a button controlling the load is pressed and held.

- **Down**—The time, in seconds, it takes the load to fade to 0% when a button controlling the load is pressed and held.
- Range Levels
- Min On—The minimum dimmed level, for example, 10%.
- Max On—The maximum dimmed level where the light will not get any brighter, for example, at 80%, the light will never get brighter than that.
- Cold Start Values
- **Time**—Use the arrows selection box to select the time in milliseconds. The default is 0. This is the length of time a light takes to warm up before it dims down to the Cold Start Level setting.
- Level—Use the arrows selection box to select the minimum cold start % light level in 1% increments.
- **LED Information**—The virtual LED colors used when a keypad button is bound to the load. Select Top, Bottom, or Toggle LED Colors.

Advanced Properties

- Options
- Load #—The load number and circuit number may be specified in the lighting plan. Adding that information here will provide the link from the lighting plan to the project and then to the reports that must be generated later (see "<u>Reports</u>" in this document for details). If the lighting plan doesn't include load numbers, it's a good idea to create a unique load number for each load leg. To do this, assign a number for each floor (e.g., Basement = 1, Main = 2). Assign a number for each room on the floor (e.g., Kitchen=01, Master Bedroom = 02), and add a number for each light in the room (e.g., 01, 02, 03, etc.). So the load number would look something like this: '02-01-03.' The load number must be unique for each Panelized Lighting device.
- Watts—The wattage value of the light (or collection of lights in the load leg). You must enter this value prior to connecting the light to a module to ensure that the wattage calculations are correct and that the module does not overload. Example: The light leg controls six can lights in the Kitchen; each can is 100 watts. In this case, enter 600 watts (6 x 100).
- **Override Level(%)**—Defines the level or on/off state that the dimmer load will be set to when the module override button is pressed or when the auxiliary override is engaged.
- Load Type—Select an option based on the specific type of 0-10V light being used:
- **0-10V Regular**—Used when 0V = minimum dimmed level and 10V = maximum level. Note that most "0-10V" lights do not actually use 0-10V, they

use 1-10V. Only select this option if you know that the light actually requires true 0-10V control.

- **1-10V Regular**—Used when 1V = minimum dimmed level and 10V = maximum level. This is the default selection as it is the actual standard for 0-10V lights.
- **0-10V Inverted**—Used when 10V = minimum dimmed level and 0V = maximum level. (Rarely used.)
- **1-10V Inverted**—Used when 10V = minimum dimmed level and 1V = maximumlevel. (Rarely used.)
- Use External Relay—Check the box if an external relay such as a Leviton Power Pack Relay will be used for on/off control of the 0-10V light. Uncheck if on/off control will be provided by a Control4 Relay Module or if the 0-10V light does not require separate on/off control. If the Use External Relay box is checked, the 0-10V light will not be able to be connected to a Control4 Relay Module and the reports will indicate that an external relay should be used.

Energy Information

- **Note**—Energy information is only provided when the 0-10V light is connected to a Control4 Relay Module.
- **Minutes Off**—The number of minutes that the load has been off since the relay module was last reset.
- **Minutes On**—The number of minutes that the load has been on since the relay module was last reset.
- Minutes On Today—The number of minutes that the load has been on today.
- Current Power—The current power being used by the load (in watts).
- **Energy Used**—The total number of watt hours used by the load since the device was last reset.
- **Energy Used Today**—The total number of watt hours used by the load from 12:00 AM until 11:59 PM today.

Configure an 8-Channel Dimmer

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure an 8-Channel Dimmer module for Centralized Lighting.

Ensure that the 8-Channel Dimmer module (C4-DIN-8-DIM-E) is installed as directed in the Control4 8-Channel Dimmer Installation Guide, 8-Channel Dimmer Operation and Configuration Guide, and the 8-Channel Dimmer Wiring Guide on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure an 8-Channel Dimmer module:

 To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the 8-Channel Dimmer driver is added to the project tree (see the next step). Add as many 8-Channel Dimmer drivers as needed (eight loads per module). 2. In the Items pane > My Drivers tab > Lighting > Panelized Lighting select the **8-Channel Dimmer** to add the driver to the project tree.

Notes: (1) Auto Discovery is available, but we recommend that you add the drivers manually for best results. (2) It's best to add all of the modules at the same time before making all of the connections.

- 3. (Optional) Rename the module drivers to something meaningful in the room, for example, 8-Channel Dimmer 1 in the Mechanical Room.
- 4. (Optional) To configure the dimmer's properties, in the project tree select the **8-Channel Dimmer** object and view the items in the Properties pane.

Dimmer Properties:

| System Properties Properties System Properties Summary Last System Concel for the system Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Socrea Socrea NA Frequency: N/A Socrea Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Socrea Socrea NA Frequency: N/A Socrea Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Socrea Socrea Notal Lysts Notal Lysts Socrea Notal Lysts Nota | File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | | |
|---|-------------------------------|---|------------------|--------------------------------|--------------|-----------|-------------|-----------------|-----------|
| System Properties Image: System Display: Source: S | System Design | Properties | | | | | Properties | Summary | List View |
| Control Union Model Measured Voltage: MA Image: Source in a logit of a logit | System | Properties | | | | | | | |
| Converting Converting Converting C | × A ¥ 0 9 | Module Infor | mation | | | | | | ^ |
| Image: Section Source Internation I | 8-Channel Dimmer | Nominal Vo | ltage: 120 v | Measured Voltage: N/A | Frequen | cy: N/A | | | |
| Wall upts Auxiliary Overside Saich Lozador: Create Light Seem Bockdigt Create Light Create Light | - Vi Overhead - Vi Sconces | Temperature (°C): N/A Overtemp Fault: N/A | | 🗸 In Co | ntrol4 Panel | | | | |
| • Some Skyligt • Some for • Conside 2 gales Extender 3 • Conside 2 gales • Consonel 8 • Conside 2 gales • C | | Auxiliary Override Switch Location: | | | | | | | |
| Coreal 1 Coreal 2 20 Breaker Size (Amps) Arc Fuelt Sold Tod Sold Tod Sold Tod Sold Tod Sold Tod Sold Tod | | Circuits: 1 | ~ | | | | | | |
| | | Circuit 1 | | Circuit 2 | | | | | |
| Constal Spee Stander 3 Resk Yard See Speed | G Liin NVR (IP) | 20 💠 B | reaker Size (Amo |) 20 🗘 Breaker Size (Amp | (2 | | | | |
| • Kirot Door Set • Set Set • Grade Valage • Grade Valage • Derred 10 • Derred 121 • Derred 122 • Derred 123 • Derred 121 | Control4 ZigBee Extender 3 | | rc Fault | Arc Fault | | | | | |
| Concernit Concent Monage Partician Concent Monage | Front Door | | Sat | Sat | | | | | |
| Outman Monadian Control II Load Name Veltage Frequency Temperature Fault F | - Garage | | 564 | 004 | | | | | |
| Padros Value Values Values Values Values Values 10 Opender M 121 60 36 106K9 2 Sonces 120 60 37 06K9 2 Sonces 120 60 37 06K9 3 Wall Lights 120 60 37 06K9 4 Scene Backlight 120 60 37 06K9 4 Scene Backlight 120 60 37 06K9 4 Scene Backlight 120 60 37 06K9 5 Accord Lights 120 60 37 06K9 6 Dannel 6 121 60 37 06K9 7 Charnel 8 121 60 37 06K9 8 Charnel 8 121 60 37 06K9 9 Dealback 1107 Module's Config Maters 92 93 06K9 6 Diannel 6 121 60 37 06K9 93 06K9 9 Dealback BDHCP Internet 1107 Module's Config Maters 92 100 104 </td <td></td> <td>Channel Info</td> <td>rmation</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | | Channel Info | rmation | | | | | | |
| 1 Overhead 121 60 36 0K 2 Sonces 120 60 37 0K 3 Wall Lights 120 60 37 0K 3 Wall Lights 120 60 37 0K 4 Screen Backlight 120 60 37 0K 5 Accord Lights 120 60 37 0K 6 Charnel 6 121 60 37 0K 7 Charnel 7 120 60 37 0K 8 Charnel 8 121 60 37 0K 8 Charnel 7 120 60 37 0K 8 Charnel 8 121 60 39 0K 8 Charnel 7 120 60 37 0K 8 Charnel 8 121 60 39 0K 9 Use DHCP Modula's Config Metricese 0K 0K 1 PAdress: | Pandora | Channel # | Load Name | | Voltage | Frequency | Temperature | Fault Detection | _ |
| 2 Sconces 120 60 37 0K 3 Well Lights 120 60 37 0K 4 Score /ng 120 60 37 0K 4 Score /ng 120 60 37 0K 4 Score /ng 120 60 37 0K 5 Accort Lights 120 60 37 0K 6 Darnel 6 121 60 37 0K 7 Charnel 8 121 60 37 0K 8 Charnel 8 121 60 37 0K 6 State 121 60 37 0K 7 Charnel 8 121 60 37 0K 8 Charnel 8 1310 Module's Config Meteose 0K 9 BetHCP IPAdress: 132.168.102.121 0K 9 Use HCP < | - Digital Media | 1 | Overhead | | 121 | 60 | 36 | OK - | |
| 3 Wall Lights 20 60 35 08< | 1HeartRadio | 2 | Sconces | | 120 | 60 | 37 | OK - | |
| A Source Resklight 120 60 37 08 A ford MAS 5 Accord MAS 121 60 37 08 B for Mercine Formation Strange RED 6 Channel 8 121 60 37 08 Connections Formations Formations 121 60 37 08 System Design Formations 121 60 37 08 We desk Formations 121 60 37 08 We desk Formations 121 60 37 08 Media Connections 121 60 37 08 We desk Formations 121 60 37 08 We desk Formations 121 60 39 08 We desk Formations 1107 Module's Config Meteope 08 We desk Formations 121/10 08 08 We desk Formations 121/10 08 08 We desk | - Spotify | 3 | Wall Lights | | 120 | 60 | 36 | OK - | |
| 5 Accorn Lights 120 60 37 0.06 6 Owned 6 121 60 37 0.06 7 Downed 6 121 60 37 0.06 8 Downed 7 120 60 37 0.06 9 Sate box 121 60 37 0.06 8 Owned 8 121 60 38 0.07 8 Owned 8 121 100 10 0.07 8 Owned 8 121 100 10 0.07 9 Use DHCP Immune Versize: 11.107 Models's Config Velscose 0.07 9 Hedia 102 102 102 102 10 102 | Projection Screen | 4 | Screen Backlig | phi i | 120 | 60 | 37 | OK - | |
| 6 Coursed 6 121 60 37 06 06 7 Coursed 7 120 60 37 06 06 7 Coursed 7 120 60 37 06 06 8 Coursed 8 121 60 37 06 06 8 Coursed 8 121 60 39 06(8 Coursed 8 121 60 39 06(8 Coursed 8 121 60 39 06(9 Satile Brows 13.007 Module's Config Velscope 06(9 Use DHCP 9 Use DHCP 9 Vise Static 9 Vise Static | Triad AMS | 5 | Accent Lights | | 120 | 60 | 37 | OK - | |
| 7 Coursed 7 20 60 37 06 0 8 Coursed 7 20 60 37 06 0 8 Coursed 8 121 60 39 06 0 9 Solare 8 121 60 39 06 0 9 Solare 9 Solare 8 121 60 39 06 0 60 Solare 8 121 60 39 06 | - Ish Network | 6 | Channel 6 | | 121 | 60 | 37 | OK - | - |
| 8 Channel 8 121 60 39 06 9 Sadile Sadile Societa Sadile Sadile Sadile Societa 121 60 39 06 | - Roku Media Player | 7 | Channel 7 | | 120 | 60 | 37 | OK - | |
| Image: Statilize Firmware Version: 11.107 Module's Config Videone Image: Statilize Image: Statilize Image: Statilize Image: Statilize Image: | Generic Mass Storage RED | 8 | Channel 8 | | 121 | 60 | 39 | OK - | |
| Connections Programming Programmi | 🕀 📆 Dish Media | Network | | | | | | | |
| Connections Use DHCP Connections IPAddress: 192, 168, 102, 121 Pedia IPAddress: 192, 168, 102, 121 Agents IP2, 168, 102, 121 IPAddress: Programming Poter Address: 192, 168, 102, 121 Agents IP2, 168, 102, 121 IPAddress: Router Address: 192, 168, 102, 121 IPAddress: Router Address: 192, 168, 102, 121 IPAddress: Router Address: 192, 168, 102, 121 IPAddress: | Hopper App Switcher | Firmware | Version: "1.1.10 | 7' Module's Con | iq Webpage | | | | |
| System Design Client IDName: C4-OIN+0DIME-V2:00:0ff:32:a2:41 IP Address: IP 2:168:102:121 IP Address: IP 2:2:168:102:121 IP Address: IP 2:2:168:102:121 IP Address: IP 2:2:168:102:121 IP Address: IP 2:2:168:102:121 IP Address: IP 2:168:102:121 <t< td=""><td><</td><td>Use D</td><td>HCP</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | < | Use D | HCP | | | | | | |
| IP Address: IP 22, 163, 102, 121 O Use Stack P O Image: Agents Image: Pogramming Programming Aperty Science Aperty Science Science Aperty Science Science Aperty Science Science Image: Aperty Science Science Image: Aperty Science Science Image: Aperty Science Science | 🔯 System Design | | Client ID/Name: | C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2:00:0f ff:92:a | 2:41 | | | | |
| O Use State IP IP ddia IP Address: 192 168.102.121 Router Address: 192.168.102.121 We reast IP regramming Agety Setting | Connections | | IP Address: | 192.168.102.121 | | | | | |
| Welds IP Address: 192,168,102.121 Image: Agents Router Address: 192,168,102.121 Programming Netmask 255,255.255.00 Apply Setting Apply Setting Programming | | O Use S | tatic IP | | | | | | |
| Agents Router Address: 192, 108, 102, 1 Yeogramming Netmack 252, 255, 255, 3 Agely Setting Agely Setting | Media | | IP Address: | 192.168.102.121 | | | | | |
| Programming Netmask 255 255 255 0 Apply Setting Image: Control of the set of | Agents | | Router Address: | 192.168.102.1 | | | | | |
| Apply Setting | 3 Programming | | Netmask | 255.255.255.0 | | | | | |
| | | Apply S | etting | | | | | | |

Module Information

- Nominal Voltage—(110V 277V) The voltage of the circuit to which the module will be connected. Measured voltage may differ slightly from nominal voltage depending on the electrical supply. This is used for wattage calculations when connecting loads to the module.
- **Measured Voltage**—Indicates the electrical voltage that the module is measuring. Not editable.
- **Frequency**—Indicates the electrical frequency that the module is measuring. Not editable.
- **Temperature**—View the module's temperature.
- **Overtemp Fault**—View the module's temperature fault, if displayed.
- In Control4 Panel—Check if this module will be installed in a Control4 2-slot or 5-slot panel. Do not check if the module will be installed in a third-party

DIN rail panel. This is used in maximum wattage calculations. Dimmers in third-party panels must be derated with lower wattage limits.

- Auxiliary Override Switch Location—Indicates where the override switch should be installed and wired, e.g., the Master Bedroom Closet. Type the room's name. This information will be included in the Module Report that can be provided to the electrician.
- **Circuits** (2 maximum)—Set to 1 or 2. It's usually best to set this value to 2 and then reduce it to 1 if the connections made later are under the maximum wattage for a single circuit.
- **Circuit 1, 2**—The breaker size for each circuit. This can be set from 10A to 20A. Used for maximum wattage calculations.
- Arc Fault—Check with the local electrician to determine the local requirements for arc-fault breakers. In the U.S., NEC requires arc-fault breakers (AFCIs) for circuits serving most living areas. Some municipalities using an older version of the code may require them only on lights in bedrooms or not require them on lighting circuits. AFCIs are prone to interpret dimming as a fault and nuisance trip. They are limited to only 8.3A of dimming on the circuit. This setting is used for maximum wattage calculations.

Channel Information

- **Channel#**—The channel number indicated on the module's hardware.
- Load Name—The name of the load that is connected to the indicated channel.
- Fault Status—Refer to the 8-Channel Dimmer Installation Guide for fault details.

Network

- Firmware Version—Indicates the firmware driver version for this module.
- **Modules Config Page**—Click to open the network configuration page for the module in your internet browser.

Configure an 8-Channel Relay

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure an 8-Channel Relay module for Centralized Lighting devices.

Ensure that the 8-Channel Relay module (C4-DIN-8REL-E) is installed as directed in the Control4 8-Channel Relay Installation Guide on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure an 8-Channel Relay module:

 To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the 8-Channel Relay driver is added to the project tree (see the next step). Add as many 8-Channel Relay drivers as needed (eight relays per module). 2. In the Items pane > My Drivers tab > Lighting > Panelized Lighting select the **8-Channel Relay** to add the driver to the project tree.

Notes: (1) Auto Discovery is available for this product, but we recommend that you add the drivers manually for best results. (2) It's best to add all of the modules at the same time before making all of the connections.

- 3. (Optional) Rename the module drivers to something meaningful in the room, for example, 8-Channel Relay 1 in the Mechanical Room.
- 4. (Optional) To configure the relay's properties, in the project tree select the **8-Channel Relay** object and view the items in the Properties pane.

Relay Properties:

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | |
|--|--|---|---|--------------------------|--------------------------|-----------|
| System Design | Properties | | | | Properties Summary | List View |
| System | Properties | | | | | |
| × ^ × 0 9 | Module Info | rmation | | | | ^ |
| Chraper System Control4 | Nominal V Temperatur Auxiliary O | oltage: 120 ∨ e (°C): N/A | Measured Voltage: N/A Overtemp Fault: N/A | Frequency: N/A | | |
| E Family Room | | | | | | |
| Eleft Sony BRAVIA | Circuit 1 | | Circuit 2 | Circuit 3 | Circuit 4 | |
| Amazon Instant Video | 20 🜲 | Breaker Size (Amps | 20 💠 Breaker Size (Amps) | 20 💠 Breaker Size (Amps) | 20 💠 Breaker Size (Amps) | |
| Vudu | | Arc Fault | Arc Fault | Arc Fault | Arc Fault | |
| Hulu | | Cat | Set | Sat | Set | |
| Google Play | | 561 | Jet | 561 | 361 | |
| Accent Lights | Channel Infe | ormation | | | | |
| Front Door | Channel # | Load Name | | | Fault Detection | |
| Front Door | 1 | Channel 1 | | | OK | |
| Family Left | 2 | Channel 2 | | | OK | |
| Family Hight | 3 | Channel 3 | | OK | | |
| Las Intercom | 4 | Channel 4 | | | OK | |
| Garage Door | 5 | Channel 5 | | | OK | |
| Right Garage | 6 | Channel 6 | | | OK | |
| E Theater | 7 | Channel 7 | | | OK | |
| EA-5 | 8 | Channel 8 | | | OK | |
| UIDevice | | | | | | |
| → Control 4 Soc H Unit Matrix → AVR-X300W → Tuner → iPed_USB → Denon AVR → | Firmwar | e Version: "1.1.10 DHCP Client ID/Name: | 7' <u>Module's Config W</u> C4-DIN-8REL-E-V2:00:0f ff:92:ba:67 | iebpoqe | | |
| < >> | | ID Address | 102 109 102 110 | | | |
| 🔯 System Design | O Use: | Static IP | 132, 100, 102, 113 | | | |
| Connections | | IP Address: | 192.168.102.119 | | | |
| Media | | Router Address: | 192.168.102.1 | | | |
| Anents | - | Netmask | 255.255.255.0 | | | |
| Strong and a stron | Apply 9 | Setting | | | | |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | - | | | | | |
| | | | | | | ~ |
| | | | | | | |

Module Information

- Nominal Voltage (110V 277V)—The voltage of the circuit to which the module will be connected. Measured voltage may differ slightly from nominal voltage depending on the electrical supply. This is used for maximum wattage calculations.
- Measured Voltage—Not editable.
- Frequency—Not editable.
- **Temperature**—View the module's temperature.
- **Overtemp Fault**—View the module's temperature fault, if displayed.
- In Control4 Panel—Check if this module is installed in a 2-slot or 5-slot panel. Do not check if the module will be installed in a third-party DIN rail panel. This is used in maximum wattage calculations. Relays in third-party panels must be derated with lower wattage limits.

- Auxiliary Override Switch Location—Indicates where the override switch should be installed and wired, e.g., the Master Bedroom Closet. Type the room's name in the box.
- **Circuit 1, 2, 3, 4**—The breaker size for each circuit. This can be set from 10A to 20A. Used for maximum wattage calculations.

Channel Information

- Channel#—The channel number indicated on the module's hardware.
- Load Name— The name of the load that is connected to the indicated channel.

Network

- Firmware Version—Indicates the firmware version for this driver.
- **Modules Config Page**—Click to open the network configuration page for the module in your Internet browser.

Configure an 8-Port Ethernet Switch

There are no properties to define for the 8-Port Ethernet Switch (C4-DIN-8ESW-E) driver in Composer Pro.

Configure an 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure an 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer module.

Ensure that the 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer module (C4-DIN-8TV-E) is installed as directed in the Control4 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer Installation Guide and 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer Wiring Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure an 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer module:

- To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer module driver is added to the project tree (see the next step). Add as many 8-Channel 0-10V Module drivers as needed (eight dimmers per module).
- 2. In the Items pane > My Drivers tab > Lighting select the **8-Channel 0-10V Module** to add the driver to the project tree.

Notes: (1) Auto Discovery is available, but we recommend that you add the drivers manually for best results. (2) It's best to add all of the modules at the same time before making all of the connections.

- 3. (Optional) Rename the module drivers to something meaningful in the room, for example, 8-Channel 0-10V Module 1 in the Mechanical Room.
- 4. (Optional) To configure the dimmer's properties, in the project tree select the **8-Channel 0-10V Module** object and view the items in the Properties pane.

0-10V Dimmer Properties:

Composer Pro User Guide

| le Driver Go Tools Help | Bronortion | | | | 12.137 |
|----------------------------|---|--|---------------------|-----------------------|-----------|
| system Design | Froperties | | Propertie | Summary | List view |
| Stem | Properties Module Inform Temperature Auxiliary Ove | nation (°C): 28.2 erride Switch Locati | Overtemp Fau | it N/A | |
| 8-Channel Dimmer | Channel Infor | mation | | | |
| | Channel # | Load Name | | | |
| - Vall Lights | 2 | | | | |
| - Accent Lights | 2 | Channel 2 | | | |
| - Screen Backlight | 3 | Channel 3 | | | |
| - W Thermostat | 4 | Channel 4 | | | |
| Apple TV | 5 | Channel 5 | | | |
| - O Lilin NVR (IP) | 6 | Channel 6 | | | |
| Control4 ZigBee Extender 3 | / · | Channel 7 | | | |
| | Network Firmware | Version: "03.25. | 76" <u>Mc</u> | dule's Config Webpage | 1 |
| > | 🖲 Use D | НСР | | | |
| System Design | | Client ID/Name: | C4-DIN-8TV-E:00:0f: | f:1b:27:2e | |
| | | IP Address: | 192.168.102.144 | | |
| Connections | O Use St | atic IP | | | |
| 阙 Media | | IP Address: | 192.168.102.144 | | |
| R Agents | | Router Address: | 192.168.102.1 | | |
| Programming | | Netmask | 255.255.255.0 | | |
| | Apply Se | tting | | | |

Module Information

- **Temperature**—View the module's temperature.
- **Overtemp Fault**—View the module's temperature fault, if displayed.
- Auxiliary Override Switch Location—Indicates where the override switch should be installed and wired, e.g., the Master Bedroom Closet. Type the room's name in the box.

Channel Information

- **Channel#**—The channel number indicated on the module's hardware.
- Load Name—The load name used.

Network

- Firmware Version—Indicates the firmware driver version for this module.
- **Modules Config Page**—Click to open the network configuration page for the module in your internet browser.

Configure a Bus Ethernet Gateway

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure a Bus Ethernet Gateway.

To add and configure a Bus Ethernet Gateway:

1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **Bus Ethernet Gateway** driver is added to the project tree (see the next step).

- In the Items pane > My Drivers tab > Lighting select the Bus Ethernet Gateway to add the driver to the project tree.
- 3. Click each button to define its name and behavior.

Bus Ethernet Gateway Properties:

| Unidentified Devices | Identified Devices |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| (C mintbox trunk | K mintbox bunk |
| 🗇 😽 Home | 😑 😽 Home |
| i - 🕎 House | 🚊 🏫 House |
| E-Wain | ⊡-122 Main |
| wired keypads | wired keypada |
| Geo 3 Devices | - E roks |
| - Dimmera | -E rack6 |
| Switches | - 👿 Gen3 Devices |
| | - Cimmers |
| Basement | -Switches |
| | 0-10v |
| | E-Easement |
| | |
| | |
| Add Keypad Identify Keypad | Unidentify Keypad |
| Network Settings | |
| MAC Address: 00.01#16:73:2d | Firmware Version: 03.20.40 |
| @ Use 0400 | |
| C DE DICP | |
| Client D/Name: C4-DIN-BEG-000H167 | 320 |
| O Use Static IP | |
| IP Address: 192.168.1.113 | |
| Router Address: 192.168.1.1 | |
| [Auch Barlins] | |
| Apply Settings | |
| | |
| Volts: 3.151 Upgrading: | |
| Blink Keypada 0 0 sec | |
| Shar Toffa Char Toffa San Toffa | When Soul Online |
| Save france | [K] who-scroll Output |
| Di Source Tasset Orcode | Human Docode Pavload |
| and address reger opcode | in the second |

Unidentified Devices

- Add Keypad—Allows you to indicate which keypads are to be bound to this keypad. This is a convent way of doing mass bindings, instead of having to use the *Connection* page. Only keypads bound to the gateway will appear in the two project trees.
- **Identify Keypad**—Identifies the currently selected keypad. A window will appear with further instructions.

Identified Devices

• **Unidentify Keypad**—Un-identifies the currently selected keypad. Un-identifying resets it to its default state.

Network Settings

• **MAC Address**—Read-only field displaying the network's MAC address of the device.

- Firmware Version—Indicates the firmware version for the device.
- Use DHCP—Select this option to use DHCP, then click **Apply Settings**. The Client ID appears in the read-only field.
- Use Static IP—Select this and enter values for the IP Address and the Router Address to use Static IP, then click **Apply Settings**.
- **Volts**—(read-only) Displays the voltage rating coming from the device. Green background=ok, yellow=caution, red=warning.
- **Upgrading**—(read-only, normally blank) If updating, displays a progress bar and ID of the upgrading device.
- **Blink Keypads**—For debugging. Set the number of seconds you want the keypads to blink, then click **Blink Keypads**.
- Show Traffic—Displays network traffic crossing the gateway. Clear Traffic clears the log, and Save Traffic allows you to save the log.

Configuring user interfaces

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure Navigators for the Control4 system.

These subsections provide information about configuring system remote controls and touch screens:

- "Configure System Remote Control SR-150B"
- "Configure System Remote Control Version 3, SR-250"
- "Configure a 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera"
- "Configure a 7" Portable Touch Screen"
- "Configure a 7" Tabletop or Wall-Mounted Touch Screen"
- "Configure a 7" In-Wall Touch Screen with Camera"
- "Configure a 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen"
- "Configure Mobile Devices or PCs/Tablets as Navigators"
- "Configure a Door Station"

Change the order and visibility of devices

You can modify the order that your customer's devices will show up in Navigators and hide or display devices by sorting the devices in the major Experience Menus: Comfort, Lights, Listen, Security, Shades, and Watch and in the Submenu FIlters: Cameras, Channels, Lighting Scenes, Locks & Sensors, Movies, Music, Pools, and Stations.

| enu Settings Hide Room in Loca | tion Menu 🗌 H | ide Room's Thermostat | | |
|-----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|-------------|--------|
| Experience Menus | Device Visibi | lity and Display Order | | Modify |
| Comfort | Visibility | Device | Location | ^ |
| Listen | Visible | Google Chromecast | Family Room | |
| Security | Visible | xbox one | Family Room | |
| Shades | Visible | Amazon Fire TV | Family Room | |
| Watch | Visible | Denon Receiver | Family Room | |
| Submenu Filters | Visible | Vizio TV | Family Room | |
| Cameras | Visible | Video | Family Room | |
| Channels | Hidden | Amazon Fire App Switcher | Family Room | |
| Lighting Scenes | Hidden | Spotify | Family Room | |
| Movies | Hidden | SiriusXM | Family Room | |
| Music | Hidden | Pandora | Family Room | |
| Pools | Hidden | Media Server | Family Room | |
| JUGUUTIS | Hidden | Flickr | Family Room | ~ |

To change the order or visibility of your customer's devices:

- 1. In the project tree, click the **room** to control.
- 2. Click Apply To....
- 3. From the Menu (left side), select the function to change; for example, Watch or Listen.
- 4. Select the item in Device Visibility and Display Order, and then click Modify.
- 5. Change to the desired order, and then click OK.

You can also apply these settings to all rooms or to chosen rooms in the project.

To change the order or visibility of your customer's devices and apply to multiple rooms:

- 1. Follow the steps above to set the desired order in each menu and submenu.
- 2. Check the box next to each category in the *Categories* list (for example **Watch** and **Listen**) to apply the settings for those categories to multiple rooms.
- 3. Check the box next to each **room**, **floor**, **building**, **location**, or the **project** to apply the settings for the chosen categories to those rooms.
- 4. Click on **Apply these settings** to apply the visibility and display order settings from the chosen categories to the chosen rooms.

| Apply Visibility and Display Order to C | Other Rooms | × |
|---|--------------------------------|---|
| Categories: | Apply settings to these rooms: | |
| Cancel | | Override existing settings: Apply these settings |

Enable Equalizer Settings

You can modify the order that your customer's devices will show up in Navigators and hide or display devices by sorting the devices in the major Experience Menus: Comfort, Lights, Listen, Security, Shades, and Watch and in the Submenu FIlters: Cameras, Channels, Lighting Scenes, Locks & Sensors, Movies, Music, Pools, and Stations.

| Menu Settings | | | | | |
|---|------------|------------------------|----------|--------------------------------------|----------|
| Hide Room in Location | on Menu H | lide Room's Thermostat | | | Modify |
| Confort Lights Lights Securty Shades Watch Submenu Filters Cameras Channels Lighting Scenes Locks & Sensors Movies MultiDisplay Manager Music Pools Stations | Visibility | Device | Location | | |
| | | | | Apply these settings to other rooms: | Apply To |

To show Equalizer Settings in your customer's devices:

- 1. In the project tree, click the **room** you want to show Equalizer settings.
- 2. Click on the Navigator tab.
- 3. Under Equalizer Settings, click the box next to Show EQ in Navigator.
- 4. To enable the Equalizer settings in more than one room, click Apply To..., select the rooms, and click OK.

Important! Equalizer settings require a supported device connected to the audio end-point for the room. Supported devices include analog audio out of an EA controller, Triad One, and Triad audio matrix switches.

Configuring remote controls

Configure System Remote Control SR-150B

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and identify this device.

Ensure that the SR-150B is installed as directed in the Control4 System Remote Control SR-150B Setup Guide.

To add and configure an SR-150B:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **System Remote Control SR-150** driver is added to the project tree.
- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the System Remote Control object.
- 4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane.

Note: Press any button on the system remote control to display the configurable property values in the Properties pane. Because the SR-150B has no window, some of the options below are not supported in the SR-150B.

Modifiable properties include:

- Screen Backlight—Not used.
- **Keypad Backlight**—Lets you set the light level of the backlight. The default is 0%. Click **Set Level**.
- Sleep Mode—Lets you configure sleep mode settings. The default is five seconds, but can be extended to 60 seconds. Select **Wake on Movement** if you want the remote control to wake up when moved.
- **Batteries**—Lets you view the battery level on your remote control.
- Enable Recharge Station—Check this box if you received a Remote Recharging Station *with* a remote. This feature updates your existing remote to recognize the new rechargeable battery.
- **Network**—Lets you view the remote control's Zigbee channel, gateway, MAC address and firmware version.
- MAC—Displays the remote's own MAC address.
- **Firmware Version**—Displays the current firmware version of the remote control.
- Watch/Listen Button Behavior—If you select one of the options below, the following action occurs when you press the Watch button.
- No Action—When you press the Watch button, nothing happens. This option can be tied to programming a button (see the section below).
- Select Most Recently Used Device—Lists the last three devices (for example, DVD player, media player, television).
- 5. Change the system remote control settings as needed at the physical system remote control SR-150B using the applicable button-press sequence:
 - **Check Zigbee Channel**—To determine the current Zigbee channel, press **Room Off, 0, 0, 3** (or **Room Off, 7, 4, 7**) (in that order), and then count the blinks of Room Off. The number of blinks corresponds with the channel number.
 - **Reset to Factory Defaults**—To reset all settings to the factory defaults (including Zigbee channel), press **Room Off, 9, 9, 9**.

Program the System Remote Control SR-150B programmable buttons

On the System Remote Control SR-150, you can program six buttons (red, green, yellow, blue, *, and #) to perform programmed activities. The buttons can be programmed to execute any of the AV device's macros or IR codes or be programmed by room.

To program the buttons:

- 1. Ensure that you have the following devices in your project:
 - Controller
 - System remote control SR-150B

- An AV device to be controlled
- 2. In Composer Pro, click Connections.
- 3. Click the Network tab. Ensure that the controller and the remote are both network identified.
- 4. Program the programmable buttons (Red, Green, Yellow, Blue, *, or #) either based on the selected AV device or the selected room.

Based on AV device:

- 1. Click System Design.
- 2. Select an AV device to display the device's Properties page.

| System Design | Properties Properties Summery List Vew | Items |
|---|---|---|
| System | Protecties | Locations Discovered My Drivers Search |
| C Pod ≥ 25bt Panel ⇒ 55bt Panel → 25bt Panel → 25bt Panel → 25bt Panel | Default Input Nore) V Emailer Demond My Draw Seet | MyHome - Andicid Coor Station Coor Station Coor Audio/Video Coor Station Coor Audio Station Coor Audio Switch Coor Audio Switch Coor Audio Switch |
| Sarage | Advanced Properties | Receiver |
| Theater Theater Theme Controller HC1000 V2/V3 Theater Switch | Swap Up/Down commands with Page Up/Page Down Commands | Media Player Television Playma Television Playma Television Proportion Proportion |
| System Remote Control SR-250 | Programmable Remote Buttons | DVD Disc Changer |
| 6-Button Keypad | Red Button | VCR |
| - 10 Touch Screen - 7" Portable | ⊗ None ○ Code Macro Help Text: | G Satellite |
| Tuner | Green Button | Modulator |
| | None Code Macro Help Text: | G Pod |
| 3-Button Keypad | Yellow Button | Contact/Relay Extender |
| Television Front | None Code Macro Help Text | Blinds Door |
| 2-Button Keypad | Blue Button | Door Lock |
| S Bathroom | None Code Macro Help Text: | Diveway Heater |
| System Design | Button | Electronic date |
| Connections | O None ○ Code ○ Macro | Fountain Garage Door (Sensor) |
| 🕞 Media | # Button | Motorization Motorization Gontact/Relay Extender |
| Agents | Whene Code Macro Help Lest | Blinds Door |
| 2 Programming | Revert | Door Lock Drapes |

- 3. On the device's Properties page, select **Code** or **Macro** for the button you want to program, and then select a code or macro from the drop-down list.
- 4. Edit the Help text as needed, and then select Set.

Note: Help text describes custom programming to users in the House option in any of the Navigators.

Example: (1) In System Design, select **Disc Changer**. (2) In the Red button, select **Code**. (3) From the drop-down list, select **Subtitle**. (4) Select the **Set** button to create a **Subtitle** button.

Based on room:

- 1. Click **Programming**.
- 2. Select a room in the Device Events pane.
- 3. Select the Commands radio button in the <Room> Events pane.
- 4. Use the drop-down menu to select a command or button (example, Blue Button).
- 5. In the Actions pane, build the script using the items to program the actions in the selected room when the selected command or button is used.

Configure System Remote Control SR-250

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and identify this device.

Ensure that the system remote control SR-250 is installed as directed in the Control4 System Remote Control SR-250 Setup Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure an SR-250:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **System Remote Control SR-250** driver is added to the project tree.
- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the System Remote Control object.
- 4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane.

Note: Press any button on the SR-250 to display the configurable property values in the Properties pane.

Tip: You can also change most of these settings on the SR-250 using Info > Config. Modifiable properties include:

- Screen Backlight—Lets you set the light level of the screen's backlight. Select a percentage from 0 (Off) to 100 (full brightness). The default is 100%. Click Set Level.
- Keypad Backlight—Lets you set the light level of the keypad's backlight. Select a percentage from 0 (Off) to 100 (full brightness). The default is 100%. Click Set Level.
- Sleep Mode—Lets you set how long the remote control stays awake after no activity. The default setting is five seconds, but can be extended to 60 seconds. Select Wake on movement to wake the SR-250 up when moved.
- Batteries—Lets you view the battery level (strength in %) of your remote.
- Enable Recharge Station—Check this box if you received a Remote Recharging Station *with* a remote. This feature updates your existing remote to recognize the new rechargeable battery.
- Network—Lets you view the remote's Zigbee channel, gateway, MAC address and firmware version.
- Channel—Displays your Zigbee channel (1-15), which should match the Zigbee channel set for the controller.
- Gateway—Displays the MAC address of the Zigbee server (usually your controller unless you specify otherwise).
- MAC—Displays the remote's own MAC address.
- Firmware Version—Displays the current firmware version of the remote.
- Watch/Listen Button Behavior—If you select one of the options below, the following action occurs when you press the **Watch** button.
- No Action—If you select this option and you press the Watch button, nothing happens. This option can be tied to programming a button (see the section below).

- Select Most Recently Used Device—Lists the last three devices (for example, DVD player, media player, TV).
- Show Device List—Lists the source device of the selection.
- 5. (Conditional) Change Zigbee Channel: If you need to change the Zigbee channel to match the controller's channel or to improve reception, do the following on the system remote control SR-250.

If the system remote control is NOT identified, follow these steps:

- 1. Press buttons 2, 4, 8, 6, #, *, and then press the List button (in that order) to get into Edit mode.
- 2. Use the up or down arrows to pick the Zigbee channel.
- 3. Press Select to change the Zigbee channel.
- 4. Press CNCL to exit Edit mode.

If the system remote control IS identified, follow these steps:

- 1. Press the List button once or twice to display the menu options.
- 2. Press buttons 2, 4, 8, 6, #, * and then press the List button (in that order) to get into Edit mode.
- 3. Use the up or down arrows to pick a Zigbee channel.
- 4. Press Select to change the Zigbee channel.
- 5. Press CNCL to exit Edit mode.

Program the SR-250 programmable buttons

On the system remote control SR-250, you can program six buttons (Red, Green, Yellow, Blue, *, and #) to perform programmed activities. You can program these buttons to execute any of the AV device's macros or IR codes or they can be programmed by room.

To program the SR-250 programmable buttons:

- 1. Ensure that you have the following devices in your project:
 - Controller
 - System remote control SR-250
 - An AV device to be controlled
- 2. In Composer Pro click Connections.
- 3. Click the Network tab. Ensure that the controller and the remote are both network identified.
- 4. Program the programmable buttons (Red, Green, Yellow, Blue, *, or #) either based on the selected AV device or the selected room.

Based on AV device:

1. Click System Design.

2. Select an AV device to display the device's Properties page.

| System Design | Properties | Properties Summary List View | Items |
|--|--|--|--|
| System | Properties | | Locations Discovered My Drivers Search |
| C Pod 25bt Panel 55bt Panel Unov Control MCSPD | P Default Input (None) | Terms Locators Discovered MyDrivers Search | MyHome - Andibid Door Station Audio/Video Tuner Avdio Switch B Avdio Switch |
| Salace | Advanced Properties | | Bectiver |
| Casign | Swap Up/Down commands with Page Up/Page Down Comman Programmable Remote Buttons | Media Player Television Popector CO CO CO Dirc Changer | |
| Touch Screen - 7" Portable | None Code Macro | V Help Text: | G Satelite |
| Peceiver Turner Motorized Screen | Green Button Sone Code Macro | V Help Text: | Cable Cable Modulator Speaker Point H C Pod Modulator |
| 3-Button Keypad | Yellow Button | | Contact/Relay Extender |
| Image: Television Book: Television | None Code Macro | V Help Text: | Blinds Door |
| 2-Button Keypad | Blue Button | | Door Lock |
| Bathroom | None O Code O Macro | Help Text: | Dispes Driveway Heater |
| System Design | Button | | Electronic bate |
| Connections | None Code Macro | ✓ Help Text: | Fountain Gauge Door (Sensor) |
| 🕞 Media | # Button | | Motorization Motorization |
| Agents | None Code Macro | Help Text: | Blinds Door |
| Second and a secon | | Bevert | Door Lock |

- 3. On the device's Properties page, select Code or Macro for the button you want to program, and then select a code or macro from the drop-down list.
- 4. Edit the Help text as needed, and then select Set.

Note: Help text describes custom programming to users in the House option in any of the Navigators.

Example: (1) In System Design view, select Disc Changer. (2) In the Red button, select Code. (3) From the drop-down list, select Subtitle. (4) Select the Set button to create a Subtitle button.

Based on room:

- 1. Click Programming.
- 2. Select a room in the Device Events pane.
- 3. Select the Commands radio button in the <Room> Events pane.
- 4. Use the drop-down menu to select a command or button (example, Blue Button).
- In the Actions pane, build the script using the items to program the actions in the selected room when the selected command or button is used.
 Program the SR-250 Paging feature

Configure the Beep paging feature for this remote version through programming. Use this feature to page a lost remote. You can program a keypad or a custom button to cause the remote to beep when pressed.

To program the paging feature for this system remote control:

- 1. In Composer Pro, click Programming.
- 2. Select the event that you want to use to start the page. Example: To select a keypad button press, first select the Keypad in the Device Event pane, and then select the button in Events.
- 3. In the Actions list, select System Remote Control SR-250.
- 4. In the Commands list, select an action below for the remote, and then drag the green arrow to the Script pane.

Composer Pro User Guide



- Beep until button press—The remote beeps until you press one of its buttons.
- Beep for X seconds (<254)—The remote beeps until X seconds have elapsed or you press one of its buttons.
- Stop Beep—The remote stops beeping.

5. Click Execute.

Configure System Remote Control SR-260

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and identify this device.

Ensure that the System Remote Control SR-260 is installed as directed in the Control 4 System Remote Control SR-260 Setup Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure an SR-260:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **System Remote Control SR-260** driver is added to the project tree.
- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the System Remote Control object.
- 4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane.

Note: Press any button on the SR-260 to display the configurable property values in the Properties pane.

Tip: You can also change most of these settings on the SR-260 using Info > Config.

Modifiable properties include:

- Screen Backlight—Lets you set the light level of the screen's backlight. Select a percentage from 0 (Off) to 100 (full brightness). The default is 100%. Click Set Level.
- Keypad Backlight—Lets you set the light level of the keypad's backlight. Select a percentage from 0 (Off) to 100 (full brightness). The default is 100%. Click Set Level.
- Check Light Sensor Enabled to allow the ambient light sensor to control the backlight.
- Awake Duration—Lets you set how long the remote control stays awake after no activity. The default setting is five seconds, but can be extended to 60 seconds.

- Wake on Motion—Lets you set the SR-260 to wake up when moved. Choose the desired option and click Set Level.
- Check In Interval—Lets you set how often the remote control will check in with the Control4 system on the Zigbee network. The default is 10 seconds, but decreasing the interval may decrease battery life. Click **Set Timeout**.
- Battery—Lets you view the battery level (strength in %) of your remote.
- **Enable Recharge Station**—Check this box if you received a Remote Recharging Station *with* a remote. This feature updates your existing remote to recognize the new rechargeable battery.
- Network—Lets you view the remote's MAC address and firmware version.
- MAC—Displays the remote's own MAC address.
- Firmware Version—Displays the current firmware version of the remote.
- Watch/Listen Button Behavior—If you select one of the options below, the following action occurs when you press the **Watch** button.
- No Action—If you select this option and you press the Watch button, nothing happens. This option can be tied to programming a button (see the section below).
- Select Most Recently Used Device—Lists the last three devices (for example, DVD player, media player, TV).
- Show Device List—Lists the source device of the selection. When Show Device List is selected, Watch and Listen items will not show in the List Navigator menu.
- **Text Color**—Choose the text color to display on the SR-260. The text color will preview in the *Text Preview field*. Click **Set Color**.

Program the SR-260 programmable buttons

On the system remote control SR-260, you can program six buttons (Red, Green, Yellow, Blue, *, and #) to perform programmed activities. You can program these buttons to execute any of the AV device's macros or IR codes or they can be programmed by room.

To program the SR-260 programmable buttons:

- 1. Ensure that you have the following devices in your project:
 - Controller
 - System remote control SR-260
 - An AV device to be controlled
- 2. In Composer Pro click Connections.
- 3. Click the Network tab. Ensure that the controller and the remote are both network identified.

4. Program the programmable buttons (Red, Green, Yellow, Blue, *, # or Custom 1/2/3) either based on the selected AV device or the selected room.

Based on AV device:

- 1. Click System Design.
- 2. Select an AV device to display the device's Properties page.

| System Design | Properties Properties Summer | DetWee Items |
|---|--|---|
| System | Properties | Locations Discovered My Drivers Search |
| | Default Input: None) Memory Looders: Looders: Default Input: | Reach |
| Garage | Advanced Properties | Receiver |
| Theolar Home Controller HC1000 V2/V3 Home Controller HC1000 V2/V3 Dimmer Good Statch Outer Light Conter Light Former Remote Control SR 250 Former Remote Control SR 250 | Swap Up/Down commands with Page Up/Page Down Commands Programmable Remote Buttons Remote Buttons Remote Rotton | Meda Player Plana Television Plana Television Princtor CD Disc Charger V/PB |
| - Touch Screen - 7" Portable | None Code Macro Help Text: | G Satellite |
| Receiver | | Cable |
| Tuner | Green Button | Sneaker Print |
| Motorized Screen | None Code Macro Help Text: | H C Pod |
| B 3Button Keypad | Volley Bulley | Gimer Motorization |
| Television | Name O Carte O Marrie Halt Tart | Rinde |
| - III Front | Whene Code Macro | Door |
| 2-Button Keypad | Blue Button | Door Look |
| Bathroom | None O Code O Macro Help Text: | Driveway Heater |
| System Design | | Electronic Gate |
| N | Button | Fan |
| Connections | None O Code O Macro Help Text: | Garage Door (Sensor) |
| 🕞 Media | # Button | Motorization Motorization |
| Agents | None Code Hacro Help Text: | Blinds Door |
| 💥 Programming | | Revert Door Lock |

- 3. On the device's Properties page, select Code or Macro for the button you want to program, and then select a code or macro from the drop-down list.
- 4. Edit the Help text as needed, and then select Set.

Note: Help text describes custom programming to users in the House option in any of the Navigators.

Example: (1) In System Design view, select Disc Changer. (2) In the Red button, select Code. (3) From the drop-down list, select Subtitle. (4) Select the Set button to create a Subtitle button.

Based on room:

- 1. Click Programming.
- 2. Select a room in the Device Events pane.
- 3. Select the Commands radio button in the <Room> Events pane.
- 4. Use the drop-down menu to select a command or button (example, Blue Button or Custom 1/2/3).
- In the Actions pane, build the script using the items to program the actions in the selected room when the selected command or button is used.
 Program the SR-260 Paging feature

Configure the Beep paging feature for this remote version through programming. Use this feature to page a lost remote. You can program a keypad or a custom button to cause the remote to beep when pressed.

To program the paging feature for this system remote control:

1. In Composer Pro, click Programming.

- 2. Select the event that you want to use to start the page. Example: To select a keypad button press, first select the Keypad in the Device Event pane, and then select the button in Events.
- 3. In the Actions list, select System Remote Control SR-260.
- 4. In the Commands list, select an action below for the remote, and then drag the green arrow to the Script pane.



- Beep until button press—The remote beeps until you press one of its buttons.
- Beep for X seconds (<254)—The remote beeps until X seconds have elapsed or you press one of its buttons.
- Stop Beep—The remote stops beeping.
- 5. Click Execute.

Configuring touch screens

Configure the Intercom Proxy Properties for touch screen drivers compatible with the Communication agent

To be compatible with the Communication agent and Intercom Proxy in OS 2.7, touch screen drivers labeled (Communication) with an Intercom Proxy sub-driver are available in My Drivers in Composer. Drivers for the T3 touch screens also have the Intercom Proxy sub-driver. Intercom Properties for each touch screen are configured in this Intercom proxy portion of the driver.



Note: Existing touch screen drivers not marked "(Communication)" must be replaced to be compatible with the Communication agent. If the Intercom agent was previously added to the project, it must also be removed and the Communication agent replaces it. The Communication Agent Wizard automates this process for you. See "Communication Agent Wizard and Migration Process" on the Knowledgebase.

To configure the Intercom properties for a touch screen:

1. In System Design, expand the driver to display the Intercom proxy portion of the driver. If the driver does not have the Intercom proxy portion, replace the driver with one marked "(Communication)."

2. Select the Intercom portion of the driver, and the Properties pane appears.

| ppearance | Audio Control | | Sip Information | | |
|------------------------|---------------|---------|-----------------|----------------|------------------------|
| Exclude from Navigator | Ringer | Speaker | Microphone | IP Address: | 10.11.110.111 |
| | - | - | | User Name: | Unidentified_Device_48 |
| | | | | Display Name: | Room - Intercom_2 |
| Sehavior | 6 | | | Custom Buttons | |
| Play Door Chime | | - | | Use Custom | Button 1 |
| Do Not Disturb | - | | | Button La | Button One |
| Auto Answer | - | - | | | |
| Send Video | 50 🌲 | 50 🌲 | | Use Custom | Button 2 |
| Monitor Mode | | | | Button La | Button Iwo |
| Nternate Camera | | | | | |

3. Configure the Intercom properties for the touch screen:

Appearance:

• Check the box next to *Exclude from Navigator* if you do not want this device to show in the list of Intercom devices in Navigator.

Behavior:

- Play Door Chime—Check the box to enable this touchscreen to play the door chime when a call from a Door Station is received
- Do Not Disturb—When checked, this touch screen will not receive any Intercom calls
- Auto Answer—Check to cause the touch screen to automatically answer incoming calls.
- Send Video—Check to automatically send video in Intercom calls.
- Monitor Mode—Enables Monitor Mode which mutes the microphone and sets Auto Answer. This allows the screen to be used as a baby monitor, for example.

Audio Control:

• Set Ringer, Speaker, and Microphone (if available) levels.

Sip Information:

• Displays SIP information for the touch screen. The Display Name is the same as the name of the touch screen or door station driver.

Custom Buttons:

• Check to enable a Custom Button on the Intercom display. Define the name of the button in the *Button Label* field.

Alternate Camera:

• Use Alternate Camera—Check to enable an alternate camera view during Video Intercom calls. After you check the box, select the IP camera driver in your project to use from the *Choose System Items* window that opens. Click **OK** to exit.

Configure a 7" or 10" T3 Series In-Wall Touch Screen

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure this device.

To add and configure a T3 in-wall touch screen to a project:

- 1. Add the C4-WALL7 or C4-WALL10 In-Wall Touch Screen driver to your project.
- 2. To configure the properties, click **System Design**.
- 3. In the project tree, select the T3 7" or T3 10" In-Wall Touch Screen.
- 4. View and change the properties in the *Properties* pane as needed.

Properties include:

- Network Connection—Reports the touch screen's current network connection type.
- Back Light—Use the arrows or type numbers to set the light level, then click Set.

Advanced properties include:

• Enable Camera—Allows you to enable or disable the camera.

Configure a 7" T3 Series Tabletop Touch Screen

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure this device.

To add and configure a T3 tabletop touch screen to a project:

- 1. Add the C4-TT7 Tabletop Touch Screen driver to your project.
- 2. To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the T3 7" Tabletop Touch Screen.
- 4. View and change the properties in the *Properties* pane as needed.

Properties include:

- Network Connection—Reports the touch screen's current network connection type.
- Back Light—Use the arrows or type numbers to set the light level, then click Set.

Advanced properties include:

• Enable Camera—Allows you to enable or disable the camera.

Configure a 7" In-Wall Touch Screen with Camera (C4-TW7CO)

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure the 7'' In-Wall Touch Screen (C4-TW7CO) with a camera.

Note: This particular touch screen includes full duplex point-to-point Intercom sessions, broadcast support to multiple touch screens, monitoring from the

interface, and comes with a camera for video conferences to another device that supports cameras. An Intercom driver and agent must be added and configured in the Composer project before the customer can use the Intercom functions on their touch screen. See this section, the Control4 System User Guide, and "Example: Using the Intercom agent" for details.

As of June 1, 2013, the HC-800 (C4-HC800-BL-1) and HC-250 (C4-HC250-BL-1) ship with included support for Intercom and the Control4 app. For controllers shipped before that time, you must purchase an Intercom and Control4 app license for consumers who want this feature. In either case, the license must be assigned and active on the consumer's account for the Intercom and Control4 on the Knowledgebase for information about how to purchase and assign an Intercom license.

Scenarios

- 1. The user wants to have full-duplex, room-to-room calling. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least two 7" In-Wall Touch Screens installed.
- 2. The user wants to broadcast a message without a response. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least one 7" In-Wall Touch Screen installed.
- 3. The user wants to broadcast a message with a response. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least two 7" In-Wall Touch Screens installed.
- 4. The user wants to monitor the sounds in another room. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least two 7" In-Wall Touch Screens installed.
- 5. The user wants to have a video conference with others. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least two devices that support Video Intercom (7" In-Wall Touch Screen with Camera, 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera, or Door Station Exterior).

Prerequisites

- 1. Ensure that the 7" In-Wall Touch Screen (C4-TW7CO-XX) is installed as directed in the Control4 7" In-Wall Touch Screen Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.
- 2. Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added and identified in the Control4 system.

To add and configure a 7" In-Wall Touch Screen with Camera:

 To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the In-Wall 7" Touch Screen V2 driver is added to the project tree.

Note: If this touch screen will be providing audio output, the touch screen needs to be connected as an Audio end point for the room.

- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the **7" Touch Screen** object.

4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane as needed.

Modifiable properties include:

Backlight Level–Use the up or down arrows to set the light level of the backlight. You can change the brightness of the backlight with this option by percentage, so 100% is On at full brightness and 0% is Off. Click **Set** to save your changes.

Backlight Preset Level–Lets you set the default backlight level. If you ever restart or power the touch screen again, this is the backlight level it would go to. Click **Set** to save your changes.

WiFi Signal Strength (%)–If Wi-Fi is used this shows the strength of the signal. Ensure that the signal is strong and robust if you use the Door Station for Wi-Fi. We recommend using Ethernet rather than Wi-Fi for best results.

Notes: (1) Video Intercom usage. Although this device supports b/g/n, 802.11 b is not recommended for Video Intercom. (2) Wireless-n is recommended for Video Intercom. See "Wireless Network Limitations" below.

Refresh-Click to refresh the signal strength values.

Enable Camera– Checked by default. When checked, this allows the device to use the camera for Video Intercom in addition to audio.

Wireless Network Limitations—Many Wi-Fi Access Points handle Multicasts (Wi-Fi simultaneously sent to multiple devices, for example, when the 7" In-Wall Touch Screen with Camera broadcasts video to all stations) by slowing down transmission speed to the 1 Mb basic rate. This can cause overall Wi-Fi congestion in the Wi-Fi network during the broadcast. Video Intercom response times and images may degrade at each device.

If a home requires a large number of Wi-Fi Video Intercom devices, ensure that you have a robust Wi-Fi network (possibly consisting of multiple access points).

Configure a 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera (C4-TSMC7-EN)

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure this device. Prerequisites

1. Ensure that the 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera (C4-TSMC7-EN) is installed as directed in the Control4 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera Setup Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

Note: If you want to install the new 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera, ensure that the part number says "C4-TSMC7-EN" when you add the driver.

2. Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added and identified in the Control4 system.

To add and configure a 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera:

1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that you add the driver **Portable 7" Touch Screen V2** to the project tree.

Note: If this touch screen will be providing audio output, the touch screen needs to be connected as an audio end point for the room.

- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the Portable 7" Touch Screen V2 object.

4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane.

Modifiable properties include:

Backlight Level–Use the up or down arrows to set the light level of the backlight. You can change the brightness of the backlight with this option by percentage, so 100% is On at full brightness and 0% is Off. Click Set to save.

WiFi Signal Strength–If using Wi-Fi, shows you the strength of your wireless signal.

Notes: (1) Video Intercom. Although this device supports b/g/n, 802.11b is not supported for Video Intercom use. (2) Wireless-n is recommended for Video Intercom. See "Wireless Network Limitations" below.

Enable Camera-Check to use the camera with this device for video intercom.

Conservative AEC (Acoustic Echo Cancellation)–When selected, this can reduce excessive feedback, squealing, or other audio interference during intercom use. This setting does not reduce feedback noise caused by two touch screens being too close to each other. Use this option if other measures (such as increasing intercom distances and reducing volume) have not sufficiently reduced feedback.

Wireless Network Limitations

Many Wi-Fi Access Points handle Multicasts (Wi-Fi simultaneously sent to multiple devices, for example, when the T3 touch screenbroadcasts video to all stations) by slowing down transmission speed to the 1 Mb basic rate. This can cause overall Wi-Fi congestion in the Wi-Fi network during the broadcast. Video Intercom response times and images may degrade at each device.

If a home requires a large number of Wi-Fi Video Intercom devices, ensure that you have a robust Wi-Fi network (possibly consisting of multiple access points).

Configure a 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen (C4-TSWMC5 or C4-TSWMC7)

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure this device.

Note: This touch screen includes full duplex point-to-point Intercom sessions, broadcast support to multiple touch screens, and monitoring from the interface.

As of June 1, 2013, the HC-800 (C4-HC800-BL-1) and HC-250 (C4-HC250-BL-1) ship with included support for Intercom and the Control4 app. For controllers shipped before that time, you must purchase an Intercom and Control4 app license for consumers who want this feature. In either case, the license must be assigned and active on the consumer's account for the Intercom and the Control4 app to function. See this section, the Control4 System User Guide, and "Example: Using the Intercom agent" for details. See Managing Dealer Accounts on MyControl4 on the Knowledgebase for information about how to purchase and assign an Intercom license.

Scenarios

- 1. User wants to have full-duplex, room-to-room calling. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least two 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screens installed.
- 2. User wants to broadcast a message without a response. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least one 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen installed.
- 3. User wants to broadcast a message with a response. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least two 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screens installed.

4. User wants to monitor the sounds in another room. In this case, the Control4 system must have at least two 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screens installed.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the 5" In-Wall Touch Screen (C4-TSWMC5) or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen (C4-TSWMC7) is installed as directed in the *Control4* 5" and 7" In-Wall Touch Screen Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.
- Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added and identified in the Control4 system.

To add and configure a 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen:

1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **IE 5" Touch Screen** or **IE 7" Touch Screen** driver is added to the project tree.

Note: If this touch screen will be providing audio output, the touch screen needs to be connected as an Audio End Point for the room.

- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the IE 5" Touch Screen or IE 7" Touch Screen object.
- 4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane as needed.

Modifiable properties include:

- **Backlight Level**—Use the up or down arrows to set the light level of the backlight. You can change the brightness of the backlight with this option by percentage, so 100% is On at full brightness and 0% is Off.
- **Backlight Preset Level**—Lets you set the default backlight level. If you ever restart or power the touch screen again, this is the backlight level it would go to. Click **Set** to save your changes.
- Button Animation Enabled—Lets you enable animated buttons for a 3D effect.
- Volume Control Follows Selected—Lets you select other rooms aside from the one that contains the touch screen, and change its volume when leaving the room.
- **Conservative AEC** (Acoustic Echo Cancellation)—When selected, this can reduce excessive feedback, squealing, or other audio interference during intercom use. This setting does *not* reduce feedback noise caused by two touch screens being too close to each other. Use this option if other measures (such as increasing intercom distances and reducing volume) have not sufficiently reduced feedback.

Keypads

Configure a Configurable Keypad

This applies to next generation lighting (compatible with OS 2.5 and later).

To configure a Configurable Keypad:

- 1. Add the keypad to your project tree, then identify it. For instructions, see "<u>How to add</u> <u>devices to a project</u>."
- 2. In the System Design view, select the device. The device's Properties tab opens.

| and or | | | | | riopartie | | |
|--------------------------|---|---|---|--|---|---|------------|
| ertie | S | | | A | - blad Karand | Kauna d Bad | |
| tton | Name | | | | mbled Keypad | 1 Slot Hig | h |
| | Name | | | | | | - |
| | Engraving | | Ico | ns | | 2 Slots Hig | gh |
| | | | | | | | |
| LE | D Behavior | | Ŧ | | | 3 Slots Hig | gh |
| | On Color | | | | | | |
| | Off Color | | | | | Down / U | P |
| | | | | | Finish White | | • |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | N. | click to | delete a button. | /pau. rugi |
| anced | d Properties | | | | | | Apply t |
| bien | nt Light Profiles | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| lack | light Color | | | | | | |
| lack | light Color 📕 | | 1 | | 1 | | |
| lack | light Color 🛛 🗖 Dark | Room | Dim R | oom | Brigh | t Room | |
| lack | light Color Dark | Room Backlight | Dim R Status LEDs | oom Backlight | Brigh Status LEDs | t Room Backlight | |
| eack | light Color Dark Dark Status LEDs Dim | Room Backlight Dim | Dim R Status LEDs Bright | oom Backlight Bright | Brigh Status LEDs Bright | t Room Backlight Off | |
| eack | light Color Dark Dark Status LEDs Dim Off | Room Backlight Dim Off | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright | oom Backlight Bright Bright | Brigh Status LEDs Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Off | |
| e e | light Color Dark Dark Status LEDs Dim Off Dim | Room Backlight Dim Off Dim | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright | oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright | Bright Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Off Bright | |
| e C C | light Color Dark I Status LEDs Dim Off Dim Off | Room Backlight Dim Off Dim Off | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright | oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright Bright | Bright Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Off Bright Bright | |
| Back | light Color Dark Dark Status LEDs Dim Off Off | Room Backlight Dim Off Dim Off | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright Fully Cus | oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright tomized | Bright Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Off Bright Bright | |
| eack | light Color Dark Dark Status LEDs Dim Off Off | Room Backlight Dim Off Dim Off | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright Fully Cus | oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright Bright tomized | Bright Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Bright Bright | |
| e e e e twor | light Color Dark | Room Backlight Dim Off Dim Off | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Fully Cus | Backlight Bright Bright Bright Bright Bright tomized | Brigh Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Bright Bright | |
| lack | light Color Dark | Room Dim Off Dim Off Off | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Fully Cus Version: | oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright Bright tomized | Bright Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Bright Bright | |
| lack | light Color Dark | Room Backlight Dim Off Dim Off off | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Fully Cus | oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright tomized | Bright Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Bright Bright | |
| lack | light Color Dark | Room Backlight Dim Off Dim Off olf Device | Dim R Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright Fully Cus Version: | oom Backlight Bright Bright Bright tomized | Bright Status LEDs Bright Bright Bright | t Room Backlight Off Bright Bright | |

3. In the Button Settings area, click and drag the appropriate **Keypad Parts** items to the Assembled Keypad example until the example matches the desired keypad configuration.

| Assembled Keypad | Keypad Parts* | | | | |
|--|---------------|--|--|--|--|
| D. m. 1 | 1 Slot High | | | | |
| Button | 2 Slots High | | | | |
| Button 3 | 3 Slots High | | | | |
| Down Up | | | | | |
| 100 million (100 m | Down / Up | | | | |
| Finish White - | | | | | |
| *Drag the desired buttons to the "Assembled Keypad" area to configure your keypad. Right- click to delete a button. | | | | | |

Tips:
- The Down/Up buttons can be placed only in the bottom slot and cannot have custom engraving.
- Drag the desired button to the top slot of the range where you want the button positioned.



- 4. Configure the settings described below.
- 5. Click Apply to... to apply the changes to other lighting devices.
 - If you entered text for custom engraving, go to "Ordering keycap engraving" in this document.

Device settings for Configurable Keypads

Properties

- Button Settings
- **Name**—The name of the button (used for defining its connections to other devices or events within Composer Pro).
- **Engraving**—Text that you want printed onto the buttons. For more information, see "Ignore device when it comes online—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.
- " below.
- **Icons**—Icons that you want printed onto the buttons. To add an icon to the Engraving text box, click **Icons**, then double-click the icon to add.
- LED Behavior
- Follow Bound Device—LED behavior reflects the state of the device the button is bound to.
- **Push/Release**—LED behavior reflects the button state (pressed or released).
- **Push Color**—Sets the LED color while the button is pressed.
- **Release Color** Sets the LED color while the button is released.
- **Finish**—Color of the buttons.

Advanced Properties

- Ambient Light Profiles
- Select a preset brightness profile for the keypad backlight and LEDs that changes their brightness according to the room's ambient light. You can also select Fully Customized and manually set each brightness level according to ambient lighting.
- **Backlight Color**—Sets the keypad's backlight color. If you don't want a keypad backlight, keep the default setting (black).
- **Network**—(wireless keypads only) Displays the MAC address and firmware version of the selected device. These fields are not editable.
- Replace Legacy Control4 Device
- **Replace Keypad**—Replaces a legacy device in your project with this new device. After you configure this new device, click this button, select the older device in the mini project tree that opens, then click **OK**.

| Check the device you would like to replace with the current device. |
|--|
| K New Project |
| Home |
| House |
| 🚊 🔤 Main |
| Room |
| |
| 🗄 🔁 Main |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| OK Cancel |

• **Ignore device when it comes online**—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.

Ordering keycap engraving

If you entered text to be engraved onto keycaps, you need to special order the custom engraving. You can order in three ways:

United States and Canada:

- Upload the engraving order file on the Dealer Portal (easiest for most orders).
- Enter the information on the Dealer Portal (good for small orders of individual keycaps).

All other regions:

• Send the engraving order file to your ISA.

When your custom engraved keycaps arrive, install the keycaps according to the *Keypad Buttons Installation Guide*, then make sure that the keypad configuration matches the device properties in Composer Pro.

To create an engraving order file:

1. In Composer Pro, make sure that the text and icons for each keycap have been entered on the device Properties pages exactly as you want them to appear. Pay special attention to spelling.

Tip: In a keypad's Button Settings properties, the button Name is used only for defining connections within Composer Pro. For engraving, make sure that you enter text in the Engraving fields.

- 2. Click Tools, then Reports.
- 3. Click Keypad Engraving, then click Display Report.

| File | |
|--|---|
| Panelized Lighting Panel Report | Keypad Engraving Report |
| ···· Module Report ···· Load Schedule | There are no properties for the selected report |
| Engraving Keypad Engraving Event Engraving | |
| Export Engraving Order | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | Prode Doort |
| | Display Report |

- 4. Print the report and review with your customer to make sure that all engraving meets the customer's expectations.
- 5. Click Export Engraving Order, then click Export Order File.
- 6. Specify a location to store the file, then click **Save**.

To upload the engraving report file on the Dealer Portal:

- 1. Access the Dealer Portal at dealer.control4.com.
- 2. Go to Products > Lighting > Engraving.
- 3. Click Upload Composer File. The file upload page opens.

- 4. Select the file you created above, then click **OK**.
- 5. Complete the order process.

To enter engraving information on the Dealer Portal:

- 1. While building the system, take note of the text and icons you want to be engraved on each keycap. Pay special attention to spelling.
- 2. Access the Dealer Portal at dealer.control4.com.
- 3. Go to **Products > Lighting > Engraving**.
- 4. Click Single Keycap Engraving. The configuration page opens.
- 5. Select the type of keycap, then type the text for the engraving.
- 6. Complete the order process.

To send the engraving report file to your ISA (international customers only):

- 1. Create an email message to send to your ISA.
- 2. Attach the engraving report file you created above, then send the message.
- 3. Follow up with your ISA regarding order status and schedule.

Configuring lights for 3-way

Rather than creating programming to tie lighting variables and Control4 3-way lights together, you can use a simplified lighting configuration to set up lighting control. In the Connections view, you can configure global changes in Composer Pro Properties, and configure 3-way lights by dragging the lighting and control connections.

The Push and Release features available on the keypads let you dim lights like a dimmer.

Tip: To find out how to configure global changes for lights and other devices, see "Accessing properties from the project treeAccessing properties from the project tree" in Composer Pro Getting Started.

Configuring a 2-Button Keypad as a 3-way light

Use the Connections view to configure a 3-way light using a 2-button keypad.

Example: Configure a 2-Button Keypad to turn On (Top button) and turn Off (Bottom button) a dimmer, and to use the Push/Release function available on the 2-Button Keypad to dim a light.

Prerequisites

- 1. Ensure that your controller hardware is added and identified to the Control4 system.
- 2. Ensure that you have a 2-Button Keypad and dimmer (or switch) added and identified to the project.

To configure a 2-button keypad as a 3-way light:

- 1. In the project tree, select the 2-Button Keypad.
- 2. In the Control & Audio Video Connections pane under Control Inputs, click the **Button 1 Link** connection, and drag it to the dimmer's **Top Button Link** in the bottom pane.

3. Click the **Button 2 Link** connection, and drag it to the dimmer's **Bottom Button Link** in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools I | Help | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|-------------|--------------|--------------|--|--|
| Connections | | Control & Audio | Video Connectio | | | | | |
| Control/AV | Network | Draper System | | | | | | |
| - 🚃 Home C | Controller HC1000 | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | | |
| - 🧊 Dimmer | | Control Inputs | | | | | | |
| - 🧊 Light St | witch | | | | | | | |
| | let Switch 🛛 🔺 | 🗖 Button 1 Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Input | | | |
| Sustem | Bemote Control SB-250 | 🗖 Button 2 Link | Control | BUTTON_LINK | Input 📗 | | | |
| 6-Button Keypad | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| - Receiv | rer / | | | | | | | |
| Tuner | | | | | | | | |
| - I Samsur | na TV | | | | | | | |
| 🗛 DVD | | | | | | | | |
| - Motoriz | ed Screen | | | | | | | |
| Door Contact Sensor S 3-Button Keypad Audio Switch Markan Amplifier 2 | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | BUITTON LINK Output De | 3UTTON_LINK Output Devices | | | | | |
| Wireles | s Outlet Switch | Davias | Nama | Landau | Coursestions | | | |
| 🖃 🛄 Front | | Clevice Club Dimension | T an Dathers Link | Location | Connections | | | |
| 2-Butto | n Keypad | Left Dimmer | Top Button Link | r amily | | | | |
| | | Left Dimmer | Toggle Button Link | E amilu | | | | |
| System Design | | Switch | Top Button Link | Eamilu | | | | |
| 25 | | Switch | Bottom Button Link | Eamily | | | | |
| Connections | | Switch | Togale Button Link | Family | | | | |
| Madia | | Middle Dimmer | Top Button Link | Family | | | | |
| | | Middle Dimmer | Bottom Button Link | Family | | | | |
| Agents | | 📆 Middle Dimmer | Toggle Button Link | . Family | | | | |
| | | 🗐 Right Dimmer | Top Button Link | Family | | | | |
| 🦉 Programming | | 📲 Right Dimmer | Bottom Button Link | : Family | | | | |
| | | 🛛 📢 Right Dimmer | Toggle Button Link | . Family | | | | |

4. Test to ensure that the 2-Button Keypad turns the light on and off, and that the Push/Release functions dim the light.

Configuring a 3-Button Keypad to control a 3-way light

Use the Composer Pro Connections view to configure a 3-Button Keypad to use a toggle for a 3-way light.

Example: Configure a 3-Button Keypad to toggle the light On and Off. Use Push and Release to dim and brighten the light as desired.

Prerequisites

- 1. Ensure that your controller hardware is configured properly, and that the 3-Button Keypad and dimmer (or switch) are added to the project and identified.
- 2. Ensure that you have a 3-Button Keypad added and identified to the project.

To configure a button on a 3-Button Keypad to control a 3-way light:

- 1. In the project tree, select the **3-Button Keypad**.
- 2. In the Control & Audio Video Connections pane, drag the **Button 1 Link** connection from the top list over the light's **Toggle Button Link** in the bottom list.

| Composer 2.1.0 | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------|--------------|-----------|
| Connections | sip. | Control & Audio | Video Connec | tions | | | |
| Cashal/IIV | Matural | 3.Rutton Keyned | | | | | |
| CONICIPAL Hama | INGIMUK | Mana | Ture | Connetion | Lawy Mr. Jacob | Converted To | |
| Tauch C | 2100ie HC300 | rvanie . | Type | Connection | inpasoupa | Connected To | |
| I at Dia | cieen · / | Control Inputs | | | | | |
| Cuitab | | Button 1 Link | Control | BUTTON LINK | Input | | |
| Midde C | inonar | Button 2 Link | Control | BUTTON LINK | / Input | | |
| T Ride Di | | Button 3 Link | Control | BUTTON LINK | Input | | |
| C Putton | Kounad | | | - | | | |
| 2 Putton | Keypad | | | | // | | |
| Control Control | Neypau Maalaas Themastat | | | | | | |
| E. M. J. Ch | wildless Themosta | | | | / | | |
| T alasia | annei Ampinei | | | | | | |
| Colle Televiau | / / | | | | | | |
| - Cable IV | / // | | | | | | |
| ORIVI | T DC standards | | | | | | |
| | Nete Dues | | | | | | |
| | . Nale buil. DC likeber: | | | | | | |
| | FC, Knok-pC. | | | | | | |
| Dorina Ca | research IDND AV | BUTTON_LINK Output D | evices | | | | |
| | Manless Themselet 2 | Device | Name | Location | Connections | | |
| Control4 | writeless Trielillustal 2 | Left Dimmer | Top Button Link | Family | | | |
| - System P | Nelliote Control 5H-200 | Left Dimmer | Bottom Button L | ink Family | | | |
| 🐼 System Design | | Left Dimmer | Toggle Button L | ink 🗖 Family | | | |
| Carl - y - t - t - b - sign | | Switch | Top Button Link | Family | | | |
| Connections | | Switch | Bottom Button L | ink Family | | | |
| N | | - Switch | Loggle Button L | nk Family | | | |
| (Nedia | | Middle Dimmer | i op Button Link | r amily | | | |
| | | Middle Dimmer | Tagels Button L | ns ramily | | | |
| Agents | | Right Dimmer | Top Rutton L | ris ranky Family | | | |
| 192 | | Right Dimmer | Pottom Button L | ink Earnity | | | |
| w Programming | | Bight Dimmer | Togole Button L | ink Family | | | |
| | | Minimum | T -= D. Main 1 (-1) | The star | | | |
| | | < | | | 111 | | > |
| Director Status: Idle | | | | | | | Connected |

3. Test to ensure that the 3-Button Keypad turns the light On and Off, and that the Push/Release functions dim the light.

Configure a Dry Contact Input Module

The Dry Contact Input Module (C4-DCIM4) appears in the User Interface and the Sensors sections of the My Drivers list.

To configure a Dry Contact Input Module:

1. Add the Dry Contact Input Module to your project tree, then identify it. When you first add it to the project tree, its default label is "Keypad."



2. In the System Design view, select the device. The device's Properties tab opens.

| roperaes | | Properties | List View | Info |
|--|------------------|------------|----------------------|-----------------------------|
| Properties | | | | |
| Button Settings Name Button Behavior | Latch 1 Latch | • | Late Late Late | h 1 :h 2 :h 3 :h 4 |
| | | | | |
| Advanced Properties | xut | | | |
| Idvanced Properties | xıt | | | |
| Idvanced Properties 12v Power Outp Network Settings 485 Address: | xit | F | irmware Versi | on: |

Device settings for Dry Contact Input Module

Properties

- Button Settings
- **Name**—The name of the selected button (used for defining its connections to other devices or events within Composer Pro). After clicking the appropriate button on the right, you can change this name.
- **Button Behavior**—The type of connection that the physical button or mechanism provides.
- Momentary—Closure is maintained only while the button is being pressed.
- Latch—Closure is maintained indefinitely until reopened.
- **Contact Sensor**—Contact is made by a secondary device that triggers a closure (like the contact sensor on a home controller).

Advanced Properties

- **12v Power Output**—Enables 12V (up to 30mA) power to the connected device (for example, a motion sensor).
- Network Settings
- 485 Address
- MAC Address
- Firmware Version

Configure mobile devices or PCs/tablets as Navigators

Use the Control4 apps to configure an iPod Touch, iPad, iPhone, Android, or PC device for use as a touch screen in a Control4 system.

Ensure that the license and correct apps are installed.

Follow the instructions in the documents mentioned previously to set up the apps for these devices. You don't need to do anything in Composer Pro.

Configure a Door Station

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure a Door Station.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the Door Station is installed as directed in the Control4 Door Station – Exterior Setup Guide or Door Station-Interior Setup Guide available on the Dealer Portal.
- Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added and identified in the Control4 system.

To add and configure a Door Station:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **Door Station** driver is added to the project tree.
- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the **Door Station** object. Both Door Station models use the same driver.
- 4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane as needed.

Modifiable properties include:

- **Reboot**—Click **Reboot** to reboot the Door Station.
- WiFi Signal Strength (%)—If Wi-Fi is used this shows the strength of the signal. Ensure that the signal is strong and robust if you use the Door Station for Wi-Fi. We recommend using Ethernet rather than Wi-Fi for best results.

Notes: (1) Video Intercom. Although this device supports b/g/n, 802.11 b is not supported for video intercom use. (2) Wireless-n is recommended for video intercom.

- **Refresh**—Click to refresh the signal strength values.
- Select Intercom Group—If a group has been created, use the drop-down list to select the group. The default is All.

Door Station Options:

• **Enable Camera**—Checked by default. When checked, this allows the device to use the camera for video intercom in addition to audio.

- **Door Bell Ring**—Checked by default. When checked, this allows the device to be used with the doorbell. This can be disabled if programming is used; for example, if you want a different sound or lights to come on.
- Door Bell Button:
- **Forking Call**—Configures the Door Bell Button on the Door Station to perform a forking call. Use this option with T3 series touch screens in the project.
- **Broadcast Call**—Configures the Door Bell Button on the Door Station to perform a broadcast call. Use this option with legacy touchscreens in the project.
- **Programming Only** Configures the Door Bell Button on the Door Station to not automatically make an intercom call. You can program an announcement or other types of calls in the Programming view when the button is pressed.
- Enable Button Backlight—Checked by default. When checked, this turns on the button's backlight. If you don't want to use the backlight, uncheck this option. Tip: This option can be used in programming to turn on the backlight at night.

Note: The Door Station driver includes an Intercom Proxy sub-driver with OS 2.7. See "Configure the Intercom Proxy Properties for touch screen drivers compatible with the Communication agent."

Wireless Network Limitations

Many Wi-Fi Access Points handle Multicasts (Wi-Fi simultaneously sent to multiple devices, for example, when the Door Station broadcasts video to all stations) by slowing down transmission speed to the 1 Mb basic rate. This can cause overall Wi-Fi congestion in the Wi-Fi network during the broadcast. Video intercom response times and images may degrade at each device.

If a home requires a large number of Wi-Fi Video Intercom devices, ensure that you have a robust Wi-Fi network (possibly consisting of multiple access points).

Configuring AV devices

Configuring audio-video (AV) devices means that you want to 'identify' or make the device connection to the Control4 system so the devices communicate with the controller and other devices in the system. See "How to add devices to a project" to add and identify the device. Also see "Overview of media management".

Configure a Triad Audio Matrix Switch

Use the System Design and Connections views to identify a Triad 8x8 or 24x24 Audio Matrix Switch (TS-AMS8 or TS-AMS24) to the Control4 system. These matrix switches switch up to 8/24 input sources and up to 8/24 outputs.

Ensure that the matrix switch is installed as directed in the Triad Audio Matrix Switch Installation Guide.

To add the driver and identify a Triad Audio Matrix Switch:

- 1. Configure the IP settings with System Manager, if required. By default, the audio matrix switch will be configured to DHCP.
- 2. In the System Design view, click on the Discovered tab.
- 3. Double-click on the matrix switch in the list to add it to the system and identify it.

Note: You can set this device to either DHCP Client (default) or a client that uses Static IP.

To configure the Triad Audio Matrix Switch driver:

1. Install and set up the audio matrix switch and any associated hardware according to each device's installation guide.

2. Modify the properties in the Properties pane:

- Device Firmware—The firmware version of the switch. Not editable.
- **Logging**—Select the logging behavior and level for the matrix switch driver. Print sends log events to the LUA tab. Log sends log events to a log file on the controller.
- All Channels
- **Reset Settings**—Resets all channel input and output settings to factory defaults.
- Disable Audio Sense—Disables audio sensing on the matrix switch inputs.
- Input Gain
- Select an input and adjust the gain or select the gain and click Apply To All.
- **Output Controls**—Select one of the outputs to adjust settings for and then adjust settings for that zone or click **Apply To All**.

- Audio Output—Choose Bypass, Tone Control, or Equalizer to adjust settings for the chosen Audio Output.
- **Bypass**—No equalizer settings are applied to the output by the matrix switch.
- **Tone Control**—Enables *Bass* and *Treble* settings for the output.

| Bass | | | Treble | | |
|------|---|----|--------|---|----|
| -12 | 0 | 12 | -12 | 0 | 12 |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Move the slider to adjust the Bass and Treble settings.

• **Equalizer**—Enables five-band parametric EQ settings for the output.

| Current S | etting - | | ~ | Sa | ve As |
|-----------|-------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| | Band1 | Band2 | Band3 | Band4 | Band5 |
| Freq | <mark>63</mark> ~ | 250 ~ | 1k ~ | 4k ~ | 20k ~ |
| Gain | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 🜩 | 0.0 |
| Q | 0.7 ~ | 0.7 ~ | 0.7 ~ | 0.7 ~ | 0.7 ~ |

Choose a preset or define your own EQ settings. Save your EQ settings using the **Save As...** button to be able to recall and apply them to another output.

Tip: Customized EQ settings for many Triad speakers are already built in and saved as presets into the Triad Audio Matrix Switch driver.

- **Volume**—Sets the volume for the selected output.
- **Mute**—Sets the mute for the selected output.
- **Output Loudness** Turns on the Loudness setting for the selected output.
- **Balance**—Sets the L/R speaker balance for the selected output.
- **Assignable Trigger**—Assigns the assignable trigger to activate when the selected output is active.
- Audio Properties—Assign a maximum volume to the selected output and click Set. The output can also function as a mono sum of the source. This setting combines the L + R signals and outputs the mono-summed signal on both outputs.
- 2.1 Audio Zone—Assigns two outputs to act as a single zone and mono-sums the source and sends the signal on the output selected in **Pair Sub Output**. Choose the output to pair with the output selected (at the top of the *Output Controls* section) and click **Set**.

Configure a Triad Power Amplifier

Use the System Design and Connections views to add a Triad Power Amplifier (TS-PAMP8-100) to the Control4 system.

Ensure that the amplifier is installed as directed in the Triad 8-Zone Power Amplifier Installation Guide.

To add the driver for a Triad Power Amplfiier:

- 1. In the System Design view, click on the My Drivers tab.
- 2. Double-click on the Triad 8-Zone Power Amplifier in the list Audio/Video folder to add the driver to the system. This driver does not need to be identified

To configure the amplifier driver:

- 1. Install and set up the audio matrix switch and any associated hardware according to each device's installation guide.
- 2. Modify the properties in the *Properties* pane:

| Documentation | |
|----------------------|-------------------------------------|
| == Driver Version == | Driver Version |
| Version | 7 |
| == Zone Output == | ====== Linked Input Settings ====== |
| Zone 1 | Zone Input v |
| Zone 2 | Zone Input v |
| Zone 3 | Zone Input v |
| Zone 4 | Zone Input v |
| Zone 5 | Zone Input v |
| Zone 6 | Zone Input v |
| Zone 7 | Zone Input v |
| Zone 8 | Zone Input v |
| == Debug == | Debug |
| Debug Mode | Off ~ |

• Zone Inputs (1-8)

• Select **Zone Input** or **Global Input** to configure the input settings. To link an input to the Global Input, the Link to Global Input dip switch must be enabled on the back of the amplifier.

Configure a Triad One Streaming Amplifier

Use the System Design and Connections views to identify a Triad One Streaming Amplifier (TS-SAMP1-100) to the Control4 system. The Triad One can power a single analog zone and act as a streaming audio output for Control4 digital media.

Ensure that the Triad One is installed as directed in the Triad One Installation Guide.

To add the driver and identify a Triad One:

- 1. Configure the IP settings (or Wi-Fi settings) with System Manager, if required. By default, the Triad One will be configured to DHCP
- 2. In the System Design view, click on the Discovered tab.
- 3. Double-click on the Triad One in the list to add it to the system and identify it.

Note: You can set this device to either DHCP Client (default) or a client that uses Static IP.

To configure the Triad One driver:

- 1. Install and set up the Triad One and any associated hardware according to each device's installation guide.
- 2. Modify the properties in the *Properties* pane:

| Properties | Properties |
|---|---------------------|
| Advanced Properties | |
| View External Documentation | |
| I/O Firmware Version: Advanced Audio: Custon Advanced Audio: Custon Audio Out | n Delay V 0 🖨 ms |
| Disable Front Status LED | |
| Source Leveling - Input Gain (make binding to enable setting) Analog Audio In Analog Audio In Input Mode Direct Output Controls Audio Out Volume O O Mute O O Utput Loudnes Note: Volume and Mute settings are only valid if device is onl and identified in the project. | Set |

- I/O Firmware Version—The firmware version of the switch. Not editable.
- Advanced Audio: Custom Delay—This field provides the option to adjust streaming audio output timing to better match other zones.
- **Disable Front Status LED**—Check this box to turn off the status LED on the front of the Triad One.

- Source Leveling Input Gain
- Select an input and adjust the gain, click **Set** to save.
- Change the *Input Mode* to **Direct**, **Stream**, or **Direct+Stream**. See Input Mode section below for additional details.
- **Output Controls**—Select one of the outputs to adjust settings for and then adjust settings for that zone or click **Apply To All**.
- Audio Output—Choose Bypass (DSP Off), Tone Control, Equalizer, or Test Tone to adjust settings for the Audio Output.
- **Bypass**—No equalizer settings are applied to the output by the matrix switch.
- Tone Control—Enables *Bass* and *Treble* settings for the output.



Move the slider to adjust the Bass and Treble settings.

• Equalizer—Enables ten-band EQ settings for the output.

| 12dB | | | | | | | | | |
|-------|----|-----|-----|-----|----|----|----|----|-----|
| DdB 🗕 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| -12dB | | | | | | | | | |
| Hz 32 | 64 | 125 | 250 | 500 | 1K | 2K | 4K | 8K | 16K |

Choose a preset or define your own EQ settings. Save your EQ settings using the **Save As...** button to be able to recall and apply them to another output.

Tip: Customized EQ settings for many Triad speakers are already built in and saved as presets into the Triad One driver.

- **Amp Properties**—Assign a maximum volume to the selected output and click **Set**. The output can also function as a mono sum of the source. This settings combines the L + R signals and outputs the mono-summed signal on both outputs.
- Cross Over—Sets a low-pass filter on the subwoofer out of the Triad One to 80, 90, 100, 110, 125, or 140.

Input Mode

This field determines how each source input is routed, either locally to the Triad One and/or over the IP network. Select an input from the drop down field above before adjusting this setting. Depending on the installation use case, there are three options.

Direct

Select this option if the source will only be played back locally. The local input is routed directly to the local output(s) of the Triad One with no delay. This setting is best for video sources, where audio must be in sync with video.

Stream

Select this option if the source should be played back locally AND in other rooms. The input is encoded and streamed, with delay, to the local output(s) of the Triad One AND to other Triad One units or EA controller audio outputs on the IP network. Selecting this option ensures audio synchronization across all devices, local or remote. This setting is not recommended for video sources.

Direct + Stream

Select this option if the audio must be played back locally with no delay (i.e. video source), but also needs to be available as a source in other rooms. The local input is routed to the local output of the Triad One, with no delay AND is streamed to other Triad One or EA Controller audio outputs on the IP network. Note: This option will cause audio to be out of sync between the local room and other rooms. Direct + Stream mode should only be used when the Triad One is out of earshot of other rooms that are playing the same source.

Note: When the Triad One's analog or digital input is encoded (streamed) there will be a 2-4 second input-to-output audio delay.

Configure Triad One for Wi-Fi

To configure a Triad One for Wi-Fi use:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to Director on Local Network.
- 2. In the **Tools** menu, select **System Manager**.
- 3. In the Devices pane, select the **network address** of the device you want to configure, and click **Connect**.

| System Manager 3.0.0 | | | | | _ | × |
|----------------------------|---------------|-------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---|------|
| Manage Devices SDDP Trace | | | | | | |
| Devices | | | | No Device Selected | | |
| Refresh Add Remov | /e | Co | nnect 🗧 Disconnect | Disconnected | | |
| | | | ~ | | | |
| Host Name | Address | Version | Status | | | |
| glassedge10-000fff812833 | 2.168.102.110 | 3.0.0.562645-res | | | | |
| HC800-BoardRoom-000FFF | 2.168.102.123 | 2.10.6.558226-res | | | | |
| c4_lu862d_avmatrixswitch | 2.168.102.149 | | | | | |
| triad-one-000FFF901612 | 2.168.102.135 | 3.0.0.562645-res | | | | |
| TrainingRoom2-RedCliffs-00 | 2.168.102.5 | 3.0.0.562645-res | | | | |
| ca1-000FFF5133C1 | 2.168.102.106 | 2.10.6.558226-res | | | | |
| triad-one-000FFF909811 | 2.168.102.138 | 3.0.0.562645-res | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | Output | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | JI | | |
| | | | | | | |

Tip: If the device's network address is not on this list, click **Refresh**. If it still does not appear, click **Add** to enter it manually. If you don't know the network address, look in the **Tools** menu > **Network Tools**.

4. Click the Network tab, and click Configure.

| System Manager 3.0.0 | | | | | | | - 0 | × |
|---|--|--|------------|---|--|---|--|---|
| Manage Devices SDDP Trace Devices Refresh Add Remove |] | Connect | Disconnect | triad-one-00 | 0FFF90161 atus Loggin | 2 10 | | Â |
| Host Name glassedge 10-000#812833 HC800-BoardRoom-000FFF c4_Ju852d_avmatrixewtch triad-one-000FFF901612 TrainingRoom2:RedCl#s-00 ca1-000FFF5133C1 triad-one-000FFF903811 | Address 2.168.102.110 12.168.102.123 12.168.102.149 12.168.102.15 12.168.102.15 12.168.102.106 12.168.102.138 | Version 3.0.0.562645-res 2.10.6.558226-res 3.0.0.562645-res 3.0.0.562645-res 3.0.0.562645-res | Status | Active Interface Interface IP Address IP add Subnet n | Ethemet DOF:FF:90:16 mess: 92.168. mask: 55.255. | Connected 3:1 102.135 255.0 | Configure | C |
| | | | | Gate <u>DMC Consum</u> Output i upman-server Manager i vidmand | way: 32.168. 3.0.0.562 | 102.1 2645-res 1586 | Control4 Update | > |
| | | | | Manager ii vpn Network daemon ii watchdogd control daemon ii wireless-tools ii wpa-supplicant Supplicant ii zio | 2.0-release-8 3.0.0.562 29-8.10 2.6-8.1 3.0-8.2 | .119 i586 645-res i586 i586 i586 | Virtual Private Watchdog timer Wireless Tools WPA/802.1x Zip | |
| | | | | ii zilo OK | 1.2.8-8.1 | 1586 | Zib Compression Library | ~ |

- 5. Click Next when a Network Configuration wizard dialog appears.
- 6. If desired, enter a new name for the device, and click Next.

IMPORTANT TIP! If the device has already been identified on the Control4 system, and you change the name (on this wizard screen), identify the device again.

Until it is identified again, the controller cannot recognize the name and will not be able to communicate with the device.

| | | | × |
|------------|-------------------------------------|--|------------|
| () | Network Configuration W | /izard | |
| W | hat is the name of th | e device? | |
| | Host Name: | triad-one |] |
| | If you change th device in Compo | e name of a device, you must reid ser's Network view. | entify the |
| | | Next > | Cancel |

7. Select the type of network you want the device to be a part of, and click Next.

Example: Wireless network.

I

I

8. Select the method to obtain an IP address, such as DHCP (first option) or Static IP (second option), and click Next.

Example: Obtain an IP address automatically using DHCP.

9. Select the method to obtain the DNS server address automatically, and click $\ensuremath{\text{Next}}.$

Example: Obtain the DNS server address automatically.

- 10. Enter the Network Name (SSID) of your wireless access point.
- 11. Use the pull-down menu to indicate your Data encryption preference (64 or 128 bit).
- 12. Select the Key type (hex or ASCII).
- 13. Enter your Network Key (WEP Key), and click Test.
 - Hex—64 bit (10 digits) or 128 bit (26 digits)—acceptable values 0 9, A- F
 - **ASCII**—64 bit (5 digits) or 128 bit (13 digits)—acceptable values ASCII characters

Example:

• Network Name (SSID)—<name of wireless access point>

- Data encryption—wep64
- Key Type—hex
- Network Key (in hex)—ABCDE12345.

| Network Name (SSID): | [name of wireless access point] |
|----------------------|---------------------------------|
| Wireless Network Key | |
| Data encryption: | WPA/WPA2 PSK ~ |
| Key type: | hex |
| | Oasoli |
| Network key: | ABCDE12345 |

Note: If the hex Network Key you insert is not valid, a screen with a red exclamation point comes up. In this case, enter your key again.

- 14. Click Test to test your network connection. If it fails, follow the on-screen instructions.
- 15. Click **Finish** when you come to the "Congratulations! You have successfully changed your network configuration" screen.
- 16. At this time, the system reboots. Do not disconnect any temporary Ethernet cables until the device has successfully rebooted and is powered on.
- 17. If you are using the Wi-Fi to communicate to your controller, disconnect the Ethernet cable.

Configure an Audio Matrix Switch

Use the System Design and Connections views to identify an Audio Matrix Switch V3 (C4-16ZAMS-V3-B) to the Control4 system. This device switches up to 16 input sources and up to 16 outputs.

Ensure that the matrix switch is installed as directed in the Audio Matrix Switch Installation and Setup Guide.

To add the driver and identify a

Note: You can set this device to either DHCP Client (default) or a client that uses Static IP.

To add and configure an Audio Matrix Switch:

- 1. Install and set up the audio matrix switch and any associated hardware according to each device's installation guide.
- 2. To add the driver to your project and identify the device, see "How to add devices to a project."
- 3. Modify the properties in the Properties pane:

| Jevice Firmware | |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| Output Controls | |
| Audio Output 5 | |
| Bass -14 0 14 | Treble -14 0 14 C R -14 C R |
| Source Leveling Audio Input 1 | 0 dB Set |
| Network Settings | |
| Use DHCP | |
| Use Static IP | |
| IP Address: | |
| Subnet Mask: | |
| Gateway: | |
| | Apply Settings |
| | |

- Device Firmware—The firmware version of the switch. Not editable.
- Output Controls
- Audio Output—Select one of the 16 outputs to adjust settings for.
- Volume—Sets the volume for the selected output.
- Bass—Sets the Bass level for the selected output.
- **Treble**—Sets the Treble level for the selected output.
- Balance—Sets the L/R speaker balance for the selected output.
- Source Leveling
- Audio Input—Select one of the 16 inputs to adjust the setting for, move the slider to the desired setting, then click **Set**.
- Network Settings
- Use DHCP—Select this option to use DHCP, then click Apply Settings.

- Use Static IP—Select this and enter values for the IP Address, Subnet Mask, and Gateway, then click Apply Settings.
- All Channels
- **Reset Settings**—Resets all channel input and output settings to factory defaults.
- Set Unity Gain—Resets the Source Leveling for all inputs to OdB.

Configure a Control4 4k Ultra HD 10x10 HDMI Matrix Switch

Use the System Design and Connections views to identify a LU1082 HDMI Matrix Switch (C4-LU1082) to the Control4 system. This device switches up to 10 HDMI input sources and uses an HDBaseT Receiver (C4-LU1E) to connect to AV output devices.

IMPORTANT! The hardware setup for the switch can be complex. Refer to the and the Setup Installation Guide for guidelines, warnings, and cautions to help ensure a smooth setup.

To add and configure an HDMI Matrix Switch:

- 1. Install and set up the video switch and any associated hardware according to each device's installation guide.
- 2. To add the driver to your project and identify the device, see "How to add devices to a project."
- 3. Make any necessary network or control/AV connections as necessary for your configuration. For information on setting each Properties field's parameters, click the Documentation tab in the driver's Properties window.



Configure an audio or AV switch

Use the System Design and Connections view to set up an audio or audio/video switch.

You can access the AV switch drivers from the System Design view in the Items pane by clicking the **Search** tab > Device **Type:** A/V Switch or Audio Switch > Manufacturer: All Manufacturers. Use the Driver Wizard for additional support for your audio or AV switch.

Install the audio or AV switch according to the manufacturer's instructions.

To add and configure an audio or audio/video switch:

1. Install and set up the audio or audio/video switch and any associated hardware.

- In the System Design view, locate the driver. Click the Search tab > Device Type: Audio Switch or A/V Switch > Manufacturer: All manufacturers.
- 3. Select the **Audio Video** or **AV Switch** object in the project tree to view the device properties for that object and make configuration changes if applicable.

Example: The Knox AV Switch has no properties to modify, but other switches have properties, for example, the Control4 Audio Switch.

- 4. Make any necessary network or control/AV connections as necessary for your configuration. See "<u>Connect</u> and verify devices" for details.
- 5. Modify any room connections as needed for your configuration.

Configure a 4-Zone Amplifier

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure a 4-Zone Amplifier (C4-8AMP1-B). This device lets you enjoy up to four zones (rooms) of music in the home.

Ensure that the 4-Zone Amplifier is installed as directed in the Control4 4-Zone Amplifier Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure a 4-zone Amplifier:

1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **Multi Channel Amplifier 4 Zone** driver (under Audio/Video > Amplifier) is added to the project tree.

IMPORTANT! The amplifier can be identified by IP only. The amplifier can communicate with the Control4 system using the TCP/IP network.

Note: If you are using a TCP/IP network and the latest shipping version of this device, you can set this device to either DHCP Client (default) or a client that uses Static IP. To change this setting, see the LCD screen menu on the device.

- 2. Make the necessary connections. See "Connect and verify devices" for details.
- 3. (Optional) Change the 4-Zone Amplifier properties.
- 1. In the System Design view on the project tree, select the Amplifier object.

2. Modify the properties in the Properties pane:

| Contention Input: Locked Power Save Enabled vice Firmware Power Save Status Powered Powered ohme Curve Powered olune Curve Powered Parametic EO Settings Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 v Sator (0) v 10 v Portaults | oerties | | | | | | | | | Properties | T | List View |
|---|-----------------------|-----------------------|---|--------|----|---------------|----------|-----------|-----|------------|---|-----------|
| rputs Locked | ced Proper | ties | | | | | | | | | | |
| rput Locked | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| vice Firmware Power Save Status Powered chunes (dB) chunes (dB) | Inputs Lock | ed | | | | Power S | ave | Enabled | | | | |
| Advised Curve Powered Linear (dB) Powered UpuX Settings Output Zone 1 Image: Settings Maximum Volume Paymetric ED Settings Band 1 Band 1 Band 2 Band 1 125 Hz Volume 100 Set Paymetric ED Settings Band 2 Band 1 125 Hz Volume 100 0 10 10 Volume 100 0 Settings Band 3 Band 1 125 Hz Settings Settings Basis Treble Frequency 125 Hz Basis Treble Basis Treble Basis Treble Basis Basis | ine Firmur | | | | | Downer C pure | . c. | alus | | | | |
| okune Curve Linew (dB) utput Settings Output Zone 1 • 1 | vice r minie | xe. | | | | Powered | 1.30 | ditas | | | | |
| Linear (dB) uput Setings Output Zone 1 0 1 0 2 0 3 4 Ageby To Maximum Volume 100 © Set Parametic E0 Setings Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 irequency 801 Hz v 125 Hz v 250 Hz v 11 HHz v 44 HHz v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v 0 v Sain Teble Frequency 125 Hz v 5 HHz v Basic Basic Basic | olume Curv | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Udput Zone 1 I 2 3 4 Apply To Maximum Volume 100 Set Parametric EQ Settings Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 Trequency 0 V 0 0 0 0 0 Juality 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 Tested to Shelving EQ Settings Basic Treble Basic Beset to D 0 0 0 Defaults | 🔲 Linear | (dB) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Output Zone 1 ① 1 ① 2 ① 3 ① 4 Apply To | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Output Zone 1 Image: Colspan="2">Output Zone 1 Image: Colspan="2">Output Zone 1 Acply To. Maximum Volume 100 Image: Colspan="2">Set Image: Colspan="2" | utput Settin | gs | _ | | _ | | _ | | | | _ | |
| ●1 2 | | | | Outp | bu | t Zone 1 | | | | | | |
| Apply To Maximum Volume 100 Set Parametric E Q Settings Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 Bain 1 125 Hz 250 Hz 1 HHz 4 HHz V Sain 0 0 0 0 0 V Sator (Q) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 V V Sator (Q) 15 Hz 5 HHz V Sator (Q) V 0 V Sator (Q) 1.0 1.0 1.0 V 1.0 V V Gain 125 Hz 5 HHz V Basic Reset to Defaults | | ⊙1 O | 2 | 03 0 | 4 | | | | | | | |
| Parametric EQ Settings Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 Sain 0 <t< td=""><td>Apply T</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>н-</td><td>iner</td><td>m Volume</td><td>100</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | Apply T | | | | | н- | iner | m Volume | 100 | | | |
| Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 Frequency 80H 1 125 Hz 250 Hz 1 kHz 4 kHz Dain 0 0 0 0 0 0 Dain 0 0 0 0 0 Station (0) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 Station (0) 1.0 5 1.0 1.0 1.0 | мрру то | | | | | Ma | un i i i | an vokane | 100 | Set | | |
| Bits Treble Startor (Q) 125 Hz V 15 Hz V 14 Hz V Startor (Q) 0 0 0 0 0 V 0 V Shelving EQ Setting: 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 V 1.0 V Shelving EQ Setting: East Treble Frequency 125 Hz V 5 kHz V Gain 0 V 0 V Basic Reset to Defaults | Parametric | EQ Settings Band 1 | | Band 2 | | Band 3 | | Band 4 | | Band 5 | | |
| Sain 0 v | requency | 80 Hz | ~ | 125 Hz | ~ | 250 Hz | ~ | 1 kHz | ~ | 4 kHz | - | |
| Duality Factor (0) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 | Sain | 0 | ~ | 0 | ~ | 0 | ~ | 0 | ~ | 0 . | - | |
| Shelving EQ Settings Bass Treble Frequency 125 Hz V 5 Hz V Gain 0 V 0 V Basic Reset to Defaults | Quality Factor (D) | 1.0 | ~ | 1.0 | ~ | 1.0 | ~ | 1.0 | ~ | 1.0 | | |
| Shelving EQ Setting: Basis Treble Frequency 125 Hz 5 kHz Gain 0 0 Basic Reset to Defaults | ac.c. (d) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Frequency 125 Hz V 5 kHz V Gain 0 V 0 V Basic Reset to Defaults | Shelving El | Q Settings | | Tueble | | | | | | | | |
| Gain 0 0 Basic Reset to Defaults | Frequencu | 125 Hz | ~ | 5 kHz | ~ | | | | | | | |
| Defaults | Gain | 0 | ~ | 0 | ~ | ſ | | Basic | | Reset to | | |
| | uan | - | | · | | | | | | Defaults | | |

Modifiable properties include:

- Advanced Properties
- **Inputs Locked**—This locks Audio Inputs to set Audio Outputs. You can have one Audio Input with several Audio Outputs, but an Audio Output may only have one Audio Input.
- Power Save Enabled—Check to save power.
- Device Firmware—This displays the firmware version.
- **Power Save Status**—This displays when power save is enabled.
- **Volume Curve**—Shows how the output volume of the amplifier reacts (the device compensates) to an increase in volume as heard by the human ear.
- Output Settings
- Output Zones—Select zones 1 through 8.
- Maximum Volume—Use the drop-down menu to select the volume up to 100. Click Set.
- Parametric EQ Settings
- **Frequency**—Center frequency to be adjusted.
- Gain—Set from -24dB (cut) to +6dB (boost) for the center frequency.
- Quality Factor (Q)—Width of the EQ boost/cut can be set from 0.5 to 1.0 in 0.1 steps and 1.0 to 10.0 in 1 step (there are no units for Q).

- Shelving EQ Settings
- **Frequency**—Center frequency to be adjusted.
- Gain—Set from -24dB (cut) to +6dB (boost) for the center frequency

Notes on EQ settings: The Q setting on the EQ setting determines the bandwidth of the boosted frequency (or cut frequency).

The *Quality Factor* is the center frequency divided by the bandwidth (Q=Center Frequency/Bandwidth), where bandwidth is determined by the frequency points; either side of the center frequency are -3dB from the center frequency. A setting of 1kHz with a Q of 1 means that the boosted frequencies affected are from 500Hz to 1.5kHz (1kHz wide to the -3dB points centered at 1kHz).

Example: If the Q is increased to 10 with the same 1kHz center frequency, then the bandwidth must decrease by the same ratio. Mathematically:

Q = Freq/BW10 = 1kHz/BWBW = 100HzAffected frequencies are Center Frequency +/- $\frac{1}{2}$ (BW)1kHz +/- $\frac{1}{2}$ (100Hz)1kHz +/- 50Hz = 950Hz to 1,050Hz

The higher the Q setting the narrower the frequency range affected by the gain setting, while a lower Q setting increases the frequency range affected by the gain setting at each EQ frequency.

The frequency response can be visualized as a tall, skinny building with a high Q value or a tall, wide (or pyramid shaped) building with a low Q value. The peak (or height of the building) at the center frequency is set by the Gain setting.

Configure a Multi-Channel Amplifier

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure a Multi-Channel amplifier (C4-16AMP3-B). This device provides eight stereo inputs and outputs with full audio switching.

Note: In Release 1.8 and later, the Multi-Channel amplifier does not work with Zigbee Pro. Configure this device with Ethernet.

Ensure that the Multi-Channel amplifier is installed as directed in the Control4 Multi Channel Amplifier Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

To add and configure a Multi-Channel amplifier:

 To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the Multi Channel Amplifier v3 - 16 driver is in the project tree.

Note: You can set this device to either DHCP Client (default) or a client that uses Static IP. To change this setting, see the LCD screen menu on the device.

- 2. Make the necessary connections. See "Connect and verify devices" for details.
- 3. (Optional) Change the properties as needed.
- 1. In the System Design view on the project tree, select the Amplifier object.
- 2. Modify the properties in the Properties pane:

Composer Pro User Guide

| perties | | | | | | | _ | | Properties | | List View | In |
|---------------|-----------------|-----|-------------------|----|-------------------|-----|-----------|-----|----------------------|---|-----------|----|
| iced Propert | ies | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Inputs Lock | ed | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| rvice Firmea | re Zy | pee | Famesare | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| folume Curve | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 🗌 Linear | (8) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Julput Settin | 9 1 | _ | | _ | | _ | | _ | | | | |
| | | _ | Out | pu | t Zone I | | | _ | | | | |
| | ⊙1 O | 2 | O3 C | 4 | 05 (| 06 | 07 | 0 | 8 | | | |
| | _ | | | | | | - Mahana | | | | | |
| Apply 10 | - | | | | Max | am, | an volume | 100 | Ç Se | | | |
| Parametric I | EQ Settings | | Dura d D | | 0 | | Burdd | | Dende | | | |
| Frequency | Band I 80 Hz | ~ | 8 and 2 125 Hz | ~ | 8 and 3 250 Hz | ~ | Band 4 | ~ | 4 kHz | ~ | | |
| Gain | 0 | | 0 | - | 0 | - | 0 | - | 0 | | | |
| Quality | 1.0 | - | 10 | ~ | 10 | - | 1.0 | - | 10 | | | |
| Factor (Q) | | 1 | 1.4 | | 1.9 | - | | | | | | |
| Shelving EC | Settings | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Bass | | Treble | | | | | | | | | |
| Frequency | 125 Hz | ~ | 5 kHz | ~ | | _ | | | | _ | | |
| Gain | 0 | ~ | 0 | ~ | | | Basic | | Reset to Defaults | | | |
| | | | | | · | - | | | | _ | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Modifiable properties include:

- **Inputs Locked**—This locks Audio Inputs to set Audio Outputs. You can have one Audio Input with several Audio Outputs, but an Audio Output may only have one Audio Input.
- **Device Firmware**—This displays the version of firmware.
- Zigbee Firmware—This displays the version of firmware.
- **Volume Curve**—Shows how the output volume of the amplifier reacts to an increase in volume; the soft-to-loud response of the volume control.
- Output Settings:
- Output Zones—Select zones 1 through 8.
- Maximum Volume—Use the drop-down menu to select the volume up to 100. Click Set.
- Parametric EQ Settings:
- Frequency—Center frequency to be adjusted.
- Gain—Set from -24dB (cut) to +6dB (boost) for the center frequency.
- **Quality Factor (Q)**—Width of the EQ boost/cut settable from 0.5 to 1.0 in 0.1 steps and 1.0 to 10.0 in 1 step (there are no units for Q).
- Shelving EQ Settings
- **Frequency**—Center frequency to be adjusted.
- Gain—Set from -24dB (cut) to +6dB (boost) for the center frequency.

Notes on EQ settings: The Q setting on the EQ setting determines the bandwidth of the boosted frequency (or cut frequency).

The Quality Factor is the center frequency divided by the bandwidth (Q=Center Frequency/Bandwidth), where bandwidth is determined by the frequency points are either side of the center frequency are -3dB from the center frequency. A setting of 1kHz with a Q of 1 means that the boosted frequencies affected are from 500Hz to 1.5kHz (1kHz wide to the -3dB points centered at 1kHz).

Example: If the Q is increased to 10 with the same 1kHz center frequency, then the bandwidth must decrease by the same ratio. Mathematically:

Q = Freq/BW10 = 1kHz/BWBW = 100HzAffected frequencies are Center Frequency +/- $\frac{1}{2}$ (BW)1kHz +/- $\frac{1}{2}$ (100Hz)1kHz +/- 50Hz = 950Hz to 1,050Hz

The higher the Q setting the narrower the frequency range affected by the gain setting, while a lower Q setting increases the frequency range affected by the gain setting at each EQ frequency.

The frequency response can be visualized as a tall, skinny building with a high Q value or a tall, wide (or pyramid shaped) building with a low Q value. The peak (or height of the building) at the center frequency is set by the Gain setting.

Configure a media player

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure a media player. The device automatically scans videos. A media player (such as Netgear EVA8000) lets you play media that is stored on a network drive or available through the Internet to a TV.

The media player driver lets the Control4 system interact with the media player hardware through one of the Control4 system remote controls. The driver also supports the video playback functionality of the hardware, allowing the Control4 Navigators to be used to select a video title.

Ensure that your media player is installed according to the instructions in its documentation.

To configure a media player in your system:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Make sure that the media player is added to the project tree.
- 2. Add a **Network File Storage** driver to your Composer Pro project (available on the My Drivers tab), then configure the properties including browsing to the network location. For information on adding and configuring network file storage, see "Using external storage devices." The network location must be an open share location (no password required). The Network File Storage driver supports both audio and video content.
- 3. Make the necessary audio and video connections. See "<u>Connect and verify devices</u>" for details.
- 4. To use the features of the media player, do one of the following:
 - Scan the videos. In the Media view, **scan** the videos that are in video_ts format:
 - Select Video Media under the network file share where you want to add the videos.
 - Click **Scan**. The scan operation identifies the video_ts format video files, adds them to the media database, and automatically associates the video metadata including cover art. When the scan completes, the videos in video_ts format are available for playback from the Navigators.

- Manually add the videos. In the Media view, manually add videos that are in formats other than video_ts. Video formats other than video_ts that are supported by your media player can be added to the media database in Composer Pro manually.
- Select Video Media under the network file share where you want to add the videos.
- Click **New**, and then select the **Browse** option next to the Location text box in the pop-up window. A new pop-up window will appear.
- In the pop-up window, select the drop-down menu for Files of type, and then select the *.* option.
- Select the file format you want to add to the database.

When the videos in alternative video formats are added to the system manually, those videos become available for playback from the Navigators.

Note: When using a system remote control Version 2, the Cancel button is mapped to the EVA8000 Back button and the DVR button toggles between aspect ratios.

- 5. Check the properties. In the System Design view, select the media player, then click the **Documentation** tab for more information about this device.
- 6. To view logging output, in the Properties pane, click the Lua tab.

Configure a Wireless Music Bridge

Use the System Design view to identify a Wireless Music Bridge (C4-WMB-B) to a Control4 system. This bridge lets you play music, Internet radio, podcasts, and more through your smartphone and tablet devices to the whole house (supported in OS 2.5 and later).

Prerequisites

• Ensure that the Wireless Music Bridge is physically installed as directed in the *Control4 Wireless Music Bridge Installation Guide*.

This audio output device uses SDDP (Auto Discovery) to identify the device automatically. See "<u>Auto</u> <u>Discovery (SDDP</u>)" in this documentfor details about Auto Discovery. If you ever need to identify the device again, use the standard method. If you want to play different streams for each zone in the home, you need a separate bridge for each stream. This device will play one stream in all supported zones, however.

To add and configure the Wireless Music Bridge:

- 1. In the System Design view's *Discovered* tab (Items pane), locate the Wireless Music Bridge (also listed in My Drivers > Audio/Video).
- 2. Make the necessary connections. See "<u>Connect and verify devices</u>" for details.
- 3. In the *Properties* pane, change the properties as needed.
- 4. Click the driver's **Documentation** tab for explanations of the *Properties* fields and additional information about the driver and device.
- 5. Click the Lua tab to view logged output.

Configure TuneIn

Use the System Design view to access and change TuneIn properties for a Control4 system. The TuneIn app lets you play music, Internet radio, podcasts, news, sports, and more through your Navigators and smartphone devices to the whole house (supported in OS 2.4 and later).

Prerequisites

- The TuneIn app, driver, and license are included in OS 2.4 and later, but your customers will need to set a TuneIn account to pair TuneIn with their system and they must have an EA, HC-250, or HC-800 Controller as their primary controller. The TuneIn driver appears below the controller in the Composer Pro project when these conditions are met.
- For the best audio experience, have your customers create a TuneIn account and add **Favorites**. They can then pair their TuneIn account to the Control4 system so they can play their favorite stations on their Navigators. See the *TuneIn Setup Guide* or *TuneIn User Guide* in the Residential or dealer Documentation page for details.

This TuneIn driver is added automatically (see "Prerequisites" above). If you need to add the driver again, use the standard method. The driver is located in My Drivers > Audio/Video > Media Service.



To configure the TuneIn properties:

- 1. In Composer Pro > System Design, locate the TuneIn driver.
- 2. Select **TuneIn**, then change the properties as needed.
- 3. Click the **Actions** tab to sync Favorite stations, update the TuneIn pairing status, drop a TuneIn account, or join a TuneIn account.
- 4. Click the **Documentation** tab for explanations of the Properties and Actions fields and additional information about the driver and device.
- 5. Click the Lua tab to view logged output.

Adding a media service

Use the System Design view to add a music service to a Control4 system. In this example, Pandora is used, but the Media Service proxy will support additional services as drivers for them become available.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that a supported music service account has already been set up by the user.
- Ensure that the devices you want to use for Rhapsody output are added and identified to the system.

To add a media service:

1. In the Items pane > My Drivers tab > Audio/Video, double-click Media Service.

| 🗄 🛅 Audio/Video |
|-------------------|
| 🗄 🎲 Media Service |

The Select the Driver dialog box opens.

| | | | | Local Database | Online Databa | 5C |
|-----------------|---------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------|---------------|----|
| Device Type: | Nedia Service | | | | | ٠ |
| Manufacturer: | - Al Manufach | ues - | | | | ٠ |
| Name | | Manufacturer | Model | | Driver Status | |
| 🕂 Tunein | | Control-4 | Tunein | | | E |
| C Rhapsody | | Control4 Control6 | Rhapeody C4-WMB-B | | | |
| * | | | 81 | | • | |
| Tuncin | | | | | | |
| Driver Statue: | | | | | | |
| Creator: Contro | :44 | | | | | |
| Created: 05/11 | 2012 12:00 AM | | | | | |
| Modified 03/18 | 2014 12:00 AM | | | | | |
| | | | | | Notes | |

- 2. Double-click the music service to add. The service is added to your project tree.
- 3. The customer should log into their music service account in any Navigator under *Settings*. You can also have them log in to the service on your computer under the service device control's *Navigator* tab.

| Pandora × |
|---------------------------------------|
| Room: Kitchen V |
| Now Playing Navigator |
| Back Stations Create Station Settings |
| Login Settings |
| Userhaine |
| Password |
| Login |
| |
| |
| |

4. Click the driver's **Documentation** tab for explanations of the *Properties* fields and additional information about the driver and device.

Configuring Motorization

Use the System Design and Connections views to add and configure contacts and relays.

Configuring a Zigbee IO and Zigbee Contact

Ensure the Zigbee IO or Zigbee Contact is installed as described in their respective Installation Guide.

- Zigbee IO Installation Guide (ctrl4.co/z2io-ig)
- Zigbee Contact Installation Guide (ctrl4.co/z2c-ig)

To add and configure a Zigbee IO or Zigbee Contact:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **Zigbee IO or Zigbee Contact** driver is added to the project tree.
- 2. (Optional) To configure the properties, click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the Zigbee IO or Zigbee Contact object.
- 4. View and change the properties in the Properties pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| System Design | Properties | | Pr | roperties | List View |
| System | Properties | | | | |
| × • • • • • | Properties Documentation | Actions Lua | | | |
| Binds 2 | Log Level | 1 - Error | \sim | | ^ |
| Triad 8x8 Audio Matr | Log Mode | Off | \sim | | |
| A S-Zone Power Amplif | Device Status | Offline | | | |
| C4-Z2IO ⊕ 🖬 Theater | Driver Version | 36 | | | |
| - Carbon Monoxide De | Firmware Version | _ | | | |
| Doorbell Door Contact Sensor | Bootloader Version | - | | | |
| -Mai Driveway Sensor | | Battery | | | |
| Gate Gass Break Detecto | Battery Level | _ | | | |
| Heat Detector | | Humidity | | | |
| IR Beam V | Local Humidity |] [- | | | |
| 🔯 System Design | Local Humidity Offset | 0 | ٠ | | |
| Connections | | Temperature | | | |
| 💮 Media | Temperature Scale | Fahrenheit | \sim | | |
| 🔢 Agents | Local Temperature | - | | | |
| 😻 Programming | Local Temperature Offset | 0 | ٢ | | |
| | | | | | ~ |

A full description of the device properties can be found in the Documentation tab.

Configure a contact

Use the System Design view to check and change properties for contacts.

When using a contact in your project, the physical change of the contact's state might not always result in a single open-to-close or close-to-open state change, but rather bounce between states multiple times before the final state is reached.

To eliminate false notification of the contact state to the Control4 system, you can configure a 'Debounce Timer' to allow the system to see only a single state change.

In the System Design view, you can set this option in the Properties pane when you select a contact.

To set this option:

1. Select the contact object from the project tree. View its properties in the Properties pane.

Modifiable properties include:

Invert Sensor–Depending on the sensor type, the controller sends a small amount of voltage through the sensor to close it, if for example when a door is closed with feedback indicating such. You use Invert Sensor if you want to feedback to be the opposite.

Enable Debounce Timer-Sets an amount of time that lapses before the sensor triggers to on.

Debounce Time(ms)-The amount of time in milliseconds before the sensor state changes to on.

- 2. Check the Enable Debounce Timer box.
- 3. In the Debounce Time(ms) (in milliseconds) drop-down menu, select to delay notification of the contact state (the default is 100 milliseconds).



Configure a Fan Speed Controller

This applies to next generation lighting (compatible with OS 2.5 and later).

When adding a Fan Speed Controller to your project, a keypad is also added underneath it. Both devices need to be configured.



To configure a Fan Speed Controller:

- 1. Add the Fan Speed Controller to your project tree, then identify it. For instructions, see "How to add devices to a project."
- 2. In the System Design view, select **Fan Speed Controller**. The device's *Properties* tab opens.
- 3. Configure the settings for the device as described in the following *Properties* sections.

If you entered text for custom engraving, go to "Ordering keycap engraving" Fan properties

| | 5 | | | | | | |
|---------------|-------------------|-----------|------------------|----------|--------|-------------|-----------|
| eset | Level High | • |] | | | | |
| | 1 Properties | | | | | | |
| ance alt f | etection | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| tatu | s:(| ОК | | | | | |
| | R | eset | | | | | |
| n Sp | eed Colors | | | | | | |
| Nam | e Low | • | True | | F | alse 📃 | |
| hier | nt Light Profiles | | | | | | |
| Back | light Color | | | | | | Apply to |
| | | | 1 | | | | |
| | Dark | Room | Dim F | loom | | Bright | Room |
| | Status LEDs | Backlight | Status LEDs Back | | ight S | Status LEDs | Backlight |
| 0 | Dim | Dim | Bright | Brig | ht | Bright | Off |
| 0 | Off | Off | Bright | Brig | ht | Bright | Off |
| ۲ | Dim | Dim | Bright | Brig | ht | Bright | Bright |
| 0 | Off | Off | Bright | Brig | ht | Bright | Bright |
| ۲ | | | Fully Cu | stomized | | | |
| | Information | | | | | | |
| ergy | Minutes Off: | 113524 | Curren | t Power: | 0 | watts | |
| ergy | Minutes On: | 227 | Energ | y Used: | 24 | watt hour | 5 |
| ergy | Minutes Oil. | | EnergyUsed | Totac | 0 | watt hour | 8 |
| ergy | tes On Today: | 0 | Energy Used | roosy. | | | |

Properties

• **Preset Level**— Select a fan speed from the drop-down list. This is the speed that will be used when the fan is toggled on.

Advanced Properties

- Fault Detection
- **Status**—Displays the device's current fault status. Green is normal, but red indicates a fault.
- **Reset**—Resets the fault status indicator. If the fault repeats, make sure that the load type is compatible, that the device is wired correctly, and that the device is not damaged.
- Fan Speed Colors
- Name—Select the fan speed using the Name drop-down menu, then click the True or False color bars to change them. *True* is the keypad color when

that speed is active.

- Ambient Light Profiles
- Select a preset brightness profile for the keypad backlight and LEDs that changes their brightness according to the room's ambient light. You can also select Fully Customized and manually set each brightness level according to ambient lighting.
- **Backlight Color**—Sets the keypad's backlight color. If you don't want a keypad backlight, keep the default setting (black).

Energy Information (view only)

- Minutes Off—Elapsed minutes since device was turned off.
- Minutes On—Elapsed minutes since device was turned on.
- Minutes On Today—Total minutes device has been on for the current day.
- **Current Power**—Power being consumed by the device at the present time.
- **Energy Used**—Total watt hours consumed by the device over its lifetime.
- **Energy Used Today**—Watt hours consumed by the device for the current day.

Network–(read only) The current MAC address and firmware version of the selected device. These fields are not editable.

Keypad properties

| Properties | | | | |
|-----------------|--------------------|-------|-------------------|---|
| Properties | | | | |
| Button Settings | | | | |
| Name | High | | High | |
| | Hab | | Med-High | |
| Engraving | | ICONS | Medium | |
| | | | Low | |
| Button Behavior | High Speed 💌 | | Off | |
| LED Behavior | Follow Fan Speed 🔹 | | | |
| True Color | | | Finish Snow White | • |
| False Color | | | | |

Properties

- Button Settings
- **Name**—The name of the button (used for defining its connections to other devices or events within Composer Pro).

- **Engraving**—Text that you want printed onto the buttons. For more information, see "<u>Ignore device when it comes online</u>—When selected, this <u>checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back</u><u>online</u>."—When selected, this checkbox tells the system to ignore the older device when it comes back online.
- **Icons**—Icons that you want printed onto the buttons. To add an icon to the Engraving text box, click **Icons**, then double-click the icon to add.
- **Button Behavior**—The fan speed that the selected button activates. You can also select **Keypad** for the button to act like a standard keypad button that doesn't directly control the fan speed.
- LED Behavior
- Follow Bound Device—LED behavior reflects the state of the device the button is bound to.
- Follow Fan Speed—LED behavior reflects the fan speed.
- **Push/Release**—LED behavior reflects the button state (pressed or released).
- **Push Color**—Sets the LED color while the button is pressed.
- **Release Color** Sets the LED color while the button is released.
- Programmed—LED behavior follows programming commands.
- Finish—Color of the buttons.

Configuring HVAC systems

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure a Control4 Wireless Thermostat. Control4 also supports multiple third-party thermostat models.

Note: Previous releases of Composer Pro documentation included instructions about how to configure third-party products and older versions of the Wireless Thermostat. Starting with OS 2.0, third-party device configurations are no longer included in the Control4 documentation, although they are still supported in the drivers list (for example, EnviraZone and Aprilaire RS232). Refer to previous releases of the Composer Pro User Guide for information about these third-party drivers and examples of older thermostat models.

Setting up a Wireless Thermostat

Use the System Design and Connections views to set up a Control4 Wireless Thermostat.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added to the project tree and is identified on the Control4 system.
- Ensure that the thermostat is installed at the wall as directed in the Control4 Wireless Thermostat Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.
- Ensure that the Control4 Wireless Thermostat is added to the project tree.

To configure a Wireless Thermostat for the Control4 system:

- 1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **Residential Thermostat** driver is added to the project tree (unless you're using a third-party thermostat).
 - To program the schedule, see "<u>Programming the Control4 Thermostat</u> schedule."
 - To set up advanced properties, see "<u>Using the Wireless Thermostat advanced</u> properties."

Programming the Control4 Thermostat schedule

Use the System Design view to set a heating and cooling schedule for your Control4 Wireless Thermostat (model number: Control4-CCZ-T1-x for OS 2.0 and later). The Control4 Wireless Thermostat works with your heating and cooling system to maintain a consistent temperature called a 'set point.' Using the Control4 Wireless Thermostat, you can specify separate heating and cooling set points.

Tip: New in OS 2.0 and later, you can set the heating and cooling schedule from a touch screen or on-screen Navigator. See the Control4 System User Guide for details.

The Control4 Wireless Thermostat automatically engages the appropriate heating or cooling system until the room reaches the desired temperature. In Composer Pro, you can set up a Heat Point and a Cool point for six possible Program Events in a day time period.
Program Events include:

- Awake—Sets the wakeup time and related Heat/Cool Points.
- Leave—Sets the away time and related Heat/Cool Points.
- **Return**—Sets for return time and related Heat/Cool Points.
- Sleep—Sets for sleep time and related Heat/Cool Points.
- **Custom 1**—Sets a specified time and related Heat/Cool Points.
- Custom 2—Sets a specified time and related Heat/Cool Points.

You can enable these Program Events for weekdays, weekends, or individual days to match activity in the home.

Prerequisite

Ensure that the thermostat is installed as directed in the Control4 Wireless Thermostat Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

To program the Wireless Thermostat schedule:

- 1. In the System Design view, select the Control4 Wireless Thermostat object.
- 2. The Properties appear in the center pane. Fahrenheit is selected by default; select Celsius as needed.
- 3. In the Properties tab, select **View/Edit Schedule**. The Schedule dialog appears with the currently programmed schedule for Monday through Sunday.

Note: You can schedule the thermostat either in Composer Pro or in the Control4 touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators. See the Control4 Wireless Thermostat User Guide or the Control4 System User Guide for information about scheduling a Wireless Thermostat from a Navigator.



Tip: To return to the original settings, click the **Restore Default** button.

4. For each line item: Awake, Leave, Return, Sleep, Custom 1, and Custom 2, use the **up** and **down** arrows to set the day and temperature Heat and Cool set points.

Notes: (1) You can view the schedule by selecting the **12 Hour Display** or the **24 Hour Display**. (2) The Cool and Heat Points stay two degrees apart. Example: If you set the Heat Point to **72** degrees, the lowest you can set the Cool Set Point is **74** degrees. This keeps your furnace and your air conditioner from competing with each other.

5. When you are finished, click **Ok**. Your updated schedule displays. You may then set the modifiable properties. See "Using the Wireless Thermostat advanced properties."

Using the Wireless Thermostat advanced properties

Use the System Design view to view and change the Wireless Thermostat properties. Set the Properties to create a schedule and the Advanced Properties to modify the thermostat's configuration.

Ensure that the Control4 Wireless Thermostat (model number: Control4-CCZ-T1-x for OS 2.0 and later) is installed as directed in the Control4 Wireless Thermostat Installation Guide available on the Dealer Portal.

To use the thermostat advanced properties:

- 1. In the project tree select the Control4 Wireless Thermostat.
- 2. Click the **Properties** tab to view the list below.

Note: Different properties may appear, depending on the thermostat model. The properties below apply to the Control4 Wireless Thermostat for OS 2.3.0 or later.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | - | | |
|---|---|---|-----------------------|
| System Design | Properties | Property | ies Summary List View |
| System | Properties | | Apply to |
| Connectat Connectat | Fahrenhoit C C Use Remote Temperal Buttom: Lo Advanced Properties Properties Actions Docu Status | hian Ver Scholds Version ur Senor cleal + Unlocked montation Las | ^ |
| Security Security | Exten LED Color LCD Backlight Aways On LCD Backlight Aways On LCD Backlight Active Brig — Bailt In Sensor Alass Bailt In Sensor Status Bailt In Sensor Tomporatu | Butters And Eachdet R. (0) 0. (0) 0. Dasked | × × |
| C 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 | Active Outdoor Temperate Show Humidity In Navigat Relative Humidity Sensor | No Oxtdoor Sensor Festaled | |
| | Built-In Relative Humidity | No Error | ~ |

Modifiable Advanced Properties include:

Properties

- Fahrenheit or Celsius—Sets the temperature display in Fahrenheit or Celsius.
- View/Edit Schedule—Brings up the schedule page to set heat and cool set points for auto mode (see below). In the mode (Awake, Leave, Return, etc.), set the day and temperature set points. Click OK to close the window. Note: You can view the



schedule by selecting the 12 Hour Display or the 24 Hour Display.

• Vacation—Lets you set the Heat Set Point and Cool Set Point when the homeowner is on vacation. Use the **up** or **down** arrows to set the heat and cool set points, and then click **OK**.

| Vaca | tion Heat S | et Point | |
|------|--------------|----------|---|
| | * | 88 F | |
| Vaca | tion Cool Se | et Point | |
| | * | 90 F | |
| | Cano | cel OK |) |

- Use Remote Temperature Sensor—Sets the thermostat to use either the on-board Local temperature sensor (default) or an optional Remote temperature sensor to control the HVAC system by selecting the Use Remote Temperature Sensor radio button.
- **Buttons**—Locks local buttons to prevent unwanted changes to thermostat settings. Select the **Locked** and **Unlocked** radio buttons. Note: If buttons are disabled, they will be re-enabled when the thermostat power cycles. This is a safety mechanism to prevent a thermostat from becoming completely inoperable if it were removed from a project while the buttons were disabled.

Advanced Properties

- General Setup
- **Backlight Mode**—Lets you select your preferences for the backlight. Select **On Button Press** to light the backlight for ten seconds when any button is pressed.

Select **Always On** to keep the backlight on constantly. When using batteries for power with power stealing enabled, the Always On option is not recommended.

- **Battery**—Shows the power source or battery level (for example, "Externally Powered").
- Time Format (Date and Time)—Lets you set preferences regarding Date Format (MM/DD/YYYY or DD/MM/YYY) and Time Format (12 h or 24 h). Click the Sync Time button under Time Format to update the time on your thermostat manually to the controller. (The thermostat also updates automatically at 3:00 AM each morning.)
- **Network**—Displays informational boxes that provide Zigbee networking information (MAC and Firmware Version).
- Advanced Device Configuration—Click this button to fine-tune your thermostat (see below).
- 3. Select Apply to to apply the current properties to the selected Wireless Thermostats.

Advanced Device Configuration

Control4 has enhanced the available thermostat settings to allow users and installers to modify engage and cutoff temperature deltas—as well as maximum and minimum run time, off, and delay times—so that the thermostat can be configured to run optimally with any HVAC system.

Note: Allowing such fine tuning of all settings can result in setting improper values and combination of values to cause the HVAC system to run less than optimal. To prevent thrashing the cool and heating engage (constant heat, then cool, engagement), cutoff and set points are enforced to have at least a one degree difference for engage temperatures.

The formula for the dependency of these values is:

Heat/cool engage delta–Opposite stage (if heat engage, then cool cutoff and visa versa) cutoff delta + set points delta (cool set point - heat set point) >=1

The screen below shows the Advanced Device Configuration properties.

| Temperature Calibration: | 0 🛟 F degree(s | Set Calibration |
|---------------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| | | |
| Heating Cutoff Point | 0 😂 F set point. | Set Heat Cutoff |
| | degree(s |)from |
| Cooling Cutoff Point | 0 🛟 F set point. | Set Looi Lutor |
| Stage Minimum Off Time (| Minutes): | * |
| | | V |
| | | |
| Heat Stage I Delta (degrees) | Heat Stage 2 | Auxiliary Heat |
| 18 A F | | |
| Minimum Bun Time | Minimum Bun Time | |
| (Minutes) 1 | (Minutes) 1 | (Minutes) 1 |
| | | |
| (Minutes) 60 | (Minutes) 60 | |
| | (Minutes) oo | |
| Cool Stage 1 | Cool Stage 2 | Emergency Heat |
| Delta (degrees) | Delta (degrees) | Delta (degrees) |
| 1.8 🤤 F | 1.8 🤤 F | 1.8 🗢 F |
| Minimum Run Time | Minimum Run Time | Minimum Run Time |
| (Minutes) 1 🛟 | (Minutes) 1 😂 | (Minutes) 1 😂 |
| Maximum Run Time | Maximum Run Time | Maximum Run Time |
| (Minutes) 60 🛟 | (Minutes) 60 😂 | (Minutes) 60 💲 |
| | | |
| Auxiliary Stage | | |
| Stage Delay (minutes) | : 4 | * |
| Stage Cutoff Delay (se | conds): 60 | ^ |
| | | |

• Temperature Calibration—Use the up or down arrows to set *x* degree(s), and then click Set Calibration. This lets you fine tune the current temperature reported by the thermostat by +/- 5 degrees. Example: If your thermostat reads 72 degrees Fahrenheit, and you determine that the current temperature should be 70 degrees Fahrenheit, press the down button two times to lower the thermostat's reading to 70 degrees Fahrenheit. Click Set Calibration.

Note: No changes to calibration should be made within 20 minutes of powering on the thermostat. The thermostat generates a small amount of heat which affects the calibration. After 20 minutes of continuous operation, this will stabilize allowing proper calibration.

• Heating Cutoff Point—Use the up or down arrows to set *x* degree(s) from the set point, and then click **Set Heat Cutoff**. This sets how far over the setpoint you want the heating system to remain engaged before shutting off. Example: If the heat set point is set to **68** degrees Fahrenheit and the cutoff

point is set to **2** degrees Fahrenheit, the heating system will engage until reaching **70** degrees.

- Cooling Cutoff Point—Use the up or down arrows to set x degree(s) from the set point, and then click Set Cool Cutoff. This sets how far under the setpoint you want the cooling system to remain engaged before shutting off.
 Example: If the cool setpoint is set to 68 degrees Fahrenheit and the cutoff point is set to 2 degrees Fahrenheit, the cooling system will engage until reaching 66 degrees.
- Stage Minimum Off Time (Minutes)—Use the up or down arrows to set the minimum off time in minutes. Note: This setting takes effect as soon as the Advanced Device Configuration box is closed.

This is the minimum amount of time that the heating or cooling will remain off before initiating again. Example: If while cooling, the temperature does not reach the designated cutoff point before the maximum run time is reached, the cooling system will shut off and not initiate cooling again until the Minimum Off Time is reached. Note: Some HVAC systems automatically enforce a Minimum Off Time. In this case, the heating or cooling will remain off for the higher of the two settings (thermostat or HVAC system).

Stage Configuration (Heat Stage 1, 2; Cool Stage 1, 2; Auxiliary; Emergency)

The stage configuration boxes allows for setting the engage delta, minimum run time and maximum run time for each stage.

Note: These settings take effect as soon as the Advanced Device Configuration box is closed.

• **Delta** (degrees)—Use the **up** or **down** arrows to set the stage engage temperature delta. This sets how many degrees the current temperature will reach beyond the setpoint before the stage engages.

Example:

For heat, if the heat setpoint is 70 degrees Fahrenheit and the engage delta is 2 degrees Fahrenheit, the heat stage will engage when temperature reaches 68 degrees.

Note: For multi-stage systems, the deltas for the first and second stages are cumulative. If the first stage delta is set at **2** degrees Fahrenheit and the second stage delta is set at **2** degrees Fahrenheit, the second stage will not engage until the current temperature has passed the stage setpoint by **4** degrees Fahrenheit. However, the Auxiliary Heat and Emergency Heat deltas are NOT cumulative.

• Minimum Run Time—Use the up or down arrows to set the stage *x* minimum run time in minutes. The minimum run time is one minute. This sets the minimum time the heating and cooling will run before shutting off. Example: If while cooling or heating, the temperature reaches the designated Cutoff Point before the Minimum Run Time is reached, the system will not shut off until the Minimum Run Time is reached. Also, if heat or cool is engaged and shut off manually, the system will not shut off until the

Minimum Run Time is reached. Note: Some HVAC systems have built-in Minimum Run Times that may be greater than that set on the thermostat.

• Maximum Run Time—Use the up or down arrows to set the Heat Stage *x* maximum run time in minutes. The maximum run time is 255 minutes. This sets the maximum time the heating or cooling will run before turning off. Example: If heating or cooling is engaged, but does not reach the Cutoff Point before the Maximum Run Time is reached, the cooling system will turn off. Note: The Maximum and Minimum Run Times are not per stage, but for cooling and heating run times regardless of first or second stage transitions.

Auxiliary Stage

The Auxiliary and Emergency Heat stages are specifically for heat pump systems. The switches on the back of the thermostat allow the thermostat to operate a heat pump system.

Note: These settings take effect as soon as the Advanced Device Configuration box is closed.

- **Stage Delay (Minutes)**—Use the **up** or **down** arrows to set the stage delay for *x* minutes. This sets the allotted time the main heat pump system will run without reaching the desired heat setpoint goal before the Auxiliary stage engages. Note: If set to the maximum time allowed, the auxiliary system will be disabled and never engage.
- Stage Cutoff Delay (seconds)—Use the up or down arrows to set the stage cutoff delay in seconds. This sets how much of a delay before the main heat pump cuts off, leaving the Auxiliary heating stage to run on its own. Note: If set to the maximum time allowed, the main heat pump stage and the Auxiliary heat stage will run together indefinitely.

Configuring a camera

Use the System Design and Connections views to configure this device. Security cameras, including on-screen controls in Navigators such as pan, tilt, zoom, and preset settings, are supported, along with HTTP control and JPEG or MJPEG images.

Drivers for cameras (also referred to as *IP cameras*, *web cameras*, or *security cameras*) now have greater configurability within Composer Pro. A camera diagnostics page has also been added to the basic properties. In addition, the video feed quality is greatly improved for mobile viewing.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that your project has a Control4 controller added to the project tree and is identified on the Control4 system.
- Ensure that the camera is installed as directed in the manufacturer's installation guide.

To add and configure a camera:

1. In the camera's *Properties* pane, click **Help**. A help topic opens explaining how to configure and test the camera driver.

Configuring Black & Decker locks

Use the System Design view to add and configure Black & Decker KwikSet[®] SmartCode[®] with Home ConnectTM Technology Zigbee Deadbolt locks, Baldwin, or other supported locks for exterior doors. In general, these instructions can be used to add and configure lock drivers for other lock products compatible with Control4 systems.

Ensure that the Black & Decker locks are installed as directed in the Black & Decker Installation instructions shipped with the product.

To add and configure Black & Decker locks:

1. To add the driver and identify the device see "<u>How to add devices to a project</u>." Ensure that the **Black and Decker SmartLock RF Zigbee** driver is added to the project tree.

Tip: If you are adding several locks in a home, it might be useful to give each lock a unique name.

- 2. For each lock you add to the project, add a Relay to the project tree also. See "Configuring Motorization."
- 3. Click the **Connections** view.
- 4. In the Connections view, use the **Control & Audio Video Connections** tab to make the necessary control connection.
- 5. Under Control Outputs, select the Lock State and drag it down to the Relay in the RELAY Input Devices pane.
- 6. (Optional) For additional Black and Decker Zigbee Lock setup, configure the Properties.
- 1. In the System Design view project tree, select the **Black and Decker Zigbee Lock** object.
- 2. Modify the properties in the Properties pane, and then click **Set** (if applicable).
 - **Debug Mode**—Use the drop-down menu to select logging and printing.
 - Lock Sleep Timer—Use the drop-down menu to select how long the lock is in sleep mode (in seconds).
 - **# of Log Items**—Use the up or down arrows to set the number of items to log.
 - Last Status—Last change made in Debug Mode.
 - Firmware Version—Indicates the Zigbee firmware version for the lock.
 - Instructions—See the Documentation tab.
 - Name, Code x—Enter the lock name and code here. You can enter up to 30 code entries. Set up the user codes here. Type the user's name, then a comma (,), and then add the numeric code (4 to 8 characters allowed). Example: Bob, 12345. Up to 30 codes can be entered.

Tip: The codes can be entered also on the touch screen or on-screen Navigator if you download the Black & Decker application from 4Store.

- 3. Click the **Documentation** tab for additional information about setting the properties, user codes, and actions for the locks.
- 4. Click the Actions tab.
 - Get Battery Status—Click to show the status of the battery on the lock.
 - **Show User Codes**—Click to show all of the user codes assigned to this lock. The user codes appear in the Properties tab.
 - **Hide User Codes**—Click to hide all user codes assigned to this lock. The user codes appear as x's in the Properties tab.
 - Delete All Codes—Click to delete all user codes assigned to this lock.

Note: You can set the user codes either from Composer Pro, or from the touch screen or on-screen Navigator in My Apps (downloaded from 4Store). The priority for setting user codes and Actions is whoever set the codes or actions last, whether it was in Composer Pro or on a touch screen or on-screen Navigator, will be the valid codes or actions used. See the Black & Decker KwikSet SmartCode with HomeConnect[™] Locks User Guide on the Control4 Products page for details.

5. Click the Lua tab. This is used for the DriverWorks SDK (developers only).

Connecting devices

After you plan and create the project in Composer Pro's System Design for a Control4 system (adding the buildings, rooms, devices, etc.), you are ready to make the necessary connections in the system. Just like you connect cables and wires between your physical devices so they work together, those same connections need to be added virtually in Composer Pro using the Connections view.

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- · Connect devices virtually
- Verify the connections by testing them

Why you need connections

The software connections represent either connections between the controller and its attached devices or connections among AV devices.

When you match the connections together in Composer Pro, the software connections mirror the hardware connections in the system where appropriate. The system can then control the connected devices and identifies where to route the media where it's available.

These types of connections are used in the Control4 system:

- Network Connections
 Defines the devices that use a network address. Network connections include IP
 and Zigbee or Zigbee Pro devices.
- Control Connections—Defines the control connection between a device and the controller. Control connections include contacts, relays, serial, and IR -controlled devices.
- Audio and Video Connections-Defines the devices that have audio and/or video signals.
- Room Connections–Defines the video, audio, or video/audio end points and the video/audio or audio volume for the selected room.

Connection design tips for CentralizedLighting

Because there could be potentially many devices in a Centralized Lighting solution, making the proper connections between the modules and loads is key to efficient Centralized Lighting design. It will require some practice and trial and error on each project to get the system designed the way you want it.

Keep these things in mind:

- Each module ideally should use all channels and be close to the maximum wattage allowed. This must be traded off, however, against certain realities; for example, arc-fault breakers, numerous small loads, and very large loads.
- Whenever possible, put the loads in the same room on the same module. This allows each module override scene to control loads that would be grouped together logically.
- When using multiple panel/module installation locations, connect loads to modules in a nearby location to minimize long wiring runs.

Connect and verify devices

In Composer Pro Connections, you can:

- Identify Control4 devices to establish a network connection
- Check all network connections
- Define AV connections
- Define control connections

When only one connection is available in a room for a given connection type, Composer Pro assumes that connection.

Tip: To remove any inappropriate connection, right-click the connection, and select **Disconnect**.

Example: If a TV is the only Audio Output device in a room, the system assumes that the Audio Output connection is routed to the TV. This feature adds value to Composer Pro, but increases the need to verify every connection.

To connect devices:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Connections.
- 3. Identify the devices to add their network addresses to the project.
- 1. In Connections, click the Network tab > IP Network (default).

Notice the devices that do not have an address listed in the Address column of the IP Network Connections pane. These devices need to be identified and connected.

Tip: Devices that appear with a highlighted SDDP in the Available Devices pane can be added and identified using Auto Discovery. See "<u>Auto Discovery (SDDP</u>)"

in this document for details.

| onnections | | IP Network Connec | tions | | | | Available Devices |
|---------------|---------|-----------------------|--------------|------------|--|-------------------|--|
| Control/AV | Network | Identify Disconnect | | | Disc | onnect All IP | □-c4:control4_ca1 |
| P Network | | | | | View as: C | Tree List | ca1-000FFF5133C1 |
| igBee Network | | Device | Room | Tune | Address Tupe | Address | ⊡-c4:control4_doorstation_ds2 |
| -Wave Network | | Files | Thousan | iype | in the second se | reacts. | -12000 C4DS2-7C1EB3018E94 |
| | | E EAG | Theater | C4.Contra | UUID | - 4-UUN 7001 | E-c4:control4_ea5 |
| | | The Profit Door | Theater | Min.came | UUID | c4.LILIN IPC21 | IraningHoom2-HedClifts-000FFF1 |
| | | Carrier Carrier | Theater | Min.carre | | e4-LILIN MD92 | C4:control4_ncsUU_nomecontroller |
| | | Side Days T2 10" | Theater | a facidard | UUID | C4.LILIN MINOS | HCSUU-Board Hoom-UUUFFF5/F63 |
| | | Front Door T2 10" | Theater | c4.udevi | | c4.udevice_gla | E-c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2 |
| | | AVP X2200W | Theater | Denen:A | | Depen AVR Y2 | annai-uutti 92a241 |
| | | Controld 8v8 HDMLM | Theater | c4h/862 | UUID | c4tu962d_avm | C4:C0ntrol4_light:C4-DIN-SREL-E-V2 |
| | | Control 4 DS2 Door St | Theater | c4.000Z | | c4.control/_dor | - 4 and all table C4 Dill 070/ 5 |
| | | T3 10" Tableton Tou | Theater | c4xiderf | UUID | cálidevice da | C4.Control4_lignt.C4-DIN-81V-E |
| | | Ecoso Projector | Theater | energy E | ID ID | 192 169 102 11 | addeed dinrai-outim 15272e |
| | | Bus Phamat Gataway | Theater | epson.c | | CA:nateway CA. | Great discut 00000024-00 |
| | | 2 2 Channel 0.10V Mod | Theater | of portr | | cd-controld light | - 44 UNUDC210 DT7 Carrier 250-12 |
| | | 2 Channel Dimmer | Theater | of contr | | ed-control4_light | Green News |
| | | (a) Lite NVR (P) | Theater | lincable | IP | 192 168 102 17 | a Addu N MD922 PT7 Carran E00409 |
| | | Int Some BRAVIA | Family Room | eonutu:X | | roputu:XBR-65 | STATILITY MINOS2P 12-Callera_500065 |
| | | Bight Sony BRAVIA | Bedmorn | sony tv:X | UUID | sony ty:XBR-65 | CLOWER LILIN MYR 1400 |
| | | A INVS 8x8 AMS | Litity | c4triad | UUID | c4triad ame8-a | NVP1400 11027E |
| | | A Triad AMS | Theater | c4triad | | c4triad_ame8-a | - 41 II IN 706122 IVS DT7 Comment E051a5 |
| | | Pedestal Triad One | Kitchen | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one-tria | STR 111 IN.7DC122JVS-0006-5051-5 |
| | | Soundhar Triad One | My Home | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_ope-tria | Check 062d sumstimutely o |
| | | IPI Dish Media | Theater | EchoStar | 551 | 192 168 102 11 | at here a here and he |
| | | Amazon Bre TV | Fourier Boom | cálua gen | IP | 192 168 102 12 | C4_00020_avinatioswitch-000in 1 |
| | | T3 10" Tableton Tou | Family Boom | c41idevi | IP | 102.100.102.12 | See 24000 |
| | | | | | - | | State amag.000fffC0021b |
| | | _ | | | | | Electrical one |
| System Design | | | | | | | STOR triad cose 000EEE901612 |
| 20 | | | | | | | State triad one 000EEE000011 |
| Connections | | | | | | | - chuidevice, classed as 10 touchecreen |
| ~ | | | | | | | Gildersedge10-000ff812833 |
| 🚽 Media | | | | | | | - c4uidevice classedge10p touchscreep |
| - | | | | | | | STOR classed on 100-000fff80 de 50 |
| 📊 Agents | | | | | | | - othere |
| 97 | | | | | | | 5000 5/9ec1b3//59-19bb-8530-0005CD |
| Programming | | | | | | | DENON AND V22001 |

2. Select an unidentified device in the address list, then right-click and select **Identify** (or click the **Identify** button in the list header). A device-specific instruction screen with a graphic of the device displays (for example, 8 Channel Dimmer).

| Connections | | IP Network Connections | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|---------|------------------------|---------------|---------|------------|--------------|-----------------|--|--|--|
| Control/AV | Network | Identify | Disconnect |] | | Disc | onnect All IP | | | |
| P Network | | | | | | View as: () |) Tree 💿 List | | | |
| ZigBee Network | | Device | | Room | Туре | Address Type | Address | | | |
| Z-Wave Network | | 5 EA-5 | | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_ea | | | |
| | | The Front Do | or | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN ZR61 | | | |
| | | A Back Ya | ard | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN IPS2 | | | |
| | | 🕫 Garage | | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN MR8 | | | |
| | | 🔤 Side Do | or T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_g | | | |
| | | Front Do | or T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_g | | | |
| | | AVR-X3 | 300W | Theater | Denon:A | UUID | Denon:AVR-X | | | |
| | | Control4 | 8x8 HDMI M | Theater | c4:lu862 | UUID | c4:lu862d_av | | | |
| | | P Control4 | DS2 Door St | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_do | | | |
| | | 🔤 T3 10" 1 | Tabletop Tou | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_g | | | |
| | | Epson P | rojector | Theater | epson:E | IP | 192.168.102.1 | | | |
| | | Bus Ethe | ernet Gateway | Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:gateway:C4 | | | |
| | | S-Chann | el 0-10V Mod | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_lig | | | |
| | | 📃 🔜 8-Chann | el Dimmer | | | | | | | |
| | | 🕘 Lilin NVI | R (IP) | | | | | | | |

3. At the physical device, press the **Identification** button or dial, as indicated on the screen. The button to be pushed on the device flashes on the screen.



4. When the device's network address displays in the box, click **Next** to continue, or click **Close** if you've identified the IP network device. Follow these steps for each device.

When you are finished, notice that the Address column is populated with an address for the network device.

| IP Network Connect | tions | | | | | |
|----------------------|---------|-------------|--------------|--------|----------------|-------------|
| Identify Disconnect | | | | | Disconne | ct All IP |
| | | | | Vi | ew as: 🔿 Tre | e 🖲 List |
| Device | Room | Туре | Address Type | Addr | ess | IP Address |
| 5 EA-5 | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:co | ontrol4_ea5 | 168.102.5 |
| Pront Door | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LI | LIN ZR6122 | 168.102.122 |
| 🕫 Back Yard | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LI | LIN IPS210 | 168.102.116 |
| 🕫 Garage | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LI | LIN MR832 | 168.102.115 |
| Side Door T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uid | device_glas | |
| Front Door T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uid | device_glas | 168.102.110 |
| AVR-X3300W | Theater | Denon:A | UUID | Deno | n:AVR-X33 | 168.102.134 |
| Gontrol4 8x8 HDMI M | Theater | c4:lu862 | UUID | c4:lu | 862d_avmat | 168.102.149 |
| Control4 DS2 Door St | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:co | ontrol4_door | 168.102.112 |
| T3 10" Tabletop Tou | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uid | device_glas | 168.102.114 |
| Epson Projector | Theater | epson:E | IP | 192.1 | 168.102.11 | 168.102.11 |
| Bus Ethernet Gateway | Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:ga | ateway:C4-D | 168.102.107 |
| S-Channel 0-10V Mod | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:co | ntrol4_light: | 168.102.144 |
| 🔜 8-Channel Dimmer | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:c0 | ontrol4_light: | 168.102.121 |
| Lilin NVR (IP) | Theater | lilin:cable | IP | 192.1 | 168.102.173 | 168.102.173 |

Define the control and AV connections

- 4. For each device, define the following when applicable:
 - Video connections (path of video signals)

- Audio connections (path of audio signals)
- Control connections (how the controller communicates with the device)

To define the connections:

- 1. In Connections, click the **Control/AV** tab.
- 2. Select a **device** in the Control/AV tab. The Control & Audio Video Connections for the selected device display in the top pane.
- 3. Select one of the device's connections in the top pane. The available connections for the selected connection display in the bottom pane.
- 4. To make a connection, **drag** a device's input (or output) in the top pane to the output (or input) in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|-------------------------------|---------|-----------------|--------------|------------------------------|----------------------------------|------|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vi | deo Con | | | | | |
| Control/AV Network | Amazon Fire TV | | | | | | |
| | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | | |
| | Audio/Video Outputs | | | | | | |
| Amazon Fire TV | AV Out | Video | COMPOSITE | Output | | | |
| - Netfix | AV Out | Video | HDMI | Output | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix->So | urce 5 | |
| -BB HBO | Second Cont | Audio | STEREO | Output | | | |
| ESPN | AV Out | Audio | DIGITAL_OPTICAL | Output | | | |
| Room | | | | | | | |
| Garage | | | | | | | |
| Ktonen | | | | | | | |
| Pedestal Triad One | | | | | | | |
| - V My Home | | | | | | | |
| - Soundbar Triad One | | | | | | | |
| - 🖓 Yard Lighting | | | | | | | _ |
| | HDMI Input Devices | | | | | | |
| - Speaker Demo | Device | | Name | | Location | Connections | ^ |
| Mohim 7 | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 4 | | Theater | Dish Media->AV Out | |
| Edge 7 | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 5 | | Theater | Amazon Fire TV->AV Out | |
| -•• 1Q 3 ···· · | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 6 | | Theater | Sony Blu-ray->Output | |
| < > | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 7 | | Theater | | |
| | Fee Control 4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 8 | | Theater | Laptop PC-SAV Out | |
| 🔯 System Design | Epson Projector | | HDBaseT | | Theater | Avn-x3300W->Output | - 64 |
| Connections | Left Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 1 | | Family Room | | |
| V connections | Left Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 2 | | Family Room | | |
| 🕞 Media | Eleft Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 3 | | Family Room | | |
| | Left Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 4 | | Family Room | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix->Zone 1 | |
| Agents | Right Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 1 | | My Home | | |
| W Programming | Pight Sony BRAVIA | | HUMI 2 | | My Home | | |
| w | Right Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 4 | | My Home | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix->Zone 2 | |
| | < | | | | | | > |

Example 1: Make Receiver Connections

In the top pane under Audio Video Inputs:

- 5. Click INPUT DVD (Video-COMPOSITE), and drag it to DVD (Output-Theater) in the bottom pane.
- 6. Click **INPUT VIDEO 1 (Video-COMPOSITE)**, and drag it to **Home Controller HC-800 (Video Out 1-Theater)** in the bottom pane. This connects the Receiver Video 1 input to the controller Video 1 output.
- 7. Click INPUT DVD (Audio-STEREO), and drag it to DVD (Output-Theater) in the bottom pane.
- 8. Click INPUT VIDEO 1 (Audio-STEREO), and drag to Controller (Stereo 1-Theater) in the bottom pane.
- 9. In the top pane under the Control Inputs pane (scroll down), click **IR Sensor (Control-IR_OUT)**, and drag it to **Controller (IR Output 2-Theater)** in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | |
|---|--|----------------------------|------------------------------------|--|--------------------------------|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vid | | | | |
| Control/AV Network | Name | Tune | Connection | Innut/Output | Connected To |
| Garage | Audio/Video Outputs | 1300 | Composition | input output | connected to |
| Garage Door (Sensor) | S Output | Video | COMPONENT | Output | Receiver->INPUT DVD |
| | Cutput | Video Audio | DIGITAL_OPTICAL | Output | |
| | Support | Audio Audio | STEREO DIGITAL_CDAX | Output Output | |
| System Remote Control SR-250 6-Button Keypad | Control Inputs | | | | |
| - Duch Screen - 7" | IR Sensor | Control | IR_OUT | Input | Home Controller HC300>IR OUT 3 |
| | Room Control | | | | |
| Samsung TV Source DVD Motorized Screen | 0utput Audio/Video End 0utput Audio/Video End | RoomControl RoomControl | AUDIO_SELECTION VIDEO_SELECTION | l Output Output | |
| Door Contact Sensor | IR_OUT Output Devices | | | | |
| - E 3-Button Keypad | Device | Name | Location | Connections | |
| Addo Switch | Reference Controller HC300 | IR OUT 1 IR OUT 2 | Family Family | Samsung TV->IR Sens Receiver->IR Sensor | or 🖌 |
| System Design | Home Controller HC300 | IR OUT 3 | Family | DVD->IR Sensor | - |
| Connections | Rome Controller HC300 | IR OUT 5 IR OUT 6 | Family Family Family | | |
| 🛞 Media | | | | | |
| agents | | | | | |
| 👹 Programming | | | | | |

Example 2: Make Television Connections

In the top pane under the Audio Video Inputs pane:

I

- 10. Click AV (Video-COMPOSITE), and drag it to Receiver (Output-Theater) in the bottom pane.
- 11. Click AV (Audio-STEREO), and drag it to Receiver (Output -Theater) in the bottom pane.
- 12. Under Control Inputs, click IR Sensor (Control-IR_OUT), and drag to Controller (IR Output 1-Theater) in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|----------|---------------------------|---------|-----------------|--------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------|-----|
| Connections | | Control & Audio Vi | deo Con | | | | | |
| Control/AV Netv | vork | Amazon Fire TV | | | | | | |
| | v 6 9 | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | | |
| | | Audio/Video Outputs | | | | | | |
| Handbook Amazon Fire TV | ^ ^ | AV Out | Video | COMPOSITE | Output | | | |
| Netfix | ALC: NOT | AV Out | Video | HDMI | Output | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matri | ix->Source 5 | |
| - HBO | | NOut | Audio | STEREO | Output | | | |
| ESPN | | AV Out | Audio | DIGITAL_OPTICAL | Output | | | |
| - The Room | | | | | | | | |
| - Garage | | | | | | | | |
| E- 🐨 Ktchen | | | | | | | | |
| Kitchen Table | | | | | | | | |
| Pedestal Triad One | | | | | | | | |
| Soundhar Triad One | | | | | | | | |
| Yard Lighting | | | | | | | | |
| | | HDMI Input Devices | | | | | | |
| 🕀 🐨 Speaker Demo | | Device | | Name | | Location | Connections | ~ |
| - Demo Off | | Becasterid 0.0 UDMI Mater | | Course 4 | | Desites | Disk Made a MVO 4 | |
| Mobius 7 | | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 4 | | Theater | Amazon Fire TV-SAV Out | |
| Edge 7 | | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 6 | | Theater | Sony Bu-ray-SOutout | |
| - Was | × * | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 7 | | Theater | | |
| | | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 8 | | Theater | Laptop PC->AV Out | - |
| System Design | | Epson Projector | | HDMI | | Theater | AVR-X3300W->Output | |
| N | | Epson Projector | | HDBaseT | | Theater | | |
| Connections | | Left Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 1 | | Family Room | | |
| | | Left Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 2 | | Family Hoom | | |
| Com Media | | Left Sony BRAVIA | | | | Family Poom | Controld 8x8 HDMI Matrix->Zone | |
| Agents | | Bight Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 1 | | My Home | Consolve and FIDMI Matter/2016 | · . |
| | | Right Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 2 | | My Home | | |
| 🦉 Programming | | Right Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 3 | | My Home | | |
| - | | Right Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 4 | | My Home | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix->Zone | 2 🗸 |
| | | | | | | | | |

Example 3: Make module and load connections for Centralized Lighting

In the Control/AV tab:

13. Select the room where the module is located, **Mechanical Room**, and then select the module, for example, **8-Channel Dimmer 1**.

- 14. In Control & Audio Video Connections, locate the first entry **Channel 1** under Circuit 1.
- 15. Click Channel 1 and drag it to Overhead Lights in the bottom pane.
- 16. Click **Channel 2** and drag it to **Fan Light** in the bottom pane.
- 17. Click Channel 3 and drag it to Alcove Lights in the bottom pane.
- 18. Note 'Connected To' in the top pane and 'Connections' in the bottom pane. You should see that the module and load are now connected.

| | | & Audio \ | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|----------------|----------------|--------------------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|------------|--|-----|-------------------------|
| Cortrol/AV Network | 8-Channel | Dimmer 1 | | | | | | | | |
| - 3 Pool Table | A Name | Carv | ections | | Connected | Connection | Watta | Connected To | | Crout 1 - Wats |
| - 1 Theater Sconces | Circuit 1 | | | | | | | | _ | Allowed: 1440 |
| Cost | 🖉 Diana | 1 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PAN | EL_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL DO | UGHT | 300 | Studio : Overhead Lights : Panel Module | 1 | Used: \$70 |
| Gesement Bedroom Overhead Lights | ∯ Dam Ø Dam | 2 PAN 3 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PAN | EL_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DB | UGHT | 290 225 | Studio-I-Fan Light-IPanel Module Studio-I-Nicove units I-Panel Module | | Available: 570 |
| - II Fan Light | D Orano | 4 PAN | EL DIM LIGHT / PAN | EL NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL NO | NDM_LIGHT | 65 | Studo->Celling an >Panel Module | | Crout 1 - Denning Watts |
| Celling Fan | Circuit 2 | | | | | | _ | | - | Allowed 999 |
| Contract Little | Ø Dam | 15 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PAN | EL NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DO | LUGHT | 300 | Essenent Endoon-:Overhead Lights | | |
| - I Fan Light | S Channe | 6 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PAN | EL_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_MO | NDIM_LIGHT | 65 | Basement advoom->Celling Fan >Pan | | Used 805 |
| - I Acove Lights | S Dam | 7 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PAN | EL_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DB | N_UGHT | 290 | Basement Gedoom oFan Light oPanel | | Available: 154 |
| Celling Fan | S Channe | ES PAN | L_DIM_LIGHT / PAN | EL_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DB | CUGHT | 200 | Family Real->Star Botton Lights->Pa | | Crout 2 - Wats |
| Basement Bath | Panel | | | | | | | | - | Allowed: 1440 |
| -2] Shower | 30 DIN PA | Panel Diff, | AND FOLL SLOT | | | | | | | Used: 845 |
| [] Ethaust Fan | | | | | | | | | | Available: 595 |
| Mechanical Room | | | | | | | | | | Canut 2 - Denning Watts |
| kt 1 Davel Dener 2 | | | | | | | | | | Allowed Alla |
| - kill 8 Ohannel Denner 3 | 100 | | | | | | | | | ABONEC 111 |
| - BLE S-Channel Relay | | | | | | | | | | Used 700 |
| - BLE 8-Pot Ethernet Switch | | | | | | | | | | Available: 219 |
| process. | - | | | | | | | / | | Nodule Wats |
| System Design | Dimming 8 | Idule Channel | Devices (PANEL_DM) | UGHT, PANEL, NO | DIM_UGHT) | | | | | |
| Connections | Device | | Nane | Location | Wats | Connections | | | | Filter Options |
| A | 1)Overte | ed Lights | Panel Module | Studio | 300 | 8 Orannel Deve | w 1:0 | annel 1 | | Show Unbound Items |
| Media | -U Fan Ug | He | Panel Module | Studio | 280 | 5-Channel Dave | er 1:01 | annel 2 | - 0 | Show Bound Items |
| Aprets | Acces | ad Lights | Panel Module | Basement Bed | 300 | 5 Channel Devel | er 1004 | arried 5 | | Show Dimmable Lights |
| | Fan Up | H | Panel Module | Basement Bed | 280 | 5-Damel Dev | er 1:0 | arrel 7 | | Show Non-Dimmable Light |
| Programming | Star B | tion Lights | Panel Module | Family Room | 200 | S-Channel Dave | er 1:On | annel 8 | | |
| | BarCa | | Panel Module | Family Room | 300 | 5 Channel Deve | w 2:01 | annel 1 | | |

19. Filter the loads by Unbound, Bound, Dimmable lights, and Non-Dimmable lights:

| | Control & Audio 1 | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|----------------|----------------------|------------|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Control #V Network | 8-Channel Dimmer 1 | | | | | | |
| - 3 Pool Table | * Name Conr | rections | | Connected Connection | Watte | Connected To | Crout 1 - Watta |
| - U Theater Sconces | Circuit 1 | | | | | | Allowed: 1440 |
| Cost | Damei 1 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT | 300 | Studio->Overhead Lights >Panel Module | Used: 870 |
| Overhead Lights | O'David 2 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT | 290 | Studio-oFan Light-oFanel Module | Available: 570 |
| - I Fan Light | Oranei 4 PRN | EL DIM LIGHT / PANE | L NONDIM LIGHT | PANEL NONDIM LIGHT | 65 | Studio-Sceling Fan-SPanel Module | Onud 1 - Desense Water |
| Celling Fan | Circuit 2 | | | | | | Allowed 1999 |
| 2 Overhead Lights | Channel 5 PAN | EL.DM_UGHT / PANE | L,NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT | 300 | Basement Bedroom :/Overhead Lights | |
| - I Fan Light | Channel 6 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_NONDIM_LIGHT | 65 | Basement Bedroom >Ceiling Fan >Pan | Used 805 |
| - 2 Alcove Lights | Orbannel 7 PAN | EL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT | 200 | Basement Bedroom > Fan Light > Panel | Available: 154 |
| Celing Fan | growes rws | IL DIR DURIT / PANE | Choncos Doni | PANEL_DIM_DUMI | 200 | Fanty Poon-Solar boton Lights-ona | Crout 2 - Watts |
| Up the Basemert Bath | OTH Rel Read | BAL DEL SIGT | | | | | Allowed 1440 |
| - Stower | A COLORED ON | press out and the second | | | | | Used: 045 |
| Erhaust Fan | | | Chas Oatin | | _ | | Available: 595 |
| 82 I-Dravel Denner 1 | | | riter Optio | ns | | | Circuit 2 - Denning Watts |
| - BLE B-Channel Denner 2 | | | E Cha | . I labourd be | | | Allowed 999 |
| - BLE B-Channel Denmer 3 | 0 | | Suc 2 | w Unbound ite | ms | | theat 780 |
| - SEE Dohamel Relay | 1 | | | | | | |
| Not a constrained below | * | | V Show | w Bound Items | s | | Available 219 |
| N contraction | | | | | | | Module Watts |
| System Design | Comming Module Channel | Devices (PANEL_D | Show | w Dimmable L | .ights | | - Eller Ontone |
| Connections | Device | Name | - | | | | 2 Show Unbound Items |
| - Hedu | Fan Light | Panel Module | Show | w Non-Dimma | ble L | lights | 1 V Show Round Items |
| | Acove Lights | Panel Module | | | | | V Show Dimenable Lights |
| Agents | - Overhead Lights | Panel Module | Casement Ded | 300 Schave bin | Ner 1004 | ave 5 | V Show Non-Clementals Link |
| Programming | Star Bottom Lights | Panel Module | Family Room | 200 B-Channel Day | ner 1-iOv | arred 2 | and the second second |
| | BarCana | Panel Module | Family Room | 300 8-Channel Dan | mer 2 : On | arrel 1 | |

20. The following example shows bound, non-dimmable lights. This is an easy way to make sure all of your connections are correct.

| Device | Name | Location | Watts | Connections | Filter Options |
|-------------|--------------|---------------|-------|-------------------------------|----------------------|
| Ceiling Fan | Panel Module | Studio | 65 | 8-Channel Dimmer 1->Channel 4 | Show Unbound Items |
| Celling Fan | Panel Module | Basement Bed | 65 | 8-Channel Dimmer 1->Channel 6 | Show Bound Items |
| Enhaust Fan | Panel Module | Basement Bath | 75 | 8-Channel Dimmer 3->Channel 3 | Show Dimmable Lights |
| | | | | | Show Non-Dimmabl |

21. View the wattage: max, used, and available wattage for each circuit as you make the connections.

| | Control & Auc | dio Video Connecti | | | | | |
|--------------------|---|---|-------------------|--|---|--|--|
| ControllAV Network | 8-Channel Dimmer 1 | | | | | | |
| - 20 Pool Table | * Nane | Connections | | Connected Connection | Watts Conve | ected To | Orout 1 - Watts |
| | Grand 1 (Consent 1 (Consent 2 (Consent 3 (Consent | Hell Dat Unit / Hell Nordin Tout Hell Dat Tout / Hell Nordin Tout Hell Dat Tout Hell D | | Circuit 1 - W Allowed: Used: Available: Circuit 1 - D Allowed: Used: Available: Circuit 2 - W Allowed: Used: | atts 1440 870 570 imming Watts 999 805 194 Vatts 1440 845 | Pearl Lights Jhran Miskak Light Jhran Miskak to Lights Jhran Miskak to Fan Jhran Miskak Samo Johnes Lights Johnson Hann Jhran Lights Jhran Jhran Dahma Lights Jhran Jhran Balton Lights Jhran | Alexed 140 Units ETC Analatic 507 Goal 1-Denny Illine Analatic 507 Units EST Analatic 101 Orad 2-10mr Analatic 101 Orad 2-10mr Analatic 101 Orad 2-00mr Analatic 101 Orad 2-00mr Analatic 101 Orad 2-00mr Analatic 101 Analatic 101 |
| 🥁 System Design | Dimming Module Cha | annel Devices (PANEL_DIM | LIGHT, PANEL_NONE | Available: 535 | | | - Eller Onteres |
| Connections | Cevice Close to a finite | Read Multiple | Location | Circuit 2 - D | imming Watts | | Show Unboard Items |
| 😏 Media | Fan Light | Panel Module Panel Module Panel Module | Sudo Sudo | Allowed: | 999 | | 1 Show Bound Items |
| Agents | Overhead Lights | Panel Module | Basement Bed | Used: | 780 | | Show Dimmable Lights |
| B Programming | Fan Light Panel Module Basement Bed. Sair Batton Lights Panel Module Family Roon Bar Care Panel Module Family Roon Science Owned Panel Module Family Roon | | Available: | 219 | | Show Non-Dimmable Lights | |
| | | | Module Wat | Ha | | - | |

Watt types:

- Circuit watts—The total number of watts allowed on each circuit.
- **Dimming watts**—The dimming number of watts allowed when using Arc-Fault breakers.
- Module watts—The total number of watts allowed for the module.
- 22. If you get an overloaded circuit error message, connect the load to a different module.

| -Channel Dimmer | 3 | | | | | | | |
|---|---|--|---|---|----------------------------------|--|--|-----------------|
| Name | Connections | | Connected Connection | Watts | Connected To | | Circuit 1 - W | latts |
| Circuit 1 | | | | | | | Allowed: | 1440 |
| Channel 1 | PANEL DIM LIGHT / PANE | L NONDIM LIGHT | PANEL DIM LIGHT | 1000 | Basement Bath | ->Vanity->Panel Module | Used | 1325 |
| Channel 2 | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT | 75 | Basement Bath | ->Shower->Panel Module | A | 115 |
| Channel 3 | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L NONDIM LIGHT | PANEL_NONDIM_LIGHT | 75 | Basement Bath | ->Exhaust Fan->Panel | Available: | 115 |
| Channel 4 | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT | 75 | Backyard->Back | k Door->Panel Module | Module Wat | 10 |
| Channel 5 | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L NONDIM LIGHT | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT | 100 | Family Room->C | Doset->Panel Module | 411 | 1020 |
| Channel 6 | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | | | | | Allowed. | 1.04.0 |
| Channel 7 | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | | | | | Used: | 1325 |
| Channel 8 | PANEL_DIM_LIGHT / PANE | L_NONDIM_LIGHT | | | | | Augilable | 606 |
| Panel | | | | | _ | | Available. | 335 |
| 🕼 DIN Rail Panel | DIN_RAIL_FULL Compose | r Circuit 1 is over r | max wattage. | | 5-Slot Panel | If you overl circuit base | oad a ed on a | |
| ý DIN Ral Panel | | r Circuit 1 is over r | T max wattage. | | 5-Siot Pane | If you overl circuit base connection get this pop | oad a ed on a you will oup error | |
| (7 DIN Rail Panel | DIN_RAIL_FULL Compose | Circuit 1 is over r | T max wattage. | | 5-Slot Pane | If you overlacticuit base connection get this pop You will nee connect load | oad a ed on a you will oup error ed to ad to a | |
| iy DIN Rail Panel | DIN_RAIL_FULE Compose annel Devices (PANEL_DIM_ Name | r Circuit 1 is over r LIGHT, PANEL_NON Location | OK DIM_LIGHT) Wats Connectors | | 5-Slot Pane | If you overlacification circuit base connection get this poper this poper to the second s | oad a ed on a you will oup error ed to ad to a | |
| ir DIN Rail Panel imming Module Ch levice | DIN_RAIL_FULE_Compose annel Devices (PANEL_DIM_) Name Panel Module | r Circuit 1 is over r LIGHT, PANEL_NON Location Studio | OK DIM_LIGHT) Wats Connectors 300 S-Dannel Der | mer 1->Dhar | 5-Slot Panel | If you overlicit circuit base connection get this pop You will nee connect loa different model | oad a ed on a you will pup error ed to ad to a odule | |
| if DIN Rail Panel mming Module Ch levice Orverhead Lights | DIN_RAIL_FULE Compose annel Devices (PANEL_DIM_ Name Parel Module Parel Module | r Circuit 1 is over r LIGHT, PANEL_NON Location Studio Studio | OK OK OK DM_LIGH7) Wats Connectors 300 S-Channel Dm 200 S-Channel Dm | mer 1-3Ohar mer 1-3Ohar | 5-Slot Panel nnel 1 nnel 2 | If you overlacircuit base connection get this pop You will nee connect loa different me | oad a ed on a you will oup error ed to ad to a odule | erns s |
| imming Module Ch Nevice Coverhead Lights Fan Light Acove Lights | DIN_RAIL_FULE_Compose annel Devices (PANEL_DIM_) Name Parel Module Parel Module | r Circuit 1 is over r UGHT, PANEL_NON Location Studo Studo Studo | OK DM_LIGHT7 Wats Connectors 200 S-Dannel Dr 201 S-Dannel Dr 225 S-Dannel Dr | mer 1->Char mer 1->Char mer 1->Char | 5-Slot Pane | If you overlacircuit base connection get this pop You will nee connect load different model | oad a ed on a you will oup error ed to ad to a odule | erra Lichtes |

- 23. Connect the modules to the panels.
 - It's easier to connect from the panel to the module.
 - Ethernet switches are installed in Slot 5 (bottom slot).
 - If 8-channel dimmers are mixed with other module types, the dimmers should be installed toward the top of the panel for the best heat ventilation.

Composer Pro User Guide

| | | Control & Audio V | deo Connect | | _ | |
|----------------|---|--|--|---|---|---|
| Control/AV | Network | 5-Slot Panel | | | | |
| Carlo Carlos | Lights Lights b Lights Pris Dimonar 1 Dimonar 1 Dimonar 2 Dimonar 3 Relay Relay comet Surtich | Nome Stet 1 Stet 2 Stet 2 Stet 2 Stet 2 Stet 3 Stet 3 Stet 3 Stet 3 Stet 4 Stet 4 Stet 4 Stet 4 Stet 4 | Type Control C | Connection DIN, JANL, FULL, SLOT DIN, JANL, HARF, SLOT | hput/Output Output Output Output Output Output Output Output Output Output Output Output | Connected To B-Channel Denner 1+:DIN Ral Panel B-Channel Denner 2+:DIN Ral Panel B-Channel Denner 2+:DIN Ral Panel B-Channel Relay-:DIN Ral Panel |
| Ria 2-Slot Par | 6 | Device | Name | Location Com | ections | |
| System Design | | Kill Onannel Dimmer 1 Kill Onannel Dimmer 2 Kill Onannel Dimmer 3 Richt Onannel Dimmer 3 | DIN Rail Panel DIN Rail Panel DIN Rail Panel DIN Rail Panel | Mechanical R., 5-Sk Mechanical R., 5-Sk Mechanical R., 5-Sk Mechanical R., 5-Sk | t Panel->Slot 1 t Panel->Slot 2 t Panel->Slot 3 t Panel->Slot 3 | Full Height Full Height Full Height Full Height |

Connection Filters

In Composer Pro Connections view, you can use filters to narrow the output connections to more easily find connections. This can save you time in small and large projects.

To use Connection Filters:

- 1. In Composer Pro, click Connections.
- 2. Select a connection to make, for example, click on a room and Video End-Point.
- 3. In the bottom-right pane, VIDEO_SELECTION Output Devices, the available filters are listed above the output devices.

| VIDEO_SELECTION Output Devices | | | | | |
|---|--|---|-------------------------|--|---------------|
| Filters All Rooms V All Conne | ctions V | | | | Clear Filters |
| Device | Name | Location | Connections | | ^ |
| Toshiba TV Front Room HC800 Visio TV XBox xbox one Google Chromecast Denon Receiver Denon Receiver EA-5 | Room Selection - Output VDED End-Pente Room Selection - Output Room Selection - Output Room Selection - Output Room Selection - Output Room Selection - Output Noom Selection - Output WDED End-Pent | Basement Family Room Family Room Basement Family Room Family Room Family Room Family Room Family Room | Baannert-Video End Port | | |

- 1. Select a room to filter output devices by a specific room.
- 2. Select All Connections, Not Connected, or Connected to filter output devices by connection status.
- 3. Enter text to filter output devices by name, location, or connection.
- 4. Click Clear Filters to remove any applied filters.

Tip: When filters are active, the background around the filters is blue.

| Filters: Al Rooms ~ | All Connections V | | | Clear Filte |
|---------------------|-------------------------|-------------|-------------------------------------|-------------|
| Device | Name | Location | Connections | |
| Toshiba TV | Room Selection - Output | Basement | Basement->Video End-Point | |
| Vizio TV | Room Control | Family Room | | |
| Samsung TV | Room Selection - Output | Family Room | | |
| Roku TV | Room Selection - Output | Family Room | Family Room->Video End-Point | |
| TV Left Up | Room Selection - Output | Theater | Theater->Additional Video End-Point | |
| TV Left Down | Room Selection - Output | Theater | Theater->Additional Video End-Point | |
| TV Right Up | Room Selection - Output | Theater | Theater->Additional Video End-Point | |
| TV Right Down | Room Selection - Output | Theater | Theater->Additional Video End-Point | |

Connecting rooms

Use the Room Connections to set configuration connection options to customize and optimize audio and AV paths to control devices in a room.

Get room connections

To get to room connections:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Connections.
- 3. Select the **room** in the project tree.
- 4. Click the Control/AV tab. The Control & Audio Video Connections pane displays.

If you use System Design views, room connections use the default settings according to the devices you add.

| Connections | Control & Audio Vic | leo Conne | ections | | | |
|-----------------------------|---------------------------|-------------|-------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------|-----------|
| Control/AV Network | Theater | | | | | |
| - ^ · · · · | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | ^ |
| EA-5 | Si IR Input Control | Control | IR_IN | Input | | |
| Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | II Video End-Point | RoomControl | VIDEO SELECTION | Input | Epson Projector->Room Selection | |
| 🖨 📆 AVR-X3300W | Audio End-Point 1 | RoomControl | AUDIO_SELECTION | Input | AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - | Output |
| Tuner | Video's Audio End-Point 1 | RoomControl | AUDIO_SELECTION | Input | AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - | Output |
| -WiPod_USB | Video Volume 1 | RoomControl | AUDIO_VOLUME | Input | AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - | Output |
| Denon AVR | Audio Volume 1 | RoomControl | AUDIO_VOLUME | Input | AVR-X3300W->Room Selection - | Output |
| Internet Radio | On-Screen Device | RoomControl | ONSCREEN_SELECTI | Input | EA-5->Onscreen Navigator | |
| Media Server | Video Volume 2 | RoomControl | AUDIO_VOLUME | Input | | |
| Pandora Denon | Audio Volume 2 | RoomControl | AUDIO_VOLUME | Input | | |
| | Temperature | RoomControl | TEMPERATURE | Input | Thermostat->Room Selection | |
| - Stations | Temperature Control | RoomControl | TEMPERATURE_CON | Input | Thermostat->Room Selection | |
| System Remote Control SR260 | Security System | RoomControl | SECURITY_SYSTEM | Input | Security System->Room Selection | Partition |
| < TO 10" T-LULAS TL C | Audio End-Point 2 | RoomControl | AUDIO SELECTION | Inout | | > |
| System Design | VIDEO_SELECTION Output D | evices | | | | |
| | Device | | Name | | Location | Connec ^ |
| Connections | 5 EA-5 | | VIDEO End-Point | | Theater | |
| A Madia | AVR-X3300W | | Room Selection - Output | | Theater | |
| Media | AVR-X3300W | | Room Selection - Zone2 Output | | Theater | |
| Agents | Epson Projector | | Room Selection | | Theater | Theater |
| | Left Sony BRAVIA | | Room Selection - Output | | Family Room | Family F |
| 💥 Programming | Right Sony BRAVIA | | Room Selection - Output | | Bedroom | Bedrooi |
| - | BIJ Dish Media | | Room Selection - Output | | Theater | ~ |
| | 444 Somi Bluzav | | Room Selection - Artnut | | Thester | |

Example: For a basic system with a television, DVD player, VCR, and satellite, Composer Pro by default makes the television the video end point which is the end of the AV path for viewing video. The video audio end point is the end of the AV path for listening and managing volume for sound when viewing a DVD, VCR or satellite.

Example: Video End-Point—The Plasma Television displays video for DVD, VCR, and satellite.

Composer Pro User Guide



Note: For the Control4 system to work properly, verify that the default settings match your physical environment. Define each room connection according to your Control4 system. If the default settings do not match your system setup exactly, change the settings to match the physical environment, and define each room connection according to that system setup.

An End Point defines the software path that an audio or video signal must follow to reach the desired destination.

Example: When a device is selected as a Video End Point, start at the device and work backward to figure out the source-selection and input-switching that must take place to display video.

Note: Speakers are not included in the Control4 project configuration.

A room provides two priority levels for end points of audio (Audio End Point 1 and 2) and two for audio playing for video (Video Audio End Point 1 and 2). The system automatically connects the first end point in the room to End Point 1 as the first priority. If that device is part of AV path selected, it manages the volume in the room automatically.

Room connection types

The general types of room connections are:

- Video End Point-On the Control4 system, this is the end of the path in the selected room that defines video. The default is the Television.
- Audio End Point 1 and 2–On the Control4 system, this is the end of the path in the selected room that defines audio. The default is the first applicable devices added to the system, for example, a Speaker Point. However, when a television is added, it overrides the initial setting. When a receiver is added, it overrides the television.
- Video Audio End Point–On the Control4 system, this is the end of the path in the selected room that defines audio when watching video on the Control4 system. The default is the first applicable device added to the system. However, when a television is added, it overrides the first device. When a receiver is added, it overrides the television.
- Video Volume 1 and 2–Options that let you set the volume management to a device that is not an audio end point or a video audio end point.

Example: If you added an AV switch to your system, the television is probably the video audio end point, but you want to use the AV switch for volume control to utilize added features of the switch.

• Audio Volume 1 and 2–Options that let you set the volume management to a device that is not an audio end point or an audio video end point.

Example: If you added an audio switch to your system, another device is probably the audio end point, but you should use the audio switch for volume control.

- **On-Screen Device**–Defines the device (television) that displays the on-screen Navigator.
- **Temperature and Temperature Control**—Defines the device that manages the temperature in the room, such as a thermostat.
- Security System–Defines the device that manages the security system in the room, such as a security system.

Examples of system configurations

The following examples show possible system configurations.

Example 1: Video Audio End Point 1 and 2—The Plasma Television is Video Audio End Point 1 and the receiver is Video Audio End Point 2The Plasma Television manages the volume when the homeowner watches cable, and the receiver manages the volume when the homeowner watches the DVD or VCR.



Example 2: **Video Audio End-Point 1**—The receiver is Video Audio End Point 1 and manages the volume in the room when the homeowner watches video using the DVD, VCR, or cable.

Composer Pro User Guide



Example 3: **Video End-Point**—The Plasma Television switches video for DVD, VCR, and satellite.



Example 4: Video Audio End-Point (combined)—The receiver switches both audio and video for DVD, VCR, and satellite.



Example 5: **Audio End-Point**—The receiver switches audio for DVD, VCR, and satellite.



Tip: Understand the physical room connections on your system. The system uses default settings. It cannot auto-detect how your system is set up.

Verify default room connections

To verify default room connections including prioritized AV audio end point providers:

1. Add devices to the project using Composer Pro System Design view. See Composer Pro Getting Started for details.

While you set up the project, room connections are set for you according to the default settings. The defaults are set by rules in the system, and they might not match your physical environment. Manually ensure that the settings match your desired outcome.

- 2. Verify that the initial room connections are set up correctly for each room.
- 1. From Connections, click the Control/AV tab (default).
- 2. Click the room in the project tree.
- 3. Verify each connection by ensuring that it mirrors your exact hardware setup.
- 4. To change a connection, select a **device** in the project tree, and then select the **device** to change in the Control & Audio Video Connections pane.
- 5. In the Room Control list, select an item in the upper list, and then drag it to an **item** in the lower list to connect the two items. When successful, both lists update to reflect the connection.

Example: To show how to change a connection from the top center pane, click Video Audio End Point (RoomControl-AUDIO_SELECTION), and drag it to the bottom pane to connect it to Television (Room Selection - Output-Theater).

Example Project: Using the sample project, ensure that the following room connections exist as outlined in the table.

| Room | End Point or Volume | Device (End Point or Volume Management) |
|---------|---|---|
| Theater | Video End Point 1 | Television (default setting) |
| | Audio End Point 2 | Receiver (default setting) |
| | Video Audio End Point 1 | Receiver (default setting) |
| | Video Volume | Not set |
| | Audio Volume | Not set |
| Bedroom | Audio End Point Mini | Touch screen |
| | Audio Volume | Touch screen |
| Front | There are no video or audio that can manage volume in need to identify the video o control device in that room, room connections. | End Points or any devices the Front room, so you don't r audio source or volume or modify the room for |

- 3. Create a connection to define the other devices in the room where you want volume.
- 1. Select a room in the project tree.
- 2. In the Room Control list, select an item in the Control & Audio Video Connections, and then drag it to an item in the lower list to connect the two items. When successful, both lists are updated to reflect the connection.

Example: From the top center pane, click Video Volume 2 (RoomControl-AUDIO_ VOLUME), and drag to the bottom center pane to connect it to Television (Room Selection - Output-Theater).

Connecting devices to the network

After you complete your planning and design of a Control4 system (adding the buildings, rooms, devices, etc., see the Composer Pro Getting Started guide for details), you are ready to make the necessary connections in the system.

Connecting a device to the network

The Network tab lists all devices in the systems with a network connection and lists network addresses.

Verify the network address for any device that communicates to the controller using TCP/IP, Wi-Fi, Zigbee, Zigbee Pro or any other device that uses a network address.

To connect network devices:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Connections > Network tab.
- 3. Select the device, and then click Identify for the wizard to open.
- 4. Follow the on-screen instructions to identify each device as indicated. After identifying the network connection, the device's address appears.
- 5. Use the Network tab to identify devices to the Control4 system that use a network address.

There are two places to verify network connections: the Network tab and the Tools menu.

Configuring a Wi-Fi connection

Use the System Manager tool to connect to Wi-Fi.

Some devices can be connected directly to Ethernet, and then can be configured on a Navigator. See your device's installation instructions for details about how to configure wireless on a Navigator page (More > Settings > Network).

Prerequisites

To establish a Wi-Fi network connection to a controller or other wireless device in the Control4 system, first establish an Ethernet connection, and then configure the Wi-Fi.

To connect to Wi-Fi, complete the following steps:

- 1. Establish an initial temporary Ethernet connection from the device to the Ethernet network using a Category 5 (CAT5) cable.
- 2. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Local Director.
- 3. From the Tools menu, select System Manager.
- 4. From the Devices pane, select the network address for the device you want to set up, and click **Connect**.
 - If the device's network address is not on this list, click **Refresh**.
 - If it still does not appear, click **Add** to enter it manually.
 - If you do not know the network address, you can find it at the Connections > Network tab.

- 5. Click the Network tab, and then click Configure.
- Click Next when the Network Configuration Wizard dialog appears. Continue through the wizard screens and provide the following information appropriate for your system. Much of this information has to match that of your Wireless Access Point (WAP).
- 7. Enter the new device name. Do not include spaces in the new name.
- 8. Indicate the network type: Wireless (WiFi) network.
- 9. Indicate the method for obtaining DNS server address: DHCP or Static IP. Control4 recommends DHCP (automatically selected).
- 10. Enter the SSID number.
- 11. Enter the **WEP** key (if any).
- 12. Enter the encryption type (64 or 128).
- 13. Click on a key type (hex or ascii).
- 14. Click Finish to complete the wizard; reboot the adapter to apply the network configuration changes.
- 15. Disconnect the Ethernet cable from the controller.

Verifying the network connections

Use the Network tab or Network Tools to verify the Control4 system network connections.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the devices to be connected have been added to the project.

Network Tab

To ensure that all network connections are identified on the Network tab:

- 1. Click **Connections > Network** tab **> IP Network**.
- 2. In the Address column, check whether there is an address for every line item.

Network Tools Option

To ensure that all Network connections are connected and active at the Network Tools:

1. From the Tools menu, select Network Tools.



2. Check both the IP Network and ZigBee Network tabs for Green, Yellow, and Red connection icons.

The colors indicate the following:

- **Green**—An address is identified and the device is online. For example, the dimmer is identified and communicating to the system.
- Yellow—An address is identified and the device is offline. For example, if the System Remote Control goes to sleep, the status turns yellow. This indicates that the System Remote Control has been identified, but is offline. Make this device active so it can communicate to the system.
- **Red**—A device is not identified. Go to the **Connections** view > **Network** tab and identify the device to the system.

Tip: **Be patient.** In cases where the Zigbee mesh is moved, it can take up to five minutes for all connections to get re-established.

- 3. If you find yellow or red icons, do the following:
 - Yellow icons—Go to the device and activate it according to its documentation.
 - **Red icons**—Go to the **Connections** view > **Network** tab and identify the device to the system.

| Cottoli/V Network Network Zajben Henrock Zajben Henrock Zajben Henrock Zajben Henrock | Identify Deconnect Device EA-5 ~~ Finot lobor ~~ Back Yard ~~ Gampe Ea-5 ~~ Gampe Connect Solution ~~ Gampe Connect Solution ~~ Gampe Connect Solution ~~ Gampe Connect Mole Solution ~~ Gampe Solution ~~ Gampe Connect Mole Solution | Room Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | Type c4:contr lin:came lin:came lin:came d-suidevi c4:uldevi c4:uldevi c4:contr c4:contr c4:sontr c4:sontr c4:suidevi epson:E c4:suidevi | Address Type UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUI | Decrement AF P View as: \[] Tree @ List Address calcotted (as): Transploon2.Red/Diff 000FF1 call.LUIII 27821277.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiii 1982277.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiii 1982277.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiiii 1982277.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiiii 19822677.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiiii 19822677.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiiiiiii 19822677.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiiiii 19822677.Cannes, 5505.bLLM. call.Luiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii | |
|---|---|--|---|---|--|---|
| IP Metrody Zaphe Hetrody 22 Wave Network | Device EAS Top Back Yard Garage Side Door T3 10° Enor Door T3 10° AVR 3300W Control M32 Door S1. Control M32 Door S1. T3 10° Tabletop Tou. Control M32 Door S1. T3 10° Tabletop Tou. Epson Projector S2 Bau Ethernet Galeway S2 6 Outward 101W Mod. | Room Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | Type c4:contr liin.came liin.came c4:uidevi c | Address Type UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUI | View as O Tree @ List defases ef correct 4, as Transvijkova Zhendith (00FT) et LILIN 298120 SPT Zeames, 50636 LILINMEL et LILIN 198120 PT Zeames, 50636 LILINMEL et Liekova, gastedge 10, jouchorsen gissedget Liekovara, gastedge 10, jouchorsen gissedget et Liekovara, gastedge | I GESS a 1:00FFF31331 C control Automation, Add 2 I GESS and 00FFF31331 I GESS and Control Automation, Add 2 I GESS Add 2 |
| Zaplee Network ZWave Network | Device EA5 Growto Boor Growto Boor Growto Boor Force Door Force Door Control Bas Holl ML Control Bas Holl ML Control Bas Holl ML Growto Bas Holl ML Growto Bas Door SL Ta 10" Tabletop Tou- Growto Bas Holl ML Base Phonet Gateway Sa Schumet Of Ut Mod. | Room Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | Type c4:contr llin:came llin:came c4:uldevi c4:uldevi c4:uldevi c4:uldevi c4:contr c4:uldevi c4:sonter c4:gatew | Address Type UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUI | Addess Educated Jash Transpillowa 20ek/Diff. 000FFF1 ed. LUI. 2012;0:167 PT2C.come. 30536-LUI. ed. LUI. 109:52107 Comme. 30536-LUI. ed. LUI. 109:52107 Comme. 305454 LUI. MMS ed. LUI. 109:52107 Comme. 305454 LUI. MMS ed. LUI. 109:52107 Comme. 305454 LUI. 109:52 ed. LUI. 109:52107 Comme. 305454 ed. LUI. 109:52107 Comme | |
| ZWave Network | EA-5 Fort Door Back Yard Garage Side Door T3 10° Fort Door T3 10° Array Association Array Association Control 4 38 HOMI M. Exponent Association Sociation Soci | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | c4;pe c4;confr liin.came liin.came c4;uidevi c4;uidevi Denon:A c4;u082 c4;confr c4;u082 c4;confr c4;uidevi epson:E c4;gatew | UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID | Control 4, as5 Transg Nom2 Pred 21th 500FFF1 e4 LUI / 2510/FF2 Came, 2564 SUN e4 LUI / 1510/FF2 Came, 2564 SUN e504 SUN | ************************************** |
| | Prof Door Fort Door Grave Sand Sand Sand Sand Sand Sand Sand Sand | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | e4 contra- liin carne liin carne c4 uidevi c4 uidevi c4 uotevi c4 contr c4 contr c4 contr c4 gatew c4 gatew | UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID | 44 LIM 276122/115 7722.came. 55613-64 LIN. 44 LIM 276152/1152.came. 55613-64 LIN. 44 LIM 19822/172.came. 25643-41 44 LIM 19822/172.came. 25643-41 41 LIM 19822/172.came. 55663-41 41 LIM 19822/17 | |
| | Hont Lood Hont Lood Hont Lood Hont X and Garage Side Door T3 10" AVR-X3300W Gordroid & Bit HOMI M Controld SS2 Door SL T3 10" Tabletop Tou Epson Projector Kill But Ethnemid Linderway Kill SCharten U-101 Mod | Ineater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | lin came lin came lin came c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi | UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID UUID IP UUID | ek LLIN 2461 (2495) 21 (24046) 305 (136) LLIN ek LLIN 14521 (2712 Carrenz 3564) 41 Arine ek LLIN 148221 (2712 Carrenz 3564) 41 Arine ek LLIN 148221 (2712 Carrenz 3564) 41 LLIN 4482 ek LLIN 148221 (2712 Carrenz 3564) 41 LLIN 4482 ek LLIN 148221 (2712 Carrenz 3564) 41 LLIN 456 ek LLIN 148221 (2712 Carrenz 3564) 41 LLIN 456 ek LLIN 148221 (2712 Carrenz 3564) ek LLIN | •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• |
| | | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | iin came c4:uidevi c4:uidevi Denon:A c4:u062 c4:sontr c4:uidevi epson:E c4:gatew | UUD UUD UUD UUD UUD UUD UUD IP | ckLLIN HIS210F12Cames_50683400 ckLLIN HIS21272Cames_506840 ckLIN HIS21272 ckLIN H | |
| | Garage Side Door T3 10" Front Door T3 10" AVR-x3300W Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 8x8 Door St T3 10" Tabletop Tou Epson Projector K8 But Entermet Gateway X8 Aconnel 0.100 Mod | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | c4:uidevi c4:uidevi Denon:A c4:u0852 c4:contr c4:uidevi epson:E c4:gatew | UUD UUD UUD UUD UUD UUD IP | C4LUIN MINUSCH 12-Lames_Dobbic LUINHING. C4Luidevice_glassedge 10_southcomer glassedge 10_ Denon-XVR-X3300W-399eb 153/859 1826-853000 c4Luidevice_glassedge 10_southcomer_glassedge 1 Denon-XVR-X3300W-399eb 153/859 1826-853000 c4Loortid_sdoortation_s422C40527.7C1E30018294 c4Luidevice_glassedge 10_southcomer_glassedge 192.168.102.11 | |
| | AVR-X3300W Control A R HDMI M Control 4 8k HDMI M Control 4 8k HDMI M Control 4 DS2 Door S T 3 10" Tabletop Tou Epson Projector Sa Bus Ehremet Gateway X & Ohannel 0-10V Mod | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | c4:udevi c4:udevi Denon:A c4:u0852 c4:contr c4:udevi epson:E c4:gatew | | C4-Lidevice_glassedge 10_southscreen glassedge 11_ C4-Lidevice_glassedge 10_southscreen glassedge 11_ Denon-XVR-X3300W-99se 1b.3159-1bb-5530.00_ C4-LideSid_amattexiteth_c4-glueSid_amattexite. c4-control_gloendation_st2C4D52-7C1EB3018E94 c4-Lidevice_glassedge 10p_touchscreen glassedge 192-168.102.11 | |
| | AVR-X300W AVR-X300W Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 DS2 Door St T3 10" Tabletop Tou Epson Projector Sit Buu Ethernet Gateway Sit Scharmel 0-10V Mod | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi c4:uidevi epson:E c4:gatew | | C4-Lidevice_gasteoge (U_sourceren gasteoge (L_ Dennor.VRX-st350). 495e (St355) St36-S530.00 c4/Lid62d_anmatiscentich_c-c4_Lid652d_anmatisca c4/control_doorstation_ds2C4052:7C1EB3018E94 c4.Lidevice_gasteoge (Dstouchscreen glassedge 192,168,102.11 | |
| | Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 0x2 Door S T3 10" Tabletop Tou Epson Projector Bus Ethernet Gateway | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | Denon:A c4/lu852 c4:contr c4:uidevi epson:E c4:gatew | | Denon:AVR-X3300W-496e1b34f5915b6-8330400 c4Ju852d_avmatrixwitch_c-c4_Ju852d_avmatrixe c4:control4_doorstation_ds2C4D52-7C1E83018594 c4:uidevice_glassedge10p_touchscreen-glassedge 192.168.102.11 | -c4 control4_lptrC4-DIN-8RELE-V2 -GEGEG dirval-000ff925a67 -c4 control4_lptrC4-DIN-8TV-E -EGEG dirval-000ff1b272e -c4 gateway.C4-DIN-8EG-V2 |
| | Control4 8x8 HDMI M Control4 DS2 Door St T3 10" Tabletop To Epson Projector Se Bus Ehemet Gateway Se Schannel 0-10V Mod | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | c4:u852 c4:contr c4:uidevi epson:E c4:gatew | | c41u852d_avmatrixswitch_c-c4_ju852d_avmatrixs c4:control4_doorstation_ds2-C4DS2-7C1EB3018E94 c4-uidevice_glassedge10p_touchscreen-glassedge 192.168.102.11 | CLSS dinval-000ff92ba67 c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8TV-E SOE3 dinval-000ff fb272e c4:gateway.C4-DIN-8EG-V2 |
| | Control4 DS2 Door St T3 10" Tabletop Tou Epson Projector Bus Ethernet Gateway | Theater Theater Theater Theater Theater | c4:contr c4:uidevi epson:E c4:gatew | UUID IP UUID | c4.control4_doorstation_ds2-C4DS2-7C1EB3018E94 c4.uidevice_glassedge10p_touchscreen-glassedge 192.168.102.11 | C4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8TV-E SU23 dirvai-000ff tb:272e C4:gateway:C4-DIN-8EG-V2 |
| | Epson Projector Bus Ethernet Gateway See Schannel 0-10V Mod | Theater Theater Theater Theater | c4:uidevi epson:E c4:gatew | IP UUID | c4uidevice_glassedge10p_touchscreen-glassedge 192.168.102.11 | C4:gateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2 |
| | Bus Ethernet Gateway | Theater Theater Theater | epson E c4.gatew | IP | 192.168.102.11 | i= c4:gateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2 |
| | Bus Bhemet Gateway | Theater Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | 1 | |
| | 8-Channel 0-10V Mod | Theater | | | c4:gateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2-dinrai-000ff/924a69 | 5002 dinral-000#924a69 |
| | | | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8TV-E-dinrail-000ff1b272e | -c4:LILIN IPS210-PTZ-Camera_259ef3 |
| | 8-Channel Dimmer | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2-dinrail-000fff92 | SODO None |
| | Ulin NVR (IP) | Theater | liin:cable | IP | 192.168.102.173 | G-c4:LILIN MR832-PTZ-Camera_506d68 |
| | Left Sony BRAVIA | Family Room | sony.tv:X | UUID | sony.tv:XBR-65X750D-sony.tv-104FA887BC23 | -5004 LILIN-MR832-000ffc506d68 |
| | Right Sony BRAVIA | Bedroom | sony.tv:X | UUID | sony.tv:XBR-65X750D-sony-tv-104FA887BC0B | E-c4:LILIN NVR1400 |
| | A INVS 8x8 AMS | Utility | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_ams8-ams8-000ff60931b | SUC NVR1400 11027F |
| | A Triad AMS | Theater | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_ams8-ams8-000fff6090be | -c4:LILIN ZR6122-IVS-PTZ-Camera 5051a5 |
| | Pedestal Triad One | Kitchen | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one-triad-one-000FFF909811 | S000 LILIN-ZR6122-IVS-000fc5051a5 |
| | Soundbar Triad One | My Home | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one-triad-one-000FFF901612 | - c41/362d aumativewitch c |
| | IP: Dah Media | Theater | EchoStar | SSL | 192 168 102 118 | STE c4 h/952d aumatrizendtch.000991 |
| | Amazon Fre TV | Equipment Boom | cétua pen | IP | 192 168 102 124 | Contrad area |
| | T3 10" Tableton Tou | Family Boom | c41idevi | IP | | STEP amp 000000000 |
| | _ | | | | | STT2 2009.000#C0921b |
| 2001 | - | | | | | Cheditiad and |
| System Design | | | | | | Entrancial and and ano conferences |
| 10 | - | | | | | ELECT that one coorresponding |
| Connections Connections | | | | | | thad-one-000PPF303611 |
| | | | | | | Grand Lassedge TU_touchscreen |
| 💮 Media | | | | | | glassedge 10-000m812833 |
| | - | | | | | C4.udevice_glassedge1up_touchscreen |
| Agents | | | | | | glassedge 10p-000fff80de5b |
| 197 | | | | | | le)-others |
| Se Programming | | | | | | Stree 1b 3 #59-19bb-8530-0005CD |
| | < | | | | > | DENON AVR-X3300W |

Example: At this point in your project, the System Remote Control should be yellow (or the only device not green). The System Remote Control turns green as soon as you wake it. To wake the System Remote Control press the red Control4 4 button.

| Network Tools | | | _ | | × |
|--------------------------------|-----------------|------|------------------------|------|----------|
| File View | | | | | |
| IP Network ZigBee Network | | | | | |
| IP Device Connections | | | View as: | Tree | ◯ List |
| Device Name | Address | Port | Status | | ^ |
| - 🐨 Bedroom | | | | | |
| E- B Right Sony BRAVIA | | | Solution Not Addressed | | |
| Equipment Room | | | | | |
| Amazon Fire IV | | 2222 | Omine | | |
| E B Left Sony BRAVIA | | 80 | Not Addressed | | |
| T3 10" Tabletop Touch Screen 2 | | | SNot Addressed | | |
| E Kitchen | | | - | | |
| 🗄 🕪 Pedestal Triad One | 32.168.102.138 | | Online 📀 | | |
| 🖨 👿 My Home | | | - | | |
| 🗄 🕒 Soundbar Triad One | 92.168.102.135 | | Online 📀 | | |
| E Theater | | | 0 | | |
| ± 🔍 8-Channel 0-10V Module | 92.168.102.144 | 8750 | Online | | |
| 🗄 🗮 8-Channel Dimmer | 2.168.102.121 | 8750 | Online | | |
| ⊕- 100 AVR-X3300W | 32.168.102.134 | 23 | Online | | |
| ⊕-™ Back Yard | 92.168.102.116 | 80 | Offline | | |
| 🕀 🗮 Bus Ethernet Gateway | 92.168.102.107 | 6000 | Online 😳 | | |
| E Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | 92.168.102.149 | 8105 | Online 😳 | | |
| Control4 DS2 Door Station | 92.168.102.112 | | Online | | <u> </u> |
| in the part of the | 100 100 100 110 | | C Offling | | * |

Tip: You can also review a device's Zigbee signal strength by checking the strength meter icons in the Signal column. The strength meters show the strength of the signal as detected by the next nearest Zigbee device.

Connecting Zigbee devices

After you have added all the necessary device drivers into your project and configured a Zigbee mesh controller, you are ready to make the necessary connections for these drivers.

Connecting Zigbee device drivers to the Zigbee network

To connect a Zigbee device driver to the Zigbee controller:

1. In Connections in the Network tab, select Zigbee Network.

| Connections | |
|----------------|---------|
| Control/AV | Network |
| IP Network | |
| Zigbee Network | |
| Z-Wave Network | |

A list of Zigbee device drivers will show in the Zigbee Network Connections window.

| Zigbee Network Conne | ections | | | | |
|--|----------------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|------------------|----------|
| Identify Disconnect | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Device | Room | Туре | Address | Version | Status |
| Control4 Thermostat Wireless Outlet Switch V2 | Family Room Family Room | c4.thermostat:ccz-t1-w c4:outlet_switch:loz-5s1-w | 000fff0000281100 000fff00002fd706 | 03.25.27 | Online 📀 |
| 词 Backyard 🗐 Front Door Light | Outdoor Lights Outdoor Lights | c4:control4_light:C4-KD120 c4:control4_light:C4-KD120 | 000fff000071fde2 000fff0000720001 | 4.2.84 4.2.84 | Online |

2. **Double-click** on the Zigbee device driver to open the identify window or highlight the device and click on the **Identify** button.

Composer Pro User Guide

| Identify: Master->Bathroom | × |
|---|--|
| 1 - Zigbee Mesh Selection: Recommended mesh limit is 70 devices. <u>View Zigber</u> Family Room -> EA-5 | e best practices. |
| 2 - Identify your Device: | |
| | To Identify: Press the top button on the device four times |
| < Pre | vious Next > Close |

3. Identify (add) the Zigbee device according to the instructions, usually by pressing a Zigbee button on the device.

Note: You have 60 seconds to identify (add) the Zigbee device to the network and a timer will show the time remaining. If you run out of time, close the window and try to identify the Zigbee device again.

4. If the device is added, configured, and identified successfully, the address will show in the address field.

Note: If the Zigbee device will not identify (add), you should try to remove the device and then try to identify the device again.

Zigbee Mesh Routing Tree

When the device is identified and added to the Zigbee network, the Zigbee Mesh Routing Tree window will show the device online with a green icon.

| Zigbee Mesh Routing Tree | |
|---|----------|
| Search text | |
| □- 15 EA-5 | 0 |
| 🖬 5 EA-5 | <u> </u> |
| - 🚟 Control4 Thermostat | 0 🛜 |
| 🖓 Front Door Light | 0 🛜 |
| 🖨 🗐 Family Room Light | 0 🛜 |
| -11 Hall Light | 0 🛜 |
| - 🗐 Master | 0 🛜 |
| 🛱 🖓 Backyard | o 📀 |
| _ \} C4-Z2IO | o 🛜 |
| 🛱 坑 Kitchen Hall Light | 0 🛜 |
| -11 String Lights | 0 🛜 |
| 🔤 坑 Family Reading Light | 0 🛜 |
| Remote with batteries | 0 🛜 |
| - 🗐 Babies' Room | 0 🛜 |
| —🐙 Plug-In Outlet Switch | 0 🛜 |
| —🐙 Outdoor Kitchen Light | 0 🛜 |
| | 9 🛜 |

Connecting Z-Wave devices

After you have added all the necessary device drivers and motorization, sensor or light drivers into your project, you are ready to make the necessary connections for these drivers.

There are two types of connections that need to be made:

- Connect Z-Wave device drivers to the Z-Wave controller and identify them into the project
- Connect Z-Wave device drivers virtually in the Control4 project to motorization, sensor, or light drivers

Connecting Z-Wave device drivers to the Z-Wave network

To connect a Z-Wave device driver to the Z-Wave controller:

1. In Connections in the *Network* tab, select **Z-Wave Network**.

| Connections | |
|----------------|---------|
| Control/AV | Network |
| IP Network | |
| ZigBee Network | |
| Z-Wave Network | |
| | |
| | |

A list of Z-Wave device drivers will show in the *Z-Wave Network Connections* window.

| Z-Wave Network Co | nnections | | | | |
|--------------------------|-----------|---------------------------|---------|-----------------|------|
| Identify Disconnect AI Z | | Z-Wave | | | |
| | | | | View as: O Tree | List |
| Device | Room | Туре | Address | | |
| Leviton VRPA1 Appli | Room | zwave:001D:1805:0334 | | | |
| Reotec ZWave Door | Room | Aeotec Door/Window Sensor | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

2. **Double-click** on the Z-Wave device driver to open the identify window or highlight the device and click on the **Identify** button.

Composer Pro User Guide



3. Identify (add) the Z-Wave device according to the manufacturer's instructions, usually by pressing a Z-Wave button on the device. See the documentation for the Z-Wave device for more information.

Note: You have 60 seconds to identify (add) the Z-Wave device to the network and a timer will show the time remaining. If you run out of time, close the window and try to identify the Z-Wave device again.

4. After adding the Z-Wave device to the Z-Wave network, the driver will do some additional configuration.



Important: Do not skip this step by closing the window or clicking next!
5. If the device is added, configured, and identified successfully, the address will show in the address field and the timer instructions will change to say "Identification Successful".



Note: If the Z-Wave device will not identify (add), you should try to remove the device and then try to identify the device again. See "*Removing Z-Wave devices*".

Connecting Z-Wave device drivers to motorization, sensor or light drivers

To connect a Z-Wave device driver to a motorization, sensor or light driver:

1. In Connections under the Control/AV tab, select the Z-Wave device driver. The *Control & Audio Video Connections* window will show the available connections.

| Control & Audio V | ideo Conne | ections | | |
|--------------------------|------------|----------------|--------------|------------------------------------|
| Aeotec ZWave Door/Window | / Sensor | | | |
| Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To |
| Control Outputs | | | _ | |
| Door/Window Sensor | Control | CONTACT_SENSOR | Output | Living Room Window->Contact Sensor |
| Tamper Detected | Control | CONTACT_SENSOR | Output | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

2. Click on the Control Output connection **Door/Window Sensor** and the available devices to connect appear below in the *CONTACT_SENSOR Input Devices* window.

| | CONTACT_SENSOR Input Devices | | | |
|----|------------------------------|----------------|----------|---|
| 1 | Device | Name | Location | Connections |
| | 🔛 Living Room Window | Contact Sensor | Room | Aeotec ZWave Door/Window Sensor->Door/Window Sensor |
| | | | | |
| Ш | | | | |
| | | | | |
| 11 | | | | |

3. Click and drag the contact sensor output in the upper window to the contact sensor input in the lower window. When a valid connection is available, the cursor changes and has a + symbol. Release the mouse button to make the connection.

| Device | Name | Location | Connections |
|----------------------|----------------|----------|-------------|
| 🗮 Living Room Window | Contact Sensor | Room | Jac - |
| | | | £ |
| | | | |
| | | | |

When the Z-Wave devices are connected to the appropriate motorization, sensor or light drivers, the UI will now show appropriate drivers to represent the Z-Wave devices. Now the Z-Wave device drivers must be connected to the Z-Wave controller and identified in the project.

Available Devices

When the device is identified and added to the Z-Wave network, the Available Devices window will show the device online with a green icon. A Z-Wave device that is added to the Z-Wave network and also identified to a device driver will show the device driver name and location next to the Node ID.

| Available Devices | | | |
|---|----------------|-------|--------|
| | Add | R | emove |
| Nodes | | | Online |
| ⊡-Mesh ID: ce21da68 Node ID: 04 Node ID: 03 - Room->Leviton VRP | A1 Appliance M | odule | 0 |

Z-Wave devices that are added to the Z-Wave network, but not identified to a device driver will show up with just the Node ID.

Removing Z-Wave devices

Z-Wave devices can be removed from any network at any time by using the Remove button found in *Available Devices*. This is true even if they are not part of the network performing the remove operation.

Removing Z-Wave devices from a previously installed network requires an available Z-Wave controller and interaction with the Z-Wave device-usually by pressing the Z-Wave button on the device. There is no "Remove from mesh" button press sequence similar to ZigBee Pro devices.

Removing Z-Wave devices from the network

To remove a Z-Wave device from the network:

1. In Connections in the Z-Wave Network, click **Remove** in the *Available Devices* window.

| | Add | Remove |
|---|-------------------|--------|
| Nodes | | Online |
| → Mesh ID: ce21da68 → Node ID: 04 → Node ID: 03 - Room->Levitor | VRPA1 Appliance M | odule |

The Removing Z-Wave Device window appears and a 60 second timer starts.

| Removing Z-Wave Device from mesh | |
|----------------------------------|--------|
| 58 seconds remaining. | |
| | Cancel |
| | |

2. Remove the Z-Wave device from the network according to the manufacturer's instructions, usually by pressing a Z-Wave button on the device. See the documentation for the Z-Wave device for more information.

Note: If the device is not removed from the network before the timer ends, close the window and click the **Remove** button to try again.

3. If the device was removed successfully, the timer will stop and the window will say the devices was removed from the network.

| Removing Z-Wave Device from mesh | |
|---|-------|
| Device zwave:ce21da68:03 was removed from the mesh. | |
| | Close |

4. If the device is not removed from the network before the timer ends, close the window and click the **Remove** button to try again.



Removing failed Z-Wave devices

If a Z-Wave device has become lost or inoperable so that a physical button press cannot be performed to remove it from the network, the Remove Failed option is provided. Remove Failed is used to force a Z-Wave device off of the network.

Important! Do not use this option if the device is operational. See "*Removing Z-Wave devices from the network*". Use this option only if a device has physically failed and is inoperable!

To remove a failed Z-Wave device:

1. In Connections under Z-Wave Network, right-click on the **Node ID** of the failed Z-Wave device, and select **Remove Failed.**

| Available | e Devices | | |
|------------|----------------|-----|--------|
| | | Add | Remove |
| Nodes | | | Health |
| - Mesh ID: | e8d351bc | | |
| | Remove Failed | | |
| | Replace Failed | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

- The controller will make one last attempt to communicate with the Z-Wave device. If the device successfully
 communicates, the Remove Failed will not proceed and the device must be removed using the Remove
 button instead. Remove the device according to the manufacturer's instructions, usually by pressing the ZWave button.
- If the communication attempt fails, the device will be removed from the network and will not be tracked as a Z-Wave node by the Z-Wave controller. Be aware that this device must now be reset to defaults before using the device again within the system. See the manufacturer's instructions for more information.

Replacing failed Z-Wave devices

If a Z-Wave device has become lost or inoperable so that a physical button press cannot be performed to remove it from the network, the Replaced Failed option is provided. Replace Failed is used to force a Z-Wave device off of the network and prompt the user for a replacement. The new device can be either the same type or different.

This option allows you to replace a Z-Wave device and preserve the same Node ID. This can be useful if you have some direct device associations done between Z-Wave devices. It is *not* needed for most Control4 systems.

Important! Do not use this option if the device is operational. See "*Removing Z-Wave devices from the network*". Use this option only if a device has physically failed and is inoperable!

To replace a failed Z-Wave device:

1. In Connections under Z-Wave Network, right-click on the **Node ID** of the failed Z-Wave device, and select **Replace Failed.**

| Available Devic | ces | Add | Remove |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------|-----|----------|
| Nodes ⊟-Mesh ID:e72e3e4e | | | Online |
| - Node ID: 02 | Remove Failed Device | | 2 |
| Node ID. 03 - I | Replace Failed Device | | <u> </u> |
| | Request Neighbor Update | | |

2. Click Yes to continue only if you are replacing a failed device.



The controller will make one last attempt to communicate with the Z-Wave device. If the device successfully communicates, the Replace Failed will not proceed and the device must be removed using the **Remove** button instead. Remove the device according to the manufacturer's instructions, usually by pressing the Z-Wave button.

If the communication attempt fails, the device will be removed from the mesh and will not be tracked as a Z-Wave node by the Z-Wave controller. Be aware that this device must now be reset to defaults before using the device again within the system. See the manufacturer's instructions for more information.

3. Add the replacement Z-Wave device to the mesh according to the manufacturer's instructions (usually by pressing the Z-Wave button) before the timer expires.

Composer Pro User Guide

| Replace Failed Z-Wave Device |
|--|
| Press the Z-Wave button on the device you want to replace the failed device. |
| 56 seconds remaining. |

4. When the device is added successfully, the timer will show complete and a message will say the replacement was successful.

| Replace Failed Z-Wave Device |
|--|
| Press the Z-Wave button on the device you want to replace the failed device. |
| The device has been replaced successfully. Close |

Connecting and managing control and AV devices

Control/AV connections are visible when you select the Control/AV tab in the Connections view. The Control/AV tab lets you define the physical connections between the controller or other devices, including AV signals, IRs, relays, contacts, and/or serial connections.

| ile Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | |
|----------------------------|-----------------------|------------------|------------|-------------------------|---|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vi | deo Connectio | | | |
| Control/AV Network | - | | | | |
| BN_Office | Name | Type | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To |
| 🚽 😽 Home | Audio/Video Inputs | | | | |
| 🛓 🕎 House | | | | | |
| 🚊 ా Main | Section Audio Input 1 | Audio | STEREO | Input | Home Controller HC300->AUDIO OUT 1 |
| 🚊 😈 Family | Audio Input 2 | Audio | STEREO | Input | 1 m |
| - 😥 JMARTIN: jmartin: | Audio Input 3 | Audio | STERED | Input | To make a control/AV |
| - 😥 Digital Media | Sector Audio Instit 4 | Audio | STERED | Input | connection: |
| - G Internet Radio | Audio hput 5 | Audio | STEREO | Input | Click the Connections view. |
| Home Controller HC300 | Auto Input 6 | Audio | STERED | Input | 2. Click the Control/AV tab. |
| - Touch Screen - 7" | Sudio Input 7 | Audio | STEREO | Input | 3. Highlight a device. |
| 🐒 Left Dimmer | X Audio Input 8 | Audio | STEREO | Input | 4. Flighlight a connection in the |
| | | | | | the connection in the bettern |
| | Audio/Video Outputs | | | | nane where you want to make a |
| - I Bight Dimmer | Aurin Outroit 1 | Aurio | SPEAKER | Outrait | connection. |
| 6-Button Keynad | Audio Output 1 | Audio | CDEAVED | Output | |
| E 3-Button Keupad | Aude Output 2 | Audo | CDEAKED | Output | |
| Controld Wireless Themoust | STEREO Outrad Davisas | | | | |
| Es Multi Channel Amnifier | STEREO Output Devices | 1.00 | | | |
| Television | Device | Name | Location | Connections | |
| ✓ Cable TV | Home Controller HC300 | AUDIO OUT 1 | Family | Multi Channel Amplifier | r>Audio Input 1 🥂 |
| | Home Controller HC300 | AUDIU UUT 2 | Family | | |
| System Design | I ouch Screen - /" | Stereo Uut | Family | 2 | |
| | Sateme | | Regioom | The conne | ction is displayed to the right of both |
| Connections | E POD | Audio Uutput | Futchen | items | s in the ton and bottom names |
| 1 | Turner 2 | AM/EM AUDIO UUCT | Family | lights. | o ni o to sopo una socio in parteo. |
| Media | Tumol/M | VM Audio Out 2 | E ramiy | 5. C | |
| | Touch Screen 7" | Stares Dut | Theater | | |
| Agents | Receiver | Dutruit | Theater | | |
| | | Dutout | Theater | | |
| Programming | Be Audio Switch | Audio Dutout 1 | Theater | | |
| | Est Aurtin Switch | Audio Dutrut 2 | Theater | | |

Tip: If connections do not appear as needed, edit the driver to create the needed connections as described in "Editing a Driver Using the Driver Wizard."

Verifying control and AV connections

Use the Control & Audio Video Connections pane to verify connections, and use the System Design view to verify room connections.

To verify all Control and AV connections by checking the connection list:

- 1. Click **Connections**, and select the project from the project tree. The Control & Audio Video Connections pane displays.
- 2. Carefully go through all your Control and AV connections by verifying each connection in the pane.

To verify all Control and AV connections by checking room properties:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. Select a room in the project tree.
- 4. Click the **List View** tab. On the List View tab check whether your AV devices are accessible in the room. If an AV device is in a room and in your project; but if it is not in the view, see "Connect and verify devices."

Disconnecting or removing control/AV connections

Use the Connections view to remove and disconnect a connection.

To disconnect or remove a Control/AV connection:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Connections.
- 3. Click the Control/AV tab.
- 4. In the Control/AV project tree, select a device for the device's control and AV connections to appear.
- 5. In the Control and AV Connections pane, right-click an input (or output) connection and select Disconnect.

| Connections | | Control & Audio Vio | leo Conne | ections | | | | | | |
|--|--|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Control/AV | Network | Theater | Theater | | | | | | | |
| | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | ^ | | | |
| Contro Contr | Device 14 && HDMI Matrix 3300W d. USB non AVR mert Radio dia Server ndora Denon | Control Inputs Control Inputs Room Control Video End-Point Video End-Point 1 Video Volume 1 Audo Volume 1 On-Screen Device Video Volume 2 | Control RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl RoomControl | IR_IN VIDEO_SELECTION AUDIO_SELECTION AUDIO_SELECTION AUDIO_VOLUME AUDIO_VOLUME ONSCREEN_SELECTI AUDIO_VOLUME | Input Input Input Input Input Input Input | Epson Projector->R AVR-X3300W->Ro AVR-X3300W->Ro AVR-X3300W->Ro AVR-X3300W->Ro EA-5->Onscreen Na | loom om Se om Se om Se om Se avigat | | | |
| Sin Blu Station System To 10 | usXM ietooth is n Remote Control SR260 | VIDEO_SELECTION Output D Device | evices | Name | | | > Locat | | | |
| < | > | 5 EA-5 | | VIDEO End-Point | | | Theat | | | |
| System Design | | AVR-X3300W | | Room Selection - Output | 1 | Theat | | | | |
| Connections Connections Context Agents | | Comparing the second seco | | Room Selection - 20062 Output Room Selection - Output Room Selection - Output Room Selection - Output Room Selection - Output VIDEO End-Point | connect | Theat Family Bedro Theat Theat | | | | |
| Trogramming . | | - | | | | | | | | |

Re-assigning control/AV connections

Use the Connections view to reassign connections.

To re-assign Control/AV connections:

1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.

- 2. Click Connections > Control/AV tab.
- 3. In the project tree, select a device. The device's control and AV connections appear.
- 4. In the Control and AV Connections pane, **drag** an input from the top pane to a different output on the bottom pane. The connection is moved to the specified output.



Updating connections when a location changes

If you use the same project but you change locations, update all of the Control4 system connection information in Composer Pro.

To update the connection information in an existing project:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Connections.
- Click the Control/AV tab, and review your connections to ensure they are updated in the current control and AV topology.
- 4. Click the Network tab. Disconnect all connections by right-clicking and selecting Disconnect.

5. Re-assign each connection.

| Connections | | IP Network Conn | ections | | | | Available Devices |
|----------------|---------|----------------------|----------------|-------------|--------------|------------------|---|
| Control/AV | Network | Identify Disconne | ct | | Dis | connect All IP | E-c4:control4_ca1 |
| P Network | | | | | View as: | Tree List | SODP ca1-000FFF5133C1 |
| 2gBee Network | | Device | Room | Type | Address Type | Address ^ | C4:control4_doorstation_ds2 |
| Z-Wave Network | | ELEA-5 | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4 e | Electric C4032-7C TEB3010E34 |
| | | Pront Door | Theater | liin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN ZBE | STE Training Room 2. Red Ciffe 000EEE18 |
| | | Back Yard | Theater | liin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN IPS; | -c4:control4 bc800 homecontroller |
| | | P Garage | Theater n | | | c4:LILIN MR | HC800-Board Boom-000FFE57E633 |
| | | Side Door T3 10" | Theater C | Identify | | c4:uidevice_c | -c4:control4 light:C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2 |
| | | Front Door T3 10" | Theater | Disconnect | | c4:uidevice_c | SOUR dinrail-000fff92a241 |
| | | AVR-X3300W | Theater | Denon:A | UUID | Denon:AVR-) | E-c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8REL-E-V2 |
| | | Control4 8x8 HDMI | M Theater | c4:lu862 | UUID | c4:lu862d_av | SOOP dinrail-000fff92ba67 |
| | | Control4 DS2 Door | at Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_c | -c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8TV-E |
| | | T3 10" Tabletop To | u Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_c | SODP dinrail-000fff 1b272e |
| | | Epson Projector | Theater | epson:E | IP | 192.168.102. | E⊢c4:gateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2 |
| | | Bus Ethernet Gatew | ay Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:gateway:C | SODP dinrail-000fff924a69 |
| | | 8-Channel 0-10V Mc | d Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_li | E-c4:LILIN IPS210-PTZ-Camera_259ef3 |
| | | 8-Channel Dimmer | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_li | SODE None |
| | | Q Lilin NVR (IP) | Theater | lilin:cable | IP | 192.168.102. | -c4:LILIN MR832-PTZ-Camera_506d68 |
| | | Left Sony BRAVIA | Family Room | sony:tv:X | UUID | sony:tv:XBR- | SOOP LILIN-MR832-000ffc506d68 |
| | | Right Sony BRAVIA | Bedroom | sony:tv:X | UUID | sony:tv:XBR- | E-c4:LILIN NVR1400 |
| System Design | | A INVS 8x8 AMS | Utility | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_amst | SOOP NVR1400_11027F |
| | | Triad AMS | Theater | c4.triad | UUID | c4triad_ams{ | C4:LILIN ZR6122-IVS-PTZ-Camera_5051a5 |
| V connections | | Pedestal Triad One | Kitchen | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one- | SOOP LILIN-ZR6122-IVS-000ffc5051a5 |
| Media | | Soundbar Triad One | My Home | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one- | E-c4Ju862d_avmatrixswitch_c |
| | | Bij Dish Media | Theater | EchoStar | SSL | 192.168.102. | SOUR c4_lu862d_avmatrixswitch-000fff1d1 |
| Agents | | Amazon Fire TV | Equipment Room | c4jua_gen | IP ID | 192.168.102. | e−c4triad_ams8 |
| 197 | | Channel Palar | J Family Room | c4.uidevi | | advantual d | ams8-000ff6090be |
| 😵 Programming | | sug of channel Helay | - rainiy room | c4:contr | 000 | C4.Control4_li V | ams8-000ff60931b |
| | | < | | | | > | c4inad_one |

Testing device connections

Use the Connections view to test that connected devices work.

After you've added and identified the device, in Connections check the Network tab to see if an IP address appears in the IP Network Connections pane. If it doesn't, the device has not been connected properly. Try to connect the device again.

Testing device controls

After you add an item to the project tree and the device is physically connected, test that you can control the device.

To ensure the devices are controllable:

1. Click System Design.

2. In the project tree, double-click the icon of each device for its Device Control window to appear.

Example: Television



- 3. Click the available controls in the graphical representation to:
 - Ensure that the commands work
 - Set the parameters temporarily (for example, configuring the LED lights on dimmers)

Notes:

- If you double-click a device and a Device Control window does not appear, it indicates that one is not available for that device or item.
- These user interfaces are not specific for each device and model. Understand the capabilities of a device before testing it.

Device Control examples

Note: The Device Control windows in Composer Pro are provided for testing purposes only. When you make changes on the Device Control windows for each device, it only changes the device settings temporarily. Use the **Properties** pane or programming to change the device settings permanently.

The following examples show Device Control windows for various devices:

3 Button Keypad



6 Button Keypad



Controller

Composer Pro User Guide

| Stereo 1 Volume | Stereo 2 Volume |
|--------------------|--------------------|
| (- | (- |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| - | - |
| Ď- | □ - |
| 0% | 0% |

Dimmer



DVD Player



Electronic Gate



Motorized Screen



Receiver

| On Off Ve | olume () () () | • | Set |
|----------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------------|------------|
| 1 2 3 4 6 6 7 8 9 # 0 * | Input: | NPUT VIDEO 1 Dolby Bass | Set Set |
| Loudness | Toggle | On | Off |
| Mute | Toggle | On | Off |

Sprinkler System



System Remote Control, SR-250

Composer Pro User Guide



Television



Wireless Thermostat

| System Mode | * | Current T | ⁻ emp 2 |
|--------------------|---|-----------|-----------------------|
| Fan Mode | | Heat | Cool |
| Auto | * | 72 💲 | 72 💲 |
| Off (Run Schedule) | | 🔘 Permane | ent |

Wireless Outlet Switch

| Outlet 1 | | |
|----------------|----------|----------|
| Relay State: | 🔿 Open | 💿 Closed |
| Power Sensing: | Disabled | |
| Outlet 2 | | |
| Relay State: | 🔵 Open | 💿 Closed |
| Power Sensing: | Disabled | |
| | | |

Intercom device

| ID | Group Name | Local Device | ID | Session Name | |
|----------|--|----------------------|----|--------------|--|
| 0 | All | Call Selected Device | 10 | Session Name | |
| | | Pause/Resume | | | |
| | | End Session | | | |
| | | Button One | | | |
| | | Button Two | | | |
| ID | Device Name | | | | |
| 41 48 | Room - dansphone Room - Intercom_2 | Play Door Chime | | | |
| 57 60 | Room - Intercom_3 Room - Intercom_4 | Remote Device | | | |
| | | Button One | | | |
| | | Button Two | | | |

Examples

Use this chapter to see examples of how to:

- Set up a project using the Composer Views method
- Manage apps with the 4Store agent
- Use the Access agent
- Use the Advanced Lighting agent

Example home project: Composer views method

The following sample project sections step you through the creation of a Control4 project using the Composer Pro views.

Example: Design and create the project

Use the Composer Pro views to design and create a project.

Composer views

In this view, you create the foundation of the Control4 system by building the project tree.

To design the Smith Home project:

- 1. Start Composer and connect to a Director on a local network.
- 2. Enter the Project Properties for the Smith home.
 - Name—Franklin Smith Home.
 - **ZIP Code**—84003 or enter a latitude and longitude manually.
 - Date & Time—Use the drop-down menu to change these as desired.
 - **Time Zone**—Use the drop-down menu to select the appropriate zone.
- 3. Add rooms to the project tree.
- 1. In the Locations tab, double-click on a **room** to add it to the project tree.
- 2. Continue to add **rooms** until you have included all rooms you want in the house (rooms that will have automated devices). You can also drag these items to an object in the project tree.

Example: Add three rooms.

- Theater
- Bedroom
- Front

Tips: To build the system design, define the project configuration in the project tree. You do not have to add all the items in the project tree manually, such as Site > Building > Floor > Room because Composer Pro automatically adds the required infrastructure.

Also, you can rename the objects as desired; for example, Franklin Smith Home > Home > House > Main

>Theater. For more information, see Composer Pro Getting Started.

| Properties Project Settings Information | Lighting Defaults | | | | Locations Discoussed My Drivers Se |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|
| Project Settings Information | Lighting Defaults | | | | Locardia Discovered Hy Differa Of |
| | - | Allowed Networks | ZigBee Configurat | on Z-Wave | Constant States |
| Project Name: | Franklin Smith Ho | me | Set | | Corporate |
| | | | | _ | House |
| Location: | Draper, UT, USA | к. (.) | Lookup | | - Duilding |
| Latitude: | 40.52000046 | | Set | | U Office |
| Longitude: | -111.86000061 | | | | Main |
| Country | USA | 1 | | | |
| county. | | | | | Second |
| - | | | | | Rooms |
| Date: | 5/21 | | Display time us | ing a 24-hour | 1 Theater |
| Time: | 1:39:01 PM | 0 | | | - Foyer |
| Timezone | 115/Mountain | | C.H | | Dring |
| | CO PROTING | | cot | | - Kitchen |
| | | | | | - Til Laundry |
| [| Push Settings | from Project | | | Me Master |
| | | | | | Bedroom |
| | Change Passw | ord | | | |
| | | | | | Boom |
| Locale: | | ~ | Set | | |
| | | | | | |
| | Temperature | | | | |
| | Location Lastide Country: Date Time: Timezone Locate | Location: Despend UT, USA Latitude: 45 3500044 Locgitude: 411 400044 Locgitude: 411 400044 Dete: 5/21 Time: 5/21 Time: 122:01 FM Timezone: US3/Nourtain Cluster Pases Locate: Tempendue: Tempendue: | Localor: Dreper UT, USA Landuer: 40 3000046 Loopuber: [111 Ste00061 Country; USA Dete: 5/21 Time 12:2017 PA [3] Timezone: US/Mountain Change Reserved. Locale: v | Localor. Deper UT: USA Lokep. Localor. 2000066 Logitude. 111 8000051 Courty: USA Date: 5/21 * Display time us Time 12001 PM * Display time us Plat Settings from Project Oungre Passend. Locale: V Set | Localio: Deper UT: USA Lokue Latobe: #0.5000046 Set Logidue: 411 8000051 Courty: USA Depertment of the string a 24-hour Time: 12001 PM B Timecore: US: Mountain Edu Date: Set Date: Set Locale: Set Set |

To add the devices:

- 1. Add the controller to a **room** in the project tree.
- When setting up a system, first add the controller driver to the list. In the project tree, select the room where you want the controller to reside. In the **Items** pane > My Drivers tab, double-click a controller to move it to the room. See the example below.

Note: If you installed this version of Composer Pro on a computer with an older version of Composer Pro, right-click in the **My Driver** tab, and select **Restore Default List**. This will update the My Driver list.

Example: Add a controller to the Theater Room:

 From the project tree, select Theater. In the Items pane > My Drivers tab under Controllers, double-click Controller or drag it to the room where it resides—in this case, Theater. The controller and Digital Audio appear in the project tree. The Digital Audio object resides on the controller, but shows up as a separate object in the project tree. The Digital Audio provides the functionality to play media.

| System Design | Properties Properties Summary List View | Items |
|--|--|--|
| System | Advanced Properties | Locations Discovered My Drivers Searc |
| System V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V | Advanced Properties Advanced Properties Advanced Properties Product Info Controller Status Cohere Configuration Cohere Cohere Configuration Cohere C | Locators Description (my University Sector) Controller Controlle |
| Sec Door 73 10" Sec Door 73 10" Sec Door Natecom Freet Door 73 10" Connections Connections Connections Programming Programming | Cotable HDM Audio Prioritizas Coas Over HDMI Prioritizas Coas Over HDMI Source Leveling - Treat Gain Index Index In the Index Internal Reme Audio Int O Prioritizas O Prioritizas O Prioritizas O Prioritizas O Prioritizas Priorititas Prioritas Prioritizas Prioritas Pri | Contain Vegad Contain Vegad Contain Vegad Contain Vegad Contain Vegad V |

2. Add the **Lighting** and **Navigators** to the applicable **rooms**. The example below shows some devices you can add.

Example: Select Theater in the project tree. In the My Drivers tab, do the following:

- 1. In Lighting > Light, double-click **Wireless Dimmer**, and then rename to **Dimmer**.
- 2. In Lighting > Light, double-click Wireless Switch, and then rename to Light Switch.
- 3. In Lighting > Light, double-click Wireless Outlet Switch, and then rename to Television Outlet Switch.
- 4. In User Interface, double-click System Remote Control.
- 5. In User Interface, double-click 6-Button Keypad.

Tip: Use a descriptive name. When adding devices to the home, right-click and select **Rename** to rename them with a descriptive name. For example, if you have two dimmers in a room, give them a descriptive name such as "Wall Dimmer" or "East Dimmer." This helps you identify the specific dimmer later when identifying connections. If there's only one dimmer or switch in a room, however, you can keep the generic title "Dimmer" or "Switch."

3. Add a $\ensuremath{\text{Receiver}}$ to the applicable $\ensuremath{\text{room}}.$

Example: Add a **Receiver** to the **Theater**. To add, select **Theater** in the project tree. From the **My Drivers** tab, do the following:

- 1. In Audio/Video, double-click Receiver.
- 2. In the dialog box that appears, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Denon**, and then double-click **AVR-3312**] to add the receiver to the project tree.

| System Design | Properties | Properties | Summary | List View | Items |
|--|----------------------|------------------|---------|-----------|--|
| System | Advanced Properties | | | | Locations Discovered My Drivers Search |
| · · · · • • • | Properties Actions D | ocumentation Lua | | | |
| First Floor Family Room | IP Port | 23 | ۰. | | Local Online Certified Only Clear Search |
| CHE EAS | Connected To Netwo | true | | | - Al Categories - |
| UIDevice | Debug Mode | Off | ~ | | Type: |
| AVR-3312 | | | | | Receiver |
| Tuner | Power On Delay-Sect | 4 | 1 | | Manufacturer: |
| Pod_USB Denon AVR | Command Delay-Millis | 250 | 1. | | Control Method: Setal V Sort: Model A-Z |
| Media Server | Set Input Command E | 1250 | • | _ | Denon AVR-3312 EU V1.02 |
| SitusXM | Volume Ramp Delay-I | 100 | ٠ | | Denon 3/15/2012 10:00 AM Online V |
| Bluetoth Stations Station Research Central SP350 | | | | | Denon AVR-3805 Denon 2/11/2009 3:41 PM |
| T 3 10* Tabletop Touch Screen | Power Status | STANDBY | | | Denon AVR-3805S |
| Ge Door T3 10" | Send Command | TumAVHOn | ~ | | Denon AVR-3806 |
| Control 4 DS2 Door Station | Update/Upgrade Stat | | | | Denon AVR-3808CI |
| | - | | | | Denter 2112033.33 PM |
| System Design | Driver Version | 1.04 | | | Denon AVR-4306 Denon 2/11/2009 3:43 PM Contre |
| Media | Model Name | AVR-X3300W | | | Denon AVR-4308CI |
| Agents | Serial Number | 6053600728 | | | |
| 🕉 Programming | MAC Address | 0005cd-a40926 | | | |
| | < | | | > | 29-35 of 52 < Previous Next > |

4. Add a Television to the applicable room. This will probably be the same room where the controller is.

Example: Add the television to the **Theater**. To add, select **Theater** in the project tree. From the **My Drivers** tab, do the following:

1. In Audio/Video, double-click Television.

2. In the dialog box that appears, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Samsung**, and then doubleclick **HC-J655W[IR]**.

The UHF/VHF object may be added to enable you to scan for UHF/VHF broadcast channels.



5. Add additional Audio/Video devices to the room.

Example: Add the DVD player to the **Theater**. To add, select **Theater** in the project tree. From the **My Drivers** tab, do the following:

- 1. In Audio/Video, double-click DVD.
- 2. In the dialog box that appears, select **Online Database**, select the manufacturer **Samsung**, and then doubleclick **DVD HD841[IR]**.

Note: If you can access a wireless touch screen, add it now to your project. If you previously had a wireless touch screen on your system prior to Release 1.3, follow the special update instructions in "Information about older releases."

6. Add a motorized device or sensor to the applicable room.

Example: From the My Drivers tab, add a motorized screen and a door contact sensor to the Theater room from the online database. To add, select **Theater** in the project tree. In the **My Drivers** tab, do the following:

- 1. In Motorization, double-click Motorized Screen.
- 2. In Sensors, double-click Door Contact Sensor.
- 7. Repeat Steps 2 through 6 as needed to add more devices to the applicable rooms.

Example: To finish creating the project tree for the example project, add devices to the **Bedroom** and **Front Room** as follows.

Bedroom:

- 1. Select **Bedroom** in the project tree. In the My Drivers tab, do the following:
 - In Lighting > Light, double-click Wireless Dimmer, and then rename it to Bedroom Dimmer.
 - In User Interface, double-click Touch Screen.

Front Room:

- 2. Select Front Room in the project tree. In the My Drivers tab, do the following:
 - In User Interface, double-click 3-Button Keypad.
 - In Motorization, double-click Electronic Gate.
 - In Motorization, double-click Sprinklers.
 - In Sensors, double-click Doorbell.
 - In Sensors, double-click Motion Sensor.
 - In HVAC, double-click Wireless Thermostat.

Example: Make and verify the connections

This section discusses using Composer Pro views to make and verify the connections.

Note: This process follows <u>Example: Design and create the project</u>.

In the Connections view, you can:

- Identify Control4 devices to establish a network connection
- Check all network connections
- Define AV connections
- Define control connections

Note: When only one appropriate connection is available in a room for a given connection type, Composer Pro assumes the connection (example: if a TV is the only Audio Output device in a room, the system assumes that the Audio Output connection is routed to the TV). This feature adds value to Composer Pro, but increases the need to verify every connection.

Note: To remove a connection, right-click on the connection and select **Disconnect**.

To make connections:

- 1. In Composer Pro, click the **Connections** view.
- 2. Identify the Control4 devices that connect to the controller through the network. Go to each physical device and press the button indicated on the Composer Pro screen.
- 1. Click the **Network** tab > **IP Network**.

Notice the devices that do not have an address listed under the Address column.

| Connections | | IP Networ | IP Network Connections | | | | | | |
|----------------|---------|-------------|------------------------|------|------------|--------------|-------------------|--|--|
| Control/AV | Network | Identify | Disconnect | | | Disco | nnect All IP | | |
| IP Network | | | | | | View as: 〇 | Tree 🖲 List | | |
| ZigBee Network | | Device | Roo | m | Туре | Address Type | Address | | |
| Z-Wave Network | | 5 EA-5 | Thea | ater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_ea | | |
| | | V Front Do | or Thea | ater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN ZR61 | | |
| | | A Back Ya | ard Thea | ater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN IPS21 | | |
| | | 🖓 Garage | Thea | ater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN MR83 | | |
| | | Side Do | or T3 10" Thea | ater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_gla | | |
| | | Front Do | or T3 10" Thea | ater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_gla | | |
| | | AVR-X3 | 300W Thea | ater | Denon:A | UUID | Denon:AVR-X3 | | |
| | | Control4 | 8x8 HDMI M Thea | ater | c4:lu862 | UUID | c4:lu862d_avm | | |
| | | Control4 | DS2 Door St Thea | ater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_do | | |
| | | T3 10" 1 | Tabletop Tou Thea | ater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_gla | | |
| | | Epson P | rojector Thea | ater | epson:E | IP | 192.168.102.11 | | |
| | | Bus Ethe | ernet Gateway Thea | ater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:gateway:C4- | | |
| | | 8-Chann | el 0-10V Mod Thea | ater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light | | |
| | | 📃 🔜 8-Chann | el Dimmer | | | | | | |
| | | Lilin NVI | R (IP) | | | | | | |
| | | Left Son | y BRAVIA | | | | | | |

- 2. Select the **controller**, and then click **Identify**. The screen to identify the controller appears (in this example, the 8 Channel Dimmer).
- 3. At the physical controller, press the **Identification** button. This identifies the controller with a unique address in the system. When the address appears on the screen, click **Next**.

| Identify: Theater->8-Channel Dimmer | × |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| | Press the on-board button for channel 1 four times, or enter the IP address |
| | t.C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2-dinrail-000fff92a241 |
| < Prev | ious Next > Close |

4. Select **Dimmer**, and then click **Identify**. The screen to identify the dimmer appears. Press the top dimmer button **four** times. This identifies this specific dimmer with a

| | | Press the top button on the Dimmer four times, or type the network address below. (Note: When LEDs are flashing green to indicate mini app mode, identify by holding the bottom button for 4 seconds, or until LEDs begin flashing yellow.) |
|----------------|------------------------------|--|
| Zigbee Server: | Living Room->Home Controll 🔽 | <pre></pre> |

distinctive address to the system. When the address appears, click Next.

- 5. When the Light Switch identification screen appears, press the **top** button four times. When the address appears, click **Next**.
- 6. When the system remote control identification screen appears, holding the physical system remote control press the red **4** button once. When the address appears in the box, click **Next** to continue.
- 7. If you have a touch screen in your project, press the **Enter** button on the front of the touch screen. When the address appears in the box, click **Next** to continue.
- 8. When the Outlet Switch identification screen appears, press the button on the module four times.
- 9. When the 6-Button Keypad identification screen appears, press the **top** left button four times. When the address appears, click **Next**.
- 10. When the Dimmer identification screen appears, press the **top** button four times. When the address appears, click **Next**.
- 11. When the touch screen identify screen appears, press the indicated button as shown. When the address appears, click **Next**.
- 12. When the 3-Button Keypad identification screen appears, press the **top** button **four** times. When the address appears in the box, click **Next**.
- 13. When the Control4 Wireless Thermostat identification screen appears, press the **middle** button four times. When the address appears in the box, click **Close** to exit Identify mode.
- 14. When you finish identifying the devices, notice that the Address column now has an address for every network device.

| IP Network Connect | ions | | | | |
|-----------------------|---------|-------------|--------------|--------------------|-------------|
| Identify Disconnect | | | | Disconne | ct All IP |
| | | | | View as: 🔿 Tre | e 🖲 List |
| Device | Room | Туре | Address Type | Address | IP Address |
| 5 EA-5 | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_ea5 | 168.102.5 |
| Pront Door | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN ZR6122 | 168.102.122 |
| Back Yard | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN IPS210 | 168.102.116 |
| 🕫 Garage | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN MR832 | 168.102.115 |
| Side Door T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_glas | |
| Front Door T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_glas | 168.102.110 |
| AVR-X3300W | Theater | Denon:A | UUID | Denon:AVR-X33 | 168.102.134 |
| Gontrol4 8x8 HDMI M | Theater | c4:lu862 | UUID | c4:lu862d_avmat | 168.102.149 |
| Control4 DS2 Door St | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_door | 168.102.112 |
| 🔤 T3 10" Tabletop Tou | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_glas | 168.102.114 |
| Epson Projector | Theater | epson:E | IP | 192.168.102.11 | 168.102.11 |
| Bus Ethernet Gateway | Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:gateway:C4-D | 168.102.107 |
| S-Channel 0-10V Mod | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light: | 168.102.144 |
| 🐹 8-Channel Dimmer | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light: | 168.102.121 |
| Lilin NVR (IP) | Theater | lilin:cable | IP | 192.168.102.173 | 168.102.173 |

3. Define the AV and Control connections.

Control and AV connections for a device are visible when you click the **Connections** view > **Control/AV** tab, and then select the device. To make a connection between inputs and outputs, from the top pane drag a device's input (or output) to the output (or input) in the bottom pane.

For each device, define the following when applicable:

- Video connections (path of video signals)
- Audio connections (path of audio signals)
- Control connections (how the controller communicates with the device)

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | _ |
|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------|------------|-------------------------|---|------------|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vi | deo Connectio | ons | | | |
| Control/AV Network | | | | | | |
| S BN_Office | Name | Type | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | |
| 🚊 ಈ Home | Audio/Video Inputs | | | | | |
| 🖮 🏫 House | | | | | | |
| 🚊 🕎 Main | 🌯 Audio Input 1 🚽 | Audio | STEREO | Input | Home Controller HC300->AUDIO OUT 1 | |
| 😑 👿 Family | Audio Input 2 | Audio | STERED | Input | 1 | |
| JMARTIN: jmartin: | Se Audio Input | Audio | STERED | Input | To make a control/AV | |
| - 🔊 Digital Media | Section Audio Inget 4 | Audio | STEREO | Input | connection: | |
| Internet Badio | Audio hput 5 | Audio | STEREO | Input | 1. Click the Connections vi | ew. |
| Home Controller HC300 | Austo Input 6 | Audio | STERED | Input | 2. Click the Control/AV tab | |
| Touch Screen - 7" | Sudio Input 7 | Audio | STEREO | Input | Highlight a device. | |
| 1 eft Dimmer | Audio Input 8 | Audio | STERED | Input | 4. Highlight a connection in | n the |
| Suiteb | | | | | top pane and drag and drop | o it to |
| Middle Dimmer | Audio/Video Outputs | | | | the connection in the botto | m aka a |
| 1 Riald Dimmer | | | 000.000 | | pane where you want to ma | ave a |
| E Ritton Kounsel | Audio Uutput 1 | Audio | SPEAKER | Uutput | connection. | |
| S 2 Ditter Kaunad | Audio Uurput 2 | Audio | SPEAKER | Uutput | | |
| Casteld I Galace Theman | Auste Lider d 2 | Auda | COLATED | Lindesco | | |
| Europe Control + whereas Thermoord | STEREU Output Devices | | | | | |
| Talasidan | Device | Name | Location | Connections | | |
| | Home Controller HC300 | AUDIO OUT 1 | Family | Multi Channel Amplifier | ->Audio Input 1 | |
| | Mome Controller HC300 | AUDIO OUT 2 | Family | | | |
| Custom Dealer | Touch Screen - 7" | Stereo Out | Family | | | |
| System Design | Satellite | Output | Bedroom | 77 | where the effective section at the state of the state | |
| Connections | C Fod | Audio Output | Kitchen | i ne conne | cuon is displayed to the right of both | |
| VI connections | Tuner | AM/FM Audio Out | 1 Family | items | s in the top and bottom panes. | |
| Media | Tuner 2 | AM/FM Audio Out | 2 Family | | | |
| | Tune/XM | XM Audio Out | Family | | | |
| Agents | Touch Screen - 7" | Stereo Out | Theater | | | |
| | Heceiver | Uutput | Theater | | | |
| 🖉 Programming | 響UVU | Uutput | Theater | | | |
| - | - Audio Switch | Audio Uutput 1 | Theater | | | |
| | I is and the other. Scientification | dumo Hutnut 2 | Theater | | | |

1. Define the AV connections for the Receiver.

Example: In the Connections view under Theater, click **Receiver**. The right top pane displays all the inputs and output on the back of the Receiver. For Receiver, from the top pane in Audio Video Inputs, make the following connections:

• Click INPUT DVD (Video-COMPOSITE), and drag it to DVD (Output-Theater) in the bottom pane.

- Click INPUT VIDEO 1 (Video-COMPOSITE), and drag it to Home Controller HC300 (Video Out 1- Family) in the bottom pane. This connects the Receiver Video 1 input to the Controller Video 1 output.
- Click INPUT DVD (Audio-STEREO), and drag to DVD (Output-Theater) in the bottom pane.



2. Define the **Control** connection for the **Receiver** to the **Controller**.

Example: In the Connections view under Theater, click **Receiver**. The right top pane displays all the inputs and output on the back of the Receiver.

For Receiver, from the top pane under Control Inputs, make the following connections:

• Click IR Sensor (Control-IR_OUT), and drag it to Controller (IR Output 2-Theater) in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | |
|------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------|-----------------|---------------------|--|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vie | deo Connec | tions | | |
| Control/AV Network | | | | | |
| 😑 🍋 Office | Name | Type | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To |
| Network File Storage | Uutput | Video | COMPOSITE | Uutput | |
| Control4 Wireless Thermostat | 🐁 Output | Audio | SPEAKER | Output | |
| 🚍 🥌 Garage | 🔏 Output | Audio | STEREO | Output | |
| Garage Door (Sensor) | 📥 Output | Audio | DIGITAL_OPTICAL | Output | |
| 🖃 🌆 Theater | 🖲 Output | Audio | DIGITAL_COAX | Output | |
| Home Controller HC1000 | Control Inputs | | | | |
| 📆 Light Switch | 📕 💽 IR Sensor | Control | IR_OUT | Input | Home Controller HC300->IR OUT 2 |
| V Dutlet Switch | Room Control | | | | |
| 6-Button Keypad | Room Selection - Output | RoomControl | AUDIO SELECTION | Output | Theater->Audio End-Point 1, Theater->Video's Audio |
| I ouch Screen | Room Selection - Output | RoomControl | AUDIO VOLUME | Output | Theater->Video Volume 1. Theater->Audio Volume 1 |
| Heceiver | Boom Selection - Output | RoomControl | VIDEO SELECTION | Output | |
| Tuner | | | | | |
| Samsung IV | | | | | |
| Materiand Severa | IR_UUT Output Devices | | | | |
| Dave Canhart Cannar | Device | Name | Location | Connections | |
| 2 Dutter Kanned | Real Home Controller HC300 | IR OUT 1 | Family | | |
| - 3-Button Keypad | | IR OUT 2 | Family | Receiver->IR Sensor | |
| Sustam Darinn | Real Home Controller HC300 | IR OUT 3 | Family | | |
| Ma System Design | Reference Controller HC300 | IR OUT 4 | Family | | |
| Connections | Home Controller HC300 | IR OUT 5 | Family | | |
| N | Home Controller HC300 | IR OUT 6 | Family | | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | |
| 🔢 Agents | | | | | |
| X Programming | | | | | |

3. Define AV and Control connections for the Television.

Example: In the Connections view under Theater, click **Television**. The right top pane displays all the inputs and outputs on the back of the Television. For Television, from the top pane do the following:

In Audio Video Inputs:

- Click AV (Video-COMPOSITE), and drag it to Receiver (Output-Theater) in the bottom pane.
- Click AV (Audio-STEREO), and drag it to Receiver (Output -Theater) in the bottom pane.

In Control Inputs, click **IR Sensor (Control-IR_OUT)**, and drag it to **Controller (IR Output 1—Family)** in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools | Help | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------------|--------------------------|----------|-----------------|--------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|-----|
| Connections | | Control & Audio V | ideo Con | nections | | | | |
| Control/AV | Network | Amazon Fire TV | | | | | | |
| | ~ ^ ~ 6 9 | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | | |
| | The Ben TV | Audio/Video Outputs | | | | | | |
| | Amazon Fire App Switcher | Out Out | Video | COMPOSITE | Output | | | |
| - Net | lx | 🚍 AV Out | Video | HDMI | Output | Control4 8x8 HDMI M | atrix->Source 5 | |
| HBC |) | Sector AV Out | Audio | STEREO | Output | | | |
| ESF | 'N | AV Out | Audio | DIGITAL_OPTICAL | Output | | | |
| - 😵 Room | | | | | | | | |
| - 🐨 Garage | | | | | | | | |
| 🕀 😴 Kitchen | | | | | | | | |
| - 📜 Kitd | hen Table | | | | | | | |
| Ped | estal Triad One | | | | | | | |
| E My Hon | ie | | | | | | | |
| - Sou | ndbar Triad One | | | | | | | |
| Yar | i Lighting | | | | | | | |
| in the second se | - Domo | HDMI Input Devices | | | | | | |
| - Speake | n Off | Device | | Name | | Location | Connections | ^ |
| - Mot | ius 7 | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 4 | | Theater | Dish Media->AV Out | |
| - Edo | e 7 | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 5 | | Theater | Amazon Fire TV->AV Out | |
| - 0 10 3 | | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 6 | | Theater | Sony Blu-ray->Output | |
| < | > | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 7 | | Theater | | |
| | | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix | | Source 8 | | Theater | Laptop PC->AV Out | |
| System Design | | Epson Projector | | HDMI | | Theater | AVR-X3300W->Output | |
| <u>n</u> | | Epson Projector | | HDBaseT | | Theater | | |
| Connections | | Left Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 1 | | Family Room | | |
| | | Left Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 2 | | Family Hoom | | |
| Con Media | | Left Sony BHAVIA | | HDMI 3 | | Family Ploom | Controld 9-2 UDMI Matrix > Zene | |
| Acents | | Dight Sony BRAVIA | | LIDMI 1 | | Family ridom | Control+ 6X8 HDMI Matrix->20he | 1 H |
| III nyena | | Bight Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 2 | | My Home | | |
| 3 Programming | | Bight Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 3 | | My Home | | |
| • | | Right Sony BRAVIA | | HDMI 4 | | My Home | Control4 8x8 HDMI Matrix->Zone | 2 🗸 |
| | | 1 | | | | | | > |

4. Define the **Control** connections for the **DVD playe**r to the **Controller**.

Example: In the Connections view under Theater, click **DVD**. The right top pane displays all the inputs and outputs on the back of the DVD. From the top pane, do the following:

In Control Inputs, click **IR Sensor (Control-IR_OUT)** and drag it to **Controller (IR Output 3-Family)** in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------|--------------|------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vid | leo Connecti | ons | | |
| Control/AV Network | | | | | |
| - 🐺 Control4 Wireless Thermostat | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To |
| 😑 🥵 Garage | Audio/Video Outputs | | | | |
| Garage Door (Sensor) | | | | | |
| 😑 🌆 Theater | Solutput | Video | COMPONENT | Output | Heceiver->INPUT DVD |
| Home Controller HC1000 | - Uutput | Video | HDMI | Uutput | |
| | Uutput | Audio | DIGITAL_UPTICAL | Uutput | |
| | Output | Audio | STEREU DIGITAL CONV | Uutput | |
| TV Dutlet Switch | Uutput | Audio | DIGITAL_DUAX | Uutput | |
| System Remote Control SR-250 | Control Inputs | | | | |
| - 🔤 Touch Screen - 7" | IR Sensor | Control | IR_OUT | Input | Home Controller HC300->IR OUT 3 |
| - Receiver | | | | | |
| Tuner | Room Control | | | | |
| B Samsung TV | Dutnut Audio Alideo End. | BoomControl | AUDIO SELECTION | L Outroit | |
| DVD | Output Audio Video End. | BoomControl | VIDEO SELECTION | Dutput | |
| Motorized Screen | | | | | |
| Door Contact Sensor | IR_OUT Output Devices | | | | |
| | Device | Name | Location | Connections | |
| - 🛃 Audio Switch | Reference Controller HC300 | IR OUT 1 | Family | Samsung TV->IR Sens | tor |
| - By Amplifier | Reference Controller HC300 | IR OUT 2 | Family | Receiver->IR Sensor | |
| ······ | Real Home Controller HC300 | IR OUT 3 | Family | DVD->IR Sensor | * |
| System Design | Reference Controller HC300 | IR OUT 4 | Family | | |
| Connections | Reference Controller HC300 | IR OUT 5 | Family | | |
| V conneccions | Reference Controller HC300 | IR OUT 6 | Family | | |
| 🕞 Media | | | | | |
| agents | | | | | |
| 🐉 Programming | | | | | |

Tip: If you prefer to set up a video sense loop instead of using a macro, see "<u>Changing</u> <u>power management options</u>." After you add a video sense loop connection to the DVD player driver, add a control connection between the controller and the DVD player.

5. Define the **Control** connections for the **Motorized Screen** to the **Controller**.

Example: In the Connections view under Theater, click **Motorized Screen**. The top right pane displays all the inputs and outputs on for the screen.

In the top pane under Control Inputs, click Relay (Control-RELAY), and drag to Controller (Relay Port 3-Family) in the bottom pane.

| File Driver Go Tools | Help | | | | | |
|----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|--------------|------------|----------------------|-------------------------------|
| Connections | | Control & Audio Vi | deo Connect | tions | | |
| Control/AV | Network | | | | | |
| - 🧮 Control | 4 Wireless Thermostat | Name | Туре | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To |
| 😑 🥵 Garage | | Control Inputs | | | | |
| Garage | Door (Sensor) | TT Dolay | Control | DELAY | lanut | Home Controller UC200 > PELAY |
| E Mater | 1 | .g riolay | Control | TICONT. | трис | Home controler HC3007/HE2M |
| | Controller HC 1000 | | | | | |
| Si Liekt Si | witch | | | | | |
| W TV Out | let Switch | | | | | |
| System | Remote Control SR-250 | | | | | |
| - 🔅 6-Butto | n Keypad | | | | | |
| Touch | Screen - 7" | | | | | |
| 🔚 Receiv | er - | | | | | |
| - 📻 Tuner | | | | | | |
| - 😕 Samsur | ng TV | | | | | |
| - 🚔 DVD | 10 | | | | | |
| Deer C | ed screen | | | | | |
| 3-Butto | n Kevpad | RELAT Dutput Devices | 1.41 | La e | | |
| Audio S | iwitch | Device | Name | Location | Connections | _ |
| - 🔂 Amplifie | a | TV Outlet Switch | Relay Port 1 | Theater | Motorized Screen->He | 189 |
| /m | | TV Outlet Switch | Relay Port 2 | Theater | | |
| System Design | | Wireless Outlet Switch | Relay Port 1 | Theater | | |
| Connections | | Wireless Outlet Switch | Relay Port 2 | Theater | | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | | |
| 🧱 Agents | | | | | | |
| 🐉 Programming | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

6. Define the **Control** connections for the **Door** Contact **Sensor** to the **Controller**.

Example: In the Connections view under Theater, click **Door Contact Sensor**. The top right pane displays all the inputs and outputs for the Door Contact Sensor.

In the top pane under Control Inputs, click **Contact Sensor (Control-CONTACT_SENSOR)**, and drag it to **Controller (Contact Port 1-Family)** in the bottom pane.

7. Define the **Control** connections for the **Electronic Gate** to the **Controller**.

Example: In the Connections view under Front, click **Electronic Gate**. The top right pane displays all the inputs and outputs for the Electronic Gate.

In the top pane under Control Inputs, click **Relay (Control-RELAY)**, and drag it to **Controller (Relay Port 4-Theater)** in the bottom pane.

8. Define the **Control** connections for the **Sprinklers** to the **Controller**.

Example: In the Connections view under Front, click **Sprinklers**. The top right pane displays all the inputs and outputs for the Sprinklers.

In the top pane under Control Inputs, click **Relay (Control-RELAY)**, and drag it to **Controller (Relay Port 2-Theater)** in the bottom pane.

9. Define the Control connections for the Contact Sensor to the Controller.

Example: In the Connections view under Front, click **Doorbell**. The top right pane displays all the inputs and outputs for the Doorbell.

In the top pane under Control Inputs, click Contact Sensor (Control-CONTACT_SENSOR), and drag it to Controller (Contact Sensor 2-Theater) in the bottom pane.

10. Define the **Control** connections for the **Motion Sensor** to the **Controller**.

Example: In the Connections view under Front, click **Motion Sensor**. The top right pane displays all the inputs and outputs for the Motion Sensor.

In the top pane under Control Inputs, click **Motion Sensor (Control-CONTACT_SENSOR)**, and drag it to **Controller (Contact Sensor 1-Theater)** in the bottom pane.

4. Go to the next section, "Example: Verify the network connections."

Example: Verify the network connections

This section discusses using Composer Pro views to verify the network connections.

Note: This process follows "Example: Verify the network connections."

There are two places to verify network connections:

- The Network tab (shown below)
- The Tools menu

| Connections | | IP Netwo | ork Connec | tions | | | | Available Devices | |
|----------------|---------|-------------|-----------------|----------------|-------------|--------------|---|---|---|
| Control/AV | Network | Identify | Disconnect | | | | Disconnect All IP | ⊖-c4:control4_ca1 | 1 |
| IP Network | | | | | | | View as: O Tree | t Cal-000FFF5133C1 | |
| ZigBee Network | | Device | | Boom | Type | Address Type | Address | C4:control4_doorstation_ds2 | |
| Z-Wave Network | | E FA-5 | | Theater | cárcentr | LIUID | c4-control4_ea5-TrainingBoom2.RedCliffs.000FEE1 | C4US2-7CTEB3018E94 | |
| | | The Front | Door | Theater | lincame | UUID | c41 II IN 7R6122 /VS.PT7 Camera 5051a5 / II IN- | Service Page 2 Pad Cittle 000EEE1 | |
| | | P Back | Yard | Theater | lincame | UUID | c41 II IN IPS210-PTZ-Camera 259ef3-None | - Apartel4 ha900 hamagantelar | |
| | | D Garac | | Theater | lin came | UUID | c41111N MB832-PTZ-Camera 506d68-111 IN-MB8 | STATE UC900 Poord Poor 000EEE57EC22 | |
| | | Side I | Door T3 10" | Theater | c41idevi | UUID | c4uidevice glassedge10 touchscreen-glassedge1 | End control 4 John CA.DIN-SDIM-E-V2 | |
| | | Front | Door T3 10" | Theater | c4uidevi | UUID | c4.uidevice glassedge10 touchscreen-glassedge1 | STOR digral-000ff92a241 | |
| | | AVR- | X3300W | Theater | Denon:A | UUID | Denon:AVR-X3300W-5f9ec1b34f59-19bb-8530-00 | E-c4 control4 joht C4-DIN-8BEL-E-V2 | |
| | | Contra | ol4 8x8 HDMI M | Theater | c41u862 | UUID | c4/u862d avmatrixswitch c-c4 lu862d avmatrixs | SIT2 dryal.000#92ba67 | |
| | | Contra | ol4 DS2 Door St | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4 doorstation ds2-C4DS2-7C1EB3018ES | 4 E-c4:control4 Joht C4-DIN-STV-E | |
| | | T3 10 | " Tabletop Tou | Theater | c4.uidevi | UUID | c4:uidevice_glassedge10p_touchscreen-glassedge | | |
| | | Epsor | n Projector | Theater | epson:E | IP | 192.168.102.11 | = c4:pateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2 | |
| | | Bus E | themet Gateway | Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:gateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2-dinral-000fff924a69 | 5002 dirral-000fff924a69 | |
| | | 8-Cha | nnel 0-10V Mod | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8TV-E-dinrail-000fff1b272e | E-c4:LILIN IPS210-PTZ-Camera 259ef3 | |
| | | Re 8-Cha | nnel Dimmer | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_light:C4-DIN-8DIM-E-V2-dinrail-000fff92 | | |
| | | Liin N | IVR (IP) | Theater | lilin:cable | IP | 192.168.102.173 | B-c4:LILIN MR832-PTZ-Camera 506d68 | |
| | | 🖉 Left S | iony BRAVIA | Family Room | sony tv X | UUID | sony.tv:XBR-65X750D-sony-tv-104FA887BC23 | SUCE LILIN-MR832-000ffc506d68 | |
| | | Pight Right | Sony BRAVIA | Bedroom | sony tv X | UUID | sony.tv:XBR-65X750D-sony-tv-104FA887BC0B | G-c4:LILIN NVR1400 | |
| | | A INVS | 8x8 AMS | Utility | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_ams8-ams8-000fff60931b | SODE NVR1400_11027F | |
| | | 📥 Triad | AMS | Theater | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_ams8-ams8-000fff6090be | B-c4:LILIN ZR6122-IVS-PTZ-Camera_5051a5 | |
| | | Peder | stal Triad One | Kitchen | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one-triad-one-000FFF909811 | SODP LILIN-ZR6122-IVS-000ffc5051a5 | |
| | | Sound | dbar Triad One | My Home | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one-triad-one-000FFF901612 | ⊕-c4ju862d_avmatrixswitch_c | |
| | | B) Dish I | Media | Theater | EchoStar | SSL | 192.168.102.118 | SUCE c4_lu862d_avmatrixswitch-000fff1 | |
| | | Amaz | on Fire TV | Equipment Room | c4ilua_gen | IP | 192.168.102.124 | ⊕-c4triad_ams8 | |
| | | T3 10 | " Tabletop Tou | Family Room | c4:uidevi | IP | | SUD2 ams8-000fff6090be | |
| | | | | | | | | SOOP ams8-000fff60931b | |
| System Design | | | | | | | | ⊕-c4triad_one | |
| System besign | | | | | | | | - 500P triad-one-000FFF901612 | |
| Connections | | | | | | | | SITE triad-one-000FFF909811 | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | | | | SUD glassedge 10-000fff812833 | |
| Annaka Annaka | | | | | | | | C4xidevice_glassedge10p_touchscreen | |
| Agents | | | | | | | | entres grossed ge top-count oude 30 | |
| 💥 Programming | | | | | | | | SODE 5f9ec1b3/ff59-19bb-8530-0005CD | |
| | | < | | | | | | DENON AVR-X3300W | |

Follow the instructions below to check your connections in both locations.

To check your connections from both locations:

- From the Connections view > Network tab, verify that every device that communicates to the controller using TCP/IP, Wi-Fi, and/or Zigbee has a network address. If a device doesn't have a network address, the device needs to be identified.
- 2. To identify a device from this location, **right-click** on the **device** and select **Identify** (or click the **Identify** button). Follow the on-screen instructions provided for each device, such as those listed in the following table.

After identifying the network connection, the device's address appears in the list.

| Device | Instructions to Identify a Device to the Control4 System |
|---------------------------------|---|
| Controllers | Press the Identification button on the controller. |
| Lights and keypads | Press top button 4 times (6-Button Keypad — press top left button). MiniApp mode: press and hold bottom left or bottom button for four seconds. |
| System remote controls | Press the red 4 button on the remote control. |
| Speaker point | Press button 1 time. |
| Multi-tuners | Press button 1 time. |
| 16-channel amps | Press button 1 time. |
| Thermostats | Press center button 4 times. |
| Wireless outlet switches | Press button 4 times. |
| Wireless touch screens | Press the Enter button on the front of the touch screen 1 time. |
| Black & Decker Kwikset locks | Press the Top Left button on the top of the board (remove the lock's cover first) 4 times. To disconnect, press the Top Right button on the top circuit board 9 times. |
| 1-button products | Press 4 times. |
| IO extenders | Press the Link button on the back of the IO extender. |
| Touch screens | Press the button indicated on the diagram of the device in Composer Pro. |

Using the Network tab

To ensure all devices have been identified from the Network tab:

- 1. Click Connections > Network tab > IP Network.
- 2. In the Address column, make sure there is an address for every line item.

| Connections | | IP Netwo | rk Connec | tions | | | |
|-----------------|---------|---------------|---------------|----------------|-------------|--------------|--|
| Control/AV | Network | Identify | Disconnect | | | | Disconnect All IP |
| P Network 🔶 | | _ | | | | | View as: 🔿 Tree 🔘 L |
| ZigBee Network | | Device | V | Room | Туре | Address Type | Address |
| Z-Wave Network | | A Triad A | MS | Theater | c4triad | UUID | c4triad ams8-ams8-000fff6090be |
| | | T3 10" | Tabletop Tou | Family Room | c4:uidevi | IP | |
| | | T3 10" | Tabletop Tou | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4.uidevice_glassedge10p_touchscreen-glassedge |
| | | Sound | bar Triad One | My Home | c4triad | UUID | c4triad_one-triad-one-000FFF901612 |
| | | Side D | oor T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4.uidevice_glassedge10_touchscreen-glassedge1 |
| | | 🖉 Right S | Sony BRAVIA | Bedroom | sonyty:X | UUID | sony.tv:XBR-65X750D-sony-tv-104FA887BC0B |
| | | Pedest | al Triad One | Kitchen | c4.triad | UUID | c4triad_one-triad-one-000FFF909811 |
| | | Lilin N | /R (IP) | Theater | lilin:cable | IP | 192.168.102.173 |
| | | Eleft So | ny BRAVIA | Family Room | sonytv:X | UUID | sony.tv:XBR-65X750D-sony-tv-104FA887BC23 |
| | | A INVS 8 | x8 AMS | Utility | c4.triad | UUID | c4triad_ams8-ams8-000fff60931b |
| | | Carage Garage | | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN MR832-PTZ-Camera_506d68-LILIN-MR8 |
| | | Front C | oor T3 10" | Theater | c4:uidevi | UUID | c4.uidevice_glassedge10_touchscreen-glassedge1. |
| | | Tront E | loor | Theater | lilin:came | UUID | c4:LILIN ZR6122-IVS-PTZ-Camera_5051a5-LILIN |
| | | Epson | Projector | Theater | epson:E | IP | 192.168.102.11 |
| | | 5 EA-5 | | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_ea5-TrainingRoom2-RedCliffs-000FFF1. |
| | | EA-1 | | Theater | c4:contr | IP | |
| Sustem Decise | | Bij Dish M | edia | Theater | EchoStar | SSL | 192.168.102.118 |
| M System Design | | Contro | 4 DS2 Door St | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | c4:control4_doorstation_ds2-C4DS2-7C1EB3018E94 |
| | | Control | 4 8x8 HDMI M | Theater | c4:lu862 | UUID | c4Ju862d_avmatrixswitch_c-c4_lu862d_avmatrixs |
| V connections | | Bus Et | hemet Gateway | Theater | c4:gatew | UUID | c4:gateway:C4-DIN-BEG-V2-dinrail-000fff924a69 |
| Media | | Back 1 | ard | Theater | liin:came | UUID | C4:LILIN IPS210-P12-Camera_259ef3-None |
| | | AVH-X | 330000 | Ineater | Denon:A | UUD | Denon:AVH-X3300W-5rSec1b34f59-19bb-8530-00 |
| Agents | | Amazo | n Hire IV | Equipment Room | c4:lua_gen | IP IIIID | 192.168.102.124 |
| 107 | | a s-Char | nel nelay | Theater | c4:contr | UUID | C4.Control4_light.C4.DIN-SREL-E-V2-dinfail-000ff92 |
| Programming | | s a char | nei Dimmer | meater | c4:contr | 000 | C4.control4_light.C4-Dilv-8DIM-E-V2-dinral-000ff92 |

Using Network Tools

To ensure all network connections exist and are active from Network Tools:

- 1. From the Tools menu, select **Network Tools**.
- 2. Check both the **IP Network** and **Zigbee Network** tabs for Green, Yellow, and Red connection icons. The colors indicate the following:
 - Green—An address is identified, and the device is online (communicating).

Example: The dimmer is identified and communicating to the system.

• **Yellow**—An address is identified, and the device is offline (not communicating).

Example: If the system remote control goes to sleep, the status turns Yellow. This indicates that the system remote control has been identified, but is offline (not communicating). Make the device active so it can communicate to the system.

- **Red**—A device is not identified. Go to the **Connections** view > **Network** tab, and identify the device to the system or see "<u>Example: Make and verify the connections</u>."
- 3. If you find yellow or red icons, do the following:
 - Yellow Icons—Go to the device, and activate it according to its documentation.
 - **Red icons**—Go to the Connections view > Network tab, and identify the device to the system.

Example: At this point in your example project, the system remote control should be yellow (or the only device not green). The system remote control turns green as soon as you wake up the system remote control. To wake up the system remote control, press the red Control4 4 button.

Example: Define the control and audio/video connections

This section discusses using Composer Pro views to define AV connections.

Note: This process follows " Verifying the network connections."

Control/AV connections are visible when you select the **Control/AV** tab in the Connections view. The Control/AV tab lets you define the physical connections between the controller or other devices, including AV signals, IRs, relays, contacts, and/or serial connections.



Tip: If connections do not appear as needed, edit the driver to create the needed connections. See "Editing a driver using the Driver Wizard."

The following steps are described in the next sections:

"Verify that all control and AV connections use room properties"

"Disconnect/Remove control/AV connections"

"Re-assign control/AV connections"

"Update connections in the project if you change locations"

Verify that all control and AV connections use room properties

To verify all Control and AV connections by checking room properties:

- 1. Click the **System Design** view.
- 2. Select a room.
- 3. On the default tab Audio Video Devices, see if your AV devices are accessible in the room. If an AV device is not there, see "Example: Make and verify the connections."

Disconnect/Remove control/AV connections

To disconnect or remove a control/A/V connection:

- 1. Click the Connections view.
- 2. Select the Control/AV tab.
- 3. In the Control/AV project tree, select a **device** for the device's control and AV connections to appear.
- 4. In the Control and AV Connections pane, right-click an **input** (or output) connection and click **Disconnect**.

Re-assign control/AV connections

To reassign Control/AV connections:

- 1. Click the Connections view > Control/AV tab.
- 2. In the project tree, select a **device** for the device's control and AV connections to appear.
- 3. In the Control and AV Connections pane, **drag** an input from the top pane to a different output on the bottom pane. The connection is moved to the specified output.

Update connections in the project if you change locations

If you use the same project but you change locations, you have to update all of the connection information.

To update the connection information in an existing project:

- 1. Click the **Connections** view.
- 2. Click the **Control/AV** tab, and **review** your connections to ensure that they are updated in the current control and AV topology.
- 3. Click the Network tab and disconnect all connections by right-clicking and selecting Disconnect.

Example: Use the Access agent

Use the Control4 Access agent view to allow or deny access or hide parts of the user interface on supported touch screens and on-screen TV interfaces. The Access agent is ideal for commercial applications including hotels, bars, or board rooms where settings need to be locked or hidden to restrict their use by unauthorized personnel. By adding this agent to a project, an access code is required to gain access to selected functions of the Status Bar or the More and Settings modules. When enabled, the **Access** agent settings apply to profiles created in the **Identity** agent and each profile can be applied to any number of touch screens and on-screen TV interfaces in the system using the **UI Configuration** agent..



The Access agent provides these key features:

- User–Select a profile and define the Access restrictions for that profile. After you apply the settings to a profile, use the UI Configuration agent to apply the profile to a user interface.
- Current Access Code—The programmer can establish a four-digit access code to restrict access to user interface elements globally.
- Access Agent-Enable or Disable the Access agent for the selected user profile.
- Hide Digits—Hide or show numbers on the user interface when entering the Access Code on a user interface.

Navigation

- Experience Menu–Lock the Experience Menu (C4 icon). If locked, you can only see the favorites in the Room Menu and must enter the Access Code to see the Experience Menu.
- Return To Room–Lock the Return to Room icon (Room icon in the top left that replaces the Experience Menu icon after you select a device). When locked, you must enter the Access Code to return to the Room Menu.
- Back Button–Lock the Back button in the Status bar after you select a menu. For example, with the Back button locked, if you navigate to a camera view, you must enter the Access Code to return to the Cameras Menu.
- Room Selector-Lock or Hide the Room Selector in the Status bar.
- Room/All Filter–Lock or Hide the Filter icon on menus that support filtering like Lighting and Shades. If you lock or hide the filter, you can only see items in the current room unless you change the filter to All.

Media

• Sessions–Lock or Hide the Sessions interface. With the Sessions interface locked or hidden, you must enter the Access Code to control Sessions in other rooms.

• **Media Sharing**–Lock or Hide the Media Sharing option in the Sessions interface. With Media Sharing locked, you must enter the **Access Code** to share media with another room.

Other

- Settings–Lock the Settings icon. With Settings locked, to access Settings like Wallpaper or Screensaver options, you must enter the Access Code.
- Edit Lighting Scenes–Lock or Hide the Edit icon on Lighting Scenes.
- Favorites–Lock or Hide the option to add an item as a Favorite.
- Intercom–Lock the Intercom icon.
- Lock Screen–Set to Unlocked, Auto, or Manual to configure a lock screen for the interface. For Auto, configure the Screen Lock Timeout below the Lock Screen option. For Manual, long-press on the C4 icon (or long-press to activate the lock screen.

Prerequisites

- Create a user profile in the Identify agent if you want to apply the Access agent settings to a selected group of interfaces or use the default profile.
- Figure out which Status Bar or other functionality you want to restrict or hide from unauthorized users. For example, do you want to lock the Room Selector? Keep others from getting into Settings? Hide the Favorites button?
- Establish an access code.

To create a profile in the Identity agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. Select the Identity agent.
- 4. Click Add User.
- 5. In the **Create New User** window, enter a **Username**, **Password**, and **Confirm Password**. The password must contain 8 digits, 1 capital letter, 1 number, and 1 special character.

To enable the Access agent:

- 1. Click Agents.
- 2. (First time only) Click Add to add the Access agent to the project.
- 3. Double-click on the Access agent to add it into the project.
- 4. Enter a four-digit access code on the numeric keypad.
- 5. Click Set Access Code. The new access code appears in 'Current Access Code' window.

6. Select Enabled in the Access Agent option.

| User | | CurrentA | coma C | lode |
|---------------------|-----------------|----------|--------|------|
| default | ~ | | 1234 | 1 |
| Access Agent | Enabled V | - 1 | 22 | • • |
| Hide Digits | Enabled ~ | | 23 | 94 |
| lavigation | | | | |
| Experience Menu | Unlocked \sim | 1 | 2 | 3 |
| Return To Room | Locked ~ | | - | - |
| lack Button | Unlocked 🗸 🗸 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| Room Selector | Unlocked 🔍 🗸 | 7 | 8 | 9 |
| Room/All Filter | Unlocked 🗸 🗸 | | • | |
| fedia | | | 0 | |
| iessions | Unlocked 🛛 🗸 | | | |
| fedia Sharing | Unlocked V | Set | Access | Code |
| Pther | | | | |
| ettings | Unlocked \sim | | | |
| dit Lighting Scenes | Unlocked ~ | | | |
| avorites | Unlocked ~ | | | |
| ntercom | Unlocked ~ | | | |
| ock Screen | Manual 14 | | | |

To apply a user profile in the UI Configuration agent:

- 1. Click Agents.
- 2. Select the UI Configuration agent.
- 3. Select the User tab.

| UI Conf | iguration | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|---|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|--------|
| Wallpaper | Screen Saver | Device | Settings | User | Favorites | | |
| Assign | user to Touch S | Screen: | touchscr | eens | | | \sim |
| | | | | | | Apply To |) |
| Kitche Family Basen | n/T3 10" Tablet Room/UIDevice nent/T3 10" Tab | op Touc e - Assig letop To | h Screen Ined User: uch Scree | - Assigne default n 2 - Ass | ed User: tou signed User | chscreens : touchscre | ens |
| < | | | | | | | > |

- 4. Select the user profile in Assign user to Touch Screen and click Apply To
- 5. Select the user interfaces or rooms to apply the profile to and click **OK**.


As a reminder, the Access agent enables the programmer to restrict certain features and settings from all users on touch screens and on-screen TV interfaces. Any changes to Access Codes or these settings can only be made using Composer software. If the Access Code is lost or forgotten, it can be recovered only using Composer.

Example: Use the Advanced Lighting agent

Use the Control4 Composer Pro Agents and Programming views to program this agent. (For OS 2.3.0 or later, this agent supports the Panelized Lighting product line with full functionality. Older lighting products are also supported, but with limited functionality.) This agent provides more advanced features than the Lighting Scenes agent. See also "Example: Program Using the Lighting Scenes Agent" in this document.

The Advanced Lighting (Scenes) agent provides these features:

- LED tracking for Lighting Scenes
- Toggle Lighting Scenes
- Ramp and fade Lighting Scenes
- Set delays within Lighting Scenes
- Scene sequencing
- Flash lights in Lighting Scenes

To use the Advanced Lighting agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) Click **Add** to add the Advanced Lighting agent to the project. **Note**: You must add the Advanced Lighting agent to the project before your customers can edit Lighting Scenes on a Navigator.
- 4. Select Advanced Lighting, and then click OK.
- 5. In the Agents pane, select Advanced Lighting and then click New.
- 6. Enter a name on the dialog that appears (for example, Party Lights).
- 7. Click **Create**. Notice that you have more options than if you were using the Lighting Scenes agent. Note: You can click the **Rename** button to rename a scene.
- 8. Adjust the scene as desired.
 - Show flash option—Select this option to add a Flash checkmark in the list of lighting devices below. When Flash is checked, lights can flash on and off at set intervals. Use this option with the Delay option. For example, this option works well in a situation where you want to alert someone so you can set a porch light to flash in case of an emergency or to get someone's attention. Note: For older lighting devices (earlier than OS 2.3.0), flashing is not supported.
 - Activate Scene—Click this button to activate the scene immediately. Note: The Execute On and Execute Off buttons do not appear in the Advanced Lighting agent. Use the Activate Scene button.
 - Sync This Scene—Click this button to synchronize this scene with other scenes. This option isn't really needed for Panelized Lighting unless there seems to be a

problem.

- **Sync All Scenes**—Click this button to synchronize this scene with all scenes created. This option isn't really needed for Panelized Lighting unless there seems to be a problem.
- **Colors**—This is the keypad color. Click the **Active** or **Inactive** colored boxes to select another color.
- **Tracking**—Click **All Loads** to track a dimmer or switch by name, tracking status, delay, rate, level %; and all loads must match their tracking condition before the scene will be considered active. Click **Any Load** and only a single load needs to match their tracking condition before the scene will be considered active.
- Hold Rates (sec) —Use the up or down arrows to select the Up hold ramp rate or Down hold ramp rate. At the keypad, press and hold for a set period of time in seconds. This action behaves the same as hold rates for dimmers.
- **Toggle Scene**—This pull-down allows you to select which scene to activate when the current scene is prompted to deactivate. This applies to all scenes except for the current one selected. Here, you can toggle scenes on or off.

Example: Create an Advanced Lighting Scene called "Dining." Notice the number of switches and dimmers in the Advanced Lighting pane and their values.

| Agents | | Advanced Lighti | na Scenes | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------|---|---------------|---------------|-----|-------------|---------|--------------|------------|--------------|-------------|--------------|---------------|
| Agents | Add Remove | Diring | 19 0001100 | | | | | E Show f | ash option | Activate Sce | oe Sync Thi | Scene | Non Al Soenes |
| Name | () | Color | Tracking | Hold Dates / | (00 | Tende Corr | | O-mailOute | | | | | , |
| Variables | | Colors | (R) All Lends | 1000 10000 (0 | eu) | Toggie Ster | • | Inpoting | | | | | |
| Advanced Lighting | | Active | · All Coous | Up P | | - none - | • | Indcuve | | | | | |
| Phapsody | | Inactive | Any Load | Down 5 | * | Create | Vefault | Add/Remove L | ad | | | | |
| | | Name | Track | ing | D | elay | | Rate | Level | (%) | | | |
| Lighting Scenes New Cop Name | y Rename Delete | Dimmers Dm1 | Don't Track | • 0 | k | sec 💌 | 5 | sec 💌 | 80 | 00 | Apply To | 📰 Ignore Sce | ne Ramp/Fade |
| Dining | | Dimmers Dm2 | Don't Track | • 0 | ł | sec 💌 | 5 | sec 💌 | 80 | 200 | Apply To | 📰 Ignore Sce | ne Ramp/Fade |
| | | Switches SW1 | Don't Track | • 4 | k | sec 💌 | 0 | * 56C V | On | • 🛛 🗘 | Apply To | 📰 Ignore Sce | ne Ramp/Fade |
| | | Switches | Don't Track | - 4 | 4 | sec 👻 | 0 | 100 V | On | • <u>0</u> 0 | Apply To | Ignore Sce | ne Ramp/Fade |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Graph Scale | e 1 • secor | d(s) | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Graph Scale | t v secon | d(s) | 2 | | 3 | 4 | | 5 | | | |
| | | Graph Scale | 0 | d(s) | 2 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | 5 | | | |
| | | Graph Scale Dimmers Dm1 Dimmers Dm2 | 0 | d(a) 1 | 2 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | 5 | | | |
| 🐼 System Design | | Graph Scale Dimmers Dm1 Dimmers Dm2 | 0 secon | d(a) | 2 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | 5 | | | |
| 👰 System Design | | Graph Scale Graph Scale Dimmers Dm1 Dimmers Dm2 Switches SV1 | 0 secon | d(a) | 2 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | 5 | | | |
| 🚰 system Design Solo connections Hedia | | Graph Scale Graph Scale Dimmers Dm1 Dimmers Dm2 Switches SV/T | | d(a) | 2 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | 5 | | | |
| System Design | | Graph Scale Graph Scale Dimmers Dm1 Dimmers Dm2 Switches SW1 Switches | | d(a) | 2 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | 5 | | | |

1. Create a Dining 'Toggle' scene. Notice the difference in switches and dimmers and their values from the previous screen.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | |
|--|-------------------|------------------------|-------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Agents | Advanced Lightin | ng Scenes | | | |
| Agents Add Remove | Dining (Toggle) | | | Show flash option Activate Scene | Sync This Scene Sync All Scenes |
| Name | Colors | Tracking Hold Rates (s | sec) Toggle Scene | Current State | |
| Variables | Anti-10 | @ All Loads U. 5 | Aline - | Inactive | |
| Advanced Lighting | Acuve | op - | | Inderve | |
| Rhapsody | Inactive | C Any Load Down 5 | Create Default | Add/Remove Load | |
| | Name | Tracking | Delay | Rate Level (%) | |
| Lighting Scenes New Copy Rename Delete Name | Dimmers Dm1 | At Scene Final Lev 💌 0 | ÷ sec • 1 | ÷ sec • 0 ÷ 😵 😜 | Apply To Ignore Scene Ramp/Fade |
| Dining Dining (Toggle) | Dimmers Dm2 | At Scene Final Lev 💌 0 | ÷ sec • 1 | 🔹 sec 💌 0 👘 😵 😜 | Apply To Ignore Scene Ramp/Fade |
| | Switches SW1 | la Off 🔹 💿 | 00 🚖 ms 🔹 0 | × sec v Dff v 😮 😜 | Apply To Ignore Scene RampiFade |
| | Graph Scale | 1 v second(s) | | | |
| | Dimmers Dm1 | | | | |
| | Dimmers Dm2 | | | | |
| 🔯 System Design | | | | | |
| Connections | Switches Stv/1 | | | | |
| 🛞 Media | | I | | | |
| 🔢 Agents | | | | | |
| 🐉 Programming | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

2. Now click the **Connections** view to connect the keypad bindings on a 3-Button Keypad.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|--------------|---|----|
| Connections | Control & Audio Vi | deo Connectio | ons | | | ł |
| Control/AV Network | 3-Button Keypad | | | | | |
| G mintbox trunk | Name | Type | Connection | Input/Output | Connected To | 1 |
| 🗄 🔶 Home | Control Inputs | | | | | |
| E 😚 House | Bitten Llink | Control | BUTTON LINK | loge at | Advanced Lighting Scene Diring Topole Britten Link | |
| 😑 🜄 Main | Button 2 Link | Control | BUTTON LINK | kout | The second synamic recent change reggie better time | |
| 🕀 😴 Other | Button 3 Link | Control | BUTTON LINK | input | | |
| B-S Dimmers | | | | | | |
| Switches | | | | | | |
| ⊕- ♥ 0-10v | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Basement | | | | | | |
| E- Cid Dev | | | | | | |
| Data IC | | | | | | |
| Cid Dimension | | | | | | |
| 1 Old Switch | | | | | | |
| 3-Button Keynad | | | | | | |
| - E 6-Button Keypad | | | | | | |
| - SR-250 | | | | | | |
| - Wireless Outlet Dimmer | | | | | | |
| 🕄 Light 1 | | | | | | |
| - 🗊 Light 2 | | | | | | |
| - 🐨 Touchscreens | | | | | | |
| - Open Station | | | | | | |
| - 📴 In-Wall 7" Touch Screen V2 | | | | | | |
| - Portable 7" Touch Screen V2 | | | | | | |
| 911211 | | | | | | |
| E-S Control | | | | | | |
| - Digtal Media | | | | | | |
| - (4 Internet Hadio | | | | | | |
| - Ing HCSUU | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| System Design | BUTTON LINK Output Devic | 65 | | | | |
| Q Connections | Device | Name | | Location | Connections | |
| (u | G Advanced Lighting | Scene Dining Top I | Button Link | | | |
| meas . | Advanced Lighting | Scene Dining Botto | m Button Link | | | |
| Agents | Advanced Lighting | Scene Dining Togg | le Button Link | | 3-Button Keypad->Button 1 Link | |
| - | Advanced Lighting | Scene Dining (Tog | gle) Top Button Link | | | |
| 🦉 Programming | Advanced Lighting | Scene Uning (Tog | gle) Bottom Button Link | | | ä. |
| | Advanced Lighting | Scene Uning (Tog | ge) roggie sutton Link | Custoher | | 1 |
| | 10 SW2 | Rottom Button Link | | Switcher | | - |

When you toggle the 3-Button Keypad in the Dining room, various lights go on or off at various levels. For more information about connections, see "<u>Connect and</u> <u>verify devices</u>."

Now go back to the Agents view.

• **Toggle Scene/Create Default**—Click **Create Default** to create a toggle scene as a copy of the selected scene. From the copied scene, you can rename the new scene and adjust the values on some of the dimmers or switches in that scene.

- **Current State**—Shows 'Active' when the conditions are met to consider the scene Active or Inactive if the conditions have not been met.
- Add/Remove Load—Click to add or remove specific dimmers or switches to the scene. Check the lighting loads that you want to add, and then click OK. This can be a single light, a single room, all lighting loads in an entire house, or any combination of these options.
- 9. Assign the settings for each load:
 - Dimmer and Switch Options:
 - Name—The top line is the room, and the bottom line is the name you assigned to the dimmer or switch.
 - **Tracking**—This lets you track the lights in the system. Use the **down** arrow to select one of these options.
 - Don't Track—Tracking is ignored.
 - Is Off—Track when the dimmer or switch is off.
 - Is On (Any Level)—The text displays only if the light is a dimmer. Switches just indicate 'Is On.'.
 - On At Level (%)—Track when the dimmer is on at a specific level.
 - At Scene Final Level—Track at the final level of the last sequence. For example, if someone changes the level on a Navigator, this might be the final level.
 - Delay—Use the up or down arrows or type the delay value in seconds.

Tip: If you have several dimmers in a long hall, and you want to set up sequencing, you can use this option with the green + buttons and increase the delay of each dimmer in a row by two seconds.

• **Rate**—Lets you set the ramp rate, which is the speed the load ramps to for the specified lighting level. Use the **up** or **down** arrows to set the milliseconds (**ms**), seconds (**sec**), or minutes (**min**) of the ramp rate. Then set the amount of time the device takes to change the level.

Example: Set the time to 1 second for both the Bedroom Dimmer and the Theater Dimmer.

• Level (%)—Lets you set a target lighting level as appropriate by using the pulldown menu, for example, 50 percent for the Bedroom Dimmer and 20 percent for the Theater Dimmer. The green + gives you the ability to add 'paths' to a scene. Each row in the path uses single delay/rate/level settings. Use the green + to add another step, click the red x to delete a step, or you don't need to have any steps. Note: Older lighting devices (prior to OS 2.3.0) only allow 0 or 1 steps.

- Apply To—Click this option to allow other lights to use the same scene.
- Ignore Scene Ramp/Fade—Check this option to have the light ignore commands to ramp or fade a scene.
- **Graph**—Shows in graphical form (red lines) the settings for each dimmer or switch. Dimmers will show ramp rates, delays, and levels as angled, horizontal, or vertical lines.
- 10. Now click **Programming**. To program a scene, follow the basic steps in "Programming Basics for Control4 Systems."

Note: In the Programming view, the Advanced Lighting Scene has variables, conditionals, and loops that do not exist in the Lighting Scenes agent. This agent also has 'read-only' variables for the length of each scene.

Example: Note the screens below. The Events and Actions panes use different options than the Lighting Scenes agent (Activate, Deactivate, etc.).

Event: (Is Invoked, Becomes Active, Becomes Inactive)

- Is invoked—This event fires when the scene has been explicitly told to activate. If the scene is already activated, and it is told to activate again, this event will still fire.
- **Becomes Active**—This event fires when the scene transitions from the Inactive state to the Active state.
- **Becomes Inactive**—This event fires when the scene transitions from the Active state to the Inactive state.



• Actions— (Activate, Deactivate)

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
|---|----------------|---|
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| © G metocturk ⇒ those ⇒ tho | | G mindo tunk |
| Advanced Lighting Events | | Advanced Lighting Actions |
| Scene: Dining - | | If Lighting Scene "Dining" is Active |
| Is Invoked December Antice | | Commands Conditionals Loops |
| Becomes know Becomes insolve | | Sens Dung * @ b Active C h Fractive |
| System Design | | |
| Connections | | |
| 😏 Media | | |
| 🗱 Agents | | |
| 😻 Programming | | |

A programming example for use with the Advanced Lighting agent might be where, if the front door opens and it's past 9 PM at night, all the lights turn on in the home at various levels.

Setting up media

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Scan your network for media files
- Access media from disc changers
- Play AV from television stations
- Play audio from radio stations
- Add a switch
- Create a playlist
- Test a media connection
- Edit media information

Media types

To take full advantage of media lookup services by Gracenote, your customers must have an account at customer.control4.com and their system must be registered to the account. See Composer Pro Getting Started for details.

To add and scan songs and albums for playlists, they must be available in MP3, WMA, M4A/AAC, or FLAC format on an external USB drive, eSATA drive , or network share.

To add Internet radio stations, the Internet radio driver must be bound to the controller. See "<u>Setting up</u> Internet radio stations" in this document.

Tip: In OS 2.4 and later, you can use the TuneIn app to stream radio, news, sports and more from Internet stations worldwide. See the TuneIn Setup Guide or TuneIn User Guide for details.

You can set up your customer's audio and video media in a Control4 system for:

- Controllers
- Disc changers
- Media players
- Dock for iPod (iPods, iPhones, etc.)
- Television broadcast channels
- Radio broadcast stations
- Internet radio
- Satellite broadcast channels or music stations
- Other external storage devices: USB flash drives and shared network drives

You can also:

- Add CDs and DVDs
- Add individual songs
- Add cover art, titles, albums, etc.
- Create playlists
- Use the auto-scan feature to scan movies or music
- · Add and scan supported files from third-party media managers, for example, iTunes
- Edit media information for DVDs, CDs, etc.

To view and select the media from the Navigators, including wireless touch screens, on-screen, Control4 apps, and System Remote Control devices, you first need to add and scan the media to the Control4 controller.

For the MP3, WMA, M4A/AAC, or FLAC files stored on an external hard drive or network location that you add and scan, you can create playlists saved to the Control4 controller's hard drive in the media database.

Note: Speaker Point does not support M4P/AAC. Play songs through Speaker Point using MP3.

Note: Internet radio supports only MP3, WMA, and MP4 streaming radio stations.

Tip: The Control4 system must be functioning correctly before performing any of the tasks mentioned in this section. For example, if a disc changer does not appear in the project tree and is not identified and connected to the system, media cannot be added to it.

Overview of media management

Media configuration and media management are controlled in the Composer (Pro, HE, and ME) software. The primary controller that runs Director always runs Media Manager and the media database (SQLite 3.1).

- Media Database–Migrating from pre-OS 2.0 to OS 2.0 and later requires a media database conversion and schema changes; consequently, the media databases in OS 2.0 are smaller.
- Media Manager–All scans are performed by the Media Manager running Director on the primary controller. Note: Composer Pro configures scanning only, and does not scan the media.
- Media Lookup Service-This service now runs either in Composer Pro or Media Manager.
- **Composer New/Edit Search**—For media metadata lookup when media has not been scanned properly. The information retrieved can be edited and written to the media database, and/or the metadata can be written to the tags.
- **Media Manager**—Uses online media lookup. IMPORTANT! Controller registration is required on MyControl4 to use this service for versions later than Release 1.6.

Other Media Managers: You can use other media managers, for example, iTunes, Windows Media Player, and Media Monkey to create or manage MP3s and WMAs. You can still use Composer Pro, Composer ME and Composer HE to configure media files for a Control4 system.

Media Manager

New scans

- Scans Id3 tags that are embedded in the file.
- The title, album and artist names are extracted from the file system folder and filenames.
- The metadata lookup based on title searches comes from Gracenote.
- In OS 2.0 and later, scans are now much faster.
- Press **F5** to refresh after new scans.
- Scans can be tied to events, button presses, etc.

Scans where content is in the media database

- Scans for any updated Id3 tags in the file, or you can synchronize the media database based on the configuration.
- If no metadata is in the media database, the metadata lookup is based on title searches from Gracenote.

Other Media Manager considerations

- Media Manager scans only one device at a time. If several devices are configured and are in the queue, they will be scanned sequentially.
- Composer Pro does NOT need to be connected when Media Manager is performing a scan.
- Scans can be performed manually in Composer Pro as an event or in an automated schedule.
- If the path becomes disconnected, the metadata will not be deleted.

- If devices are modified, the tags will update.
- If you are using a third-party Media Manager, synchronization will occur if set.

Media storage

Audio and video files can be stored on one or more of the following devices:

- Home Controller disk space–Home controllers with disk space can host audio and video content. Note: Dealers must provide their own backup solution or use a NAS with mirror/recovery capabilities.
- USB-attached storage-Both audio and video can be stored on these devices, although Control4 does not recommend doing so due to poor performance.
- Network-attached storage (Samba-mounted)–Control4 recommends this solution for audio and video files due to better performance and backup/recovery capabilities.

As with previous releases, all media storage devices must be added and configured in the Composer Pro project. Composer Pro does not automatically discover new media storage devices. The storage locations are not available in the Navigators until the device is scanned.

Media lookup service

- Control4 uses Gracenote for its lookup services.
- Media lookup is optional. See the Media view in Composer Pro Getting Started to disable lookup (set to Never in scheduling).
- Media lookup requires that the controller be registered at customer.control4.com.

Configure video scanning of network storage

Use the System Design and Media views to set up scanning of video devices, such as disc changers or media players, to play video files from network-attached storage. Scanning can occur for devices or extensions.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the video device is installed as directed in the Control4 Installation and Setup Guide for the device.
- Ensure that the Network File Storage driver is added to the room in the Composer Pro project.

To configure video scanning:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select Network File Storage.
- 4. (Optional) To access the files in the storage, if you have password protection enter your user name, password, and workgroup in the Properties pane. If you do not have password protection, go to Step 6. Click the **browse** button to locate the path if you don't know it.
- 5. Click the Search button to locate the storage.
- 6. Click Connect.

- 7. Click the Media view.
- 8. In the tree, select **Media Scanning Options** to set up a schedule for scanning. To set up to scan the media now, click **Scan Now**, skip Step 9, and then read the Scanning Schedule in Step 10.

9. Set up the scanning schedule and the files to scan.

| edia Media Scanning Options Stored Stored Generic Mass Storage RED Generic Mass UHF_VHF Generic Addition FM Radio FM RA | Scanning Schedule Never Every On the following days: Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday At: 03:00 AM |
|--|---|
| Playlists | Files To Scan |
| | Generic Mass Storage RED MP3 (Audio) FLAC (Audio) M4A (Audio) WMA (Audio) WMA (Audio) AIF (Audio) AIFF (Audio) AIFF (Audio) AIFF (Audio) VDVD (Video) |
| 🕺 System Design | V Use Online Media Lookup to improve scan results |
| Connections | Replace Saved Image with Lookup Image |
| 🕥 Media | Remove media from the database if files no longer exist |
| Agents | Update media database if file tags have changed Enable MQA |
| 💱 Programming | |

- 10. Set the schedule as follows:
 - Scanning Schedule—Select one.
 - Never—Select if you never want to schedule an automatic scan.
 - Every x Days or Weeks (up to 10) —Select the frequency to scan.
 - On the following days—Select Sunday through Saturday.
 - At <time>—Use the up and down arrows to select the time. Highlight AM or PM and type the value: AM or PM.
 - Files To Scan—Select a device and extension.
 - Network File Storage—Select if you have a NAS you want to scan.
 - **USB Drive**—The manufacturer's USB drive appears here. Select if you have a USB drive you want to scan.
 - Extensions—Use the up and down arrows to select the format to add or remove from the list. To add a format if it doesn't appear in the list, use the down arrow to select the extension, select Video, and then click Add. Click Remove to remove that format from the list. Note: The list only allows format types that are supported in the Control4 system.
 - Use Online Media Lookup to improve scan results—Check if you don't want the search to access the Internet for every format lookup, for example, a specific title or cover art. **Tip**: Properly tagged files will result in must faster access.

- Remove media from the database if the files no longer exist—Check to remove database information when a media file has been deleted. Be careful, however, because if, for example, you disconnect a USB drive with media on it, the database files will delete them if checked, and you may not want to delete them if you use the drive again.
- Update media database if file tags have changed—Check to have the database updated if the metadata changes.
- 11. Click Apply.
- 12. Click Scan Now to start the scan immediately or Stop Scan if you've started the scan and want to stop it.

Setting up media auto-scan

Use the auto-scan feature in Composer Pro to scan media automatically. This section applies to disc changers, media players, network-attached storage, and USB drives.

Note: Composer Pro does not need to be open to scan media. If you started a scan in Composer, you can close the program while the scan finishes. Also, scheduled scans can run automatically or be started through programming.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the video device is installed as directed in the Control4 Installation and Setup Guide for the device.
- Ensure that the Network File Storage driver is added to the room in the Composer Pro project.

To schedule a regular scan of media:

- 1. From the Media view, select Media Scanning Options. To scan your media now (and not set up a scheduled scan), click **Scan Now** and skip the Scanning Schedule in Step 2.
- 2. In the Options pane, set the schedule as follows:
 - Scanning Schedule—Select one:
 - Never—Select if you never want to schedule an automatic scan.
 - Every x Days or Weeks (up to 10)—Select the frequency to scan.
 - On the following days—Select Sunday through Saturday.
 - At <time>—Use the up and down arrows to select the time. Highlight AM or PM and type the value: AM or PM.
 - Files To Scan—Select a device and extension.
 - **Network File Storage**—Select if you have a NAS (network attached storage) device you want to scan.
 - **USB Drive**—The manufacturer's USB drive appears here. Select if you have a USB drive you want to scan.
 - **Extensions**—Use the up and down arrows to choose which file types to add or remove. To add a file extension (if it doesn't appear in the list), use the down arrow to select the extension, select Video or Audio, and then click Add. Click Remove to remove that file type from the list.
 - Use Online Media Lookup to improve scan results—Check if you want the scan to access the Internet to search for missing metadata information (title, cover art, genre, tracks, or other information).

Tip: To update existing media with high-resolution cover art after updating your system to OS 2.8+, check this box and scan the media files.

• Remove media from the database if the files no longer exist—Check to remove database information when a media file has been deleted.

Important: If you disconnect a USB drive with media on it and run a scan with this option selected, the media database entries will be deleted, and you may not want to delete them if you use the drive again.

- Update media database if file tags have changed—Check to have the database updated if the metadata changes.
- **Enable MQA**—Check to enable MQA Audio in the project. See ctrl4.co/mqa for more information.
- 3. Click Apply.
- 4. Click **Scan Now** to start the scan immediately or **Stop Scan** if you've started the scan and want to stop it.

Disc changer

This section applies to a Sony CX777ES Disc Changer. The benefits of running a disc changer with bidirectional communications (RS-232), such as the Sony CX777ES, is that you can scan your DVDs/CDs stored in the disc changer to identify and index media, and automatically apply cover art and information about the media.

You can configure your system in Composer Pro to scan media on the associated disc changer either automatically or manually when the **Auto Scan** option is selected in the System Design Properties pane for the disc changer. The default is to scan media manually (Auto Scan: Off).

When the **Auto Scan Enabled** option is checked on the Disc Changer Properties page, the Auto Scan feature automatically detects when a disc is added to an empty slot or when a disc is removed. The Navigators are automatically updated with the change. The Auto-scan feature does not detect when a disc is replaced or swapped.

Note: If a DVD/CD is scanned and the media is not recognized, it is titled 'unknown.' You can edit the information about the DVD/CD, and manually provide this information from either Composer Pro or the Navigators. If this DVD/CD is then moved to a different slot, the system applies this same information.

To auto-scan added media to a disc changer:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, select the device, for example, **Disc Changer** with a serial connection (RS-232) to the controller, for example, the Sony CX 777ES Disc Changer.

4. In the device's Properties pane, ensure that the Auto Scan Enabled option is checked.



- 5. Open the disc changer drive, and **add** or **remove** the DVD/CD.
- 6. Close the drive to begin the auto-scan. The information for the added DVD/CD is automatically made available on the Navigators. See also "Setting up media stored on a disc changer."

Setting up media stored on a disc changer

Use the Media view to add and scan media according to the options available on your disc changer. Adding and scanning DVDs and CDs loaded in the disc changer populates the media information in the media database. This permits users to view the media from their Navigators.

This section covers how to:

- · Add media to a disc changer
- Scan media in a disc changer

Prerequisites

- The system must be registered at customer.control4.com before using the online Media Services. To register the system, see 'Registering the Control4 system' (Composer Pro Getting Started).
- Ensure that a controller is added to the project tree and identified to the network.
- Ensure that a disc changer is added to the project tree and identified to the network.

To add media to a disc changer:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Media.
- 3. Select **Disc Changer** in the Media project tree. If any of the following options are available for the selected disc changer, the buttons will be active (not grayed out):

Scan–Lets you scan all media located on the disc changer to add to the media database (recommended if available).

Note: Because media scanning has been moved to the background, the scanning status is only available through Director status messages. To do this, you can either watch the Director status line or re-select the media to view the content that has been scanned.

| Media | DISC Changer |
|-----------------|--|
| Meda | Discs Ed., New DVD., New CD., Delete Search., Scan., |
| Stored | Art II Type Title Artic(s) |
| | 1 empty |
| Media | DISC Changer |
| Media | Dice Ed., NewDVD., NewCD., Delete Search., Scan., |
| Stored | At II Type Title Articl(s) |
| VOR | 1 empty |
| | 2 endy |
| Media | DISC Changer |
| Media | Discs Ed. New DVD New CD. Delete Search. Scan. |
| Stored | Ad I Tape Tile Adulta |
| NOR | 1 endy |
| The Unit Charge | 2 enotes |

Search–Lets you search for media titles located on the disc changer to scan and add them to the media database.

Edit-Lets you edit your entries (artist, album, title, etc.).

New DVD or New CD–Lets you add new DVDs and CDs to the media database.

4. Always use File > Refresh Navigators to make the new media accessible through the Navigators in the Control4 system.

Note: Control4 has not implemented a UI for browsing CDs stored in a disc changer. Use a Legacy Navigator (prior to OS 2.0) that supports this functionality if this is an important consideration.

Scanning media in a disc changer

The following sections describe how to add media to the media database using the options listed above.

To scan media loaded in a disc changer to add it to the media database:

- 1. Click Connections.
- 2. Ensure the disc changer is connected to a serial port on the controller.

Example: From the Control/AV tab, select **Sony CX777ES Disc Changer**; ensure that the **Serial RS-232** is connected to the correct serial port (1 or 2).

- 3. From the Network tab, ensure that the controller has an address.
- 4. Click Media.
- 5. Select Disc Changer.
- 6. In the Disc Changer pane, click Scan > OK to Scan all.



Note: If the following error message displays, "Your system has not been registered on MyControl4," you can click **Yes** to continue scanning music without registering, but the music scans based only on the current metadata stored in the music files. You will need to enter any missing information manually for each disc.

Example: If no cover art is found in the file's metadata, then no cover art is associated with the music unless the system is registered in 4Sight, and you can go to the online media lookup (Media view > Edit > Name > Search > Select > Next) to obtain the cover art for the music. See "<u>Register the controller from a Navigator</u>" in Composer Pro Getting Started for instructions.

Automatically scan media

The following steps use the Sony CX777ES Disc Changer as an example.

To auto-scan added media:

- 1. From the project tree, click the **Sony CX 777ES Disc Changer**. The device Properties pane appears for this device.
- 2. Ensure that the Auto Scan Enabled box is checked.

When you select the **Auto Scan Enabled** option from the device's Properties page in Composer Pro, an automatic scan of the disc(s) is available if you add a new disc to an empty slot, or if a disc is removed. In those cases, the disc changer automatically recognizes the change, and the Navigators automatically update the changes. The disc changer recognizes the changes in its slot when its door closes to perform the auto-scan. The Auto-scan feature does not detect when a disc is replaced or swapped.

Note: Control4 recommends that you check the **Ignore Unexpected Play, Stop, or Pause** option. This option should be checked if you are configuring a system with lighting, for example, when the movie starts playing, and the lights in the room dim. Normally, you can use the Play, Stop and Pause functions on the disc changer during the course of a movie being played. By checking the option, these functions are ignored by the system.

- 3. Open the disc changer drive's bay, and change the existing DVD or CD.
- 4. Close the bay.
- 5. The auto-scan begins automatically when the disc changer door closes, and the information for the new DVD or CD is available in the Navigators.

Searching media in a disc changer

To search media loaded in the disc changer to add it to the media database:

- 1. Click Media.
- 2. Select the **Controller** in the project tree.
- 3. In the Disc Changer pane, click **Search**.

| Media | DISC Changer | - |
|------------------|---|---------|
| Meda | Discs Edt. New DVD. New CD Delete Search. | . Scan. |
| Stored | Art II Type Title Artic(s) | |
| USC Charger | 1 empty | |
| Media | DISC Changer | |
| Media | Dice Edt., New DVD., New CD., Delete Search., | Scan, |
| Stored | At II Type Title Articl(s) | ^ |
| CITE Charger | 1 empty | |
| <u> </u> | Z engry | |
| Media | DISC Changer | |
| Meda | Discs Ed. New DVD New CD. Delete Search. | Scan. |
| Stored | Ad E Tape Title Aduital | ^ |
| NOR DISC Charger | 1 enpty | |

4. Type the **DVD** name in the blank box. The possible DVD titles from the Web database appear in the Search Results window. Use the **scrollbar** to find the appropriate DVD title

Example: "A Beautiful Mind"

Select the appropriate DVD title, drag it over the empty line item, and then select it again.

| Search | | | |
|-------------------------|---------|---------------|----------|
| Raising Arizona | Title 🗸 | Gearch | |
| Search Results | | | |
| Title | Artist | Genre | <u>^</u> |
| Raising Arizona | | | |
| Raising Arizona | | | = |
| Raising Arizona | | | |
| Raising Arizona / Fargo | | | |
| (Mageria | | | |
| 2000 BT | | | |
| gracenoke. | | < Back Next > | Cancel |

- 5. Repeat the previous steps for each of the DVDs/CDs in the disc changer you want to add to the media database.
- 6. Click Finished.

Edit CD or DVD information

To edit a scanned DVD or CD:

- 1. Select the CD or DVD to edit.
- 2. Click Edit.
- 3. Change the Title, Director or Artist, Album or Movie, Studio, Genre, etc. You can also change the location, locate the cover art (Find Art File), and so on.

4. Click OK.

| 01 Dixie C | hicks Ready To Run Flv | Search |
|--------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| | ······ | |
| Director | | Kun lime: |
| Studio: | | Belezeet |
| Studio. | | neieaseu |
| Genre [.] | | Bating |
| | | |
| Location | r | |
| \\10.11.1 | - 01.2\public\Audio | |
| mp4a\01_ | _dixie_chicks_ready_to_run_fly. | mp4 |
| Art | | |
| | | Find Art File |
| | | |
| | No Artwork | |
| | Available | Paste From Clipboard |
| | | |
| | | Remove Art |
| | | |

Adding a DVD or CD

To add a DVD or CD:

- 1. Click Media.
- 2. Select **Disc Changer** in the Media pane.
- 3. Select the empty box for the New DVD and New CD buttons to appear.

| DISC Changer | |
|--|--|
| Discs Edt. New DVD. New CD. Delete | Seach. Scan. |
| Art II Type Title | Arist(s) |
| 1 empty | |
| DISC Changer | \frown |
| Diece E.dt., New DVD., New CD., Delete | Search. Scan. |
| At II Type Title | Wid(s) |
| 1 empty 2 excels | |
| 2 0109 | |
| DISC Changer | |
| Discs Ed. New DVD New CD. Delete | Search Scan |
| Ad B Table Title 4 | vieta) |
| 1 enpty | |
| | DISC Changer Discs Ed: New DVD. New CD. Delne Ad B Type Title Disc Changer Disc Changer Disc Changer Disc Ed: New DVD. New CD. Delne Ad B Type Title 1 empty DISC Changer Disc Ed: New DVD New CD. Delne Ad B Type Title 1 empty DISC Changer Disc Ed: New DVD New CD. Delne Ad B Type Title |

- 4. Click either New DVD or New CD as appropriate. The New Movie or New Album dialog appears.
- 5. In the Title box, enter the DVD you want to play.

Example: "A Beautiful Mind"

6. Click Search.

| Director | Run Time: |
|-------------------------|----------------------|
| Studio: | Released |
| Genre: | Rating |
| Art | Find Art File |
| No Artwork Available | Paste From Clipboard |
| | |

- 7. When the Search dialog appears, use the scrollbar to find the appropriate cover art, and select it.
- 8. Change the search criteria, and search again if needed. The possible matches from the web database appear in the Search Results window.
- 9. Click Next.
- 10. (Optional) Customize the DVD/CD information before adding it to the media database by editing the text in the box.

| | | Mα | |
|--|---|--|---|
| Raising Arizona | | RAISING | Trey Wilson; John Goodman; William Forsythe; Holly Hunter; Sam mcMurray; Randall "Tex" Cobb; Nicolas Cane: Frances McDormand |
| Joel Coen | | ARIZONA | None cage, nance not unana |
| Studio: | | 20 | |
| FOX | | | |
| Genre | | TE SELECTE STATE | |
| Comedy | | | |
| Run Time: | ✓ Released: | Rating: | |
| 0 | 1987 | PG-13 | |
| childess couple una cen brothers' madcaj regnant. Nicolas Cag ne wants a baby, she nd William Forsythe a ends, and Randall & onsistently funny film. acky, and the manic arvelous pair of filmm owered by Gracenote | bible to adopt decide that a co promp RAISING ARIZONA. It ie is her husband, H.I., an ex- 's going to have a baby, one is crazy cousins who have jus quot, Tex&quut Cobb as a mo Carter Burwell's score, replet dialogue is the brothers' most akers. | uple who just had quintuplets folly Hunter stars as Ed, a co- con who wants nothing more t way or another. Heading up th t busted out of prison, Sam M torcycle madman hired to resc e with infectious yodeling, is re quotable. The film is a treat fo | wont mind if they steal one of the babies. Thus begins the owho is devasted when she learns that the cannot get than to make his wife the happiest woman in the world. So if he supporting cast of bizme characters are John Goodman CMUrray and Frances McDomand as Ed and H.1's swinging use the baby. RAISING ARIZONA is the Coen brothers' most Jertifess. Bany Sonnerfield's cinematography is beautifully or the ears and the eyes, a one-of-a-kind sensation from a |
| | | | |

- 11. Click Finished.
- 12. Click OK.

Setting up videos for a media player

Use the Media view to identify the videos that you want the media player to play.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the media player is installed and added to the Composer Pro project.
- Ensure that the network-attached storage contains the videos that will play on the media player, and that the NAS is added to your Composer Pro project.

Setting up media for radio stations

Use the Media view to set up radio stations for a Control4 system.

To set up media for radio broadcast stations:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Media.
- 3. Select the broadcast media type (AM Radio, Dish Network, etc.).
- 4. Click Search.
- 5. In the **Zip** box, type the ZIP Code of where the Control4 system is located.
- 6. Click **Search**, and use the pull-down menu to select the listings. The available stations are populated in the Search Results window.
- 7. Check the individual boxes of stations that you want to make available in the Navigators; or click **Select All**, and then click **OK**.

| | Flow | Ger: Five broadcast stations | | `` |
|----------------|-----------|------------------------------|------------------|----|
| Search Results | | | | |
| Name | Channel # | Description Gen | re Audio Only | ^ |
| KBEE | 98.7 FM | Salt Lake City, UT Hot | AC True | |
| KBER | 101.1 FM | Ogden, UT Roc | k True | |
| KBYU | 89.1 FM | Provo, UT Clas | sical True | |
| KBZN | 97.9 FM | Ogden, UT Smo | oth Jazz True | |
| KCPW | 88.3 FM | Salt Lake City, UT Pub | lic Radio True | |
| KDUT | 102.3 FM | Randolph, UT Spa | nish True | |
| KEGA | 101.5 FM | Oakley, UT Cou | ntry True | |
| KEGH | 100.7 FM | Brigham City, UT Cou | ntry True | |
| KENZ | 107.5 FM | Orem, UT Adu | t Album Alt True | |
| 🗹 КНТВ | 94.9 FM | Provo, UT Roc | k True | |
| KJMY | 99.5 FM | Bountiful, UT Hot | AC True | |
| KJQN | 103.1 FM | Coalville, UT Alte | mative True | |
| KNYN | 99.1 FM | Fort Bridger, WY Hot | AC True | |
| KODJ | 94.1 FM | Salt Lake City, UT Oldi | es True | |
| KOSY | 106.5 FM | Spanish Fork, UT Adu | t Contempo True | |
| KPCW | 91.9 FM | Park City, UT Pub | lic Radio True | |
| KPQP | 101.9 FM | Ogden, UT Top | -40 True | |
| KQMB | 102.7 FM | Midvale, UT Hot | AC True | |
| V KRAR | 106 9 FM | Rrigham City, LIT Hin | Hop True | ~ |

The selected stations populate the media source channel list (such as the FM Radio list shown next).

| Media | FM | FM Radio | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------|---------------------|-----------------------|----------------|---------|--|---------------|---------|--|
| /ledia | Chan | Channels Edit New S | | | | | Search Delete | | |
| Media Scanning Options | Art | Channel # Name | | Description | | | Genre | | |
| Stored | | 98 7 FM | KREE | Salt Lake City | шт | | Hot AC | | |
| Sony Blu-ray | | 101 1 FM | KRER | Orden UT | . 01 | | Rock | | |
| Generic Mass Storage RED | White | 89.1 FM | KBYU | Provo UT | | | Classical | | |
| G Screen Saver | | 97.9 FM | KBZN | Ooden UT | | | Smooth Jaz | ,, | |
| Broadcast | | 88.3 FM | KCPW | Salt Lake City | шт | | Public Radi | | |
| | | 102.3 FM | 2 EM KDUT Pandalah UT | | Spanish | | | | |
| Cable TV | | 101.5 FM | KEGA | Oakley UT | | | Country | | |
| EM Padio | | 100.7 FM | KEGH | Brigham City | шт | | Country | | |
| diff Dieb Network | | 107.5 FM | KEN7 | Orem UT | | | Adult Album | | |
| Playlists | | 94.9 FM | KHTR | Provo UT | | | Rock | • • • • | |
| Hipster Lounge | | 99.5 FM | KIMY | Bountiful UT | | | Hot AC | | |
| 8 | | 103 1 FM | KIQN | Coalville UT | | | Alternative | | |
| | | 99.1 FM | KNYN | Fort Bridger | VY | | Hot AC | | |
| | | 94.1 FM | KODJ | Salt Lake City | UT | | Oldies | | |
| 🔂 System Design | | 106.5 FM | KOSY | Spanish Fork | UT | | Adult Conte | | |
| | < | | | | | | | > | |
| M | Selec | ted Channel | | | | | | | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | | | | | |
| 🔢 Agents | | No Artivo | | | | | | | |
| 💱 Programming | | Available | | | | | | | |
| 👹 Programming | | Availabl | e | | | | | | |

8. Repeat the previous steps for each additional media source, e.g., cable, satellite, or AM radio. (Each of these services must be set up separately.)

Setting up media for television stations

Use the Media view to set up television channels for the Control4 system.

To set up media for television broadcast channels:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Media.
- 3. Select the broadcast media type (UHF/VHF, satellite, cable, etc.).
- 4. Click Search. When the dialog appears, type the ZIP Code for the Control4 system's location in the box.
- 5. Click **Search**, and use the pull-down menu to select **Local Broadcast Listings**. The available channels are populated in the Search Results window.
- 6. Check the individual boxes of channels that you want to make available in the Navigators, or click **Select All**, and then click **OK**.

| Cip: 84010 \$ | Search Provi | der: CenturyLink Prism - Salt Lake City | y-Digital (Salt Lake City) | | ` |
|----------------|--------------|---|----------------------------|------------|---|
| Search Results | | | | | |
| Name | Channel # | Description | Genre | Audio Only | ^ |
| 🗹 🚧 KJZZ-DT | 14 | KJZZ-DT Channel 14 | | False | |
| 🗹 蜿 KBYUHD | 11 | KBYUHD Channel 11 | | False | |
| ✓ ion KUPX-TV | 16 | KUPX-TV Channel 16 | | False | |
| 🗹 👥 KUTH-DT2 | 33 | KUTH-DT2 Channel 33 | | False | |
| 🗹 📆 TNT | 108 | TNT Channel 108 | | False | |
| 🗹 👍 KSTUDT2 | 42 | KSTUDT2 Channel 42 | | False | |
| 🗹 📾 KSTUDT3 | 43 | KSTUDT3 Channel 43 | | False | |
| MAVTV | 147 | MAVTV Channel 147 | | False | |
| PPV PPVIN | 101 | PPVIN Channel 101 | | False | |
| 🗹 🏋 KULX-HD | 10 | KULX-HD Channel 10 | | False | |
| ✓ INTERACT | 92 | INTERACT Channel 92 | | False | |
| 🗹 🔆 OLYU | 104 | OLYU Channel 104 | | False | |
| ESPN | 28 | ESPN Channel 28 | | False | |
| ✓ INTERACT | 90 | INTERACT Channel 90 | | False | |
| A&E-W | 167 | A&E-W Channel 167 | | False | |
| V ONE TVONE | 157 | TVONE Channel 157 | | False | |
| iver•BET-W | 156 | BET-W Channel 156 | | False | |
| 🗹 😻 KUTH-DT1 | 32 | KUTH-DT1 Channel 32 | | False | |
| | 1/6 | PARAMTW Channel 1/6 | | Fales | ~ |

The selected channels populate the media source channel list (such as the UHF/VHF

channel list shown next).

| File Media Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | | |
|--|----------|---|---|--|--|----------------|-------|--------|
| Media | Cable | TV | | | | | | |
| Media | Channels | | | Edit | New | Search | | Delete |
| Media Scanning Options Stored Genetic Mass Storage RED Genetic Mass Storage RED Broadcast UHF_VHF Cable TV AM Radio Playlists Playlists Fill Hipster Lounge System Design | Art C | hannel # 4 1 6 3 008 2 3 3 47 01 0 0 2 2 04 8 0 0 67 | Name KJZZ-DT KBYUHD KUPX-TV KUTH-DT2 TNT KSTUDT2 KSTUDT3 MAVTV PPVIN KULX-HD INTERACT OLYU ESPN INTERACT A&E-W | Description KJZZ-DT (KBYUHO) KUPX-TV KUTH-DT. TNT Chana KSTUDT3 MAVTV CI PPVIN Ch. KULX-HD INTERAC OLYU Cha ESPN Cha INTERAC A&E-W Ch | Channel 14 Channel 11 Channel 15 2 Channel 33 14 Channel 33 14 Channel 42 Channel 42 Channel 43 manel 101 Channel 104 nnel 28 I Channel 90 annel 167 | | Genre | ~ |
| Connections | < | | | | | | | > |
| Media | Selected | Channel | | | | | | |
| Agents | No F | o Artwo wailabl | e e | | | | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | | | 🙆 Con | nected to 192 | 2.168.102.5 (S | SL) | |

7. Repeat the previous steps for each additional media source, e.g., cable, satellite, AM radio, or FM radio. (Each of these services must be set up separately.)

Setting up Internet radio stations

Use the Media view to add Internet radio stations that you can play from touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the controller is installed and identified as directed in the controller's installation guide.
- Ensure that the Internet radio stations you add are in MP3 or WMA format. You'll need to create a new form for each station you add.

To configure Internet radio:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click the Media view.
- 3. From the media list, click Internet Radio.
- 4. In the Internet Radio pane, click New.

| Die Geora Ruvet Zo Toole Beb | | | |
|---|--------------------------------|--|--------|
| Media | Internet Radio | | |
| Media | Channels | Edk New | Delete |
| Auto Moda Work Mode Work Work | Art Downel II Name Description | Gerre Ausdio Only Frd At File. Frd At File. Remove At OX Carcel | |

- 5. Fill out the form:
- 1. Name-Add the name of the station.
- 2. Description-Add a description that's meaningful.
- 3. Channel-Add the URL for the channel. Note: Locate the URL of the MP3/WMA stream that starts with http://... Note: Ensure that Audio Only is checked.
- 4. Genre-Add a genre if appropriate.
- 5. Check Audio Only for listening.
- 6. Cover Art–If you'd like, you can copy the radio station art to your list. In a browser, go to the link and click Images. Click Find Art File to locate an image, copy it to your clipboard and then click Paste from Clipboard.

7. Click OK.



6. Go to the touch screen, Control4 app, or on-screen Navigator and select the Listen > Station. Note: If you have several sources, Internet Radio appears under Sources.

Importing a DVD list from a file

Use the Media view to populate DVD metadata stored on a disc changer.

To import a DVD list:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Media view.
- 3. Right-click on the **Disc Changer**, and select **Import DVD List from File**. Composer Pro automatically populates the slots of the disc changer with the DVDs stored in each slot as listed in the file that is imported.

The imported file must be a CSV (comma-separated value) file listing the slots and the titles of the DVDs, one per line. You can create this file using a simple text editor or spreadsheet program by exporting a spreadsheet file in a CSV formatted file. This new feature provides a simple and easy way to quickly configure all of the DVDs in any manufacturer's disc changer.

Example formatting for CSV file:

- 1, Toy Story
- 2, The Incredibles
- 3, The Perfect Storm

Using external storage devices

You can access digital music from an external storage device in your Control4 system. External storage devices include USB flash drives, USB external hard drives, or a shared network storage area (for example, a computer's hard drive).

The following applies when setting up an external storage device:

- USB flash drives or USB external hard drives must be formatted as FAT32 devices.
- Shared drives on a Windows system cannot contain a space in the directory/pathname.

Set up the external storage device or networked file storage as described in this section.

Note: When you disconnect the external drive (USB, network, etc.) from the system, the music is no longer available. Reconnecting the external drive makes the media available again.

Attach and scan external storage devices

To attach and scan external storage devices using a USB connection:

Note: External storage devices must have media stored in unprotected MP3/WMA format.

- 1. Power up the external storage device.
- 2. As appropriate, use the documentation provided with your Control4 controller to attach the external hard drive using the USB port.
- 3. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 4. Click Media.
- 5. In the project tree, select the external device.
- 6. Click Scan in the device's pane.

You can add media from the external storage device when it is connected to the controller. However, it is recommended that you connect your external drive directly to the PC where you want to copy the media. When scanning, the media appears on the device.

Access and scan network storage devices

To access and scan network storage devices:

Note: The network location must be an open share location (no password required).

1. As appropriate, use the documentation provided with your operating system to create a shared network drive.

Example: Using Windows XP to make a local C:/ Drive directory available on the network, right-click the folder and select **Sharing and Security**. Click the **Share this folder** button.

- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. From the My Drivers tab, double-click **Network File Storage** to add it to the project tree.
- 4. Highlight **Network File Storage** in the project tree, and configure the username, password, and workgroup (or domain) for the network file share, and then browse to its network location.

This information varies between types. Contact your System Administrator or Control4 Technical Support if you need help with this information.

5. Click Media.

- 6. In Network File Storage, notice the options: Audio Media and Video Media.
- 7. To add or scan audio files, in the media list select Audio Media, and then click New or Scan.

Notes:

- When adding music to Network File Storage from the desktop, the music folder must reside in My Network Places so components can access the music files. A mapped network drive is not applicable in this situation.
- Audio files must be in one of the following formats to be scanned and played by the Control4 system: MP3, WMA, or FLAC. If you connect an iPod or another audio device, the Control4 system can play back the files supported on that device; but only MP3 files can be decoded.
- 8. To scan video files, in the media list select Video Media, and then click Scan.

Notes:

- Video files must be in one of the following formats to be scanned by the Control4 system: .avi, DVD, .iso, .m4a, mpeg, .mpg, or .wmv. These video files can only be played using a media player.
- Video playback is not supported from files stored on a USB drive, so the Video Media option is not displayed in the list under a USB drive.

Creating a playlist

Use Composer Pro to create a playlist from digital media.

You can create playlists from the touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators also. See the Control4 System User Guide for details.

To create a playlist:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Media.
- 3. In the Media view, go to the Media menu, and select New Playlist.
- 4. Name the playlist.

Tip: You can rename it any time by right-clicking the playlist, selecting **Rename Playlist**, and then typing a new name.

- 5. Select the controller or other media on which the songs are stored, and ensure that you have scanned the media from the storage to make the media known to the controller.
- 6. Drag the list of songs to the playlist.

These playlists are designed exclusively for streaming media in digital audio. If the customer subscribes to the Rhapsody Music Service, then Rhapsody playlists can be created using a Navigator (see the Control4 System User Guide for details){XE "Rhapsody playlist" }. In OS 2.0 and later, playlists can include CDs/DVDs, broadcast channels or stations, but they are a separate playlist from those in Rhapsody.

Note: To set up a Rhapsody subscription on behalf of the user or yourself, obtain a Rhapsody account at http://www.control4.com/rhapsody, and then refer to the information about Rhapsody in the Control4 System User Guide.

7. Drag every album or song you want to add to the playlist onto the playlist name.



- 8. After adding at least one album or song, select the playlist to view the contents.
- 9. (Optional) Remove songs:

- To remove a song, right-click and select **Delete**.
- To remove multiple songs, press and hold the **Shift** key. Select the songs, rightclick anywhere in the selected list, and select **Delete**.
- To remove selected songs, press and hold the **Ctrl** key. Select the songs to delete, and select **Delete**.

| Media | Playlist: Hipster Loung | Playlist: Hipster Lounge | | | | | | | |
|--|--|--|--------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Media | Songs | Songs | | | | | | | |
| Media Scanning Options Media Scanning Options Stored | Name Name The Ocean Heart-Shaped Box Give Life Back to Music Lady '95 The Beat Of Times Lorelei Too Much Time On My Hands Babe Fooling Youneif (The Angry Youn Show Me The Way Renegade Come Sail Away Blue Colar Man (Long Nights) The Grand Ilusion Crystal Ball Suite Madame Blue Mas America Mr. Roboto Don' Let K End | Abum Title Led Zeppelin IV (Boxed In Utero - 20th Anniversa Random Access Memori Greatest Hits Greatest Hits | Set] sry Remaster es Delete | Artist Led Zeppe Nirvana Daft Punk Styx Styx Styx Styx Styx Styx Styx Styx | | | | | |
| | < | | | > | | | | | |

The playlist can now be played from or edited in the Navigators.
Testing the media connection

To test control of media through the Control4 Navigators (System Remote Control, on-screen Navigator, or any of the other Navigators or touch screens), use the steps outlined in the Control4 System User Guide.

Suggested test items:

- Play an album
- Add an album or track to the Now Playing queue
- Play a playlist created in Composer Pro
- Create a playlist on a touch screen or on-screen Navigator
- Play multiple streams of music (play different music in different rooms)
- Play a movie on the television

Editing media information

Use the Media view to edit the media information for 'unknown' DVDs or CDs. You can edit the media information in the Navigators: on-screen, touch screen, or Control4 app.

Editing CD information

Use the Media view to edit CD album names, artists, genre, or cover art for a Control4 system.

To edit information about a CD:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Media.
- 3. In the project tree, double-click the **CD storage** device on which you want to edit CD information; for example, CD, disc changer, or controller.
- 4. Select an album and click the Edit button, or double-click the album title.
- 5. In the Album tab, edit the Album Name, Artist, Label, Genre, or Art. Make text changes as applicable.
- 6. Click **OK**, or use the additional features outlined below.

| Album Tracks Notes | |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Name: | |
| The Best Of The Allman Brothers Band | Search |
| Artist: | |
| The Allman Brothers Band | |
| Label: | Year: |
| Genre: | |
| Rock | |
| Art | Find Art File |
| Y | Paste From Clipboard Remove Art |
| | |

7. Search on a Name or Artist to search the database for similar entries.

| Album Tracks Notes | <u>\</u> |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------|
| Name: | X |
| The Best Of The Allman Brothers Band | Search |
| Artist: | |
| The Allman Brothers Band | |
| Label: | Year: |
| Genre: | |
| Rock | |
| Art | Find Art File |
| | Paste From Clipboard |
| Par a second | Remove Art |
| | OK Cancel |

8. Select a search result. Double-click to select an album title, and click Next.

| Allman Brothers Band The Best O | f The Allman Brothers Band Search | | |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------|--|
| earch Results | | | |
| tle | Artist | Genre | |
| The Best Of The Allman Brothers Band | The Allman Brothers Band | Blues, Boogie & | |
| The Best of the Allman Brothers Band | The Allman Brothers Band | Blues, Boogie & | |
| Best Of The Allman Brothers Band | The Allman Brothers Band | Blues, Boogie & | |
| The Best Of The Allman Brothers Band | The Allman Brothers Band | Blues, Boogie & | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

- 9. View or edit the information about the album: Name, Artist/Composer, Label, Genre, Year, Art, and Notes.
- 10. Change the information as needed, and then click Finished to save your changes.

| Name | 🗹 Art | V Notes |
|--|---|---|
| The Best of the Allman Brothers Band Artist/Composer The Allman Brothers Band 2 Label Polydor | THE USAGE AND A STATE OF A STATE | Rolling Stone (2/21/70, p.52) - "[The Allman Brothers] are a white group who've transcended their schooling to produce a volatile blues-rock sound of pure energy, inspiration and loveconsistently [the album] is subtle, honest, and moving, ".] Powered by Gracenote(R) |
| Genre | Vear | |
| Blues, Boogie & amp; Southern Rock | 1981 | |
| | | |
| Current Track Number and Title | 🗹 New Trac | k Number and Title |
| 1. Whipping Post | 11 Julkies | sing Post |
| D1 Whipping Post.mp3 | TT. Whipp | |
| 1. Whipping Post | ✓ 11 White | ing Post |
| 01 Whipping Post.mp3 | | |
| 2. Dreams | | ~ |
| 02 Dreams.mp3 | | |
| 2. Dreams | | ~ |
| 02 Dreams.mp3 | | |
| 3. Revival | 3. Bevival | ~ |
| 03 Revival.mp3 | | |
| 03 Revival.mp3 | | |
| | | |

- 11. Select the Track tab, and edit or remove tracks as needed.
- 12. Select the **Notes** tab, and edit as needed for future reference.

Editing DVD information

Use the Media view to edit DVD title, director, studio, genre, runtime, release date or rating in a Control4 system.

Tip: New in OS 2.0 and later, you can edit DVD and video titles on the touch screens and on-screen Navigators.

To edit information about a DVD:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Media.
- 3. In the project tree, double-click the Disc Changer or DVD.
- 4. Select a movie and click the Edit button, or double-click under Discs.
- 5. In the Movie dialog under the Movie tab, edit the DVD title, director, studio, genre, runtime, release date or rating information as needed.

6. Click OK, or use the additional features outlined below.

| 20,000 Leagues Under The Sea | Search. |
|------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Director | Bun Time: |
| | 74 |
| Studio: | Released |
| Dic Entertainment | 2002 |
| Genre: | Bating |
| Adventure | NB |
| | Find Art File Paste From Clipboard |
| | |

- 7. Click Search to present similar entries.
- 8. In the results list, double-click a DVD.
- 9. Edit the DVD information.

| | | ✓ Art | ✓ Cast |
|--|---|--|---|
| Raising Arizona | | ATESTAS CARY ADDITY BANTER | Trey Wilson; John Goodman; William Forsythe; Holly |
| Director | | ABISING | Nicolas Cage; Frances McDormand |
| Joel Coen | | MANUNA | |
| Studio: | | - | |
| FOX | | | |
| Genre | | TERENTRESIDE | |
| Comedy | | | |
| Run Time: | Released: | Rating: | |
| 0 | 1987 | PG-13 | |
| | | | |
| C Synopsis | ble to adopt decide that a co | uple who just had quintuplets Holly Hunter stars as Ed. a cor | won't mind if they steal one of the babies. Thus begins the |
| △ symopsis A childless couple una , childless couple una , cone horthers' madcay regnant. Nicolas Cag he wants a baby, she nend William Forsythe a tends, and Randall & onsistently funny film. racky, and the manic narvelous pair of filmm 'owered by Gracenote | ble to adopt decide that a co or omp RAISING ARIZONA. H is is her husband, H.I., an ex- is going to have baby, one is orazy cousins who have jus juot. TexAquit. Cobb as a mo Carter Burwell's score, replet dialogue is the brothers' most takers. e(R) | uple who just had quintuplets folly Hunter stars as Ed, a cop con who wants nothing more t way or another. Heading up th t busted out of prison, Sam M torcycle madman hired to resc with infectious yodeling, is re quotable. The film is a treat fo | won't mind if they steal one of the babies. Thus begins the owno is devastated when she learns that she cannot get han to make his wife the happiest woman in the world. So if re supporting cast of bizare characters are John Goodman Murray and Frances McDommand as Ed and H.J. is swinging use the baby. RAISING ARIZONA is the Coen brothers' most lertless, Barry Somerifeld's cinematography is beautifully or the ears and the eyes, a one-of-a-kind sensation from a |

- 10. Replace the cover art using one of the options provided.
- 11. Click the Cast and Synopsis tab to edit text displays as needed.
- 12. Click Finished to save your changes.

Using and Programming with Agents

Use the Agents and Programming views to program agents.

When you program with agents, you typically use these general steps:

- 1. In Agents, define an instance of a type of agent.
- 2. In *Programming*, use the instance of the agent to program event actions.

Example: In the Agent view, you can create an instance of a Custom Button where you identify all the buttons you want to program. In Programming, you program the Custom Buttons.

Note: Agents vary greatly in functionality and flexibility.

Agent types

- Access-Lets you hide elements of the user interface on a Navigator and use a pin code to change the settings for the Navigator.
- Advanced Lighting Scenes–Lets you change the lighting state, toggle lights, ramp/fade lights, delay on/off, use scene sequencing, flash lights, and so on.
- Announcements—Plays a pre-recorded .WAV file, or displays a text message whenever a given event occurs. You can play an audio announcement on any audio output device with a supporting text message that displays on selected Navigators.
- **Backup**—Configure settings for automatic project backups to Control4 online services. Requires a 4Sight subscription.
- Communication–Replaces the Intercom agent for systems running OS 2.7 and above. Provides the ability to set up Intercom device groups on the T3 series touch screens–audio and video, and Door Stations (DS2 and DS2 Mini–audio and video) See "Using the Communication agent".
- Custom Buttons–Lets you make user interface buttons for specialized devices on the Navigators. See
 <u>"Using the Custom Buttons agent."</u>
- Email Notification–Lets you send an email message to your email address when specified events occur as defined in programming. See "Using the Email Notification agent."

Notes: (1) 4Sight is required to use the Email Notification and Push Notification agents. See the Composer Pro Getting Started Guide for details. (2) Avoid setting up email notifications for events that occur frequently (e.g., when a Motion Sensor detects motion). If the email notification trigger event occurs too often, it will cause the system to become sluggish.

- **Guest Services**—An agent used to interface a local Control4 system to a Guest Services system within a multi-dwelling or hospitality project.
- **History**–Enables a history tab in drivers built for the History agent, for example, new security drivers built for OS 2.8.+. You can configure settings and view history data from the agent.
- Identity–Provides the ability to change the password for the pro-installer login for System Manager Web and When >> Then automation.

Light Properties—Manage light properties for Control4 Centralized Lighting modules and loads.

• Macros-Macros agents associate programming with events.

Example: You can create one macro to use in several different programming events or to use on a touch screen when creating Favorites. See "<u>Using the</u> Macros agent."

- Media Scenes–Creates a media scene that plays music in selected rooms on your system. See <u>"Using</u> the Media Scenes agent."
- **Navigation**—Add this agent to the system to enable navigation commands in the *Programming* view for T3 and EA On-Screen Navigators.
- **Push Notification**—Lets you define a push notification to be sent to your mobile devices as defined in programming.
- Scheduler–Defines conditionals of time to the system, and adds the ability to have scheduled events. See "Using the Scheduler agent."
- Screen Saver–Lets you set up a Screen Saver agent so you can create various Screen Savers. See "Using the Screen Saver agent."
- **SNMP Configuration**–Lets you set up and configure devices to monitor via SNMP. Requires knowledge of SNMP and network management. See Example: Program using the SNMP Configuration agent.
- Timer–Starts, stops, or repeats a timer based on a given event and action.

Example: If a Motion Sensor in the system turns on a light when it detects motion, you can use a timer to turn off the light after 15 minutes. Alternatively, you can set a timer to repeat an action whenever the timer expires. See "Using the Timer agent."

- **UI Configuration**—Upload custom wallpaper images and apply wallpapers from both the default set of images and custom images to multiple touch screens and on-screen navigators at once. Supported on T3 touch screens and EA controllers in OS 2.9.0. See "Using the UI Configuration agent".
- Variables–Create Boolean, string, and number variables. Review "<u>Examples: programming with</u> <u>variables</u>" for information about creating Variable agents.
- Wakeup–Initiates a pre-specified wakeup time in the Navigators. This agent lets you play music, turn on lights, and change temperatures. See "Using the Wake/Sleep agent."
- Wakeup/Goodnight–Updated version of the Wakeup agent adding the ability to control shades with a Wakeup scene.

The agent examples listed in the following sections will guide you through the programming steps for each agent type.

Using the Announcements agent

Use the Agents and Programming views to program this agent.

You can create announcements that:

- Display a text-message or Web page on any of the Navigators (on-screen Navigator or touch screens)
- Play an audio announcement through any audio end point or T3 touch screen

• Combine the two mentioned above

Note: The Control4 system allows up to 10 MB of files for the Announcement agent, and plays a maximum of 15 seconds per announcement. The Announcements agent supports the same audio playback file types as the EA and HC controllers support under My Music.

Example: This example demonstrates how to create a 'Dinner is Ready' announcement that is activated when the family chef (or dad) presses a custom-programmed button. When the button is pressed, the text message, 'Come to Dinner!,' displays on all of the Navigators in the home, and an audio file of a dinner bell ringing plays.

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified (with a network address) in the project:

- Controller
- Audio output device (television or connected speakers)
- Navigator with a screen (touch screen or television)
- Any device involved in the triggering event (doorbell contact, keypad, etc.)

To set up an Announcements agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) Click Add to add the Announcements agent to the project.
- 4. Select **Announcements**, and then click **OK** to add Announcements to the agent types list in the project. The next time you want to create an announcement, just select the **Announcements** item in the Agents pane and click **New**.
- 5. With Announcements selected in the left pane, click New.
- 6. Name the new announcement, and click Create. Example: Come to Dinner!
- 7. Set up the Navigator text message you want to display.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | |
|--|---------|--------|---|
| Agents | | | Announcement |
| Agenta Consta Consta Consta Constantiation December December December December December Media Some Media Some | Add | Remove | Ando-Friedmann Pape Arouncement Display Navigators Ted / Image Pape Ted / Image Respon Come to diment Add Remove Fried Tead / Image Come to diment LUNCH HATE Delay © Multiseconds ☑ Show CK Button Close sher Similates ✓ Add |
| system Design System Design Connections Hedia Agents Programming | <u></u> | | Start Delay Stop Delay C Milliseconds (1/1000 second) Evabled Roons Add Henove Evabled Touch Sorens NOTE: Volume for the announcement can only be set on divices with discrete volume control. NOTE: Volume for the announcement can only be set on touch screens |

- 1. Check the Display Navigator Text/Image Popup box.
- 2. Click Edit Text/Image.
- 3. Type a text message, a URL, or browse to an image (JPG, GIF, or PNG) to display.

The text box accepts any HTML code. While certain links and scripts won't be handled, when the announcement is triggered, for example, if you put this text in an announcement, it will show up just as if it were a web page. For example, the following HTML text will display the latest snapshot of a web page:

<HTML><BODY><IMG

SRC="http://tbn0.google.com/images?q=tbn:1uOhCnlc3zbQgM:http://www.inkycircus.c om/jargon/images/mountain.jpg" ALT="pumpkin">Visit W3Schools!</BODY></HTML>

Note: A static image file (JPG, GIF, or PNG) only has to be added to your project once because it is copied to the controller. When added, it is available in the Text Message drop-down menu for use in any additional announcements created.

- 4. Select the **time** you want the text message to display using the **Close after** drop-down menu (supported display times are from five seconds to 10 minutes).
- 5. Click Add/Remove and check the Navigators that will display the message. Click OK.
- 8. Audio file—Add an audio file, and set up the audio file to be played.
- 1. Check the Play Audio File box.
- 2. (One time per audio file) Click Add and browse to the audio file to add it to the drop-down menu.

Note: An audio file only has to be added to your project one time because it is copied to the controller. When added, it is available in the Audio File drop-down menu for use in any additional announcements created.

- 3. Select the audio file from the drop-down menu.
- 4. Click Add/Remove... and check the rooms where the audio file will play. Click OK.

- 5. Click Add/Remove... and check the T3 touch screens where the audio file will play. Click OK.
- 6. Set the volume of the audio play for each room and touch screen.

Note: The volume for an announcement only can be set on devices with discrete volume control.

| Agents | Announcement |
|---|--|
| Agents Add Remove | Come to Dinner Execute |
| 480ee Accesse Lydrop Accesse Lydrop Accesse Lydrop Communition Backup Communition Gamet Services Heads Heads Heads Lydr Morentes Media Sones Heads Head Sones Head | Pape Announcement Delay Noncident and Image Pape Text / Image Message Delay Image Delay Image Adds Paraver Add Paraver Add Paraver Add Paraver Add Paraver Add Paraver Add Paraver MOTE: Volume for the announcement can only be set on T3 back sources. |
| System Design System Design Connections Genections Hedu Agents Programming | Display Display Set Vulume 00 Remove V |

- 9. Click Programming.
- 10. Verify that the new Announcements agent displays in the Actions list (bottom of list).
- 1. Select Announcements.
- 2. Make sure the 'Come to Dinner!' message displays in the Announcement Actions pane and that the command is there (green arrow).
- 11. Program the announcement to play or display with a triggering event.

Example: Program a button-press event (left pane) to trigger the Announcements agent to run 'Come to Dinner!' (right pane).

Using the Communication agent

The Communication agent lets you configure the DS2 Door Stations and T3 Touch Screens (supports audio and video intercom) so that the Control4 system acknowledges the Intercom system and can communicate with it.

The Control4 Intercom app requires that the Communication agent is added into the system.

Note: The Control4 Intercom app is currently in a beta testing state.

Important: See Communication Agent Wizard and Migration Process on the Knowledgebase before using this agent to see if additional steps are required to add and use the Communication agent. Note: This agent also lets you configure the intercom to allow third-party devices (External Devices) for multi-dwelling units (MDUs). This functionality requires additional training and hardware not covered in this document.

With the Communication agent, you can send calls to multiple touch screens, monitor a room, and other controls.

Examples:

- If you have an elderly parent living in their own home, you can create a macro and assign it to a keypad button. If your family member is in stress, they simply press the keypad button to notify you that something is wrong.
- Create a "Good Night" setting where all touch screens in the house can be set to "Do Not Disturb" when it's time to go to sleep.
- Monitor your kids' rooms after they've gone to bed to ensure that they're going to sleep when they should.
- Receive calls from the door station to your Control4 Intercom app.
- Call from the Control4 Intercom app to the touch screen to speak to your kids at home.

Notes: (1) Broadcasting does not work in a room that's being monitored if that room is in Monitor Mode. When in Monitor Mode, you will not want the person in that room to be disturbed, for example, a sleeping child. (2) Before you use Intercom with touch screens connected over Wi-Fi, make sure your Wi-Fi router is set to allow multicasting. Some routers do not allow multicasting.

Prerequisites

- Controller
- T3 Touch Screens
- Communication agent (see below)

Note: Use of the Control4 Intercom app requires an active 4Sight license.

To set up the Communication agent:

- 1. Click the Agents view.
- 2. In the *Agents* pane, select **Communication**. If the Communication has not been added already, click **Add**, highlight Communication in the list, and click **OK**.

| File Tools Help | | | | | |
|--|-------------------------------|--|--|---|---------------|
| Agents | Local Devices | External Devices | | | |
| Agents Add Remove | | | | | |
| Variables | Group | Properties | | | |
| 4Store | | | | | |
| Advanced Lighting Scheduler | Availabl | e Devices Location | | Devices in Group | Location |
| Communication | | | Add >> | Portable 7" Touch Scr | Room |
| | | | | dansphone | Room |
| | | | << Remove | | |
| | | | | | |
| Intercom Groups | | | | | |
| New Rename Delete | | | | | |
| | | | ОК | | |
| Groups | | | | | |
| Al | | | Cancel | | |
| | | | | | |
| | Device | Properties | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | (Area | Mara D | Maralla | Manual Answer T | imeout an Ini |
| | Apph | r Changes Move Do | wn Move Up | Manual Answer T (10 seconds | imeout 20 🐨 |
| | Apph | v Changes Move Do | wn Move Up Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State | imeout 20 💌 |
| | Apph ID 14 | V Changes Move Do Name Portable 7' Touch Screen | Nove Up Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle | imeout 20 🖈 |
| | Apph ID 14 41 | Changes Move Do Name Portable 7' Touch Screen dansphone | Nove Up Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle | imeout 20 🖈 |
| | Apph ID 14 41 48 | V Changes Move Do Name Portable 7" Touch Screen dansphone Intercom 2 | Room Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 👘 |
| | Apph ID 14 41 48 | V Changes Move Do Name Potable 7' Touch Screen dansphone Intercom 2 | wn Move Up Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 🚖 |
| | Apph 1D 14 41 48 | V Changes Move Do Name Potable 7" Touch Screen dansphone Intercom 2 | wn Move Up Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 👘 |
| | Apph 1D 14 41 48 | r Changes Move Do Name Potable 7" Touch Screen dansphone Intercom 2 | wn Move Up Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 💽 |
| | Apph ID 14 41 48 | / Changes Move Dr Name Potable 7' Touch Screen dansphone Intercom 2 | wn Move Up Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 |
| Monitoring | Apph ID 14 41 48 | / Changes Move Do Name Potable 7' Touch Screen dansphone Intercom 2 | wm Move Up Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 🔿 |
| Monitoring | Apph ID 14 41 48 | Changes Move Dr Name Potable 7' Touch Screen danphone Intercom 2 | wm Move Up Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 🗻 |
| Monitoring Media | Apph ID 14 41 48 | Changes Move Do Name Potable 7' Touch Soreen danschone Intercom 2 | wm Move Up Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 |
| Monitoring Media Media | Apph ID 14 41 48 | Changes Move Dr Name Potable 7' Touch Screen danshone Intercom 2 | wm Move Up Foom Foom Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 🔊 |
| Monitoring Media Agents Programming | Apph ID 14 41 48 | Changes Move Dr Name Potable 7' Touch Screen danschone Intercom 2 | wm Move Up Room Room Room Room | Manual Answer T (10 seconds 2 state 1: Idle 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | imeout 20 🗻 |
| Monitoring Media Agents Programming | Apply ID 14 41 48 | Changes Move Do Name Potable 7' Touch Soreen desphone Intercom 2 | wm Move Up Foom Foom Poom Poom Poom | Manual Janswer T (10 seconds State 1: Idle 0: Not Ready | ineout 20 🕀 |

Add new Intercom group

An Intercom group is a set of Intercom-supported touch screens identified by a specific group name. This saves time when you want to send a call to a group of people.

To add an Intercom group:

- 1. Select **Communication** in the *Agents* pane. Then in the *Intercom Groups* pane, click **New**.
- 2. Name the Intercom group, and click Add. Example: "John's Group."
- 3. Add the devices to the new group (see "Local Devices Tab" below).

Local Devices tab

Group properties:

You can add devices to an existing group of 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screens, 7" In-Wall Touch Screen with Camera, 7" Portable Touch Screen with Camera, Door Station, or 7" In-Wall, 10" In-Wall, and 7" Tabletop T3 Touch Screens. This lets the caller from one touch screen send out a call to the group of devices.

To add or remove devices in a group:

- Add: Select the device in the Local Devices tab, and then click Add. Click OK.
 - OR -
- **Remove**: Select the device in the right box of the Local Devices tab, and then click **Remove**. Click **OK**.

Device Properties:

To change device properties for the touch screens in the Intercom Group:

- 1. Use the Local Devices tab to change the settings for all supported touch screens in the Intercom Group.
 - Manual Answer Timeout (seconds)—Use the up or down arrow keys or enter how much time is allowed to answer an incoming call.

- You can set the intercom device order by selecting the device and clicking the **Move Down** or **Move Up** buttons.
- 2. Click Apply Changes when you're finished.

External Devices tab

The External Devices tab can be used to add external devices that can communicate with the intercom system, for example in an MDU solution. Mobile devices using the Control4 Intercom app also show up as an external device. The Control4 Intercom app is still in a beta state. This functionality requires additional training and hardware not covered in this document.

Using the Custom Buttons agent

Use the Control4 Composer Pro Custom Buttons agent to create up to four custom menus to display on the Navigators (including touch screens, Control4 apps, and on-screen). Custom Buttons Menus can be accessed from the Room Menu in Navigators or added as a favorite to the Room Screen.

Example: If you have a heated driveway or some other specialty device, you can set up a screen with custom buttons to operate the heated driveway from the Navigators.



To set up the Custom Buttons agent:

1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.

2. Click Agents.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - (Remote) | | | - | × |
|-------------------------------------|------------------|-----------------|---|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | |
| Agents | Custom Buttons | | | |
| Agents Add Remove | Living | | | |
| Advanced Lighting Backup | Gate (All Rooms) | Living TV | | |
| Email Notification | Button 1: Open | Button 1: Power | | |
| Media Sessions Push Notification | Button 2: Close | Button 2: Input | | |
| Scheduler | Button 3: | Button 3: Mute | | |
| Timer | Button 4: | Button 4: | | |
| Variables | Button 5: | Button 5: | | |
| | Button 6: | Button 6: | | |
| | Remove Edit | Remove Edit | | |
| | Marcu 2 | Manu 4 | | |
| | mana o | 1100 9 | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Rooms | | | | |
| Name | | | | |
| M Rooms | | | | |
| Room | | | | |
| | Add Edit | Add Edit | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| 🔯 System Design | | | | |
| Connections | | | | |
| 😒 Media | | | | |
| 🔢 Agents | | | | |
| Sector Programming | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | | | |

3. (First time only) Click Add to add the Timer agent to the project.

Custom button menus can be defined for a single room or for all the rooms in the project.

To set up a Custom Buttons menu for a single room:

- 1. Select the **room** in the *Rooms* pane on the left side of Composer.
- 2. Click Add... and enter the Menu Name and Button 1-6 names as desired.
- 3. Click OK.

To set up a Custom Buttons menu for all rooms:

- 1. Select All Rooms in the Rooms pane on the left side of Composer.
- 2. Click Add... and enter the Menu Name and Button 1-6 names as desired.
- 3. Click OK.

Guidelines

- You can access each screen on the Navigators from the Control4 main menu or for a room from four available tabs. Example: The heated driveway screen is accessed from a custom tab on the main menu. You can configure the tab to be viewed system-wide on all screens, or to view in one room only.
- The Navigators allow up to four tabs per room to access custom screens with custom buttons. Each screen can provide up to six custom buttons for a total of 24 custom buttons. The four tabs in each room can be allocated as either room or as global tabs.
- On the Navigators, you can set up a room or global tabs. The example shows the creation of custom tabs that appear in the Front Room and access a custom screen.

Note: If you want to create a Custom tab to appear globally, check the Global box next to the Screen Name. Because only four screens are available for each room, if a Global button is added and another room already has four screens, the Global button replaces the first screen in that room.

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified (with a network address) in the project:

- Controller
- Electronic Gate (In the Control & Audio Video Connections tab, ensure that the Electronic Gate is connected to controller relay Port 4.)

To set up a Custom Buttons agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) Click Add to add the Custom Buttons agent to the project.
- 4. When the dialog appears, from the list, select **Custom Buttons**.
- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Select the Custom Buttons agent.
- 7. From the list that appears in the left pane, select the room for the custom button; for example, select **Family**.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Draper System (Local) | | | | - | | |
|--|--|--|---|--------------------------------|----|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | _ |
| Agents | Custom Buttons | | | | | |
| Agents Add Remove | Family Room | | | | | |
| Package PACE PROVE Advanced Lighting Announcements Backage Backage Backage Backage Controls Backage Backage Backage Description Provide Stratege Backage Mode Screenes Nonparticipies Backage Mode Screenes Nonparticipies Backage Mode Screenes Nonparticipies Backage Volume Ul Control Ul Control Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Volume Vo | Custom Buttins Button 1: Stereo Button 2: Suround Button 3: Armos Button 4: Extra Bass Button 6: First Button 6: First Menu 3 AddEst | Menu 2 Add Menu Menu Name: Button 1: Button 3: Button 4: Button 6: CX | X Adomatic Gate Toggle On Off Cancel | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | | | Connected to 192.168.102.5 (SS | L) | |

- 8. When the Custom Buttons interface appears, in the Screen 1 area, click **Add**. Note: In the Navigator, Screen 1 appears in the top left corner; Screen 2 appears in the lower left corner, Screen 3 appears in the top right corner, and Screen 4 appears in the lower right corner.
- 9. Enter the name of the buttons to appear on the Navigator screen.
- 10. Enter the relevant information for the device.

The Screen Name is the name that appears on the access tab to enter the custom screen. The buttons are the names that appear on the custom buttons.

Example: For the Garage Door, enter the following:

- Screen Name: Garage Door
- Button 1: Toggle
- 11. Click **OK**.

| Agents Custom Buttons Agents Add Renove Address Add Renove Address Add Renove Address Address Batton 1: Serieo Batton 2: Sarroord Batton 2: Sarroord Batton 2: Sarroord Batton 2: Cogle Batton 2: Consigner Batton 5: Flat Batton 2: Cogle Batton 2: Cogle Batton 4: Cogle Batton 4: Cogle Batton 4: Cogle | File Driver Go Tools | Help | | | |
|--|--|------------|---|---|--|
| Add Renove Add Renove Addromatic Gate Button 1: Streep Button 2: Cole Button 2: Streep Button 4: Button 5: Button 6: Button 6: <tr< th=""><th>Agents</th><th></th><th>Custom Buttons</th><th></th><th></th></tr<> | Agents | | Custom Buttons | | |
| Access Button 1: Stere0 Button 2: On Button 2: On Button 2: Stronuth Button 2: Stronuth Button 4: Exts Buss Button 5: Fister Button 6: Fister Button 6: Core Button 1: Core Button 6: Core Button 6: Core Button 7: Core Button 6: Core Button 7: Core Button 7: Core Button 6: Core Button 7: Core Button 6: Core Button 6: Core Butto | Agents | Add Remove | Family Room | | |
| Agents Programming | Appents Appents Appents Appents Access Annored Upting Backap Communication Backap Communication Commu | Add Remove | Custom Buttons Family Room Custom Button's Button's Sereo Button 2: Surround Button 2: Surround Button 2: Surround Button 4: Extra Highs Button 4: Extra Highs Button 4: Cope Button 3: Cope Button 3: Cope Button 5: Button 5: Button 5: Button 6: Permove Ext | Automatic Gate Button 1: Toggle Button 2: On Button 3: Off Button 5: Button 6: Remove Est. Menu 4 Add. Est | |
| Agents Vergramming | Media | | | | |
| 2 Programming | Agents | | | | |
| | 🦉 Programming | | | | |

- 12. Click the **Programming** view to program your Custom Buttons.
- 13. In the Device Events pane, scroll down to the agents and select the Custom Buttons agent.
- 14. In the Custom Buttons Events pane, ensure that **Family-Garage Door** is selected under the Event Screen next to Toggle, and then select the **Press** radio button. When custom button 'Toggle' on screen 'Garage Door' in Family is pressed, it appears at the top of the Script pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
|--|---|---|
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| | When custom item 'Toggle' on button 'Garage | |
| ⊕ Below INVS 2 Zone Power Angelt. ← € Access Prek Nose Access Access | Loor in Family Room is pressed Togramming Cottols General Else & And I or Break Stop Delay # Comment Sorget Actions Denn the Garage->Garage Door (Sensor) | |
| Custom Buttons Events Menu: Family Room - Garage Door | | Garage Actions |
| Toggle Press Press Pr | | Continuintos Contintos Contintos Continuintos Continuintos Continu |
| Press Release | | Toggle the Garage Door (Sensor) |
| 🔯 System Design | | |
| Connections | | |
| 🛞 Media | | |
| Agents | | |
| 💥 Programming | | |
| | | |

- 15. In the Actions pane, select Garage Door.
- 16. From the Command tab, select the **Toggle the Garage Door** radio button. The action command appears in the Actions pane.
- 17. Drag the green arrow to the Script pane.
- 18. Select File > Refresh Navigators.

Using the Email Notification agent

IMPORTANT! An active 4Sight Internet Service subscription is required for Email Notification to work. See Composer Pro Getting Started or the Control4 System User Guide.

Use the Control4 Composer Pro Email Notification agent to have an email sent to an email address automatically when specific events occur as defined in programming.

Example: If you want to know when the basement door opens, you can set up an Email Notification agent to send an email to your email application's Inbox when the Basement door opens.

- The Email Notification is a Control4 service. To use Email Notification agent, remote access is required to facilitate a secure connection between the controller and the Control4 service.
- The Email Notification agent uses templates to enhance usability. You can use a template to define a To, Subject, or Body for use when creating instances of the Email Notification agent. See "Connecting to a Director using Remote Access" in Composer Pro Getting Started.
- Use the Programming view to define the individual instance that triggers an email and completes the definition.

Example: A security threat to the house notified you of broken windows, doors opening, and motion detected in Away mode. In the template, you define Subject: Security Alert and To: fsmith@myemail.com. In the Programming view, you might define the zone. Examples of other incidents to use E-mail Notification include: Basement Door Opened, Front Gate Opened, Water Sensor detection, Carbon Monoxide Sensor detection, Motion Sensor detection, Sprinklers On/Off, etc.

Tip: When setting up an E-mail Notification agent, note the frequency that an event can happen; because if it is too frequent, it can slow down the system. For example, if an email is sent when a Motion Sensor detects motion, the frequent email messages could cause sluggishness.

Prerequisites

The following example devices are added and identified (with a network address) in the project:

- Controller
- Door Contact Sensor

To set up an Email Notification:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) In the Agents view, click Add to add the Email Notification agent to the project.

- 4. When the dialog appears, select **Email Notification**.
- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Select Email Notification, and click Add in the pane that follows. The New Template Name dialog appears.

Tip: Control4 now includes Control4 system and user-defined variables in the templates created using this agent. To use this function, you can create or modify email templates using Composer Pro > Agents > E-Mail Notification, and then use the **Add Variable** option.

- 7. Enter a name on the dialog that appears, for example, 'Security Alert.'
- 8. Click Create.
- 9. In Email Notification Template Name, select Security Alert for the Composer Pro email screen to appear.
- 10. Fill out the information for the email you want sent to you when an event occurs.

Example:

To: fsmith@myemail.com

Subject: Security Alert

Body: The security of the Franklin Smith House may have been compromised.

| Agents | | | Email Notification | | |
|--|-----|--------|------------------------------------|---|--|
| Agents | Add | Remove | Security Alert | Send Email | |
| Access Access Uppting Monopcoments Backup Communication Eanal Notification Service Media Scenes Media Scenes Media Serves Media Scenes Media Serves Media Scenes Media Serves Media Scenes Media Scenes | Add | Delete | To Issi Subject Sec Body The | th@myenal.com unty.Alet security of the F. Smith home may have been compromised. | ^ |
| System Design | | | | | |
| N | | | < | | > |
| 💮 Media | | | Ad | d Variable | Save Reset |
| agents | | | | | and the state of t |
| 👹 Programming | | | | Email Notifications require that the controller be customer control4.com to an account with a cu subscription. Verify controller registration and se "Account. Services" dialog under the Tools me | registered on arrent 4Sight prvice level using the nu to ensure that |

- 11. Do the following as needed:
- 1. Click Send Email to test and see if you receive and email to your email address.
- 2. Click Add Variable if you've created a variable agent. Scroll down the list to locate the variable, and then click OK.
- 3. Click Save to exit and go to the Programming view to set up the programming.
- 4. Click Reset to clear the To, Subject, and Body of the email to start again.
- 12. With the Agent template created, you can create one instance of the Security Alert for each security zone (or object). When you've saved the template, click **Programming**.
- 13. In Programming under Theater, select Door Contact Sensor.
- 14. In Door Contact Sensor Events, select When Door Contact Sensor opens.

- 15. In the Actions pane, scroll down and select **Email Notification**.
- 16. Make any changes to the email as necessary.
- 17. Drag the green arrow to the Script pane.
- 18. In the File menu, click **Refresh**.
- 19. Test the Email Notification agent by going to the door and opening it. An email is sent to your Inbox with the Security Alert as a subject.

Using the Light Properties agent

Use the *Agents* and *System Design* views to add and configure dimmable, non-dimmable, and 0-10V lights for Panelized Lighting devices.

Use this agent to make it easy to set up load and wattage information in the Panelized Lighting Properties pages for a project.

To use the Light Properties agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) Click Add to add the Light Properties agent to the project.
- 4. Select Light Properties, and then click OK.

In the Light Properties pane, change the columns for each light in the Panelized Lighting system.

Note: Ensure that the Panelized Lighting module is added and identified to the system. After you do, the name of the device will display in this agent's Light Properties pane. See the Panelized Lighting Quick Start Guide for details.

These options are editable.

- Name—The name of the module you identified in the system.
- Load Number—Assign a load number for each module in the system.
- Watts—Assign the wattage for each module in the system.

Using the Macros agent

Use the *Agents* and Programming views to program this agent. Macros agents are routines that associate programming with events.

Examples: You can create and name a macro to use in several different programming events.

The macro can be called from a particular program in the *Programming Actions* pane or you can create a custom button on your touch screens or on-screen Navigator to call a Macro.

You can create Macros:

- To use in various programmed events
- To use in Custom pages
- To use from custom buttons in the Navigators

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified (with a network address) in the project:

- Controller
- Light Switch
- Navigator with a screen (touch screen, Control4 app, TV screen, etc.)
- Any device involved in the triggering event (doorbell contact, keypad, etc.)

To set up the Macros agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) Click Add to add the Macros agent to the project.
- 4. Select Macros, and then click OK.

To create a new Macro:

- 1. Select Macros in the Agents pane, and click New.
- 2. Name the new macro, for example, **Bob**, and then click **Create**.

To add commands to the macro's programming script:

In this example script, you will select the **Family Room Switch** which is on, and then turn off everything in the Living Room.

- 1. Click the **Programming** view.
- 2. In the *Device Events* pane, scroll down to Macros and select **Bob**. "When Screen Saver On is executed" appears in the Script pane.
- 3. In the Device Actions pane, select Family Room and the Wall Lights.
- 4. Under *Light*, select **On**.
- 5. Drag the green arrow 'Turn on the Family >Wall Lights' to the *Script* pane.
- 6. Under Light, select Off.
- 7. Drag the green arrow 'Turn off the Family > Wall Lights' to the Script pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | |
|--|--|---|--|
| Programming | Script | | Actions |
| Device Events | Script | Execute | Device Actions |
| Programming Device Events | Script Script Script When Bob is executed Programming Controls Comment Script Actions I day of the week is - Sunday or Saturday State Screen saver mode on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Saturt the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° to Phe Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater - Stide Door 13 10° taffer 2 min Start the screen sa | Execute Delay | Actions Device Actions Control |
| C Lipit Properties C Marcis C Marcis C Marcis C Mada Scenes C Mada Scenes C Mada Scenes C Marcia Event Select Marce [Bab Select Marce [Bab C Connections C Connections C C Connections C C Connections C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C | Set the screen saver mode on Theater-Side Door 13 0° to Pho Set the screen saver mode on Theater-Side Door 13 10° to Phi Start the screen saver on Theater-Side Door 13 10° after 2 min Start the screen saver on Theater-Side Door 13 10° after 2 min Set the backlight brightness level on Theater-Side Door 13 10° Set the backlight brightness level on Theater-Side Door 13 10° Activate the screen saver on Theater-Side Door 13 10° Activate the screen saver on Theater-Side Door 13 10° | itos otos utes nutes to 100 ' to 100 | Val Lights Actions Val Light Actions Val Light Actions Turn on the Family Room->Wall Lights Commands Commands On Corr Conditionals Loops Light Commands On Corr Conditionals Loops Light Commands Difference |
| Sector Programming | | | → ○ Set LED On |
| | | | ⊖ SetLED Off |
| | | | × |

8. You can add the Macros agent to many programs that you create if you want to perform similar tasks, or you can program the agent for a specific device. For example, you can assign this agent to a button on a keypad to run the program when executed.

Note: A unique Macro cannot be edited or copied; only created or deleted. If you want to create a new Macro based on another one, you must create a new one.

Using the Media Scenes agent

Use the Media Scenes agent to allow simpler multi-zone audio control. Media Scenes link source, volume, and room-off commands. With Media Scenes, you can configure one or more rooms in a system to play the same music at the same volume.

Example: A Media Scene for the entire house can include all the rooms in the Control4 system. Another Media Scene can include only the Master Bedroom and Bath. You can create any number of Media Scenes containing any number of rooms.

Guidelines

- To successfully activate a Media Scene (with the rooms being controlled simultaneously), activate the Media Scenes agent before starting any music playback.
- Media scenes are persistent; when activated, a Media Scene remains active until deactivated or until the controller is powered down. If a Media Scene is deactivated while music is playing, the music continues to play in the associated rooms, but the rooms are no longer controlled in unison. Therefore, music can be stopped in one room while it continues to play in another room.
- You can set up a Media Scene one time, and activate it when desired. Then play the music.

To create a Media Scenes agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. (First time only) In the Agents view, click Add to add the Media Scenes agent to the project.
- 3. On the dialog that appears, click Media Scenes, and then click OK.
- 4. In the Agents pane, select Media Scenes, and click Add.
- 5. Enter a name for your new Media Scene. Example: Party Music.

6. In the Agents pane, select Party Music, and then click Add Room in the Media Scenes pane.

| Agents | | | Media Scenes | | 4 | | |
|---|---------|------------|---|---|----------|----------------|------------------|
| Agents | Add | Remove | Party Music | Scene Always Active | Add Room | Activate Scene | Deactivate Scene |
| Access Lighting Arround Lighting Arround elements Cataton Rithma Band Middladon Light Properties Macka Seasons Nervigation Macka Seasons Nervigation Schedular Schedular Schedular Schedular Macka Seasons Wateles Wateles Wateles Macka Seasons Macka Seasons | Add_ Co | opy Delete | Discrete Volume Usiume Volume Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 | Choose System Items × Check the rooms you would like in the scene. Check the rooms you would like in the scene. | | | |
| 🔯 System Design | | | | | | | |
| Connections | | | | | | | |
| 💮 Media | | | | | | | |
| Agents | | | | | | | |
| 💥 Programming | | | | | | | |

7. In the dialog box is a list of rooms in your system. Check the **rooms** where you want to play your Party Music, and then click **OK**. Example: **Theater** and **Family**.

Tips: To remove a room from a scene, click **Remove Room**. To create another Media Scene, return to Step 1.

| Family Room | | Theater | |
|----------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------|------------------------------|
| <mark>∕ Initial</mark> Volume | Track Source Selection | ✓ Initial Volume | Track Source Selection |
| - | Volume | - | Volume |
| - | Mute | - | Mute |
| - | ⊠ Room Off | - | ⊠ Room Off |
| 50 🌲 | | 75 🚔 | |
| Remo | ve Room | Remo | ve Room |

Tip: You can add all rooms on a floor by clicking, for example, **Main**. This automatically selects all other rooms in that category. You can also include all rooms in your entire system in the Media Scene by clicking **House**.

| Agents | | Media Scen | | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------|---|-------------------|---|-------------------|------------------------|-------------------|---------|
| Agents | Add Remove | Speaker Demo | [| Scene Alwa | ys Active A | dd Room | Activate Scen | e Dead | tivate Scene | | |
| Access Advanced Lighting | | Discrete | , | Bass | | C4 Q3 | | Edge 7 | | IQ3 | |
| Innouncements Jackup Communication Luttom Buttons mail Notifications dentdy Jight Properties Macros Media Sciences Media Sciences Media Sciences | | Unitial C Volume V | urrent olume | Initial Volume | Track Source Selection Volume Mute Moom Off | Initial Volume | Track Source Selection Volume Mute Mute Off | Initial Volume | Volume Volume Koom Off | Initial Volume | Volume |
| ush Nothication Creen Saver Iner II Configuration ariables Vakeup/Goodnight | | | 0 \$ | 0 ¢ Remo | ve Room | 0 \$ | ve Room | 0 ¢ Remov | ve Room | 0 🗘 | ve Room |
| Media Scenes Name Speaker Demo Party Music | Add Copy Delete | | Source Selection Volume | lnitial Volum | e Source Selection | Initial Volum | e Source Selection | | Belection | 1 | |
| System Design | | | Mute Room Off | - | Mute Room Off | 0 | Mute | 0 | Mute Room Off | | |
| Connections | | Remove | Room | Re | move Room | Re | move Room | Re | move Room | | |
| Agents | | _ | | | | | | | | | |

The rooms you selected appear in the new Media scene 'Party Music.'

- 8. To activate the scene, click Activate Scene at the top of the screen.
- 9. To deactivate, click the **Deactivate Scene** button.
- 10. You can program a button for your Media Scene. Do this by creating a new Custom Button.
- 1. In the *Agents* view, click **Custom Buttons**, and then below, click a **room**. In the Custom Buttons pane, click **Add**.
- In the Add Screen dialog that appears, enter the name of the Custom Button, and then click OK.
 Example: Click Theater and call the Screen name Media Scene. Name Button 1: On/Off and click OK.

The custom button name appears in the pane.

- 11. Click the Programming View.
- 12. In the Device Events pane, scroll down and click **Custom Buttons**. In the pane below, Custom Button Events, select the screen you want to program, and then select the **Press** radio button.

Example: Select the screen Kitchen - Media Scene, and select the Press radio button.

- 13. In the Actions pane, select Kitchen.
- 14. In the *Kitchen Actions* pane under Conditionals, press the **Media Scene Active** button which also selects True.
- 15. Drag the blue question mark to the Script pane.
- 16. In the Actions pane, scroll down and select Media Scenes.
- 17. In the *Media Scenes Actions* pane under Commands, press the **Deactivate** button, and then select **Party Music**.
- 18. Drag the green arrow on top of the blue question mark in the Script pane.
- 19. In the *Actions* pane, scroll up and select **Kitchen**. In the Kitchen Actions pane and in Conditionals, press the **Media Scene Active** button, and then the **False** button.
- 20. Drag the **blue question** mark to the **Script** pane.
- 21. In the *Actions* pane, scroll down and select **Media Scenes**. In the Media Scenes Actions pane and in Commands, press the **Activate** button, and then select **Party Music**.
- 22. Drag the green arrow icon on top of the blue question mark in the Script pane.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | | |
|--|---|---------|--|--|-----------|----------------|-----------------|---|
| Programming | Script | | Actions | | | | | |
| Device Events | Script | Execute | Device Actions | | | | | |
| · • • • • • | When the project Draper System is loaded | | | | | | ~ ^ ~ | ٩ |
| Copper System Copper System Copper System Loads Copper System Loads Copper System Loads | Programming Controls • Else • Else • Comment • Comment • Consent • Conse | De | G Anoun G Anoun G Anoun G Sackup G Commu G Custom G Custom G Driver U G Email N G dentity G dentity G dentity G dentity G Macros G Media S G Media S G Navigati Media Scenes Activa | cements inication Buttons lpdate otification operties icenes iessions ion Actions atte scene | 'Party N | Ausic' based o | n Last Selected | |
| O When Media Scanning Starts | | | Comma | nds | C | onditionals | Loops | |
| When Meda Scanning Completes Image: system Design Connections Image: Hedia | | | Based on Media Scenes Speaker Demo Party Music | Last Sele | cted Roor | m | | ~ |
| Agents Programming | | | | | | | | |

The Script pane now reads, 'When custom button 'On/Off' on screen 'Media Scene' in Kitchen is pressed...Activate scene 'Party Music.''

23. To execute the scene, click Execute.

Using the Media Sessions agent

Use the Media Sessions agent to view and have limited control over active audio sessions in the project. Media Sessions agent cannot be used to provide any programming assistance, but can be use to control volume and mute settings for active zones.

Example: A media session was creating using the Control4 app. You can use the Media Session agent to control volume and mute in any of the rooms in the media session.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | - | × |
|---|---|---|----------|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | |
| Agents | This page provides a limited Sessions View' for viewing the active media sessions in the project. Volume and mute state can also be controlled. | | <u>^</u> |
| Agents Add Remove | | | ×. |
| Access Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Backup and Accessing and Accessing Backup and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Backup and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Highly Sciences Mark Mathematica and Accessing and Accessing Science and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Science and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Science and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Science and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing and Accessing Accessing and Accessing and Acces | xbor one Rooms Family Room | | |
| Properties Session Manager Debug | | | |
| Connections | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| Madia | | | |
| | | | |
| Agents | | | |
| 2 Programming | | | |
| | | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | | |

Configuring the Master Volume Slider

The Media Sessions agent can help avoid potentially damaging high volume levels when using the Master Volume Slider in the Sessions page of the user interfaces by configuring an upper threshold for the Master Volume Slider. Volume won't ramp above the upper threshold until all rooms are at the threshold to avoid a single room ramping above the level when the Master Volume Slider in a user interface.

In the **Properties** tab of the *Media Sessions* agent, use the arrows or enter a volume for the Session Master Volume Slider upper threshold.

| Use this setting to avoid high and potentially damaging volume levels for rooms in a media session where loudness cannot be monitored. If a remote room that is part of a media session has a substantially higher volume level than other rooms in the session and the master volume sider is ramped up quickly, the threshold setting will hold volume ramping at the threshold level for the room with the highest volume level, followed by the room with the next highest volume level and so on until all rooms reach the threshold level. Once all rooms have reached the threshold level, all rooms will be permitted to ramp beyond the threshold level. | < > |
|--|-----|
| Session Master Volume Slider upper-threshold: 75 | |

Using the Scheduler agent

Use the Agents and Programming views to program this agent. The Scheduler agent lets you schedule time on the Control4 system to trigger specific events to occur. You can program a specific one-time event or multiple events to re-occur daily, weekly, monthly, yearly, etc.

Example: Schedule an event to play dad's favorite song at 7:30 AM on his birthday.

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified (with a network address) in the project:

- Controller
- Keypad

To set up the Scheduler agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) In the Agents pane, click Add to add the Scheduler agent to the project.
- 4. Select Scheduler in the Agents list, and click OK.

5. In the *Agents* pane, select **Scheduler**. The Scheduler panes appear.

| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|---|---|---------------|----------|--------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Agents | Scheduler | | | | | | | | | |
| Agents Add Remove | List 1 Day | 7 Week 31 M | onth | | | | | | | |
| Access Advanced Lighting Amouncements Backup Communication Counton Buttons Email Notification Benal Notification Identity | Name Area Off Area Off Again New Entry | Name Time Start Date Repeats End Date P Area Off 8:00 PM 6/1/2017 Every day None None <t< th=""></t<> | | | | | | | | |
| Lagar Ingeness Macros Media Scenes Media Sestions Navigation Push Notification Scheduler | Name: Dads Bit | Enabled Name: [Dads Birthday] Time | | | | | | | | |
| Screen Saver Timer Ul Configuration Variables Wakeup/Goodnight | Time 01.5 Sunrise / Sur Randomize ti | 59 PM 🔹 nset Sunset ime by +/- 15 | v minutes(s). | | | | | | | |
| Scheduler Today Add. / S M T W T F S 5 5 7 1 2 3 4 S M T W T F S 5 1 2 3 4 15 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 122 22< | Start Date Start on Start on the Repeats | 8/ 1/2025 🗐 First 🗸 S | ▼ unday ∨ | May ᅌ 20 | 19 💠 | | | | | |
| June 2019 S M T W T F S 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 5 system Design | Daily Weekly Monthly O Yearly | Every 1 | year(s) | | | | | | | |
| Connections | Stop Date | | | | | | | | | |
| Media | Stop On | 5/22/2500 | • | | | | | | | |
| Agents | | | | | Creat | | | | | |
| 🐺 Programming | 1 | | | Л | Lancel | | | | | |

- 6. In the Scheduler pane, click Add.
- 7. In the New Event dialog, enter the relevant information for this Scheduler instance:
- 1. In Name: type Dads Birthday.
- 2. In Time, add the following:
 - Select the **Time** radio button.
 - Highlight the hour: **07**, minutes: **30**, and **AM**. Use the drop-down menu to select each time separately, or
 - Select **Sunrise/Sunset**, and select **Sunrise** from the drop-down menu.
- 3. In Randomize time by +/-, keep the default of 15 minutes. This executes the Scheduler either 15 minutes before or 15 minutes after the actual time you assigned. This is useful when you go on vacation and you want your lights to go on at different times so outsiders think someone is home.
- 4. In Start Date, select one of the following:
 - Select the **Start** on radio button. Use the drop-down menu and select today's date.
 - Select the **Start** on the radio button to select an exact day, month, and year. Use the drop-down menus to make your selections.
- 5. Select Repeats.
 - Select Yearly.

Example: You want dad's favorite song to play at 7:30 AM. This dialog lets you schedule one-time events and recurring events.

- Select **Stop on**, and use the drop-down menu to select a month and year to stop this agent.
- 6. Click **OK**. The event is now added to the list of events.
- 7. To delete an event, select the event in the list, and click **Delete**.
- 8. Click Programming.
- 9. In the Device Events pane, select the Scheduler object at the bottom of the list.
- 10. In Scheduler Events, click Dads Birthday event. The Script pane shows Dads Birthday event.
- 11. Select the device actions to initiate in the Actions panes.
- 12. Drag the actions to the Script pane. These scripted actions execute when the Dad's Birthday event executes.
- 13. You can use the Scheduler agent in programming also to add conditionals or loops to your scripts.
- 14. In the project tree, select **3 Button Keypad**.
- 1. In the Actions pane, scroll down and select the Scheduler agent.
- 2. Click the Conditionals tab, select Time, and Within 5 minute(s) Before Sunset.
- 3. Drag the **blue question** mark to the Script pane.
- 4. In the project tree, select the light.
- 5. In the **Commands** tab, select **turn the room on**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question** mark in the Script pane.

Results: When the top button on the 3-Button Keypad is pressed, if it is within five minutes before sunrise, the light comes on. The Scheduler agent lets you define one-time events and recurring events.

Using the Screen Saver agent

Use the Agents view to set up the Screen Saver agent.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the devices you will use to set up a screen saver and store your photos (for example, a networkattached storage device) are attached to the Control4 system are attached to the primary controller. If you use a USB device, ensure that it is formatted to FAT 32.

To set up the Screen Saver agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only) Click Add to add the Screen Saver agent to the project.
- 4. Select Screen Saver, and then click OK. The next time you want to create a Screen Saver, click the Screen Saver item in the Agents pane, and then click New.

5. From the drop-down menu, select the **File Storage Location**.

| File Driver Go Tools Help Agents Agents Add Remove Access Advanced Lighting Armouncements Backup Communication Current Battons Enail Natication Media Scenes Media Scenes Makeurg Connections System Design System Design System Design Programming Server Server Server Please select from the configured File Storage Locations: Please select the photo interval: Time Use Gray Background for Letterbox The Screen Saver agent can be configured to use any of the available storage device in this project, including: Ul Configuration Variabiles System Design Wedia Programming Programming Supervised Agents Server Supervise Addition Supervise Addition< | |
|---|--|
| e Driver Go Tools Help gents Add gents Add remove Coess dvanced Lighting add mouncements ackup ackup add membraition add with Notification add lently gents add Remove coss add remove add add Remove order add add Remove add Remove order add add Remove add Remove add Remove add Remove add add add Tordiguation Add Add Mateur / Goodright | Screen Saver |
| Agents Add Remove | |
| Agents Add Permove Access Advanced Liphting Announcements Backup Backup Communication Cummunication Liphting Backup Communication Cummunication Head Backup Macros Email Notification Head Media Scenes Media Scenes Media Scenes Schediuler Schediuler Schediuler Schediuler Schediuler Schediuler State Imer Ul Configuration Variables Wakeup/Goodnight System Design Secons Stedia Email Agents Secons Programming | Please select from the configured File Storage Locations: Theater->Genetic Mass Storage RED Please select the photo interval: 1 min V Use Gray Background for Letterbox The Screen Saver agent can be configured to use any of the available storage devices in this project, including: + Hard drive of a controller + USB-Statisched storage device * Network attached storage device While multiple storage locations can be configured for the Screen Saver, only one storage location will be used at any given time. After configuring the storage location, use the Media tab to Add photographs to the aystem for use by the Screen Saver. The Screen Saver is then enabled from the Navigator interface. |
| Media Sessions Navigation Push Notfication Scheduler Green Saver Timer UI Configuration Variables Wakeup/Goodnight System Design System Design Connections Wedia | The Screen Saver agent can be configured to use any of the available storage devices in this project, including: "Hard drive of a controller "USB-attached storage device "Network attached storage device While multiple storage locations can be configured for the Screen Saver, only one storage location will be used at any given time. After configuring the storage location, use the Media tab to Add photographs to the system for use by the Screen Saver. The Screen Saver is then enabled from the Navigator interface. |
| Vergramming | |

- 6. Click the Media view.
- 7. Click Screen Saver in the Media pane.
- 8. Click **Add** to scan and add new photos to the Screen Saver pane from the device you selected in the Network Storage Location box.
- 9. To set up a custom screen saver on the Navigators, see also:
 - "Setting up the photo screen saver"
 - "Setting up a custom screen saver"
 - Control4 System User Guide

Using the Timer agent

Use the *Agents* and Programming views to program this agent. The Timer agent lets you start, stop, or repeat a timer based on a given event and action.

Example: A Motion Sensor turns on a light when it detects motion; use a timer to turn off the light after 15 minutes. Alternatively, you can set a timer to repeat an action whenever the timer expires, such as a Bathroom fan that restarts each time the Bathroom light turns on.

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified (with a network address) in the project:

- Controller
- Any device involved in the triggering event (for example, a Motion Sensor)

To set up the Timer agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.

| - | | |
|--------------------------------|--|---|
| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - (Remote) | | × |
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | _ |
| Agents | Timers | |
| Agents Add Remove | Bathroom Fan | |
| Advanced Lighting | Istanti 00:00.05 A hmr | |
| sackup Custom Buttons | niterval, bood-os 💌 nites | |
| Email Notification | Repeating | |
| Media Sessions | Stature Concerned | |
| Push Notification Scheduler | | |
| Screen Saver | Start Stop Restart Reset Pause Resume | |
| Unter UI Configuration | | |
| Variables | Timer Agent Command Notes | |
| | START | |
| | (if stopped): Starts the timer and fires the 'started' event. New timer state: Running | |
| | (if running): Starts the timer over and fires the 'reset' event. Timer state: Running | |
| | (if paused): Starts the timer over and fires the 'started' event. New timer state: Running | |
| | STOP | |
| | (if stopped): Has no effect Timer state: Stopped | |
| | (if running): Stops the timer and fires the 'stopped' event. The timer cannot be resumed. New timer state: Stopped | |
| Add Comp Delate | (if paused). Stops the timer and tires the stopped event. The timer cannot be resumed, New timer state. Stopped | |
| Mod Copy Delete | RESTART | |
| Name | (if stopped): Starts the timer and fires the 'started' event. New timer state: Running | |
| Bathroom Fan | (if running): Starts the timer over and fires the 'stopped', 'reset, and 'started' events. Limer state: Running (if paused): Starts the timer over and fires the 'stopped', 'reset,' and 'started' events. New timer state: Running | |
| | | |
| | RESET | |
| | (if stopped): Has no effect. I mer state: Stopped (if wraine): Chate the times out and fine the located wrant. Times state: Durning | |
| | (informing). Statis the line over and lines the reset event. Timer state: Running (if paused): Sets the remaining time back to the timer's interval and fires the 'reset' event. Timer state: Paused | |
| | v r | |
| | PAUSE | |
| | (if stopped), has no ellect, interisate, stopped (if runnino): Stops the timer preserves the remaining timer duration, and fires the "paused" event. New timer state: Paused | |
| | (if paused): Has no effect Timer State: Paused | |
| | 250.045 | |
| | RESUME | |
| | (in support) has no effect. Timer state: Running | |
| | (if paused): Continues the timer from when it was paused and fires the 'resumed' event. New timer state: Running | |
| | | |
| | Clear Log | |
| 🔯 System Design | | |
| | 10:13:07 (5): stopped | |
| Connections | | |
| 💮 Media | | |
| | | |
| Agents | | |
| X Programming | | |
| | 4 | |
| | × | |
| rector Status: Idle | Connected to 192 168 1 18 (SSI) | |
| | | |

- 3. (First time only) Click Add to add the Timer agent to the project.
- 4. Select **Timer**, and then click **New**.
- 5. Type the name of the new timer (for example, Bathroom Fan), and click Create.
- 6. In Interval, use the drop-down menu to set the timer in seconds, minutes, or hours (hh:mm:ss), and click OK.
- 7. Click Start to start the timer.
- 8. Click Programming.
- 9. Select the **Timer Action** in the Actions pane, and ensure the new timer options display in the Commands tab (Start, Stop, Reset, and Change).
- 10. Start, Stop, Restart, Reset, Resume, or Change the timer as needed.

The following table outlines how the timer behaves depending on the state of the timer when a command

is executed.

| Command executed is | Timer is | Then event(s) triggered | Effect on Timer |
|---------------------|-------------|----------------------------|-------------------|
| Start | Running | Reset | Restarts timer |
| | Stopped | Start | Starts timer |
| | Paused | Start | Restarts timer |
| Stop | Running | Stop | Stops timer |
| | Stopped | none | none |
| | Paused | Stop | Stops timer |
| Restart | Running | Stop, Reset, Start | Restarts timer |
| | Stopped | Reset, Start | Restarts timer |
| | Paused | Stop, Reset, Start | Restarts timer |
| Reset | Running | Reset | Restarts timer |
| | Stopped | Reset, Start | Restarts timer |
| | Paused | Reset | Reset timer value |
| Pause | Running | Puase | Pauses timer |
| | Not running | none | none |
| | Paused | none | none |
| Resume | Running | none | none |
| | Stopped | none | none |
| | Paused | Resume | Resumes timer |

11. Program to connect the timer to an event and action, and choose to **Start**, **Restart**, or **Stop** the timer.

See the example programming screens that follow. Notice how the timer is first used as an action, and then as an event.

Event screen:

| Programming |
|--|
| Device Events |
| ~ ^ v 6 9 |
| Programming Control Push Notification Remote Access Scheduler Screen Saver System Diagnostics Ul Configuration Update Manager Variables Z-Wave |
| < > |
| Timer Events |
| Select Timer: Bathroom Fan V |
| When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' expires |
| ○ When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been started |
| O When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been stopped |
| ◯ When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been reset |
| O When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been paused |
| O When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been resumed |
| Status: 🌑 Stopped |
| Note: See the Timer Agent page for details on event execution. |

Action screen:

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - (Remote) | | – 🗆 × |
|--|--|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| ~~~ 09 | | ~~~ ? |
| + C Programming Control | Ywnen Timer Bathroom Fan' expires | Media Sessions |
| Q Push Notification | Programming Controls | Programming Control |
| C Remote Access | | Push Notfication |
| C G Scheduler | 🔨 Else 💑 And 🚺 Or 📪 Break 📪 Stop 📪 Delay 🖻 seconds 🗸 | Generative Generative Generative |
| C G System Diagnostics | # Comment | G Screen Saver |
| Configuration | | G System Diagnostics |
| C Update Manager | Script Actions | UI Configuration |
| C Variables | | Update Manager |
| ere Z-Wave | | C Varables |
| < > | | Timer v |
| Times Counts | | Timer Antinen |
| Time Evens | | |
| Select Timer: Bathroom Fan V | | Start Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| \when Timer 'Bathroom Fan' expires | | Commands Conditionals Loops |
| O When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been started | | Select Timer: Bathroom Fan V |
| O When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been stopped | | Start Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| O When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been reset | | O Stop Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been paused | | Restart Timer (Bathroom Ean) |
| O When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been resumed | | Reset Timer Bathroom Fan' |
| Status: 🌑 Stopped | | Pause Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| Note Country Transformations for | | Resume Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| details on event execution. | | Change 'Bathroom Fan' Interval |
| | | Interval: 00:00:00 Interval |
| System Design | | Note: To use a new interval for an already |
| Connections | | running timer, it must be reset or restarted. |
| 🕞 Media | | details on timer commands. |
| Agents | | |
| Weight Programming | | |
| - | | |
| | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected to 192.168.1.18 (SSL) |

Using the UI Configuration agent

Use the UI Configuration agent to manage wallpaper settings and upload wallpapers, to manage screen saver settings for T3 touch screens and EA On-Screen Navigators, to configure the return to home setting for T3 touch screens and EA On-Screen Navigators, and to add favorites for all navigators in the project.

To configure wallpaper with the UI Configuration agent:

- 1. In the Agents view, select the UI Configuration agent, then click on the Wallpaper tab.
- 2. To configure the wallpaper in a single room, select the desired room in the Location pane.



- 3. Select from the default images listed, or click Add Dealer Image to add a custom image. Wallpaper images should be JPG files in a 16:9 format with a resolution of 1920 pixels wide by 1080 pixels high for best results. Images with different resolutions may be scaled or trimmed to fit and may produce undesirable results. Up to 10 dealer images can be added and configured to any rom.
- 4. Click **Apply** to set the wallpaper to the room or click **Apply To** ... to select the rooms to be configured with the wallpaper.

The homeowner can also add a custom image (up to one for each room) using the Control4 app. For information on how to add images with the Control4 app, see the *Control4 System User Guide* (ctrl4.co/userguide). After a custom wallpaper image has been configured, you can use the UI Configuration agent to configure rooms to use the image.

- 1. To configure the custom wallpaper in a single room, select the desired room in the *Location* pane. Select the image from the images listed and click **Apply** to set the wallpaper to the room or click **Apply To** ... to select the rooms to be configured with the wallpaper.
- 2. To clear the custom wallpaper image, select the custom image and click Clear Customer Image.

You can also choose to include or not include the Control4 logo on any wallpaper images. Click the box next to **Include Control4 Logo** to include the Control4 logo, and then continue the process of configuring a wallpaper image.

To configure screen saver settings with the UI Configuration agent:

1. In the Agents view, select the UI Configuration agent, then click on the Screen Saver tab.

| aper Screen Saver Home Screen | Favorites | |
|-------------------------------|-----------|--|
| | | |
| Mode: Blank | ~ | |
| Begin After: 1 minute | \sim | |
| Brightness (| Control | |
| 🖂 Animate Tex | đ | |
| App | ly To | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

- 2. Choose the screen saver mode. Available options include:
 - None
 - Blank

- Date and Time
- Current Media
- Photos
- Custom
- 3. Depending on your chosen screen saver mode, configure any additional options that appear.
- 4. Configure the *Begin After* option. The value selected is the period of time the touch screen will wait after detecting inactivity until it turns on the screen saver.
- 5. Check the box next to Brightness Control to add a brightness control icon to the screen saver.
- 6. Check the box next to Animate Text to apply a small movement to the text to avoid screen burn-in.
- 7. Click **Apply To** ... to select the navigators to be configured with the screen saver settings.

To configure return to home settings with the UI Configuration agent:

1. In the Agents view, select the UI Configuration agent, then click on the Screen Saver tab.

| UI Configuration | |
|-------------------------|-----------------------|
| Wallpaper Screen Saver | Home Screen Favorites |
| Return to Home After: | 15 minutes v |
| | Apply To |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

2. Configure when the Navigator will return to the home screen by choosing the time in the *Return to Home After:* menu.

To configure favorites with the UI Configuration agent:

1. In the Agents view, select the UI Configuration agent, then click on the Favorites tab.

| UI Co | nfiguration | | |
|---------|-----------------|---------------|-----------|
| Wallpap | er Screen Saver | Home Screen | Favorites |
| - 4 | dd Favorites | - Clear Favor | ites |
| Ê | Select All | Clear | |
| | Watch | ond | |
| | Listen | | |
| | Lights | | |
| | Shades | | |
| | Comfort | | |
| | Security | | |
| | Intercom | | |
| | Wakeup | | |
| | Goodnight | | |
| | Guest Services | | |
| | Custom Buttons | | |
| | Add | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

- 2. To add favorites to all Room Screen, click the box next to the favorites you want to add in the Add Favorites pane.
- 3. Click Add, and then click OK to add the selected favorites to all applicable Room Screens.

To clear all configured favorites and reset to the default favorites, click Clear Favorites.

Using the Variables agent

Use the Agents view to set up the Variables agent. Ensure that the devices you want to use for variables are added and identified to the system.

These sections provide information about how to create the type of variable that you want to use in programming.

- "Example: Using room variables"
- "Example: Using a custom number variable in an agent"
- "Example: Using a custom string variable in an agent"
- "Example: Using custom Boolean variables in an agent"

Using the Wake/Sleep agent

Use the *Agents* view to program this agent. The Wake/Sleep agent lets you set wake times, sleep timers, lighting, music, and so on.

Note: Wake times set in Composer Pro synchronize with the user interfaces. Likewise, wake times changed on the interfaces will synchronize with Composer.

Example: At a user-specified time, start playing music in the Master, open the blinds, and ramp the light on over two minutes.

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified (with a network address) in the project:

- Controller
- Digital Audio (ensure that you can play music in the project)
- Bedroom Dimmer
- Blinds

To configure the Wake/Sleep agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Connections.
- 3. Make sure the connections are correct.
- 4. Click Agents.
- 5. (First time only) Click Add... to add the agent to the project.
- 6. Select Wake/Sleep, and then click OK.
- 7. In the Agents pane, select Wake/Sleep. The Wake/Sleep interface panes appear.
8. In the Wake/Sleep Rooms pane, click Add....

| Choose System Items | × |
|---|---|
| Select the room you would like to configure with Wakeup Goodnight settings. | |
| Residence Home Main Family Room Kitchen Master | |
| < Carage OK Cancel | > |

- 9. Select the room to enable the Wake/Sleep scene in and click OK.
- 10. Configure the Wake/Sleep scene for the room:

| Wakeup/Goodnight |
|--|
| Default Master Settings |
| - Tme Vake-up Time: 06.30.AM (\$) Goodnight Time: 15 * minutes |
| Lights |
| ✓ Visble Current Light: All ✓ Enabled Light Selection: |
| Media |
| Visible Use TV as the only media source |
| Enabled Source: V Station: 70s Hits V |
| Cutains |
| Visible Current Curtain: All |
| Enabled Curtain Selection: All |
| - Active Days |
| 🗹 Sunday 🗹 Monday 🗹 Tuesday 🗹 Wednesday 🗹 Thursday 🗹 Friday 🗹 Saturday |
| Save Changes |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |

- **Time**—Select the default Wake time by selecting the time in the *Wake Time* field. Select the default Sleep timer length by selecting it in the *Sleep Timer* field. These times can be adjusted by the user in the Wake and Sleep sections on a T3 touch screen or the Control4 app.
- Lights—Select if Lights are visible in the Wake and Sleep sections on a T3 touch screen or the Control4 app by selecting Visible. Select which lights to control with the Wake and Sleep scenes by clicking on Light Selection or click All. Configure how fast lights turn on with the Wake scene by entering the desired rate into the Ramp Rate field. Enable lights in the current Wake and Sleep scenes for the room by selecting Enabled.
- Media—Select if Media is visible in the Wake and Sleep sections on a T3 touch screen or the Control4 app by selecting Visible. Select the default Media Source by clicking on Source (example: Pandora) and select the Station or select Use TV as the only media source and click on Channel to select a TV channel. Enable media in the current Wake and Sleep scenes for the room by selecting Enabled.
- **Curtains**—Select if curtains are visible in the Wake and Sleep sections on a T3 touch screen or the Control4 app by selecting **Visible**. Select which curtains to control with the Wake and Sleep scenes by clicking on **Curtain Selection** or click **All**. Enable curtains in the current Wake and Sleep scenes for the room by selecting **Enabled**.
- Active Days—Select the default days for the Wake scene to be active.
- 11. Click **Save Changes** to sync the changes to the Wake and Sleep scenes for the room:

Note: Users can schedule the wake times for the Wake scenes, enable or disable items from the Wake scenes, and choose from the lights or curtains in the Wake scene from their T3 touch screens or Control4 app. See the product documentation or the Control4 System User Guide for more information about how to schedule the wake time.

Note: Users can select the behavior of the Sleep scene (for example: decide whether to turn off media, turn off lights, and close blinds) in the Options menu in the Sleep scene from their T3 touch screens or Control4 app..

Programming

Use the Composer Pro Programming view to program the Control4 system. This section assumes that you have a general understanding about how to use Composer Pro to add and identify devices, and that you are now familiar with the Composer Pro interface. If not, read "Basics" sections or refer to Composer Pro Getting Started.

Use this chapter to learn:

- Programming basics
- Programming with commands
- Programming with conditionals
- Programming using rooms
- Programming using variables
- Programming with agents
- And more

Programming basics

Use the Programming view to program events and other actions that affect Control4 system devices.

Tip: A useful tool for helping you keep track of your programming scripts is called Programming Detective which is part of the Detective Suite, in **Tools** > **Detective Suite**. See the Composer Pro Getting Started guide for details.

To get to the Programming view:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming. In the Programming view, you can perform basic programming tasks.

Event-driven programming

Programming is based on events. When an event is triggered, other actions can take place.

Example: If you program to lower the projector screen in the Theater by pressing a keypad button. You can program the receiver, DVD player, and projector to power up and start playing a DVD also. Programming the system is where the true value of Composer Pro becomes a reality.

To program the system using Composer Pro, you drag and drop Events and Actions that you create for corresponding devices to a programming Script pane. The sections below show these panes.

Events (Programming pane)

Select an event (left side of the window):

| Programming |
|--|
| Device Events |
| ~ ^ v Ø 🕈 |
| Push Notification |
| Hemote Access |
| ⊕ 🤆 Scheduler |
| ⊕ 🥰 System Diagnostics |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| × |
| < > |
| Timer Events |
| Select Timer: Bathroom Fan V |
| When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' expires |
| \bigcirc When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been started |
| ◯ When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been stopped |
| ◯ When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been reset |
| ○ When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been paused |
| ○ When Timer 'Bathroom Fan' has been resumed |
| Status: 🎱 Stopped |
| Note: See the Timer Agent page for details on event execution. |
| System Design |
| Connections |
| Media |
| Agents |
| |
| 💥 Programming |
| |
| |

Actions (Actions pane)

Select the action(s) (right side of the window):

| Actions |
|---|
| Device Actions |
| ~ ^ ~ ? |
| Email Notification |
| History |
| |
| G Lighting Scenes |
| Here Media Scenes |
| |
| G Push Notification |
| Generate Access |
| E Scheduler |
| G System Diagnostics |
| |
| |
| The G Variables |
| 🕀 🤆 Z-Wave 🗸 🗸 |
| Timer Actions |
| Start Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| Commands Conditionals Loops |
| Select Timer: Bathroom Fan V |
| Start Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| ◯ Stop Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| ○ Restart Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| ○ Reset Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| ○ Pause Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| ○ Resume Timer 'Bathroom Fan' |
| ◯ Change 'Bathroom Fan' Interval |
| Interval: 00:00:00 🖨 h:m:s |
| Note: To use a new interval for an already running timer, it must be reset or restarted. |
| Note: See the Timer Agent page for details on timer commands. |
| |

Script (Script pane)

After you select the Event, Drag the Actions commands to the Script pane (middle pane):

| Script | |
|--|---------|
| Script | Execute |
| When Master->Bathroom light turns on | |
| Programming Controls | |
| Else & And Or Break Stop Delay 5 seconds | ~ |
| # Comment | |
| Script Actions | |
| Restart Timer 'Bathroom Fan' | |

The next table describes events, actions, and the script.

| Programming Item | Description |
|------------------|---|
| Events | All programming begins with events. An event is a "when" statement. An event is the trigger report that something happened that results in an automation. Events happen instantaneously. On a keypad, pushing a button is one event. Actions all occur under Events. Examples of events include: |
| | When it is 7:00 AM |
| | • When it is sunrise |
| | |
| Actions | After the event identifies to the system that something occurred, it sends actions. The following are the methods that are used by the system to define actions: |
| | • Commands. The Commands tab displays all available commands for a selected item in the Action Device Tree. A command is a "do" statement. Commands are actions the Director tells the device to do. Examples of commands include: |
| | Light: on, off |
| | Blu-ray player: play, stop, pause |
| | Security device: arm, disarm |
| | TV device: Power on/off, change channel |
| | • Conditionals. The Conditionals tab displays all available conditionals for a selected item in the Action Device tree. A conditional is an "if" statement. An "if" statement asks a true/false question to the device. Examples of conditionals include: |
| | If door is open |
| | If after 5 PM |
| | If light is greater than 50 percent |

• Loops. The Loops tab displays all available loops for a selected item in the Action Device tree. A loop is another type of conditional. A conditional loop is a "while" statement. It is something that is ongoing. Examples of conditional loops:

While the sprinklers are on

While the motion detector detects movement

While a doorbell switch is being pressed

Warning: Using loops (*WHILE* statements) can potentially overwhelm the controller's CPU. Use loops sparingly.

• Delays. A delay stalls a program from running to ensure actions that occur at the right time.

Script

The linking of events and actions is defined in the script.

Tip: To configure or program devices, you can use properties, agents and variables also. These are considered advanced configuration and programming tasks. See "<u>Using and Programming with Agents</u>" or "<u>Examples: programming with variables</u>."

Programming elements

Basic programming consists of two parts:

- 1. Identify a device's events to trigger actions.
- 2. Define a device's actions to trigger when an event fires.

The following steps introduce the basic programming flow and script creation:

1. Select the device--Bathroom Fan--in the *Device Events* pane and select the event--When the Bathroom Fan is turned on. Notice that it appears in the *Script* pane.



- 2. Define the device's actions--Under Timer, select the **Bathroom Fan** timer and select the **Start Timer** action--in the *Actions* pane.
- 3. Drag the actions to the script (Script pane).
- 4. To test the programming command, in the Script pane, click Execute.

Note: Programming can make use of agents also, where you can include preprogrammed system functionality, such as scheduling, delays, or setting up Lighting Scenes. Example: To program around sunrise and sunset, use the Scheduler agent.

See "Using and Programming with Agents" for more information about using agents in programming.

See the next section or Composer Pro Getting Started for example programs you can create.

Programming with commands

A Command for a Control4 system is a "do" statement. Commands are actions that tell a device what to do.

Example: The example in this section shows you how to program a keypad button to turn on the sprinkler system. This example assumes the keypad and sprinkler system are already set up.

To program a keypad button to toggle sprinklers on and off:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In the *Device Events* pane project tree, select the **keypad**.
- 4. In the *keypad Events* pane, select the button that you want to program—**Zone 1**. This automatically identifies the Press event for programming the button on the keypad. The event appears at the top of the Script pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | | > | × |
|--|--|---------|------------------------|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | |
| Programming | Script | | Actions | |
| Device Events | Script | Execute | Device Actions | |
| Portariantial Device Serve Programming Device Serve Programming Device Serve Concerning Concerning | Script Sorie When Outdoor Lights-Sprinklers Zone 1 button is pushed Programming Cutoris Cutoris Comment Script Actions | Erecute | Actions Device Actions | |
| | | | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | | .l | 9 |

- 5. In the Actions pane, select the device--Sprinkler Zone 1.
- 6. In the *device's Actions* tab, select **Toggle the Sprinkler Zone 1**. The command you chose is displayed in the Sprinkler System Actions pane with a green arrow.

Note: The title of this pane varies depending on the device you select.

7. Click the green arrow, and drag it to the Script pane (center pane).

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | - 🗆 🗙 |
|--|---|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| G P | When Outdoor Lights-Sprinklars Zone 1 hutton is nuclead | · · · · 9 |
| B C Device Variables | when outdoor Lights->sprinklers zone r button is pushed | RE Kitchen Entrance KP |
| H 🗄 Kitchen Entrance KP | Programming Controls | E TI String Lights |
| Sotoklers | 🗙 Fise 🙎 And 📕 Or 📫 Break 📫 Ston 📫 Delay 5 seconds 🖂 | Sprinklers |
| B C Sprinkler Zone 1 | | Sprinkler Zone 2 |
| B Sprinkler Zone 2 | # Comment | Sprinkler Zone 3 Statelylar Zone 4 |
| Briggi Sprinkler Zone 3 | Script Actions | B Sprinkler Zone 5 |
| B C Sprinkler Zone 5 | Toggle the Outdoor Lights->Sprinkler Zone 1 | E 😨 Sprinkler Zone 6 |
| Brownert | | Basement |
| Room Variables | | 🕀 🌽 Toshiba TV |
| 🖶 💭 Toshiba TV | | XBox Surface Dependence Constant CD 250 |
| Switem Remote Control SB-250 | | Access |
| < > | | Advanced Lighting |
| Sprinklers Events | | Sprinkler Zone 1 Actions |
| Keypad Events | | Toggle the Outdoor Lights->Sprinkler Zone 1 |
| Events For: Zone 1 V | | Commande Confitionale Loope |
| Pressed | | Constants Constants Corps |
| O Released | | |
| 🔾 Single Tap | | Tum the Outdoor Lights->Sprinkler Zone 1 on |
| O Double Tap | | |
| ◯ Triple Tap | | Togge me outdoor Lights-Sphinder Zone 1 |
| | | |
| 🔯 System Design | | |
| Connections | | |
| 🕞 Hedia | | |
| Agents | | |
| 💥 Programming | | |
| | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected to 192.168.1.104 (SSL) 👱 19 |

- 8. To test, click **Execute** in the *Script* pane to turn on the sprinklers.
- 9. Click **Execute** again to turn off the sprinklers.

Results: The top button of the keypad now toggles the sprinklers on and off.

Programming with conditionals

A conditional is an 'If' statement in Composer Pro that asks a true or false question to the device.

- A 'Break' command used in an 'If' statement should jump to the *first* statement after the 'If'. See "Programming with Delay, Stop and Break Commands" for details. Note: A 'Break' command in an 'If' statement won't behave as a 'Stop' command, but will move to the next level in the script.
- A break *not* in a 'While' or 'If' statement should behave like a 'Stop' command (jumps to the *first* statement after the function).

Example: The example in this section shows how to use conditionals in programming. If a light is off when the doorbell is pressed, the light is programmed to turn on. Conditionals also use When statements (events). When the doorbell is pressed, if the light is off, program the light to turn on.

To program a conditional that turns on the light when the doorbell is pressed and the light is off:

- 1. Make sure that the doorbell and light switch are configured in the project.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In the Device Events pane project tree, select the Doorbell.
- 4. Select the **When the Doorbell is pressed** event. The event appears at the top of the *Script* pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remoti | e) | | – 🗆 X |
|---|--|--------|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | |
| Programming | Script | | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Ex | ecute | Device Actions |
| Device Events | Script Ex Ment the Outdoor Lights->Doorbell is pressed Programming Controls Contrels Controls Controls Controls Controls Controls Control | vecute | Device Actions |
| Image: System Design Image: Connections Image: System Design Image: Connections Image: System Design Image: System Design Image: Connections Image: System Design Image: System Design | | | Blind Coen Coen Coae Soop Soop Coe Traget |
| Director Status: Idle | | | Connected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) |

- 5. In the *Device Actions* pane, select the **Front Door Light**. Notice that the light switch actions that can be programmed for this device appear in the Light Switch Actions pane below the Device Actions project tree.
- 6. Click the **Conditionals** tab, and select **Is Off**. Composer Pro displays the conditional you chose in the *Front Door Light Actions* pane: **? If <room>->Front Door Light is off**.

7. Drag the **blue question mark** icon to the *Script* pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote |) | | - 🗆 X |
|---|--|---------|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | |
| Programming | Script | | Actions |
| Device Events | Script | Execute | Device Actions |
| Programming Device Events | Script Sorigt When the Outdoor Lights>Doorbell is pressed Programming Controls Ense & And Or P Break P Stop P Delay 5 seconds Comment Sorigt Actions Outdoor Lights>Freet Door Light is off | | Actions Porce Non-Light Porc |
| System Design Connections Hedia Agents Watersmannin | | | Lavel is: V 22 50% 0% 0% Virtual Batton Tests 0% |
| | | | C LED Color Equals |
| Director Status: Idle | | | Connected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) |

- 8. Click the **Commands** tab, and select **On**.
- 9. Drag the **green arrow** to the **blue question mark** in the *Script* pane to make it a child under the "If" statement (nest the command under the "If" statement).

Tip: If you drag the action to the text, or you drag the action under the text to the open space, it places the action as an equal above the conditional. If you drag the action to the question mark, it becomes a subset of the conditional. Notice the direction of the arrow to place the action as a peer or a subset under the statement.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote) | | | – 🗆 X |
|---|--|--------|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | |
| Programming Sc | cript | | Actions |
| Device Events Scri | ript B | xecute | Device Actions |
| | • When the Outdoor Lights->Doorbell is pressed | | Master Binds |
| 🛛 💟 Sprinkler Zone 2 🛛 Proj | ogramming Controls | | Outdoor Lights |
| Sprinkler Zone 3 | 🕆 Else & And 🚺 Or 🗰 Break 📫 Stop 📫 Delay 5 seconds | ~ | Boom Variables Dest Revenue Initial |
| Brown Sprinkler Zone 5 | # Comment | | Outdoor Light |
| Doorbell | | _ | Ti String Lights |
| Basement Scri | ript Actions | | E Sprinklers Sotnkler Zone 1 |
| 🛛 🕑 🖉 Toshiba TV 🛛 📍 | If Outdoor Lights->Front Door Light is off | | B Sprinkler Zone 2 |
| 🕀 🌧 XBox 🗸 🗸 | In the outdoor Lights Profit Door Light | | Sprinkler Zone 3 Statelike Zone 4 |
| × > | | | dr 💽 opinikler zone 4 🗸 🗸 |
| Doorbell Events | | | Front Door Light Actions |
| 🕅 🔿 When the Doorbell is released | | | Turn on the Outdoor Lights->Front Door Light |
| | | | Commands Conditionals Loops |
| When the Doorbell is pressed | | | On (e) (f) Off () (f) Toggle () |
| | | | ○ Set Level: 100 🐑 0 |
| 🔯 System Design | | | O Ramp to Level: |
| Connections | | | ○ Ramp to Preset: |
| 🕞 Media | | | Virtual LED Commands |
| Agents | | | O Set All LED Colors |
| 2 Programming | | | SetLED On SetLED Off |
| | | | ⊖ Set LED Current |
| Director Status: Idle | | | Connected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) |

10. Click **Execute**. With the Front Door Light off, press the doorbell; the light should come on.

Programming with Delay, Stop, Break, Or, And, and Else commands

When programming in Composer, you have the following Programming Controls available to create advanced programming:

- Delay-Lets you delay an action from taking place.
- Stop-Lets you stop the programming script.
- **Break**–Lets you break out of a 'While' or loop or 'If' statement when a specified condition is met and returns to the programming outside of the loop.
- Or-Lets you group conditionals together with an 'or' logical grouping. If any of the conditionals is true, the programming continues.
- And-Lets you group conditionals together with an 'and' logical grouping. If all of the conditionals are true, the programming continues.
- Else-Lets you program an alternate set of programming for a conditional. If the conditional succeeds, the programming continues under the 'if' statement. If the conditional fails, the programming continues under the 'else' statement.

Delay command

To use the Delay command during programming, see this example using a Motorized Screen and a *Blu-ray* player:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. Select the Motorized Screen in the project tree.
- 4. Select the event When the Motorized Screen is put down. Notice the string that appears in the *Script* pane.



5. To use the Delay command, in the *Programming Controls* section in the top of the *Script* pane, enter **5** next to **Delay**.

6. Drag the green arrow Delay command to the *Script* pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | - 🗆 X |
|--|--|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| Sprinkler Zone 5 | When the Theater->Motorized Screen is put down | Sprinkler Zone 1 |
| Sprinkler Zone 6 | Programming Controls | Sprinkler Zone 2 Sprinkler Zone 3 |
| G Room Variables | Else & And Or Break Stop Delay 5 seconds ~ | Sprinkler Zone 4 |
| B ten Tosnica IV B ten XBox | # Comment | Barrowst |
| System Henote Control SH-250 | Scrist Actions | Cost Room Variables |
| Room Variables | mb. dalay 5 seconds | 🕀 📴 Toshiba TV |
| Motorized Screen | | Annual State A |
| C Access | | Deater |
| Advanced Lighting | | Room Variables |
| B G Announcements | | Motorized Screen |
| < > | | ⊕ 🪱 Access 🗸 🗸 |
| Motorized Screen Events | | Panasonic Blu-ray Player Actions |
| When the Motorized Screen is put up | | |
| When the Motorized Screen is put down | | Commands Conditionals Loops |
| | | On Off ^ |
| | | Power: 🔾 🥁 🖉 🙆 Eject/Close |
| | | |
| | | Skip Scan Play Pause Stop Scan Skip Reverse Forward |
| | | |
| System Design | | Menu Dp |
| Connections | | Left (Enter) Right |
| Media | | O Down |
| Agents | | O Keypad |
| 🖉 Programming | | Go To Chapter 1 |
| | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| Director Status: Idle | | 🙄 Connected to 192.168.1.104 (SSL) 🛛 👲 19 🚊 |

- 9. In the *Device Actions* pane, find and select the **blu-ray player**.
- 10. Click the **Commands** tab, and click **Power > On**.
- 11. Drag the **green arrow** 'Turn on the <room's> <blu-ray player>' to the *Script* pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | - 🗆 × |
|--|---|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| ~ ^ v Ø 9 | When the Theater->Motorized Screen is put down | · · · · · |
| System Design System | When the Theater->Motorized Screen is put down Pagarming Control Pagarming Control Control | Comment On On |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected to 192.168.1.104 (SSL) 👲 19 |

Stop command

This example uses a Stop command to not close the garage door if the garage light is on. If the light is off, the garage door closes.

To use the Stop command during programming, see this example using a keypad, a garage door, and a dimmer:

1. In the keypad *Events* pane, select the **Garage Door button** and select the **Pressed** event for the Garage keypad button. 'When <room> -> <keypad name> Garage button is pushed' appears at the top of the *Script* pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote |) | - 🗆 X |
|--|--|------------------------------|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| | When Garage->Hall Keypad Garage button is pushed | |
| B System Remote Corr | Programming Controls | Toshba TV |
| Room Variables | 🕆 Else & And 🚺 Or 🗰 Break 🗰 Stop 🗰 Delay 5 seconds 🗸 | System Remote Control SR-250 |
| Panasonic Bluray Pl | # Comment | Room Variables |
| Boom Variables | Script Actions | Panasonic Blu-ray Player |
| Garage Light Garage Light Grade Light | | Garage |
| 🕀 🗄 Hall Keypad 🗸 | | Garage Light |
| \$ | | Garage boor (Sensor) |
| Hall Keypad Events | | Garage Light Actions |
| Keypad Events | | |
| Events For: Garage ~ | | Commands Conditionals Loops |
| Pressed | | Load Tests |
| Released Single Tap | | ls On 🔿 🎵 🛛 Is Off 🔾 📢 |
| O Double Tap | | 100% |
| O Triple Tap | | ◯ Level is: v 23 ÷ |
| 🔯 System Design | | 50% |
| Connections | | 0% |
| 🕞 Media | | Virtual Button Tests |
| 🔢 Agents | | ✓ ○ Is Pressed |
| 💥 Programming | | ◯ Is Released |
| | | O LED Color Equals |
| Director Status: Idle Connected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) | | |

- 2. In the Garage Light Actions pane, click the Conditionals tab, and then click Is On.
- 3. Click the **blue question mark** next to 'If the <room>->Garage Light is on,' and drag it to the Script pane.
- 4. In *Programming Controls*, and click the **Stop** command and drag it into the *Script* pane.
- 5. Drag the **green arrow** 'Stop' over the **blue question mark** in the Script pane to nest it below "If <room>->Garage Light is on".

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remot | e) | - 🗆 X |
|---|--|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| Contract Events Contract Events Contract Events Contract Contr | Script Decur When Garage>Hall Keypad Garage button is pushed Regramming Contols Exec [a contonent Fromment Script Action Fromment Script Light is on Storp Action | Actions Device Actions Control Actiona |
| Grup Tap Oxder Tap Oxder Tap Oxder Tap Train Tap Train Tap Yreten Design Xonnections Yedge Agents Yreter New Second Se | | Conserved in 10 150 17 2(59) |

- 6. In the *Device Actions* pane, select the **Garage Door**.
- 7. Click the **Commands** tab, and select **Close the <room>->Garage Door**.

8. Drag the green arrow 'Close the <room>->Garage Door' below the Stop command.



Break command

Here are some rules about using the Break command (see example script below).

- A break in a 'While' loop jumps to the *first* statement after the While statement.
- A break in an 'If' statement (nested in a 'While' statement) jumps to the first statement after the 'If.'
- A break not in a 'While' or an 'If' statement should behave like a Stop command (jumps to the *first* statement after the function).

Note the 'Break' command in the statement below. If the 'While' statement above the 'Break' command (in an 'If' statement) is met (True), then the program continues to the next 'While' statement. Otherwise it skips to the next command (green arrow) statements at the bottom of the script.

| 🗊 When Theater->Theater Dimmer level changes |
|--|
| 🔁 While Theater->Theater Dimmer is on |
| 🖨 Set LED: 3 current color to Green on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 📫 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 🖨 Set LED: 3 current color to Navy on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 🖨 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 📫 Set LED: 3 current color to Yellow on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 📫 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 🖨 Set LED: 3 current color to Red on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 🖨 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 🕐 If Variables->Break is True |
| 🖨 Break |
| 😌 While Variables->Break is True |
| 🖨 Set LED: 6 current color to Green on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 🖨 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 🖨 Set LED: 6 current color to Navy on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 🖨 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 🖨 Set LED: 6 current color to Yellow on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 🖨 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 🖨 Set LED: 6 current color to Red on Theater->6-Button Keypad |
| 🖨 delay 500 milliseconds |
| 📪 Show the Popup Message 'Break Programming Completed' on the In-Wall Touch Screen - 10.5" Show OK Button (Clear popup after 30 seconds) |
| Turn off the Theater->Theater Dimmer |

See "Programming with a While statement" or "Programming with conditionals" for details.

Else command

You can use an Else command to create alternate programming to an If conditional. This example will program a button to open the blinds if it's day time and close the blinds if it's night time.

To program the blinds with an Else command:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In the *Device Events* pane project tree, select the keypad.
- 4. In the *keypad Events* pane, select the button that you want to program–**Blinds** This automatically identifies the Press event for programming the button on the keypad. The event appears at the top of the *Script* pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote |) | - 🗆 X |
|--|--|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| | When Master->Blinds Blinds button is pushed | |
| 🕀 🍋 Master | Programming Controls | 🕀 📆 Hall Light |
| ⊕ (4 Room Variables | N Fiee & And I Or Break Stop Relay 5 seconds | E Michen Window |
| Bathroom | | Haster |
| Bathroom Fan | # Comment | Geom Variables |
| Binds Master Binds | Script Actions | Bathroom |
| Outdoor Lights | | 🕀 🌆 Bathroom Fan |
| Backvard | | Master Binds |
| < > | | B-LLI Outdoor Lights V |
| Blinds Events | | Master Blinds Actions Home->House->Main->Outdo |
| Keypad Events | | Set the blind target level Room ID: 290 |
| Events For: Blinds ~ | | Commanda Conditionala Loopa |
| Pressed | | Blint |
| O Released | | |
| ⊖ Single Tap | | |
| O Double Tap | | Close |
| O Triple Tap | | 🔿 🖽 Toggle |
| System Design | | O 🔀 Stop |
| Connections | | 2 ÷ Target |
| 💮 Media | | |
| Agents | | |
| Strogramming | | |
| Director Status: Getting AV Devices | | Connected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) |

- 5. In *Device Actions*, select **Scheduler** and click on **Conditionals**.
- 6. Click **Time** and click **Day time**.
- 7. Drag the **blue question** 'If time is day time' conditional to the *Script* pane.
- 8. Select the Master Blinds in *Device Actions*, click on Open, and drag the 'Set the blind target level on <room>->Master Blinds to Open' command to nest it below the conditional.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote | | - 🗆 X |
|--|--|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| He Drive to Teols Felp Programming Device Events Programming Device Events | Script Script Script Execute Programming Controls Control | Actions Device Actions Price Actions Actions |
| Treata | | |
| Agents | | |
| or Programming | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) |

- 9. In Programming Controls, click on Else and drag the Else icon on top of the conditional in the Script pane. The mouse icon changes to indicate you can place the Else command below the If command (and link them logically).
- 10. Select the Master Blinds in *Device Actions*, click on Close, and drag the 'Set the blind target level on <room>->Master Blinds to Close' command to nest it below the Else conditional.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remoti | | - 🗆 × |
|--|--|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| Programming Processing Proce | Script Script Execute Programming Controls Programming Control | Actions Period Actions Perio |
| 🐉 Programming | | |
| | | |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) |

See "Programming with a While statement" or "Programming with conditionals" for details.

And command

You can use an And command to create additional conditionals to an If conditional. Both the If conditional and the other conditional(s) must be true or programming won't continue.

Example: The example in this section shows how to use conditionals and an And command in programming. If a light is off when the doorbell is pressed and it's night time, the light is programmed to turn on.

To program a conditional with an And command:

1. Follow the example in "Programming with conditionals". These next steps start after that example.

<continued from the steps in "Programming with conditionals">

11. To add an And command, in *Programming Controls*, click **And** and drag it on top of the conditional in the *Script* window. The *Expression Builder* opens to help you build your complex conditional statement.



- 12. In the *Device Actions* pane project tree, select the **Scheduler**.
- 13. Click Time and Night time.
- 14. Drag the conditional 'If time is night time' to the Script pane below the AND symbol.



15. Click Finish to close the *Expression Builder*. The complex condition now reads 'If <room>->Front Door Light is off AND If time is night time'.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote) |) | | - 🗆 X |
|---|---|---------|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | |
| Programming | Script | | Actions |
| Device Events | Script | Execute | Device Actions |
| ~~~ 09 | When the Outdoor Linkte > Dearball is arread | | |
| Control Events Ordel Events | When the Outdoor Lights->Doorbell is pressed Programming Controls Image: Source Sourc | × , | Commands Conditionals Commands Conditionals Condition |
| | | | < > |
| Director Status: Idle | | | Connected to 10.158.0.241 (SSL) |

When the doorbell is pressed, the Front Door Light will turn on if the light is off AND if it is night time.

Or command

You can use an Or command to allow multiple conditionals to activate programming. If any conditional grouped with an Or command is true, the programming continues.

Example: The example in this section shows how to use conditionals and an Or command in programming. If a light is off when the doorbell is pressed and it's night time, the light is programmed to turn on.

To program a conditional with an Or command:

1. Follow the example in "<u>Programming with conditionals</u>". These next steps start after that example.

<continued from the steps in "Programming with conditionals">

11. To add an And command, in *Programming Controls*, click **Or** and drag it on top of the conditional in the *Script* window. The *Expression Builder* opens to help you build your complex conditional statement.

| Expression Builder | | |
|---|----|--|
| You are about to enter the Expression Builder. This will allow you to edit the current expression. | | |
| All operators of the expression must all be of the same type (AND / OR). | | |
| Once you have completed building the expression, press the Finish button to return to Script Actions. | | |
| Do not show this message again. | ОК | |

- 12. In the *Device Actions* pane project tree, select the **Scheduler**.
- 13. Click Time and Night time.

14. Drag the conditional '**If time is night time**' to the *Script* pane below the *OR* symbol.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | | - 0 | × |
|---|--|--------|--|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | |
| Programming | Script | | Actions | |
| Device Events | Script | xecute | Device Actions | |
| Contell Events Contell Event | Soriet Soriet Rogramming Controls Rogramming Controls Rogramming Controls Rogramming Comment Rogramming Ro | xecute | Conditionals Co | |
| | | | | |
| Director Status: Adding Code Item | | | Connected to 192.168.1.104 (SSL) | |

15. Click **Finish** to close the *Expression Builder*. The complex condition now reads '**If <room>->Front Door Light** is off OR If time is night time'.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | - D X |
|---|--|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| Procession Provide Senset Service Senset Service Senset Service Zense 2 Service Zense | Storie Decore Storie Decore Programming Controls Programming Controls The store Store Store Store Declary I weareds The comment Storig Actions P I foldstoor Lights-Front Door Light is off OR If time is night time Thum on the Outdoor Lights-Front Door Light I Store Actions Thum on the Outdoor Lights-Front Door Light I Store Actions Store Actions | Actions Particles Pa |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected to 192.168.1.104 (SSI) |
| | | |

When the doorbell is pressed, the Front Door Light will turn on if the light is off OR if it is night time.

Programming with a While statement

A 'While' statement runs continuously in a loop until the evaluation is shown to be False (Boolean value). 'While' statements can be repeating 'if' statements also.

Caution: When programming with WHILE statements, the script **must** incorporate delays, or the script will run so fast that it will consume all available CPU resources and decrease system performance.

This example shows how to program a system to keep the air conditioning off while a window is open.

To program a While statement, follow this example:

- 1. Make sure the thermostat and window contact sensor are configured in Composer.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In the project tree, select Kitchen Window Contact Sensor to trigger an event.
- 4. Select the When the Kitchen Window opens event. The event appears at the top of the Script pane.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote) | - 🗆 X |
|---|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | |
| Programming Script | Actions |
| Device Events Script Execut | Device Actions |
| Programming Scrpt Device Events Scrpt Image: Scrpt in the Screen | Actions Portice Actions Portic |
| System Design Consections Feda Apents Programming | |

- 5. In the Device Actions pane, select Kitchen Window Contact Sensor and click on Loops.
- 6. Select the the Kitchen Window is open loop.
- 7. Click the loop icon next to 'While the <room>->Kitchen Window is open' and drag it into the Script pane.
- 8. In *Programming Controls*, enter **5 seconds** next to *Delay* and drag the Delay green arrow below the while loop in the *Script* pane to nest the delay below the while statement.
- 9. In Device Actions, select the thermostat and click on Commands.
- 10. Select Off in the Set HVAC Mode to selection.
- 11. Click on the green arrow next to 'Set the system mode on <room>->Control4 Thermostat to Off' and drag

the green arrow below the while statement to nest it below the delay.

| 🖥 Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote) — 🗌 🕹 X | | | | |
|---|--|---|--|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions | | |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions | | |
| | → Nain A | | | |
| B C Auto Update | Programming Controls | E S Family Room | | |
| Hall Light | 🗙 Fise & And 🚺 Or 📫 Break 📫 Stop 📫 Delay 5 seconds 🗸 | G Room Variables | | |
| Hall KP | | 🕀 🐌 Internet Radio | | |
| Ktchen Window Babies' Boom | # Comment | E I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I | | |
| 🕀 🎀 Master | Script Actions | 🕀 😰 eSATA File Storage | | |
| G Room Variables Master | 改 While the Kitchen->Kitchen Window is open | terent dan pc-e ⊕ ∰ Control4 Thermostat | | |
| Bathroom 🗸 | Bathroom Control Thermostatic Off | | | |
| < > | | U dromecaat V | | |
| Kitchen Window Events | | Control4 Wireless Thermostat Actions | | |
| When the Kitchen Window opens | | Set the system mode on Family Room->Control4 Thermostat to Off | | |
| | | Commands Conditionals Loops | | |
| When the Kitchen Window closes | | ○ Set Scale to | | |
| | | O Set Heat Setpoint to 66 🛊 F | | |
| | | Set Cool Setpoint to 69 🛊 F | | |
| | | Set Single Setpoint to 0 0 F | | |
| System Design | | ● Set HVAC Mode to Off ~ | | |
| Connections | | ◯ Set Fan Mode to Auto ✓ | | |
| | | ⊖ Set Hold Mode to Off ~ | | |
| Media | | ◯ Set Buttons Lock to | | |
| 🔢 Agents | | ◯ Set Vacation Mode to | | |
| 💥 Programming | | O Increment Heat Setpoint | | |
| | | O Decrement Heat Setpoint | | |
| Director Status: Idle Oconnected to 10.158.0.78 (SSL) | | | | |

Programming using digital audio and rooms

You can program a Control4 system using the Digital Audio and Room objects in Composer Pro. You can use digital audio events when a session starts or stops. A session is when a song or playlist begins and ends. A list of songs can be compiled into a playlist. You can compile the list by songwriter, album, song type, or any combination. Room events include turning the room off and on, when media sessions begin and end, etc.

Program a button to play media or a playlist

Use the Control4 Composer Pro Programming view to program a button on a keypad to play an album or playlist.

Example: The example in this section uses a 6-Button Keypad for the Theater room. When you press Button 1, music or a movie plays in the Theater room.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that a 2, 3, or 6-Button Keypad is installed as directed in the Control4 2, 3, or 6 Button Keypad Installation Guide.
- Ensure that your project has an audio end point, such as Speaker Point, added and identified on the network.

To program a button on a 6-Button Keypad to play music:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In Programming in the Device Events pane, select the 6-Button Keypad.
- 4. In the 6-Button Keypad Events pane, press Button 1, and select the Press radio button.
- 5. In the Device Actions pane, select the Theater room.
- 6. Click the Commands tab, and press the Select Media radio button.
- 7. In the new window, select the media type to play, such as **Playlist**.
- 8. Select the movie, playlist, etc.
- 9. Click OK.
- 10. In the Actions pane, drag the green arrow to the Script pane.

11. Click **Execute** in the Script pane.



Program a button to turn up the volume

Use the Programming view to let you use a keypad button to turn up the volume in a room.

Example: The example in this section uses a 6-Button Keypad for the Theater room. When you press Button 2 the volume increases in the Theater room.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that a 2, 3, or 6-Button Keypad is installed as directed in the Control4 2, 3, or 6 Button Keypad Installation Guide.
- Ensure that your project has an audio end point, such as a Speaker Point, added and identified on the network.

To program a button to turn up the volume:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In Programming on the Device Events pane, select the 6-Button Keypad.
- 4. In the 6-Button Keypad Events pane, press Button 2, and then select the Press radio button.
- 5. In the Device Actions pane, select the Receiver.
- 6. Click the **Commands** tab. In Sound, select **Volume > Start > Up**.
- 7. Drag the green arrow in the Receiver Actions pane to the Script pane.
- 8. Click Execute.

Program a button to add a room to another room's music session

Use the Programming view to use a keypad button to play music in additional rooms.

Example: The example in this section uses a 6-Button Keypad for the Theater room. When you press Button 3, music starts playing in the Bedroom as well as the Theater room.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that a 2, 3, or 6-Button Keypad is installed as directed in the Control4 2, 3, or 6 Button Keypad Installation Guide.
- Ensure that your project has an audio end point, such as Speaker Point, added and identified on the network.

To program a button to add another room's music session:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In Programming on the Device Events pane, select the 6-Button Keypad.
- 4. In the 6-Button Keypad Events pane, press **Button 3**, and then select the **Press** radio button.
- 5. In the Device Actions pane, select Digital Media.
- 6. Click the Commands tab.
- 7. Use the pull-down menu to select the **Theater** room as the Selected Room. Select the **Add Rooms** radio button.
- 8. Check the box next to **Bedroom** to indicate that this is the room that is going to join the music session.
- 9. Drag the green arrow in the Digital Audio Actions pane to the Script pane.
- 10. Click Execute.

Set the default for a room's music volume

Use the System Design view to set the default music or media volume for a room.

Example: The example in this section uses the Theater room. When you set the default, the volume stays at a certain level for the Theater room until you change it. You can change the volume for every room that uses music or media.

Prerequisites

- Ensure that the controller is added and identified on the network..
- Ensure that your project has an audio end point, such as Speaker Point, added and identified on the network.

To set the default volume for a room:

1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.

- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, click a room.
- 4. In the Properties pane, click the Miscellaneous tab.
- 5. In the Miscellaneous tab, check the **Enable Default Volume** box. Adjust the Audio Volume and Video Volume as desired for the room. The default volumes are enabled immediately. Repeat these steps for each room in the Control4 system.

Examples: programming with variables

Use the Programming view to program the Control4 system using configuration, properties, variables, delays and agents.

Variables provide other programming options not available using commands, conditionals or loops.

There are three types of variables you can use:

- Room Variables–Provide you with additional programming options not available in the Room object programming. Use Room object programming as a preference to room variables whenever possible. See "<u>Example: Using room variables</u>."
- Custom Variables-Let you define additional programming options using:
- **Boolean**—Provides a True/False option. For example, the light is on or off. If the light is on, it is True; if the light is off, it is False.
- Device—Provides a list of device options.
- Number—Provides a value option. For example, the light level is 70 percent.
- **String**—Provides the option to enter a string.

To program using a custom variable, in the Agent view select Variable and click New to set up a new variable.

Example: Use one keypad button to toggle between turning on the Theater Dimmer and the Theater Switch.

Container Variables–Provides the ability to connect two or more devices together by using the device variables. A variable is a representation of information about the controlled devices, for example, a power state or current level of the device. It works much like a Media Scenes agent (see "<u>Using and</u> <u>Programming with Agents</u>" for details). Container variables are available in the Agent view by selecting Variables.

Note: Container variables are provided only for backward capability in Release 1.3 and later. Issues with various implementations have been found. The use of Container variables for future implementations is not recommended. Where possible, replace existing implementations with alternate programming.

The sections below provide examples you can follow when you use variables.

Example: Using room variables

Control4 room variables provide greater flexibility in programming, letting you program using events and actions at the room level.

Note: Most of the functions in Room Variables are available by selecting the Room object which is the recommended method for programming the room. Whenever possible, use the Room object rather than Room Variables.

To use room variables:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming. In this view listed under every room in the project tree is a Room Variables object.
- 3. Click to expand the **Room Variables** options. Room variables are available as events and actions.



The room variables are described in the following table:

| Events/Actions | Description | | | |
|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|
| CURRENT_SELECTED_ DEVICE | Lets you do programming when any device changes in the room. | | | |
| CURRENT_MEDIA | Lets you do programming when any media changes in the room. | | | |
| POWER_STATE | Lets you do programming when any device's power state changes from True to False in the room (read only). A device in the room is required to detect the power state. | | | |
| CURRENT_VOLUME | Lets you do programming when the volume of the currently selected audio path changes in the room (requires discrete volume). Use conditional programming. | | | |
| HAS DISCRETE_VOLUME | Lets you do programming when any devices changes in the room (requires discrete volume). Use command programming. | | | |
| HAS_DISCRETE_MUTE | Lets you do programming when Mute state is known (MUTE_ON or MUTE_OFF). | | | |
| IS_MUTED | Lets you do programming when in Mute state (MUTE_ON). | | | |
| IN_NAVIGATION | Lets you do programming when On-screen is available. | | | |
| USE_DEFAULT_ VOLUMES | Lets you do programming any time a selection changes to reset the default volume. For example, when changing from viewing a DVD to listening to music, the volume is reset to the default discrete set volume. | | | |
| DEFAULT_AUDIO_ VOLUME | Lets you program the default Audio volume. | | | |

| Events/Actions | Description |
|--------------------------|---|
| DEFAULT_VIDEO_ VOLUME | Lets you program the default Video Audio volume. |
| VOLUME_IS_LINKED | Lets you set programming not to affect already linked volume. |
| MUTE_IS_LINKED | Lets you set programming not to affect already linked mute state. |
| ROOMOFF_IS_LINKED | Lets you set programming not to affect already linked room off state. |
| SELECTIONS_LINKED | Lets you set programming not to affect already linked selections. |
| ROOM_HIDDEN | Lets you set programming to hide rooms from appearing on the navigation device. |
| MEDIA_SCENE_ACTIVE | Lets you set programming to set a media scene as active. |

Variable handling

In programming, variables are easier to define than conditional loops.

Variable handling enhancements:

- Preserve user-defined variables—Preserves the user-defined variable values (for example, the current dimmer light level) across a normal system restart. It may not preserve them if the system shuts down abnormally.
- **Program a system startup** event –Initializes variables or performs other programming at system startup with a system startup event (in Programming, select the **root** of the project, and then select the event **When the project is loaded**).
- Define one variable to equal another–Defines one variable to equal another variable. This can be used to save and restore variable values.

Example: The level of a light or the volume of music in a room.

After this value is saved to the variable, you can restore the system variable to the value stored in the user variable. The system can then compare the two variables and determine if it needs to reset one of them.

• Create the event "When a System reboots"-Sends an email notification to the Control4 dealer that a customer's system rebooted, helping the dealer monitor the system's performance.

Example: Using custom Boolean variables in an agent

Use the Programming view to create custom variables in an agent using a Boolean value.

In this example, when someone is at the door:

- Program to activate the Media Scene 'Someone is at the door,' and turn on the porch light.
- Program to play a song in the Bedroom and the Theater.
- When the Motion Sensor stops sensing motion at the door, program to turn the music and porch light off.

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified in the project:

- Controller
- Porch Light Switch
- Bedroom music
- Theater music
- Motion Sensor

To program using a custom Boolean variable in an agent:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. Click Connections. Make sure the connections are correct.

Note: Ensure that the Front Light is connected to the correct Contact Sensor on the controller.

4. Click the Network tab, and ensure that the controller and Porch Light have a network address.

Create a new variable

- 5. Click Agents.
- 6. Select Variable. The Variables view appears.
- 7. Click New.
- 8. On the dialog that appears, do the following:
- 1. Click New Variable.
- 2. In the drop-down menu, select Boolean.

3. Name the Variable Power State and click **OK**. The default value is false.



Create a media scene 'Someone is at the door'

- 9. Select Media Scenes, and click New.
- 10. Name the Media Scene Someone is at the door. Click OK.

| (4 Composer 2.1.0 | | 💷 🗖 🔀 |
|--------------------------------|---|------------------------------|
| Ele Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Agents | Media Scenes | |
| Agents Add Remove | Someone is at the door Add Room Activate Scene Deactivate Scene | |
| Name | Finds Vitales | |
| Variables | Volume Initial Cleark | |
| 4Store Amountements | Volume Source Volume Source | |
| Media Scenes | Initial Eurrent Selection Selection | |
| Custom Buttons | | |
| Email Notification | Volume Volume | |
| Intercom X | V Mule | |
| Media Scenes 🖌 New Copy Delete | | |
| Name | : : : Room : Room | |
| Someone is at the door | | |
| | | |
| | 0 0 0 0 Remove Room | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| System Design | | |
| D. | | |
| Connections | | |
| Media | | |
| | | |
| Agents | | |
| YOF | | |
| 28 Programming | Note: Discrete unline settings are only applicable to counse that current discrete unlinnes. If Selectings are linked between | come and com that is part |
| | of the scene but can not select the source will be issued a Room Off command. | rooms any room that is pair. |
| | Linking volumes of different device types may result in undesired behavior. | |
| Director Status: Idle | | Connected |

Add the bedroom and theater room

11. Click Add Room, and add the Theater and the Bedroom (see above).

| 😮 Choose System Items |
|---|
| Check the rooms you would like in the scene. |
| BN_Office Hone Wain V V Kachen V V Kachen Garage Garage Win Friditice Garage Win Friditice Garage Win Friditice Second |
| OK Cancel |

12. Set the volume in the Bedroom to 50, and the volume in the Theater to 75.

| 🤻 Composer 2.1.0 | | | | |
|-------------------------------|---|---|-------------------------------------|---|
| Elle Driver Go Lools Help | | | | |
| Agents | Media Scenes | | | |
| Agents Add Remove | Someone is at the door | Add Room Activa | e Scene Deactiv | ate Scene |
| Name | - Discrete | Family | Kitchen | |
| Vanables 4Store | Volume | Initial Track | Initial Track- | |
| Announcements Media Scenes | Initial Current | Volume Source Selection | Source Selecti | e ion |
| Custom Buttons | volume volume | Volume | Volum | |
| Intercom | 1:1 1: | | | |
| Media Scenes New Copy Delete | | Mute | - Mute | |
| Name | | : Room | : Room | |
| Someone is at the door | | 50 \$ | 75 \$ | |
| | | Pemaua Pearm | Pamous Paam | |
| | | Internet to the second | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Existen Design | | | | |
| System Design | | | | |
| Connections | | | | |
| 🕞 Media | | | | |
| Agents | | | | |
| NO7 | | | | |
| 1 Programming | Note: Discrete volume sett | ings are only applicable to sourc | es that support discrete vo | lumes. If Selections are linked between rooms any room that is part |
| | of the scene but can not se Linking volumes of different | lect the source will be issued a R device types may result in unde | oom Off command. sired behavior. | |
| Director Status: Idle | | | | Connected .: |

- 13. Click Programming.
- 14. In the project tree and the Device Events pane, click to expand Variables, and select Power State.
- 15. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane, click to expand Variables, and select Power State.

Add the conditionals and commands

- 16. Follow the previous programming steps to create a script with Conditionals.
- 17. Click the Conditionals tab.
- 18. In the Conditionals tab, click **Is False**, and drag the **blue question mark** to the **Script** pane.


- 19. Click the Commands tab.
- 20. In the Commands tab, click **Set to True**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** in the **Script** pane to make it the first subset item of the first conditional.
- 21. In the Device Actions pane, select Light Switch.
- 22. Click the Commands tab.
- 23. In the Commands tab, click **On**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** in the **Script** pane to make it the *second* subset item of the *first* conditional.



- 24. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane, select Media Scenes.
- 25. Click the **Commands** tab.

- 26. Click **Activate** in the Commands tab, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** in the **Script** pane to make it *third* subset item of the *first* conditional.
- 27. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane under Variables, select Power State.
- 28. Click the Conditionals tab.
- 29. In the Conditionals tab, click Is True, and drag the blue question mark to the Script pane.
- 30. Click the Commands tab.
- 31. In the Commands tab, click **Set to False**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** in the **Script** pane to make it the *first* subset item of the *second* conditional.
- 32. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane, select Light Switch.
- 33. Click the Commands tab.
- 34. In the Commands tab, click **Off**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** in the **Script** pane to make it the *second* subset item of the *second* conditional.
- 35. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane, select Media Scenes.
- 36. In the Commands tab, click **Deactivate**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** in the **Script** pane to make it the *third* subset item of the *second* conditional.



- 37. In the project tree and in the Device Events pane, select **Media Scenes** and select the event **Someone is at the Door**.
- 38. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane, select the **Bedroom** object. (Repeat the next four steps for the Theater.)
- 39. Click the Commands tab.
- 40. In the Commands tab, click Select Media.



- 41. In the dialogue that appears, select the album and song that you want to play when **Someone is at the Door** executes. In this example, Rhapsody's '50s Hits' is used. Click **OK**.
- 42. Drag the green arrow to the Script pane.
- 43. Repeat steps 37-41 for the Theater.
- 44. In the project tree and in the Device Events pane, select **Motion Sensor** under **Front**, and select the event **When the Motion Sensor senses motion**.

Add the Boolean Values

- 45. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane, click to expand Variables, and select Power State.
- 46. In the Conditionals tab, click **Is False**, and drag the **blue question mark** to the **Script** pane (this is the *third* conditional).
- 47. In the Commands tab, click **Set to True**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** to make it the *first* subset of the *third* conditional.
- 48. In the project tree and in the Device Events pane, select the event When the Motion Sensor stops sensing motion.
- 49. In the project tree and in the Device Actions pane, click to expand Variables, and select Power State.
- 50. In the Conditionals tab, click **Is True**, and drag the **blue question mark** to the **Script** pane.
- 51. In the Commands tab, click **Set to False**, and drag the **green arrow** on top of the **blue question mark** to make it the *second* subset of the *third* conditional.
- 52. Click Execute.

Results: The porch light turns on and plays a song in the bedroom and theater whenever the motion sensor senses motion at the front door.

Example: Using a custom number variable in an agent

Use the Programming view to create custom variables in an agent using a numeric value.

In this example, program one keypad button to toggle between turning on the Theater Dimmer and the Theater Switch.

Prerequisites

The following devices are added and identified in the project:

- Controller
- Dimmer (Theater)
- Light Switch (Theater)
- 6-Button Keypad

To program using a custom variable agent number:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design. Make sure the project has the correct devices and rooms.
- 3. Click Connections. Make sure the connections are correct.

Note: In the Network tab, ensure that the controller, dimmer (Theater), switch (Theater), and 6-Button Keypad have a network address.

Add a new variable

- 4. Click Agents.
- 5. Select Variables. The Variable Agents view appears.
- 6. Click New.
- 7. On the dialog that appears, do the following:
- 1. Select New Variable.
- 2. Name the variable Keypad releases.
- 3. Use the Variable Type pull-down and select Number.

4. Click OK.

| Composer 2.1.0 | |
|--|--|
| Ele Driver Go Iools Help | |
| Agents | Variables |
| Agents Add Remove | No Selection |
| Nane Vandele 45 tree months Address and Address Address and Address Address and Address Addres | Herry Variable O Herry Variable Name: Forgoad releases Variable Type: Turoton Variable Type: Turoton Variable Type: Turoton |
| System Design | |
| Connections | |
| 🕑 Media | |
| Agents | |
| S Programming | |
| Director Status: Idle | 🔇 Connected 🦷 |

- 8. In the Variables pane, select the variable **Keypad_releases**. The available variables for your devices appear in the right pane.
- 9. Enter the value as **0** (zero).

Create an event

- 10. Click Programming.
- 11. In the project tree and in the Device Events pane, select 6 Button Keypad.
- 12. Click Button 1 on the 6 Button Keypad.
- 13. Select **Press** for the event. The event appears at the top of the Script pane.

Create the actions

- 14. In the Actions pane, scroll down to view the agents.
- 15. Click to expand Variables.
- 16. Select Keypad_releases.
- 17. In the Commands tab, select the following to add 1 to the present value:
- 1. Select the radio button by the plus (+) sign.
- 2. Ensure the plus sign is selected.
- 3. Select 1 (one).

The action appears in the Actions pane.

18. Drag the green arrow icon to the Script pane.

Create the conditionals

- 19. Click the Conditionals tab.
- 1. Select the Is radio button option.
- 2. Select the equals (=) sign.

- 3. Select 1 (one).
- 20. Drag the **blue question mark** below the previous command in the **Script** pane. This places the conditional Action parallel to the previous Action command.
- 21. In the Actions pane, select Theater Dimmer.
- 22. In the Command tab, select On. The action command appears in the Actions pane.
- 23. Drag the green arrow to the blue question mark in the Script pane to make it a subset of this conditional item.
- 24. In the Actions pane, scroll down to Variables and select Keypad_presses.
- 25. Click the Conditional tab.
- 1. Select the Is radio button option.
- 2. Select equals (=) sign.
- 3. Select 2 (two).
- 26. Drag the **blue question mark** to the blank space under the previous Action command. This places the conditional Action parallel to the previous Action conditional.
- 27. In the Actions pane, select Light Switch.
- 28. In the Command tab, select On. The action command appears in the Actions pane.
- 29. Drag the **green arrow** to the **blue question mark** in the **Script** pane to make it a subset of the conditional item.

| Composer 2.1.0 | | | |
|---|--|---------|---|
| Elle Driver Go Iools Help | | | |
| Programming | Script | | Actions |
| Device Events | Script | Execute | Device Actions |
| Programming Programming Programming Programming Programming Programming Programming | When The ater>6-Button Keypad button ' Watalites-Koppad releases = 0 Variables-Koppad relea | | Arrow of the second of th |

- 30. In the Actions pane, scroll down to the agents.
- 31. In the Variable agent, select the Keypad_presses variable.
- 32. In the Commands tab, select the following:
- 1. Select the Set to Value radio button.
- 2. Set the value to **0** (zero). The Action command appears in the Actions pane.

- 33. Drag the **green arrow** icon to the **blue question mark** icon in the **Script** pane to make it a *second* subset of the conditional.
- 34. Click Execute.

Results: Press **Button 1** on the 6-Button Keypad to toggle between turning on the Theater dimmer and the light switch.

Example: Using a custom string variable in an agent

Use the Programming view to create custom variables in an agent using a numeric value. The steps in this section are for more advanced users of Composer Pro.

In this example, program Button 4 on a Keypad to toggle through four playlists.

Note: This procedure is relatively complicated to create. Review the steps first to understand how the conditionals work.

Prerequisites

The following items are added and identified in the project:

- Controller
- 6-Button Keypad
- 4 Playlists: Mom's Favorites, Dad's Favorites, Choral Music, and Kid's Music

To program using a custom variable agent string:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design. Make sure the project has the correct devices and rooms.
- 3. Click Connections. Make sure the connections are correct.

Note: In the Network tab, ensure that the controller and the 6-Button Keypad have an address.

Add a new variable

- 1. Click Agents.
- 2. Select Variables. The Variables agent list appears.
- 3. Click New.
- 4. On the dialog that appears, do the following:
- 3. Select New Variable, and name the variable My Playlists.

4. In Variable Type, use the pull-down menu to select String, and click OK.



Set up a 'Mom's Favorites' playlist in the theater

- 1. Click Programming.
- 2. In Programming select the 6 Button Keypad in the Theater from the Device Events pane.
- 3. In 6-Button Keypad Events, click Button 4 on the Keypad.
- 4. In the Device Actions pane, scroll down and click to expand Variables.
- 5. Select My Playlists.
- 6. In the My Playlists Actions pane, click the Conditionals tab, and enter the name of a playlist; for example, Mom's Favorites.

7. Drag the first blue question mark to the Script pane.



- 8. In Device Actions, select the Theater room object.
- 9. In Theater Actions, select Select Media.
- 10. In the window that pops up, select Playlists, Mom's Favorites, and then click OK.
- 11. Drag the green arrow icon on top of the first blue question mark in the Script pane to make it the first subset of the first conditional.



- 12. In Device Actions, select Variables > My Playlists.
- 13. In the Commands tab under My Playlists, enter the name of the next playlist that you'd like to play; for example, Dad's Favorites.

14. Drag the green arrow on top of the first blue question mark to the Script pane to make it a second subset of the first conditional.

The next time the button on the keypad is pressed, the value of the variable will be Dad's Favorites, and will then cue that playlist in the Theater.



- 15. In Device Actions, scroll up and select the 6 Button Keypad in the Theater.
- 16. In 6 Button Keypad Actions, click Button 4.
- 17. Under Color Settings select LED On.
- 18. Click the square of color to select the color you want Button 4's LED to be when Mom's Favorites plays. Select the color in the menu that pops up (in this example: green), and click OK.

| Programming Programming Script | Execute | Actions Device Actions |
|--|----------------|---------------------------|
| Programming Script Device Events Script Concernation Script Script Processing Script Procesting | Execute Lis | Actions Device Actions |
| Device Event Sout | Execute | Device Actions |
| Constant Controls Home Co | lis | 😑 👪 Theater |
| | | |

19. Drag the green arrow on top of the first blue question mark in the Script pane to make it a third subset of the first conditional.



- 20. In Device Actions, scroll down and select Programming Control.
- 21. In the Programming Control Actions, select the Stop radio button.
- 22. Drag the green arrow on top of the first blue question mark in the Script pane to make it a fourth subset of the first conditional.

Note: It is important to add a Stop command here so that when the conditional is fulfilled, the programming will not continue. Because of the way this programming is set up when it's finished, without the stop, the button on the Keypad will always select the

last playlist in the script.



Set up a 'Dad's Favorites' playlist

- 1. In Device Actions, select My Playlists again.
- 2. In the Conditionals tab, next to 'Is' enter Dad's Favorites in the text box.
- 3. Drag the second blue question mark to the Script pane.
- 4. In Device Actions, select the Theater.
- 5. In Theater Actions, select Select Media.
- 6. In the window that pops up, select Playlists, Dad's Favorites, and then click OK.
- 7. Drag the green arrow on top of the second blue question mark in the Script pane to make it the first subset of the second conditional.

Set up a 'Kid's Room' playlist

- 1. In Device Actions, select My Playlists.
- 2. In the Commands tab under My Playlist Actions, enter the name of the next playlist that you'd like to play; for example, Kid's Music.
- 3. Drag the green arrow on top of the second blue question mark in the Script pane to make it a second subset of the second conditional.
- 4. In Device Actions, select the 6 Button Keypad in the Theater.
- In 6 Button Keypad Actions, click on Button 4. Click the square of color to select the color you want Button 4's LED to be when Kid's Music plays. Select the color in the menu that pops up (in this example: purple), and click OK.
- 6. Drag the green arrow on top of the second blue question mark in the Script pane to make it a third subset of the second conditional.
- 7. In Device Actions, select Programming Control.
- 8. In the Programming Control Actions pane, select Stop.

- 9. Drag the green arrow on top of the second blue question mark to make it a fourth subset of the second conditional.
- 10. In Device Actions, select My Playlists again.
- 11. In the Conditionals tab, enter Kid's Music.
- 12. Drag the blue question mark to the Script pane to make it the third conditional.
- 13. In Device Actions, select the Theater room object.
- 14. In Theater Actions, select Select Media.
- 15. In the window that pops up, select Playlists, Kid's Music, and then click OK.
- 16. Drag the green arrow on top of the third blue question mark in the Script pane to make it the first subset of the third conditional.

Set up a 'Choral Music' playlist

- 1. In Device Actions, select My Playlists.
- 2. In the Commands tab under My Playlists, enter the name of the next playlist that you'd like to play; for example, Choral Music.
- 3. Drag the green arrow on top of the third blue question mark to make it a second subset item of the third conditional.
- 4. In Device Actions, select the 6 Button Keypad in the Theater.
- In 6 Button Keypad Actions, click on Button 4. Click the square of color to select the color you want button 4's LED to be when Kid's Music plays. Select the color in the menu that pops up (in this example: red), and click OK.
- 6. Drag the green arrow on top of the third blue question mark in the Script pane to make it the third subset of the third conditional.
- 7. In Device Actions, select Programming Control.
- 8. In the Programming Control Actions, select the Stop radio button.
- 9. Drag the green arrow on top of the third blue question mark in the Script pane to make it a fourth subset of the third conditional.
- 10. In Device Actions, select My Playlists again.
- 11. In the Conditionals tab, enter Choral Music.
- 12. Drag the fourth blue question mark to the Script pane.
- 13. In Device Actions, select the Theater room object.
- 14. In Theater Actions, select the Select Media radio button.
- 15. In the window that pops up, select Playlists, Choral Music, and then click OK.
- 16. Drag the green arrow on top of the fourth blue question mark in the Script pane to make it the first subset of the fourth conditional.
- 17. In Device Actions, select My Playlists.
- 18. In the Commands tab under My Playlists, enter the name of the next playlist that you'd like to play; for example, Mom's Favorites.
- 19. Drag the green arrow on top of the fourth blue question mark in the Script pane to make it a second subset of the fourth conditional.
- 20. In Device Actions, select the 6 Button Keypad in the Theater.
- 21. In 6 Button Keypad Actions, click on Button 4.

- 22. Click the square of color to select the color you want Button 4's LED to be when Choral Music plays. Select the color in the menu that pops up (in this example: yellow), and click OK.
- 23. Drag the green arrow on top of the fourth blue question mark to make it a third subset of the fourth conditional.
- 24. In Device Actions, select Programming Control.
- 25. In the Programming Control Actions, select the Stop radio button.
- 26. Drag the green arrow on top of the fourth blue question mark to make it a fourth subset of the fourth conditional.
- 27. In Device Actions, select the Theater room.
- 28. In Theater Actions, select Media.
- 29. In the window that pops up, select Playlists, Mom's Favorites, and then click OK.

Note: You do this is because the first time the button on the Keypad is pushed, the string variable does not have a value, and nothing happens. This last command is created when none of the conditionals are fulfilled, something will play; each time the button is pushed thereafter, a conditional is fulfilled.

- 30. Drag the green arrow below the previous Stop command in the Script pane. It is not a subset of the previous conditionals, but a command on its own.
- 31. In Device Actions, select My Playlists.
- 32. In the Commands tab under My Playlists, enter the name of the next playlist that you'd like to play; for example, Dad's Favorites.
- 33. Drag the green arrow below the previous command in the Script pane.
- 34. In Device Actions, select the 6 Button Keypad in the Theater.
- 35. In 6 Button Keypad Actions, click on **Button 4**. Click the **square of color** to select the color you want Button 4's LED to be when **Mom's Favorites** plays. Select the color in the menu that pops up (in this example: green), and click **OK**.
- 36. Drag the green arrow below the previous command in the Script pane. You do not need a stop at this point, because the programming automatically stops at the end of the script.

Results: Press Button 4 on a 6-Button Keypad repeatedly to toggle through four playlists.

Other programming tasks

Other special programming functions can be accessed by right-clicking on an item in the Script pane.

| Move Up | Ctrl+U |
|--------------------|--------|
| Move Down | Ctrl+D |
| Disable Event | |
| Disable Item | Ctrl+E |
| Insert Comment | |
| Copy All | Ctrl+C |
| Copy Selected | |
| Paste | Ctrl+V |
| Find and Replace | Ctrl+R |
| Delete | Del |
| Delete All | |
| Change to Customer | |

- Move Up/Down–Lets you move a script item up or down in the script, changing the order that the commands execute..
- **Disable/Enable Event**-Lets you disable the event and the entire programming script without having to delete the script. If the event is disabled, the text is grayed out and the only menu item is Enable Event.
- **Disable/Enable Item**—Lets you disable a single item in the script. Other items execute normally. If the item is disabled, the line of text is grayed out and the line's icon has a red x on it.
- Insert Comment–Lets you insert a comment into the script. See also Using Programming Comments.
- Copy All-Lets you copy an entire script.
- Copy Selected-Lets you copy selected items in a script.
- Paste-Lets you paste copied items into the current script.
- Find and Replace–Lets you find and replace elements within the script item with similar items. See Using Find and Replace.
- Delete-Lets you delete the selected script items. You can also delete items by pressing the Delete key.
- Delete All-Lets you delete the entire script.
- Change to Customer–Lets you change programming items to be accessible or locked out from When
 >> Then programming by the customer. By default, programming entered with Composer cannot be modified by the customer in When >> Then. Select Change to Customer to allow the customer to modify the programming in When >> Then.
- Change to Dealer–If the customer has entered programming in When >> Then and you want to lock out that
 programming from being modified in When >> Then, select Change to Dealer to lock the programming to
 Composer only.

Note: Selecting Change to Dealer does not lock out programming from Composer HE

Using Programming Comments

The Comments programming feature lets you add comments inline with your programming to document your programming. This is useful when using advanced programming, using variables, and when multiple technicians may need to work on the project.

Example: You have a variable that is changed by a button press. You can add a comment in the code to know where the variable is being changed from..

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Local) | | - 🗆 X |
|---|---|--|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Executi | Device Actions |
| Programming Programming Evere Events Cheric Events Cheric Events Cheric Events Cheric Events Cherical Daprotics Cherical Dapro | Script Execution Sorget Execution When the variable Variables>media-selection-frontroom changes Programming Controls • Exec • And • Exec • And • Beauty • Exec • And • Storp • Socies • Comment Comment • Socies • The channel">7576774987497741733 - Char's Added Testion • Socies Execominitizes • | Actions Device Actions Device Actions Centre Actions |
| System Design Image: Connections Image: Status Image: Agents Image: Status Image: Status Director Status | | Beled "20113073477992206 - 80a Love Songs Resto" Select an Ado Device Ensity Ross-Anazon File Ago Satcher Select al Make Device Ensity Ross-Anazon File Ago Satcher Comands Commands Commands |

To add a comment in programming:

- 1. Click **Programming** and select the event in the *Device Events* pane.
- 2. In *Programming Controls* in the *Script* pane, enter the comment in the field next to Comment.
- 3. Click on **Comment** and drag the comment below into the *Script* pane. Place it anywhere in the programming script. A comment does not affect the programming.

Using Find and Replace

The Find and Replace programming feature lets you find one device already programmed and replace it with another.

Example: You want a button on your **Configurable Keypad** to turn on all the outside dimmers in your Control4 system. Currently, the button is programmed to turn on all the lights in your garage. Use the **Find and Replace** programming option to replace the lights with outdoor lights in your programming.

| Composer Pro 3.0.0 - Residence (Remote) | - 🗆 X |
|---|---|
| File Driver Go Tools Help | |
| Programming Script | Actions |
| Device Events Script Execute | Device Actions |
| Provice Events Script Decord Image: Strate Strate Script Decord Image: Strate Strate Image: Strate Strate Script Image: Strate Image: Strate Image: Strate Image: Strate Image: Strate Image: Str | Image: Second |
| ○ Présased ○ Single Tap ○ Couble Tap ○ Trefa Tap ○ Sine Tap ○ Fredu ○ Fredu | Dive Off Off Togde O Set Level: 100 0 50 100 Parap to Preside LED Commanda Set Al LED Coles Set Al LED Coles Set LED On Set LED On Set LED On |

To program using the Find and Replace feature:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Programming.
- 3. In the *Script* pane, right-click and select **Find and Replace**. A *Find and Replace* dialog appears.

| Composer 2.1.0 | | | | | | |
|---|---|---------------|---|-----------------------|------------------------|---|
| <u>File Driver Go I</u> ools | (Help | | | | | |
| Programming | | Script | | | Actions | |
| Device Events | | Script | | Execute | Device Actions | |
| 9.000 1.0000 1.00000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.0000000 1.00000000 | JMARTIN: jmatrix Digital Media Hone Controllot HC300 Tauch Screen - 7" Left Dimmer Switch Middle Dimmer Fibriton: Keypad 3 Button: Keypad 3 Button: Keypad 3 Button: Keypad 3 Button: Keypad Takesian - Takesian | Turn c | Mhen Family>56-Button Keypad button 1 pressed on the family>24rt Dimmer on the family->Right Dimmer on the Family->Right Dimmer | is | e (| |
| E 🛃 | Television | and Developer | | | | Control4 Wretess Thermostat |
| 6-Button Keypad Events | | ли керасе | | | | |
| Butt | ion 1 Find w | at: Fa | mily->Left Dimmer | • (| Find Next | Family->Right Dimmer |
| • | Press Replac | with: Th | teater->Theater Dimmer | I | Replace | Conditionals Loops |
| | Release | | | 0 | Beolace All | ~ |
| 0 | Single Tap | | | | Treplace Ma | |
| | Double Tap | | | 6 | Clase | UHO 🔰 Toggle O |
| | Triple Tap | | | | | |
| | ingre i ag | | | | 🔿 Set Level: | Level: 100 % - |
| System Design | | | | | C Ramp to Lev Rate: | 50% - vet: - 2000 ≎ Millisec ▼ 0% - |
| Media | | | | | Set All LED Co | olors: |
| Agents | | | | | 🔘 Set Top LED | On: 📄 🔘 Set Top LED Off: 🗧 |
| V Programming | | | | | ○ Set Bottom L | ED On: O Set Bottom LED Off: |
| Director Status: Idle | | | | | | Connected |

4. Replace the programming device object with the one you want.

Find: Family > Left Dimmer

Replace with: Theater > Theater Dimmer

5. Click **Replace**. The statement in the Script pane changes to the replacement script.



6. Repeat for each line in the Script pane.

Find: Family > Middle Dimmer

Replace with: **Bedroom** > **Bedroom Dimmer**

Find: Family > Right Dimmer

Replace with: Front > Front Dimmer

When you complete this process, the script reflects that you have changed all the lights in your Control4 system to dimmers.

Using Copy and Paste

The copy and paste programming feature lets you copy the programming you configure from one device and paste it to another device. By creating the same command, loop, or conditional for a device, you can copy it for use in another programming script.

Example: You want all of the lights in the Control4 system to turn on by pressing **Button 1** on the **6-button keypad**. When you press **Button 4**, you want to turn all the lights on in the system except in the **Bedroom**. In this example, you can copy the first set of actions into the second set and not include the Master Bedroom.



To program the 6-button keypad:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. Ensure that you have the following devices added and connected to the Control4 system:
 - Controller
 - Bedroom Dimmer
 - 6-Button Keypad
- 4. Click Programming.
- 5. Select 6-Button Keypad in the project tree of the Device Events pane.
- 6. In 6-Button Keypad Events, push **Button 1**, and select the **Press** radio button.
- 7. In the Device Actions pane, scroll down and select Dimmer.
- 8. In the Dimmer Actions pane, click the **Commands** tab, and click the **On** radio button.
- 9. Drag the Dimmer Action green arrow to the Script pane.
- 10. Repeat Steps 1 through 9 for all the lights in your system. This includes the Light Switch and Dimmer in the Theater and the Dimmer in the Bedroom.
- 11. Move to the Script pane, right-click, then select Copy from the options. This

| Composer 2.1.0 | | |
|--|---|--|
| He Driver So Tools Help | Sarint | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute Script Uter Family>6-Button Keypad button 1 is Pressed Former the Sambola of Dimension | Device Actions |
| | Turn of the Family - Middle Dimmer Turn on the Family - Middle Dimmer Turn on the Family - Sight Dimmer Turn the Inexter - Scale Frequence on Tur | |
| 6-Button Keypad Events Button 1 | Copy Ctri+C Paste Ctri+V | Gas Fireplace Actions |
| Press | Find and Replace Ctrl+R | Commands Conditionals Loops |
| O Heesse O Srigle Tap O Double Tap O Triple Tap | Provid Down | Turn the Gas Freplace off O Turn the Gas Freplace on O Toggle the Gas Freplace |
| System Design | | |
| Programming | | |

automatically copies all arrow statements in the pane.

- 12. Click **Button 4** in the 6-Button Keypad Events pane, and then select the **Press** radio button.
- 13. Right-click in the Script pane, and select **Paste**. The programming of the lights shows up in the Script pane for Button 4.

| Composer 2.1.0 | | |
|---|---|---|
| Elle Driver <u>G</u> o Ilools Help | | |
| Programming | Script | Actions |
| Device Events | Script Execute | Device Actions |
| | When Family>8-Button Keypad button 4 is pressed | |
| Red | Delete All | 2. Butten Kaunad |
| Mini Touch Screen V2 | Copy Ctri+C Paste Ctri+V | e T Relay |
| 6-Button Keypad Events | Find and Replace Ctrl+R | Gas Fireplace Actions |
| System Design System Design System Sease Frequencies Frequencies Frequencies Frequencies Frequencies | Pile di Andioudo Comme Piero Ecom More Coom | Turn the Theater >Gas Fireplace on Commands Conditionals Out the Gas Fireplace of O Turn the Gas Fireplace on O Turn the Gas Fireplace O Turn the Gas Fireplace |
| irector Status: Getting Code Items | | Connected |

You have completed Copy and Paste Programming. Now you can edit the Button 4 Script as needed.

Example: You can remove the Bedroom Dimmer from the Button 4 Script, so when you push Button 1 all the lights in the system come on; and when you push Button 4, all the lights come on except for the dimmer in the bedroom.

Tip: This feature is very useful when programming complex loops and conditionals.

Customizing Navigators

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Set up screen savers
- Hide and view device availability

Overview

Use the Control4[®] system Navigator interface on your Navigator to make adjustments to the Navigator you're using.

Tip: You or your customer can customize pages in the touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators also. See the Control4 System User Guide for information.

Setting up screen savers

Setting up the photo screen saver

Use the Agent and Media views to set up a photo Screen Saver agent to view photos from the touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators. In OS 2.1 and later, you can use a single photo to display on all of your Navigators. If you change the interval on one Navigator, it will change all of them.

Prerequisites

Have one of the following storage types available before you copy the photos. You will need to set up one or more of them later when you add your photos.

Note: In some cases, the Control4 system may take a few minutes to recognize the device.

- Controller–If the controller has no storage, add and connect a device that contains storage for your photos; for example a USB drive or Network File Share (see Step 6 in the next section).
- USB Drive-Ensure that the USB drive is attached to the controller. When you insert the USB drive, it will appear in the project tree in the same room as the controller.
- Network File Share–Ensure that the Network File Share object is added to the project tree and connected (see the steps to do this later in this procedure). Ensure that you have access to the Network File Share, that you have a valid Username, Password, and Workgroup, and that you can identify the network location (you will need to add the path).

To display photos as screen savers on the Navigators:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click Agents.
- 3. (First time only.) From the Agents view > Agents pane, click Add to add the agent to the project.
- 4. From the Available Agents dialog, select the Screen Saver agent, and click OK.

Note: If Screen Saver already appears in the Agents pane, it has already been added. Go to the next step. If not, see "Example: Program Using the Screen Saver Agent."

- 5. In the Agents pane, select Screen Saver.
- 6. From the storage location list, use the drop-down menu to select the location where you will save your photos for use on the Navigators (controller, CBM Flash Disk: USB drive, or Network File Storage, etc.).

Notes:

- If the storage option that you want does not appear in the list, disconnect from Director and reconnect.
- At any given time, only one storage location can be set as the photo Screen Saver source.
- **CBM Flash Disk** (USB drive)—If you inserted the USB drive in the controller earlier, the CBM Flash Disk option appears in the list.
- Network File Storage—If you select Network File Storage, specify where the Control4 system needs to go to copy the files. Click System Design and select the Network File Storage icon in the project tree (you will have to add it from the Items pane). In the Properties pane, type the Username, Password, and Workgroup, and then browse to the network location. Click Connect.
- 7. Click the Media view, and select Screen Saver.
- 8. Click **Configure** in the Screen Saver pane, set the location to copy the files to (for display in the Navigators), and click **OK**.

Note: If you didn't select a storage location in Step 6, an error message appears. Click **OK**, and then click **Configure** to set the location.

9. In the Screen Saver pane, click Add. In the My Pictures dialog, **browse** to the photos you want to copy to the storage location, select them, and click **Open**. The files will be copied to the storage location you specified in Step 8, and a folder may be created for you using the Control4 name (**Example**: Control4 pictures).

Note: When media is added (copied) to the storage device, it is pre-scaled to the resolution for all of the Navigators. Control4 preserves the aspect ratio of the original image, and boxes the extra space with bars for any given screen size.



- 10. In Composer Pro, click Tools > Refresh the Navigators to display the copied photos.
- 11. To activate the Screen Saver in each Navigator (on-screen, touch screen, or Control4 app), do the following:
- 1. Go to Info > Config > Screen Saver (on the system remote control) or More > Settings > Screen Saver.
- 2. Enable the **Custom** option, and then select the **Photo Screen Saver** option along with any other screen saver option you want to include. For photos only, check the **Photo** option. See "<u>Setting up a custom screen</u> <u>saver</u>" to display the photos on the Navigator or see the Control4 System User Guide.

Setting up a custom screen saver

Use the Control4 Navigator to create a custom screen saver to view on touch screens, Control4 apps, or onscreen Navigators.

Note: This task must be completed on a Navigator. Either the Installer or homeowner can set this up. The Custom Screen Saver option lets users mix and match available screen saver options, including the option to use stored photos.

Prerequisites

Before setting up a custom screen saver, photos must be available for viewing from the Navigator. See "Setting up the photo screen saver."

To set up a custom screen saver:

- From the main menu on an on-screen Navigator, Control4 app, or touch screen press More > Settings > Screen Saver or Info > Config > Screen Saver on a system remote control.
- 2. In Screen Saver, press the drop-down arrow, and press Custom.
- 3. In **Turn on**, press the drop-down arrow, and press an option to enable the screen saver.
- 4. Press Settings.
- 5. Press to select one or more of the following options:
 - Media
 - Time
 - Date
 - Temp
 - Photo
 - Shuffle
- 6. Press Done.
- 7. (Optional) Press **Preview** to test the settings.

To set up a custom screen saver in the touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators for OS 2.0 and later, see the Control4 System User Guide for details.

Programming the screen saver sleep mode

Use the Programming view to schedule a Screen Saver mode change, for example, a 'Go To Bed' mode during sleep hours.

- 1. In Programming, select Navigator actions.
- 2. Create a Scheduled Event (such as 'Go To Bed'). See "Using and Programming with Agents" for details.
- 3. Add the following script:

"Set the screen saver mode on the [graphical navigator device] to Blank."

"Turn the screen saver on after [time interval] on the [graphical navigator device]."

Changing the time on a Navigator screen saver

Use the Control4 Composer Pro System Design view to change screen saver date, time or time zone.

To change the time on a *Navigator* screen saver:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. In System Design, click the **Properties** tab.
- 4. Use the **Date & Time** drop-down boxes to modify the time and date.

Date—To change the **Date** (month, date, or year), click the drop-down arrow for a calendar to appear. Click the **left** or **right** arrows to select the month, and then select the day.

Time—To change **Time** (hour, minute, second), click the **up** or **down** arrows to the appropriate time in hours, minutes, or seconds.

Tip: An easy way to change the hour, minute, or second is to highlight the hour, minute, or second number, and then type the new number over the old one.

Time zone—To change the **Time Zone**, at the Timezone box, click **Edit**. Select the time zone from the drop-down menu, and click **OK**.

Hiding device availability

Use the System Design view to hide a device from view in a Navigator. In OS 2.3.0 or later, you may find the Access agent useful for device availability. See "Using and Programming with Agents" for details.

Example: Set availability so that the touch screen in the Bedroom cannot control music in the Theater.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the following devices are added and identified to the network:

- Controller
- Digital audio
- Navigator

To hide a device so others cannot see it:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. In System Design and in the project tree, select Bedroom.
- 4. Go to the Navigator tab in the Properties tab.
- 5. Select Music in the Menu box, and then click Modify.
- 6. Select Digital Audio in the Theater, click Hide, and then click OK.

Viewing device availability in navigators

Use the System Design view to change the order of devices to view. This task is useful if you have a lot of media devices, and some are used more frequently than others.

Example: Change the order of a Tuner to appear in a Navigator before the Receiver.

Tips: (1) In OS 2.2 and later, you can use **Shift+Click** or **Ctrl+Click** to add or remove devices. (2) In OS 2.3.0 or later, you may find the Access agent useful for device availability. See "Using and Programming with Agents_" for details.

Prerequisites

Ensure that the following devices are added and identified to the network:

- Controller
- Digital audio
- Navigator

To enable a *device* to be viewed in a specific order in a Navigator:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. In System Design, select Theater.
- 4. Go to the Navigator tab in the Properties tab.
- 5. Select Radio under Menu, and then click Modify.
- 6. Click Tuner, and then click Move Up.
- 7. Click OK.

Creating drivers

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Use the DriverEditor
- Use the Driver Wizard
- Create IR controller drivers
- Create serial-controlled drivers
- Configure Composer Pro properties
- Create two-way drivers
- Export a driver

Creating and managing drivers

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Use Driver Manager to update and manage drivers
- Use the DriverEditor
- Use the Driver Wizard
- Create IR controller drivers
- Create serial-controlled drivers
- Configure Composer Pro properties
- Create two-way drivers
- Export a driver

Using the Manage Drivers window

Use the Manage Drivers window in Composer Pro to view driver versions, manage drivers, update drivers and schedule updates.

To manage drivers using the Manage Drivers window:

1. Select Drivers > Manage Drivers.

🌠 Manage Drive Manage Drivers Auto Update Status 🛛 🕶 Online Version Local Version Controller Version Name Filename Status Detail SpotfyConnect.c4z
 diaddin_connect_door.c4z
 diaddin_connect_door.c4z
 aiaddin_connect_master.c4z
 amazon_music.c4z
 control4_doorstation_vdb.c4z
 voors.c4z $\begin{array}{c} \| \, \mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ 85 84 85 Spotify Connect Local driver can be updated, new online Aladdin Connect Door Aladdin Connect Master Driver Amazon Music Control4 Chime Video Doorbell Local driver can be updated, new online 6 3 64 61 63 64 61 59 Cortrol 4 Chime Video Doothi Sonos Works With Sonos Cer. TIDAL Biac-Wire Driver Manager Arachis Intgato Cortroller Triad & R. Audo Matrix Svitch Essential Svitch HEOS Network Module HEOS Network Module 99 154 98 99 Local driver can be updated, new online 152 154 Local driver can be updated, new online 172 212 124 3600 Local driver can be updated, new online . Controller version is 172, and is newer tha. Controller version is 212, and is newer tha. Driver on controller can be updated, new Driver on controller can be updated, new. 171 211 124 n/a n/a 126 5400 43 75 119 223 118 19 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 43 36 73 114 110 117 18 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a Driver on controller can be updated, new HEOS Network Module Pakedge 4MP IP PTZ Camera Pakedge IP Camera Google Assistant Samsung QE75Q70RA Microsoft XBox 360 HDSNetwork Module c4z
 Camera_jp_pakedge4mp_ptz.c4z
 camera_jp_pakedge4mp_ptz.c4z
 camera_jp_pakedge_ptz.c4z
 Google-assistant.c4z
 Wryp_Samsung_QE75Q70RA.c4z
 dvd_X80_360_jR_Microsoft.c4i
 Channels.c4z Driver on controller can be updated, new n/a Driver should be replaced by 'dvd_ir_micr. 25 25 Channels Driver is up to date (controller version is 25). Channels.c4z
 MyMovies.c4z
 MyMovies.c4z
 Stations.c4z
 Stations.c4z
 Tuneln.c4z
 control4_therm.c4z.c4therm.c4z 106 288 25 128 My Movies My Music Stations TuneIn Driver is up to date (controller version is 2.). Driver is up to date (controller version is 1... Driver is up to date (controller version is 2.). Driver is up to date (controller version is 25). 106 288 25 128 13 Residential Thermostat V2 13 Driver is up to date (controller version is 13). n/a Adaptive Phase Dimmer adaptive_phase_dimmer.c4i Driver is up to date (controller version is 7). 🙁 Driver on controller can be updated 🔹 Local driver can be updated 🔄 🚖 Local driver can be updated from controller 🔯 In Project 🧲 Obsolete 🔒 Built In Refresh Exclude Control4 Built In drivers Update... Add Driver... Close

2. Click on a driver in the window and click Update...

3. The Update Driver window shows the driver name, file name, version info and update options.

| ኛ Updat | e Driver | | \times | |
|-----------------------------------|---|--|------------|--|
| Name: | Spotify Connect | | | |
| File: | SpotifyCon | nect.c4z | | |
| Online \ | lersion: | 85 | | |
| Local Ve | ersion: | 84 | | |
| Control | er Version: | 85 | | |
| Update Update Update Syn | e Options late Driver ic Newest | Update Driver Update local and controller version with the | | |
| O Syn O Syn O Rep | ic Local ic Controller blace Obsole | online version. | | |
| | | Update Cance | e l | |

- 4. Select an option in **Update Options** to update, sync, or replace the driver. You can choose between:
- a. **Update Driver**—Update the local (computer) version and controller version of the driver with the latest online version.
- b. **Sync Newest**—Synchronize the newest driver from either the local computer or the project.
- c. Sync Local—Synchronize the driver on the local computer to the controller.
- d. Sync Controller—Synchronize the driver on the controller to the local computer.
- e. **Replace Obselete**—Replaces an obsolete driver with a recommended replacement driver.

To configure automatic driver updates:

1. Select Drivers > Manage Drivers and click on the Auto Update tab.

| 🚰 Manage Dri | ivers | | | - | | × |
|---|--|--|---|---|------|---|
| Manage Drivers | Auto Update | | | | | |
| Enable Dr | iver Update Agent er to exclude from updating | | | Name: Auto Update Driver Agent Event Start Date: 572/2016 8:19:00 PM Frequency: Daily Next Occurrence: 11/18/2020 8:19:00 PM | | |
| ✓ Filename | • | Manufacturer | Model | Driver Name | | |
| AddMus HeartR MyMusic SpotfyC adddin mediaple mediaple | ic of z adio c4z DDNA c4z onnect. c4z connect. door c4z y, jp. amazon_fire. c4z music c4z connect_master c4z normect_master c4z torniker.c4z z torniker.c4z z torok.c4z tz | Control4 Control4 Control4 Genie Amazon Control4 Genie Control4 Control4 Control4 Control4 Control4 Control4 Sonos Sonos Control4 | Add Music HieseRado My Music (DLNA) Spoth Connect Adadin Connect Door Fire TV (ADB, OS 2) Anadon Connect Master Dri Romo Control Dianey Plus Roku Timer Pandora Network (Works With Sono Zoneplayer TIDAL | Add Music HearRadio My Music (DLNA) Spothy Connect Addin Connect Door Fre TV (ADB, OS 2) Anazon Music Anazon Music Anazon Music Roku Player Sprinkler Pandora Network (Works Weh Sonos Certified) Sonos (Works Weh Sonos Certified) TIDAL | | |
| Execute |] | | | | Clos | e |

- 2. Check the box next to Enable Driver Update Agent to enable automatic driver updates.
- 3. Check the box next to each driver to enable or disable automatic updates for that driver.
- 4. Click on **Execute** to run the automatic driver updates now.

Tip: To configure the schedule when the automatic driver update runs, use the **Scheduler** agent to configure the update event, by default the **Auto Update Driver Agent Event**.

Creating device drivers

To complete device support using Composer Pro[®] for a Control4 system, every device requires a corresponding driver.

To add a device to the Control4 system that does not have a supporting driver, use the built-in Driver Creation Wizard in Composer Pro or Driver Editor to create the driver prior to adding the device.

Overview

Why create a device driver?

A hardware driver is a small piece of software that allows a computer program to communicate with a specific device, for example a controller, in the Control4 system. Every device in the Control4 system requires a driver, and that driver must be added to the project tree in Composer Pro. Some devices do not have existing drivers in the Composer Pro driver database, or the drivers there cannot control a device. In that case, a new device driver needs to be created. Control4 provides the means if anyone wants to develop drivers for their products.

Example: A computer may use a printer driver to send a print order to a printer. Every controllable device uses codes that represent commands on that device. To control the device, you must capture or enter these codes in the driver.

Example: An IR-controlled CD player's commands are Play, Stop, Pause, etc. Using the Driver Wizard and controller hardware along with the manufacturer's remote control supplied with the equipment, you can capture these codes and build a working driver using the codes. Serial-based devices are also supported; you can enter the serial codes to the Driver Wizard manually.

Tip: Each driver consists of a collection of files. One of those files is a configuration file, which is an XML file referred to as a config data file or.c4i file. This file provides specific IR, serial, or connection codes that are pertinent to supporting a device model on the Control4 system. In the default Composer Pro installation, these files are located on your PC at: c:\program files\control4\Composerxxx\drivers\virtual.

Guidelines for creating device drivers

The most important information you need to know before you begin to create your own Control4 device driver is to understand how your devices work. After that, you can use the Driver Wizard and/or the DriverWorks SDK or DriverEditor to create your own drivers. Contact Control4 Technical Support for details.

IMPORTANT! Before you begin, check the manufacturer's documentation to learn about the codes or customized macros required to support your device, and understand the inputs and outputs that your device supports and other details about the device as needed.

For best results, understand the following concepts and guidelines:

• Supported commands and inputs/outputs of the device—Prior to starting the Driver Wizard, have a basic understanding of the device.

- Discrete **versus** toggle—In the Driver Wizard, the term 'discrete' indicates a direct setting rather than a toggle option between settings. For example, a receiver might have 'discrete input select,' which lets you select the input directly (DVD) rather than using a toggle button that cycles through all the inputs (DVD, VCR, TV), such as Input Toggle.
- IR codes versus macros–In the Driver Wizard, some IR codes complete the needed command; however, to complete the commands, you may need a macro (a sequence of codes).
- Adding all options for AV connections—When adding AV connections, select all possible options for the device so all options are available for selection.
- Power management options—A variety of supported Power-Management options are available to choose from, but the optimal method depends on the device. When no other option works, use the **Assume the Device is Always On** option, and leave it up to the user to ensure manually that the device is on. See "Guidelines for defining power management."
- Adding commands and custom commands—The Driver Wizard supports a set of default commands for each device type, such as Television, VCR, DVD, etc. If a command you need does not appear on the Default Command list, click Add and use the pull-down menu to look for the command. You can also add custom commands if necessary.
- Driver Wizard screens vary for device types—Because different devices, such as televisions, VCRs, and DVDs have different functionality, the Driver Wizard steps you through different questions as appropriate for that device type, and there are pre-defined generic Device Types that have a common set of commands with varying capabilities that you can use as a base. The Driver Wizard prompts you to select the appropriate commands from these basic commands, as well as identify any additional capabilities that the particular device is able to perform.

Example: All televisions have Up/Down channel and Up/Down volume commands, so these basic commands are already included in the generic TV device type. However, not all televisions have direct channel selection, where you can select a channel by pressing a sequence of numbered keys.

- Creating or editing multi-featured device drivers—You can create only combination types that are listed in the Create New Driver wizard. Control4 recommends that you start with an existing driver in the Online Database, add it to your Local Database, and then edit it as needed to meet the new device-driver need. Be patient. You may need to change IR codes if a code doesn't work with your device.
- DriverWorks can be used to create 2-way drivers for AV and non-AV devices. It requires some
 programming skills, however, but leverages the Lua-embeddable scripting language, a powerful, fast,
 and light-weight (when compared to other scripting languages). See "Creating a 2-way serial or TCP/IPcontrolled driver."

Tip: When a device driver is created, you may want to distribute it to multiple projects on different computers. To do this, copy the driver file from the default install directory: **C:\Program**

Files\Control4\Composerxxx\Drivers\Virtual to the same directory on the other computers.

This action makes this driver file available to all the projects stored on that computer. Driver files are named by device type, protocol, manufacturer, and model with a.c4i extension.

Example: tv_ir_samsung_tx-p1430.c4i.

• **DriverEditor**—This tool is designed to assist the dealer or driver developer in creating and maintaining their drivers for use with the Control4 system.

Using DriverEditor

The DriverEditor is an advanced tool that allows DriverWorks drivers to be developed. This tool is free and is available at: http://update.control4.com/DriverEditor/DriverEditor_Installer.exe. You can find information about DriverEditor in the Forums under 'DriverWorks.'

Features:

- Edit AV_GEN or DriverWorks drivers from the same tool.
- Switching from AV_GEN to DriverWorks requires only a menu choice.
- No more wondering if the XML portion of the driver is correct. All choices are validated.
- Capture IR codes from Control4 controllers or enters them manually in pronto hex format or by IR code (s).
- Create/maintain all aspects of IR macros.
- Commands/notifications are filtered by proxies in the driver.
- Capabilities are filtered by proxies in the driver.
- DriverWorks editor with API auto-complete for Control4 APIs and Lua script APIs.
- DriverWorks editor with Call tips and syntax highlighting.
- DriverWorks debugging from within DriverEditor. No longer writing in one application and debugging in another.
- Monitor output from up to four different debug windows.
- All DriverWorks documentation is accessible from within DriverEditor with context searching.
- Updating from within DriverEditor.

Using the Driver Wizard

Use the Driver Wizard in Composer Pro to create device drivers for your devices.

The Driver Wizard is a basic level driver developer tool for IR and one-way serial control. Instructions for using this wizard are detailed in this section.

To start the Driver Wizard from the Driver menu:

- Select Create New Driver. See "<u>Composer Pro menu options</u>" in Composer Pro Getting Started for details. The Driver Creation Wizard (or Driver Wizard) lets you add device support to the system, including support for:
 - Infrared (IR)-Controlled Devices that are controlled using wireless remotes. Commands are sent via pulses of infrared light to the device.

Examples of IR-controlled devices: receivers, televisions, plasma screens, projectors, DVD/CD players, DVD/CD changers, VCRs, satellites, cable boxes, DVRs, tuners, audio/video switches, amplifiers, blinds, and other specialized equipment.

• **Serial-Controlled**—Devices are controlled via a serial connection (RS-232, RS-422, or RS-485) to the controller hardware.

Examples of serial-controlled devices: projectors, multi-disc DVD changers, and other serial-controlled devices.

Limitations of the Driver Wizard

The Driver Wizard is not designed or intended to create drivers in the following situations:

- **Bi-directional drivers**—Bi-directional drivers provide enhanced support for two-way communication between the device and the controller. Custom bi-directional drivers are available for some devices (check the Online Database). The Driver Wizard does not create bi-directional drivers. If you need to create a custom bi-directional driver, ask your Control4 Sales Representative about the Control4 software development kit (SDK) program.
- Logical Calculations—Some devices require logical calculations. The Driver Wizard can provide only limited support for devices that require logical calculations.
- Relays and Contacts—The Driver Wizard is not designed to create drivers for relays and contacts. If you cannot find a specific driver for your contact or relay device, use the generic drivers provided in the Online Database.
- Serial Codes—To create serial drivers, get the serial codes from the manufacturer's documentation. Control4 collects the serial codes in a database from the manufacturers/dealers that obtain these codes. If you need serial codes, contact Control4 Technical Support or contact the manufacturer directly.

Editing a driver using the Driver Wizard

To make changes to a driver located in your local driver database that is NOT fully-configured and connected in a project, you can use the Composer Pro **Driver menu** > **Edit Existing Driver** option. This option lets you modify and update the driver options in the Driver Wizard.

To edit a driver using Driver Wizard:

1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Driver menu, select Edit Existing Driver.
- 3. In the next screen, select the driver type, such as VCR.
- 4. Select the Model type.
- 5. Select a section, and click next to advance to the screen that you want to edit.
- 6. Edit the screens or recapture the codes as needed. See "Creating IR-Controlled Drivers" for details.
- 7. When you've edited the driver, click **finish**, and click **next**.

IMPORTANT! If you edit any inputs or outputs of the driver after editing a driver, you must remove the driver from the project, add it to the project again from the Search tab, and then make the connections.

Verifying the IR codes using the Driver Wizard

Use the Edit Existing Driver menu option to verify your IR codes for the Control4 system.

Note: Make sure the controller is connected to the device via IR, and that all necessary connections are made.

To verify driver IR codes using the Driver Wizard:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Driver menu, select Edit Existing Driver.
- 3. Select the driver type, such as VCR.
- 4. Select the Codes section.
- 5. Click next to advance to the screen for the first IR code listed.
- 6. On the left side, use the scrollbar to select the code you want to test, and click **Emit** to verify the function of the specific IR code.
- 7. Edit or recapture the codes as necessary.
- 8. After you've edited the driver, click finish.
- 9. Click **next** to save your changes.

IMPORTANT! If you edit any inputs or outputs of the driver after editing a driver, you must remove the driver from the project, add it to the project again from the Search tab, and make any necessary connections.

Tip: To exit the Driver Wizard without saving your changes, click \mathbf{x} at the top right of the screen.

Power management

Guidelines for defining power management

Power Management options are modifiable using the Driver Wizard in Composer Pro which is accessible through the Driver menu during creation or driver edits.

| Control | Driver W | /izard (help) X |
|----------------|-----------------------|---|
| Device Info 👔 | What driver | are you creating? |
| Codes 🥔 | Manufacturer: | Tangerine Global |
| Input/Output 🚳 | Model: | STB |
| Macros | Driver Creator: | Ryan Carlson |
| Finish 🔯 | Created: Modified: | 1/6/2009 5:19:00 PM 5/21/2019 8:00:13 PM |
| | Copyright: | Copyright 2016 Control4 Corporation. All rights reserved. |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | d back |

Editing power management options

If resetting the connections is not required, you can sometimes edit the Power Management options from the Composer Pro project tree.

To edit the Power Management options:

- 1. Right-click the device.
- 2. Click Edit Driver.
- 1. If the Edit Driver option does not appear, edit this driver from the Driver menu.
- 2. Remove and then add the device to the project tree again.

Options on this screen include:

• Assume the device is always on–Select this option if the device is always on, or if the device is turned on and off by pressing the same button. For example, the system has no way to acknowledge if a television is on when the television uses a toggle button (such as buttons labeled 'Power' or 'On/Off') instead of discrete (separate) On and Off buttons.

Note: Use this option for Power Management of a multi-zoned receiver.

• Send Toggle Codes—This option is selected automatically when you check the Has Power feedback box. You can select the other available options, such as Macro. Click next to return to this page and reset the page to this option.

- Use discrete on/off codes—Select this option if the device features a separate button for On and Off versus one button used to cycle between On and Off.
- Use On/Off macros–Use this option to control power on the device by using a sequence of button presses to determine the power state of the device.

Example: You know the state of most DVD players by sending a **Play** command, because Play typically changes the power state to On.

You can set up a macro that

- Sends a Play command.
- Sends a power toggle command to turn the device off.
- Sends a power toggle command to turn the device on.

The system can determine with certainty that the power state is On.

- Has Power Feedback.
- Video sense loop—Check this option if you want the system to determine (using a Composite video connection) whether a device is On or Off based on whether a video signal is present.
- Contact **sensor (power sensing)**—Check this option if the device is plugged into a Wireless Outlet Switch and is configured as a Contact Sensor.
- **Control power directly (power control)**—Check this option if the device is plugged into a Wireless Outlet Switch and is configured as a relay. With this option, you can set two delays to accommodate special devices.

For more information, see " Configure a Wireless Outlet Switch V2."

Configuring assignable inputs and outputs

In a driver, you want to create all possible inputs and outputs on a device. However, a driver can only support the physical inputs and outputs that exist on that device, so don't attempt to create inputs or outputs that do not exist on the device.

Changing power management options

Use the Power Management options in the Composer Pro Driver menu to change power for a Control4 system.

To change the Power Management option of a driver, you can edit the driver to provide a different Power Management option. After editing a driver, you may need to add the driver to the project and set up the necessary connections.

To change Power Management options in a driver:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Driver menu, select Edit Existing Driver.
- 3. Select the driver type, such as VCR.
- 4. Select the Manufacturer type, such as Mitsubishi.
- 5. Select the Model type.

6. On the Power Management screen, change the **Power Management** option.

Example: To change the Power Management option, check **Has power feedback**, and then select the **Video sense** loop option.

7. After you edit the driver, click **finish**, and click **next**.

Example: The Video Sense loop requires a Control connection. A control Video Sense connection has been added to the DVD driver.

8. Make any necessary connections to configure the new Power Management option.

Example: With the Video Sense Loop Power Management option, connect the Control connection.

- 1. From Connections, select **Control**/AV > **DVD**.
- 2. From the top pane in Control Connections, drag the Video Sensor connection to a Video Sense Loop connection on the controller.

IR-controlled drivers

Creating IR-controlled drivers

This section provides instructions for creating and testing a driver using the Control4 Driver Wizard in Composer Pro. Depending on the device type, the Driver Wizard asks you questions for the driver you are creating. The Driver Wizard varies between device types because different device types have different functions. Follow the Driver Wizard screens until your driver is created.

Prerequisites

For the IR Learning capability to work, you must be connected to a Director and have a controller added to your project.

To use the Driver Wizard:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Driver menu, select Create New Driver.
- 3. From the list, select the type of driver you want to create, and click ok.
- 4. Enter the Device Information.
- 1. Fill out the requested information, such as device's Manufacturer, Model number, and the name of the Driver Creator (whoever is creating the driver), and click **next**.
- 2. Check whether the device is IR or Serial controlled, select the appropriate options, and click next.
- 3. Define the type of power management, audio parameters, and device properties there are, and click next.
- 4. Identify the relevant commands, add custom commands as necessary, and click next.
- 5. Capture, paste, or enter the device codes using one of the following:
 - **IR**—Use the manufacturer's remote and the controller's IR Learning capability for capturing IR commands.
 - Serial—Enter the codes.
- 6. Create and identify the input and output connection options for the device, and click next.
- 7. Create macros if necessary.
- 8. Find your driver, add it to the project, and test it. See Composer Pro Getting Started for details about how to do this.

Guidelines for capturing IR codes

For best results when capturing IR codes for a Control4 system, follow the onscreen prompts in the Driver Wizard.

Follow these guidelines:

- **Point your manufacturer's remote control** directly at the IR window located just below the dial on the front panel of your controller hardware (e.g., EA-3). Avoid aiming the beam at an angle, and keep the beam in the same axis as the IR window.
- While capturing the first few codes, the controller begins to recognize the frequency. Note that a message about 'an alternate frequency' might display. This is normal, and it means that the controller is adjusting to the remote frequency.

To help ensure a successful capture:

- 1. Hold the manufacturer's remote at a distance of approximately 6" away from the controller hardware, and then press the button requested.
- 2. When prompted, press the button again to confirm the code captured. You are prompted a third, fourth, and possibly a fifth time to press each of the first few buttons.
- 3. If another device in the room emits IR, such as a bi-directional IR device, block the IR so it does not interfere with IR capture.
- 4. The process of capturing IR codes is very sensitive to light, such as sunlight and fluorescent lights. If it is not working properly, turn off the lights, close the drapes or blinds, or cover the physical hardware so that the light cannot interrupt the capturing of codes.
- 5. When capturing IR codes, press and release the remote button in one second.

Note: Do not press and hold for long periods (longer than three seconds). Doing so increases repeat counts. Typical repeat counts are between three and five seconds.

- 6. When capturing IR codes, look for a green light to turn on and off on the controller hardware. Also, watch the Driver Wizard screen; it changes the steps to indicate that codes are captured.
- 7. Avoid IR interference from your laptop by disabling or powering off the IR devices.

After successfully capturing a few codes:

- 1. Hold the manufacturer's remote at a distance approximately 8" 12" (about 20 30 cm), and then press the next button requested.
- 2. When prompted, press the button again to confirm the code captured. Most buttons are confirmed with the second button press. You may be prompted repeatedly to confirm the code captured, including:

If the remote uses alternative codes—Some manufacturers provide alternate codes or a second code to differentiate between two distinct button presses, such as '1' and then '1' again for Channel '11.' Some remotes have a different code for each '1.'

If an incorrect button was pressed, or if there was interference during the IR capture—If you press the wrong button for a code or there was some interference during IR capture, the system may sense this and ask for a different code or request the same code again. If you test the code, and it doesn't work, try to capture it again.

If you pressed a button longer than three seconds.

To disable the devices from the laptop's Control Panel:

- 1. Select Wireless Link.
- 2. Click the Hardware tab, and click Properties.
- 3. Ensure that any IR devices are disabled.
- 4. After capturing the codes, enable the IR devices again.

When the system has finished capturing codes for a device, the Driver Wizard moves to the Input/Output category.

Creating an IR television driver

This section provides an example for creating an IR television driver using the Control4 Driver Wizard in Composer Pro. The example uses the Samsung TX-P1430 television; let's create a driver for it.

The major steps are:

- 1. Create an IR-Controlled Television.
- 2. Select the Volume and Other Properties for IR.
- 3. Indicate How Power Is Handled for IR.
- 4. Identify the Commands that the Device Supports.
- 5. Capture the Device Codes for IR.
- 6. Identify the Input/Output Connections.
- 7. Define the RF/Antenna and Connection Type.
- 8. Define the Set Channel Macro.
 - See "Add the IR driver to the project tree."
 - See "Connect the devices for IR control."

Conditions

- The Samsung TV is using IR for device control as an example.
- There is not a discrete power on/off option, so you cannot control the power; the control system needs to assume this device is always on.
- As with most TVs, there is Discrete Channel Selection; and the TV can provide audio output.
- The TV does not have discrete volume control, but it does have mute toggle capability.

To create an IR-controlled television using the Samsung TXP1430:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Ensure that you add a controller to your project (e.g., EA-5). This should be the first device added.
- 3. To add a controller:
- 1. Select the room (such as Theater) where the controller is installed.
- 2. Click the My Drivers tab.
- 3. Under Controllers, double-click a **Controller** (e.g., EA-5). This adds the controller and the Digital Audio object that resides on the controller to the project tree.

| ne briver do robis rrep | | | | | | | | _ |
|-------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------|--|-------------------------|------------|-------|----|
| System Design | Properties | Properties Summa | y List View | Items | | _ | | |
| ystem | Properties | | | Locations | Discovered | My Drivers | Searc | ch |
| ~ ~ ~ | Audio Video Devices | Navigator Miscellaneou | | | | | | |
| - Tirst Roor | ^ | | | | | | | |
| Family Room | Available Audio | Sources | | 🖃 🚞 My Drivers | | | | |
| - Ineater | Device | Location | | - Controller | 5 | | | |
| UDavies | Elicas | Theorem | | - Contra | bl4 CA-1 | | | |
| Els Control A 9x8 HDMI Matrix | A Maria | Encineer | Deem | Contra | bl4 EA-1 | | | |
| | My Music | Couplien DOM Theater | Hoom | - El Contra | ol4 EA-3 | | | _ |
| Tuner | AVR/A33 | Theater | | 5 Contri | si4 EA-5 | | | |
| iPod USB | Red US | Theater Doctor | | - To Ext | lender | | | |
| Bassa AVR | Denne Al | /P Theater | | E 😂 Lighting | | | | |
| Internet Radio | televent C | ante Theater | | E Co Deco | ra Lighting | | | |
| Maria Server | Martin Se | auto Theater | | | 10v Dimmer | | | |
| Pandora Danon | Randora J | Denon Theater | | - Ac | Saptive Phase Dimmer | | | |
| Sin a YM | Comp C PRODUCT | Annual Interaction | | - <u>- </u> <u>-</u> | onfigurable Keypad | | | |
| Bluetosth | Audio Volum | e: Theater->AVR-X330 | W | | onfigurable Keypad (W | ired) | | |
| - Stations | Audio Endor | Audio Endpoint: Theater->AVR-X3300W | | - Re | rward Phase Dimmer | | | |
| - System Remote Control SR260 | | | | -1. Ke | sypad Dimmer | | | |
| T3 10" Tableton Touch Screen | | | | - 1 Si | vitch | | | |
| Tableton Intercom | Available Video | Sources | | A | xiliary Keypad | | | |
| E-Side Door T3 10" | | | | - Outlet | Lighting | | | |
| Side Door Intercom | Device | Location | Audio Path | - U | mmable Light (Outlet) | | | |
| Event Door T3 10" | ET FAS | Theater | Line . | | on-Dimmable Light (Out | tlet) | | |
| First Door Intercom | AVR.Y33 | 00W Theater | yes | - <u>e</u> w | ireless Outlet Dimmer \ | /2 | | |
| Control4 DS2 Door Station | Pod USE | Theater | ves. | L L L W W | reless Outlet Switch V | 2 | | |
| - Door Station | Depon AV | /R Theater | ves | EH Centra | alized Lighting | | | |
| Control4 DS2 Intercom | Y Internet B | adio Theater | yee | | mmable Light (Centralia | zed) | | |
| | Media Se | iver Theater | ves | - Ne | on-Dimmable Light (Cer | ntralized) | | |
| 🧕 System Design | Pandora I | Denon Theater | 100 | | 10V Light (Centralized) | - | | |
| | | - | , | - | Channel Forward Phas | e Dimmer | | |
| Connections | Video Endor | int Theater->Enson Pro | ector | M | Channel Adaptive Dim | mer | | |
| 💫 Mada | | | | N 84 | Channel Helay | | | |
| media | | | | N 84 | unannei u-10V Module | | | |
| Agentr | Audio Volum | e: Theater->AVR-X330 | JW . | N 84 | For Etnemet Switch | | | |
| and regard | Audio Endpo | int: Theater->AVR-X330 | W | No. | is conemet Gateway | | | |
| Service Programming | | | | - NA BL | is nower supply | | | |
| • | | | | - | Slot Panel | | | |
| | | | | N454 | Slot Panel | | | |
| | | | | HEU | ntigurable Keypad (W | red) | | |

- 4. In the Connections view, **identify** the controller you just added.
- 4. Start the Driver Wizard. From the Driver menu, select Create New Driver.

| Driver | Go | Tools | Help | |
|--------|----------|-----------|--------|--------|
| C | reate l | New Driv | ver | |
| C | opy E | cisting D | river | |
| Ec | lit Exis | sting Dri | ver | |
| A | dd or | Update | Driver | |
| M | lanage | e Drivers | ; | Ctrl+M |

5. Select the device driver you want to create, and click **ok**.

| Control | Driver Wizard | X |
|---------------------------|--|---|
| What type of driver would | you like to create? | |
| | Select Device Type Receiver Receiver-Tuner Receiver-Tuner-DVD Satellite Receiver Television Television-DVD Television-VCR Television-VCR-DVD Tuner VCR v | |

6. Enter the information for the driver you are creating, such as device's Manufacturer, Model number, and name of Driver Creator, and then click **next**.

The Created, Modified, and Copyright information is automatically generated.

- Manufacturer: Samsung.
- **Model**: TX-P1430.
- Device Creator: ACME Integrators.
- 7. Under **How is this device controlled?** select the **IR** radio button to indicate that this television is controlled with an IR device, check **Direct Connect** if applicable (if IR codes are running through a direct cable, such as S-link), and then click **next**.

Select the Volume and other properties

- 8. Under Volume Properties, select the volume properties for this device, and click next.
 - Select Audio.
 - Select Mute.
 - Leave the other options as they are.
- 9. Select the properties that apply to this device, and then click next.

Options for this screen include:

• Select **Discrete Input Selection**—This television has this capability and indicates that a television has the ability to select inputs directly. On the television's remote you can select Video 1, Video 2, or Video 3 using three

different buttons rather than one toggle button that toggles to each selection.

Do not select Discrete Channel Selection—This television does not have this capability and indicates that the television has the ability to select channels directly. On the remote you can select a "discrete" channel by clicking 05 rather than toggling through channels by clicking the Channel Up and Channel Down buttons.

Indicate how power is handled for IR

- 10. Determine how power is handled for the device:
 - For the Samsung TX-P1430 television driver, select **Assume device is always on**.
 - For a description of each option, see "<u>Guidelines for defining power</u> management" to help with a selection.
- 11. Click next.

Identify the commands that the device supports

- 12. De-select the default commands not relevant to the device, add any custom commands (additional buttons) required, and then click **next**.
 - Deselect Cancel.
 - Deselect Info.
 - Deselect **TV/Video**.

Capture the device codes for IR

13. Capture the device codes using the manufacturer's remote and the controller's IR Learning capability. Follow the guidelines listed in "<u>Guidelines for capturing IR codes</u>" and the on-screen instructions.

Use the Samsung TX-P1430 television remote control to capture the codes by pointing the remote directly at the IR window on the controller.

| Control | Driver Wizard - Samsung TX-P1430 (help) |
|---|---|
| Device Info 🥑 | What is the IR code for -? |
| Codes | Capture Instructions: Step 1: Press and hold the '-' button for 2 seconds IR Device: EA-5 |
| Enable IR Passthrough Emits IR codes to devices while capturing Input/Output ^(*) Macros Finish (*) | a back next > |

When a code has been captured, Composer Pro puts a check next to the captured code in the Codes list, and selects the next code to be captured. When you capture all the codes, Driver Wizard automatically moves you to the next section: 'Input/Output.'

(Optional) After you capture a code, if you want to view the code, click **back**. You can also edit and emit the code from this screen.

| | | | ● back next ► |
|---|--|--|--|
| Control | Driver Wiza | ard - Samsung TX-P14 | 30 help X |
| Device Info 🚯 | What is the IR | code for Channel Dow | n? |
| Codes | Capture Instructio Step 1: Press an | ns: d hold the 'Channel Down' | button for 2 seconds |
| Left Menu Y | IR Code | Repeat Count: 1 | |
| Enable IR Passthrough Emits IR codes to devices while capturing | 0000 006d 0000 0 0015 0019 0015 0 0014 0042 0014 0 0015 0019 0015 0 | 022 00af 00b3 0015 0041 (017 0014 0017 0015 0017 042 0014 001a 0014 0017 017 0014 0017 0015 0017 | 0015 0041 0015 0041 0014 001a 0014 0042 0015 0017 0014 0017 0014 001a 0014 0042 |
| Input/Output 💰 | 0014 0017 0015 0 0014 0044 0015 0 | 017 0014 001a 0014 0042 017 0014 0042 0014 0042 | 0014 0042 0014 0042 0014 0041 0013 06cc |
| Macros | | | |
| Finish 🔟 | | | ▲ back next ▶ |

14. When you are finished, click next.

Note: Sometimes a device can have alternative patterns. In this case, multiple codes show up on the screen.

15. Read the television manufacturer's documentation to find out the necessary inputs/outputs.

Identify the input/output connections

- 16. Click Add to identify the Input/Output connections on the television, and then click ok.
- 17. For the Samsung TX-P1430 television driver, add the following inputs:
 - Line Input—Select Input and Line Level type.
 - **RF** Antenna—Select Input and RF/Antenna type.
 - Monitor Out—Select Output and Line Level type.



The inputs appear in the Input/Output Connections window.

18. When the Input/Output Connections list is completed, click next.

| Control | Driver Wizard - Samsung TX-P1430 (help) |
|----------------------|--|
| Device Info 👔 | What input and output connections does this device have? |
| Codes | Input/Output Connections |
| Macros 💽 Finish 🔯 | © IN: RF Antenna |
| | |
| | add edit delete |
| | d back next > |

19. Define the connection types for Inputs/Outputs, and then click next.

For the Samsung TX-P1430 television driver, define the Line Input:

- Under Audio Connections, select Stereo (RCA).
- Under Video Connections, select Composite and S-Video.



Define the RF antenna and connection type

20. Define the RF/Antenna type on the input RF Antenna, and then click next.

For the Samsung TX-P1430 television driver, select the **UHF/VHF** radio button.

- 21. Define the connection type for output Monitor Out, and then click next.
 - Under Audio Connections, select **Speaker**.
 - Under Video Connections, select Composite and S-Video.

Define the Set Channel macro

22. Define a Set Channel macro to set the number of digits required by the TV to change channel so that the system can imitate the behavior of the TV's remote. Some TVs require two numbers and others require three.

The Samsung uses a 2-digit channel entry. Select **CHANNEL 3** and use the Minimum Length drop-down menu to change to **2**.

- 23. Increase the inter-digit delay (delay button code) if necessary for the TV you are adding.
- 24. Click the blue number sign (#) to move the settings into the center pane.
- 25. Click next.



26. You have completed the setup of this driver. You can view the driver you created in the **Search** tab. Click **next**, and then click **ok** to continue.

27. Next, add the new driver to the project tree and connect the device. See "Add the IR driver to the project tree" and "Connect the devices for IR control" below.

Add the IR driver to the project tree

After you create an IR driver using the Driver Wizard, you must add it to the Composer Pro project tree. This section uses the Samsung TXP1430 as an example.

To add the IR driver to the project tree:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click System Design.
- 3. In the project tree, remove the existing television driver that you previously added to the example project (if it was added).
- 4. From the **Search** tab, use the drop-down menu to select the Device **Type** and **Manufacturer** of the driver you just created.

Example:

- 1. At Device Type, select Television.
- 2. At Manufacturer, select **Samsung**.
- 5. Double-click the new driver to add it to the project tree. Example: Samsung TXP1430.
- 6. Make the connections. See "Connect the devices for IR control."

Connect the devices for IR control

After you create an IR driver using the Driver Wizard, you must add it to the Composer Pro project tree and connect the device. This section uses the Samsung TXP1430 as an example.

To connect the IR device:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Click the **Connections** view to make the appropriate video, audio, and control connections or network connections (if appropriate) for the device.
- 3. For the Samsung TX-P1430 television driver, select **Television**.
- 4. Make all the necessary Control and AV connections.

Example (Television): In Connections under Theater, click **Television**. The right pane displays all of the inputs and outputs on the back of the television. For television, from the top pane:

Under Audio Video Inputs, drag the object from the top pane to the bottom pane:

- 1. Click AV In (Video–COMPOSITE), and drag it to Receiver (Output–Theater).
- 2. Click AV In (Audio–STEREO), and drag it to Receiver (Output –Theater).
- 3. Under Control Inputs, click **IR Sensor** (Control–IR_OUT), and drag it to Home Controller HC-500 (IR Output 1–Theater).
- 5. Click System Design, and double-click the device on the project tree.
- 6. Use the Device Control window to test the control of the device. For the Samsung TX-P1430 television driver, double-click **Television**.

Editing an IR-controlled receiver driver

This section takes you through an example of creating a custom IR-controlled receiver driver for a Control4 system by starting with an existing driver with multiple outputs, and then editing it.

Example: In this example, pick the driver for the **Harman Kardon AVR-230 Receiver**. The Harman Kardon AVR-230 receiver is using IR for device control.

Conditions

- There is a discrete power on/off option.
- Like most receivers, the device uses Discrete Input Selection and Discrete Surround Selection.
- It does not have Volume Discrete Control, but it does have Mute toggle capability.
- The Harman Kardon AVR-230 Receiver has the capability of Discrete Power on/off.

To edit an existing device driver:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Pick an existing driver in the Online Database to edit.
- 1. From the Driver menu, select Manage Drivers.
- 2. In the Local Driver Database screen, click Add to access the online database.
- 3. In the Search dialog box, use the drop-down menus to select the **Device Type** and **Manufacturer**, and then click **Search**.

Example: For the Harman Kardon AVR-230 use the following information:

- Device Type: **Receiver**.
- Manufacturer: Harman Kardon.
- 4. In the Search Results list, select the Model Number.

Example: Select Harman Kardon AVR-230.

- 5. Click OK to add this driver to your local database.
- 6. Click Exit.
- 3. From the Driver menu, select Edit Existing Driver to begin editing the driver in your local database.

Note: If you right-click on the driver in the project tree, you will edit ONLY the driver in the project and not the driver in your local database.

- 4. Select the Device Type (for example, Receiver) to view list of manufacturers.
- 5. Select the Manufacturer (for example, Harmon Kardon) to view list of model numbers.
- 6. Select the **Model Number** (for example, *AVR-230*).

7. Click **OK** to open the existing driver (with all of its current settings) in the Driver Wizard.



Edit the device information

- 8. Edit the Device Info form as needed, including Manufacturer, Model number, and Driver Creator. This should reflect how you want this driver to display in your Local Database.
- 9. For the Harman Kardon AVR-230 use the following information:
 - Manufacturer: Harman Kardon.
 - Model: AVR-230 [IR] Edited.
 - Driver Creator: ACME Integrators.
- 10. Click next.

Indicate how the device will be controlled

- 11. Indicate how this device is controlled using IR or Serial. Example: Select IR and Direct Connect.
 - IR—Select this radio button if the device you want to create a driver for is IR (infrared) controlled.
 - **Direct Connect**—Check this box if your IR codes are running through a direct cable, such as S-link.
 - **Serial**—See "<u>Creating a serial-controlled device driver</u>" for information and example implementation.
- 12. Click next.

Edit the volume properties

13. Edit the volume properties for the Harman Kardon AVR-230:

- Check Audio.
- Check **Mute**, but do NOT check Discrete Control. The Harmon Kardon AVR-230 has mute toggle only.
- 14. Leave the other options unchecked. The Harman Kardon AVR-230 does not have these features.
- 15. Click next.

Edit the existing properties for the driver

- 16. Edit the existing properties for the driver as needed.
- 17. For the Harman Kardon AVR-230 driver:
- 1. Accept the defaults of Discrete Input Selection and Discrete Surround Sound Selection.
- 2. Click Add to add surround sound modes and in the dialog that appears type the Name, and click ok.
- 3. Do this for each of the surround sound modes, including Dolby Pro Logic, DTS Neo 6, and THX.
- 18. Click next.

Indicate how power is handled for the device

- 19. For the Harman Kardon Receiver driver, select **Use discrete on/off codes**, and click **next**. See "<u>Guidelines</u> for defining power management" for help making a selection on this screen.
- 20. Click next.
- 21. De-select the commands not relevant to the device as needed, For the Harman Kardon Receiver driver, click to de-select.
 - Cancel
 - Info
 - Mute Off
 - Mute On
 - Power Toggle
 - Pulse Surround Mode
 - Recall
 - Toggle Input
 - TV/Video
- 22. See the diagrams that follow.

Add the commands

- 23. From the extended command list, add several commands: DVD and Video 1.
- 24. To add the commands from the extended command list for each individual command, click Add.
- 25. On the dialog that appears, use the drop-down menu to select the commands, and click **ok**. The new command appears in the Default Commands pane.
- 26. Add custom commands for surround modes, including DTS Neo 6, Dolby Pro Logic, and THX. To add custom commands for each individual command, click **Add**.

27. Enter the name of the command, and then click **ok**. The new commands appear in the Custom IR Commands pane.



28. Click next.

Capture the codes

29. Capture (or recapture) the device codes as needed using the manufacturer's remote and the controller's IR Learning capability. Follow the guidelines for capturing IR codes in "Guidelines for capturing IR codes."

When a code has been captured, Composer Pro puts a check next to the captured code in the Codes list, and selects the next code to be captured. When you have captured all the codes, it automatically moves you to the next section Input/Output.

- 30. Use the Harman Kardon AVR-230 Receiver remote control to capture the codes by pointing it directly at the IR window on the controller.
- 31. Use the Harman Kardon Receiver remote control to capture the codes.

Add the input and output connections

- 32. Add the input and output connections. For the Harman Kardon Receiver driver:
- 1. Add 2 inputs: DVD and Video 1.
- 2. Add 1 output: Monitor Out.

The inputs and outputs appear as shown:



- 33. Click next.
- 34. Define the connection types for input **DVD**.
- 1. In Audio Connections, check Stereo.
- 2. In Video Connections, check Composite, S-Video, and Component.
- 35. Click next.
- 36. Define how you select DVD. Select Code. Use the drop-down menu, and select DVD.
- 37. Click next.
- 38. Define the connection types for input Video 1.
- 1. In Audio Connections, check Stereo.
- 2. In Video Connections, check Composite, S-Video, and Component.
- 39. Click next.
- 40. Define how you select Video 1. Select Code; use the drop-down menu, and select Video 1.
- 41. Click next.
- 42. Define connection types for input Video 1.
- 1. In Audio Connections, check Stereo.
- 2. In Video Connections, check Composite, S-Video, and Component.
- 43. Click next.
- 44. Define connection types for input Monitor Out.
- 1. In Audio Connections, check Stereo.
- 2. In Video Connections, check Composite, S-Video, and Component.
- 45. Click next.
- 46. Define three macros for Dolby Pro Logic, DTS Neo 6, and THX.
- 1. Use the scrollbar to skip all the macros until you get to "Set output Mon..."
- 2. Select this macro.
- 3. Go to the window in the bottom right corner and find **Dolby Pro Logic**.
- 4. Ensure **Pulse** is selected, and click the **green arrow**. This adds the macro to the center pane. The screen heading should read "Define the macro to: Set Monitor Out surround mode to Dolby Pro Logic?"
- 5. Do the same for DTS Neo 6 and THX.

47. Click finish.

48. See the diagram series that follows.

| | Control (Control | Driver Wizord |
|-------------------------------|--|---|
| Skip all other | Codes Input/Output Macros Set Montor Ou. Set Montor Ou. | Winky frequency Delay: Doi: 100 millisecond() Image: Delay: Delay: Englishing: New: Minimal Minimal Montes: Length Minimal: Length Minimal: Length Minimal: Length |
| you get to Dolby Pro Logic | Elet output Mon Set output Mon Set output Mon Set output Mon Set output Set output Set Set | |
| | l | 4 back ned F |
| | Control | Driver Wizard |
| | Device Info | Define the macro to: Set output Monitor Out surround mode to DTS Neo 6? |
| | Input/Output 🚳 | Verdits tree 6 |
| | Set Monitor Ou A Set Monitor Ou Set Monitor Ou Set autout Mon | Minimum Length T = Heter Digit Delay P50 = (ms) |
| | Finish | Constant Constan |
| | | (back real > |
| | Control | Driver Wizard |
| | Device Info | Define the macro to: Set output Monitor Out surround mode to THK? |
| | Input/Output @ | Verter College Sol American Sol (S) |
| | Macros Set Montor Ou | Mnimum Length 13 Inter-Digt Delay 250 3 (ms) |
| | Set output Mon Set output Mon Set output Mon Settich output | Start O Stop Onuse |
| | Finish 🔯 | |
| | l | E BAR She P |

- 49. You have now completed your driver setup. View the driver you edited in the Search tab.
- 50. Drag the new driver to the project tree.
- 51. Connect the video, audio and control or network connections (as appropriate) for the device.
- 52. Click System Design, and double-click the device in the project tree.
- 53. Use the Device Control window to test the control of the device.
- 54. For the Harman Kardon Receiver driver, double-click Receiver.

Serial-controlled device drivers

Creating a serial-controlled device driver

Create serial drivers using the Driver Wizard in Composer Pro. Instead of capturing the code as you do with IR, you enter the specific serial data that you must send for each command.

To create a serial-controlled driver:

- 1. Follow the same steps used in "<u>Creating IR-controlled drivers</u>" and select a serial-controlled driver rather than an IR-controlled driver.
- 2. Follow the wizard pages to create the driver.

Guidelines for entering serial codes

This section describes the different formats you can enter for the serial data of each command in Control4 serial drivers.

These formats include:

- Basic Method to Enter Bytes-Shows you how to enter a basic code.
- Method to Enter Delays-Shows you how to enter a delay code that you need to control some devices.
- Method to Enter Parameters-Shows you how to enter the needed parameters.
- Method to Enter Checksums-Shows you how to enter the checksums.

| Method | Description | | |
|--------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Basic Method to Enter Bytes | All serial data in the end becomes bytes. There are three basic formats to represent bytes, but in the end the resulting data is just bytes, and any format would suffice for the entry. For ease-of-use, multiple formats are supported. | | |
| | Examples for all methods: Data is equivalent to the ASCII string "DVD" with a carriage return at the end. | | |
| | Decimal Data —With decimal data and between any of the different formats there must be a space to act as a delimiter between different pieces of data. To enter decimal data, enter the value to be stored in the byte in decimal. Valid data is from 0-255. | | |
| | Example: Data ("DVD" with carriage return): | | |
| | 68 86 68 13 | | |
| | Hexadecimal Data —With hexadecimal data and between any of the different formats, there must be a space to act as a delimiter between different pieces of data. To enter hexadecimal data, enter the '\$' symbol immediately followed by the value to be stored in the byte in hexadecimal. Valid data is from \$00-\$FF. | | |
| | Example: Data ("DVD" with carriage return): | | |
| | \$44 \$56 \$44 \$0D | | |
| | ASCII Data —All ASCII data must be inside double quotes. Each byte inside the quotes represents one byte of data. Look at any ASCII table to see the real values each character represents. The same ASCII characters | | |

| Method | Description |
|---------------------------|--|
| | supported in the C programming language are supported. Escape characters are also supported in the same way. Supported characters include \n (new line), \r (return), \t (tab, and \" (double quotes). |
| | Example: Data ("DVD" with carriage return): |
| | "DVD\r" |
| | Mixing formats — All of the above formats can be used together, and the person can use whichever seems most efficient. |
| | Example Data (All examples represent the exact same data): |
| | "DVD" \$0D |
| | 68 "VD" 13 |
| | "DV" \$44 13 |
| | \$44 \$56 68 13 |
| | 68 \$56 68 "\r" |
| Method to Enter Delays | Many times it is necessary to create delays when sending data to a serial device. The '#' character is used to represent that the following number is a delay in milliseconds. A space is required between each element in the data. |
| | Example: This example assumes that the protocol calls for a "PWON\r" command followed by a 1500 millisecond delay followed by a "PLAY\r". |
| | ASCII Example: |

| Method | Description | | |
|-------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | "PWON\r" #1500 "PLAY\r" | | |
| | Decimal Example: | | |
| | 80 87 79 78 13 #1500 80 76 65 89 13 | | |
| Method to Enter Parameters | Many commands have parameters. Examples of these commands are the GO_TO_CHANNEL command for TVs and Satellite receivers or GO_TO_DISC commands for DVD and CD changers. | | |
| | During driver creation, you are allowed to create macros to embed the parameter in the data that is being entered. This creates different problems depending on whether the protocol is a binary or ASCII protocol. When entering ASCII parameters, use a modified version of the format that C uses in its printf function. | | |
| | Example: This example is a GO_TO_CHANNEL command where the protocol specifies that the devices need the ASCII command "Channel XXX\r" where the XXX is the three digit (decimal) channel number that is being requested with zeroes padded (on the left) if the number is less than 100. The parameter name is CHANNEL_NUMBER. | | |
| | ASCII Example: | | |
| | "ChannelHarman Kardon03dCHANNEL_NUMBER | | |
| | Later, at run time when this command is called with the Channel 56, the output appears as follows: "Channel 056\r" | | |

Method

Description

During driver creation, you can also enter parameters in a binary protocol format. Borrowing from the last format with the modification that following the%, first is the byte count (valid counts are 1, 2 and 4), followed by the byte order (E = big endian, e = little endian), followed by the data format (D = decimal, others to follow). This is obviously followed by the actual parameter name as in the example above.

Example: This example assumes the protocol needs a start byte that is the number 2, followed by the GO_TO_CHANNEL command code which is 57, followed by a 2-byte big endian channel number, followed by the end byte which is 0.

2 57%2EDCHANNEL_NUMBER 0

Later on at run time when this command is called with the Channel 357 the output looks like the following using our format.

2 57 1 101 0 (Hint 0x0165 is hexadecimal for 357, and 1 = 1 in decimal and 65 = 101)

If the protocol used little endian for the parameter, the data entry is:

2 57%2eDCHANNEL_NUMBER 0

The output for the previous example is:

2 57 101 1 0

| Method | Description |
|------------------------------|--|
| Method to Enter Checksums | Many protocols require a calculated checksum. A way must be provided for the user to calculate a checksum. There are several formats for checksums, so different types of checksums must be allowed. The '&' signifies that the software needs to enter a checksum followed by a byte count (valid counts are 1, 2, and 4), followed by the byte index in the command where the checksum calculation starts (valid numbers are 0-9), followed by the byte size of the checksum chunks (valid sizes are 1 and 2), followed by byte order (E = big endian e = little endian), followed by the checksum calculation format (STD = standard (chunk size wide) addition inverted, CRC = CRC). |
| | Example: The example uses the same devices as previously mentioned and assumes the big endian GO_ TO_CHANNEL command, where that command needs a checksum (before the 0 end byte) starting at the beginning of the command, and the command is a simple 1-byte checksum. |
| | The data entry displays the following: |
| | 2 57%2EDCHANNEL_NUMBER &101ESTD 0 |
| | And the output for the previous examples is (channel = 357): |
| | 2 57 1 101 94 0 |

Example: Creating a serial driver InFocus LP850 projector

When creating a serial driver using the Driver Wizard in Composer Pro, the driver supports one-way communications.

Example: In this example, you create a driver to support the serial-controlled **InFocus LP850 Projector**.

To create a new serial driver:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Ensure that you have added a controller to your project (this should be the first device added).
- 3. To launch the Driver Wizard, from the Driver menu select Create a New Driver.
- 4. In the Driver Wizard, select the device driver you want to create, and click **ok**.
- 5. Fill out the driver information, such as Manufacturer, Model, and Driver Creator name. The date created, date modified, and the copyright information is generated automatically.

For the InFocus LP850 Projector, use the following information:

- Manufacturer: InFocus
- Model: LP850
- Driver Creator: ACME Integrators
- 6. Indicate how this device is controlled using IR or Serial. Example: Serial.
- 7. Set up the serial settings.
 - **Serial**—Select this radio button if the device you want to create a driver is for serial controlled. The following serial options are specific settings on serial devices.
 - **Baud Rate**—The number of symbols or characters per second sent over a serial link. Options: 110, 300, 1200, 2400, 4800, 9600 default, 19200, 38400, 57600, 115200, 230400, 460900, 921600.
 - Data Bits—Use the drop-down menu to select (5, 6, 7, 8 default).
 - **Flow Control**—The control of the transfer of data to avoid congestion. Options: None - default, Xon/Xoff, Hardware.
 - Stop Bits—Options: 1-default, 1.5, 2.
 - **Parity**—The process for detecting whether bits of data have been altered during transmission of data. A parity bit is appended to an array of bits to make the sum of all the bits always odd or always even for error detection. Options: None default, Even, Odd, Mark, Space.
- 8. For the InFocus LP850 Projector, use the following settings:
 - Baud Rate: **19200**
 - Data Bits: 8
 - Flow Control: None
 - Stop Bits: 1
 - Parity: None

9. Click next.

Define the audio parameters

Example: Projectors do not have audio, so do not check anything.

- 10. Click next.
- 11. Fill out the device properties for the driver you are creating. Properties are features that vary between the different models of the same device type. For example, some Televisions have discrete power control and some only offer toggle power on/off. You must define in the driver you're creating the features supported in the model.
- 12. For the InFocus LP850 Projector driver, check **Discrete Input Selection**.
- 13. Click next.

Indicate how the power is handled

- 14. For the InFocus LP850 Projector driver, select **Use discrete on/off codes**. For more information about power management options, see "Guidelines for defining power management."
- 15. Click next.

Select the appropriate codes

- 16. For the InFocus LP850 Projector driver, de-select the following commands:
 - Cancel
 - Channel Down
 - Channel Up
 - Enter
 - Info
 - Number 0 through 9
- 17. Click Add to enter any custom commands.
- 18. Add the following options:
 - Aspect Ratio: 16:9
 - Aspect Ratio: **4:3**
 - Aspect Ratio: Native
 - Ceiling mount off
 - Ceiling mount **on**
- 19. Enter the serial code for each serial command.
- 20. Click **next** to continue through the codes. For information about how to enter serial codes, see "Creating a serial-controlled device driver."
- 21. Click Add to identify the Input connections on the device.
- 22. For the InFocus LP850 Projector, add the following input connections:
 - Video 1 (Input, Line Level)

- Video 2 (Input, Line Level)
- Video 3 (Input, Line Level)
- Computer 1 (Input, Line Level)
- Computer 2 (Input, Line Level)
- Computer 3 (Input, Line Level)
- 23. Click next.

Define the connection types for the inputs and outputs

- 24. Define the connection types for Inputs/Outputs for all the inputs/outputs. For the InFocus LP850 Projector driver, define all the previous inputs identified previously.
- 25. Click **next** until you have defined all of the inputs and outputs.

Define the macros

- 26. Enter any additional serial codes needed to perform the desired action. For Serial Drivers, based on the selections you made in the Device Info section (where you defined Driver capabilities), both Codes and Macros have to have the serial strings entered.
- 27. Click next.
- 28. Click next again.
- 29. Click OK to return to Composer Pro. The driver you created is located in the Search tab in Composer Pro.
- 30. You have now completed the setup of you driver. Select the Search tab and the driver type you just created.
- 31. To check whether your driver is in the Online Database, select the driver. For the InFocus LP850 Projector driver, select **Projector > InFocus LP850**.
- 32. Drag and drop the new driver to the project tree.
- 33. Make the appropriate video, audio, and control connections or network connections (if appropriate) for the device.
- 34. Click **System Design** and double-click the device in the project tree. Use the Device Control window to test the control of the device.

Example: Double-click **Projector**.

DriverWorks Two-way serial or TCP/IP driver

Creating a 2-way serial or TCP/IP-controlled driver

You can create most serial drivers using the Driver Wizard in Composer Pro. Instead of capturing the code as you do with IR, you enter the specific serial data that you must send for each command.

Use DriverWorks instead of the Control4 Driver SDK to create 2-way drivers for AV and non-AV devices that are controlled using a serial or TCP/IP connection.

DriverWorks exposes each of the driver APIs previously published through the Control4 Driver SDK (now discontinued). It is an SDK framework that allows 2-way drivers to be written for the Control4 system.

DriverWorks drivers can be written and installed without requiring platform- and version-specific compiling. Using DriverWorks does require some programming skills, but this tool leverages the Lua-embeddable scripting language, which is powerful, fast, and light-weight language (when compared to other scripting languages). DriverWorks comes installed with Release 1.6 and later software releases.

For information on using DriverWorks, refer to the SDK DriverWorks documentation ("Getting Started with DriverWorks"), which is downloadable from the documentation area on the Control4 Dealer Web site: Go to http://dealer.control4.com/dealer/support/software-updates.

Related tasks

Two other tasks related to using Control4 device drivers in Composer Pro are:

- <u>Exporting a driver in the project</u>
- "Verifying the IR codes using the Driver Wizard"

Using a new device driver in an existing project

A new device driver can be added to an ongoing project in the Control4 system.

To add a new driver to an existing project:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. Delete (right-click > Delete) the driver from the existing project.
- 3. Add the device to the project again.
- 4. Re-configure any connections (see the Network or Control/AV tabs in the Connections view) and any associated programming.

Exporting a driver in the project

For all audio/video equipment, you can export a Control4 driver to save or add to other projects. This essentially saves a driver for other uses outside of the current project.

Example: Export the driver you have edited on one Control4 system to another Control4 system, and save it with your company name.

To export a connected driver:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. In an existing project and from the project tree, right-click the driver you want to export and select **Export Driver**. This option is available from System Design, Connections, or Programming.
- 3. On the dialog that appears, type your company name in the **Creator Name** box.
- 4. Click the Search tab to find the saved driver.

Maintaining your system

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Update Composer and Director
- Create Panelized Lighting reports

Maintaining your system

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Update Composer and Director
- Create Reports

Updating Composer Pro

You can use Composer Pro to download and update to a new version of software or you can download a software update directly from the Online Portal.

Update Composer Pro using Composer Pro

Use the Control4[®] Composer Pro software to download and update Composer Pro.

IMPORTANT! Before you begin any update, check the Release Notes for any important notes or upgrade documents associated with the update, especially if it's a major update such as Smart Home OS 3. Read those documents first.

To update Composer Pro software from Composer:

1. In the Help menu, click on Check for Updates.

| Help | | |
|------|-----------------------|--------------|
| (| Chat with Support | |
| (| Getting Started Guide | |
| | User Guide | |
| I | Documentation Library | |
| | Knowledgebase | |
| (| Change logging | |
| 1 | Reset Composer Layout | |
| (| Check for Updates | Ctrl+Shift+U |
| | About Composer Pro | |

2. If an update is available, select it in the Available Updates drop-down menu and click Update.

| 🌠 Available Composer Pro Updates | × |
|---|---|
| Current Version: 3.0.0.560589-res | |
| Available Updates: | |
| Available Locations: https://services.control4.com/Updates2x/v2_0/Updates.asmx v + - | |
| Download Progress | _ |
| Check for version of Composer at startup | |

3. Select a different download location in the *Available Locations* drop-down menu if instructed by Control4 Technical Support.

4. Check the box next to **Check for version of Composer at startup** to have Composer Pro check for an update every time the software starts.

Update Composer Pro from the website

You can download an update to Composer Pro from the Online Portal.

IMPORTANT! Before you begin any update, check the Release Notes for any important notes or upgrade documents associated with the update, especially if it's a major update such as Smart Home OS 3. Read those documents first.

To update Composer Pro from the Online Portal:

- 1. Log into the portal at dealer.control4.com.
- 2. In *Support > Software Downloads*, find the needed version of Composer Pro and click on the correct OS version number, for example **OS 3**.
- 3. Click on Download Composer Pro.
- 4. After the file has finished downloading, open the downloaded file to start the install process. Follow the onscreen instructions to finish installing Composer Pro.
Updating the Control4 System

Use the Control4[®] Composer Pro software to update Composer Pro and Director.

IMPORTANT! Before you begin any update, check the Control4 website for any Release Notes or upgrade documents associated with the update, especially if it's a major update such as up to Release 1.8.2, OS 2.0, or OS 3.0. Read those documents first.

Depending on the type of upgrade you need to perform, the following tools and website may need to be used.

- Control4 website
- Update Manager
- Network Status
- System Manager

Control4 website

Composer Pro updates (software releases) are available on the Dealer Portal at http://dealer.control4.com/dealer/products/software-updates/. You will need a Dealer login and password to access this site.

Prerequisites

Ensure that Release 1.8.2 and Composer Pro 2.0 are installed before you begin a subsequent update. See Composer Pro Getting Started for details. If you have an earlier release, see the update instructions for that release. You must update first to Release 1.7.4 and then 1.8.2 before updating to OS 2.0 and later.

Activate your licenses. See "Purchasing and Setting Up Dealer Licenses" in Composer Pro Getting Started or *Managing Dealer Accounts on MyControl4* on the Control4 Knowledgebase for details.

To access the software updates:

- 1. Log in and go to: http://dealer.control4.com/dealer/products/software-updates/.
- 2. Under Software Updates select the software version to download and install. The following software releases are available on the Control4 website:

| Composer 1.7.4 | Composer 1.8.2 | Composer 2.0.6 | Composer 2.2.4* |
|----------------|----------------|----------------|-----------------|
| Composer 2.5.3 | Composer 2.6.0 | Composer 2.7.0 | Composer 2.8.1 |
| Composer 2.9.1 | Composer 2.10 | | |

Other software utilities are available for download also at the Dealer software download site.

IMPORTANT! For new installations, it is always a best practice to use the latest version of the released software.

Update Manager

Update Manager in Composer Pro updates Director and all the IP-connected devices that are available in your project (identified and online), allowing you to update all the devices in the project configuration also. You can use Update Manager to update from previous releases.

To support multiple releases, the release (for example, 1.7.x) installs in a Composer Pro directory (for example, Composer17x), which differs from previous releases that were installed in the Composer Pro directory. You do not need to uninstall previous releases to install a new release, but you must install Composer 2.0 or later before you begin the update to the latest release.

To access Update Manager:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Tools menu, click Update Manager.

Zigbee Health

Zigbee Health provides a dashboard to give insight into the Zigbee health, summary, and project improvements and a detailed list of Zigbee devices in the project with troubleshooting information.

Zigbee Health Dashboard

| Zigbee Health | | | | |
|--|---|---|---|-----|
| DASHBOARD DEVICES | | | | |
| Health | Summary | | | |
| Poor Health 14 of 20 identified devices are online. 100% of online devices have a healthy signal. | Total: 29 Identified: 20 14 Healthy | 0 Warning | 6 Critical | |
| Project Improvements ① | | | | |
| This project has 9 Zigbee devices that are not currently identified. Learn how to configure and identify Zigbee devices on your network. | This project has 6 devi battery status, perfo | ces showing as offline. Be rm a power cycle, or exan | e sure to check their nine connectivity. | |
| | | | BUILD: 829427028, RUN: | 474 |

The Zigbee Health Dashboard has three main sections: Health, Summary, and Project Improvements.

- The **Health** grade is based on devices that are online and devices that have a strong and consistent signal.
- The **Summary** gives more details on how the grade is calculated by breaking down total devices in the project, how many are identified, and how many are in a *Healthy, Warning*, or *Critical* status. Devices that are offline or have extremely poor signal show as Critical. Devices that have communication errors, but are online, show as Warning. Devices that are online and with good connectivity strength show as Healthy.

• **Project Improvements** gives suggestions to improve the Zigbee health of the project. The number of devices that are not identified and that are offline are listed.

| DASHBOARD DEVICES Total: 29 / Identified: 20 Search Name, Type, Room, or Address INCLUDE V IO NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: NOLUDE VIO: < | 30ARD DEVICES Ces Total: 29 / Identified: 20 rch Name Type Room or Address Show Data Columna | ASHBO. |
|---|--|--------|
| Devices Total: 29 / Identified: 20 Search Name, Type, Room, or Address Show Data Columns INCLUDE C IVENTIAL Control of STATUS CONTROL THEMES ROOM C NODE HEALTH IVE IVE RAME C IVENTIAL CONTROL OF ALLURES IVENTIAL CONTROL OF ALLURES C IVENTIAL CONTROL OF | Ces Total: 29 / Identified: 20 | |
| Search Name, Type, Room, or Address Show Data Columns INCLUDE Color STATUS Columns NOCE HEALTH Color FROM FAILURES COLOR INCLUDE Color Online Control Thermostat Family Room Healthy Online Control Thermostat Image: Control Thermostat Family Room Image: Control Thermostat | rch Name, Type, Room, or Address | Device |
| INCLUDE * () STATUS * DEVICE NAME * ROOM * NODE HEALTH * () FROM FAILURES * () TO FAILURES * () SIGNA * * Image: Control 4 Thermostat Family Room Healthy 0 /hour Image: Online Online Online Online Online Image: Online | | Search |
| Image: Control 4 Thermostat Family Room Image: Control 4 Thermostat Family Room Image: Control 4 Thermostat Image: Cont | CLUDE V () STATUS V DEVICE NAME V ROOM V NODE HEALTH V () FROM FAILURES V () TO FAILURES V () SIGNAL V (| INCL |
| Image: Continue Backyard Outdoor Lights Image: Healthy Image: Online Continue Backyard Outdoor Lights Image: Healthy Image: Online Continue Backyard Image: Online Backyard Image: Online Backyard Image: | | / |
| Image: Contract Contre | Online Backyard Outdoor Lights Heatthy Onloar Onloar | , |
| ✓ ✓ ● Online Kitchen Hall Light Kitchen ● Healthy ● 0/hour ● 0/hour ▼ | Online Front Door Light Outdoor Lights Healthy Onloar Onloar | , |
| | Online Kitchen Hall Light Kitchen Healthy Onlour Onlour | |
| | | |

Zigbee Health Devices

The Zigbee Health Devices tab gives details on the Zigbee devices in the project.

Tip: You can sort by each column by clicking on the column name.

• **Search**—The Search bar lets you enter the device name, room in the project, device type, or MAC address of a Zigbee device and filter the Devices list.



• **Show Data Columns**—Click on the Show Data Columns dropdown menu to choose which data columns to display in the device list: Device Type, Node

Health, Address, From Failures, To Failures, Signal, and RSSI.



- **Include**—De-select a device in the Include column to not include that device in the Zigbee Health Dashboard grade. For example, if you have an outlet switch that you use for Christmas tree lights that gets put away most of the year, deselect the outlet switch so it doesn't lower your Zigbee Health grade.
- **Status**—Shows a green dot for online status, red dot for offline status, or gray dot for offline status if the device is not identified.
- **Device Name**—The device name given to the driver in System Design.
- **Room**—In System Design, the room the device is located in.
- **Node Health**—A combination of factors is used to give each device a node health grade.
- **Address**—The MAC address of the Zigbee device if it has been identified into the system.
- From Failures—Average message failures, per hour, from device to mesh controller since the last time Zserver was started or counts were cleared with a data reset. Normal ranges are 50 or fewer per hour. Signal interference or distance can negatively impact this value. From the menu, click on Reset Counts:<name of mesh controller> to reset the data.
- **To Failures**—Average message failures, per hour, from *mesh controller to device* since the last time Zserver was started or counts were cleared with a Data Reset. Normal ranges are 50 or fewer per hour. Signal interference or

distance can negatively impact this value. From the menu, click on **Reset Counts**:<name of mesh controller> to reset the data.

- **Signal**—An icon to rate the signal strength: from green full bars for very good signal to red empty bars for poor signal. Interference or distance can negatively impact signal strength.
- **RSSI**—Received Signal Strength Indicator (RSSI) is a negative numerical value in dBm that measures signal strength. Negative numbers closer to zero are better (-40 dBm is better than -65 dBm). What is considered normal varies from device to device, so only compare RSSI values from like devices (manufacturer and model). Values range from -100 (soft) to 0 (loud). Signal interference or distance can negatively impact this value.

Network Tools

The *Network Tools* menu option shows the *Connections > Network* view which offers network information on IP and Zigbee devices.

To access Network Tools:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the *Tools* menu, click **Network Tools**.
- 3. The Connections > Network view has three tabs. Use these tabs as required by the software:
 - IP Network
 - Zigbee Network
 - Z-Wave Network

System Manager

System Manager provides some of the functionality as in previous releases, but it does not perform the update. Use System Manager to add, refresh, connect, or disconnect devices.

Updating firmware

Sometimes you'll receive new devices that aren't on the same firmware version. For all devices to be able to communicate with each other, they do need to be on the same firmware version. Refer to the current Release Notes to get the latest updates on firmware.

Zigbee devices

Zigbee devices update automatically to the current firmware version when they are installed and identified to the system.

IP devices

To update IP devices, run **Update Manager**. You can check the firmware version either in System Design > Properties pane (for the device), or in Tools > Network Tools > Zigbee tab for Zigbee devices.

Black & Decker locks

Note: Ensure you're running a current version of Composer Pro and Director on the system. Without the current version, the latest firmware will not be available.

To force a firmware update on the lock:

- 1. Remove the batteries from the lock (press a key or two to eliminate any charge in the lock).
- 2. Put the batteries back in.
- 3. Press the top left button four times.
- 4. Press the top right button four times.

The firmware should start updating. If it does not, ensure that your batteries are fresh. If you cannot manually start the firmware update, the lock should automatically check in for an update after the first check-in of the lock, at 3 AM.

Guidelines for updating a Control4 system

Use these guidelines to update a Control4 system.

IMPORTANT! Before you begin any update, check the Dealer Portal for any Release Notes, Read This First, or upgrade documents associated with the update and the release. Read those documents first.

Note: The update behavior and steps for various releases differs. Make sure you review any documentation associated with the release before you begin your updates.

Follow these important guidelines for updating Composer Pro:

- Back Up Your Project. If you have a project in an earlier version of Composer, back it up before you update.
- Verify the Network Connections. Update Manager requires an active network connection to function properly. Ensure that the network connection is up and working prior to performing the upgrade.
- Update Errors. If you notice any errors during the update process in the Update Manager's output pane, take note of the error message, and follow instructions provided at "Troubleshooting the Upgrade Process."

IMPORTANT! You cannot have both connection methods identified on the system. Remove the network connection to ZigBee and identify it again using the Ethernet connection.

- **Power On**. Ensure that the power state of all devices is **On**. You can verify that all devices are online from the Network Tools page.
- **Know When the Update is Completed**. When upgrading the Control4 controller running Director, you are disconnected from Composer Pro and streaming audio stops.
- 1. After this occurs, restart Composer Pro and reconnect to the system.
- 2. Go to Tools > Update Manager and watch the update process.
- Also, go to Tools > Network to ensure that everything is connected. If it is not connected, it cannot update that firmware.

- 4. After Update Manager indicates that it is completed (you may see a message like "Finished site update attempt," all the IP devices on the system are now updated. This does not include Zigbee devices or hybrid devices (containing both IP and Zigbee).
- 5. Go to Tools > Network Tools to view the firmware versions to ensure they are updated to this release.

Tip: **Be patient.** In cases where the Zigbee mesh is moved, it can take up to five minutes for all connections to be re-established.

Guidelines for updating specific devices

- **Primary Controller**. The primary controller holds a new firmware image file, which is transferred and reflashed when an Ethernet network connection is present. After the update, disconnect the IP identification and identify again using Zigbee.
- **Zigbee Devices**. When upgrading a controller associated with Zigbee devices, such as dimmers, switches, and keypads, these are also upgraded. As these devices upgrade, the device's LEDs and the associated lighting loads may flicker. This is normal behavior.

Estimating Control4 system update times

Estimating update times per device type

The update time is dependent on the size of the Control4 system, the available network bandwidth, and the types of devices you are updating.

There are three types of devices: IP devices that communicate solely by TCP/IP, Zigbee, Zigbee Pro devices that communicate via Zigbee or Zigbee Pro, and hybrid devices that use both TCP/IP and Zigbee for communication.

Depending on the device type, some devices, such as the IP devices update in parallel; other Zigbee devices are updated sequentially, one after another. Generally, the IP devices are updated in parallel immediately after the primary controller updates. After that, the Zigbee devices update in sequence starting with the system remote controls. The system remote control is the first Zigbee device to update if it is in Wake mode. During or after the update, if the system remote control was in Sleep mode, it updates immediately after it wakes up.

The following list identifies some typical Control4 devices and update time estimates.

- **IP devices** (updated in parallel immediately after the primary controller):
- Controllers—20 to 40 minutes
- 7" touch screens—15 to 20 minutes
- Speaker Point—10 to 15 minutes
- Zigbee devices (updated sequentially):
 - System Remote Control—3 to 5 minutes (updated as the first Zigbee device if awake)
 - Dimmer/Keypad/Switches—3 to 5 minutes
 - Thermostat—10 minutes
 - Example: a total of

- 20 devices may take 110 minutes or longer
- 30 devices may take 150 minutes or longer
- 60 devices may take 300 minutes or longer

to complete the process. Dimmers and switches do not need to be updated.

You may want to practice on your own Control4 system first before upgrading a customer's home.

Best practices for updating a Control4 system

These sections will help you understand the best practices to follow when performing a Control4 update in Composer Pro. If you follow these sections in order until your system updates successfully, you may avoid some unnecessary pitfalls.

General procedure

To update your system and software:

- 1. Back up the current project and media.
- 2. Check that you have a good network connection.
- 3. Check the currently-installed Composer Pro and Director versions.
- 4. Update Composer Pro software and drivers.
- 5. Update Control4 products using Update Manager.
- 6. If you have problems, see "Troubleshoot the Upgrade Process" or contact Control4 Technical Support.

Tip: The update process is highly dependent on valid network configurations and Internet connection availability and bandwidth. Please confirm that the devices on your network have a valid connection to the Internet. If you are using DHCP, confirm that your DHCP is active and can issue valid IP addresses to clients on the network.

IMPORTANT! Do not use a previous release of Composer Pro to modify a system. Likewise, do not use a current version of Composer Pro to modify a previous release of the Control4 system.

Back up the current project and media

To back up your current project and media:

- 1. Back up your current project file from a previous release by using **File > Backup As**. Give it a filename that clearly identifies it as the backup.
- 2. Continue to the next section.

Check the currently installed Composer version

It is helpful to check the currently-installed Composer Pro version before installing the update to make any necessary project adjustments.

To check currently installed Composer Pro version:

- 1. In Composer Pro, click Help > About Composer.
- 2. From the dialog that appears, write down the Composer Pro and Director versions.

Example: Composer version 2.3.0.190646 and Director version 2.3.0.190646.

To ensure that the Control4 system is working properly, the Composer Pro and Director versions should always be consistent and have the same version number.

Note: You do not need to be on a certain version, however, to update. Update Manager updates the Control4 system from all previous releases. The only reason you need to know this information is to determine when your project was set up. Control4 always recommends that you write down these versions in case this information is needed later.

3. Continue to the next section.

Update Composer software and drivers

The Composer Pro software download consists of Composer Pro software and new or updated device drivers to support Control4 hardware and other third-party products. The following steps outline how to launch the software executable and ensure that you have the latest drivers.

Note: The Inspector utility can be used to verify each package after installation. Inspector reads all of the md5sums in the /var/lib/dpkg/info directory, and runs a new md5sum against them. Any missing files or files where the md5sums have changed are reported in /tmp/Inspection.\$timestamp.

To install a released Composer Pro software version:

The following steps are an example of a software installation. Refer to the Release Notes associated with the software release for specific instructions.

- 1. Download the software package from the Internet at dealer.control4.com.
- 2. Install the current Composer Pro software, for example, Composer Pro 3.0.0.
- 3. Follow the on-screen instructions to complete the installation.
- 4. During the installation process, click the Continue Anyway button for the installation to proceed.
- 5. Continue to the section, "Update Control4 Products Using Update Manager."

(Optional) To ensure the driver database is updated:

- 1. From the Driver menu, select **Manage Drivers**. In the utility, you can see the creation and modification dates for all drivers in the local database residing on your computer.
- 2. Click **Add** to search the online database, and compare the modified dates to determine if a new driver is available.
- 3. If a newer driver is available and you want to download it, **check** the box next to the device model number, and click **OK** to download the newer associated driver.

Tip: When Composer Pro is first installed, the My Drivers tab is pre-populated with a list of drivers. The My Drivers tab provides shortcuts to commonly-used drivers. You can add, remove, and re-order items to the My Drivers tab as needed. Removing drivers from My Drivers tab only removes the driver from the list. It still exists in the Local

Database. To get back to the default My Drivers tab list and to include newly-added Control4 devices, right-click any **device** and click **Restore Default List**. This action does not affect the Local Database in any way. Also, right-click the **My Drivers** tab, select **Add Driver**, and then select all the Control4 devices not currently in the list.

Note: Devices that use SDDP for Auto Discovery (OS 2.2.4 and later) do not require you to identify the device; just add the device to the room. See the Composer Pro Getting Started guide for details.

Updating with a USB device (USB Stick Creator)

Create an Install on a USB device

These steps show you how to create an install to a USB device attached to your computer's hard drive and use the same USB device to install your customer's system without an Internet connection.

Prerequisites

- Have a USB drive handy, formatted for FAT32 with at least 2GB (OS 2.2.2 or earlier) or 4GB (OS 2.2.2 or later) total available disk space.
- Only installs for OS 1.7.4, 1.8.2, 2.1 or later can be created using this procedure. **Note**: This creation procedure does not work on OS 2.0.*x* releases. If you are creating an install using an older software version, refer to USB Stick Creator White Paper at control4.com on the Knowledgebase to create the install.
- A valid license on the controller to be updated.

To copy an install to a USB device:

- 1. Open a browser and go to dealer.control4.com.
- 2. Log in as the dealer.
- 3. Go to Support > Software Updates > USB Installer.
- 4. Click on the USB Install Creator program.
- 5. Follow the instructions in the USB Stick Creator White Paper (located next to USB Installer) to complete the process.
- 6. Connect the USB drive to your customer's system using Composer Pro, and then follow the instructions in the USB Install White Paper.

Reports

Upgrade Report

Composer Pro 3.0 includes an Upgrade Advisor that creates an Upgrade Report the first time Composer Pro 3.0 is connected to system running a lower version.

Upgrade Advisor

After you connect to a system that needs to be updated to Control4 Smart Home OS 3, the Upgrade Advisor runs automatically.



After the scan, the Upgrade Advisor creates an upgrade report listing any compatibility issues. Click **View Report** to see the results.



Viewing the Upgrade Report

Use the Composer Pro Tools menu to view or review an OS 3 upgrade report for your Control4 system.

To view an Upgrade Report:

1. In Composer Pro *Reports* menu, select the report by clicking on the **project name** in the *Upgrade Reports* list.

| System Panelized Lighting Panelized Parent Panelized Parent Panelized Parent Panelized Parent Panelized Parent Panelized Parent Panelized Paneliz | Reports 3.0.0 | - | |) X |
|--|--|---|---|-----|
| | System Panelized Lighting Panelized Lighting Panel Report Usad Schedule Engraving Keypad Engraving Order Uggrade Reports Panel Reports New Project | Eugradic Report New Project 4/1/2019 10:49:14 AM You are ready to install Control4 OS 3.0. This project has no blocking items. Primary Controlier Compatibility for OS 3.0: Oriver Compatibility for OS 3.0: |] | |
| Hight_ExtraVeg_Philips_Hus_4Fader_V2.c4z Current version: 817 Updated version: 820 philips_hus_bridge.c4z Current version: 817 Ubdated version: 820 | | 4 Driver(s) available for update | | I |
| philips_hue_bridge.c4z Current version: 817 Uddated version: 820 | | light_ExtraVeg_Philips_Hue_4Fader_V2.c4z Current version: 817 Updated version: 820 | | |
| | | philips_hue_bridge.c4z Current version: 817 Uddated version: 820 | | |

2. Download or print the upgrade report by hovering the mouse over the report and clicking on the **Download** or **Print** icons on top of the window.



Tip: Connect remotely to a project before meeting with the customer, run the report, and print it off so the customer can see any incompatible drivers or devices in the project.

System Report

Use the Composer Pro Tools menu to create a system report for your Control4 system.

To create a System Report:

1. In Composer Pro Reports menu, select System Report.

| Reports 3.0.0 | | | - | | \times |
|---|---|---|-----|----------|----------|
| System | System Report | | | | |
| France Courses and Course | Project Details Project Settings Dealer Information System Owner | ☑ Lighting Defaults ☑ Project Notes | | | |
| Upgrade Reports | Allowed Networks | | | | |
| - New Project | ZigBee Configuration | Z-Wave Configuration | | | |
| | System Design | | | | |
| | Include System Design data | Include configured Agents | | | |
| | Connections | | | | |
| | Control / AV | (Optional) Include Unbound Control AV Connections | | | |
| | IP Network | ZigBee Network | | | |
| | Programming | | | | |
| | Select All Deselect All | | | | |
| | | | Dis | play Rep | ort |

2. Select the items to include in the system report, and click Display Report.

| System Report | | - | × |
|---|-------------|---|---|
| 🕅 🖣 1 of 9 🕨 🎽 🔅 🕲 🎰 🔲 🖳 🖳 🔫 Vhole Page 🔹 | Find Next | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| System Report Control | | | |
| Project New Project 49/2019 1:05:45 PM | | | |
| Project Settings | | | |
| Location: Springvite, U1, USA Lattude: 40.16999817 | _ | | |
| Longitude: -111.61000081 | | | |
| | | | |
| Timezone: US/Mountain Display time as 24-hour clock: False | | | |
| Push Settings from Project: True | | | |
| Secure Connections Only Fulse (8 BL): | | | |
| Locale : Becondary Locale: | | | |
| Temperature Scale: FAHRENHEIT | | | |
| System Owner Information | | | |
| Address: (Empty) | _ | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Telephone: (Empty) | | | |
| Email: (Empty) | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 1 of 9 | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

3. View, save, or print out the report. The report shows a summary view of the system and each category selected in the last step.

Tip: Use this report to print out a useful list of device properties, connections, or programming

Centralized Lighting reports

Use the Composer Pro Tools menu to create reports for Centralized Lighting installations (Tools > Reports).

Creating reports in Composer Pro is essential for the electrician to use as a reference before they install and wire the Centralized Lighting devices in the panels. Use the **Tools** > **Reports** option to select and generate the reports.

IMPORTANT! Before you begin to design and plan a Centralized Lighting system, make sure you attend the Centralized Lighting training sessions and videos, and then review the Centralized Lighting documentation in the Products section on the Control4 website.



Report types

- Panel Report. This report lists all Control4 panels in the project. Each panel shows the modules and associated terminal blocks that should be installed in each slot.
- **Module Report**. This report can be generated for one or all panels in the project. This lists each module, where it goes in the panel, the circuit breaker information for the module, and all loads connected to the module.
- Load Schedule Report. This report lists all of the Panelized Lighting lights in the project.

Create a Panel Report

Create and generate this report for Control4 2-Slot or 5-Slot panels.

To create a Panel Report:

1. In the Reports list, select Panel Report.

| 2 Reports | | | <u>120</u> 3 | | \times |
|--|--------------|--|--------------|------------|----------|
| System | Panel Report | | | | |
| System Panelized Lighting Panel Report Load Schedule Engraving Export Engraving Uggrade Reports New Project | Panel Report | here are no properties for the selected report | | | |
| | | | C | isplay Rep | ort |
| | | | | | i |

2. Click Display Report.



3. View, save, or print out the report. The report shows a graphical view of the panels and where the devices should be installed.

Create a Module Report

Create and generate this report for Panelized Lighting modules.

To create a Module Report:

1. In the Reports list, select **Module Report**.

| Reports | | | - | | × |
|---|---|----|---|--------------|----|
| System Panelized Ughting Panelized Report Load Schedule Engraving Keypad Engraving Order Upgrade Reports New Project | Module Report Modules in Report All Modules Selected Panel | Υ. | 1 | Display Repo | rt |
| | | | | | |

- 2. Select to create a report for All Panels or a specific panel.
- 3. Click **Display Report**. This report shows the channels, loads, load name and location, wattage, and power booster.

| | | | | | 0 | | | |
|-------------|-----------|---|---|---|-----------------------|----------------------------------|---|--|
| au | le Re | port | | | Cor | itrol(4 | | |
| Ct: | Draper 3 | system | | | | | - | |
| el: | Undefine | ed | | | | | - | |
| oca | tion: Bu | uilding 2 > First Floo | r > Theater | | | | | |
| lodu | le Type | : C4-DIN-8DIM-E (V | 1 and V2) Terminal | Block: C4 | -DIN-TB-8DIN | Л | | |
| /olta | ge: 120 | V | | | | | | |
| ine | In #1: 2 | 0 Amp | Line In # | 2: Jumpere | d from Line # | 1 | | |
| uxi | liary Ove | erride Switch Loca | tion: | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| :h # | Load # | Load Name | Load Location | Watts | Arc Fault | Power Booster? | | |
| :h # 1 | Load # | Load Name Overhead | Load Location Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | Watts 60 | Arc Fault | Power Booster? N | | |
| 2 | Load # | Load Name Overhead Sconces | Load Location Building 2 > First Floor > Theater Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | Watts 60 60 | Arc Fault | Power Booster? N | | |
| 2 3 | Load # | Load Name Overhead Sconces Wall Lights | Load Location Building 2 > First Floor > Theater Building 2 > First Floor > Theater Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | Watts 60 60 60 60 | Arc Fault N N N N | Power Booster? N N | - | |
| 2 3 4 | Load # | Load Name Overhead Sconces Wall Lights Screen Backlight | Load Location Building 2 > First Floor > Theater Building 2 > First Floor > Theater Building 2 > First Floor > Theater Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | Watts 60 60 60 60 60 60 | Arc Fault N N N N N N | Power Booster? N N N | - | |

4. View, save, or print out the report.

Create a Load Schedule Report

Create and generate this report for the load schedule.

To create a Load Schedule Report:

- 1. In the Reports list, select Load Schedule.
- 2. Click Display Report.

| Load S | Schedule Report | | | - | | × |
|----------|------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------|----------|---|
| 14 4 1 | of 1 ▶ ▶∥ ← | 🛞 🚯 🖨 🗐 💷 🔍 - 📔 100% | Find Next | | | |
| Load | Schedule Rep | oort | | Cont | trol | |
| Project: | Draper System | | | 5/21/2019 3:4 | 13:55 PM | |
| Load # | Load Name | Location | Connection | Arc Fault | Watts | |
| | Accent Lights | Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | 8-Channel Dimmer > Channel 5 | N | 60 | |
| | Overhead | Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | 8-Channel Dimmer > Channel 1 | N | 60 | |
| | Sconces | Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | 8-Channel Dimmer > Channel 2 | N | 60 | |
| | Screen Backlight | Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | 8-Channel Dimmer > Channel 4 | N | 60 | |
| | Wall Lights | Building 2 > First Floor > Theater | 8-Channel Dimmer > Channel 3 | N | 60 | |
| | | | | | | |
| < | | | | | | |

3. View, save, or print out the report. This report shows the load number, name, and location, the connections and the wattage.

Engraving reports

Use the Composer Pro Tools menu to create reports for Centralized Lighting installations (Tools > Reports).

Report types

- **Keypad Engraving**—This report lists all Control4 keypad engraving in the project. Each keypad shows the keypad name, location, finish, and a graphical preview of the finished engraving.
- Export Engraving Order—This report creates your keypad engraving order. The engraving order can be uploaded on the Dealer Portal.

Creating a Keypad Engraving Report

To create a Keypad Engraving Report:

- 1. In the Reports list, select Keypad Engraving.
- 2. Click Display Report.

| 🝊 Keypad En | graving Report | Faster | 1 Barrison | | | x |
|---------------------------------|---|--------|------------|----------|------|-----|
| ₫ ₫ 1 | of 1 🕨 🕅 🗢 🛞 🚱 🖨 🗐 🛍 🔍 - | 100% - | Find | l Next | | |
| Keypad Project: dh | I Engraving Report art desk | | | Cont | rol(| ¢ 🖍 |
| Keypad: Location: Finish: | Lights House > Main > Living Room White | | | On | |] |
| | | | | Toggle | • | |
| | | | | Off | | |
| Keypad: | Music | | | Pandora | - | |
| Finish: | White | | | ۲ | | |
| | | | | ÞŪ | - | |
| | | | | ~ | - | - |

3. View, save, or print out the report. This report shows each keypad, name, location, finish, and a graphical preview of the finished engraving.

Exporting your Engraving Order

To Export your Keypad Engraving Order:

- 1. In the Reports list, select Export Engraving Order.
- 2. Select the devices you would like to include in the engraving order in the project tree list.
- 3. Click Export Order.

Troubleshooting

Use this chapter to learn how to:

- Follow general guidelines for troubleshooting
- Troubleshoot controllers
- Troubleshoot a Director connection
- Troubleshoot media
- Troubleshoot devices
- Troubleshoot the upgrade process

Guidelines for troubleshooting

This section outlines general troubleshooting guidelines to check first if you are having problems with a Control4[®] system.

The following table lists the main areas typically found to resolve some issues on the Control4 system.

| Guideline | Where to go |
|---------------------------------|---|
| Check room connections | Composer Pro automatically sets room connections when you set up a system. These settings are default settings, and may not necessarily match your physical connection. Ensure that the room connections are set to match your specific system. If you move a device to another room, move it in the project tree also, and then identify it again to make sure it's connected properly. For more information, see: " <u>Connecting rooms</u> " " <u>Testing device</u> <u>controls</u> " |
| Check Control/AV connections | The Control and AV connections identify the physical connections to the system. When these are defined, the system is completely automated and programmable. However, if one of the connections is not correctly identified, it can cause the system not to run properly. Ensure that the control and AV connections match the physical configuration. |
| Check network connections | If a device is not using a control connection to communicate to the Control4 controller, it uses a network connection: a type of connection that uses a network address such as TCP/IP (Ethernet), Zigbee, Zigbee Pro and Wi-Fi. |
| | 1. Ensure that the network connections viewable in the Connections view > Network tab all have a network address associated with the device. If not, identify the device again. |
| | 2. Ensure that the Control4 controller, such EA-3, has a network address. If the address is not appearing, identify the device again. |
| | From the Tools menu, select Network Tools . This lets you see all of the Zigbee and IP network addresses on the |

| Guideline | Where to go |
|---|--|
| | network. It shows whether the device has an address, if it has an active connection to the network (status is online), and the Zigbee signal strength of each device. |
| | For more information, see: |
| | "Using the Network tab" |
| | " <u>Tools menu</u> " |
| | Connecting a Device to the Network |
| | (see " <u>Connecting devices</u> ") |
| | "Cannot identify the device to the network" |
| | "Verifying the network connections" |
| Ensure Navigators are connected to Director | From any of the Navigators, press Info > Director (for releases prior to 2.0) or More > Settings > Network (OS 2.0 or later) to ensure that you are connected to the Control4 controller's network address. You can find out the Control4 controller's network address from the Connections view > Network tab. |
| | For more information, see "Customizing Navigators." |
| Ensure music is added and scanned | In Composer Pro, ensure that your music is available (added to the controller) and is scanned into the system. |
| | 1. Make sure the stored or broadcast media is added or scanned. |
| | 2. Check the Room Properties page to see if the media was added. |
| | 3. Ensure that Navigators were refreshed after scanning media. |
| | 4. If the controller reboots, re-scan the media. |
| | For more information, see: |

Guideline

Where to go

"Adding items to the project tree"

"Setting up media stored on a controller"

"Setting up media stored on a disc changer"

"Setting up media for television stations"

"Setting up media for radio stations"

"Using external storage devices"

"Configure an audio or AV switch"

"Creating a playlist"

"Editing media information"

Refresh Navigators Whenever you update the system, scan music, or update devices or device information, from the File menu, select **Refresh Navigators**.

Troubleshooting controllers

The following table lists troubleshooting problems on Control4 system controllers.

| Symptom | Possible problems and solutions | |
|---|---|--|
| The controller has N/A for IP address | 1. The controller has no network connection. Plug in your Ethernet cable. After a few moments, the addresses should appear. | |
| | 2. The power cable is not plugged in. Plug in your power cable. | |
| | 3. No DHCP on the network. Ensure that DHCP is operational. | |
| The controller has a blank front display | 1. Either your cables are unplugged, or they are not connected. If both are connected, unplug them and connect the Ethernet cable before connecting the power cord. | |
| | 2. The controller is not connected to a cable/modem/switch/ using DHCP. | |
| | 3. Ensure that the Reset button is not jammed behind the plastic cover (older controllers only). | |
| The controller doesn't come back up after a power outage | To receive a notification of the controller going down and coming back up, set up an Email Notification agent to alert you when the project is loaded and the controller comes back up. When you create the alert, place the alert on the project (Device Events top level). See " <u>Using the</u> <u>Email Notification agent</u> ." | |

Rebooting the Control4 system

At one time or another you may have configured the Control4 system incorrectly, or the connection to the network is not behaving the way it should. In this case, you can reboot or reset the system. You don't have to do anything in Composer Pro other than check that the device you reboot is on the network.

To reboot a controller.

- 1. Disconnect the power cord from the controller.
- 2. Plug the power cord back into the controller.
- 3. Verify that the controller comes back on the network in Composer Pro. See "<u>Connecting devices to the</u> <u>network</u>" or your controller's installation guide for details.

Resetting the Control4 system

Refer to your controller's installation guide for reset and factory restore instructions.

Troubleshooting a Director connection

The following table lists troubleshooting problems connecting to a Director.

| Symptom | Possible problems and solutions | |
|--|---|--|
| Cannot see the Network Address of Director in the Director's dialog | 1. In Tools > System Manager, click Refresh several times to see if the network address appears. | |
| | 2. If not, select Add and enter the name and network address. | |
| | 3. Make sure Director is enabled on the controlling device. | |
| | a. At a command line, enter telnet [controller IP address]. | |
| | b. Enter the root username and password. | |
| | c. Enter sysman status. | |
| | d. If Director is not enabled, enter sysman enable director. | |
| | e. Enter sysman status and verify the Director is now enabled. | |
| | f. Enter exit. | |

Troubleshooting media

The following table lists troubleshooting problems with Control4 system media.

| Symptom | Possible problems and solutions | |
|---|---|--|
| DVDs not showing up in the disc changer | Ensure that you have a serial disc changer. Only bi- directionally-controlled serial disc changers can scan media. | |
| | If you have a serial disc changer, see the following: | |
| | 1. Ensure that music is added and scanned | |
| | 2. Check these sections: | |
| | "Setting up media stored on a disc changer" | |
| | " <u>Connecting rooms</u> " | |
| | "Testing control and AV connections" | |
| | "Connecting a device to the network" | |
| Cannot play music or music channels | If music is not running, see the following: | |
| not appearing in the Navigators | 1. Ensure that the Navigator is connected to Director. See Composer Pro Getting Started. | |
| | 2. Ensure that a room is appearing on the Navigator. If not, click the room and change the room to one that can play music. | |
| | 3. Ensure that music is added and scanned. See: | |
| | " <u>Connecting rooms</u> " | |
| | "Testing control and AV connections" | |
| | "Connecting a device to the network" | |
| | 4. Refresh the Navigators. See the Composer Pro Getting Started. | |

Troubleshooting device control

The following table lists some control problems on Control4 system devices.

| Symptom | Possible problems and solutions |
|---|--|
| The Device is not Controllable from a Navigator | If the device, such as a dimmer, is not controllable from the Device Control window (double-click the device from the project tree); no connection exists. |
| | Refer to the following sections: |
| | " <u>Connecting rooms</u> " |
| | "Testing control and AV connections" |

"Connecting a device to the network"

Troubleshooting Navigators

The following table lists troubleshooting problems with Control4 Navigators.

| Symptom | Possible problems and solutions |
|--|--|
| Not seeing Room Location on the Navigators | From a Navigator (on screen or touch screen), ensure that the device is connected to Director. See " <u>Connecting</u> <u>rooms</u> ". |
| | Check the connections: |
| | 1. For an on-screen Navigator, see " <u>Testing control and</u> <u>AV connections</u> ". |
| | 2. For touch screens, see " <u>Connecting a device to the</u> <u>network</u> ". |

Troubleshooting driver creation

The following table lists troubleshooting problems when creating Control4 drivers.

| Symptom | Possible problems and solutions | |
|-------------------------------|--|--|
| IR Learning is not working | 1. A controller must exist in the project to run IR Learning. Add a controller. | |
| | 2. The process of capturing IR codes is very sensitive to lights, such as sunlight, fluorescent lights. If it is not working properly, turn off the lights or cover the physical hardware so that the light cannot interrupt the code capture. | |
| | For a complete list of IR capturing guidelines, see " <u>Guidelines for capturing IR codes</u> ." | |

Troubleshooting dimmers, switches, and keypads

The following table lists troubleshooting problems with Control4 system dimmers, switches, and keypads.

| Symptom | Possible problems and solutions |
|---|--|
| Dimmers, switches, or keypads are not behaving correctly | 1. Reboot . Try rebooting the device by tapping the top button 15 times. On the 6-Button Keypad, this is the top left button. This action reboots the device, but does not clear programming associated with the device. |
| | 2. Reset. |
| | a. Tap the top button 5 times. |
| | b. Tap the bottom button 5 times.c. Tap the top button again 5 times. If you are using the 6-Button Keypad, this is the top left and bottom left button. This clears all your network connections. |
| | d. Go back into the Connections view > Network tab, and identify the device again after resetting. |

Cannot identify the device to the network

This section provides troubleshooting instructions to identify a Control4 system device on the network.

If you cannot identify a device on the network, follow these steps until the problem is resolved:

- 1. Make sure the Control4 controller is identified in Composer Pro. In the Connections > Network tab, see the line item for the Control4 controller. Is there a network address for the controller?
- 2. (Controller only) In System Design, select the controller object to check the Zserver status. Is the Zserver running? If not, click **Enable**.
- 3. If the controller is identified and Zserver is running, check whether any other devices identify. Do they?
 - If **yes**, a problem exists with the individual device. On switches, dimmers, and keypads, if you tap the top of the button **9** times, the bottom **9** times, and the top **9** times again (pause for a breath in between each 9 count), this will reset the device. Doing the same thing with 7, 4, and 7 will make the device's LED flash the channel it's on (if it's on Channel 14, it will flash 14 times). If the channel doesn't match the one for your system remote control and controller, the channel will need to be changed. Call Control4 Technical Support.

Note: For Release 1.8 and later, Zigbee Pro devices select one channel. Control4 recommends that you not change the channel; Zserver determines which channel to use automatically based on the available frequency space. Refer to the Composer Pro Software Release Update Instructions - 1.7.4 to 1.8.2 on the Control4 Knowledgebase or on the Dealer Portal for details.

- If **no**, some other devices in the house may be causing interference. Power down any 2.4 GHz devices, such as microwaves and cordless phones. Continue to the next step.
- 4. Will the devices identify now?
 - If **yes**, something in the house is causing interference. Replace it, or reset the channel on all of your devices. You cannot reset the channel on wireless dimmers, switches, etc., at this time. Call Control4 Technical Support.
 - If **no**, a problem exists with the controller's radio transmitter. Call Control4 Technical Support.

Troubleshooting the upgrade process

Follow these guidelines if you are experiencing Control4 upgrade or update problems.

Basic troubleshooting guidelines

- 1. Reset the device's network settings. See "Resetting the Control4 system."
- 2. Attempt to have the update successfully downloaded while connected to a different network or by using a USB drive update (see "Information about older releases").
- 3. Allow the device to retry downloading the update as it automatically restarts and retries it.
- 4. Is the defect install/update related to an ongoing system operation?
- 5. Media not available? If it is a USB drive or network file share, make sure it is mounted (use the System Design view). If the media is on USB drive connected to a secondary controller, re-scan the media for that device.
- 6. Navigator not connected to Director? Reconnect Navigator to Director.
- 7. Are strange things happening to the devices?
 - Make sure all Zigbee devices are updated to the latest firmware.
 - Make sure Director and Composer Pro are using the same version.
 - Disconnect and identify any problematic devices again.
 - Power cycle all IP devices.
 - **Be patient**. In cases where the Zigbee mesh is moved, it can take up to five minutes for all connections to get re-established.
- Turn on Diagnostic Logging (in Composer Pro, Tools > System Diagnostics > Logging > Start). Use the Logging tool to determine what was happening on the system. Can you duplicate it, and is there a workaround? For details, see "Logging diagnostics information."

Tip: Report any problems during the update process to:

Control4 Technical Support: http://dealer.control4.com/support **Email:** support@control4.com**Telephone:** 1-888-400-4072

| Status message | Description | Resolution |
|--|--|--|
| 1. Device IP address detected with a different version — update needed. | The Director discovered a device that is a different version than the Director box. | Perform update. |
| 2. Device IP address indicated it needs to be updated. | The device sent a status message to the Director that says it needs to be updated. | Perform update. |
| 3. Finished update attempt. | Current update is completed. A separate message notifies you of how many devices succeeded or failed. | (Status message only) No action is required. |
| 4. Update information was missing or invalid. Reinstall the files for the USB drive, and attempt the update again. If the problem persists, contact Technical Support. | A Director could not find the matching update information for a device retrieved from the USB drive. This would be the case if files were deleted from the USB drive. | Re-install the files for the USB drive, and attempt the update again. If the problem persists, contact Technical Support. |
| 5. Update information was missing or invalid. Contact Technical Support. | The Director could not find the matching update information for a device retrieved from the Web. The database contains invalid data. | Contact Technical Support. |
| 6. Director device is not yet identified. Please identify the Director device and attempt the update again. | The system has not yet discovered the Director device. | Identify the Director device, and perform the update again. |
| 7. Starting update to | An update has started. | (Status message only) |

| Status message | Description | Resolution |
|---|---|---|
| version <targetversion>. Director version is <version director="" of="">.</version></targetversion> | | No action is required. |
| 8. Detected USB device containing update information. The USB device will be used for the update. | The system has detected a USB drive. | (Status message only) |
| 9. Device <ipaddress>: <status data="" from<br="" received="">the device></status></ipaddress> | The system received data from the device. | (Status message only) No action is required. |
| 10. Updated: <number of<br="">updated devices> Failed: <number failed<br="" of="">devices></number></number> | Follows the message "Finished update attempt" (number 3) to provide specific details. | Reconnect, re-identify, and restart the update. |
| 11. Device <ipaddress> failed to update.</ipaddress> | Provides the specific IP address of any device that failed to update. Follows the message number 10 when applicable. | Try to identify the device again, and try the update again. If not successful, contact Technical Support. |
| 12. Failed email results to <entered address="" email="">". Error was: <error number>. Verify that the VPN is correctly setup and functioning on your Director box and that a valid mail address was entered. Contact Technical Support if this problem persists.</error </entered> | This is called if an error is returned when trying to send the summary via email. | Verify that the VPN is correctly set up and functioning on your Director box, and that a valid mail address was entered. Contact Technical Support if this problem persists. |
| 13. Unable to obtain | System has not received | 1. Ensure that you can |
| Status message | Description | Resolution |
|--|--|--|
| update version information from the Web interface at URL <url for="" getting<br="" used="">the version, i.e., http://webdev-</url> | the version information back from the database. | communicate to the Internet to the Website from your computer. Use a prompt box to ping the address. |
| 1.control4.com/>. Verify that Internet access is available from Director. | | 2. Ensure that you can connect to the Control4 controller through the Local Area Network. |
| | | 3. Ensure that a firewall is not blocking the update. |
| | | 4. If you still cannot update, use a USB drive for the installation. |
| 14. Detected devices that still need to be updated. Restarting the update process. | To allow an update to propagate throughout the system, the system waits 5 minutes after the start of the update before checking the status of connected devices. If outdated devices are still detected, this message is sent, and the system restarts the update process. | (Status message only). No action is required. |
| 15. The information on the USB drive is invalid.Reinstall the update on the USB drive and attempt the update again. | The system cannot parse the update- info.html file on the USB drive. The file is not valid xml. | Re-install the update on the USB drive, and attempt the update again. |
| 16. Not enough free space on file system to store | There is not enough free space on the box | Remove the stored media, log files, etc., |

| Status message | Description | Resolution |
|---|--|---|
| update information. Disk free = <amount free<br="" of="">space> needed = <space needed>.</space </amount> | running Director to store the largest set of packages for a device type. | and attempt the update again. |
| Remove stored media, log files, etc., and attempt the update again. | | |
| 17. Unable to access the directory for update information. Please contact Technical Support. | System cannot access the /packages directory. Either the disk has a serious problem, or the mounts didn't work right. | Ensure that you can communicate to the Internet to the Website from your computer. Use a prompt box to ping the address. |
| | | 2. Ensure that you can connect to the Control4 controller through the Local Area Network. |
| | | 3. Ensure that a firewall is not blocking the update. |
| | | 4. If you still cannot update, use a USB drive for the installation. |
| 18. Out of file space for packages. | Ran out of disk space while downloading the software packages. The update fails, then restarts after 5 minutes, and the "Not enough free space" message (number 16) displays. | Remove the stored media, log files, etc., and attempt the update again. |
| 19. Device <ipaddress> failed because it reported a status of <reported device<br="">status>.</reported></ipaddress> | The device reported that it failed to update. | Try to identify the device again, and restart the update. If it fails again, contact Technical |

| Status message | Description |
|----------------|-------------|
|----------------|-------------|

Resolution

Support.

| 20. Touch screen device at | A Wireless Touch | Please dock the touch |
|------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| <ip address=""> must be</ip> | Screen was not properly | screen, and restart the |
| docked before upgrading. | seated in its dock when | update. |
| Please dock the touch | the update started. | |
| screen and restart the | | |

Diagnosing trouble spots

Use the System Diagnostics tool in Composer Pro to view, monitor, and troubleshoot a Control4 system.

System Diagnostics tool

The Control4 system includes many devices running embedded operating systems communicating over a wired or wireless network. During installation, configuration, and troubleshooting, the ability to look at the overall status of the components becomes very useful.

The System Diagnostics tool lets you gather system information to help you determine if any issues encountered are configuration problems, performance issues, or potential defects.

System Diagnostics uses

Possible uses of the System Diagnostic tool include:

- Viewing controller performance information:
- CPU usage

update.

- CPU usage history
- Memory usage
- Memory usage history
- Processes running
- Viewing controller networking information:
- Network type
- Connection status
- MAC address
- IP address
- Subnet mask
- Gateway
- DHCP status

- DNS server information
- View system information
- Viewing system information:
- Detailed lower-level information about the devices listed
- Viewing logging information:
- When troubleshooting a problem that is reproducible, use the System Diagnostics tool to capture logged information while reproducing the problem to email to Control4 Technical Support.
- When troubleshooting a problem that is not reproducible, connect the controller, enable logging, and allow the logging to continue running for a specified period of time to capture the problem. The logs are then captured and emailed to Control4 Technical Support.

Use the Control4 Composer Pro System Diagnostics tool to view, monitor, and troubleshoot a Control4 system. The diagnostics information is organized into four tabs:

- Controller Performance
- Controller Networking
- System Info
- Logging

To access the System Diagnostics tool:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. On the menu bar, click **Tools** menu, then click **System Diagnostics**. The tool is available over a LAN connection using remote access.
- 3. Use the tool to diagnose problems on your own, or capture and send information to Control4 Technical Support.

System Diagnostics interface

Viewing controller performance information

Use the System Diagnostics tool (Tools menu > System Diagnostics) to view controller performance.

The Controller Performance tab contains information regarding CPU and memory utilization for the Primary Controller of the project. Asynchronous messages from the Director regarding its current state are also displayed.

To view controller performance information, including CPU and memory usage:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Tools menu, select **System Diagnostics**. The Controller Performance tab is viewable by default.
- 3. View information displayed on the Controller Performance tab:
 - **CPU Usage**—Shows a graphical form of current CPU usage and CPU usage history for the primary controller, which is the Control4 controller used to control the system if multiple controllers exist on a system.

- **Memory Usage**—Shows in graphical form the current memory usage and memory history for the primary controller.
- **CPU and Memory Usage by Component**—Shows percentages of CPU and memory use per component.



- 4. Refresh the screen or update the speed. To do this, from the View menu you can:
 - **Refresh Now**—Restart the real-time display of CPU and Memory usage.
 - Update Speed—Change the speed to High, Normal, Low, or Paused.
- 5. View the Directory messages by clicking the History button.

Using the controller networking information

Use the System Diagnostics tool (Tools menu > System Diagnostics) to use controller networking information.

View the information, including:

- Network type
- Connection status
- MAC address
- IP address
- Subnet mask
- Gateway
- DHCP status
- DNS server information

To use controller networking information:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Tools menu, select System Diagnostics, and then click the Controller Networking tab.

3. Ensure that the network information shown is reflective of your network.

| $\widehat{\mathbf{z}}^{i}$ | System Diagnostics | | | | | - | | × |
|----------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-------------|---------|-------------------|-----------------|-----------|---|
| File | e View | | | | | | | |
| C | ontroller Performance | Controller Networking | System Info | Logging | | | | |
| | Active Interface | | | | | | | |
| | Interface: | Ethernet | | | Status: Connected | | | |
| | MAC: | 00:0F:FF:1B: | 4A:C1 | | | | | |
| | IP Address | | | | | | | |
| | IP address: | 92.168.102.5 | | | Using DHCP: No | | | |
| | Subnet mask: | 55.255.255.0 | | | | | | |
| | Gateway: | 32.168.102.1 | | | | | | |
| | DNS Servers | | | | | | | |
| | DNS server 1: | 8.8.8.8 | | | Using DHCP: No | | | |
| | DNS server 2: | | | | | | | |
| | DNS server 3: | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | Test Internet C | onnection | |
| | | | | | | | | |

4. To test your Internet connection, click the **Test Internet Connection** button. The screen displays the current status of networking services, including the CD & DVD Lookup Service, Media Web Service, and Updates Web Service.

This screens shows that the example services failed.

| Test Internet Connection | | × |
|--------------------------|---------|-------|
| Test Complete | | |
| Host | Status | |
| Media Web Service | SUCCESS | |
| Updates Web Service | SUCCESS | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | Close |

5. Click Close to exit the dialog box.

Using system information

Use the System Diagnostics tool (Tools menu > System Diagnostics) to use system information.

View System Info current configuration settings, state of the primary controller and any other Control4 device in the Control4 system's current project. The information displayed is a summary of several commands.

To use system information:

- 1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.
- 2. From the Tools menu, select System Diagnostics, and then click the System Info tab.

3. Select a **device** or **sub-category** (expanding the list as needed) in the left pane to display the system configuration information in the right pane.

| ontroller Performance Controller Netwo | rking System Info Logging | | | | | |
|--|---------------------------|---------|--------|----------------|---------|---|
| Kitchen->Pedestal Triad One | Filesystem // dev | Size | Used | Free 427 IM | Blksize | |
| Theater > EA E | /svs/fs/cgroup | 427.3M | 0.0K | 427.3M | 4096 | |
| Theater > EA-5 | /mnt/secure | 427.3M | 0.0K | 427.3M | 4096 | |
| Ineater->Front Door 13 10 | /mnt/asec | 427.3M | 0.0K | 427.3M | 4096 | |
| diskfree | /mnt/obb | 427.3M | 0.0K | 427.3M | 4096 | |
| hosts | /system | 1007.9M | 594.3M | 413.6M | 4096 | |
| ···· ifconfig | /cache | 1007.9M | 810.0M | 197.9M | 4096 | |
| kemel | /metadata | 3.9M | 32.0K | 3.8M | 4096 | |
| memory | /data | 2.5G | 283.9M | 2.2G | 4096 | |
| mounts | /mnt/internal_sd | 2.7G | 84.0K | 2.7G | 4096 | |
| netstat | | | | | | |
| packages | | | | | | |
| prochetdev | | | | | | |
| proce | | | | | | |
| pioca | | | | | | |
| unanie | | | | | | |
| usb | | | | | | |
| ····· Wireless | | | | | | |
| Iheater->13 10" Tabletop Touch 9 | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| < > | < | | | | | > |

4. To save the displayed information to a file, click **Save to File** and specify the location and name for the file.

Logging diagnostics information

Use the System Diagnostics tool (Tools menu > System Diagnostics) to use the logging feature and log files.

View Logging to configure, start, stop, and schedule diagnostic logging of the Control4 system.

- Capturing Information While Reproducing a Problem–When troubleshooting a problem that is reproducible, use the System Diagnostics tool to capture logged information while reproducing the problem to email to Control4 Technical Support.
- Enabling Logging for Debugging—When troubleshooting a problem that is not reproducible, connect to the controller, enable logging, and allow the logging to continue running for a specified period of time to capture the problem. The logs are then captured and emailed to Control4 Technical Support.
- Zigbee and I/O Communications-These items are available for logging in System Diagnostics.
- DirectorState.corrupt–If for any reason Director is unable to load a project file, it is saved to DirectorState.corrupt prior to loading a clean project file (Tools > System Diagnostics > Logging).

To use system logging:

1. Start Composer Pro and connect to a Director.

2. From the Tools menu, select System Diagnostics, and then click the Logging tab.

| System Diagnostics | - | | × |
|--|-----------|------------|---|
| Controller Performance Controller Networking System Info Logging | | | |
| Logger Time Device Message adau_dsp Log Level debug Start Tail Stop Tail Open Log View Destination | | | |
| Auto Scroll Output < Advanced logging and configuration can be done in System Manager. Clear Output | Save Outp | ut To File | • |

- 3. To enable logging, select the logging categories and click Start Tail
- 4. The results are displayed.

| ontroller Performance C | ontroller Network | king System Info | Logging | | | |
|---|-------------------|------------------|---------|---|--|--|
| Logger adau_dsp v Log Level debug v Start Tail Stop Tail Open Log View Destination | Time | Device | Message | 2 | | |
| | | | | | | |

- 5. (Optional) To save the log, but continue logging the results, click **Clear Output**. The logging feature remains enabled, but a Save As dialog box lets you specify the location and name of the text version of the log.
- 6. (Optional) To save the log and disable the logging process, click **Stop Logging**. The logging feature is disabled, but a Save As dialog box lets you specify the location and name of the text version of the log.
- 7. To view the controller Log, click Open Controller Log.

Glossary

4

4Sight: An Internet service that provides a connection to the home automation system any time and from any place worldwide.

А

AAC: Advanced Audio Coding. A successor to the MP3 format. A standard, lossy compression and encoding scheme for digital audio. Touts better sound quality.

action: An activity that occurs when an event prompts it to do so.

agent: In Control4 programming, agents provide the ability to perform complex programming by using functional modules. There are various types of agents; for example, Announcements, Email Notifications, Scheduler, Lighting Scenes, Wakeup, etc.

Anywhere Access: Lets users access and control their Control4 systems remotely using a mobile device or tablet anywhere in the world.

AV: Audio Video

В

Boolean: The computer logic used to determine if a statement is 'True' or 'False.'

button-link binding: The LED colors used based on the device; the Installer can set these colors independently from the device to which the colors are bound.

С

CD: (Compact Disc) - An optical disc that stores digital data. This format is compatible with Control4 products.

client: A software or hardware device that communicates to a server for feedback from the server via an application for the user.

Command: A 'do' statement; actions the Director communicates to a device.

Composer: The Control4 software used to design and define a Control4 home automation system.

Composer Pro: Composer is used to set up and configure Control4 devices to communicate with each other in a home automation system.

conditional: An 'if' statement that asks a true/false questions which are acted upon in Composer programming.

configuration worksheet: Used in Composer software training to design and configure a project in Composer.

connection: Binding or linking devices together in Composer so they can communicate with each other.

contact: Contacts are generally used to monitor the status of something (door, window, water sensor, etc.) and can be hooked up through a security panel or directly using a Control4 controller or Contact/Relay Extender. Contacts connected to a Control4 controller or contact/relay extender can be configured either as NC (normally closed) or NO (normally open).

Control4 App: A Control4 graphical Navigator that runs on mobile devices or a PC or tablet.

Control4 system: A home automation system designed and developed by Control4.

controller: The main device that makes home automation possible. There may be multiple controllers within a Control4 system. The controller that runs Director is referred to as the primary controller.

cover art: An illustration of the cover of a DVD or CD album that displays in the Graphical or on-screen Navigators when playing music or watching videos.

CSV: comma-separated value. Can be used when adding media to a Control4 system.

D

Detective Suite: A set of tools that perform diagnostics tests on the Control4

device: A component that requires a device driver; code that is used to allow the Control4 system to work with that device.

device driver: Every device in the Control4 system needs a corresponding device driver to control the device.

DHCP: DHCP (Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol) - A protocol used between a network client and a DHCP server (usually a router or access point) that dynamically assigns IP addresses from a pre-defined list to clients on a network.

Director: Each Control4 controller (such as a Home Controller HC-500) ships with pre-installed Director software (Linux based) embedded in the device. The Director communicates with Control4 products and third-party products to enable home automation and interaction of individual devices. Director runs the Control4 devices. Composer Pro is the software used to connect to and program a system Director that resides on a controller.

DriverWorks: The DriverWorks SDK is used to create two-way drivers for audio video (AV) and non-AV devices.

DVD: (Digital Versatile Disc) - A media format for video and data storage.

Е

end point: The end point is the final point (device) on the defined path over which audio and/or video content is routed to a room. An example of this would be a TV or Receiver.

Ethernet: Uses Ethernet category 5 (CAT5 or CAT5e) wiring to transfer data. Ethernet uses a star network topology that allows multiple points to communicate to a single point. The Speaker Point® and Mini Touch Screens use Ethernet to communicate to the Control4 controller.

event: An action; used to trigger Composer programming when programming Control4 devices.

F

forward-phase dimming (also known as leading edge dimming): A type of phase-cut dimming in which the load is dimmed by cutting off the leading edge of each electrical cycle. This type of dimming must be used with magnetic transformers (magnetic low-voltage loads) and works well for many other load types including incandescent and cold cathode. It should not be used with electronic transformers (electronic low-voltage loads) unless the transformer specifications specifically state that Forward Phase dimming is allowed.

file format: A format used by applications to store/read files.

FLAC: Supported by Control4 for software release 1.8, this is a free, open source, lossless audio codec format that supports tagging, cover art and fast seeking. Audio is compressed with no loss in quality.

full duplex: The simultaneous transfer of data in both directions. For example, on a 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen the caller can send out a call and the receiver on the other end of the call can answer via his or her 5" or 7" In-Wall Touch Screen and then respond.

G

gateway: (router)- Provides a means of communicating between two separate networks.

Н

Composer Pro User Guide

home network: A network installed in the customer's home that provides an Ethernet or wireless connection so that Control4 devices can communicate with each other.

home automation system: The Control4 system: a line of home automation products that communicate with each other over Ethernet, Wi-Fi, or Zigbee for a total home automation experience.

L

intercom: A two-way audio and/or video communication among supported Control4 touch screens.

IR: A device controlled using a wireless remote control device. Commands are sent via pulses of infrared light to the device.

Κ

keypad managed: On a keypad, the LED state is controlled by the buttons on the keypad.

keypad unmanaged: On a keypad, the LED state of the buttons is controlled through programming rather than from the keypad buttons.

L

LCD: (Liquid Crystal Display) - A display used with some Control4 interfaces.

LCD Navigator: An LCD device used to control lighting, music, videos, etc., on an LCD screen.

List Navigator: A system remote control device uses a Navigator that lists the options.

Live Connection: A term used in Composer Pro to indicate an actual connection to the network.

loop: A type of conditional in programming; a 'while' statement; for example, "while the sprinklers are on..."

Μ

Media Manager: Media information is stored in the Media Manager database, which will permit users to view the media information from the Navigators.

MP3: A music format that makes streaming audio available.

MP4: An audio and video format. Can also store images and subtitles.

Ν

Navigator: A Control4 Navigator used with the Control4 system to control lights, music, videos, etc. Navigator is software that the customer interacts with using a universal remote control, on-screen Navigator, touch screen, or LCD Screen.

Ο

on-screen device: Allows you to select the controller (Media Controller or Home Theater Controller) in the room that controls the source for the on-screen display.

Ρ

playlist: A list of songs compiled in a list. The list can be compiled by songwriter, album, song type, or any combination.

Power Over Ethernet (POE): Network cabling that provides Ethernet connectivity and device power over a single cable for Control4 devices.

programming: A machine-readable artificial language used to express computations that can be performed by a device.

project tree: A tree view in Composer where the project is layered by the larger branches (Home, Office, etc.) and then the lower branches (floor, rooms, etc.), and finally to the leaf level (drivers).

R

ramp rate: The rate that a dimmer ramps up its voltage.

relay: An electrical switch that opens and closes. A relay is controlled by another electrical circuit.

remote access: The ability to access a device from a remote location.

Remote Director: Connects you to the home network while working in Composer from a remote location.

retrofit: The ability to set up a home automation system in an existing structure or home. Compare this with new building construction.

reverse-phase dimming (also known as trailing edge dimming): A type of phase-cut dimming in which the load is dimmed by cutting off the trailing edge of each electrical cycle. This type of dimming must be used with electronic transformers (electronic low-voltage loads), and works well for many other load types including incandescent; some types of dimmable fluorescent and compact fluorescent; and some LED power supplies. It should never be used with magnetic transformers (magnetic low-voltage loads).

RJ-45 jack: An eight-pin jack used to connect CAT5e network cables to devices through Ethernet signals.

router: See gateway. Functions similar to an AP but with additional functionality for controlling the network; for example, coordinating traffic between different networks.

S

SDDP (Simple Device Discovery Protocol): A protocol developed by Control4 to allow devices to be easily added to a control system. It has the ability to leverage other protocols and work on almost any physical layer. SDDP offers four primary functions:

- Enable devices to use Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) while still being able to identify them uniquely.
- Enable Director to discover devices residing within the Control4 system.
- Enable Director to identify devices residing within the Control4 system.
- Enable automatic installation of drivers for discovered devices.

serial-controlled device: Serial-controlled devices with an RS-232 interface and control protocol often have a higher level of controllability than IR-controlled devices. Examples of serial-controlled devices are projectors, multi-disc DVD changers, etc.

switch: An extension of a router that adds more Ethernet ports to support additional devices or clients on the local network.

system event: An action that causes another action; for example, if a projector turns on, it enables the other devices in the system that work with the projector.

system remote: System remote control

system remote control: A Control4 system remote control is a universal solution that replaces system remote control devices from other manufacturers, and includes programmable buttons. This system remote control can access on-screen (graphical) Navigators.

Т

touch screen: A touch screen is a home automation system Navigator that controls the home's lighting, music, videos, and other devices on the home automation system.

U

Composer Pro User Guide

UI (user interface): The preferred term is *Navigator*. The Control4 interface used with Control4 devices to control home automation, such as touch screens, Control4 apps, or on-screen Navigators.

universal remote: Universal remote control. A third-party remote control that can be programmed to replace other remotes in the home so that only one remote is needed, replacing all others. Control4 system remote control devices are a type of universal remote control.

USB (Universal Serial Bus): A format used with USB sticks that plug in to a USB port on Control4 devices.

V

Virtual Connection: A term used in Composer Pro to indicate a connection outside the network.

Virtual Director: A connection to a virtual controller only (a PC is the Director host rather than the controller). Projects created or edited here are benign until the saved project is loaded onto a controller.

W

WAP: Wireless Access Protocol. The protocol used to enable wireless access of Control4 devices.

Wi-Fi: Uses bi-directional wireless technology to transfer data. Wi-Fi (wireless fidelity) devices "connect" to each other by transmitting and receiving signals on a specific frequency of the radio band using a wireless access point. This technology uses the star network topology. Wi-Fi uses high bandwidth 802.11.

wired network: Uses Ethernet Category 5 (CAT5) wiring to send and receive data between devices connected to a network.

wireless access point: A router extension with an antenna that communicates with Wi-Fi devices and clients in the home. A wireless hub that connects to the wired network, and distributes the wireless signal.

wireless switch: Uses the Zigbee. UL listed dimmer. Single or multi-gang. Has an air gap to cut power.

WLAN: Wireless local area network.

WMA (Windows Media Audio): - Audio data compression technology developed at Microsoft; an audio file format that competes with MP3.

Ζ

Zigbee: A wireless network that uses bi-directional wireless mesh network technology to transfer messages from one device to another. Unlike a star network topology where devices can only send messages to each other by sending them first to a single central device (which then delivers the message to the recipient device), a mesh network topology allows the devices to forward messages from one device to another, thereby extending the effective range of the network. Uses low bandwidth 802.15.4. 250 devices are allowed per controller but Control4 recommends 125.

Zigbee Pro: The 1.1 version of Zigbee that provides improvements in standardization by: allowing more interoperability with other Control4 devices, support for home automation profiles, and improves the scalability of multiple Zigbee access points.

Zserver: A Zigbee server that contains software which runs on a Control4 HC-class controller.

Index

| | 0 |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| 0-10V dimmer 162 | |
| | |
| | 1 |
| 10-digit registration code 121 | |
| | - |
| | 3 |
| 3-way lights | |
| configure 220 | |
| configure 2-Button Keypad for 220 | |
| configure 3-Button Keypad for 221 | |
| | 4 |
| 4-zone amp | |
| configure 238 | |
| Properties 239 | |
| 4Sight | |
| setup 121 | |
| | 7 |
| 7\211,213-214 | |
| | |
| | 8 |
| 8-Channel 0-10V Dimmer | |
| Properties 194, 196 | |
| 8-Channel Dimmer | |
| Properties 191 | |
| 8-Channel Relay | |
| Properties 193 | |
| | A |
| AAC 57 | |

Account Services, Tools menu 78 Action, programming, example 62 Actions pane programming 401 Actual playlist options 59 Adaptive phase dimmer 162 Add Driver option 67 Add locations, to project tree 29 Advanced Device Configuration, thermostat 256 Advanced Lighting agent 366 Agent Access 322 Advanced Lighting 326 Announcements 367 Custom Buttons 373 E-Mail Notification 377 Light Properties 379 Macro 379 Media Scenes 381, 384-385 Rhapsody 245 Scheduler 385 Screen Saver 387 Timer 388 Variables 395 Wakeup 395 Agents options 61 pane 61 program 366 view 27, 59 view, from Go menu 70 AM/FM/XM 58 And command 416 Announcement agent 366 audio end point 275

Audio end point 39

devices 39

Audio Matrix Switch

configure 226, 229, 235

Audio switch

configure 237

audio volume 276

Audio volume 39

Audio/Video inputs 52

Connections view 54

Audio/Video outputs 54

Auxiliary stages, thermostat 259

AV devices

configure 226

AV switch

configure 237

Available Devices pane 56

Available inputs and outputs pane 54

В

Back up Composer 25 Back up system 512 Back up, media information 87 Backup 65, 86 project 84 Backup As 65, 87 Backup to Cloud 65 Basic tasks 83 Bindings Detective Suite 73 Black & Decker lock configure 261 update firmware 510 Boolean variable 426 Break command 411, 414 Broadcast media types 57 Broadcast message, intercom 214 Build project, system design 105 Buildings, Locations tab 50

С

CA-1 configure 143 CA-10 configure 144 Cable TV 58 camera configure 260 CBM Flash Disk and Photo Screen Saver 455 CD 57-58 add 347 edit 362 CD information edit 346 Celsius 254 Certified Only 48, 139 CFL Load Wireless Dimmer 163 Change location 321 Change Logging 81 Chat with Support 81 Clear Media List 59,66 Clear Project 64,84 Cloud Management 65 Command tab 63 Commands programming 407 using Delay, Stop, Break 411

Communication agent External Devices 373 program with 370 Communication options, installation 20 Composer back up 25 exit program 25 older versions 109 same version as Director 102 startup screen 24 views 26 Composer Auto Update 81 Composer HE 56 Composer ME 56 Composer Pro activation 19 basic tasks 131 check version 512 defined 15-16 interface 23 purpose 15 update 503, 505 views, from Gomenu 70 Composer Views Method example 305 Conditional program 409 Conditionals tab 63 Configuration information 82 load 85 Configure 5;Touch screen 5\214 Configure properties system design 106 Connect physical devices 105

Connect to Director 65, 95 Connected items pane 54 Connection audio and video 264 control 264 IP Network 265 network 264 room 264 verify 265, 273 verify network 281 WiFi 280 Connections Identify 55 test 298 update when location changes 296 Connections view 26, 52 from Go menu 70 Connections, Properties pane 82 Contact connection 16 Contact Control4 123 Container variables 426 Control & Audio Video Connections pane 52 Control A/V tab, Connections view 52 Control and AV connections 294 define 267 disconnect 295 example 268 re-assign 295 verify 294 Control inputs 52, 54 Control outputs 54 Control/AV connections disconnect 321 example 320 re-assign 321

Control/AV tab 53, 174, 181, 294 Control4 apps 549 Control4 System 16 Control4 website 505 controller 16 digital audio 57 playlists 58 registration 17 Controller configure 143 troubleshoot 529 controller networking 545 Controller performance view 544 Controller properties 151, 153 Controllers configure multiple 156 Cooling Cutoff Point, thermostat 258 Cooling system configure 252 Copy Existing Driver option 67 CPU Usage 544 Create New Driver option 67 Create script programming 405 Create variables and agents system design 106 Custom Buttons agent 366 Custom variables 426 **Customize Navigators** system design 106

Dealer information 51 Delay command 411 D

Delete playlist 66 Design project connect devices 105 example 305 programming 105 Design system 104 Detective Suite 73 Device cannot identify 537 connect to the network 280 Device Actions pane 62 Device connection status, Tools menu 70 Device control test 298 Device Control window 31 device examples 299 Device driver 16 create 464 create 2-way serial 499 create TCP/IP controlled 499 edit 468 export for projects 500 use new driver in project 500 Device driver creation overview 465 Device driver wizard 464 Device driver, Driver Wizard 69 Device driver, locate 138 Device drivers and system design 105 My Drivers tab 44 organize 68 purpose of 106 Search tab 44 Device Events pane 62

Device properties 82, 132 **Device Properties 40** example 133 device type 48, 139 Device type 48, 139 Device, configure guidelines 135 Devices add 506, 509 change order in Navigator 458 connect 506, 509 disconnect 506, 509 hide 457 install 131, 332, 459-460 refresh 506, 509 troubleshoot 533 view 458 Devices, Properties pane 82 DHCP 18 DHCP status 75 Digital audio 57 Dimmer change LED colors 171 troubleshoot 536 Director 16 connect to 95 Director on local network 98 live connection 17 load configuration 85 on local network 24 remote connection 17 same version as Composer 102 troubleshoot 531 update 505

| Virtual mode connection 97 |
|---|
| Directors dialog 25 |
| DIRECTV 58 |
| disc changer |
| add media 344 |
| add media to 343 |
| auto-scan media 344 |
| media storage 343 |
| search media 345 |
| Disc changer 57-58 |
| Disconnect from Director option 65 |
| Discover tab 43 |
| Dish Network 58 |
| DNS server information 75 |
| Document scope 15 |
| Door Station |
| configure 224 |
| Driver |
| |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database updates 513 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database updates 513 Driver menu 63 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database updates 513 Driver menu 63 Driver wizard 55 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database updates 513 Driver menu 63 Driver wizard 55 Driver Wizard |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database updates 513 Driver menu 63 Driver wizard 55 Driver Wizard IR-controlled drivers 473 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database updates 513 Driver menu 63 Driver wizard 55 Driver Wizard IR-controlled drivers 473 limitations 468 |
| assign inputs and outputs 471 Delete button 68 My Drivers button 68 Sort button 68 Driver creation guidelines 465 Driver Creation Wizard 105 Driver database updates 513 Driver menu 63 Driver wizard 55 Driver Wizard IR-controlled drivers 473 limitations 468 using 461, 468 |

Drivers Exit button 68 Notes 68 troubleshoot 535 DriverWorks SDK 465 DVD 57 add 347 edit 364 DVD changer 57 DVD information edit 346 DVD player 58

Е

E-mail Notification agent 366 EA-1 configure 143 EA-3 configure 143 EA-5 configure 143 Edit Existing Driver 55, 67 Else command 415 Emergency Stage, thermostat 258 Endpoints 38 Engraving keycaps 218 Ethernet cables 79 Ethernet connection 20 Event, programming, example 62 Events pane programming 400 Example add devices to theater room 109 add DVD to theater room 112

add motorized screen to theater room 113 add receiver to theater room 110 add thermostat 114 add TV to theater room 111 system design 108 Exit Composer 84 Export media list 59, 66 Export playlist 59, 66 Expression Builder 417-418 External storage device using 357

F

Fahrenheit 254 Feedback menu 63 File management options 64 File menu 63, 86 filter 30 FLAC 57 Floors, Locations tab 50 FM 58 Forward phase dimmer 162 Full duplex, intercom 214

G

Gateway 21, 75 Go menu 63, 69 Green icon, Network Tools dialog 72

Н

Hard disk space 18 Hardware, install 20 HC-800 configure 143 HDMI Video Matrix Switch 237 Heat Stage, thermostat 258

Heating Cutoff Point, thermostat 257

heating system

configure 252

Help menu 63

Help options 81

High-Resolution Audio 145

Home network requirements 18

HVAC

configure 252

I

Identify device 317 Import DVD list from file 66 Import media list 59,66 Import playlist 59,66 Info pane 51 Install hardware 20 Installation Composer Pro 22 guidelines 20 notes 52 software 21 Intercom 214 Intercom license 214 Intercom, user experience 214 Internet connection 18 Internet radio set up 354 IO Extender configure 157 IP address 18,75 IP addresses, Directors dialog box 87 IP device update 509

IP Network Connections pane 55 IP Network tab 72 IP Network, Network Tools tab 72 IR 16 IR codes guidelines for capturing 473 verify in Driver Wizard 469 IR driver 69 create 468, 473 edit 484 Items pane 28, 42 iTunes 56

Κ

Keycap engraving 218 Keypad troubleshoot 536 Keypad dimmer 162 Knowledgebase 19, 81

L

LED colors changing on dimmer or switch 171 LEDs, controllers 21 License 19 Intercom 214 Lighting configure 159 List View pane 41 tab 83 List View properties 132 Load Project option 64, 86 Load Project, Virtual Director mode 97 local database, device drivers 48, 139 Local driver database 68 Locale 35 Localization 35 Location system design 108 Locations tab 42, 49 system design 108 Locks configure 261 Logging 547 Longitude/Latitude 34 Properties tab 108 Loop 414 Loops tab 63

Μ

MAC address 75 Macro agent 367 Make connections example 309 Manage Drivers dialog 68 Manage Drivers option 67 Manufacturer, device drivers 139 Maximum Run Time, thermostat 259 Media Auto-scan 340 Disc Changer 341 edit 362 radio station 350 scan schedule 338 set up 333 storage 336 television station 352 test connection 361

troubleshoot 532

media database 335

Media database 56, 66

Media Lookup Service 335

media management 335

Media Manager 56

Media menu 63, 65

Media Monkey 56

Media pane 57

media player

configure 242

scan videos 242

set up videos 349

Media Scenes agent 367

Media types 57

Media view 26, 56

Media view, from Go menu 70

Media, select from Navigators 56

Memory usage 544

Menu options 63

Minimum Run Time, thermostat 258

Mobile devices

use with Control4 system 224

Model, device drivers 49, 139

Movies, can't play 38

MP3 57-58

MP4 57-58

MQA 341

Multi-channel amp

configure 240

properties 241

My Drivers list 143-144

My Drivers tab 43, 137

my.control4.com 19

Ν

Navigator configure 198 set up Photo Screen Saver 454 Navigator tab 39 Navigators troubleshoot 534 Network address 21 Network addresses, address types 56 Network connection 17 TCP/IP 55 WiFi 55 Zigbee 55 Network requirements 18 Network storage scan videos 337 Network tab 54, 281 example 319 Network tab, Connections view 52 Network Tools 281, 509 example 319 Network Tools dialog 70-71 Network Tools window 70 Network, devices discovered 56 New playlist 66 New Playlist 59 New Project icon 28 NTP 34 Number variable 426

0

on-screen device 276 Online database 68 device drivers 48, 139 Or command 418 Ordering Keycap engraving 218 Outlet Light object switch 173, 179 Overview of 16

Ρ

Phased dimmer 162 Photo Screen Saver setup 454 Physical connection 17 Physical connections 52 Playlist create 359 Playlist, types 58 **Power Control** switch 173 Power Learning 175 switch 173 power management 470 editing options 470 Power Management change options 471 Power sensing 175 example 176 wireless outlet switch 173 Power sources, and installation 20 Program events and actions system design 106 Programming add a room to play music 424 agents 366 basics 400 button to play music 422 button to turn up volume 423

commands 407 Conditionals 409 Copy and Paste 450 Detective Suite 74 digital audio 422 elements of 405 Find and Replace 448 rooms 422 set default music volume 424 Programming and Communication agent 370 Programming view 27, 61 Programming view, from Go menu 70 Programming, actions and events 61 Project configuration information 64 Project configuration, back up 87 Project information, Properties pane 82 Project properties 33, 81, 132 Project settings 34 project tree filter 30 search 30 sync 30 Project tree 17 add devices 138 add items to 107 Project, back up 86 Project, clear 84 Properties pane 27, 32, 82, 132 Properties tab, Properties pane 82 Properties, Composer 81 proxy 48, 139 Push Settings from Project 34

R

Reboot Control4 system 529

Reboot controller 529 Red icon, Network Tools dialog 72 **Refresh Navigators 65** Refresh option 65 Register Composer 22 Register system 17 create project 105 Related documents 16 Relay connection 16 Relay, single contact configure 247-248 Properties 248 Remote Access 18 add account 101 requirements 100 setup 99 Remote connection to Director 100 Remote Director 24 connect to 100 Remove items from project tree 84 Rename playlist 66 Replace Legacy Control4 Device 166 Replace Light setting 166 Reset Composer Layout 81 Restore default list 109 RJ-45 jack 21 Room connection types 275 Room connections 54, 274 Room control 52, 54 Room properties 82, 132 Room Properties pane 37 Room Summary pane 39 Room tree 73 Room variables 426

Rooms, Locations tab 50 Router 18, 21

S

Same version, Composer and Director 102 Scan media from network 357 new 335 Scan songs 333 Scheduler agent 367 Scheduler agent, example 61 Screen saver 57 Screen Saver change time 457 program 457 set up custom 456 Screen Saver agent 367 Script pane 62 programming 402 search 30 Search tab 138 Search tab, device drivers 45 security system 276 Serial 16 Serial codes for device drivers 490 Serial device driver 490 create 496 Serial driver 69 create 468 Set up media project design 106 Site, Locations tab 50 SNMP Configuration agent 367 Songs 59

Songs, options 58 Speaker Point configure for WiFi 232 Stage Cutoff Delay, Auxiliary 259 Stage Delay, Auxiliary 259 Stage Minimum Off Time, thermostat 258 Start Composer Pro 23 Status information, Properties pane 82 Stop command 411-412 Storage devices, external 58 String variable 426 Switch 21 change LED colors 171 troubleshoot 536 sync 30 System Compatibility Check 102 System configurations examples 276 System design 17 methods 114 System Design Go menu 70 pane 27,57 Properties tab 107 view 26 view, create project 17 system diagnostics 543 System Diagnostics Controller Networking tab 75 Controller Performance History button 75 Controller Performance tab 74 Logging tab 77 System Info tab 76 Test Internet Connection button 76 System information 546

System Manager 24, 509 System Owner information 51 System registration 17 system remote control SR-150 properties 200 System Remote Control SR-150B configure 200 program buttons 201 system remote control SR-250 change Zigbee channel 204 program buttons 204 System Remote Control SR-250 change Watch/Listen sources 198-199 configure 202 paging 205 properties 203 system remote control SR-260 program buttons 207 System Remote Control SR-260 configure 206 paging 208 properties 206 System security 34 System setup 16

Т

Tag media files 66 TCP/IP 16, 18 Technical Support, contact 123 Television driver creating IR 474 Temperature and temperature Control 276 Temperature calibration, thermostat 257 Thermostat heat/cool engage delta 256
lock, unlock 255 remote temperature sensor 255 set backlight 255 set date and time 256 setting advanced properties 256 Thermostat schedule, change 254 Thermostat, set Vacation mode 255 Third-party devices configure 142 Third-party devices, install 20 Timer agent 367 Timezone 34 Tools menu 22, 63, 70 touch screen configure 214 Troubleshooting guidelines 525

U

UHF/VHF 58, 112 Update Composer Pro 503, 505 Update Director 505 Update Manager 78, 506 Update system 79 best practices 512 general steps 512 guidelines 510 software and drivers 513 update times 511 Update time per device 511 Upgrade troubleshooting 538 USB drive 57 and Photo Screen Saver 455

USB stick create 514 User interface 16

V

Variable handling 429 room example 426 room, variable options 427 using Boolean 430 using custom variable agent number 435 using custom variable agent string 439 Variables use in programming 426 Variables agent 367 Version updating to same firmware version 509 video audio end point 275 Video end point 39 Video End Point 275 Video mode set correctly 156 Video resolution 18 Video scanning from network 337 Video volume 275 Virtual Director 24

W

Wakeup agent 367 WAP 19 Web image configure 260 What's New 81 While statement 414, 419 WiFi connection

controllers 143

Windows 7 16

Windows Media Player 56

Windows Vista 16

Windows XP 16

Wireless Access Protocol 19

Wireless Music Bridge 243

Wireless outlet dimmer

configure 178

Properties 179

Wireless outlet switch

configure 172

define connection 174, 181

Wireless Thermostat

program the schedule 252

Properties 254

setup 252

Wizard

Controller Migration 146

WMA 57

Υ

Yellow icon, Network Tools dialog 72

Ζ

Zigbee signal strength 72, 283 Zigbee device update 509 Zigbee Health 506 Zigbee Network Network Tools tab 72 tab 72 Zigbee Server 143 ensure it is running 151 ZigBee Server ensure it is running 153 Zip code, Properties tab 108



11734 S Election Road Draper, UT 84020

www.control4.com

Copyright ©2021, Snap One, LLC. All rights reserved. Snap One and its respective logos are registered trademarks or trademarks of Snap One, LLC (formerly known as Wirepath Home Systems, LLC), in the United States and/or other countries. 4Store, 4Sight, Control4, Control4 My Home, SnapAV, Mockupancy, NEEO, Wirepath, and Wirepath ONE are also registered trademarks or trademarks of Snap One, LLC. Other names and brands may be claimed as the property of their respective owners. Snap One makes no claim that the information contained herein covers all installation scenarios and contingencies, or product use risks. Information within this specification subject to change without notice. 200-00005-Y